# INTERACTIONS OF THE NERVOUS SYSTEM WITH BACTERIA

EDITED BY: Elisa L. Hill-Yardin, Mastura Monif, Andreas Martin Grabrucker, Ruth Ann Luna and Ashley Edwin Franks PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Neuroscience, Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology and Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience







#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88966-903-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88966-903-5

### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

# INTERACTIONS OF THE NERVOUS SYSTEM WITH BACTERIA

**Topic Editors:** 

Elisa L. Hill-Yardin, RMIT University, Australia Mastura Monif, Monash University, Australia Andreas Martin Grabrucker, University of Limerick, Ireland Ruth Ann Luna, Baylor College of Medicine, United States Ashley Edwin Franks, La Trobe University, Australia

**Citation:** Hill-Yardin, E. L., Monif, M., Grabrucker, A. M., Luna, R. A., Franks, A, E., eds. (2021). Interactions of the Nervous System with Bacteria. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88966-903-5

# Table of Contents

- 05 Editorial: Interactions of the Nervous System With Bacteria Elisa L. Hill-Yardin, Andreas M. Grabrucker, Ashley E. Franks, Ruth Ann Luna and Mastura Monif
- 08 The Potential Role of Subclinical Bordetella pertussis Infection in Epilepsy Keith Rubin and Steven Glazer
- 11 The Gut Microbiota Links Dietary Polyphenols With Management of Psychiatric Mood Disorders

Susan Westfall and Giulio Maria Pasinetti

- 35 Zinc Deficiency During Pregnancy Leads to Altered Microbiome and Elevated Inflammatory Markers in Mice Ann Katrin Sauer and Andreas M. Grabrucker
- 51 Facilitation of Gastrointestinal (GI) Tract Microbiome-Derived Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) Entry Into Human Neurons by Amyloid Beta-42 (Aβ42) Peptide

Walter J. Lukiw, Wenhong Li, Taylor Bond and Yuhai Zhao

- 60 Antidepressive Mechanisms of Probiotics and Their Therapeutic Potential Shin Jie Yong, Tommy Tong, Jactty Chew and Wei Ling Lim
- 89 Structural and Functional Characterization of the Gut Microbiota in Elderly Women With Migraine

Juanjuan Chen, Qi Wang, Anqi Wang and Zhanglin Lin

98 Gastrointestinal (GI) Tract Microbiome-Derived Neurotoxins—Potent Neuro-Inflammatory Signals From the GI Tract via the Systemic Circulation Into the Brain

Walter J. Lukiw

106 Case-Control Study of the Effects of Gut Microbiota Composition on Neurotransmitter Metabolic Pathways in Children With Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder

Lin Wan, Wen-Rong Ge, Shan Zhang, Yu-Lin Sun, Bin Wang and Guang Yang

115 The Links Between the Gut Microbiome, Aging, Modern Lifestyle and Alzheimer's Disease

Sholpan Askarova, Bauyrzhan Umbayev, Abdul-Razak Masoud, Aiym Kaiyrlykyzy, Yuliya Safarova, Andrey Tsoy, Farkhad Olzhayev and Almagul Kushugulova

127 Altered Caecal Neuroimmune Interactions in the Neuroligin-3<sup>R451C</sup> Mouse Model of Autism

Samiha Sayed Sharna, Gayathri K. Balasuriya, Suzanne Hosie, Jess Nithianantharajah, Ashley E. Franks and Elisa L. Hill-Yardin

137 Overview of Brain-to-Gut Axis Exposed to Chronic CNS Bacterial Infection(s) and a Predictive Urinary Metabolic Profile of a Brain Infected by Mycobacterium tuberculosis

Simon Isaiah, Du Toit Loots, Regan Solomons, Martijn van der Kuip, A. Marceline Tutu Van Furth and Shayne Mason

- 157 The Role of the Gastrointestinal Mucus System in Intestinal Homeostasis: Implications for Neurological Disorders
   Madushani Herath, Suzanne Hosie, Joel C. Bornstein, Ashley E. Franks and Elisa L. Hill-Yardin
- 171 Long-Term Exposure to Ceftriaxone Sodium Induces Alteration of Gut Microbiota Accompanied by Abnormal Behaviors in Mice Zhongyi Zhao, Baoning Wang, Liyuan Mu, Hongren Wang, Jingjing Luo,

Yuan Yang, Hui Yang, Mingyuan Li, Linlin Zhou and Chuanmin Tao





### **Editorial: Interactions of the Nervous System With Bacteria**

Elisa L. Hill-Yardin<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Andreas M. Grabrucker<sup>3,4,5</sup>, Ashley E. Franks<sup>6</sup>, Ruth Ann Luna<sup>7,8</sup> and Mastura Monif<sup>2,9</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Health and Biomedical Sciences, Science Technology Engineering Mathematics College, Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology University, Bundoora, VIC, Australia, <sup>2</sup> Department of Anatomy and Physiology, The University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, <sup>3</sup> Department of Biological Sciences, University of Limerick, Limerick, Ireland, <sup>4</sup> Health Research Institute, University of Limerick, Limerick, Ireland, <sup>5</sup> Bernal Institute, University of Limerick, Ireland, <sup>6</sup> School of Life Sciences, La Trobe University, Bundoora, VIC, Australia, <sup>7</sup> Texas Children's Microbiome Center, Texas Children's Hospital, Houston, TX, United States, <sup>8</sup> Department of Pathology & Immunology, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States, <sup>9</sup> Department of Neuroscience, Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

Keywords: microbes, gastrointestinal tract, enteric nervous system, brain, neurological disorders, neuroinflammation, diet, dysbiosis

### Editorial on the Research Topic

### Interactions of the Nervous System With Bacteria

Recent evidence that microbes influence mood and behavior via the gut-brain axis has opened up new avenues for research into neurological disorders. Hence, many studies now employ multidisciplinary approaches assessing for changes in microbial diversity, neuroinflammation as well as alterations in neuronal circuitry that impact brain function in health and disease. Such collaborative research was virtually unheard of in previous decades but holds remarkable promise for identifying novel pathways and therapeutic targets within the gastrointestinal tract to treat brain disorders. This editorial highlights these exciting developments in neuroscience, microbiology, and immunological research by examining 13 articles focused on how the nervous system interacts with bacteria in preclinical and clinical settings. A common theme is the dissection of complex interactions between the nervous system and bacteria as well as the resulting influences on inflammatory pathways, symptoms, or behavior in patient studies and mouse models. Specifically, neuronal-microbial interactions in the context of nervous system disorders ranging from autism, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, Alzheimer's Disease and Major Depressive Disorder to migraine and epilepsy are investigated. Overall, we propose that via leveraging our understanding of the gut-brain axis, the modulation of gut microbes leading to significant benefits for brain health can become a reality.

The recent years have seen substantial progress in the understanding of gut-brain interactions. Today, evidence is mounting that the microbiota-gut-brain axis is a key contributor to healthy brain development and function. Accordingly, gastrointestinal (GI) problems and microbial dysbiosis have been linked to several neurological and neuroinflammatory disorders. Consequently, targeting gut microbiota composition to regulate peripheral and central inflammation could serve as means of developing novel treatments or disease modifying strategies for several key neuroinflammatory conditions. This is a rapidly emerging field of neuroscience research and is highlighted in the current issue.

This Research Topic is dedicated to understanding the influence of microbes on brain health. Alterations in the gut microbiota may affect gut-brain signaling via neuronal, endocrine and immunological mechanisms, thereby influencing a range of neuronal network activities and ultimately host behaviors. Zhao et al. showed that emotional behavior is among those behaviors

### OPEN ACCESS

**Edited and reviewed by:** Hubert Vaudry, Université de Rouen, France

> \*Correspondence: Elisa L. Hill-Yardin elisa.hill@rmit.edu.au

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuroendocrine Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 19 March 2021 Accepted: 29 March 2021 Published: 23 April 2021

### Citation:

Hill-Yardin EL, Grabrucker AM, Franks AE, Luna RA and Monif M (2021) Editorial: Interactions of the Nervous System With Bacteria. Front. Neurosci. 15:682744. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2021.682744

5

affected. Antibiotic-treated mice with a lower richness and diversity of microbiota display increased anxiety-like, depression-like, and aggressive behaviors (Zhao et al.). These effects on behavior may be caused by a dysregulation of the immune and endocrine system. In line with this, a link between altered microbiota composition and immune system abnormalities was also reported by Sauer and Grabrucker. In their study, a deficiency in the essential trace metal, zinc, changed the composition of the microbiota. Of interest, zinc deficiency has been linked to depression-like behavior in rodents. In this study, the microbial changes were accompanied by increased inflammatory cytokine levels. Furthermore, this study reported abnormal GI morphology and increased GI permeability in these mice, hinting that an increase in intestinal barrier permeability may mediate pro-inflammatory processes (Sauer and Grabrucker).

Relevant to the findings of Sauer and Grabrucker, the role of microbes in modifying the permeability of the mucosal epithelium lining the GI tract was discussed in a review of microbiome-derived neurotoxins by Lukiw. How microbiota might impact the properties of the mucus membrane in the GI tract could also be important in brain disorders. Lukiw discussed the role of the zinc metalloproteinase (also known as B. fragilis Toxin; BFT or fragilysin), which is released by Bacteroides fragilis microbes. Fragilysin cleaves tight junction components such as cadherins which can alter the permeability of mucosal and blood-brain barriers. This action would also alter neuro-immune interactions and is age-related and progressive. An important part of the epithelial barrier of the GI tract is the mucus biofilm, which provides a supportive environment for specific microbial populations. Because patients with many neurological diseases have GI issues and microbial dysbiosis, Herath et al., reviewed the evidence for mucus as a potential treatment target in the context of neurological disease (Herath et al.). This review outlined a range of pathways by which gene mutations associated with brain disorders could influence the GI tract's mucus and its microbial populations.

Sharna and colleagues investigated neuro-immune interactions in a mouse model of autism expressing a gene mutation in the nervous system (Sharna et al.). Surprisingly, the weight of the caecum (the equivalent of the human appendix) was reduced in these mice. When analyzing the enteric nervous system in the caecum, mutant mice had more neurons overall and a higher proportion of neurons synthesizing the major inhibitory neurotransmitter (nitric oxide) of the gut. In the same study, Sharna and coauthors found changes in the gut immune system. In these mice, macrophages were labeled with Iba-1 (a marker of microglia in the brain) in the gut-associated lymphoid tissue of the caecal patch. Mutant mice had more Iba-1 labeled macrophages, and these macrophages were smaller and rounder in shape. Interestingly, this could indicate increased immune activity in the autism model. More broadly, these findings suggest that communication between the nervous system and immune cells could be altered in neurological disorders such as autism, and that the gut microbiota plays a key role in regulating such interactions.

Further evidence of the nervous system's interactions and inflammatory pathways in brain disorders include a role for lipopolysaccharide (LPS), lifestyle factors, and both the oral and GI microbiome in Alzheimer's Disease. The accumulation of gut bacteria-derived LPS in neurons is associated with Alzheimer's disease. Lukiw et al. report that LPS entry into human neurons is facilitated by amyloid beta-42 (Aβ42) and discuss the associated pathogenic role of LPS in neurons of Alzheimer's disease brains (Lukiw et al.). The encapsulation of neurons by LPS reduces the release of mRNA from the neuronal nuclei, likely via the interaction of AB42 with nuclear pore complexes. Therefore, manipulating the gut microbiome by diet and pre/probiotics to reduce neurotoxic effects within the CNS is an exciting avenue for future research. In line with these findings, Askarova and colleagues brought together a wide range of research to link the brain-gut-microbiota axis and Alzheimer's Disease (Askarova et al.). These authors noted that several lifestyle factors linked to Alzheimer's disease also drive microbiome changes, such as dietary habits, sedentary behavior, and disturbances in circadian rhythms. Changes in the oral microbiome in addition to chronic periodontitis have also been associated with Alzheimer's Disease (Paganini-Hill et al., 2012; Harding et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2019; Panza et al., 2019; Olsen and Singhrao, 2020). Given the potential for factors within the gastrointestinal tract to contribute to the development of neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration, further studies are warranted.

Gut microbiota profiles may contribute to behavioral symptoms associated with a range of neurological disorders, including attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and major depressive disorder (MDD). Wan et al. investigated the gut microbiota in children with ADHD. Their results of a case-control study reveal that specific bacteria are significantly increased or decreased in children with ADHD and align with alterations in neurotransmitter metabolic pathways (Wan et al.). However, as Isaiah et al. point out, in addition to the gut signaling to the brain, the reverse (i.e., brain-to-gut signaling) may occur as well (Isaiah et al.), a phenomenon that is currently understudied in the context of ADHD. Yong et al. discussed the role of the microbiota-gut-brain axis, stress, and lifestyle factors for major depressive disorder (MDD) (Yong et al.). The antidepressive effects of probiotics and potential biological mechanisms (including the production of metabolites) to benefit gut health were compared in clinical and animal studies. In addition, Westfall and Pasinetti discussed the role of dietary polyphenols as a possible diseases-modifying treatment for depression (Westfall and Pasinetti). Their review highlighted that synbiotics that combine probiotics with dietary polyphenols such as those found in fruits, tea, herbs, cereal, or wine might be a novel therapy for MDD. This may occur via modulation of multiple metabolic pathways, including the breakdown of kynurenic acid and tryptophan (with influences on glutamatergic activity and microglial function in the brain), serotonergic mechanisms, and immune pathways, including via interferon-gamma and inflammasome activation. Importantly, these authors highlight that the heterogeneity of MDD must be taken into consideration when evaluating the potential therapeutic effects of probiotics.

Migraine is a common, recurrent, and disabling neurological disorder that is associated with alterations in the neurovascular and immunological system. The changes in the nervous system activity that occur in the setting of migraine are commonly associated with gut disorders such as irritable bowel syndrome and inflammatory bowel disease. Chen and others examined the potential for interactions between the nervous system and bacteria in their study of fecal samples from 108 elderly women with and without migraine, which revealed a significant decrease in species diversity and metabolic functions in the gut microbiota of migraine sufferers. These findings suggest that monitoring harmful bacteria such as Clostridium could help with alteration of migraine frequency and potentially even prevention of disease (Chen et al.). Future randomized control trials that assess the efficacy of controlled delivery of "safer" and "less inflammatory" microbiota as a means of controlling migraine frequency are warranted.

Epilepsy is another neurological disorder for which a role for the microbiome is understudied. The ketogenic diet is commonly used to treat medically refractive seizures and epilepsy. Importantly the anti-seizure effects of the ketogenic diet are thought to be mediated by the gut microbiome (Olson et al., 2018). Altering the gut bacteria is thought to regulate seizure frequency and modify disease severity. Rubin and Glazer outlined a potential role for subclinical infection with Bordetella pertussis (BP) in epilepsy (Rubin and Glazer). This work highlighted that cases of subclinical infection are vastly more prevalent than reported pertussis cases and describe incidences of epilepsy occurring after BP infection. Further research into the relationship between epilepsy and BP infection, including BP

### REFERENCES

- Harding, A., Gonder, U., Robinson, S. J., Crean, S., and Singhrao, S. K. (2017). Exploring the association between Alzheimer's disease, oral health, microbial endocrinology and nutrition. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 9:398. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017.00398
- Liu, X.-X., Jiao, B., Liao, X.-X., Guo, L.-N., Yuan, Z.-H., Wang, X., et al. (2019). Analysis of salivary microbiome in patients with Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers Dis. 72, 1–8. doi: 10.3233/JAD-190587
- Olsen, I., and Singhrao, S. K. (2020). Is there a link between genetic defects in the complement cascade and Porphyromonas gingivalis in Alzheimer's disease? J. Oral Microbiol. 12:1676486. doi: 10.1080/20002297.2019.1676486
- Olson, C. A., Vuong, H. E., Yano, J. M., Liang, Q. Y., Nusbaum, D. J., and Hsiao, E. Y. (2018). The gut microbiota mediates the anti-seizure effects of the ketogenic diet. *Cell* 173, 1728–1741. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.0 4.027
- Paganini-Hill, A., White, S. C., and Atchison, K. A. (2012). Dentition, dental health habits, and dementia: the leisure world cohort study. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 60, 1556–1563. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2012.04 064.x

screening, medical history, and pertussis vaccination is required to assess for an association between BP and seizures.

In summary, this Research Topic brings together evidence for microbial influences in a range of neurological, neuropsychiatric and neurodegenerative disorders including autism, Alzheimer's Disease, Major Depressive Disorder, migraine, and epilepsy. Gut microbiota are thought to influence not only local immunological processes, but also exert effects on the CNS through the disruption of the gastrointestinal mucosal barrier and BBB. The future of gut-brain research holds promise for identifying novel therapeutic approaches to treat many disabling CNS conditions traditionally considered to be associated with dysfunction of the CNS itself. Further research into how modifying gut microbes influence processes in the brain has enormous potential.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

### FUNDING

EH-Y received an Australian Research Council Future Fellowship (FT16100126), a Senior Vice Chancellor's Fellowship and a joint NHMRC Ideas Grant with AF (APP2003848). AG was supported by the Else Kröner-Fresenius-Stiftung (214\_A251). RL received support from Autism Speaks (GI & Neurobehavioral Processes Grant 9455). AEF receives support from the La Trobe University Research Focus Area's Food, Water and the Environment funding scheme.

Panza, F., Lozupone, M., Solfrizzi, V., Watling, M., and Imbimbo, B. (2019). Time to test antibacterial therapy in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 142, 2905–2929. doi: 10.1093/brain/awz244

**Conflict of Interest:** MM has served on an advisory board for Merck and received speaker honoraria from Merck and Biogen. Her institution receives funding from Merck, Australian National Health Medical Research Council, Brain Foundation, Charles and Sylvia Viertel Foundation, and MS Research Australia.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Hill-Yardin, Grabrucker, Franks, Luna and Monif. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



### The Potential Role of Subclinical *Bordetella pertussis* Infection in Epilepsy

Keith Rubin and Steven Glazer\*

ILiAD Biotechnologies, Weston, FL, United States

Keywords: Bordetella pertussis, epilepsy, seizure, Bordetella pertussis toxin, subclinical infection

The etiology of epilepsy remains unknown in 14–39% of cases across multiple continents (Banerjee et al., 2009). Given the increased risk for seizures and epilepsy in children after symptomatic *Bordetella pertussis* (BP) infection (Olsen et al., 2015), an association recognized for nearly a century (Eley, 1930), we briefly review the evidence and propose a role for subclinical BP colonizing infections in epilepsy.

**OPEN ACCESS** 

### Edited by:

Elisa L. Hill-Yardin, RMIT University, Australia

### Reviewed by:

Tomasz Niedziela, Ludwik Hirszfeld Institute of Immunology and Experimental Therapy (PAN), Poland Kay Richards, Florey Institute of Neuroscience and Mental Health, Australia

> \*Correspondence: Steven Glazer glazer@iliadbio.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Bacteria and Host, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

> Received: 06 April 2019 Accepted: 07 August 2019 Published: 28 August 2019

#### Citation:

Rubin K and Glazer S (2019) The Potential Role of Subclinical Bordetella pertussis Infection in Epilepsy. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 9:302. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00302 Subclinical BP infections are vastly more prevalent than reported pertussis (Ward et al., 2005). In multiple countries with high BP vaccination rates, evidence of subclinical BP infection is demonstrated in 4.8–7.1% of asymptomatic individuals by nasal swab PCR (Klement et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2014; Naeini et al., 2015), and in 6.6–14.1% by serology indicative of infection during the past year (de Melker et al., 2006; De Greeff et al., 2010; Palazzo et al., 2016). Based on serology, investigators in the United States (US) acellular BP vaccine trial estimated the number of undocumented BP infections at 1 to 10 million cases in the US annually from 1997 to 1999 (Ward et al., 2005), years when the CDC reported approximately 7,000 cases per year (http://www.cdc. gov/pertussis/surv-reporting/cases-by-year.html), a ratio of up to 1,400 subclinical BP infections for every reported pertussis case.

Multiple lines of evidence support the hypothesis that subclinical nasopharyngeal BP colonizing infections have unrecognized clinical consequences including epilepsy. *B. pertussis* secretes pertussis toxin, which compromises the blood-brain barrier in human brain endothelium models (Kugler et al., 2007), as seen in epilepsy (Oby and Janigro, 2006). Murine respiratory BP infection induces inflammatory cytokines in the brain (Loscher et al., 2000), and intracerebroventricular pertussis toxin lowers drug-induced seizure thresholds (Durcan and Morgan, 1991), though findings documented in mice should be interpreted with caution. At the neuronal level, mechanistic plausibility is supported in that pertussis toxin increases excitatory neuronal glutamate release (Cullen et al., 1994) and decreases Gi/o receptor-mediated neuroinhibitory GABA activity (Padgett and Slesinger, 2010), as well as GABA receptor binding (Moss and Vaughan, 1988). In summary, mechanisms by which pertussis infection may play a causal role in epilepsy include immunologic and inflammatory responses to pertussis infection, direct action of pertussis toxin on neurons, and a combination of these factors.

Clinical observation also supports the association between BP and epilepsy. In children < 2 years of age admitted to the hospital with pertussis, new seizures were reported in 2.3%, and encephalopathy in 0.5% of patients (Halperin et al., 1999). In BP-associated encephalopathy, elevated antibody titers to BP toxins have been demonstrated with 10-fold higher concentrations in CSF compared with serum, indicating entry of BP antigens to the CNS (Grant et al., 1998). In Denmark between 1978 and 2011, the incidence of epilepsy at 10 years of age was 1.7% for patients with a history of hospital-diagnosed pertussis, and 0.9% in a matched cohort [HR 1.7 (95% CI, 1.3–2.1)] (Olsen et al., 2015). Almost all of the increased epilepsy risk occurred in the first 1.5 years after clinical pertussis, and did not vary with age at pertussis diagnosis.

Investigating the hypothesis that subclinical BP colonizing infections are a cause of epilepsy could begin by screening patients presenting with an initial idiopathic seizure. Subjects and controls could be tested for serum BP antibody titers and nasopharyngeal BP by swab PCR. In future BP-seizure risk analyses, BP vaccination status should be accounted for to avoid the confounding effects of vaccine-induced BP immunoglobulins on estimates of BP exposure history. The particular form of BP vaccination is also important since the diphtheria, tetanus toxoid and whole-cell pertussis vaccine (DTP) has been associated with febrile seizures (but not epilepsy) (Barlow et al., 2001), while the combination acellular pertussis vaccine (DTaP) has not (Huang et al., 2010). Of note, some historically reported associations between pertussis vaccination and neurologic disorders may be due to early unmasking of genetically determined disease such as Dravet syndrome in those with sodium channel gene SCN1A mutations (McIntosh et al., 2010). Since these mutations may occur without a prior family history, referral for specialty testing should be considered to help identify all potential causes of new onset seizures.

As subclinical BP colonizing infections are prevalent in highly BP-vaccinated populations, and non-human primate studies demonstrate the failure of DTP and DTaP to prevent

### REFERENCES

- Banerjee, P. N., Filippi, D., and Hauser, W. A. (2009). The descriptive epidemiology of epilepsy—a review. *Epilepsy Res.* 85, 31–45. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2009.03.003
- Barlow, W. E., Davis, R. L., Glasser, J. W., Rhodes, P. H., Thompson, R. S., Mullooly, J. P., et al. (2001). The risk of seizures after receipt of whole-cell pertussis or measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine. *New Engl. J. Med.* 345, 656–661. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa003077
- Cullen, G. P., Huston, E., and Dolphin, A. C. (1994). Cycloheximide abolishes pertussis toxin-induced increase in glutamate release from cerebellar granule neurones. *Neurosci. Lett.* 166, 17–22. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(94)90830-3
- De Greeff, S. C., De Melker, H. E., Van Gageldonk, P. G., Schellekens, J. F., van der Klis, F. R., Mollema, L., et al. (2010). Seroprevalence of pertussis in The Netherlands: evidence for increased circulation of *Bordetella pertussis*. *PLoS ONE* 5:e14183. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0014183
- de Melker, H. E., Versteegh, F. G., Schellekens, J. F., Teunis, P. F., and Kretzschmar, M. (2006). The incidence of *Bordetella pertussis* infections estimated in the population from a combination of serological surveys. *J. Infect.* 53, 106–113. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2005.10.020
- Durcan, M. J., and Morgan, P. F. (1991). Intracerebroventricular pertussis toxin enhances sensitivity to N-methyl-d-aspartate-induced seizures in mice. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 197, 209–211. doi: 10.1016/0014-2999(91)90523-S
- Eley, R. C. (1930). Neurological complications of whooping cough. New Engl. J. Med. 203, 162–167. doi: 10.1056/NEJM193007242030405
- Grant, C. C., McKay, E. J., Simpson, A., and Buckley, D. (1998). Pertussis encephalopathy with high cerebrospinal fluid antibody titers to pertussis toxin and filamentous hemagglutinin. *Pediatrics* 102(4 Pt 1), 986–990. doi: 10.1542/peds.102.4.986
- Halperin, S. A., Wang, E. E., Law, B., Mills, E., Morris, R., Dery, P., et al. (1999).
  Epidemiological features of pertussis in hospitalized patients in Canada, 1991-1997: report of the Immunization Monitoring Program–Active (IMPACT). *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 28, 1238–1243. doi: 10.1086/514792
- Huang, W.-T., Gargiullo, P. M., Broder, K. R., Weintraub, E. S., Iskander, J. K., Klein, N. P., et al. (2010). Lack of association between acellular pertussis vaccine and seizures in early childhood. *Pediatrics* 126, 263–269. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-1496

nasopharyngeal BP colonization (Warfel et al., 2014), evidence suggests that current pertussis vaccines do not prevent nasopharyngeal BP colonization. Since the number of subclinical BP infections may be more than 1,000 times greater than clinically reported cases as noted above, it would not be surprising to observe a minimal or even lack of epilepsy risk reduction following DTP and DTaP vaccination.

In light of the available evidence, we suggest that a causal role for subclinical BP colonizing infection in epilepsy is plausible and worthy of further investigation. Regression analysis of epilepsy risk, incorporating BP screening assays, medical history, and pertussis vaccination status would be a compelling first step in assessing the potential relationship between epilepsy and subclinical BP infection.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

KR and SG contributed equally to the preparation of this manuscript.

### FUNDING

This work was supported by ILiAD Biotechnologies.

- Klement, E., Uliel, L., Engel, I., Hasin, T., Yavzori, M., Orr, N., et al. (2003). An outbreak of pertussis among young Israeli soldiers. *Epidemiol. Infect* 131, 1049–1054. doi: 10.1017/S09502688030 01110
- Kugler, S., Bocker, K., Heusipp, G., Greune, L., Kim, K. S., and Schmidt, M. A. (2007). Pertussis toxin transiently affects barrier integrity, organelle organization and transmigration of monocytes in a human brain microvascular endothelial cell barrier model. *Cell. Microbiol.* 9, 619–632. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2006.00813.x
- Loscher, C. E., Donnelly, S., Lynch, M. A., and Mills, K. H. (2000). Induction of inflammatory cytokines in the brain following respiratory infection with *Bordetella pertussis*. J. Neuroimmunol. 102, 172–181. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(99)00177-0
- McIntosh, A. M., McMahon, J., Dibbens, L. M., Iona, X., Mulley, J. C., Scheffer, I. E., et al. (2010). Effects of vaccination on onset and outcome of Dravet syndrome: a retrospective study. *Lancet Neurol.* 9, 592–598. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70107-1
- Moss, J., and Vaughan, M. (1988). ADP-ribosylation of guanyl nucleotide-binding regulatory proteins by bacterial toxins. Adv. Enzymol. Relat. Areas Mol. Biol. 61, 303–379. doi: 10.1002/9780470123072.ch6
- Naeini, A. E., Zaman, N., Khorvash, F., and Naeini, S. E. (2015). Does working in hospital increases seroprevalence and carrier state against *Bordetella pertussis? Adv. Biomed. Res.* 4:194. doi: 10.4103/2277-9175.1 66155
- Oby, E., and Janigro, D. (2006). The blood-brain barrier and epilepsy. *Epilepsia* 47, 1761–1774. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2006.00817.x
- Olsen, M., Thygesen, S. K., Østergaard, J. R., Nielsen, H., Henderson, V. W., Ehrenstein, V., et al. (2015). Hospital-diagnosed pertussis infection in children and long-term risk of epilepsy. *JAMA* 314, 1844–1849. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.13971
- Padgett, C. L., and Slesinger, P. A. (2010). GABAB receptor coupling to G-proteins and ion channels. *Adv. Pharmacol.* 58, 123–147. doi: 10.1016/S1054-3589(10)58006-2
- Palazzo, R., Carollo, M., Fedele, G., Rizzo, C., Rota, M. C., Giammanco, A., et al. (2016). Evidence of increased circulation of *Bordetella pertussis* in the Italian adult population from seroprevalence data (2012-2013). *J. Med. Microbiol.* 65:649–657. doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.000264

- Ward, J. I., Cherry, J. D., Chang, S. J., Partridge, S., Lee, H., Treanor, J., et al. Edwards, K. (2005). Efficacy of an acellular pertussis vaccine among adolescents and adults. *New Engl. J. Med.* 353, 1555–1563. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa050824
- Warfel, J. M., Zimmerman, L. I., and Merkel, T. J. (2014). Acellular pertussis vaccines protect against disease but fail to prevent infection and transmission in a nonhuman primate model. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 787–792. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1314688110
- Zhang, Q., Yin, Z., Li, Y., Luo, H., Shao, Z., Gao, Y., et al. (2014). Prevalence of asymptomatic *Bordetella pertussis* and *Bordetella parapertussis* infections among school children in China as determined by pooled realtime PCR: a cross-sectional study. *Scand. J. Infect. Dis.* 46, 280–287. doi: 10.3109/00365548.2013.878034

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** KR and SG are employed by and hold an equity interest in ILiAD Biotechnologies, which is developing a vaccine for the prevention of *Bordetella pertussis*. ILiAD Biotechnologies had no role in the study design, analysis, and development of this opinion submission.

Copyright © 2019 Rubin and Glazer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# The Gut Microbiota Links Dietary Polyphenols With Management of Psychiatric Mood Disorders

Susan Westfall and Giulio Maria Pasinetti\*

Department of Neurology, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, United States

The pathophysiology of depression is multifactorial yet generally aggravated by stress and its associated physiological consequences. To effectively treat these diverse risk factors, a broad acting strategy is required and is has been suggested that gut-brainaxis signaling may play a pinnacle role in promoting resilience to several of these stress-induced changes including pathogenic load, inflammation, HPA-axis activation. oxidative stress and neurotransmitter imbalances. The gut microbiota also manages the bioaccessibility of phenolic metabolites from dietary polyphenols whose multiple beneficial properties have known therapeutic efficacy against depression. Although several potential therapeutic mechanisms of dietary polyphenols toward establishing cognitive resilience to neuropsychiatric disorders have been established, only a handful of studies have systematically identified how the interaction of the gut microbiota with dietary polyphenols can synergistically alleviate the biological signatures of depression. The current review investigates several of these potential mechanisms and how synbiotics, that combine probiotics with dietary polyphenols, may provide a novel therapeutic strategy for depression. In particular, synbiotics have the potential to alleviate neuroinflammation by modulating microglial and inflammasome activation, reduce oxidative stress and balance serotonin metabolism therefore simultaneously targeting several of the major pathological risk factors of depression. Overall, synbiotics may act as a novel therapeutic paradigm for neuropsychiatric disorders and further understanding the fundamental mechanisms of gut-brain-axis signaling will allow full utilization of the gut microbiota's as a therapeutic tool.

### OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Ruth Ann Luna,

Baylor College of Medicine, United States

### Reviewed by:

Zhigang Liu, Northwest A&F University, China Geeta Shukla, Panjab University, India David Vauzour, University of East Anglia, United Kingdom

> \*Correspondence: Giulio Maria Pasinetti giulio.pasinetti@mssm.edu

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuroendocrine Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 22 May 2019 Accepted: 22 October 2019 Published: 05 November 2019

#### Citation:

Westfall S and Pasinetti GM (2019) The Gut Microbiota Links Dietary Polyphenols With Management of Psychiatric Mood Disorders. Front. Neurosci. 13:1196. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2019.01196 Keywords: gut-brain-axis, neuroinflammation, polyphenols, resilience, probiotics, synbiotics

### INTRODUCTION

Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a recurrent psychological disorder with numerous pathophysiological characteristics that result in prolonged periods of sadness and emptiness coupled with anhedonia, elevated anxiety and eventual cognitive dysfunction (Pellegrino et al., 2013). Depression is a significant global affliction present in more than 350 million people (World Health Organization [WHO], 2018), 16 million whom reside in the United States accounting for 6.7% of the total population (National Institute of Mental Health, 2017). Based on clinical observations, depression is defined as a multifactorial disorder with several heterogeneous neuropathological indications including reduction in the size and density of  $\gamma$ -amino butyric acid

(GABA) neurons in the prefrontal cortex and limbic regions (Savitz et al., 2014), according to the "gliocentric theory," abnormalities in glial density and functioning (Czeh and Nagy, 2018), imbalances in monoamine neurotransmitters in synaptic clefts (Meyer et al., 2006) and loss of hippocampal volume and neuronal loss in the hypothalamus (Manaye et al., 2005). The classical cause of depression is defined as a deficiency in noradrenaline and serotonin in the hippocampus and frontal cortex, and this remains to be a prominent hypothesis due to the efficacy of pharmacological monoaminergic reuptake blockers toward improving mood status (Taylor et al., 2005). Despite this understanding, the fundamental neurobiological changes in depression remain elusive and at present are loosely attributed to the interaction of genetic predispositions and environmental factors (Bleys et al., 2018). It is known that chronic psychological or physical stress induce a battery of depressive phenotypes through mechanisms related to abnormalities in hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis signaling including hypersecretion of C-reactive protein from the hypothalamus, impaired negative feedback of the HPA axis and hypercortisolemia (Pruessner et al., 2003). However, without a causal pathological etiology to define the manifestation of depression, therapeutic development has become rooted in the alleviation of depressive-like symptoms and such therapies remain inconsistent between patients, invoke significant side effects and result in a large proportion of patients being unresponsive to them (Kupfer, 2005).

An emerging trend in the pathology of chronic neurological diseases including depression- and anxiety-like disorders is the concept of a multifactorial causation due to multisystem abnormalities. The concept of cognitive resilience has recently gained traction as a viable therapeutic strategy for these multifactorial chronic diseases and is defined as the ability to physiologically adapt to external stresses in order to maintain normal psychological and physical functioning and avoid pathological states that can drive disease (Aburn et al., 2016). Considering that the epidemiological cause of anxiety and depression include the interaction of environmental stresses and genetic disposition in a variety of physiological systems, a treatment regime incorporating probiotics and natural polyphenols may prove to be superior compared to classical pharmacological treatments as probiotics promote the production of a diverse host of bioactive metabolites from the dietary polyphenols capable of simultaneously ameliorating multiple risk factors of depression and anxiety.

### POLYPHENOLS IN NEUROPSYCHIATRIC DISORDERS

Dietary polyphenols expand the definition of prebiotics, which were previously believed to contain various fibrous foods that predominantly generate the short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) propionate, acetate and butyrate following fermentation by the gut microbiota. Diets rich in SCFAs or that include prebiotics that promote SCFA production such as fructooligosaccharides (FOS), galactooligosaccharides (GOS) or inulin, have been shown to have multiple beneficial immune- and metabolic- effects that can ultimately improve cognition (Bourassa et al., 2016; Stilling et al., 2016; Dinan and Cryan, 2017). Although extremely effective at promoting neurological health, the range of SCFA activity is limited compared to the variety of polyphenols and their gutderived metabolites making dietary polyphenols an emerging therapeutic option in neurological conditions.

Polyphenols are a broad category of heterogeneous botanicals composed of hydroxylated phenyl moieties found abundantly in fruits, tea, herbs, cereals and wine (Vinson et al., 2001). Many polyphenol-rich botanicals are considered to be adaptogenic: stress-modifying phytochemicals that increase organisms' nonspecific resistance to stress by increasing their ability to adapt and survive to external stressors and stimuli (Panossian, 2017). Due to their heterogeneous nature, individual polyphenols have distinct biological activities; however, as they are found in combination in nature, they inherently have synergistic activity that must be considered when designing polyphenolic pharmaceutical agents. Indeed, many natural occurring polyphenolic mixtures have been shown to have extensive beneficial effects on cognition and mood in both healthy and diseased subjects (**Table 1**).

Much of the interindividual variability of the aforementioned clinical studies can be explained by the polyphenols' bioavailability, which is dependent on their fermentation by the gut microbiota and consequent secondary xenobiotic biotransformation in the liver. There are several comprehensive reviews exploring the prebiotic activity of polyphenols and how ingestion of polyphenols can beneficially alter the composition of the gut microbiota (Cardona et al., 2013; Westfall et al., 2018a) so this topic will not be discussed in further detail here. However, fewer studies have indicated how the specific metabolites produced by the gut microbiota from dietary polyphenol sources can impact the potential biological signature of depression.

# MICROBIOTA AND THE GUT-BRAIN-AXIS

The gut microbiota is a synergistic community of microorganisms residing in the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) composed of trillions of bacterial cells classified into thousands of species, each with a distinct metabolic profile (Qin et al., 2010). The two predominant phyla constituting approximately 98% of the gut microbiota are the Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes, with the remainder belonging to the phyla Proteobacteria, Verrucomicrobia, Fusobacteria, Cyanobacteria, Actinobacteria, and others (Backhed et al., 2004). The composition of the gut microbiota is highly amenable to diet, antibiotic usage, hygiene, pharmaceuticals and stress and changes in the composition of the gut microbiota result in dysbiosis, or imbalances in the composition of the gut microbiota and/or its metabolism (Aziz et al., 2013). Dysbiosis has been shown to influence the onset and/or progression of a battery of chronic diseases including metabolic syndrome, inflammatory bowel disease, depression, cardiovascular disease and neurodegeneration (Quigley, 2017).

The gut-brain-axis (GBA) is a bidirectional neuroendocrine system linking the GIT, including the microbiota, and the brain. The GBA consists of the enteric (ENS), peripheral (PNS) and TABLE 1 | Effect of complex polyphenolic substances on markers of depression.

Dietary Polyphenol	Contents	Biological Effect	References
Concord Grape Juice (CGJ)	Flavanols Flavones Quercetin Phenolic Acids Proanthocyanidins Anthocyanins	In aging rats, grape juice fed <i>ad libitum</i> at concentrations of 10% enhanced cognitive performance and dopamine release while at 50%, improved motor function	Shukitt-Hale et al., 2006
		In older adults with memory decline, 6–9 ml/kg of concord grape juice for 12 weeks significantly improved cognitive function, but not depressive symptoms	Krikorian et al., 2010a
		In healthy middle-aged working women, 355 ml of CGJ consumption daily for 12 weeks significantly improved spatial memory and driving performance	Lamport et al., 2016
		In 20 healthy young adults, 230 ml of purple grape juice improved reactive time, increased calm ratings, elicited a positive effect on memory reaction time	Haskell-Ramsay et al., 2017
		A biosynthetic epicatechin metabolite derived from grapes, $3'$ -O-methyl-epicatechin-5-O- $\beta$ -glucuronide, promotes basal synaptic transmission and long-term potentiation in hippocampal slices through mechanisms associated with CREB signaling	Wang J. et al., 2012
Сосоа	Catechins Anthocyanins Proanthocyanins Flavanols Epicatechin	Dark chocolate fed to rats exposed to air pollution of Mexico city prevented the associated neuroinflammation, COX-2 expression, IL-1β and CD14 mRNA expression in the dorsal vagal complex	Villarreal-Calderon et al., 2010
		Administration of a cocoa polyphenolic extract (22.9 mg/kg/day) to rats after heat exposure protected animals against the associated cognitive impairments as measured in the Morris Water Maze, associated with reduced free radical production by leukocytes	Rozan et al., 2007
		In healthy subjects, consumption of a dark chocolate drink mix containing 500, 250, or 0 mg of polyphenols over 30 days improved measured of mood	Pase et al., 2013
		In the Cocoa, Cognition and Aging (CoCoA) study, consumption of an enriched cocoa flavanol drink containing high (990 mg), medium (520 mg) or low (45 mg) levels of cocoa flavanols per day over 8 weeks improved cognitive function in 90 elderly adults with mild cognitive impairment in a dose-dependent manner	Desideri et al., 2012; Mastroiacovo et al., 201
Blueberries	Anthocyanins	After 8 weeks of feeding a 2% blueberry supplements diet to aged rats, anthocyanins were found to cross the BBB and improve memory performance	Andres-Lacueva et al., 2005
		In 9 older adults consuming a wild blueberry juice for 12 weeks, improved paired associate learning and word recall was observed with a trend suggesting reduced depressive symptoms	Krikorian et al., 2010b
		In healthy older adults supplemented for 12 weeks with 30 ml of blueberry concentrate providing 387 g of anthocyanins, significant increases in brain activity were observed associated with improved working memory	Bowtell et al., 2017
		Another study demonstrated that acute administration of a flavonoid-rich blueberry extract in both young adults and children improved positive effect on mood	Khalid et al., 2017
Coffee	Flavanols Caffeic Acid Chlorogenic Acid	In aged rats, coffee at an equivalent dose of 5 cups per day, but not caffeine, improved the aged animals' psychomotor control and working memory	Shukitt-Hale et al., 2013
		In a pilot clinical trial, decaffeinated coffee enriched with chlorogenic acids had a greater impact on cognitive performance than regular decaffeinated coffee	Cropley et al., 2012
Green Tea	Catechins (-)-epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG)	In a cross-sectional study involving 1003 elderly Japanese subjects, green tea consumption was associated with attenuated cognitive impairment	Kuriyama et al., 2006; Wang Y. et al., 2012
		In an elderly population with clinical mild cognitive impairment, 16 weeks of treatment with a combination of green tea extract with L-theanine, a protein found in green tea, improved memory and selective attention associated with elevated brain theta waves, which is an indicator of cognitive alertness	Park et al., 2011
		One study involving 27 elderly subjects showed that 2 g/day of green tea powder containing 220.2 mg of catechins did not impact cognitive impairment, despite having a positive effect on oxidative stress	lde et al., 2016

central (CNS) nervous systems, neuroendocrine connections, humoral pathways, cytokines, neuropeptides and other signaling molecules derived from the gut microbiota itself or produced by the enterochromaffin cells in the gut epithelium in response to the gut microbiota (Mayer et al., 2014). There are several independent and distinct pathways that contribute to the GBA's bidirectional signaling including inflammatory mediators, metabolic signaling, oxidative stress markers, stress modulators, neurohormone factors and direct neuronal communication through the vagus nerve (Kohler et al., 2016; Westfall et al., 2017).

One of the major mechanisms of GBA signaling influencing neurological health is inflammation. The gut microbiota influences inflammation in several ways beginning with management of the epithelial barrier's integrity, constituting the host's first line of physical defense against invading pathogens. The gut microbiota maintains the thick layer of highly glycosylated mucus on the gut epithelium that promotes the production of tissue repair factors and antimicrobial proteins (Rakoff-Nahoum et al., 2004). In addition, toll-like receptor (TLR)2 signaling, activated by various gram-positive bacterial ligands such as lipoteichoic acid found on Lactobacillus plantarum strains, is required for the microbiota-mediated protection of the epithelial barrier and formation of tight junctions (Podolsky et al., 2009). A healthy gut microbiota also regulates the expansion of invading pathogens, some of which harbor immune-activating ligands. Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), specifically the TLRs and Nod-like receptors (NLRs), on host immune effector cells recognize a variety of antigens known as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) on bacteria, fungi, etc. that normally maintain the GIT's basic immune tone; however, if activated in excess, initiate an innate immune response. The gut microbiota can also influence the cytokine profile of dendritic cells, which is critical to determine the fate of naïve CD4+ T helper (Th)0 cells into Th1, Th2, Th17 or regulatory T cells (Treg) in secondary lymphoid tissues (Barberi et al., 2015), which determines the inflammatory tone in the periphery and brain. It was previously shown that the ratio of Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes determines the balance of Th17 and Treg cells while Bifidobacterium breve, B. infantis, and L. salivarius were each shown to dose-dependently inhibit the differentiation and activity of early precursor dendritic cells (Round and Mazmanian, 2010). In addition, fecal transplant from inflammatory bowel disease patients into gnotobiotic mice was shown to alter the balance of gut Th17 and RAR-related orphan receptor (ROR) yT<sup>+</sup> cells favoring elevated numbers of proinflammatory Th17 cells, ultimately exasperating the colitis phenotype in mice (Britton et al., 2019). Although there is little information about the specific gut bacteria that regulate the immune system, one study showed that Bacteroides fragilis, which produces a specific bacterial polysaccharide, directly impacts the cellular and physical maturation of the immune system including correcting T cell deficiencies and Th1/Th2 imbalances observed in germ-free mice (Mazmanian et al., 2005).

Apart from inflammatory signaling, the gut microbiota can communicate with the brain through direct nervous afferents. The ENS is the brain of the GIT governing its activity and homeostasis. From the ENS, afferent sensory pathways innervate the nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS) in the brainstem, which integrates the GIT-derived sensory information with autonomic and homeostasis-related functions in the GIT (Browning and Mendelowitz, 2003). Vagal efferents release acetylcholine to excite enteric neurons and inhibit gastric functions, which is a major contributor to symptomatic GIT dysfunctions in response to stress (Travagli et al., 2006). In addition, the vagus nerve originating in the NTS/dorsal vagal complex innervates several key visceral organs including the heart, lungs and GIT through the cholinergic system (Pavlov et al., 2003). Of particular importance, vagal efferents are known to have counterinflammatory roles through the activation of nicotinic receptors on macrophages, downregulation of T cells and downregulation

tumor necrosis factor (TNF) $\alpha$  production via  $\alpha$ 7-nAChRagonistic signaling (Ghia et al., 2006). This demonstrates the complexity of the vagal connections and how dysbiosis may have a broad influence on the general inflammatory state in the body.

Finally, the gut microbiota is fundamental in managing the availability of neurotransmitters both through their synthesis in the epithelial lining and the metabolism of their precursors in the GIT lumen. An important study conducted by Asano et al. (2012) demonstrated that the gut microbiota is critical for the production of catecholamines in the luminal space. In addition, *Clostridium* ssp. are required for the biotransformation of catecholamines into their bioactive form owing to their β-glucuronidase enzymes (Asano et al., 2012). It was later determined that several microbiota species produce dopamine including Bacillus cereus, B. subtilis and Staphylococcus aureus (Wall et al., 2014). The gut microbiota is also critical in managing the bioavailable levels of tryptophan and consequently the synthesis of serotonin. Indeed, 95 % of all serotonin synthesis occurs in the GIT, which influences its availability in the brain (O'Mahony et al., 2015). There is also evidence suggesting that L. plantarum can produce acetylcholine (Stanaszek et al., 1977), Bifidobacteria and Lactobacillus spp. can produce micromolar concentrations of GABA (Barrett et al., 2012) and histamine may be produced by several gram-negative species (Devalia et al., 1989). In most of these instances, there also indications that these neurohormone producing species could invoke behavioral effects in animals. For example, the GABA-producing L. brevis FPA 3709 can significantly reduce depressive-like behavior in rats as effectively as the known antidepressant fluoxetine (Ko et al., 2013).

The GBA is an integrated and complex bidirectional communication system (Westfall et al., 2017) that is heavily impacted by the composition of the gut microbiota and its metabolites. Modulation of the basal GBA signaling by dietary polyphenols can have important consequences for the prevention and management of neuropsychiatric disorders by simultaneously attenuating multiple risk factors including inflammation, neuronal innervation through ENS-CNS communication and bioavailability of neurotransmitters and their precursors.

### THE GUT MICROBIOTA IN NEUROPSYCHIATRIC DISORDERS

The first indication that the gut microbiota can influence a psychiatric disorder was found with irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) (Mulak and Bonaz, 2004); however, this understanding has since been expanded to several other conditions including depression and anxiety (reviewed in Inserra et al., 2018). For example, germ-free mice have reduced anxiety compared to specific pathogen free mice, which is correlated to reduced brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) expression in the amygdala (Arentsen et al., 2015). This corroborates an earlier study that showed how antibiotic treatment could promote exploratory behavior and hippocampal expression of BDNF linking the composition of the gut microbiota

directly with neurochemical and neurobehavioral effects (Bercik et al., 2011). These early animal studies have since been extended to demonstrate that the gut microbiota of depressed patients is significantly altered, potentially causatively driving symptoms of depression. In a cohort of 10 individuals with severe depression, comparative metaproteomic analyses revealed that there are significant variations in the phyla Bacteroidetes, Proteobacteria, Firmicutes, and Actinobacteria extending to altered abundances in 16 families including reduced Bifidobacteriaceae and Prevotellaceae with elevated Enterobacteriaceae and Ruminococcaceae (Chen Z. et al., 2018). A clinical study of 35 patients with major depression showed that depressive symptoms were associated with reduced gut microbiota richness and diversity while a fecal transplant from depressed patients into germ-free mice could reconstitute the depressive phenotype indicating that the gut microbiota causatively promotes depression (Kelly et al., 2016). In a similar cohort, significant variations in the phyla Firmicutes, Actinobacteria, and Bacteroidetes were observed in clinically depressed patients and again, fecal transplantation into mice could transfer the phenotype (Zheng et al., 2016). Interestingly, there are reported gender differences in the gut microbiota composition of depressed patients where female patients have a characteristic increase in the phyla Actinobacteria, male patients have reduced Bacteroidetes and both genders display disrupted Firmicutes homeostasis and elevated Collinsella spp. abundance (Chen J.J. et al., 2018).

There have also been intervention studies to understand how supplementation with psychobiotics, probiotics that can impact neuropsychiatric conditions, may influence depressive and anxiety phenotypes. In wild-type mice fed a western-style diet incorporating 33% fat and 49% refined carbohydrates, a phenotype resembling elevated anxiety and memory deficits was observed though prevented by treatment with L. helveticus R0052 (Ohland et al., 2013). In a study of 124 healthy volunteers (mean age 62 years), those who consumed a mix of psychobiotics (L. helveticus and B. longum) exhibited less anxiety and depression than controls (Dinan and Cryan, 2013). In a more recent study with cohort of 79 participants with self-reported mood measures, a probiotic preparation also containing L. helveticus and B. longum did not significantly alter the mood or depression scores compared to the placebo group, however this could be from the heterogeneity, severity or chronicity of the treatment cohort (Romijn et al., 2017). In a large cohort of pregnant women, supplementation with L. rhamnosus HN001 lead to significantly less postpartum depression and anxiety compared to placebo controls (Slykerman et al., 2017). In another cohort of patients diagnosed with both IBS and major depression, a twice daily dose of Bacillus coagulans MTCC 5856 was administered and treated patients demonstrated reduced depressive phenotypes on multiple scales (Majeed et al., 2018). This accumulation of fecal transplant and psychobiotic intervention studies demonstrate that through the GBA, variations in the composition and consequently metabolism of the gut microbiota has potential therapeutic efficacy for the treatment of neuropsychiatric conditions.

To amplify this effect, psychobiotics can be administered in conjunction with dietary polyphenols, as a synbiotic, increasing the production of bioactive metabolites acting on the aforementioned GBA mechanisms.

### THE GUT MICROBIOTA INCREASES BIOAVAILABILITY OF DIETARY POLYPHENOLS

# Interaction of the Gut Microbiota With Dietary Polyphenols

The interaction of gut bacteria with dietary polyphenols has a two-fold impact on health. First, dietary polyphenols act as prebiotics enhancing the growth of specific beneficial bacterial species that elicit health benefits (Cardona et al., 2013; Duenas et al., 2015; Ozdal et al., 2016). Second, autochthonous gut microbiota can increase the production of bioactive phenolic acids derived from dietary polyphenols increasing their beneficial biological activity (Espin et al., 2017). The former prebiotic effect of botanicals has been extensively described in several reviews (Cardona et al., 2013; Duenas et al., 2015; Ozdal et al., 2016) so will not be further elaborated here; however, the biotransformation of dietary polyphenols by the gut microbiota creating a diverse host of bioactive phenolic acids is a developing understanding, especially toward the promotion of cognitive resilience to depression and anxiety. The gut microbiota contains approximately 10<sup>14</sup> bacterial cells, 10 times more than mammalian cells present in the human body, which contributes to its huge metabolic potential (Kardum and Glibetic, 2018). In this sense, the gut microbiota can be considered as both a metabolic and an endocrine organ that is critically important for numerous biological activities.

Only 5-10% of dietary polyphenols are absorbed in the small intestine where they subsequently undergo phase I biotransformation (i.e., oxidation) in the endothelial cells and phase II biotransformation (i.e., conjugation) in hepatocytes liberating water-soluble conjugate metabolites (Manach et al., 2005) (Figure 1). The remaining polyphenols transit through the small intestine into the colon where the gut microbiota with their specific enzymatic makeup facilitate the bioconversion of various polyphenols and their intermediate metabolites (Braune and Blaut, 2016; Espin et al., 2017). In their natural form, dietary polyphenols are present as conjugates with sugars or organic acids that need to first be liberated before absorption. In the colon, microbial enzymes de-conjugate polyphenols producing the less-polar aglycone forms that can be either absorbed or processed though subsequent microbial reactions in the colon (Murota et al., 2018). There are three major catabolic mechanisms elicited by the gut microbiota to produce bioactive phenolic acids: hydrolysis (O-deglycosylations and ester hydrolysis), cleavage (C-ring cleavage, delactonization, demethylation) and reduction (dehydroxylation and double bond reduction) (reviewed in Espin et al., 2017). Indeed, several studies have identified specific enzymes in various gut microbiota that conduct these reactions; however, it must be recognized that ultimately, it is a combination



of reactions conducted by several microbiota species that produce the final bioactive phenolic acids, a process known as crossfeeding (Duda-Chodak et al., 2015).

One study reported that in rats, 85% of blueberry anthocyanins reached the colon, though 69% disappear from the GIT after 4 h indicating that dietary anthocyanins are heavily metabolized by the gut microbiota (Kahle et al., 2006). Further, an anthocyanin-rich extract from black currants only demonstrated metabolic benefits in the presence of an intact gut microbiota (Esposito et al., 2015). Another study showed that mulberry anthocyanins were specifically transformed by S. thermophilus (46.2%) and L. plantarum (43.6%) into chlorogenic acid, cypto-chlorogenic acid, caffeic acid and ferulic acid: all phenolic acids with potent anti-inflammatory benefits (Cheng J.R. et al., 2016). Anthocyanins can also be broken down into protocatechuic acid, further into the bioactive phenolic acid cyanidin-3-glucoside (Vitaglione et al., 2007) and finally into 3-hydroxycinnamic acid, which has potent anti-depressive effects possibly through mechanisms implicating inflammation (Hanske et al., 2013).

Since there is high interpersonal variability in the composition of the gut microbiota, production of bioactive metabolites is also highly variable making the physiological health benefits of dietary polyphenols unpredictable in diseased populations whose display dysbiosis. As such, to standardize the physiological benefits of dietary polyphenols, they can be delivered together with probiotics (i.e., synbiotics) normalizing the production of bioactive metabolites, which can then be optimized toward having a beneficial effect. Some authors have identified that these interactions between specific gut microbial species and dietary polyphenols may have negative impacts on the host (Galati and O'Brien, 2004; Nunes et al., 2008), however the vast majority of the interactions are positive, and increase the bioavailability of the ingested polyphenols to elicit beneficial health effects.

### Synbiotics Increase the Bioavailability of Polyphenolic Metabolites Enhancing Their Biological Effect

There are only a handful of studies investigating the impact of synbiotics on cognition, and even fewer that utilize a polyphenolic prebiotic. In general, clinical studies with synbiotics are inconclusive as there are a broad cohort diversities and inadequate regulation of treatment regimens as was demonstrated with meta-analyses on IBS patients (Ford et al., 2018), ulcerative colitis (Asto et al., 2019), and diabetes (Zheng et al., 2019). Nevertheless, a few notable studies have been conducted to date demonstrating the potential of synbiotics to act as powerful therapeutic agents in the management of neurological disorders. In a study of a healthy elderly population, patients were separated into either placebo or synbiotic groups where the latter were exposed to two daily doses of a FOS and a probiotic formulation containing L. paracasei, L. rhamnosus, L. acidophilus, and B. lactis. Although there were no significant differences in the depression scores, the synbiotic did improve inflammatory markers of the healthy elderly individuals, notably with an increase in the antiinflammatory IL-10 cytokine, associated to improvements in cognition (Louzada and Ribeiro, 2018). In a separate study, a cohort of 75 hemodialysis patients were administered a synbiotic containing L. acidophilus, B. bifidum, B. lactis, and B. longum with the prebiotics FOS, GOS and inulin. In a subset of patients with depressive symptoms, the synbiotic significantly reduced the depressive score compared to both the probiotic-alone and placebo groups, which correlated to an increase in BDNF serum levels (Haghighat et al., 2019). In one comprehensive animal study, the effects of probiotic (L. paracasei), prebiotic (xylooligosaccharide) and synbiotic treatment on chronic highfat diet (HFD) induced obesity and insulin resistance was evaluated including measures of the associated HFD-induced cognitive decline. Interestingly, all treatment groups reduced HFD-associated inflammation, hippocampal oxidative stress, apoptosis and microglial activation. Although there were no statistical differences between the prebiotic or probiotic groups with the synbiotic, the synbiotic did have a trending beneficial effect on multiple measures of hippocampal activity including dendritic spine density, soma area and apoptosis measures, which could be potentially amplified with the use of a more complex prebiotic formula such as a polyphenol (Chunchai et al., 2018). Although interesting, these synbiotic studies only utilize the traditional fiber-based prebiotics, and to the author's knowledge, only one study to date has tested how a polyphenol-rich synbiotic can affect multiple markers of cognition, using an Alzheimer's Disease (AD) model in Drosophila. In this study, a synbiotic that was previously shown to enhance production of polyphenolic metabolites (Westfall et al., 2018a) and promote longevity in Drosophila melanogaster (Westfall et al., 2018b) was shown to rescue the AD phenotype in humanized transgenic Drosophila (Westfall et al., 2019). In particular, the synbiotic-derived metabolites provided potent anti-inflammatory and antioxidant activity while reestablishing metabolic homeostasis. Of particular interest, when considering all of the AD risk factors as a whole, the synbiotic consistently rescued all of the risk factors to a greater or same extent as its components establishing its combinatorial activity. Despite the lack of studies truly investigating the combinatorial action of synbiotics containing polyphenolic prebiotics, below is a description of potential polyphenolic precursors that are known to require the gut microbiota to produce its full extent of metabolites and elicit potential beneficial effects on cognition and mechanisms associated with depression.

Roasted green coffee beans contain a high level of hydroxycinnamates, which are partially bioavailable yet extensively metabolized, mainly by the colonic microbiota. In subjects who drank a roasted coffee blend containing 269.5 mg of chlorogenic acids, the majority of metabolites in the urine (75.7%), composed of dihydrohydroxycinnamic acids and feruloylglycine, were of colonic origin (Gomez-Juaristi et al., 2018b). The same group identified that the polyphenolic-rich yerba mate was mainly metabolized by the colonic microbiota with up to 81 % of the metabolites composed of dihydroferulic acid, dihydrocaffeic acid and dihydrocoumaric acids (Gomez-Juaristi et al., 2018a). Another example is ester hydrolysis of chlorogenic acid to release caffeic acid, which was determined to be carried out by *B. animalis* by a specific enzyme identified as Balat\_0669 (Raimondi et al., 2015).

The urolithins are an important class of bioactive microbial metabolites derived from ellagitannin and ellagic acid precursors. Several bacterial species have been identified that produce their intermediate metabolites including Gordonibacter urolithinfaciens and G. pamelaeae (Selma et al., 2014); however it has recently been shown that a new class of microbiota species, the Eggerthellaceae family, is essential to produce the final urolithin metabolite isourolithin A (Selma et al., 2017; Beltran et al., 2018). It is well known that the microbialderived urolithins have potent anti-inflammatory effects. In human colonic fibroblasts, urolithins, but not their ellagitannin precursor, inhibited nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-KB) translocation into the nucleus and consequent activation of downstream inflammatory events (Gonzalez-Sarrias et al., 2010). These effects were extended to indicate the microbial-derived urolithins are neuroprotective and pomegranate's anti- AD's neuroprotective ability was attributed to the production of microbial-derived urolithins (Yuan et al., 2016).

Catechins and epicatechins are major constituents of grape seed extracts and the production of their bioactive metabolites is dependent on the presence of the microbiota (Ou et al., 2014). In two grape-seed extracts containing either 70% monomers and 28% procyanidins or 21% monomers and 78% procyanidins, the growth of Lactobacillus and Enterococcus spp. were elevated while the Clostridium histolyticum group was inhibited indicating that specific gut bacteria are responsible for the metabolism of grape seed flavan-3-ols. These changes in the gut microbiota were associated with increases in 4-hydroxyphenylacetic acid, phenylpropionic acid, phenylacetic acid and 4-hydroxybenzoic acid (Cueva et al., 2013). Eggerthella lenta JCM 9979 was shown to facilitate the C-ring cleavage of epicatechins and catechins and the subsequent 4'-dehydroxylation to produce different intermediate metabolites (Takagaki and Nanjo, 2015). L. plantarum IFPL935 was found to be important in the first step of catechin and procyanidin catabolism involving ring fission, however did not impact the production of phenolic metabolites unless in the context of a complete microbiota indicating that there is another microbe using the metabolic intermediate of L. plantarum to produce the bioactive metabolites (Barroso et al., 2013).

The natural flavonoid, quercetin, is also heavily processed by the gut microbiota. In an *in vitro* anaerobic fermentation model, the fecal microbiota was shown to deconjugate rutin, isoquercetin and a mixture of quercetin glucuronides through deglycosylation, ring fission and dehydroxylation reactions to produce the metabolites 3,4-dihydrophenylacetic acid and 3hydroxyphenylacetic acid (Aura et al., 2002). In an elderly Japanese population, interindividual variations in quercetin concentrations with respect to fecal microbiota compositions were observed and the level of quercetin consumption was negatively correlated with the abundance of *Sutterellaceae* and *Oscillospiraceae* spp. and positively correlated with the families *Fusobacteriaceae* and *Enterobacteriaceae* (Tamura et al., 2017).

When considering neurological diseases, it is important not only to understand the bioavailability of the phenolic acids in the colon and plasma, but also in the brain where their activity is warranted. Grape seed polyphenol extract (GSPE) is a rich source of flavan-3-ols including catechin, epicatechin, and anthocyanins which were shown to produce a variety of bioavailable phenolic acids both in the plasma and brain (Ho et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2015). Importantly, the production of bioactive phenolic acids derived from the anthocyanin-rich GSPE is dependent on the microbiota, and two of the microbiota-derived metabolites 3-hydroxybenzoic acid and 3-(3'-hydroxyphenyl)propionic acid accumulate in micromolar concentrations in the brain where they can interfere with the assembly of amyloid-beta peptides (Wang et al., 2015). We also found that after moderate wine consumption in rats, there is an accumulation of the polyphenol metabolite quercetin-3-O-glucuronide in the brain, which specifically reduced the generation of amyloid-beta from primary neuron cultures generated from the Tg2576 AD mouse model (Ho et al., 2013). At the same time, this metabolite significantly improved AD-type deficits in hippocampal formation basal synaptic transmission. Going further, a Bioactive Dietary Polyphenol Preparation (BDPP) containing GSPE, concord grape juice and resveratrol was shown to attenuate sleep deprivation-induced contextual memory deficits. Supplementation of BDPP lead to the accumulation of malvidin-3-O-glucoside and quercetin-3-O-glucuronide in the brain where the former activated target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling and the latter cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB) signaling (Zhao et al., 2015). Combining malvidin-3'-O-glucoside with another BDPP metabolite, dihydrocaffeic acid (DHCA) significantly promoted cognitive resilience to stress-induced depression by modulating neuronal plasticity and peripheral inflammation in stressed rats. Mechanistically, DHCA was shown to inhibit DNA methylation on CpG-rich interleukin (IL)-6 sequences while malvidin-glucoside increased histone acetylation of the regulatory sequences that modulate synaptic plasticity (Wang J. et al., 2018).

Despite the small number of studies on the specific activity of synbiotics including a polyphenol-rich prebiotic on the specific mechanisms of depression, it can be concluded that the gut microbiota is essential for producing the full battery of plasmaand brain-bioactive polyphenolic metabolites that have potential neuroprotective activity. Below is a description of how some of the individual microbial-derived polyphenolic metabolites can impact different mechanisms that lead depression, strengthening the argument for the use of synbiotics as depressive therapies.

### GUT-BRAIN-AXIS MECHANISMS LINKING POLYPHENOLIC MICROBIAL METABOLISM TO DEPRESSION

### Gut Microbiota-Anti-inflammatory Effects Modulate Depression

### Neuroinflammation Implicates Neurological Changes in MDD

Chronic neuroinflammation is a major risk factor for neurological diseases as it leads to changes in brain structure and synaptic plasticity resulting in neural deficits (Maes, 1999). Neuroinflammation also modulates neurotransmitter concentrations by upregulating monoamine transporters, reducing synaptic reuptake of monoamines and reducing monoamine synthesis by decreasing tetrahydrobiopterin availability, a cofactor necessary for both tyrosine and tryptophan hydroxylases (Miller and Raison, 2016). The elevated release of cytokines observed with neuroinflammation also drives glutamatergic neurotransmission inducing excitotoxicity and consequently neuronal death (Haroon et al., 2014). Although neuroinflammation is not specific to depression, it does account for a large part of its pathophysiology and anti-inflammatory medication has been successful in alleviating some depressive symptoms (Kohler et al., 2014; Ebada, 2017). As previously described, stress is a major risk factor for depression and neuroinflammation could explain, in part, how stress induces the psychological impairment characteristic of depression. Neuroinflammation, especially elevation in interferon(IFN)-a and IL-6 cytokines, inhibits negative-feedback regulation of the HPA axis, therefore maintaining hypercortisolemia in the context of chronic stress. This elevated glucocorticoid release exasperates the stress response and reduces sensitivity of peripheral immune cells to anti-inflammatory feedback (Frank et al., 2012). Hence, neuroinflammation, when coupled with a reduction in neuroprotection and neuronal repair due to elevated glucocorticoid levels, may be among the initial pathological markers of depression and controlling neuroinflammation with a dietary regime incorporating synbiotics could be a viable prophylactic approach for preventing the onset and/or progression of depression.

Several associations between inflammatory conditions and susceptibility to depression have been made. Patients with rheumatoid arthritis, cancer, autoimmune diseases or other chronic inflammatory conditions are predisposed to depression (Pollak and Yirmiya, 2002). Also, several inflammatory markers have also been used as diagnostic indicators of MDD (Musselman et al., 2001; Vogelzangs et al., 2012). Based on post-mortem studies, depressed patients were found to have area-dependent elevation in proinflammatory cytokine mRNA and protein expression, which is linked to the prominent downregulation in both number and density of oligodendrocytes in areas associated with the depressive phenotype (Mechawar and Savitz, 2016). Depressed suicide completers in particular have elevated mRNA and protein levels of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 in the prefrontal cortex (Pandey et al., 2012), consistent with elevated TLR expression in macrophages and microglia in the corresponding areas (Pandey, 2017).

In depressed patients, there is also evidence of increased blood-brain-barrier (BBB) permeability (Bechter et al., 2010) and through a compromised BBB, cytokines and chemokines infiltrate the CNS, stimulating microglia and astrocyte activation (Wohleb et al., 2016). In a mouse preclinical repeated social stress model, BBB impairment in the nucleus accumbens region was observed in stress-susceptible mice and confirmed in postmortem depressed patients as observed with decreased expression of a key tight-junction protein, claudin 5. This loss of barrier integrity was associated with elevated infiltration of cytokines and subsequent expression of depression-like behaviors (Menard et al., 2017). The circumventricular organs (CVOs) border the brain's ventricular spaces and lack the typical tight junction integrity of the BBB (Petrov et al., 1994). TLRs on macrophage-like cells in the CVOs are uniquely activated by systemic inflammation and can increase production of proinflammatory mediators. One CVO in particular, the area postrema, is highly interconnected with the nucleus of the solitary tract and dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus nerve (Maolood and Meister, 2009), directly linking inflammatory signals from the GIT with compromised BBB integrity through the CVOs. A compromised BBB also allows the infiltration of peripheral immune cells, including monocytes, dendritic cells and T lymphocytes, into the brain (Najjar et al., 2013). Stress can bias myeloid lineage cells to increase their trafficking ability promoting their increased infiltration into the brain parenchyma (Wohleb et al., 2013). This elevated trafficking could be due to elevated expression of key immune adhesion molecules in specific brain regions after stress. As such both intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 and vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM)-1 were observed to be increased on endothelial cells in the prefrontal cortex and hypothalamus following a repeat social defeat paradigm in mice, which parallels the patterns of macrophage trafficking and microglial activation in the brain. Once in the brain, these infiltrated monocytes alter behavior and promote microglial reactivity exasperating the neuroinflammatory response (Ataka et al., 2013).

# Compromised Gut-Brain-Axis Signaling Instigates Neuroinflammation

A stable and healthy commensal microbiota plays a cardinal role in maintaining the host's immune status (Bercik et al., 2011). On one side, the gut microbiota is immunomodulatory (Round and Mazmanian, 2009; El Aidy et al., 2015), while on the other side, the immune system works to shape the composition and diversity of the intestinal microbiota (Hooper et al., 2012). Incorporation of dietary polyphenols dually impacts the gut microbiota-mediated immunomodulatory effects as they alter both the composition of the gut microbiota with their prebiotic activity while providing precursors for the production of many microbial-derived metabolites that have protective influences on the gut barrier, the first line of immune modulation.

As a first line of defense, the gut microbiota maintains the integrity of the intestinal epithelium, which prevents infiltration of bacteria and other immune-triggering substances into the host's circulation. The microbiota accomplishes this through a variety of mechanisms including maintaining tight junction proteins, production of the mucus layer and secretion of antibactericial proteins and factors, such as IgA, to fend off invading pathogens (Daulatzai, 2014). A major gut-derived mediator of inflammation is lipopolysaccharide (LPS), which through TLR4 signaling activates NF-κB-mediated transcription of proinflammatory cytokines from monocytes and macrophages (Tanti et al., 2012). GIT-mediated inflammation stimulates barrier breakdown and consequently, elevated infiltration of LPS and other bacterial components. One study specifically showed that elevated GIT permeability with an increased translocation of LPS from gram-negative bacteria plays a significant role in

the pathophysiology of MDD (Maes et al., 2008). LPS dosedependently increases IL-1 $\beta$  levels in the dorsal vagal complex, as well as in the hypothalamus, hippocampus, cerebellum, neocortex and pituitary gland (Hansen et al., 2000). Indeed, a single injection of LPS is associated with elevated systemic and central inflammatory mediators and significant cognitive deficits (Kahn et al., 2012), while chronic LPS injections over 5 days in female mice at 1 month intervals induces chronic anhedonia (Kubera et al., 2013).

Interestingly, the gut microbiota has also been associated with deficits in BBB integrity. Germ-free mice have increased BBB permeability and lower expression of occludin and claudin-5 in different brain regions implicated in depression including the frontal cortex, hippocampus and the striatum (Braniste et al., 2014). This group also confirmed that mono-colonization of germ-free mice with the butyrate producing *Clostridium tyrobutyricum* elevated occludin expression in the frontal cortex and hippocampus while reducing BBB permeability (Braniste et al., 2014).

The vagus nerve is also an important player in the bidirectional communication between the gut microbiota and the brain as it monitors the physiological homeostasis of the GIT and connects it to the cognitive and emotional centers in the CNS (Carabotti et al., 2015). One of the major functions of vagal afferents is activation of the HPA axis, which coordinates the adaptive responses of the organism with external stressors, and directly links the health of the microbiota and GIT to depressive phenotypes (Howland, 2014). The vagus nerve also implements an inflammatory reflex where pathogenic species that induce proinflammatory cytokines can activate afferent sensory vagal fibers synapsing in the nucleus tractus solitarius. Efferent vagal signals communicate with the periphery and HPA axis to reduce inflammatory tone by inhibiting the release of TNF- $\alpha$  by splenic nerves (Breit et al., 2018). Notably, there are also receptors on the vagal afferents for various cytokines and TLRs, which can initiate the synthesis and release of inflammatory cytokines from cells within the CNS (Dantzer et al., 2008).

### Gut-Derived Polyphenols Reduce Neuroinflammation

There is ample information supporting the anti-inflammatory activity of polyphenols and their metabolites in the context of neurological disorders. However, most studies neglect to integrate the importance of the gut microbiota in producing the polyphenolic bioactives thereby underestimating their full antiinflammatory potential. Ferulic acid is a hydroxycinnaminic acid produced as a microbial metabolite from several Lactobacillus species (Tomaro-Duchesneau et al., 2012) and the production of many of its bioactive metabolic products (dihydroferulic acid or vanillic acid) is dependent on the gut microbiota. Ferulic acid has been shown to have potent implications in depression. Ligusticum officinale is an anti-inflammatory plant used in oriental medicine which is rich in ferulic acid and potently can attenuate NF-kB activation in BV2 microglial cells following LPS stimulation (Zeni et al., 2017). In another study utilizing a defeat stress paradigm, ferulic acid at 1 mg/kg reduced oxidative stress and neuroinflammatory markers in the blood, hippocampus and cerebral cortex of mice (Lenzi et al., 2015). In an outbred ICR mouse model, ferulic acid, in combination with the bioavailability enhancer piperine, reduced immobility in the tail suspension and forced swim test by 60% possibly by inhibiting monoamine oxidase activity in the frontal cortex, hippocampus and hypothalamus (Li et al., 2015). Going further, in a model of chronic unpredictable mild stress, ferulic acid ameliorated depressive-like behaviors possibly through the upregulation of BDNF, postsynaptic protein PSD95 levels, and synapsin I in the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus (Liu Y.M. et al., 2017).

Epicatechin, catechin and the proanthocyanidins are the main flavan-3-ols metabolized by the gut microbiota that also elicit beneficial anti-inflammatory effects. Catechin pretreatment to the chemotherapeutic agent Doxorubicin in rats dose-dependently prevented neurodegeneration while at 100 mg/kg, reduced memory deficits by decreasing oxidative stress, acetylcholinesterase activity and neuroinflammation in the hippocampus (Cheruku et al., 2018). In a rat model of traumatic brain injury, catechin treatment was shown to be neuroprotective by dually protecting both BBB integrity and excessive neuroinflammation (Jiang et al., 2017). A major green tea catechin, (-)-epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) has many neuroprotective abilities, neuroinflammation being just one of them. Pretreatment of outbred ICR mice with EGCG for 3 weeks (1.5 and 3 mg/kg/day) prior to LPS injection for 7 days prevented the LPS-induced memory impairment and apoptotic neuronal cell death. This included preventing astrogliosis associated with the LPS injections and the consequent production of inflammatory mediators (Lee et al., 2013). In a similar model, EGCG rescued LPS-induced inhibition of adult neurogenesis by restoring proliferation and differentiation of neural stem cells in the dentate gyrus and modulating neuroinflammation through the TLR4-NFkB pathway (Seong et al., 2016).

There is also ample evidence that quercetin can reduce neuroinflammation and as previously indicated, the urolithin metabolic products derived from quercetin have more bioactivity than quercetin itself. In a rat cardiopulmonary resuscitation model of depression, quercetin inhibited ROS generation, neuroinflammation and metalloproteinase-2 protein expression corresponding to recovering left ventricular ejection fraction reduced by the depression paradigm (Wang D. et al., 2018). Mice undergoing chronic unpredictable stress for 21 days were simultaneously treated with 30 mg/kg of quercetin, which alleviated both anxiety and depression behavioral dysfunctions. Simultaneously, quercetin treatment reduced the stress-induced elevation in oxidative stress markers and proinflammatory markers (Mehta et al., 2017). Adriamycin is a chemotherapeutic agent that induces depression- and anxiety-like behaviors in rats. Quercetin (60 mg/kg), alleviated the anxiety and depressive behaviors while attenuating brain oxidative stress and suppressing the excessive corticosterone induction in rats treated with Adriamycin (Merzoug et al., 2014). Quercetin was also shown to reduce depressive behavioral deficits in olfactory bulbectomized rats by simultaneously reducing the oxidative, inflammatory and stress-induced changes in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus. This group suggested that quercetin may elicit its neuroprotective effects through a microglial inhibitory pathway as subclinical amounts of quercetin potentiated the activity of minocycline, a known microglial inhibitor (Rinwa and Kumar, 2013).

The known anti-inflammatory action of resveratrol has been translated to be beneficial in various neuroinflammatory models of depression. Resveratrol inhibits several proinflammatory mediators, modifies eicosanoid synthesis and inhibits enzymes including cyclooxygenase (COX)2, NF- $\kappa$ B, AP-1, TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6 and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Namasivayam, 2011). In a social defeat paradigm, resveratrol at 30 mg/kg body weight per day blocked neuroinflammation in the locus coeruleus, but not neurotransmitter release, associated with reduced anhedonia to the sucrose preference test (Finnell et al., 2017).

Caffeic acid is among the main constituents in coffee that have been shown in vitro and in vivo to have beneficial effects in modulating neuroinflammation (Hall et al., 2015). The derivative of caffeic acid, caffeic acid phenethyl ester, also has a battery of neuroprotective activities including anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory properties (Noelker et al., 2005) whose production is dependent on the gut microbiota (Peppercorn and Goldman, 1971). Indeed, a negative correlation between the level of coffee consumption and depression has been recorded (Pham et al., 2014). In mice, caffeic acid (4 mg/kg) was shown to have antidepressant-like activity independent of monoamine transduction suggesting that caffeic acid works through a nonmonoameringeric system (Takeda et al., 2002). Caffeic acid, at a dose of 30 mg/kg body weight in mice, prophylactically inhibited LPS-induced sickness behavior specifically by reducing cytokine production in serum and brain thus eliciting a protective effect against neuropathologies associated with depression (Basu Mallik et al., 2016).

The anti-inflammatory activity of polyphenols is well known, albeit interesting as a potential therapeutic application in depression. The activity of polyphenols, however, may only be considered in the context of the gut microbiota. As demonstrated previously, the diversity and richness of the gut microbiota is critical to determine the bioavailability of dietary polyphenols, which in their parent form, remain relatively inactive. Likewise, combining dietary polyphenols with optimized probiotic formulation as a synbiotic, would increase the production of specific metabolites whose antiinflammatory mechanisms could be elucidate and optimized for the treatment of depression.

# Activated Microglia Impact Depressive Neuropathology

Microglia are the principle immune mediators in the CNS and their improper activation is associated with neuroinflammation and clinical psychiatric phenotypes (Steiner et al., 2008). In a resting state, microglia conduct immunosurveillance, mediating brain homeostasis and innate immune responses against a range of pathogenic insults primarily through phagocytosis (Hanisch and Kettenmann, 2007). However, under conditions of stress or elevated peripheral inflammation, the microglia transform into an activated state where there is an upregulation of the major histocompatibility complexes (MHCs) and complement receptors stimulating the production of large amounts of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (Hanisch and Kettenmann, 2007).

Recently, depression has been described as a microgliaassociated disorder with many depressed patients suffering from excessive microglial activation (Yirmiya et al., 2015). In preclinical depression models following a stress paradigm, elevated numbers of activated microglia in the hippocampus, prefrontal cortex, nucleus accumbens and amvgdala have been reported (Biesmans et al., 2013; Hinwood et al., 2013). In rats subjected to a mild stress paradigm for 12 weeks as a model of depression, significant microglial activation in the hippocampus was observed (Wang J. et al., 2018). In suicide completers, there is evidence of elevated microgliosis (Steiner et al., 2008, 2011), which has been confirmed with postmortem enrichment of the microglial ionized calcium binding adaptor molecular (IBA)1 marker in the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex of depressed suicide victims (Torres-Platas et al., 2014). In addition, an association between reactive microglia and major depression was shown in a positron emission tomography study demonstrating that the density of translocator protein-18, a mitochondrial protein expressed almost exclusively in activated microglia, was significantly elevated by 30% in the prefrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex and insula of patients with major depression (Setiawan et al., 2015). This was confirmed in a recent study in mild to major depression patients where translocator protein 18 was more highly expressed in the anterior cingulate cortex and insula of major depression patients with suicidal thoughts (Holmes et al., 2018).

## Gut-Brain-Axis Signaling Abrogates Microglial Activation

The first study showing that the gut microbiota can influence microglial dynamics was conducted by Erny et al. (2015), which showed distinct variations in the microglial transcriptomes of germ-free versus specific pathogen free mice. In particular, many genes involved in cellular activation were down-regulated in the microglia of germ-free animals while flow cytometry analyses indicated that these microglia were immature. Further, this group showed that chronic treatment with SCFAs could reverse the microglial immaturity and malformation observed in germ-free mice indicating the importance of microbialderived metabolites in shaping the microglial responses (Erny et al., 2015). One study showed that repeated treatment of sodium butyrate attenuated LPS-induced depressive behaviors while simultaneously attenuating microglial activation in the hippocampus, possibly through epigenetic regulation of various promoter elements (Yamawaki et al., 2018). Another study also compared microglial activation between conventional and germ-free mice subjected to a LPS stressor. Using a cytometric bead array analysis from hippocampal and prefrontal cortex samples, germ-free mice demonstrated attenuated production of cytokines in both these areas, which correlated to the observed increase in microglial

activation in conventional, but not germ-free mice. Further, the microglia in germ-free mice lacked MHCII markers, CD44 and CD62L, confirming their inability to be stimulated (Campos et al., 2016).

## Microbial-Derived Polyphenolic Metabolites Inhibit Microglial Activation

Phenolic acids produced by the gut microbiota also modulate microglial activation. In the AD APP/PS1 mouse model, a pomegranate extract was shown to reduce microgliosis and amyloid-beta plaque deposition in association with reduced anxiety-like behavior and increased memory performance. This effect was attributed to two polyphenolic compounds, punicalagin and ellagic acid, and likely its bioactive microbialderived metabolite EGCG (Rojanathammanee et al., 2013). Similar to EGCG, resveratrol was shown in neuron-glial primary cultures to inhibit LPS-induced microglial activation and subsequent production of TNFa, nitric oxide and IL-1ß likely through modulation of inflammasome signaling (Zhang et al., 2013). In a follow up study, resveratrol reduced hypoxia-induced microglial activation in BV-2 cells, consequently reducing proinflammatory factor release by inhibiting hypoxia-induced NF-κB inhibitor (IkB)-α degradation (Zhang et al., 2015). Chronic constriction injury causes significant glial activation and neuroinflammation in the spinal trigeminal nucleus. Resveratrol treatment after the constriction injury showed an inhibitory effect on the associated microglia and astrocyte activation while reducing the production of inflammatory cytokines through a mechanism implicating MAPK activation (Yang et al., 2016). Quercetin invokes a dose-dependent decrease in nitric oxide production in BV2 microglial cells 1 h prior to LPS treatment. Mechanistically, the authors observed that quercetin suppressed cPLA2 phosphorylation, an activity that was shown to prevent microglia-induced neurotoxicity in differentiated SH-SY5Y neuroblast cells (Chuang et al., 2016). Quercetin was also shown to inhibit obesity-induced hypothalamic inflammation by inhibiting microglia-mediated inflammatory responses, likely through mechanisms involving heme oxygenase induction. These results were verified in vivo where microglial activation markers in the hypothalamus of high fat diet fed obese mice were reduced in quercetin-supplemented animals (Yang et al., 2017). Various anthocyanin-rich extracts, particularly from the purple basal, were also shown to attenuate nitrite release from microglial cells stimulated by LPS (Strathearn et al., 2014). Anthocyanins inhibit LPS-induced microglial activation in BV2 microglial cells by inhibiting NF-KB translocation into the nucleus and consequently cytokine release including nitric oxide and prostaglandin E2 release (Jeong et al., 2013).

Similar to the investigation on the anti-inflammatory activity of polyphenolic metabolites, many of the dietary polyphenols discussed for the management of microglial activation require the activity of the gut microbiota to produce the appropriate bioactive metabolites. With an appropriately designed synbiotic formulation, multiple bioactive polyphenolic metabolites may be produced with multiple actions promoting neuroprotection against exasperated microglial activation, consequently protecting against depressive-like phenotypes.

### Inflammasome Activity Drives Neuroinflammation in Depression

The importance of the inflammasome and sterile inflammation in translating psychological stressful stimuli into neuroinflammatory responses has become recently recognized (Herman and Pasinetti, 2018). Pharmacological inhibition (Zhang et al., 2015) or genetic depletion (Iwata et al., 2016) of the inflammasome's assembly abolishes the depressive phenotype in response to various stress models. There are several inflammasome complexes in the body; however, the nod-like receptor pyrin containing 3 inflammasome (NLRP3), implicated specifically in caspase-1 activation, is found predominantly in the microglia under conditions of mild chronic stress (Pan et al., 2014), but can also be induced in neurons under conditions of severe stress (Zendedel et al., 2016). Indeed, NLRP3 gene expression was found elevated in PBMCs of patients with major depression corresponding with elevated serum levels of IL-1β and IL-18, supporting the clinical applicability of inflammasome activation in depression.

The inflammasome can be activated through sterile inflammation making the inflammasome an intracellular sensor to cellular stress and damage instead of direct pathogenic load. Canonical inflammasome activation requires two activating signals. The first signal stimulates the transcription of Nlrp3, IL-1\(\beta\) and IL-1\(\beta\) proinflammatory cytokines and is under the control of the PRRs, TLR or NLR, and the subsequent activation of the NF-kB transcriptional program. As such, damaged neurons or psychological stressors release danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) including high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), mtDNA, ATP and the S100 proteins which trigger TLR-associated pathways and present a major risk factor for depression (Fleshner et al., 2017). Each DAMP has a different affinity for either TLRs, or other PRRs such as RAGE (receptor of advanced glycation end products) or P2X7 (reviewed in Franklin et al., 2018) that leads to the same downstream inflammatory cascades including assembly and activity of the inflammasome. The second signal, such as ATP release, instigates assembly of the NLRP3 multimeric complex including recruitment of the apoptosis speck-like (ASC) protein and pro-caspase-1 (Lechtenberg et al., 2014). The assembled proteasome is responsible for the catalytic cleavage of pro-IL-1ß and pro-IL-18 by activated caspase-1 leading to inflammatory-driven cellular damage, autophagy and pyroptosis (Gurung et al., 2014).

The stress-induced production of IL-1 $\beta$  is critical for the development of depressive-like behaviors. In a chronic unpredictable stress model in rats, IL-1 $\beta$  mRNA and protein levels produced from inflammasome activation were found elevated in the prefrontal cortex, but not in the serum or CSF (Pan et al., 2014). Interestingly, *Nlrp3*-null mice are resilient to restraint stress-induced depressive-like behaviors including the associated microglial activation or reduced hippocampal neurogenesis (Alcocer-Gomez et al., 2016). Following a foot-shock paradigm, HMGB1 was found to be specifically upregulated in the hippocampus and associated with elevated chemokine and cytokine production (Cheng Y. et al., 2016). Similarly, S100b is elevated in the plasma of major depression patients, and overexpression of S100 is associated with depressive-like behaviors observed with the forced swim test in mice (Stroth and Svenningsson, 2015).

### The Gut Microbiota and Related Polyphenolic Metabolites Regulate Inflammasome Activation

Recently, the microbiota-inflammasome hypothesis of major depression was proposed (Figure 2) (Inserra et al., 2018). This theory suggests that there is a feedback loop where the gut microbiota-induced production of peripheral inflammation reduces the integrity of the BBB leading to inflammasome activation and consequently, imparts depressive symptoms while simultaneously disrupting the composition of the gut microbiota. A variety of microbial pathogens that can activate the NLRP3 inflammasome have been identified including Salmonella typhimurium, Escherichia coli, and Shigella flexneri (Brodsky and Monack, 2009); yet the mechanisms that drive this activation remain to be fully characterized. The gut bacteria can either directly activate the inflammasome, or indirectly. Through direct activation, inflammasome receptors will recognize bacterial antigens instigating the canonical inflammatory cascades while indirect activation involves sensing changes in the host's response to infection known as "patterns of pathogenicity." The latter includes changes in oxidative stress, potassium efflux or lysosomal destabilization (Storek and Monack, 2015) which can be sensed by the sterile inflammatory response. In one study, specific gut microbiota species were shown to stimulate IL-1β release through inflammasome signaling following spinal cord injury including the Enterobacteriaceae family and in particular, the pathobiont Proteus mirabilis. This study suggested that these selective members of the gut microbiota could stimulate newly recruited monocytes to induce NLRP3-dependent IL-1ß release, promoting inflammation in the intestine and further studies may demonstrate their importance in the depressive clinical phenotypes (Seo et al., 2015).

There are several indications that polyphenol supplementation can reduce inflammasome activation. In line with its aforementioned anti-inflammatory activities, EGCG has been shown to impact inflammasome signaling in multiple models. In a contrast-induced model of renal failure, EGCG downregulated Nlrp3 gene expression through a pathway involving a known inflammatory regulator heme oxygenase-1 (Gao et al., 2016). In another study, prophylactic EGCG treatment attenuated lupus nephritis symptoms and several inflammatory pathological targets leading to tangible preclinical benefits (Tsai et al., 2011). In endothelial cells, palmitate-induced oxidative stress lead to the strong upregulation of the NLRP3 inflammasome associated IL-1ß release and apoptosis, an effect that was ameliorated by EGCG supplementation through mechanisms involving AMPK signaling (Wu et al., 2014).

Quercetin also shows promising ability to attenuate inflammasome-induced inflammation. In a spinal cord injury model in rats, quercetin significantly decreased ROS production, inhibited NLRP3 inflammasome activation and reduced



signaling is a key mechanism of stress-induced depression and the gut microbiota has been shown to impact inflammasome signaling at several levels. Symbionts, or beneficial bacteria, have been shown to promote gut barrier integrity, and guide T-cell regulation toward an anti-inflammatory phenotype (green). Pathobionts, or bacteria with a negative effect, have the opposite effect, compromising the gut barrier integrity, activating immune response through the release of pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and pushing T cell development toward a proinflammatory state (red). Overall, these effects lead to inflammasome activation in the periphery and the microglia that ultimately promote the development of depression.

inflammatory cytokine levels (Jiang et al., 2016). In vitro, the LPS-producing E. coli O157:H7 induced significant upregulation of NLRP3 assembly along with caspase-1 activation and oxidative stress. Quercetin protected NLRP3 activation upon E. coli infection in Caco-2 epithelial cells demonstrating its potential to protect the GIT epithelial barrier against pathogenic insults (Xue et al., 2017). Another study suggested that quercetin specifically inhibited NLRP3, and not NLRP1, inflammasome activation by interfering with ASC oligomerization in a dose-dependent manner resulting in lower IL-1ß release (Domiciano et al., 2017). Finally, in a streptozotocin-induced diabetes nephropathy model, quercetin suppressed NLRP3 inflammasome activation via, in part, its anti-hyperuricemic effects (Wang C. et al., 2012) demonstrating quercetin's inflammasome-inhibition action in vivo. Apigenin, a natural flavone, normalized the expression levels of NLRP3 and IL-1β following microglial activation caused by chronic unpredictable stress in the prefrontal cortex of rats via upregulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR)y receptors (Li et al., 2016). Grape seedderived procyanidins, rich in apigenin, significantly attenuated gout pain in CD-1 mice caused by macrophage-mediated inflammation and inflammasome activation (Liu H.J. et al., 2017). Finally, in macrophages, apigenin was shown to inhibit LPS-induced production of cytokines primarily through the inhibition of caspase-1 activity and disruption of the NLRP3 inflammasome assembly as well as inhibiting ERK1/2 activation (Zhang et al., 2014).

Several polyphenols have been shown to attenuate the onset of sterile inflammatory cascades. For example, resveratrol can normalize P2X7R expression in a model of chronic pain in rats (Wu et al., 2017). Resveratrol was also shown to exhibit a hepatoprotective effect in diabetic rats mostly through the modulation of RAGE receptor expression (Khazaei et al., 2016). *In vitro*, GSPE attenuated the advanced glycation end products (AGE)-modified bovine serum albumin insult in HUVEC cells by attenuation of surface RAGE expression (Zhang et al., 2013). A GSPE extract was also shown to reduce encephalopathy associated with chronic diabetes through modulation of the AGE/RAGE/NF- $\kappa$ B pathway in the hippocampus (Lu et al., 2010). In a long-term high-fructose fed model of neurodegeneration in rats, therapeutic supplementation with 6% polyphenol rich grape powder for 12 weeks reduced RAGE expression and tau hyperphosphorylation (Liao et al., 2017). Apigenin and diosmetin, both grape-derived polyphenols, potently and dose-dependently inhibited AGE-induced nitric oxide and TNF $\alpha$  release (Chandler et al., 2010). Finally, there has been some evidence suggesting that quercetin can modulate the RAGE/NF- $\kappa$ B cascade as quercetin attenuated atopic dermatitis symptoms, including downregulation of cytoplasmic HMGB1, RAGE and nuclear NF-kB translocation (Karuppagounder et al., 2015).

### Tryptophan Metabolism

Serotonin depletion is one of the most robust blood markers of severe depression (Anderson et al., 1990) and the classical "serotonin hypothesis" describes how diminished serotonin levels play a causative role in depressive phenotypes. However, this hypothesis has been routinely challenged in recent years as the serotonin hypothesis has failed to be substantiated. Diets depleted in tryptophan, the precursor to serotonin synthesis, fail to show any alterations in mood in healthy participants (Smith et al., 1997) indicating that reduced serotonin is neither necessary nor sufficient to cause depression. If this is true, then why are reduced levels of plasma serotonin such a strong biochemical marker of depression? The answer may be the reallocation of tryptophan toward its pro-inflammatory kynurenine degradative pathway, a transition that is dependent on the gut microbiota.

There are two competing pathways for tryptophan metabolism, the methoxyindole and kynurenine pathways. Along the methoxyindole pathway, only 1-5% of dietary tryptophan is synthesized into serotonin, which occurs namely in the enterochromaffin cells in the GIT tract, producing 95% of the body's serotonin (Gershon and Tack, 2007). In the GIT, serotonin is responsible for controlling motility, secretion and absorption of nutrients, intestinal transit time and colonic tone. Approximately 10-20% of the tryptophan allocated toward serotonin development will directly pass through the BBB initiating serotonin synthesis in the brain (Gal and Sherman, 1980). The remaining tryptophan is metabolized along the kynurenine pathway, which forms several metabolites important for the pathophysiology of depression. The balance of tryptophan metabolism is determined by the activation of the rate-limiting enzymes of kynurenine production, which under normal physiological conditions is controlled by the availability of tryptophan itself and the kynurenine pathway remains stabilized (Cervenka et al., 2017). However, under pathophysiological conditions, elevated inflammation and stress can disrupt the balance of kynurenine production.

The rate-limiting enzymes of tryptophan metabolism are indoleamine- 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) found in all extrahepatic tissues including the brain and tryptophan-2,3-dioxygenase (TDO) found in the liver. Of particular importance, IDO, inducible by IFN $\gamma$ , is found in the astrocytes, microglia, endothelial cells and macrophages (Gal and Sherman, 1980). TDO, however, is more heavily influenced by corticosteroids produced by the stress response (O'Mahony et al., 2015) linking HPA activation with tryptophan metabolism. There are two competing pathways that further metabolize kynurenine and the resultant metabolites, namely kynurenic acid (KA) and quinolinic acid (QA), are potent neuro- and immunomodulatory factors. KA is regarded as neuroprotective as its primary function is to antagonize the glycine co-agonist site on NMDA receptors to prevent excitotoxicity (Kessler et al., 1989). On the other hand, QA is neurotoxic, agonizing the same site on the NMDA receptors promoting excitotoxicity (Guillemin, 2012). In the brain, KA is mostly produced in the astrocytes while QA by the microglia and macrophages (Guillemin et al., 2005). Under a state of chronic inflammation, the elevation in corticosterones and inflammatory cytokines increase the peripheral and central production of kynurenine, consequently reducing serotonin production in the brain (Li et al., 2017). In addition, proinflammatory cytokines activate the enzyme kynurenine-3-monooxygenase, which shifts the metabolism of kynurenine from KA to QA increasing the production kynurenine's more neurotoxic downstream metabolites.

Elevated brain QA has been recorded in brains of patients with inflammatory neurological diseases (Stone, 2001) and in depressed patients that attempted suicide for up to 2 years after their attempt (Bay-Richter et al., 2015). In the serum of patients with major depression, there is a reduced ratio of KA to QA (Savitz et al., 2015) associated with an inverse correlation to hippocampal volume, a canonical marker of MDD. Additionally, one of the intermediates between kynurenine and QA, 3-hydroxykynurenine, a potent free-radical generator, directly causes neuronal apoptosis, in addition to activating inflammasome activity (Okuda et al., 1998).

Unfortunately, the development of pharmaceutical interventions to modulate the kynurenine pathway have been unsuccessful. Blocking the activity of IDO or TDO enzymes will leave too much circulating tryptophan to potentially toxic levels, while blocking kynurenine-3-monooxygenase to prevent QA production will skew the KA/QA balance too in favor of KA, which can reduce overall NMDA receptor activity. Further, modulation of IFN $\gamma$ , or other activators of IDO or TDO, is not specific, and will have widespread side effects (reviewed in Jeon and Kim, 2017). Based on the limitations of pharmacological intervention for kynurenine pathway activity, strategies utilizing the gut microbiota and its ability to produce microbial polyphenolic metabolites may prove successful.

### Tryptophan and the Gut Microbiota

The availability of tryptophan is dependent both on diet and importantly, the composition of the gut microbiota as some species utilize tryptophan for the local synthesis of serotonin while others break it down with their endogenous tryptophanase enzyme into the microbial metabolite indole (O'Mahony et al., 2015). Indeed, germ-free animals have elevated circulating tryptophan levels (El Aidy et al., 2012) and elevated circulating tryptophan is associated with increased serotonin levels in the hippocampus (Clarke et al., 2013). Interestingly, the tryptophanase activity of *B. fragilis* was linked to the pathology of autism spectrum disorders (Hsiao et al., 2013). In another study, administration of *B. infantis* resulted in reduced serotonin metabolite (5-HIAA) concentrations in the frontal cortex (Desbonnet et al., 2008). Further, *L. johnsonii* reduced serum kynurenine concentrations by 17% while correspondingly elevating serotonin levels by 1.4-fold, a result associated with the ability of *L. johnsonii* to suppress IDO activity (Valladares et al., 2013).

Serotonin production in the GIT tract directly connects the gut to neurological signaling as approximately 90% of the dietary tryptophan is metabolized along the kynurenine pathway (O'Mahony et al., 2015), which has a dramatic impact on central serotonin availability. As such, studies have shown that peripherally produced serotonin has neuroactivity, which is critical in many neuropsychiatric conditions including depression (O'Mahony et al., 2015). Interestingly, a fecal microbiota transplant from patients with major depression into germ-free rats induced alterations in tryptophan metabolism, anhedonia and anxiety-like behavior (Kelly et al., 2016) directly linking the gut microbiota composition to depressivelike symptoms.

### Polyphenols Impacting Tryptophan Metabolism

There are several instances where polyphenols or their metabolites were shown to modulate signaling through the kynurenine pathway. A bolus dose of resveratrol (5 g) in humans significantly reduced tryptophan levels 2.5 and 5 h after treatment in healthy volunteers resulting in a 1.33- and 1.30-fold increased the in kynurenine to tryptophan ratio, respectively (Gualdoni et al., 2016). However, in a preclinical study, neither IDO activity nor serotonin levels were correlated with resveratrol-mediated protective effects on social-stress-induced cytokine release or depressive-like behavior (Finnell et al., 2017). Polyphenols present in black tea, notably catechins and epicatechins, increased kynurenine levels in healthy volunteers resulting in a higher kynurenine to tryptophan ratio (Gostner et al., 2015). Similarly, EGCG dose-dependently inhibited IDO mRNA and protein expression in human colorectal cells, in correlation with reduced IFNy levels, possibly through modulating the phosphorylation status and hence activity of STAT1 (Ogawa et al., 2012). In contrast, a group of flavone polyphenols where shown to inhibit IDO activity, but not mRNA expression, in human neuronal stem cells with apigenin having the greatest inhibitory activity and genistein and quercetin the lowest (Chen et al., 2012). It is clear that polyphenols impact tryptophan metabolism; however some of the effects seem inconsistent, likely due to the variable bioavailability of the polyphenols dependent on the composition of the microbiota. Nevertheless, development of synbiotic strategies to optimize the production of polyphenolic metabolites may successfully modulate the activity of the kynurenine pathway to regulate serotonin levels in the brain of depression patients.

# Neurogenesis and Synaptic Plasticity in Depression

Most animal models of depression are focused on stress-induced inflammatory models that result in neurodegeneration of specific brain areas and consequently, a depressive phenotype. However, under natural conditions, although neuroinflammation does play a major role in depression, reduced neurogenesis is another major pathological concern (Mahar et al., 2014). Many groups believe that suppressed neurogenesis leads to depression (Kim, 2016) and that this fact is underestimated based on the use of animal models as adult neurogenesis in humans is higher compared to rodents (Spalding et al., 2013). Chronic stress impairs hippocampal neurogenesis, which consequently impacts HPA axis regulation (Dranovsky and Hen, 2006). This feedforward mechanism exacerbates affective behavioral responses, while predisposing an individual to subsequent depressive episodes (Mahar et al., 2014). Indeed, elevated microglial activity is associated with reduced hippocampal neurogenesis, which could account for the canonical loss of hippocampal volume associated with depression (Kempermann, 2002).

BDNF is a neurotrophic factor that is a key modulator of hippocampal neurogenesis. BDNF binds to the tropomyosin receptor kinase B (TrkB) whose downstream signaling pathways play an important role in the structural plasticity induced by depression. Several studies have implicated BDNF levels in multiple brain areas with the pathophysiology of depression with decreased levels in the dentate gyrus and the CA3 of the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex or elevated levels in the nucleus accumbens promoting depressive phenotypes (reviewed in Zhang et al., 2016). As such, TrkB receptor agonists such as 7,8-dihydroxyflaone and receptor antagonists such as ANA-12 have antidepressant effects (Jang et al., 2010), which indicates the sensitivity of physiology to variable levels of BDNF. In a chronic unpredictable stress model of depression, depressive symptoms were correlated to reduced BDNF levels in the hippocampus resulting in the mounting decrease in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons (Qiao et al., 2017). Studies have shown that peripheral levels of BDNF can stimulate overall hippocampal neurogenesis (Schmidt and Duman, 2010) indicating that peripheral physiological effects, such as that mitigated by the gut microbiota, could potentially have antidepressant effects through modulating neurogenesis.

Indeed, there is evidence suggesting that the gut microbiota can alter the expression of neurotrophins such as BDNF in the hippocampus and proteins involved in their synaptic transmission such as synaptophysin and PSD-95 in the striatum (Bercik et al., 2011). Treatment of post-weaned mice with antibiotics was shown to reduce anxiety-like behaviors while promoting cognitive deficits and significantly reducing BDNF levels in the adult brain (Desbonnet et al., 2015). Similarly, depleted microbiota in adult mice also lead to significant depletion of BDNF in the brain, associated with greater susceptibility to depressive-like phenotypes (Hoban et al., 2016). All of these studies indicate that the gut microbiota plays a significant role in managing the levels of BDNF in the brain; however only a handful of studies have investigated how supplementation with probiotics can alter these levels. In one study, supplementation with L. helveticus NS8 reduced restraintstress induced behavioral and pathophysiological markers of depression, specifically including elevated levels of hippocampal BDNF (Liang et al., 2015). In an aged model of Fisher rats, L. pentosus var. plantarum C29 restored age-reduced loss of motor activity and reduced BDNF levels, while simultaneously ameliorating variations of Akt, mTOR and NF-KB in the hippocampus (Jeong et al., 2015). Similarly, in aged mice, *L. brevis* OW38 reduced the associated inflammaging and increased the spontaneous alternation behavioral phenotype through the restoration of BDNF expression (Jeong et al., 2016). Recently, C57BL/6J mice subjected to a 5-week chronic unpredictable stress paradigm were supplemented with *Bifidobacterium longum* subsp. *infantis* E41 and *Bifidobacterium breve* M2CF22M7, which together reduced the depressive phenotype partially through rescuing BDNF levels in the brain (Tian et al., 2019). A similar study also showed that supplementation with *Clostridium butyricum* could reduce the depression phenotype and reduced BDNF levels in male C57BL/6J mice undergoing the same stress paradigm (Sun et al., 2018). In contrast, in a randomized controlled clinical trial, 79 patients with moderate scores of self-report mood measures were allocated to take a mixture

of *L. helveticus* and *B. longum* for 8 weeks. Although there was significant improvement in the depression score (60%), there was no variation in several plasma biomarkers including BDNF (Romijn et al., 2017) indicating that there is a complex relationship between the composition of the gut microbiota and its effect on neurogenesis and neuroplasticity metabolites.

Likewise, a positive relationship between the consumption of polyphenols with markers of neurogenesis including BDNF has been observed. Several polyphenol-rich natural extracts have been shown to be key modulators of neuroplasticity (Sangiovanni et al., 2017) while many isolated polyphenols have been shown to promote neurite outgrowth *in vitro* including resveratrol, EGCG, ferulic acid, caffeic acid and quercetin derivatives, through mechanisms involving BDNF activity (reviewed in Moosavi et al., 2016). A low-dose unfractionated green tea polyphenol



coordinating pathologies, most which can be modulated by gut microbiota modifying agents including dietary polyphenols. The main gut-brain-axis mechanisms through which polyphenols and their microbial-derived metabolites can elicit a positive effect on depression are stress (yellow), serotonin regulation (green), inflammation (red) and metabolism (blue), effects which are shown as purple arrows. Gc, glucocorticoids; ACTH, adrenocorticotropic hormone; CRH, corticotropin releasing hormone; 5HT, serotonin; Trp, tryptophan; IDO, indolamine-2,3-dioxygenase; KA, kynuric acid; QA, quinolinic acid; cAMP, cyclic adenosine monophosphate; PKA, protein kinase A; BDNF, brain derived neurotrophic factor; DAMPs, danger associated molecular patterns; MAMPs, microbe associated molecular patterns; PPAR<sub>Y</sub>, peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma; GSKβ, glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta; InR, insulin receptor; AKT, Protein kinase B; AMPK, 5' AMP-activated protein kinase; PGC1, proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator; UCP2, uncoupling protein 2; ROS, reactive oxygen species.

preparation ( $<0.1 \mu g/ml$ ) or a low-dose of one of its active ingredients EGCG (<0.5 µM) potentiated the neuritogenic ability of a low concentration of BDNF in PC12 cells (Gundimeda et al., 2014). In an oxidative stress model of anxiety in rats, GSPE (15 g/L/day) treatment over 3 weeks significantly reduced anxiety-like behavior while restoring, among other markers, BDNF levels indicating that oxidative-stress induced changes in behavior can be rescued by grape seed polyphenol treatment (Allam et al., 2013). In a rat model of posttraumatic stress with a single-prolonged stress through foot shock, grape powder administered at 15 g/L for 3 weeks following the stress protocol reduced anxiety-like behavior while preventing the loss of BDNF levels in the amygdala of affected animals (Solanki et al., 2015). Finally, in a human intervention study, subjects were given a single dose of whole coffee fruit concentrate powder, green coffee caffeine powder, grape seed extract powder or green coffee bean extract powder. It was found that the grape seed extract powder and the green coffee caffeine powder increased the levels of BDNF in the serum by 31% while the whole coffee fruit concentrate powder increased BDNF levels by 143% (Reyes-Izquierdo et al., 2013). As indicated earlier in this review, all of these extracts are modulated by the gut microbiota. It can therefore be predicted that there is a synergistic impact of the dietary polyphenols with the gut microbiota in modulating the plasma and presumably peripheral and central levels of BDNF.

### CONCLUSION

Depression is a multifactorial disorder reflecting an accumulation of several pathophysiological conditions including neuroinflammation, elevated microglia activation, an imbalance of tryptophan metabolites and altered BDNF levels. Due to its complexity, no single pharmacological agent targeting one

### REFERENCES

- Aburn, G., Gott, M., and Hoare, K. (2016). What is resilience? An integrative review of the empirical literature. J. Adv. Nurs. 72, 980–1000. doi: 10.1111/jan.12888
- Alcocer-Gomez, E., Ulecia-Moron, C., Marin-Aguilar, F., Rybkina, T., Casas-Barquero, N., Ruiz-Cabello, J., et al. (2016). Stress-induced depressive behaviors require a functional NLRP3 inflammasome. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 53, 4874–4882. doi: 10.1007/s12035-015-9408-7
- Allam, F., Dao, A. T., Chugh, G., Bohat, R., Jafri, F., Patki, G., et al. (2013). Grape powder supplementation prevents oxidative stress-induced anxiety-like behavior, memory impairment, and high blood pressure in rats. J. Nutr. 143, 835–842. doi: 10.3945/jn.113.174649
- Anderson, I. M., Parry-Billings, M., Newsholme, E. A., Poortmans, J. R., and Cowen, P. J. (1990). Decreased plasma tryptophan concentration in major depression: relationship to melancholia and weight loss. J. Affect. Disord. 20, 185–191. doi: 10.1016/0165-0327(90)90143-v
- Andres-Lacueva, C., Shukitt-Hale, B., Galli, R. L., Jauregui, O., Lamuela-Raventos, R. M., and Joseph, J. A. (2005). Anthocyanins in aged blueberry-fed rats are found centrally and may enhance memory. *Nutr. Neurosci.* 8, 111–120. doi: 10.1080/10284150500078117
- Arentsen, T., Raith, H., Qian, Y., Forssberg, H., and Diaz Heijtz, R. (2015). Host microbiota modulates development of social preference in mice. *Microb. Ecol. Health Dis.* 26:29719. doi: 10.3402/mehd.v26.29719
- Asano, Y., Hiramoto, T., Nishino, R., Aiba, Y., Kimura, T., Yoshihara, K., et al. (2012). Critical role of gut microbiota in the production of biologically active,

specific aspect of depression's etiology would be sufficient to ameliorate such a diverse set of risk factors. Recently the gut microbiota's interaction with dietary polyphenols has been shown to produce a large battery of bioactive metabolites with the ability to simultaneously modulate the multiple risk factors of depression. As each of the microbial-derived bioactive metabolites produced by a single polyphenol-rich botanical have the potential to overlap or complement the bioactivity of other metabolites produced by the same botanical, the possibility of synergistic and multiplexed activity against multiple depression risk factors is enhanced (Figure 3). As demonstrated in this review with the support of mechanistic studies, this synbiotic approach may instigate a paradigm shift in the treatment regime of depression as probiotic and polyphenolrich botanical supplementation is a cost-effective, long-term treatment option with limited side effects that may be more robust that traditional pharmacological paradigms that target specific depression risk factors.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SW conceived, outlined, and prepared the manuscript. GP directed in all aspects of the manuscript's preparation.

### FUNDING

This study was supported by Grant Number P50 AT008661-01 from the NCCIH and the ODS. GP holds a Senior VA Career Scientist Award. We acknowledge that the contents of this study do not represent the views of the NCCIH, the ODS, the NIH, the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, or the United States Government.

free catecholamines in the gut lumen of mice. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 303, G1288–G1295. doi: 10.1152/ajpgj.00341.2012

- Asto, E., Mendez, I., Audivert, S., Farran-Codina, A., and Espadaler, J. (2019). The efficacy of probiotics, prebiotic inulin-type fructans, and synbiotics in human ulcerative colitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrients* 11:E293. doi: 10.3390/nu11020293
- Ataka, K., Asakawa, A., Nagaishi, K., Kaimoto, K., Sawada, A., Hayakawa, Y., et al. (2013). Bone marrow-derived microglia infiltrate into the paraventricular nucleus of chronic psychological stress-loaded mice. *PLoS One* 8:e81744. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0081744
- Aura, A. M., O'Leary, K. A., Williamson, G., Ojala, M., Bailey, M., Puupponen-Pimia, R., et al. (2002). Quercetin derivatives are deconjugated and converted to hydroxyphenylacetic acids but not methylated by human fecal flora in vitro. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 50, 1725–1730. doi: 10.1021/jf0108056
- Aziz, Q., Dore, J., Emmanuel, A., Guarner, F., and Quigley, E. M. (2013). Gut microbiota and gastrointestinal health: current concepts and future directions. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 25, 4–15. doi: 10.1111/nmo.12046
- Backhed, F., Ding, H., Wang, T., Hooper, L. V., Koh, G. Y., Nagy, A., et al. (2004). The gut microbiota as an environmental factor that regulates fat storage. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 15718–15723. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0407076101
- Barberi, C., Campana, S., De Pasquale, C., Rabbani Khorasgani, M., Ferlazzo, G., and Bonaccorsi, I. (2015). T cell polarizing properties of probiotic bacteria. *Immunol. Lett.* 168, 337–342. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2015.11.005
- Barrett, E., Ross, R. P., O'Toole, P. W., Fitzgerald, G. F., and Stanton, C. (2012). gamma-Aminobutyric acid production by culturable bacteria from the human

intestine. J. Appl. Microbiol. 113, 411–417. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2012.05 344.x

- Barroso, E., Sanchez-Patan, F., Martin-Alvarez, P. J., Bartolome, B., Moreno-Arribas, M. V., Pelaez, C., et al. (2013). *Lactobacillus plantarum* IFPL935 favors the initial metabolism of red wine polyphenols when added to a colonic microbiota. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 61, 10163–10172. doi: 10.1021/jf402816r
- Basu Mallik, S., Mudgal, J., Nampoothiri, M., Hall, S., Dukie, S. A., Grant, G., et al. (2016). Caffeic acid attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced sickness behaviour and neuroinflammation in mice. *Neurosci. Lett.* 632, 218–223. doi: 10.1016/j. neulet.2016.08.044
- Bay-Richter, C., Linderholm, K. R., Lim, C. K., Samuelsson, M., Traskman-Bendz, L., Guillemin, G. J., et al. (2015). A role for inflammatory metabolites as modulators of the glutamate N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor in depression and suicidality. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 43, 110–117. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2014.07.012
- Bechter, K., Reiber, H., Herzog, S., Fuchs, D., Tumani, H., and Maxeiner, H. G. (2010). Cerebrospinal fluid analysis in affective and schizophrenic spectrum disorders: identification of subgroups with immune responses and blood-CSF barrier dysfunction. J. Psychiatr. Res. 44, 321–330. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires. 2009.08.008
- Beltran, D., Romo-Vaquero, M., Espin, J. C., Tomas-Barberan, F. A., and Selma, M. V. (2018). *Ellagibacter isourolithinifaciens* gen. nov., sp. nov., a new member of the family eggerthellaceae, isolated from human gut. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* 68, 1707–1712. doi: 10.1099/ijsem.0.002735
- Bercik, P., Denou, E., Collins, J., Jackson, W., Lu, J., Jury, J., et al. (2011). The intestinal microbiota affect central levels of brain-derived neurotropic factor and behavior in mice. *Gastroenterology* 141, 599–609. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro. 2011.04.052
- Biesmans, S., Meert, T. F., Bouwknecht, J. A., Acton, P. D., Davoodi, N., De Haes, P., et al. (2013). Systemic immune activation leads to neuroinflammation and sickness behavior in mice. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2013:271359. doi: 10.1155/2013/ 271359
- Bleys, D., Luyten, P., Soenens, B., and Claes, S. (2018). Gene-environment interactions between stress and 5-HTTLPR in depression: a meta-analytic update. J. Affect. Disord. 226, 339–345. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.09.050
- Bourassa, M. W., Alim, I., Bultman, S. J., and Ratan, R. R. (2016). Butyrate, neuroepigenetics and the gut microbiome: can a high fiber diet improve brain health? *Neurosci. Lett.* 625, 56–63. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.02.009
- Bowtell, J. L., Aboo-Bakkar, Z., Conway, M. E., Adlam, A. R., and Fulford, J. (2017). Enhanced task-related brain activation and resting perfusion in healthy older adults after chronic blueberry supplementation. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 42, 773–779. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2016-0550
- Braniste, V., Al-Asmakh, M., Kowal, C., Anuar, F., Abbaspour, A., Toth, M., et al. (2014). The gut microbiota influences blood-brain barrier permeability in mice. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 6:263ra158. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3009759
- Braune, A., and Blaut, M. (2016). Bacterial species involved in the conversion of dietary flavonoids in the human gut. *Gut Microbes* 7, 216–234. doi: 10.1080/ 19490976.2016.1158395
- Breit, S., Kupferberg, A., Rogler, G., and Hasler, G. (2018). Vagus nerve as modulator of the brain-gut axis in psychiatric and inflammatory disorders. *Front. Psychiatry* 9:44. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00044
- Britton, G. J., Contijoch, E. J., Mogno, I., Vennaro, O. H., Llewellyn, S. R., Ng, R., et al. (2019). Microbiotas from humans with inflammatory bowel disease alter the balance of gut Th17 and RORgammat(+) regulatory T cells and exacerbate colitis in mice. *Immunity* 50, 212–224.e. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.12.015
- Brodsky, I. E., and Monack, D. (2009). NLR-mediated control of inflammasome assembly in the host response against bacterial pathogens. *Semin. Immunol.* 21, 199–207. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2009.05.007
- Browning, K. N., and Mendelowitz, D. (2003). Musings on the wanderer: what's new in our understanding of vago-vagal reflexes: II. Integration of afferent signaling from the viscera by the nodose ganglia. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 284, G8–G14. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00322.2002
- Campos, A. C., Rocha, N. P., Nicoli, J. R., Vieira, L. Q., Teixeira, M. M., and Teixeira, A. L. (2016). Absence of gut microbiota influences lipopolysaccharideinduced behavioral changes in mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 312, 186–194. doi: 10. 1016/j.bbr.2016.06.027
- Carabotti, M., Scirocco, A., Maselli, M. A., and Severi, C. (2015). The gut-brain axis: interactions between enteric microbiota, central and enteric nervous systems. *Ann. Gastroenterol.* 28, 203–209.

- Cardona, F., Andres-Lacueva, C., Tulipani, S., Tinahones, F. J., and Queipo-Ortuno, M. I. (2013). Benefits of polyphenols on gut microbiota and implications in human health. J. Nutr. Biochem. 24, 1415–1422. doi: 10.1016/ j.jnutbio.2013.05.001
- Cervenka, I., Agudelo, L. Z., and Ruas, J. L. (2017). Kynurenines: tryptophan's metabolites in exercise, inflammation, and mental health. *Science* 357:eaaf9794. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf9794
- Chandler, D., Woldu, A., Rahmadi, A., Shanmugam, K., Steiner, N., Wright, E., et al. (2010). Effects of plant-derived polyphenols on TNF-alpha and nitric oxide production induced by advanced glycation endproducts. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 54(Suppl. 2), S141–S150. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.200900504
- Chen, J. J., Zheng, P., Liu, Y. Y., Zhong, X. G., Wang, H. Y., Guo, Y. J., et al. (2018). Sex differences in gut microbiota in patients with major depressive disorder. *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat.* 14, 647–655. doi: 10.2147/ndt.S159322
- Chen, Z., Li, J., Gui, S., Zhou, C., Chen, J., Yang, C., et al. (2018). Comparative metaproteomics analysis shows altered fecal microbiota signatures in patients with major depressive disorder. *Neuroreport* 29, 417–425. doi: 10.1097/wnr. 000000000000985
- Chen, S. S., Corteling, R., Stevanato, L., and Sinden, J. (2012). Polyphenols inhibit indoleamine 3,5-dioxygenase-1 enzymatic activity-a role of immunomodulation in chemoprevention. *Discov. Med.* 14, 327–333.
- Cheng, J. R., Liu, X. M., Chen, Z. Y., Zhang, Y. S., and Zhang, Y. H. (2016). Mulberry anthocyanin biotransformation by intestinal probiotics. *Food Chem.* 213, 721–727. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2016.07.032
- Cheng, Y., Pardo, M., Armini, R. S., Martinez, A., Mouhsine, H., Zagury, J. F., et al. (2016). Stress-induced neuroinflammation is mediated by GSK3-dependent TLR4 signaling that promotes susceptibility to depression-like behavior. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 53, 207–222. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.12.012
- Cheruku, S. P., Ramalingayya, G. V., Chamallamudi, M. R., Biswas, S., Nandakumar, K., Nampoothiri, M., et al. (2018). Catechin ameliorates doxorubicin-induced neuronal cytotoxicity in in vitro and episodic memory deficit in in vivo in Wistar rats. *Cytotechnology* 70, 245–259. doi: 10.1007/ s10616-017-0138-8
- Chuang, D. Y., Simonyi, A., Cui, J., Lubahn, D. B., Gu, Z., and Sun, G. Y. (2016). Botanical polyphenols mitigate microglial activation and microglia-induced neurotoxicity: role of cytosolic phospholipase A2. *Neuromolecular Med.* 18, 415–425. doi: 10.1007/s12017-016-8419-5
- Chunchai, T., Thunapong, W., Yasom, S., Wanchai, K., Eaimworawuthikul, S., Metzler, G., et al. (2018). Decreased microglial activation through gut-brain axis by prebiotics, probiotics, or synbiotics effectively restored cognitive function in obese-insulin resistant rats. *J. Neuroinflammation* 15:11. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1055-2
- Clarke, G., Grenham, S., Scully, P., Fitzgerald, P., Moloney, R. D., Shanahan, F., et al. (2013). The microbiome-gut-brain axis during early life regulates the hippocampal serotonergic system in a sex-dependent manner. *Mol. Psychiatry* 18, 666–673. doi: 10.1038/mp.2012.77
- Cropley, V., Croft, R., Silber, B., Neale, C., Scholey, A., Stough, C., et al. (2012). Does coffee enriched with chlorogenic acids improve mood and cognition after acute administration in healthy elderly? A pilot study. *Psychopharmacology* 219, 737–749. doi: 10.1007/s00213-011-2395-0
- Cueva, C., Sanchez-Patan, F., Monagas, M., Walton, G. E., Gibson, G. R., Martin-Alvarez, P. J., et al. (2013). In vitro fermentation of grape seed flavan-3ol fractions by human faecal microbiota: changes in microbial groups and phenolic metabolites. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 83, 792–805. doi: 10.1111/1574-6941.12037
- Czeh, B., and Nagy, S. A. (2018). Clinical findings documenting cellular and molecular abnormalities of glia in depressive disorders. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 11:56. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2018.00056
- Dantzer, R., O'Connor, J. C., Freund, G. G., Johnson, R. W., and Kelley, K. W. (2008). From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 9, 46–56. doi: 10.1038/nrn2297
- Daulatzai, M. A. (2014). Chronic functional bowel syndrome enhances gut-brain axis dysfunction, neuroinflammation, cognitive impairment, and vulnerability to dementia. *Neurochem. Res.* 39, 624–644. doi: 10.1007/s11064-014-1266-6
- Desbonnet, L., Clarke, G., Traplin, A., O'Sullivan, O., Crispie, F., Moloney, R. D., et al. (2015). Gut microbiota depletion from early adolescence in mice: implications for brain and behaviour. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 48, 165–173. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.04.004

- Desbonnet, L., Garrett, L., Clarke, G., Bienenstock, J., and Dinan, T. G. (2008). The probiotic Bifidobacteria infantis: an assessment of potential antidepressant properties in the rat. J. Psychiatr. Res. 43, 164–174. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires. 2008.03.009
- Desideri, G., Kwik-Uribe, C., Grassi, D., Necozione, S., Ghiadoni, L., Mastroiacovo, D., et al. (2012). Benefits in cognitive function, blood pressure, and insulin resistance through cocoa flavanol consumption in elderly subjects with mild cognitive impairment: the Cocoa, Cognition, and Aging (CoCoA) study. *Hypertension* 60, 794–801. doi: 10.1161/hypertensionaha.112.193060
- Devalia, J. L., Grady, D., Harmanyeri, Y., Tabaqchali, S., and Davies, R. J. (1989). Histamine synthesis by respiratory tract micro-organisms: possible role in pathogenicity. J. Clin. Pathol. 42, 516–522. doi: 10.1136/jcp.42.5.516
- Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2013). Melancholic microbes: a link between gut microbiota and depression? *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 25, 713–719. doi: 10. 1111/nmo.12198
- Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2017). The microbiome-gut-brain axis in health and disease. *Gastroenterol. Clin. North Am.* 46, 77–89. doi: 10.1016/j.gtc.2016. 09.007
- Domiciano, T. P., Wakita, D., Jones, H. D., Crother, T. R., Verri, W. A. Jr., Arditi, M., et al. (2017). Quercetin inhibits inflammasome activation by interfering with asc oligomerization and prevents interleukin-1 mediated mouse vasculitis. *Sci. Rep.* 7:41539. doi: 10.1038/srep41539
- Dranovsky, A., and Hen, R. (2006). *Hippocampal neurogenesis*: regulation by stress and antidepressants. *Biol. Psychiatry* 59, 1136–1143. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych. 2006.03.082
- Duda-Chodak, A., Tarko, T., Satora, P., and Sroka, P. (2015). Interaction of dietary compounds, especially polyphenols, with the intestinal microbiota: a review. *Eur. J. Nutr.* 54, 325–341. doi: 10.1007/s00394-015-0852-y
- Duenas, M., Munoz-Gonzalez, I., Cueva, C., Jimenez-Giron, A., Sanchez-Patan, F., Santos-Buelga, C., et al. (2015). A survey of modulation of gut microbiota by dietary polyphenols. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2015:850902. doi: 10.1155/2015/850902
- Ebada, M. E. (2017). Drug repurposing may generate novel approaches to treating depression. J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 69, 1428–1436. doi: 10.1111/jphp.12815
- El Aidy, S., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2015). Gut microbiota: the conductor in the orchestra of immune-neuroendocrine communication. *Clin. Ther.* 37, 954–967. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2015.03.002
- El Aidy, S., Kunze, W., Bienenstock, J., and Kleerebezem, M. (2012). The microbiota and the gut-brain axis: insights from the temporal and spatial mucosal alterations during colonisation of the germfree mouse intestine. *Benef. Microb.* 3, 251–259. doi: 10.3920/bm2012.0042
- Erny, D., Hrabe, de Angelis, A. L., Jaitin, D., Wieghofer, P., Staszewski, O., et al. (2015). Host microbiota constantly control maturation and function of microglia in the CNS. *Nat. Neurosci.* 18, 965–977. doi: 10.1038/nn.4030
- Espin, J. C., Gonzalez-Sarrias, A., and Tomas-Barberan, F. A. (2017). The gut microbiota: a key factor in the therapeutic effects of (poly)phenols. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 139, 82–93. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2017.04.033
- Esposito, D., Damsud, T., Wilson, M., Grace, M. H., Strauch, R., Li, X., et al. (2015). Black currant anthocyanins attenuate weight gain and improve glucose metabolism in diet-induced obese mice with intact, but not disrupted, gut microbiome. J. Agric. Food Chem. 63, 6172–6180. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.5b00963
- Finnell, J. E., Lombard, C. M., Melson, M. N., Singh, N. P., Nagarkatti, M., Nagarkatti, P., et al. (2017). The protective effects of resveratrol on social stressinduced cytokine release and depressive-like behavior. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 59, 147–157. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2016.08.019
- Fleshner, M., Frank, M., and Maier, S. F. (2017). Danger signals and inflammasomes: stress-evoked sterile inflammation in mood disorders. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 42, 36–45. doi: 10.1038/npp.2016.125
- Ford, A. C., Harris, L. A., Lacy, B. E., Quigley, E. M. M., and Moayyedi, P. (2018). Systematic review with meta-analysis: the efficacy of prebiotics, probiotics, synbiotics and antibiotics in irritable bowel syndrome. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 48, 1044–1060. doi: 10.1111/apt.15001
- Frank, M. G., Thompson, B. M., Watkins, L. R., and Maier, S. F. (2012). Glucocorticoids mediate stress-induced priming of microglial pro-inflammatory responses. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 26, 337–345. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2011.10.005
- Franklin, T. C., Xu, C., and Duman, R. S. (2018). Depression and sterile inflammation: essential role of danger associated molecular patterns. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 72, 2–13. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2017.10.025

- Gal, E. M., and Sherman, A. D. (1980). L-kynurenine: its synthesis and possible regulatory function in brain. *Neurochem. Res.* 5, 223–239. doi: 10.1007/ bf00964611
- Galati, G., and O'Brien, P. J. (2004). Potential toxicity of flavonoids and other dietary phenolics: significance for their chemopreventive and anticancer properties. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 37, 287–303. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed. 2004.04.034
- Gao, Z., Han, Y., Hu, Y., Wu, X., Wang, Y., Zhang, X., et al. (2016). Targeting HO-1 by epigallocatechin-3-gallate reduces contrast-induced renal injury via anti-oxidative stress and anti-inflammation pathways. *PLoS One* 11:e0149032. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0149032
- Gershon, M. D., and Tack, J. (2007). The serotonin signaling system: from basic understanding to drug development for functional GI disorders. *Gastroenterology* 132, 397–414. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.11.002
- Ghia, J. E., Blennerhassett, P., Kumar-Ondiveeran, H., Verdu, E. F., and Collins, S. M. (2006). The vagus nerve: a tonic inhibitory influence associated with inflammatory bowel disease in a murine model. *Gastroenterology* 131, 1122– 1130. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.08.016
- Gomez-Juaristi, M., Martinez-Lopez, S., Sarria, B., Bravo, L., and Mateos, R. (2018a). Absorption and metabolism of yerba mate phenolic compounds in humans. *Food Chem.* 240, 1028–1038. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.08.003
- Gomez-Juaristi, M., Martinez-Lopez, S., Sarria, B., Bravo, L., and Mateos, R. (2018b). Bioavailability of hydroxycinnamates in an instant green/roasted coffee blend in humans. Identification of novel colonic metabolites. *Food Funct.* 9, 331–343. doi: 10.1039/c7fo01553d
- Gonzalez-Sarrias, A., Larrosa, M., Tomas-Barberan, F. A., Dolara, P., and Espin, J. C. (2010). NF-kappaB-dependent anti-inflammatory activity of urolithins, gut microbiota ellagic acid-derived metabolites, in human colonic fibroblasts. *Br. J. Nutr.* 104, 503–512. doi: 10.1017/s0007114510000826
- Gostner, J. M., Becker, K., Croft, K. D., Woodman, R. J., Puddey, I. B., Fuchs, D., et al. (2015). Regular consumption of black tea increases circulating kynurenine concentrations: a randomized controlled trial. *BBA Clin.* 3, 31–35. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbacli.2014.11.007
- Gualdoni, G. A., Fuchs, D., Zlabinger, G. J., and Gostner, J. M. (2016). Resveratrol intake enhances indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase activity in humans. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 68, 1065–1068. doi: 10.1016/j.pharep.2016.06.008
- Guillemin, G. J. (2012). Quinolinic acid: neurotoxicity. FEBS J. 279:1355. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2012.08493.x
- Guillemin, G. J., Smythe, G., Takikawa, O., and Brew, B. J. (2005). Expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and production of quinolinic acid by human microglia, astrocytes, and neurons. *Glia* 49, 15–23. doi: 10.1002/glia.20090
- Gundimeda, U., McNeill, T. H., Fan, T. K., Deng, R., Rayudu, D., Chen, Z., et al. (2014). Green tea catechins potentiate the neuritogenic action of brain-derived neurotrophic factor: role of 67-kDa laminin receptor and hydrogen peroxide. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 445, 218–224. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014. 01.166
- Gurung, P., Anand, P. K., Malireddi, R. K., Vande Walle, L., Van Opdenbosch, N., Dillon, C. P., et al. (2014). FADD and caspase-8 mediate priming and activation of the canonical and noncanonical Nlrp3 inflammasomes. *J. Immunol.* 192, 1835–1846. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302839
- Haghighat, N., Rajabi, S., and Mohammadshahi, M. (2019). Effect of synbiotic and probiotic supplementation on serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor level, depression and anxiety symptoms in hemodialysis patients: a randomized, double-blinded, clinical trial. *Nutr. Neurosci.* 4, 1–10. doi: 10.1080/1028415x. 2019.1646975
- Hall, S., Desbrow, B., Anoopkumar-Dukie, S., Davey, A. K., Arora, D., McDermott, C., et al. (2015). A review of the bioactivity of coffee, caffeine and key coffee constituents on inflammatory responses linked to depression. *Food Res. Int.* 76(Pt 3), 626–636. doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2015.07.027
- Hanisch, U. K., and Kettenmann, H. (2007). Microglia: active sensor and versatile effector cells in the normal and pathologic brain. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 1387–1394. doi: 10.1038/nn1997
- Hansen, M. K., Nguyen, K. T., Goehler, L. E., Gaykema, R. P., Fleshner, M., Maier, S. F., et al. (2000). Effects of vagotomy on lipopolysaccharide-induced brain interleukin-1beta protein in rats. *Auton. Neurosci.* 85, 119–126. doi: 10.1016/ s1566-0702(00)00230-7
- Hanske, L., Engst, W., Loh, G., Sczesny, S., Blaut, M., and Braune, A. (2013). Contribution of gut bacteria to the metabolism of cyanidin 3-glucoside in

human microbiota-associated rats. Br. J. Nutr. 109, 1433–1441. doi: 10.1017/ s0007114512003376

- Haroon, E., Woolwine, B. J., Chen, X., Pace, T. W., Parekh, S., Spivey, J. R., et al. (2014). IFN-alpha-induced cortical and subcortical glutamate changes assessed by magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 39, 1777–1785. doi: 10.1038/npp.2014.25
- Haskell-Ramsay, C. F., Stuart, R. C., Okello, E. J., and Watson, A. W. (2017). Cognitive and mood improvements following acute supplementation with purple grape juice in healthy young adults. *Eur. J. Nutr.* 56, 2621–2631. doi: 10.1007/s00394-017-1454-7
- Herman, F. J., and Pasinetti, G. M. (2018). Principles of inflammasome priming and inhibition: implications for psychiatric disorders. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 73, 66–84. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2018.06.010
- Hinwood, M., Tynan, R. J., Charnley, J. L., Beynon, S. B., Day, T. A., and Walker, F. R. (2013). Chronic stress induced remodeling of the prefrontal cortex: structural re-organization of microglia and the inhibitory effect of minocycline. *Cereb. Cortex* 23, 1784–1797. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhs151
- Ho, L., Ferruzzi, M. G., Janle, E. M., Wang, J., Gong, B., Chen, T. Y., et al. (2013). Identification of brain-targeted bioactive dietary quercetin-3-O-glucuronide as a novel intervention for Alzheimer's disease. *FASEB J.* 27, 769–781. doi: 10.1096/ fj.12-212118
- Hoban, A. E., Moloney, R. D., Golubeva, A. V., McVey Neufeld, K. A., O'Sullivan, O., Patterson, E., et al. (2016). Behavioural and neurochemical consequences of chronic gut microbiota depletion during adulthood in the rat. *Neuroscience* 339, 463–477. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.10.003
- Holmes, S. E., Hinz, R., Conen, S., Gregory, C. J., Matthews, J. C., Anton-Rodriguez, J. M., et al. (2018). Elevated translocator protein in anterior cingulate in major depression and a role for inflammation in suicidal thinking: a positron emission tomography study. *Biol. Psychiatry* 83, 61–69. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2017.08. 005
- Hooper, L. V., Littman, D. R., and Macpherson, A. J. (2012). Interactions between the microbiota and the immune system. *Science* 336, 1268–1273. doi: 10.1126/ science.1223490
- Howland, R. H. (2014). Vagus nerve stimulation. Curr. Behav. Neurosci. Rep. 1, 64–73. doi: 10.1007/s40473-014-0010-5
- Hsiao, E. Y., McBride, S. W., Hsien, S., Sharon, G., Hyde, E. R., McCue, T., et al. (2013). Microbiota modulate behavioral and physiological abnormalities associated with neurodevelopmental disorders. *Cell* 155, 1451–1463. doi: 10. 1016/j.cell.2013.11.024
- Ide, K., Yamada, H., Takuma, N., Kawasaki, Y., Harada, S., Nakase, J., et al. (2016). Effects of green tea consumption on cognitive dysfunction in an elderly population: a randomized placebo-controlled study. *Nutr. J.* 15:49. doi: 10.1186/ s12937-016-0168-7
- Inserra, A., Rogers, G. B., Licinio, J., and Wong, M. L. (2018). The microbiotainflammasome hypothesis of major depression. *Bioessays* 40:e1800027. doi: 10. 1002/bies.201800027
- Iwata, M., Ota, K. T., Li, X. Y., Sakaue, F., Li, N., Dutheil, S., et al. (2016). Psychological stress activates the inflammasome via release of adenosine triphosphate and stimulation of the purinergic type 2X7 receptor. *Biol. Psychiatry* 80, 12–22. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.11.026
- Jang, S. W., Liu, X., Yepes, M., Shepherd, K. R., Miller, G. W., Liu, Y., et al. (2010). A selective TrkB agonist with potent neurotrophic activities by 7,8dihydroxyflavone. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 2687–2692. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.0913572107
- Jeon, S. W., and Kim, Y. K. (2017). Inflammation-induced depression: its pathophysiology and therapeutic implications. J. Neuroimmunol. 313, 92–98. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2017.10.016
- Jeong, J. J., Kim, K. A., Hwang, Y. J., Han, M. J., and Kim, D. H. (2016). Antiinflammaging effects of *Lactobacillus brevis* OW38 in aged mice. *Benef. Microb.* 7, 707–718. doi: 10.3920/bm2016.0016
- Jeong, J. J., Woo, J. Y., Kim, K. A., Han, M. J., and Kim, D. H. (2015). Lactobacillus pentosus var. plantarum C29 ameliorates age-dependent memory impairment in Fischer 344 rats. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.* 60, 307–314. doi: 10.1111/lam.12393
- Jeong, J. W., Lee, W. S., Shin, S. C., Kim, G. Y., Choi, B. T., and Choi, Y. H. (2013). Anthocyanins downregulate lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory responses in BV2 microglial cells by suppressing the NF-kappaB and Akt/MAPKs signaling pathways. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 14, 1502–1515. doi: 10.3390/ ijms14011502

- Jiang, W., Huang, Y., Han, N., He, F., Li, M., Bian, Z., et al. (2016). Quercetin suppresses NLRP3 inflammasome activation and attenuates histopathology in a rat model of spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* 54, 592–596. doi: 10.1038/sc.2015. 227
- Jiang, Z., Zhang, J., Cai, Y., Huang, J., and You, L. (2017). Catechin attenuates traumatic brain injury-induced blood-brain barrier damage and improves longer-term neurological outcomes in rats. *Exp. Physiol.* 102, 1269–1277. doi: 10.1113/ep086520
- Kahle, K., Kraus, M., Scheppach, W., Ackermann, M., Ridder, F., and Richling, E. (2006). Studies on apple and blueberry fruit constituents: do the polyphenols reach the colon after ingestion? *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 50, 418–423. doi: 10.1002/ mnfr.200500211
- Kahn, M. S., Kranjac, D., Alonzo, C. A., Haase, J. H., Cedillos, R. O., McLinden, K. A., et al. (2012). Prolonged elevation in hippocampal Abeta and cognitive deficits following repeated endotoxin exposure in the mouse. *Behav. Brain Res.* 229, 176–184. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2012.01.010
- Kardum, N., and Glibetic, M. (2018). Polyphenols and their interactions with other dietary compounds: implications for human health. Adv. Food Nutr. Res. 84, 103–144. doi: 10.1016/bs.afnr.2017.12.001
- Karuppagounder, V., Arumugam, S., Thandavarayan, R. A., Pitchaimani, V., Sreedhar, R., Afrin, R., et al. (2015). Modulation of HMGB1 translocation and RAGE/NFkappaB cascade by quercetin treatment mitigates atopic dermatitis in NC/Nga transgenic mice. *Exp. Dermatol.* 24, 418–423. doi: 10.1111/exd.12685
- Kelly, J. R., Borre, Y., Patterson, E., El Aidy, S., Deane, J., Beers, S., et al. (2016). Transferring the blues: depression-associated gut microbiota induces neurobehavioural changes in the rat. J. Psychiatr. Res. 82, 109–118. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpsychires.2016.07.019
- Kempermann, G. (2002). Regulation of adult hippocampal neurogenesis implications for novel theories of major depression. *Bipolar Disord.* 4, 17–33. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-5618.2002.40101.x
- Kessler, M., Terramani, T., Lynch, G., and Baudry, M. (1989). A glycine site associated with N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptors: characterization and identification of a new class of antagonists. *J. Neurochem.* 52, 1319–1328. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1989.tb01881.x
- Khalid, S., Barfoot, K. L., May, G., Lamport, D. J., Reynolds, S. A., and Williams, C. M. (2017). Effects of acute blueberry flavonoids on mood in children and young adults. *Nutrients* 9:E158. doi: 10.3390/nu9020158
- Khazaei, M., Karimi, J., Sheikh, N., Goodarzi, M. T., Saidijam, M., Khodadadi, I., et al. (2016). Effects of resveratrol on receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) expression and oxidative stress in the liver of rats with type 2 diabetes. *Phytother. Res.* 30, 66–71. doi: 10.1002/ptr.5501
- Kim, Y. K. (2016). Can we cope with treatment refractoriness in psychiatric disorders? Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 70, 101–102. doi: 10. 1016/j.pnpbp.2016.06.008
- Ko, C., Lin, H. V., and Tsai, G. J. (2013). Gamma-aminobutyric acid production in black soybean milk by *Lactobacillus brevis* FPA 3709 and the antidepressant effect of the fermented product on a forced swimming rat model. *Process. Biochem.* 48, 559–568. doi: 10.1016/j.procbio.2013.02.021
- Kohler, C. A., Maes, M., Slyepchenko, A., Berk, M., Solmi, M., Lanctot, K. L., et al. (2016). The gut-brain axis, including the microbiome, leaky gut and bacterial translocation: mechanisms and pathophysiological role in Alzheimer's disease. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 22, 6152–6166. doi: 10.2174/1381612822666160907093807
- Kohler, O., Benros, M. E., Nordentoft, M., Farkouh, M. E., Iyengar, R. L., Mors, O., et al. (2014). Effect of anti-inflammatory treatment on depression, depressive symptoms, and adverse effects: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized clinical trials. *JAMA Psychiatry* 71, 1381–1391. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.1611
- Krikorian, R., Nash, T. A., Shidler, M. D., Shukitt-Hale, B., and Joseph, J. A. (2010a). Concord grape juice supplementation improves memory function in older adults with mild cognitive impairment. *Br. J. Nutr.* 103, 730–734. doi: 10.1017/s0007114509992364
- Krikorian, R., Shidler, M. D., Nash, T. A., Kalt, W., Vinqvist-Tymchuk, M. R., Shukitt-Hale, B., et al. (2010b). Blueberry supplementation improves memory in older adults. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 58, 3996–4000. doi: 10.1021/jf9029332
- Kubera, M., Curzytek, K., Duda, W., Leskiewicz, M., Basta-Kaim, A., Budziszewska, B., et al. (2013). A new animal model of (chronic) depression induced by repeated and intermittent lipopolysaccharide administration for 4 months. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 31, 96–104. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2013.01.001

- Kupfer, D. J. (2005). The pharmacological management of depression. *Dialogues Clin. Neurosci.* 7, 191–205.
- Kuriyama, S., Hozawa, A., Ohmori, K., Shimazu, T., Matsui, T., Ebihara, S., et al. (2006). Green tea consumption and cognitive function: a cross-sectional study from the Tsurugaya project 1. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 83, 355–361. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/ 83.2.355
- Lamport, D. J., Lawton, C. L., Merat, N., Jamson, H., Myrissa, K., Hofman, D., et al. (2016). Concord grape juice, cognitive function, and driving performance: a 12-wk, placebo-controlled, randomized crossover trial in mothers of preteen children. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 103, 775–783. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.115.114553
- Lechtenberg, B. C., Mace, P. D., and Riedl, S. J. (2014). Structural mechanisms in NLR inflammasome signaling. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 29, 17–25. doi: 10.1016/ j.sbi.2014.08.011
- Lee, Y. J., Choi, D. Y., Yun, Y. P., Han, S. B., Oh, K. W., and Hong, J. T. (2013). Epigallocatechin-3-gallate prevents systemic inflammation-induced memory deficiency and amyloidogenesis via its anti-neuroinflammatory properties. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* 24, 298–310. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2012.06.011
- Lenzi, J., Rodrigues, A. F., Ros Ade, S., de Castro, A. B., de Lima, D. D., Magro, D. D., et al. (2015). Ferulic acid chronic treatment exerts antidepressant-like effect: role of antioxidant defense system. *Metab. Brain Dis.* 30, 1453–1463. doi: 10.1007/s11011-015-9725-6
- Li, G., Ruan, L., Chen, R., Wang, R., Xie, X., Zhang, M., et al. (2015). Synergistic antidepressant-like effect of ferulic acid in combination with piperine: involvement of monoaminergic system. *Metab. Brain Dis.* 30, 1505– 1514. doi: 10.1007/s11011-015-9704-y
- Li, R., Wang, X., Qin, T., Qu, R., and Ma, S. (2016). Apigenin ameliorates chronic mild stress-induced depressive behavior by inhibiting interleukin-1beta production and NLRP3 inflammasome activation in the rat brain. *Behav. Brain Res.* 296, 318–325. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2015.09.031
- Li, Y., Hu, N., Yang, D., Oxenkrug, G., and Yang, Q. (2017). Regulating the balance between the kynurenine and serotonin pathways of tryptophan metabolism. *FEBS J.* 284, 948–966. doi: 10.1111/febs.14026
- Liang, S., Wang, T., Hu, X., Luo, J., Li, W., Wu, X., et al. (2015). Administration of Lactobacillus helveticus NS8 improves behavioral, cognitive, and biochemical aberrations caused by chronic restraint stress. *Neuroscience* 310, 561–577. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.09.033
- Liao, H., Chou, L. M., Chien, Y. W., Wu, C. H., Chang, J. S., Lin, C. I., et al. (2017). Grape powder consumption affects the expression of neurodegenerationrelated brain proteins in rats chronically fed a high-fructose-high-fat diet. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* 43, 132–140. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2017.02.013
- Liu, H. J., Pan, X. X., Liu, B. Q., Gui, X., Hu, L., Jiang, C. Y., et al. (2017). Grape seed-derived procyanidins alleviate gout pain via NLRP3 inflammasome suppression. J. Neuroinflammation 14:74. doi: 10.1186/s12974-017-0849-y
- Liu, Y. M., Hu, C. Y., Shen, J. D., Wu, S. H., Li, Y. C., and Yi, L. T. (2017). Elevation of synaptic protein is associated with the antidepressant-like effects of ferulic acid in a chronic model of depression. *Physiol. Behav.* 169, 184–188. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.12.003
- Louzada, E. R., and Ribeiro, S. M. L. (2018). Synbiotic supplementation, systemic inflammation, and symptoms of brain disorders in elders: a secondary study from a randomized clinical trial. *Nutr. Neurosci.* 23, 1–8. doi: 10.1080/1028415x. 2018.1477349
- Lu, M., Xu, L., Li, B., Zhang, W., Zhang, C., Feng, H., et al. (2010). Protective effects of grape seed proanthocyanidin extracts on cerebral cortex of streptozotocininduced diabetic rats through modulating AGEs/RAGE/NF-kappaB pathway. J. Nutr. Sci. Vitaminol. 56, 87–97. doi: 10.3177/jnsv.56.87
- Maes, M. (1999). Major depression and activation of the inflammatory response system. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 461, 25–46. doi: 10.1007/978-0-585-37970-8-2
- Maes, M., Kubera, M., and Leunis, J. C. (2008). The gut-brain barrier in major depression: intestinal mucosal dysfunction with an increased translocation of LPS from gram negative enterobacteria (leaky gut) plays a role in the inflammatory pathophysiology of depression. *Neuro. Endocrinol. Lett.* 29, 117– 124.
- Mahar, I., Bambico, F. R., Mechawar, N., and Nobrega, J. N. (2014). Stress, serotonin, and hippocampal neurogenesis in relation to depression and antidepressant effects. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 38, 173–192. doi: 10.1016/j. neubiorev.2013.11.009
- Majeed, M., Nagabhushanam, K., Arumugam, S., Majeed, S., and Ali, F. (2018). Bacillus coagulans MTCC 5856 for the management of major depression with

irritable bowel syndrome: a randomised, double-blind, placebo controlled, multi-centre, pilot clinical study. *Food Nutr. Res.* 62. doi: 10.29219/fnr.v62.1218

- Manach, C., Williamson, G., Morand, C., Scalbert, A., and Remesy, C. (2005). Bioavailability and bioefficacy of polyphenols in humans. I. review of 97 bioavailability studies. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 81(1 Suppl.), 230S–242S. doi: 10.1093/ ajcn/81.1.230S
- Manaye, K. F., Lei, D. L., Tizabi, Y., Davila-Garcia, M. I., Mouton, P. R., and Kelly, P. H. (2005). Selective neuron loss in the paraventricular nucleus of hypothalamus in patients suffering from major depression and bipolar disorder. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 64, 224–229. doi: 10.1093/jnen/64.3.224
- Maolood, N., and Meister, B. (2009). Protein components of the blood-brain barrier (BBB) in the brainstem area postrema-nucleus tractus solitarius region. *J. Chem. Neuroanat.* 37, 182–195. doi: 10.1016/j.jchemneu.2008.12.007
- Mastroiacovo, D., Kwik-Uribe, C., Grassi, D., Necozione, S., Raffaele, A., Pistacchio, L., et al. (2015). Cocoa flavanol consumption improves cognitive function, blood pressure control, and metabolic profile in elderly subjects: the Cocoa, cognition, and aging (CoCoA) Study–a randomized controlled trial. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 101, 538–548. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.114.092189
- Mayer, E. A., Savidge, T., and Shulman, R. J. (2014). Brain-gut microbiome interactions and functional bowel disorders. *Gastroenterology* 146, 1500–1512. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.02.037
- Mazmanian, S. K., Liu, C. H., Tzianabos, A. O., and Kasper, D. L. (2005). An immunomodulatory molecule of symbiotic bacteria directs maturation of the host immune system. *Cell* 122, 107–118. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.05.007
- Mechawar, N., and Savitz, J. (2016). Neuropathology of mood disorders: do we see the stigmata of inflammation? *Transl. Psychiatry* 6:e946. doi: 10.1038/tp. 2016.212
- Mehta, V., Parashar, A., and Udayabanu, M. (2017). Quercetin prevents chronic unpredictable stress induced behavioral dysfunction in mice by alleviating hippocampal oxidative and inflammatory stress. *Physiol. Behav.* 171, 69–78. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.01.006
- Menard, C., Pfau, M. L., Hodes, G. E., Kana, V., Wang, V. X., Bouchard, S., et al. (2017). Social stress induces neurovascular pathology promoting depression. *Nat. Neurosci.* 20, 1752–1760. doi: 10.1038/s41593-017-0010-3
- Merzoug, S., Toumi, M. L., and Tahraoui, A. (2014). Quercetin mitigates Adriamycin-induced anxiety- and depression-like behaviors, immune dysfunction, and brain oxidative stress in rats. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* 387, 921–933. doi: 10.1007/s00210-014-1008-y
- Meyer, J. H., Ginovart, N., Boovariwala, A., Sagrati, S., Hussey, D., Garcia, A., et al. (2006). Elevated monoamine oxidase a levels in the brain: an explanation for the monoamine imbalance of major depression. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 63, 1209–1216. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.63.11.1209
- Miller, A. H., and Raison, C. L. (2016). The role of inflammation in depression: from evolutionary imperative to modern treatment target. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 16, 22–34. doi: 10.1038/nri.2015.5
- Moosavi, F., Hosseini, R., Saso, L., and Firuzi, O. (2016). Modulation of neurotrophic signaling pathways by polyphenols. *Drug Des. Devel. Ther.* 10, 23–42. doi: 10.2147/dddt.S96936
- Mulak, A., and Bonaz, B. (2004). Irritable bowel syndrome: a model of the brain-gut interactions. *Med. Sci. Monit.* 10, Ra55–Ra62.
- Murota, K., Nakamura, Y., and Uehara, M. (2018). Flavonoid metabolism: the interaction of metabolites and gut microbiota. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 82, 600–610. doi: 10.1080/09168451.2018.1444467
- Musselman, D. L., Lawson, D. H., Gumnick, J. F., Manatunga, A. K., Penna, S., Goodkin, R. S., et al. (2001). Paroxetine for the prevention of depression induced by high-dose interferon alfa. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 344, 961–966. doi: 10. 1056/nejm200103293441303
- Najjar, S., Pearlman, D. M., Devinsky, O., Najjar, A., and Zagzag, D. (2013). Neurovascular unit dysfunction with blood-brain barrier hyperpermeability contributes to major depressive disorder: a review of clinical and experimental evidence. J. Neuroinflammation 10:142. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-10-142
- Namasivayam, N. (2011). Chemoprevention in experimental animals. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1215, 60–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05873.x
- National Institute of Mental Health (2017). *Major Depression*. Bethesda, MD: National Institute of Mental Health.
- Noelker, C., Bacher, M., Gocke, P., Wei, X., Klockgether, T., Du, Y., et al. (2005). The flavanoide caffeic acid phenethyl ester blocks 6-hydroxydopamine-induced neurotoxicity. *Neurosci. Lett.* 383, 39–43. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2005.04.023

- Nunes, C., Almeida, L., and Laranjinha, J. (2008). 3,4-Dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC) modulates the toxicity induced by nitric oxide in PC-12 cells via mitochondrial dysfunctioning. *Neurotoxicology* 29, 998–1007. doi: 10.1016/j. neuro.2008.07.003
- Ogawa, K., Hara, T., Shimizu, M., Nagano, J., Ohno, T., Hoshi, M., et al. (2012). Epigallocatechin gallate inhibits the expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in human colorectal cancer cells. *Oncol. Lett.* 4, 546–550. doi: 10.3892/ol.2012. 761
- Ohland, C. L., Kish, L., Bell, H., Thiesen, A., Hotte, N., Pankiv, E., et al. (2013). Effects of Lactobacillus helveticus on murine behavior are dependent on diet and genotype and correlate with alterations in the gut microbiome. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 38, 1738–1747. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.02.008
- Okuda, S., Nishiyama, N., Saito, H., and Katsuki, H. (1998). 3-Hydroxykynurenine, an endogenous oxidative stress generator, causes neuronal cell death with apoptotic features and region selectivity. *J. Neurochem.* 70, 299–307. doi: 10. 1046/j.1471-4159.1998.70010299.x
- O'Mahony, S. M., Clarke, G., Borre, Y. E., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2015). Serotonin, tryptophan metabolism and the brain-gut-microbiome axis. *Behav. Brain Res.* 277, 32–48. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2014.07.027
- Ou, K., Sarnoski, P., Schneider, K. R., Song, K., Khoo, C., and Gu, L. (2014). Microbial catabolism of procyanidins by human gut microbiota. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 58, 2196–2205. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201400243
- Ozdal, T., Sela, D. A., Xiao, J., Boyacioglu, D., Chen, F., and Capanoglu, E. (2016). The reciprocal interactions between polyphenols and gut microbiota and effects on bioaccessibility. *Nutrients* 8:78. doi: 10.3390/nu8020078
- Pan, Y., Chen, X. Y., Zhang, Q. Y., and Kong, L. D. (2014). Microglial NLRP3 inflammasome activation mediates IL-1beta-related inflammation in prefrontal cortex of depressive rats. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 41, 90–100. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi. 2014.04.007
- Pandey, G. N. (2017). Inflammatory and innate immune markers of neuroprogression in depressed and teenage suicide brain. *Mod. Trends Pharmacopsyc.* 31, 79–95. doi: 10.1159/000470809
- Pandey, G. N., Rizavi, H. S., Ren, X., Fareed, J., Hoppensteadt, D. A., Roberts, R. C., et al. (2012). Proinflammatory cytokines in the prefrontal cortex of teenage suicide victims. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 46, 57–63. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2011. 08.006
- Panossian, A. (2017). Understanding adaptogenic activity: specificity of the pharmacological action of adaptogens and other phytochemicals. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1401, 49–64. doi: 10.1111/nyas.13399
- Park, S. K., Jung, I. C., Lee, W. K., Lee, Y. S., Park, H. K., Go, H. J., et al. (2011). A combination of green tea extract and l-theanine improves memory and attention in subjects with mild cognitive impairment: a double-blind placebo-controlled study. J. Med. Food 14, 334–343. doi: 10.1089/jmf.2009.1374
- Pase, M. P., Scholey, A. B., Pipingas, A., Kras, M., Nolidin, K., Gibbs, A., et al. (2013). Cocoa polyphenols enhance positive mood states but not cognitive performance: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *J. Psychopharmacol.* 27, 451–458. doi: 10.1177/0269881112473791
- Pavlov, V. A., Wang, H., Czura, C. J., Friedman, S. G., and Tracey, K. J. (2003). The cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway: a missing link in neuroimmunomodulation. *Mol. Med.* 9, 125–134. doi: 10.1007/bf03402177
- Pellegrino, L. D., Peters, M. E., Lyketsos, C. G., and Marano, C. M. (2013). Depression in cognitive impairment. *Curr. Psychiatry Rep.* 15:384. doi: 10.1007/ s11920-013-0384-1
- Peppercorn, M. A., and Goldman, P. (1971). Caffeic acid metabolism by bacteria of the human gastrointestinal tract. *J. Bacteriol.* 108, 996–1000.
- Petrov, T., Howarth, A. G., Krukoff, T. L., and Stevenson, B. R. (1994). Distribution of the tight junction-associated protein ZO-1 in circumventricular organs of the CNS. *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.* 21, 235–246. doi: 10.1016/0169-328x(94) 90254-2
- Pham, N. M., Nanri, A., Kurotani, K., Kuwahara, K., Kume, A., Sato, M., et al. (2014). Green tea and coffee consumption is inversely associated with depressive symptoms in a Japanese working population. *Public Health Nutr.* 17, 625–633. doi: 10.1017/s1368980013000360
- Podolsky, D. K., Gerken, G., Eyking, A., and Cario, E. (2009). Colitis-associated variant of TLR2 causes impaired mucosal repair because of TFF3 deficiency. *Gastroenterology* 137, 209–220. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.03.007
- Pollak, Y., and Yirmiya, R. (2002). Cytokine-induced changes in mood and behaviour: implications for 'depression due to a general medical condition',

immunotherapy and antidepressive treatment. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 5, 389–399. doi: 10.1017/s1461145702003152

- Pruessner, M., Hellhammer, D. H., Pruessner, J. C., and Lupien, S. J. (2003). Self-reported depressive symptoms and stress levels in healthy young men: associations with the cortisol response to awakening. *Psychosom. Med.* 65, 92–99. doi: 10.1097/01.psy.0000040950.22044.10
- Qiao, H., An, S. C., Xu, C., and Ma, X. M. (2017). Role of proBDNF and BDNF in dendritic spine plasticity and depressive-like behaviors induced by an animal model of depression. *Brain Res.* 1663, 29–37. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2017. 02.020
- Qin, J., Li, R., Raes, J., Arumugam, M., Burgdorf, K. S., Manichanh, C., et al. (2010). A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. *Nature* 464, 59–65. doi: 10.1038/nature08821
- Quigley, E. M. M. (2017). Microbiota-brain-gut axis and neurodegenerative diseases. Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep. 17:94. doi: 10.1007/s11910-017-0802-6
- Raimondi, S., Anighoro, A., Quartieri, A., Amaretti, A., Tomas-Barberan, F. A., Rastelli, G., et al. (2015). Role of bifidobacteria in the hydrolysis of chlorogenic acid. *Microbiologyopen* 4, 41–52. doi: 10.1002/mbo3.219
- Rakoff-Nahoum, S., Paglino, J., Eslami-Varzaneh, F., Edberg, S., and Medzhitov, R. (2004). Recognition of commensal microflora by toll-like receptors is required for intestinal homeostasis. *Cell* 118, 229–241. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2004.07.002
- Reyes-Izquierdo, T., Nemzer, B., Shu, C., Huynh, L., Argumedo, R., Keller, R., et al. (2013). Modulatory effect of coffee fruit extract on plasma levels of brainderived neurotrophic factor in healthy subjects. *Br. J. Nutr.* 110, 420–425. doi: 10.1017/s0007114512005338
- Rinwa, P., and Kumar, A. (2013). Quercetin suppress microglial neuroinflammatory response and induce antidepressent-like effect in olfactory bulbectomized rats. *Neuroscience* 255, 86–98. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013. 09.044
- Rojanathammanee, L., Puig, K. L., and Combs, C. K. (2013). Pomegranate polyphenols and extract inhibit nuclear factor of activated T-cell activity and microglial activation in vitro and in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer disease. J. Nutr. 143, 597–605. doi: 10.3945/jn.112.169516
- Romijn, A. R., Rucklidge, J. J., Kuijer, R. G., and Frampton, C. (2017). A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial of *Lactobacillus helveticus* and Bifidobacterium longum for the symptoms of depression. *Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry* 51, 810–821. doi: 10.1177/0004867416686694
- Round, J. L., and Mazmanian, S. K. (2009). The gut microbiota shapes intestinal immune responses during health and disease. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 9, 313–323. doi: 10.1038/nri2515
- Round, J. L., and Mazmanian, S. K. (2010). Inducible Foxp3+ regulatory T-cell development by a commensal bacterium of the intestinal microbiota. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 12204–12209. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0909122107
- Rozan, P., Hidalgo, S., Nejdi, A., Bisson, J. F., Lalonde, R., and Messaoudi, M. (2007). Preventive antioxidant effects of cocoa polyphenolic extract on free radical production and cognitive performances after heat exposure in Wistar rats. J. Food Sci. 72, S203–S206. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3841.2007.00297.x
- Sangiovanni, E., Brivio, P., Dell'Agli, M., and Calabrese, F. (2017). Botanicals as Modulators of neuroplasticity: focus on BDNF. *Neural Plast.* 2017:5965371. doi: 10.1155/2017/5965371
- Savitz, J., Drevets, W. C., Smith, C. M., Victor, T. A., Wurfel, B. E., Bellgowan, P. S., et al. (2015). Putative neuroprotective and neurotoxic kynurenine pathway metabolites are associated with hippocampal and amygdalar volumes in subjects with major depressive disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 40, 463– 471. doi: 10.1038/npp.2014.194
- Savitz, J. B., Price, J. L., and Drevets, W. C. (2014). Neuropathological and neuromorphometric abnormalities in bipolar disorder: view from the medial prefrontal cortical network. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 42, 132–147. doi: 10.1016/ j.neubiorev.2014.02.008
- Schmidt, H. D., and Duman, R. S. (2010). Peripheral BDNF produces antidepressant-like effects in cellular and behavioral models. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 35, 2378–2391. doi: 10.1038/npp.2010.114
- Selma, M. V., Beltran, D., Garcia-Villalba, R., Espin, J. C., and Tomas-Barberan, F. A. (2014). Description of urolithin production capacity from ellagic acid of two human intestinal gordonibacter species. *Food Funct.* 5, 1779–1784. doi: 10.1039/c4fo00092g
- Selma, M. V., Beltran, D., Luna, M. C., Romo-Vaquero, M., Garcia-Villalba, R., Mira, A., et al. (2017). Isolation of human intestinal bacteria capable of

producing the bioactive metabolite isourolithin a from ellagic acid. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:1521. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01521

- Seo, S. U., Kamada, N., Munoz-Planillo, R., Kim, Y. G., Kim, D., Koizumi, Y., et al. (2015). Distinct commensals induce interleukin-1beta via NLRP3 inflammasome in inflammatory monocytes to promote intestinal inflammation in response to injury. *Immunity* 42, 744–755. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015. 03.004
- Seong, K. J., Lee, H. G., Kook, M. S., Ko, H. M., Jung, J. Y., and Kim, W. J. (2016). Epigallocatechin-3-gallate rescues LPS-impaired adult hippocampal neurogenesis through suppressing the TLR4-NF-kappaB signaling pathway in mice. *Korean J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 20, 41–51. doi: 10.4196/kjpp.2016.20.1.41
- Setiawan, E., Wilson, A. A., Mizrahi, R., Rusjan, P. M., Miler, L., Rajkowska, G., et al. (2015). Role of translocator protein density, a marker of neuroinflammation, in the brain during major depressive episodes. *JAMA Psychiatry* 72, 268–275. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.2427
- Shukitt-Hale, B., Carey, A., Simon, L., Mark, D. A., and Joseph, J. A. (2006). Effects of Concord grape juice on cognitive and motor deficits in aging. *Nutrition* 22, 295–302. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2005.07.016
- Shukitt-Hale, B., Miller, M. G., Chu, Y. F., Lyle, B. J., and Joseph, J. A. (2013). Coffee, but not caffeine, has positive effects on cognition and psychomotor behavior in aging. Age 35, 2183–2192. doi: 10.1007/s11357-012-9509-4
- Slykerman, R. F., Hood, F., Wickens, K., Thompson, J. M. D., Barthow, C., Murphy, R., et al. (2017). Effect of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* HN001 in pregnancy on postpartum symptoms of depression and anxiety: a randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial. *eBio Med.* 24, 159–165. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2017. 09.013
- Smith, K. A., Fairburn, C. G., and Cowen, P. J. (1997). Relapse of depression after rapid depletion of tryptophan. *Lancet* 349, 915–919. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(96)07044-4
- Solanki, N., Alkadhi, I., Atrooz, F., Patki, G., and Salim, S. (2015). Grape powder prevents cognitive, behavioral, and biochemical impairments in a rat model of posttraumatic stress disorder. *Nutr. Res.* 35, 65–75. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2014. 11.008
- Spalding, K. L., Bergmann, O., Alkass, K., Bernard, S., Salehpour, M., Huttner, H. B., et al. (2013). Dynamics of hippocampal neurogenesis in adult humans. *Cell* 153, 1219–1227. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.05.002
- Stanaszek, P. M., Snell, J. F., and O'Neill, J. J. (1977). Isolation, extraction, and measurement of acetylcholine from *Lactobacillus plantarum*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 34, 237–239.
- Steiner, J., Bielau, H., Brisch, R., Danos, P., Ullrich, O., Mawrin, C., et al. (2008). Immunological aspects in the neurobiology of suicide: elevated microglial density in schizophrenia and depression is associated with suicide. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 42, 151–157. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2006.10.013
- Steiner, J., Walter, M., Gos, T., Guillemin, G. J., Bernstein, H. G., Sarnyai, Z., et al. (2011). Severe depression is associated with increased microglial quinolinic acid in subregions of the anterior cingulate gyrus: evidence for an immunemodulated glutamatergic neurotransmission? *J. Neuroinflammation* 8:94. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-8
- Stilling, R. M., van de Wouw, M., Clarke, G., Stanton, C., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2016). The neuropharmacology of butyrate: the bread and butter of the microbiota-gut-brain axis? *Neurochem. Int.* 99, 110–132. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint. 2016.06.011
- Stone, T. W. (2001). Kynurenines in the CNS: from endogenous obscurity to therapeutic importance. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 64, 185–218. doi: 10.1016/s0301-0082(00)00032-0
- Storek, K. M., and Monack, D. M. (2015). Bacterial recognition pathways that lead to inflammasome activation. *Immunol. Rev.* 265, 112–129. doi: 10.1111/imr. 12289
- Strathearn, K. E., Yousef, G. G., Grace, M. H., Roy, S. L., Tambe, M. A., Ferruzzi, M. G., et al. (2014). Neuroprotective effects of anthocyanin- and proanthocyanidin-rich extracts in cellular models of Parkinsons disease. *Brain Res.* 1555, 60–77. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.01.047
- Stroth, N., and Svenningsson, P. (2015). S100B interacts with the serotonin 5-HT7 receptor to regulate a depressive-like behavior. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 25, 2372–2380. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2015.10.003
- Sun, J., Wang, F., Hu, X., Yang, C., Xu, H., Yao, Y., et al. (2018). Clostridium butyricum attenuates chronic unpredictable mild stress-induced depressive-like

behavior in mice via the gut-brain axis. J. Agric. Food Chem. 66, 8415–8421. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.8b02462

- Takagaki, A., and Nanjo, F. (2015). Bioconversion of (-)-epicatechin, (+)-epicatechin, (-)-catechin, and (+)-catechin by (-)-epigallocatechinmetabolizing bacteria. *Biol. Pharm. Bull.* 38, 789–794. doi: 10.1248/bpb.b14-00813
- Takeda, H., Tsuji, M., Inazu, M., Egashira, T., and Matsumiya, T. (2002). Rosmarinic acid and caffeic acid produce antidepressive-like effect in the forced swimming test in mice. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 449, 261–267. doi: 10.1016/s0014-2999(02)02037-x
- Tamura, M., Hoshi, C., Kobori, M., Takahashi, S., Tomita, J., Nishimura, M., et al. (2017). Quercetin metabolism by fecal microbiota from healthy elderly human subjects. *PLoS One* 12:e0188271. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0188271
- Tanti, J. F., Ceppo, F., Jager, J., and Berthou, F. (2012). Implication of inflammatory signaling pathways in obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Front. Endocrinol.* 3:181. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2012.00181
- Taylor, C., Fricker, A. D., Devi, L. A., and Gomes, I. (2005). Mechanisms of action of antidepressants: from neurotransmitter systems to signaling pathways. *Cell Signal.* 17, 549–557. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2004.12.007
- Tian, P., Wang, G., Zhao, J., Zhang, H., and Chen, W. (2019). Bifidobacterium with the role of 5-hydroxytryptophan synthesis regulation alleviates the symptom of depression and related microbiota dysbiosis. J. Nutr. Biochem. 66, 43–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2019.01.007
- Tomaro-Duchesneau, C., Saha, S., Malhotra, M., Coussa-Charley, M., Kahouli, I., Jones, M. L., et al. (2012). probiotic ferulic acid esterase active lactobacillus fermentum NCIMB 5221 APA microcapsules for oral delivery: preparation and in vitro characterization. *Pharmaceuticals* 5, 236–248. doi: 10.3390/ph5020236
- Torres-Platas, S. G., Cruceanu, C., Chen, G. G., Turecki, G., and Mechawar, N. (2014). Evidence for increased microglial priming and macrophage recruitment in the dorsal anterior cingulate white matter of depressed suicides. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 42, 50–59. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2014.05.007
- Travagli, R. A., Hermann, G. E., Browning, K. N., and Rogers, R. C. (2006). Brainstem circuits regulating gastric function. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 68, 279–305. doi: 10.1146/annurev.physiol.68.040504.094635
- Tsai, P. Y., Ka, S. M., Chang, J. M., Chen, H. C., Shui, H. A., Li, C. Y., et al. (2011). Epigallocatechin-3-gallate prevents lupus nephritis development in mice via enhancing the Nrf2 antioxidant pathway and inhibiting NLRP3 inflammasome activation. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 51, 744–754. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed. 2011.05.016
- Valladares, R., Bojilova, L., Potts, A. H., Cameron, E., Gardner, C., Lorca, G., et al. (2013). Lactobacillus johnsonii inhibits indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and alters tryptophan metabolite levels in biobreeding rats. *FASEB J.* 27, 1711–1720. doi: 10.1096/fj.12-223339
- Villarreal-Calderon, R., Torres-Jardon, R., Palacios-Moreno, J., Osnaya, N., Perez-Guille, B., Maronpot, R. R., et al. (2010). Urban air pollution targets the dorsal vagal complex and dark chocolate offers neuroprotection. *Int. J. Toxicol.* 29, 604–615. doi: 10.1177/1091581810383587
- Vinson, J. A., Su, X., Zubik, L., and Bose, P. (2001). Phenol antioxidant quantity and quality in foods: fruits. J. Agric. Food Chem. 49, 5315–5321. doi: 10.1021/ jf0009293
- Vitaglione, P., Donnarumma, G., Napolitano, A., Galvano, F., Gallo, A., Scalfi, L., et al. (2007). Protocatechuic acid is the major human metabolite of cyanidinglucosides. J. Nutr. 137, 2043–2048. doi: 10.1093/jn/137.9.2043
- Vogelzangs, N., Duivis, H. E., Beekman, A. T., Kluft, C., Neuteboom, J., Hoogendijk, W., et al. (2012). Association of depressive disorders, depression characteristics and antidepressant medication with inflammation. *Transl. Psychiatry* 2, e79. doi: 10.1038/tp.2012.8
- Wall, R., Cryan, J. F., Ross, R. P., Fitzgerald, G. F., Dinan, T. G., and Stanton, C. (2014). Bacterial neuroactive compounds produced by psychobiotics. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 817, 221–239. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-0897-4-10
- Wang, C., Pan, Y., Zhang, Q. Y., Wang, F. M., and Kong, L. D. (2012). Quercetin and allopurinol ameliorate kidney injury in STZ-treated rats with regulation of renal NLRP3 inflammasome activation and lipid accumulation. *PLoS One* 7:e38285. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0038285
- Wang, J., Ferruzzi, M. G., Ho, L., Blount, J., Janle, E. M., Gong, B., et al. (2012). Brain-targeted proanthocyanidin metabolites for Alzheimer's disease treatment. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 5144–5150. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.6437-11.2012

- Wang, Y., Li, M., Xu, X., Song, M., Tao, H., and Bai, Y. (2012). Green tea epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) promotes neural progenitor cell proliferation and sonic hedgehog pathway activation during adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 56, 1292–1303. doi: 10.1002/mnfr. 201200035
- Wang, D., Ho, L., Faith, J., Ono, K., Janle, E. M., Lachcik, P. J., et al. (2015). Role of intestinal microbiota in the generation of polyphenol-derived phenolic acid mediated attenuation of Alzheimer's disease beta-amyloid oligomerization. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 59, 1025–1040. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201400544
- Wang, D., Lou, X., Jiang, X. M., Yang, C., Liu, X. L., and Zhang, N. (2018). Quercetin protects against inflammation, MMP2 activation and apoptosis induction in rat model of cardiopulmonary resuscitation through modulating Bmil expression. *Mol. Med. Rep.* 18, 610–616. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2018.8994
- Wang, J., Hodes, G. E., Zhang, H., Zhang, S., Zhao, W., Golden, S. A., et al. (2018). Epigenetic modulation of inflammation and synaptic plasticity promotes resilience against stress in mice. *Nat. Commun.* 9:477. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02794-5
- Westfall, S., Lomis, N., Kahouli, I., Dia, S. Y., Singh, S. P., and Prakash, S. (2017). Microbiome, probiotics and neurodegenerative diseases: deciphering the gut brain axis. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 74, 3769–3787. doi: 10.1007/s00018-017-2550-9
- Westfall, S., Lomis, N., and Prakash, S. (2018a). A novel polyphenolic prebiotic and probiotic formulation have synergistic effects on the gut microbiota influencing Drosophila melanogaster physiology. Artif. Cells Nanomed. Biotechnol. 46, 441–455. doi: 10.1080/21691401.2018.1458731
- Westfall, S., Lomis, N., and Prakash, S. (2018b). Longevity extension in drosophila through gut-brain communication. Sci. Rep. 8:8362. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-25382-z
- Westfall, S., Lomis, N., and Prakash, S. (2019). A novel synbiotic delays Alzheimer's disease onset via combinatorial gut-brain-axis signaling in Drosophila melanogaster. *PLoS One* 14:e0214985. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0214985
- Wohleb, E. S., Franklin, T., Iwata, M., and Duman, R. S. (2016). Integrating neuroimmune systems in the neurobiology of depression. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 17, 497–511. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2016.69
- Wohleb, E. S., Powell, N. D., Godbout, J. P., and Sheridan, J. F. (2013). Stressinduced recruitment of bone marrow-derived monocytes to the brain promotes anxiety-like behavior. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 13820–13833. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci. 1671-13.2013
- World Health Organization [WHO] (2018). Depression. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Wu, B., Ma, Y., Yi, Z., Liu, S., Rao, S., Zou, L., et al. (2017). Resveratrol-decreased hyperalgesia mediated by the P2X7 receptor in gp120-treated rats. *Mol. Pain.* 13:1744806917707667. doi: 10.1177/1744806917707667
- Wu, J., Xu, X., Li, Y., Kou, J., Huang, F., Liu, B., et al. (2014). Quercetin, luteolin and epigallocatechin gallate alleviate TXNIP and NLRP3-mediated inflammation and apoptosis with regulation of AMPK in endothelial cells. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 745, 59–68. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2014.09.046
- Xue, Y., Du, M., and Zhu, M. J. (2017). Quercetin suppresses NLRP3 inflammasome activation in epithelial cells triggered by *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 108, 760–769. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed. 2017.05.003
- Yamawaki, Y., Yoshioka, N., Nozaki, K., Ito, H., Oda, K., Harada, K., et al. (2018). Sodium butyrate abolishes lipopolysaccharide-induced depression-like behaviors and hippocampal microglial activation in mice. *Brain Res.* 1680, 13–38. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2017.12.004
- Yang, J., Kim, C. S., Tu, T. H., Kim, M. S., Goto, T., Kawada, T., et al. (2017). Quercetin protects obesity-induced hypothalamic inflammation by reducing microglia-mediated inflammatory responses via HO-1 induction. *Nutrients* 9:E650. doi: 10.3390/nu9070650

- Yang, Y. J., Hu, L., Xia, Y. P., Jiang, C. Y., Miao, C., Yang, C. Q., et al. (2016). Resveratrol suppresses glial activation and alleviates trigeminal neuralgia via activation of AMPK. *J. Neuroinflammation* 13:84. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0550
- Yirmiya, R., Rimmerman, N., and Reshef, R. (2015). Depression as a microglial disease. *Trends Neurosci.* 38, 637–658. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2015. 08.001
- Yuan, T., Ma, H., Liu, W., Niesen, D. B., Shah, N., Crews, R., et al. (2016). Pomegranate's neuroprotective effects against Alzheimer's disease are mediated by urolithins, its ellagitannin-gut microbial derived metabolites. ACS Chem. Neurosci. 7, 26–33. doi: 10.1021/acschemneuro.5b0 0260
- Zendedel, A., Johann, S., Mehrabi, S., Joghataei, M. T., Hassanzadeh, G., Kipp, M., et al. (2016). Activation and Regulation of NLRP3 Inflammasome by Intrathecal Application of SDF-1a in a Spinal Cord Injury Model. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 53, 3063–3075. doi: 10.1007/s12035-015-9203-5
- Zeni, A. L. B., Camargo, A., and Dalmagro, A. P. (2017). Ferulic acid reverses depression-like behavior and oxidative stress induced by chronic corticosterone treatment in mice. *Steroids* 125, 131–136. doi: 10.1016/j.steroids.2017.07.006
- Zhang, F., Wang, H., Wu, Q., Lu, Y., Nie, J., Xie, X., et al. (2013). Resveratrol protects cortical neurons against microglia-mediated neuroinflammation. *Phytother. Res.* 27, 344–349. doi: 10.1002/ptr.4734
- Zhang, J. C., Yao, W., and Hashimoto, K. (2016). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF)-TrkB signaling in inflammation-related depression and potential therapeutic targets. *Curr. Neuropharmacol.* 14, 721–731. doi: 10.2174/ 1570159x14666160119094646
- Zhang, X., Wang, G., Gurley, E. C., and Zhou, H. (2014). Flavonoid apigenin inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory response through multiple mechanisms in macrophages. *PLoS One* 9:e107072. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0107072
- Zhang, Y., Liu, L., Liu, Y. Z., Shen, X. L., Wu, T. Y., Zhang, T., et al. (2015). NLRP3 inflammasome mediates chronic mild stress-induced depression in mice via neuroinflammation. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 18:yv006. doi: 10.1093/ijnp/ pyv006
- Zhao, W., Wang, J., Bi, W., Ferruzzi, M., Yemul, S., Freire, D., et al. (2015). Novel application of brain-targeting polyphenol compounds in sleep deprivationinduced cognitive dysfunction. *Neurochem. Int.* 89, 191–197. doi: 10.1016/j. neuint.2015.07.023
- Zheng, H. J., Guo, J., Jia, Q., Huang, Y. S., Huang, W. J., Zhang, W., et al. (2019). The effect of probiotic and synbiotic supplementation on biomarkers of inflammation and oxidative stress in diabetic patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Pharmacol. Res.* 142, 303–313. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2019.02.016
- Zheng, P., Zeng, B., Zhou, C., Liu, M., Fang, Z., Xu, X., et al. (2016). Gut microbiome remodeling induces depressive-like behaviors through a pathway mediated by the host's metabolism. *Mol. Psychiatry* 21, 786–796. doi: 10.1038/ mp.2016.44

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Westfall and Pasinetti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





### Zinc Deficiency During Pregnancy Leads to Altered Microbiome and Elevated Inflammatory Markers in Mice

### Ann Katrin Sauer<sup>1,2,3</sup> and Andreas M. Grabrucker<sup>3,4,5\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> WG Molecular Analysis of Synaptopathies, Neurology Department, Neurocenter of Ulm University, Ulm, Germany, <sup>2</sup> Institute for Anatomy and Cell Biology, Ulm University, Ulm, Germany, <sup>3</sup> Department of Biological Sciences, University of Limerick, Limerick, Ireland, <sup>4</sup> Health Research Institute, University of Limerick, Limerick, Ireland, <sup>5</sup> Bernal Institute, University of Limerick, Limerick, Ireland

Zinc is an essential trace metal for bacteria of the intestinal flora. Approximately 20% of dietary zinc - intake is used by intestinal bacteria. The microbiome has recently been described as an important factor for healthy brain function via so-called gutbrain interactions. Similarly, zinc deficiency has been associated with neurological problems such as depression, mental lethargy and cognitive impairments in humans and animal models. However, the underlying pathomechanisms are currently not well understood and a link between zinc deficiency and altered microbiota composition has not been studied. Especially during pregnancy, women may be prone to low zinc status. Thus, here, we investigate whether zinc deficiency alters gut-brain interaction in pregnant mice by triggering changes in the microbiome. To that end, pregnant mice were fed different diets being zinc-adequate, deficient in zinc, or adequate in zinc but high in zinc uptake antagonists for 8 weeks. Our results show that acute zincdeficient pregnant mice and pregnant mice on a diet high in zinc uptake antagonists have an altered composition of gastro-intestinal (GI) microbiota. These changes were accompanied by alterations in markers for GI permeability. Within the brain, we found signs of neuroinflammation. Interestingly, microbiota composition, gut pathology, and inflammatory cytokine levels were partially rescued upon supplementation of mice with zinc amino-acid conjugates (ZnAA). We conclude that zinc deficiency may contribute to abnormal gut-brain signaling by altering gut physiology, microbiota composition and triggering an increase of inflammatory markers.

Keywords: Zn, microbiota, gastrointestinal, gut-brain, postpartum depression, mood disorder, immune disease, trace metal

### INTRODUCTION

Zinc is one of the most prevalent trace metal ions in the body and plays a major role in the functions of the brain, immune system and endocrine system (Sauer et al., 2016). In humans, acute zinc deficiency is associated with the occurrence of skin lesions, anorexia, diarrhea, growth retardation, depressed wound healing, altered immune function, sensory impairments, and behavioral changes such as lethargy and depression (Aggett and Harries, 1979; Chasapis et al., 2012). Especially the ability to precipitate

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Carlo Sala, Institute of Neuroscience (CNR), Italy

### Reviewed by:

Fabrizio Gardoni, University of Milan, Italy Alessandra Folci, UMR 7275 Institut de Pharmacologie Moléculaire et Cellulaire (IPMC), France

### \*Correspondence:

Andreas M. Grabrucker andreas.grabrucker@ul.ie; andreas.grabrucker@ alumni.uni-ulm.de

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuroendocrine Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 02 April 2019 Accepted: 15 November 2019 Published: 29 November 2019

### Citation:

Sauer AK and Grabrucker AM (2019) Zinc Deficiency During Pregnancy Leads to Altered Microbiome and Elevated Inflammatory Markers in Mice. Front. Neurosci. 13:1295. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2019.01295

35
depression hints toward an interesting gut-brain interaction, given that zinc required for cognitive processes is ultimately taken up via the gastrointestinal (GI) system (Vela et al., 2015; Rafalo et al., 2016).

Low zinc status has been associated with several mood disorders including major depressive disorders and bipolar depression (Cope and Levenson, 2010). Depression is a mental disorder caused by changes in brain chemistry affecting thought processes, emotions, behaviors and overall physical health (Bondy, 2002). Interestingly, zinc status may be a biomarker of mood disorder (Styczeń et al., 2017). Several studies show that zinc deficiency induces depression while supplementing zinc improves mood as well as cognitive function in humans with depression and animal models (Piao et al., 2017).

Clinical studies have reported a reduction of blood zinc concentration in depressed patients (McLoughlin and Hodge, 1990; Maes et al., 1997; Siwek et al., 2013; Swardfager et al., 2013; Pfaender and Grabrucker, 2014) A recent meta-analysis found that depression in subjects was associated with significantly lower peripheral blood zinc concentration (Swardfager et al., 2013). Interestingly, lower zinc blood concentrations were also reported in women with postpartum depression (Etebary et al., 2010).

In animal models, acute zinc deficiency often was reported to result in depression-like behavior (Hagmeyer et al., 2014). The administration of low zinc diets leads to the development of depressive-like behavior in mice and rats (Tassabehji et al., 2008; Watanabe et al., 2010; Młyniec and Nowak, 2012; Młyniec et al., 2012, 2013a,b), assessed through measuring immobility time in the forced swim test (Corniola et al., 2008; Tassabehji et al., 2008; Whittle et al., 2009; Watanabe et al., 2010; Młyniec et al., 2012, 2013b) or tail suspension test (Młyniec and Nowak, 2012), indicating that zinc deficiency contributes to the development of this behavior. However, the underlying molecular pathomechanisms are still not well known. On a molecular level, zinc has been associated with the GPR39 receptor modulating monoaminergic and glutamatergic neurotransmission, NMDA receptor signaling (Paoletti et al., 2009), glucocorticoids (Nowak, 2001), and BDNF levels, which are all affected in depression (Młyniec et al., 2015). Further, zinc deficiency can disrupt energy metabolism and contributes to chronic inflammation (Bao et al., 2010). There is a tight interplay between zinc levels and inflammation (Prakash et al., 2015), with decreased zinc associated with a pro-inflammatory state. In particular, increased levels of circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines, which may lead to the activation of brain-resident microglia may contribute to neurobiological changes seen in depression (Wohleb et al., 2016) such as dysfunction of the monoamine system, impaired neurogenesis, and alterations in synaptic function (Horowitz and Zunszain, 2015) that result in abnormalities in regional brain activity.

While zinc deficiency negatively affects mood possibly triggering the development of depressive-like symptoms, evidence is mounting that zinc supplementation can be used to improve depressive symptoms in humans and animal models (Nowak et al., 2003; Siwek et al., 2010; Petrilli et al., 2017). Zinc supplementation exhibits antidepressant-like effects in both preclinical and clinical studies (Nowak et al., 2003; Siwek et al., 2009). In addition, the results of several randomized controlled trials show effectiveness of zinc as adjunctive therapy in depressed individuals (Nowak et al., 2003; Siwek et al., 2009; Sawada and Yokoi, 2010; Lai et al., 2012; Ranjbar et al., 2014; Solati et al., 2015). Similarly, the treatment of animal models for depression with zinc showed antidepressant effects, and zinc supplementation enhanced the effectiveness of antidepressants (Rafalo et al., 2016).

Zinc is also an essential trace metal for bacteria of the intestinal flora. A comparison between germ-free rats and rats with pathogen-free intestinal flora revealed that approx. 20% of the dietary intake of zinc was used by intestinal bacteria (Smith et al., 1972). Intriguingly, changes in gut microbiota have been implicated in a variety of conditions including depression (Dinan and Cryan, 2017). In a recent study, depression was reported associated with decreased gut microbiota richness and diversity (Kelly et al., 2016). A feedback loop between depressive states and dysregulation of the microbiome was suggested. An open question is, whether zinc deficiency alone may correspondingly alter the gut microbiome as demonstrated in mice in which chronic depression- and anxiety-like behaviors were induced by olfactory bulbectomy (Park et al., 2013).

In mice, the offspring of mice with zinc deficiency during pregnancy show autism-like behavior (Grabrucker et al., 2014, 2016). Intriguingly, in humans, maternal postpartum depression is associated with the presence of autistic traits in the offspring at 18 months of age (Salvanos et al., 2010). Pregnant women are at increased risk of developing zinc deficiency as the required daily intake almost doubles in this period (Grabrucker, 2016). Further, supplementation of folic acid, high levels of calcium and iron, as well as a diet high in phytates may lower the bioavailability of zinc (Sauer et al., 2017) during pregnancy.

Thus, here, we investigated whether dietary-induced acute zinc deficiency during pregnancy can elicit alterations in the gut microbiota composition in pregnant mice, which may translate into increased inflammatory signaling and ultimately induce changes in brain function in mice. We included a diet adequate in zinc but enriched in zinc uptake inhibitors (folic acid, phytic acid, high Ca/Fe) for comparison with a diet deficient in zinc in our study. We further investigated whether rescuing zinc levels using zinc amino-acid conjugates (ZnAA) ameliorates the observed alterations and thus may be a potential future prevention strategy. ZnAAs have advantages in overcoming especially low bioavailability of zinc (Sauer et al., 2017) and are currently available on the market as a mineral supplement for animals, where they are safe and effective and may be used in human studies in future.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Materials

PBS with  $Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+}$  was purchased from PAA. Paraformaldehyde was purchased from Merck, and D-Saccharose from Carl Roth. Unless otherwise indicated, all other chemicals were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich. Primary antibodies were purchased from the following companies: Thermo Fisher Scientific (ZO-1 polyclonal antibody, 61-7300, mouse specific; FABP2 polyclonal antibody, PA5-18700, mouse specific), Abcam (Anti-Claudin 3 polyclonal antibody, ab15102, mouse specific; Anti-GFAP monoclonal antibody [GF5], ab10062, mouse specific), Origene (monoclonal antibody to Escherichia coli LPS (J5 LPS)[Clone ID: 2D7/1], BM1091, besides E. coli J5 LPS, the antibody has also been found to react with K. pneumoniae, S. sonnei, and S. typhimurium LPS, the antibody detects LPS and LPS with modifications), Cell signaling Technologies (IL-6 (D5W4V) XP monoclonal antibody, #12912, mouse specific), Sigma Aldrich (Anti-Iba1/AIF1 monoclonal antibody, MABN92, mouse specific) and Merck Millipore (Anti-NR2B polyclonal antibody, 06-600, mouse specific). Alexa Fluor conjugated secondary antibodies were obtained from Invitrogen/Life Technologies Europe. Secondary HRP conjugated antibodies were purchased from Dako. Zinc amino acid complexes (ZnAAs) were obtained from Zinpro Corporation (Eden Prairie, MN, United States). Special diets for mice were purchased from Ssniff diets, Germany.

### Animals

8-week old C57BL/6JRj mice were purchased from Janvier Labs and housed upon arrival in the animal facility in plastic cages under standard laboratory conditions and provided with food and water available ad libitum. The housing room was maintained at 22°C, with lights automatically turned on/off in a 12 h rhythm (lights on at 7 am). After 2 weeks of acclimation, mice were divided into 4 groups: the control group (3 females) was fed with standard laboratory food (41 mg/kg zinc) (diet 1), the second group (3 females) was fed a zinc-deficient diet (19 mg/kg zinc) (diet 2). The third group received the standard laboratory food (41 mg/kg zinc), with increased levels of phytates (9.5 mg/kg), folic acid (1.9 mg/kg), Ca (1.13 mg/kg) and Fe (503 mg/kg) (diet 3). The fourth group was given diet 3 with 41 mg/kg ZnAA supplement (Sauer et al., 2017). Mice were given access to distilled, demineralized drinking water ad libitum. After 5 weeks, animals became pregnant and were maintained for 3 weeks of pregnancy on the respective diet. All animal experiments were performed in accordance with the guidelines and regulations for the welfare of experimental animals issued by the Federal Government of Germany and by the local ethics committee (Ulm University). The protocol used was approved by the Regierungspräsidium Tübingen, state of Baden-Württemberg, and the Ethics Committee of Ulm University (ID Number: 1257).

### Measurement of Trace Metal Concentrations

The Zn-concentration of solutions was measured by flame atomic absorption spectrometry (AAS) at the Department of Clinical Chemistry (ZE klinische Chemie) of the University Hospital Ulm using a PinAAcle 900T from Perkin Elmer.

### Immunohistochemistry

Frozen brain sections were cut at 14  $\mu m$  thickness with a cryostat (Leica CM3050 S) and stored at  $-80^\circ C$  until further use. Prior to fluorescent staining, sections were thawed

for 20 min in a hydrated staining chamber, fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA)/4% sucrose/PBS for 20 min and washed three times in PBS for 5 min each. Then, sections were treated with 1x PBS with 0.2% Triton X-100 for 20 min at RT and 1 × PBS with 0.05% Triton X-100 for 10 min at RT. To prevent unspecific antibody binding, blocking was performed with blocking solution (BS) (10% FBS in 1x PBS) for 1 h at RT. Primary antibodies were diluted in BS and incubated overnight at 4°C in a humid chamber. Subsequently, sections were washed 1  $\times$  PBS with 0.05% Triton X-100 for 10 min and then incubated in a humidity chamber with secondary antibody (alexa488 or alexa568) in BS for 2 h at  $37^{\circ}C$  in darkness. After washing of tissue with 1  $\times$  PBS plus 0.05% Triton X-100 for 5 min each for three times, and additionally 5 min in  $1 \times$  PBS, brain sections were counterstained with DAPI (4',6-Diamidin-2-phenylindol) for 5 min at RT. After washing with aqua bidest, sections were mounted with Vecta Mount. Fluorescence images were obtained using an inverted confocal microscope (Zeiss LSM710) and an ImageXpress Micro Spinning Disc Confocal High-Content Imaging System (Molecular Devices), and analyses of signal intensities were performed with ImageJ 1.48r. For quantitative analysis, signals were thresholded and signal intensities of GFAP/IL-6 immunoreactivity in the vicinity of DAPI labeled cell nuclei measured using the selection tool to determine cytoplasmic protein levels. Exposure times and threshold values were equal for all groups. Brain sections from three animals per group were used and signal intensities from 10 cells from three sections per animal measured in the hippocampal CA1 + CA2 area.

### **Protein Biochemistry**

Liver tissue was immersed in Hepes Sucrose buffer (10 mM Hepes, 0.32 M Sucrose) and disrupted using a sonicator (Fisherbrand sonic dismembranator 120). To obtain homogenate from GI tissue, gut mucus was removed by gently squeezing it out of the intestine with the blunt point of tweezers, and tissue was submerged in PBS. Afterward the cleaned tissue was lysed in modified RIPA buffer (150 mM sodium chloride, 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 1 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid, 1% Triton X-100, 1% sodium deoxycholic acid, 0.1% sodium dodecylsulfate) plus added protease inhibitor cocktail (complete EDTA-free Protease Inhibitor Cocktail tablets, Roche). Tissue samples in lysis buffer were disrupted with a sonicator (Fisherbrand sonic dismembrator 120). Afterward the obtained homogenate was incubated for 2 h at 4°C on a rotator. Besides semi-quantitative measurement of protein levels, the resulting lysate allows for the analysis of LPS in tissue. All materials used for lysate preparation were sterile and endotoxin-free.

LPS analysis was performed according to Sturm et al. (1984). The optional step of "baking" the nitrocellulose membrane after transfer was not performed due to simultaneous detection of ACTIN. Therefore, more diffuse LPS banding patterns are observed representing higher molecular weight LPS molecules. Using this protocol, the detection of LPS is limited to molecules having side chain lengths of approx. 30 repeat units and greater.

### Western Blotting

Protein concentrations were determine by Bradford protein assay and Pierce BCA Protein assay, and equal concentrations loaded per lane. Proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE and blotted onto nitrocellulose membranes (GE Healthcare). Immunoreactivity was visualized using horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibodies and Pierce SuperSignal ECL substrate (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

### Western Blot Quantification

Evaluation of bands from Western blots (WBs) was performed using ImageJ. Three independent experiments were performed and blots imaged using a UVITEC Alliance Q9 Advanced system. The individual bands were selected and the integrated density was measured. All WB bands were normalized to  $\beta$ -Actin and the ratios averaged and tested for significance. Mean  $\beta$ -Actin signals were measured and compared between groups to exclude effects of the treatments on the proteins used for normalization. No significant differences in  $\beta$ -Actin levels were detected for any treatment group.

# **Microbiome Analysis**

### **DNA Extraction**

DNA extraction of murine fecal samples was performed using the Mo Bio PowerFecal DNA Isolation Kit according to the manufacturer's protocol. The resulting DNA concentration was measured on a Nanodrop 2000. Purity was assessed by calculating the measured A260/A280 ratio. DNA samples with an A260/A280 ratio between 1.7 to 2.0 were considered pure and subsequently used for microbiome profiling.

### Pyrosequencing of 16S rDNA Region V3-V5

Primers were designed to target conserved sequences around the variable region 3–5 (V3–V5) of bacterial 16S rDNA. All bacterial taxonomic profiling via Illumina MiSeq was performed by Eurofins Genomics (Ebersberg, Germany).

# Pyrosequencing Data Processing and Taxonomic Classification

All reads with errors were removed from the data set. Processing of remaining reads was performed using minimum entropy decomposition (MED), while splitting up the marker gene dataset into Operational Taxonomic Units (OTUs). Assignment of taxonomic information to each OTU was performed by BLAST aligning of cluster representative sequences to the NCBI sequence database. As a minimal requirement for reference sequences, only sequences with a sequence identity of 80% across at least 80% of a representative sequence were chosen. For each OTU a specific taxonomic assignment was transferred, selected from a set of best matching reference sequences. Using the QIIME software (version 1.8.0), taxonomic assignments and OTUs were processed further.

### Gene Expression Analysis (qRT-PCR)

Total RNA from murine brain tissue was isolated with the RNeasy Lipid Tissue Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Elution of total RNA was performed with sterile RNAsefree water. RNA concentration was measured with the Take3 plate on the Synergy H1 plate reader (Biotek). RNA purity was assessed by A260/A280 absorbance ratio. For each biological replicate the same amount of RNA was used per run. Quantitative RT-PCR was performed using the QuantiFast SYBR Green RT-PCR kit (Qiagen) and QuantiTect Primers (Qiagen) in a total volume of 10  $\mu$ l. Thermal cycling and fluorescent detection were performed using the QuantStudio<sup>TM</sup> 7 Flex Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems), measuring the SYBR Green I reporter dye signal. Transcript levels were normalized to the housekeeping gene Hmbs. All cycle threshold values (ct) were calculated by the QuantiStudio Real-Time PCR software. All PCR reactions were run in triplicates.

### qRT PCR Quantification

Relative quantification is based on internal reference genes to determine virtual mRNA levels of target genes. Ct values were transformed into virtual mRNA levels according to the formula: virtual mRNA level =  $10 * ((ct_{(target)} - ct_{(standard)})/slope$  of standard curve).

# LAL Chromogenic Endotoxin Quantitation

Bacterial endotoxins in murine liver tissue samples were measured with the Pierce LAL (Limulus Amebocyte Lysate) Chromogenic Endotoxin Quantitation Kit (Thermo Fisher) according to the manufacturer's protocol. All materials used for endotoxin measurement in samples were sterile and endotoxinfree (e.g., Fisherbrand DNase/RNase and pyrogen free 1.5 ml tubes, Eppendorf ep Dualfilter T.I.P.S<sup>®</sup> SealMax). Liver samples were homogenized in Hepes Sucrose buffer using a sonic dismembrator (Fisherbrand) and diluted in endotoxin-free water for the assay. Absorbance levels of standards and samples were measured at 405 nm with the Synergy H1 plate reader (Biotek). With the help of a standard curve, endotoxin levels [endotoxin units/ml (EU/ml)] in liver samples were calculated.

### **Statistics**

Statistical analysis was performed with Sigmaplot 11.0 and GraphPad Prism 5. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM. For multiple-group comparisons, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed. If groups showed significant differences *post hoc* tests for within-group comparisons were performed (Tukey test). For comparisons of two independent groups, student's *t*-tests were used. Statistically significant differences are indicated in the figures by \* $p \le 0.05$ , \*\* $p \le 0.01$ , and \*\*\* $p \le 0.001$ .

# RESULTS

## Low Levels of Zinc and Low Zinc Bioavailability Both Lead to Acute Zinc Deficiency in Mice

To understand the relationship of zinc deficiency, microbiome, and brain physiology, female wild type C57BL/6 mice (10 weeks



of age) were fed 3 different diets for 8 weeks. Mice received either a control diet with adequate supply of all necessary nutrients including zinc (Control diet), a diet low in zinc (Zn deficient diet) that was shown to produce mild zinc deficiency before (Grabrucker et al., 2016), or the control diet with increased levels of Zn uptake inhibitors (phytates, Ca and Fe, and folic acid) (Zn inhibitor diet). Average whole-blood zinc levels were investigated in three animals per group (**Figure 1**). A reduction of zinc in whole-blood does not only reflect decreased zinc levels of a fast exchanging pool of plasma zinc but indicates a zinc deficiency affecting also intracellular zinc levels of blood cells and most likely several other tissues.

The results show that animals on a standard control diet had average whole-blood zinc levels around 67  $\mu$ mol/l. As expected from previous studies (Grabrucker et al., 2014, 2016), a zinc-deficient diet significantly reduced zinc levels compared to mice on the control diet (one way ANOVA,  $F_{(2,6)} = 8.739$ , p = 0.017, *Post hoc* analysis: Control vs. Zinc deficient, p = 0.0461). Interestingly, the presence of additional phytates, folic acid, and Ca and Fe ions (zinc uptake antagonists) also led to a significant reduction in zinc levels (**Figure 1**) (Control vs. Zinc inhibitor, p = 0.0307). Thus, the presence of high phytate levels such as found in a plant-rich diet and folic acid and mineral (Ca, Fe) supplements significantly lowers zinc bioavailability in the diet to a level comparable to a zinc depleted diet in these experiments.

### Low Dietary Levels or Bioavailability of Zinc Result in Altered Microbiota Composition in Pregnant Mice

Next, to investigate whether low dietary zinc availability over a period of 8 weeks is sufficient to induce alterations in the gut microbiota composition of mice, we performed pyrosequencing of 16S rDNA of fecal samples. A microbiome profile of mice from all different groups was established (Figure 2). The results show that both Zn deficient diet and the Zn inhibitor diet lead to significantly different microbiota composition in pregnant mice (Figure 2A). However, the microbiota composition was also different between Zn deficient diet and the Zn inhibitor diet. Thus, in the presence of zinc uptake antagonists, some microbiota are still successfully able to compete for zinc. In general, on phylum level, Verrucomicrobia were the most prevalent in control mice. In mice on a zinc-deficient diet, Verrucomicrobia levels are dramatically reduced and Firmicutes become by far the most prevalent microbiota phylum. In mice on a diet with adequate zinc levels but the presence of zinc uptake antagonists, Verrucomicrobia levels are similar to control mice but Firmicutes increase as well. A significantly higher number of different species was detected in the microbiome of animals on a zinc-deficient diet compared to animals on control diet (one way ANOVA, p = 0.002, *Post hoc* analysis: Control vs. Zinc deficient, p = 0.0167) (data not shown).

In detail (Figure 2B), a significant difference was found in the phylum Actinobacteria (one way ANOVA, p = 0.00003). While no difference was found between control and Zn inhibitor diet, mice on Zn deficient diet had significantly higher levels of Actinobacteria compared to controls and mice on Zn inhibitor diet (Tukey *post hoc* analysis: Control vs. Zinc deficient, p < 0.01; Control vs. Zinc inhibitor, p < 0.01). In addition, levels of Bacterioidetes were significantly different (one way ANOVA, p = 0.00004). Mice on Zn deficient diet showed significantly increased levels compared to control and Zn inhibitor diet (Tukey *post hoc* analysis: Control vs. Zinc deficient, p < 0.01; Zinc deficient vs. Zinc inhibitor, p < 0.01). Further, both Zinc deficient and Zinc inhibitor diets significantly increase the level of Firmicutes compared to the control diet (one way ANOVA, p = 0.00003; Tukey post hoc analysis: Control vs. Zinc deficient, p < 0.01; Control vs. Zinc inhibitor, p < 0.01). The increase was significantly higher in mice on a zinc-deficient diet (Zinc deficient vs. Zinc inhibitor, p < 0.01).

In contrast, both Zinc deficient and Zinc inhibitor diets significantly decrease the level of Proteobacteria compared to the control diet (one way ANOVA, p = 0.0003; Tukey *post hoc* analysis: Control vs. Zinc deficient, p < 0.01; Control vs. Zinc inhibitor, p < 0.01). The decrease was significantly higher in mice on a zinc inhibitor diet (Zinc deficient vs. Zinc inhibitor, p < 0.01). Zinc depleted diet, but not the diet with adequate zinc levels and presence of zinc uptake inhibitors dramatically reduced the amount of Verrucomicrobia (one way ANOVA, p = 0.0006; Tukey *post hoc* analysis: Control vs. Zinc deficient, p < 0.01; Zinc deficient vs. Zinc inhibitor, p < 0.01). The number of unclassified reads was significantly higher in mice on a zinc-deficient diet (**Figure 2C**).

Based on the alterations observed on the phylum level, we conclude that the phylum Proteobacteria is very sensitive to zinc depletion as already lower bioavailability of zinc leads to a significant decrease of this phylum. However, within the phylum, not all classes respond similarly. For example, while Epsilonproteobacteria and Betaproteobacteria are highly reduced by zinc restriction, Deltaproteobacteria slightly increase



FIGURE 2 | DNA was extracted from feces from three animals per group and microbiota composition analyzed using 16s microbiome profiling. (A,B) On phylum level, significant differences were detected. (A) Using the obtained sequence information, single species and their relative amounts were identified. Each phylum was assigned a color. Both, relative abundance and the composition of species are different between the three groups. Verrucomicrobia is the most prevalent phylum in control mice. On a zinc-deficient diet, Verrucomicrobia levels are reduced and Firmicutes are the most prevalent phylum. Mice on the Zn inhibitor diet show an intermediate microbiome with Verrucomicrobia levels similar to controls but also an increase in Firmicutes. (B) While no difference was found between the control and Zn inhibitor diet, mice on Zn deficient diet had significantly higher levels of Actinobacteria compared to controls and mice on the Zn inhibitor diet. Levels of Bacterioidetes were significantly increased in mice on Zn deficient diet compared to the control and Zn inhibitor diet. Zn deficient and Zn inhibitor diets significantly increase the level of Firmicutes. The increase was significantly higher in mice on a Zn deficient diet. The level of Proteobacteria significantly decreases in mice on Zn deficient and Zn inhibitor diet. The decrease was significantly higher in mice on a Zn inhibitor diet. Zn deficient but not Zn inhibitor diet significantly reduces the amount of Verrucomicrobia. (C) The number of unclassified reads was significantly higher in mice on a zinc-deficient diet. (D) Left panel: Proteobacteria are highly sensitive to zinc depletion with a significant decrease occurring both on Zn deficient and Zn inhibitor diet. Although Epsilonproteobacteria and Betaproteobacteria are significantly reduced by zinc restriction, Deltaproteobacteria increase. Middle panel: Verrucomicrobia are not altered under the Zn inhibitor diet, but significantly reduced in mice on a Zn deficient diet. Bacterioidetes, especially Bacteriodia, significantly increase on a Zn deficient diet. Right panel: Firmicutes significantly increase under Zn deficient and Zn uptake inhibition. (E) Lachnospiraceae are significantly increased on a Zn deficient diet. Ruminococcaceae are more characteristic of a Zn inhibitor diet. (F) A more than fivefold increase in mice on Zn deficient or Zn inhibitor is found in the genus Bifidobacterium (Bifidobacterium pseudolongum), Olsenella, Asaccharobacter (Asaccharobacter WCA-131-CoC-2), Eggerthella (Eggerthella YY7918), Enterorhabdus (Enterorhabdus mucosicola), Odoribacter (Odoribacter laneus), Eubacterium (Eubacterium plexicaudatum), Anaerostipes (Anaerostipes butyraticus), and Lachnoclostridium (Lachnoclostridium scindens). The most significant and largest increase was seen in the genus Murimonas (Murimonas intestine) under Zn deficient conditions. Ruminococcus (Ruminiclostridium cellobioparum) display the largest increase under Zn uptake inhibition. Bacteria of the genus Acetatifactor, Desulfonispora, Ercella, Sporobacter, Holdenmanella, Kiloniella, Rhodospirillum, Caldimones, and Xenophilus were highly reduced or absent in mice on Zn deficient and Zn inhibitor diet.

(Figure 2D). In contrast, the phylum Firmicutes thrives under low zinc conditions (Figure 2D). Verrucomicrobia can cope with low bioavailability of zinc and seem to have mechanisms of zinc intake that successfully compete with the presence of uptake inhibitors. However, under zinc-depleted conditions, the presence of the phylum in the gut microbiome is drastically reduced. Bacterioidetes, especially the class Bacteriodia, are more successful in populating the gut microbiome under zinc depletion (Figure 2D).

Given that the loss of Proteobacteria and an increase in Firmicutes occurs in both zinc restricted diets, we closer analyzed the composition of Firmicutes to investigate, which bacteria increase in numbers or are newly found in the GI tract of these mice (**Figure 2E**). We found that especially the Firmicutes family Lachnospiraceae benefits from zinc depleted conditions, while Ruminococcaceae are more characteristic for a diet high in zinc uptake antagonists. Changes in the occurrence of members of the Lachnospiraceae have been associated with chronic inflammation of the gut (Manichanh et al., 2006; Berry et al., 2012).

Finally, we analyzed the different microbiomes on genus level (Figure 2F). Among 223 different genera, we highlight those that show a more than 5-fold increase in mice on zinc-deficient or zinc inhibitor diet and those being lost from the microbiome in both zinc deficient or zinc inhibitor diets. We found an increase in the genus Bifidobacterium mostly due to an increase in Bifidobacterium pseudolongum, Olsenella, Asaccharobacter due to an increase in Asaccharobacter WCA-131-CoC-2, Eggerthella due to an increase in Eggerthella YY7918, Enterorhabdus due to an increase in Enterorhabdus mucosicola, Odoribacter due to an increase Odoribacter laneus, Eubacterium due to an increase in Eubacterium plexicaudatum, Anaerostipes due to an increase Anaerostipes butyraticus, and Lachnoclostridium due to an increase Lachnoclostridium scindens. A very large increase was found in the genus Murimonas, especially Murimonas intestine under zinc-deficient conditions, which may be a potent biomarker for zinc deficiency (Figure 2F). The genus Ruminococcus, especially *Ruminiclostridium cellobioparum* shows a specific increase in mice on the zinc inhibitor diet (**Figure 2F**).

The genus Turicibacter, Allobaculum, Marvinbryantia, and Butyrivibrio only appeared in the microbiome of mice on zincdeficient or zinc inhibitor diets (not shown).

# Low Dietary Levels or Bioavailability of Zinc Result in Altered Gut Physiology

*Enterorhabdus mucosicola* was originally isolated from inflamed ileal samples of TNF<sup>deltaARE</sup> mice (Clavel et al., 2009). In addition, both *E. plexicaudatum* and *E. mucosicola* are associated with inflamed gut mucosa and intestinal epithelial barrier dysfunction. Further, *Egerthella YY7918* is closely related to the type strain *Eggerthella lenta VPI0255. Eggerthella lenta* has been to be part of the normal human intestinal microbiome and has been associated with infections of the gastrointestinal tract (Gardiner et al., 2015). Therefore, next, we evaluated markers of intestinal physiology and "leakiness".

We selected three markers, FABP2 (Intestinal fatty acidbinding protein 2), CLAUDIN3, and ZONULIN1 (HP1) (Figures 3A–C). FABP2 is a cytosolic protein found in small intestine epithelial cells where it participates in the uptake, intracellular metabolism, and transport of long-chain fatty acids. CLAUDIN3 is a cell adhesion protein found at tight junctions between gut epithelial cells. ZONULIN1 is a physiological modulator of intercellular tight junctions and alterations in the ZONULIN regulated pathways have been associated with both intestinal and extra-intestinal autoimmune and inflammatory disorders (Fasano, 2011). ZONULIN1 and FABP2 have been proposed as markers of gut dysbiosis and gut permeability integrity (Stevens et al., 2018), with a decrease in FABP2 and an increase in ZONULIN1 linked to increased gut permeability (Fasano, 2012).

While we found no significant differences in the lysate from the entire small intestine for FABP2 (Figure 3A), mice on a zinc-deficient diet had significantly reduced levels of



CLAUDIN3 (**Figure 3B**) (one way ANOVA, p = 0.0084; Tukey *post hoc* analysis: Control vs. Zinc deficient, p = 0.0068), and mice on Zinc inhibitor diet showed a trend toward a reduction. ZONULIN1 was significantly increased in mice on Zinc inhibitor diet (**Figure 3C**) (one way ANOVA, p = 0.0046; Tukey *post hoc* analysis: Control vs. Zinc inhibitor, p = 0.0082) compared to controls and mice on zinc-deficient diet (Tukey *post hoc* analysis: Zinc deficient vs. Zinc inhibitor, p = 0.0069).

The detoxification of microbial products from gut-derived microbiota is a function of the liver. Analyzing liver tissue of mice for the levels of *E. coli* lipopolysaccharide (LPS), we found a significant increase in liver LPS in mice on a zinc-deficient and zinc inhibitor diet (one way ANOVA,

p = 0.0054; Tukey *post hoc* analysis: Control vs. Zinc deficient, p < 0.05; Control vs. Zinc inhibitor, p < 0.01) (**Supplementary Figure S1A** and **Figure 3D**). To validate this data, we additionally measured *E. coli* LPS (endotoxin) levels in mouse liver using a Limulus Amebocyte Lysate (LAL) based assay. The results confirm significantly increased levels of LPS in liver of mice on a zinc-deficient and zinc inhibitor diet (one way ANOVA, p = 0.047; *post hoc* analysis: Control vs. Zinc deficient, p = 0.041; Control vs. Zinc inhibitor, p = 0.0143) (**Supplementary Figure S1B** and **Figure 3E**). Thus, altered microbiota composition together with an increased intestinal permeability may be responsible for increased translocation of bacterial LPS into the systemic circulation (Szabo et al., 2010).

## Low Dietary Levels or Bioavailability of Zinc Result in Increased Inflammation in Pregnant Mice

Given that an increase of ZONULIN1 and loss of CLAUDIN3 have been associated with increased gut permeability and inflammation, we next analyzed whether we can detect signs of (neuro)inflammation in the brain of pregnant mice with low zinc status. To that end, we analyzed tissue for the expression levels of GFAP and IL-6. Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) is an established marker for the activation of astrocytes following injury or stress (Zhang et al., 2017). Expression of IL-6 was reported being induced in both astrocytes and microglia in response to LPS and increased levels in the brain are related to inflammatory and pathological situations (Erta et al., 2012). Our results show a significant increase in GFAP expression levels in brains of mice subjected to zinc deficiency and lowered bioavailability in the diet compared to control mice (one way ANOVA, p = 0.0044; Tukey post hoc analysis: Control vs. Zinc deficient, p = 0.0447; Control vs. Zinc inhibitor, p = 0.0036) (Figure 4A). The number of GFAP positive cells was not significantly altered (Figure 4A, lower panel).

The levels of IL-6 were significantly elevated in brain tissue of both mice on zinc-deficient diet and mice with sufficient dietary zinc levels but presence of zinc uptake inhibitors compared to controls (one way ANOVA, p = 0.028; Tukey *post hoc* analysis: Control vs. Zinc deficient, p = 0.04547; Control vs. Zinc inhibitor, p = 0.038557) (**Supplementary Figure S2A**). However, measuring IL-6 levels in brain sections by IHC suffers from

specificity and sensitivity issues. Therefore, to further validate the data from IHC, we assessed IL-6 expression on the transcription level. The results show a significantly higher concentration of IL-6 mRNA in the brain of pregnant mice on a zinc-deficient diet (*t*-test, p = 0.0041) compared to controls (**Figure 4B**). Besides, we detected the increased expression of further inflammatory marker genes in pregnant mice on a zinc-deficient diet such as significantly higher levels of IL-1b (p = 0.0034), S100 $\beta$  (p = 0.0185), and CCL2 (p = 0.0109, *t*-tests) (**Supplementary Figure S2B**). The increased IL-6 transcription translates into increased IL-6 on protein level, further quantified by western blotting (*t*-test, p = 0.0283) (**Figure 4C**).

Although more extensive analyses need to be done in the future, the obtained data hint at a physiologic relevant impact of dietary zinc restriction during pregnancy on the brain of pregnant mice.

# Supplementation of Maternal Diet With ZnAAs Prevents Several Alterations Induced by Low Bioavailability of Zinc

Recently, we have investigated the mechanisms of uptake and absorption of ZnAAs (Sauer et al., 2017). ZnAAs are zinc supplements with zinc stably conjugated in an amino acid backbone. These ZnAAs were taken up by cells, not through classical zinc transporter proteins but amino acid transporters. Therefore, ZnAAs showed a significant advantage compared to inorganic zinc salts such as ZnCl<sub>2</sub> as a supplement, since ZnAAs do not compete with other metals for zinc transporters and seem



Inhibitor) compared to control mice. Lower panel: No significant difference in the number of GFAP positive cells per optic field of view (OFV) was found. Scale bar =  $100 \ \mu m$ . **(B)** Whole-brain total RNA lysate from three animals per group was used to analyze the expression of IL-6 on gene level normalized to Hmbs. A significantly higher IL-6 expression was found in the brain of zinc-deficient mice. **(C)** Whole-brain protein lysate from three animals per group was used to analyze IL-6 expression on protein level normalized to ACTIN. Significantly higher IL-6 levels are found in the brain of zinc-deficient mice.



to be less accessible for folic acid or phytic acid. Therefore, here, we supplemented a diet rich in zinc uptake antagonists (diet 3, Zn Inhibitor) using ZnAAs to investigate whether the observed changes can be prevented by dietary zinc supplementation.

Mice were fed a ZnAA supplemented diet (diet 4, Zn Inhibitor + ZnAA) for 8 weeks. At the end of pregnancy, the average whole-blood zinc levels were investigated and compared to mice on the same diet with low bioavailability

of zinc but without zinc supplementation and controls. The results show that the addition of ZnAAs to the diet leads to significantly higher zinc levels compared to mice on the diet with low bioavailability of zinc (*t*-test, p = 0.0225) (**Figure 5A**) and no significant difference can be seen compared to controls (p = 0.0736).

Next, we examined if alterations in microbiota composition are normalized by zinc supplementation. We again performed

pyrosequencing of 16S rDNA of fecal samples and investigated the microbiome of mice fed ZnAA supplemented diet (Figure 5B). The results show that on phylum level, the abundance of Proteobacteria was significantly higher in mice supplemented with ZnAA compared to mice on a diet with lowered bioavailability of zinc. However, the levels did not reach those of mice on a control diet (one way ANOVA, p = 0.0004; Tukey post hoc analysis: Control vs. Zinc Inhibitor, p < 0.01; Control vs. Zinc inhibitor + ZnAA, p < 0.01; Zinc Inhibitor vs. Zinc inhibitor + ZnAA, p < 0.01). We could not detect further rescue effects on phylum level. Instead, supplementation with ZnAA seemed to generate a new microbiota composition, which was significantly different from controls and mice on the Zn Inhibitor diet (Supplementary Figure S3A). Therefore, we focused on the most prominent alterations observed in mice on a diet with low bioavailability of zinc on genus and species level and compared these to mice on the same diet, but with supplementation of ZnAAs. An almost 10-fold increase in Ruminococcus (R. cellobioparum) was observed under the low bioavailability of zinc. Supplementation with ZnAAs was able to partially prevent this increase (Figure 5C, left panel) (one way ANOVA, p = 0.0005; Tukey post hoc analysis: Control vs. Zinc Inhibitor, p < 0.01; Control vs. Zinc inhibitor + ZnAA, p < 0.01; Zinc Inhibitor vs. Zinc inhibitor + ZnAA, p < 0.01). Bacteria of the genus Christensiella, Anaerotruncus, Faecalibacterium, Acetatifactor, Desulfonispora, Ercella, Sporobacter, Holdenmanella, Kiloniella, Rhodospirillum, Caldimones, Brachymonas, Xenophilus, and Desulfovibrio were highly reduced or absent in mice on Zn inhibitor diet. On genus level, supplementation with ZnAA was able to prevent many of these losses (Figure 5C, right panel) (one way ANOVA followed by Tukey post hoc analysis). For example, no decrease in the Faecalibacterium genus that may be beneficial to the host concerning inflammatory processes (Sokol et al., 2008) was seen.

Interestingly, supplementation with ZnAA was able to prevent the loss of ZONULIN1 observed in mice on Zn Inhibitor diet (**Figures 3C**, **5D**) (one way ANOVA, p = 0.0219; Tukey *post hoc* analysis: Control vs. Zinc Inhibitor, p = 0.0186; Control vs. Zinc inhibitor + ZnAA, p = 0.34). In addition, the levels of liver LPS decreased and were no longer significantly different from mice on control diet (**Figure 5E**) (one way ANOVA, p = 0.0065; Tukey *post hoc* analysis: Control vs. Zinc Inhibitor, p < 0.01; Control vs. Zinc inhibitor + ZnAA, p = 0.05738).

In the brain, we could not observe a significant effect on astrocyte activation, as animals on Zinc inhibitor + ZnAA diet still showed a significant increase in GFAP expression, although slightly less compared to mice on Zinc inhibitor diet (one way ANOVA, p = 0.0034; Tukey *post hoc* analysis: Control vs. Zinc Inhibitor, p = 0.0039; Control vs. Zinc inhibitor + ZnAA, p = 0.0219) (**Figure 5F**). In contrast, while mice on Zinc inhibitor diet had significantly increased IL-6 brain tissue levels, we detected no difference between Controls and mice on Zinc inhibitor diet supplemented with ZnAAs (**Supplementary Figure S3B**). Thus, zinc supplementation was able to prevent an increase in IL-6 brain levels.

## DISCUSSION

Zinc deficiency plays a role in the etiology of depressive disorders in mouse models and humans. Several studies have reported an inverse relationship between low zinc levels and higher Hamilton Depression Rating Scale scores in patients (Maes et al., 1994). Interestingly, zinc deficiency also impairs the efficacy of several antidepressants (Tassabehji et al., 2008; Młyniec and Nowak, 2012; Młyniec et al., 2012). However, the mechanisms behind are not fully understood.

Further abnormalities have been independently reported in animal models and human patients with depression such as alterations in the gut microbiota composition and increased inflammatory responses and chronic inflammation. Several studies in the past revealed a link between depression and altered gut microbiota composition. From these a motif emerged, where significant alterations in the abundance of gut microbiota within the phyla *Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Proteobacteria*, and *Actinobacteria* were reported in patients diagnosed with major depressive disorder, but also in relevant rodent models (Winter et al., 2018).

With regards to inflammation, it was found that patients with major depressive disorder show all of the key features of an inflammatory response such as increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, cytokine receptors, and soluble adhesion molecules in peripheral blood and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (Miller and Raison, 2016). Especially, increased expression of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, TNF, Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) and TLR4, has been found in post-mortem brains (Maes, 1995; Brambilla et al., 2014; Drago et al., 2015) and consistent with this, activation of IL-6, IL-8 and type I IFNinduced signaling pathways has been reported (Brambilla et al., 2014). A meta-analysis found that IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, TNF and C-reactive protein (CRP) in peripheral blood are the most reliable biomarkers of inflammation in patients with depression (Miller et al., 2009).

Here, we sought to establish a link between maternal zinc deficiency, altered microbiota composition, and inflammation. Zinc deficiency was reported before to affect microbiota composition. For example, similar to the result reported here, a decrease in Veruccomicrobia and an increase in Firmicutes has been observed (Mayneris-Perxachs et al., 2016). The low relative abundance of Verrucomicrobia populations and a decrease in beneficial bacteria was correlated with zinc deficiency in further studies (Lopez and Skaar, 2018). In addition, low zinc status as well as zinc supplementation were reported to affect gut microbiota in chicken (Reed et al., 2015, 2018). However, to our knowledge, the effects of zinc deficiency on the microbiome of pregnant mice in light of the observed behavioral alterations in the offspring of zinc-deficient mothers has not been investigated so far.

Using pyrosequencing of 16S rDNA of fecal samples, we obtained microbiota profiles from animals on four different diets: a control diet, a diet low in zinc, a diet with low bioavailability of zinc induced by elevated concentrations of other dietary components such as Fe, Ca, and folic acid that are commonly prescribed to pregnant women, and a diet with

low bioavailability that was supplemented with zinc in the form of ZnAA to overcome inhibition by zinc uptake antagonists present in this diet (Sauer et al., 2017). Although no clear cut-off values between hypozincemia and zinc deficiency are established for mice, we consider the status of mice on a zincdeficient diet and diet with zinc uptake inhibitors as mild zinc deficient. This is based on the fact that in many cases, in human studies, hypozincemia cannot be picked up in blood samples and blood/plasma zinc content is generally considered a poor measure of marginal zinc deficiency in humans (King, 1990; Wood, 2000). However, in our study, both animals on the zinc-deficient diet and diet with uptake inhibitors show significantly reduced zinc levels in blood. On the other hand, severe zinc deficiency was shown to induce gross anatomical malformation in pups from rats with severe zinc deficiency (Hurley et al., 1971). The pups born from pregnant mice in this study did have similar birth weight, no malformations and no statistically significant difference in the number of pups was detected in the different treatment groups compared to controls. Therefore, we conclude that the zinc deficiency we created was not severe but mild.

While both mice on a zinc-deficient diet and mice on a diet low in the bioavailability of zinc showed low tissue zinc levels and alterations in gut microbiota composition, the observed alterations in microbiota were not identical.

Mice on a zinc-deficient diet showed an increase in the phylum Actinobacteria and Bacteroidetes. Actinobacteria belong to the dominant commensal communities in humans and mice (Qin et al., 2010) and are generally regarded as pathobionts. Under certain circumstances, they are known to promote disease. In particular, Actinobacteria are associated with chronic inflammatory conditions and, for example, an increase in Actinobacteria has been associated with Inflammatory Bowel Disease (Frank et al., 2007; Morgan et al., 2012). However, mice on a diet with low bioavailability of zinc showed no such increase in Actinobacteria and Bacteroidetes.

Both groups of mice, however, showed an increase in *Firmicutes* and a decrease in *Proteobacteria*. In previous studies using mouse models for stress and depression-like behavior, an increase in *Actinobacteria* (Bangsgaard Bendtsen et al., 2012), both an increase and a decrease in *Bacteroidetes* (Aoki-Yoshida et al., 2016; Bharwani et al., 2016), an increase in *Firmicutes* (Aoki-Yoshida et al., 2016; Aoki-Yoshida et al., 2016), as well as a decrease in *Proteobacteria* (Galley et al., 2014; Aoki-Yoshida et al., 2016) has been reported. Therefore, although different in some aspects both mice on a zinc-deficient diet and mice on a diet low in the bioavailability of zinc show alterations similar to those reported in models for stress and depression-like behavior.

The differences may originate in the competition between gut microbiota and enterocytic zinc uptake transporters for zinc. In mice on a zinc-deficient diet, a low amount of zinc is available for both. In contrast, in the diet with low bioavailability of zinc, zinc levels are normal but zinc uptake by enterocytic zinc transporters is inhibited through the antagonists present in the diet. Some microbiota may have an advantage over enterocytic zinc transporters with respect to inhibition by antagonists and may still be able to access sufficient amounts of zinc. For example, the phylum Verrucomicrobia was hardly affected by low bioavailability of zinc but reacted strongly to low general zinc levels. Further, due to low zinc levels, some families of bacteria may gain an advantage either by less demand for zinc, more sufficient intake mechanisms, or lack of competition through more zinc sensitive bacteria. For example, bacteria in the phylum Firmicutes were significantly increased in both zinc restricted diets. In addition, the presence of the zinc uptake inhibitors phytic acid, Ca, Fe, and folic acid may additionally influence microbiota. Therefore, it is not expected that a zinc-deficient diet and a diet with low bioavailability will alter microbiota composition in identical ways. However, besides shared and unique features in microbiota composition, both groups of animals show a reduction in tight junction markers and increased liver LPS levels. Thus, the shared aberrations from an established gut microbiota composition and/or low availability of zinc for GI cells are associated with pathological changes, such as increased permeability in the GI system in these mice.

Several studies support the idea that intestinal barrier dysbiosis leads to inflammatory responses in peripheral tissues and may ultimately drive inflammation in the brain. Therefore, we investigated the brain for characteristic alterations using GFAP and IL-6 as markers. We detected significantly higher GFAP expression in the brain of mice on zinc-restricted diets. Increased GFAP expression is a marker for activation on astrocytes and inflammation (Zhang et al., 2017). Our results are in line with previous reports that acute stress increases GFAP expression in the hippocampus of rodents (Lambert et al., 2000). Zinc deficiency may physiologically act as an acute stressor.

IL-6 plays a key role in the development of stress-associated depression-like behaviors in mice (Chourbaji et al., 2006). IL-6 signaling can result from activation of inflammatory pathways and alterations in IL-6 levels in the brain were demonstrated contributing to depression symptomatology (Hodes et al., 2016). Indeed, IL-6 is consistently reported as elevated in the blood of patients with depression (Haapakoski et al., 2015) and has been proposed as a predictive biomarker. Therefore, here, we assessed IL-6 levels in the brain mice. Our data show increased IL-6 tissue levels on mRNA and protein levels in response to low zinc status in pregnant mice. These results are in line with previously reported results showing up-regulation of cell activation markers in THP1 cells, a model for human monocytes, that coincided with increased IL-6 responses following LPS stimulation (Wong et al., 2015). In addition, a decreased zinc status in aged mice was associated with increased IL-6 expression levels (Wong et al., 2015).

Finally, supplementation of the diet with low bioavailability of zinc with ZnAAs was investigated to validate the contribution of zinc deficiency to the observed alterations and to understand the usability of ZnAAs for zinc supplementation during pregnancy. Supplementation with ZnAAs was able to prevent a significant drop in zinc levels in the maternal blood. In terms of microbiota composition, the presence of the ZnAA supplement is not expected to create a similar condition as observed in controls due to the presence of zinc uptake antagonists and increased zinc levels. However, supplementation with ZnAA may reverse some effects caused by lowered bioavailability of zinc due to the presence of the antagonists. Indeed, ZnAA supplementation ameliorated the decrease in *Proteobacteria*. In addition, supplementation with ZnAAs prevented the decrease in *Actinobacteria* and *Bacteroidetes*, which was specific for this diet. However, it leads to an increase of both phyla as observed in the zinc-deficient diet before. Both phyla, therefore, seem to respond very sensitive to zinc levels and possibly contain species that thrive in low zinc conditions and others that strive with high zinc levels. Therefore, it is more important to investigate alterations on the genus and species level. Here, ZnAA supplementation ameliorated alterations observed before in several genera such as *Anaertruncus, Acetifactor, Desulfonispora, Holdemanella, Rhodospirillum*, and *Desulfovibrio*.

In terms of GI pathology, we could no longer detect an increase in ZONULIN1 levels in ZnAA supplemented mice and, in line with this, no significant increase in liver LPS. Thus, effects on gut physiology seem indeed to be dependent on zinc availability much more than on microbiota composition and it can be assumed that alterations in microbiota composition are a consequence of altered GI function or dependent on dietary factors only, or both. The reduction in GI abnormalities and liver LPS are expected to decrease pro-inflammatory processes in the mice. While we could not detect a normalization of GFAP expression, IL-6 protein levels in brain tissue were indeed normalized. While IL-6 levels in the brain of humans are difficult to measure, a reduction of IL-6 levels in plasma after zinc supplementation has been reported also in humans before (Bao et al., 2010). The data further confirms that ZnAAs are not only increasing zinc levels in animals but that they are biologically active.

Taken together, we conclude that both low levels of zinc or the presence of zinc uptake inhibitors that are commonly found in western diets and supplements for pregnant women alter the microbiome of pregnant mice. This may not only play a role in the observed autism-like phenotype of the offspring of mice with zinc deficiency during pregnancy but may also directly influence brain functionality through altered gut-brain signaling. Low zinc status was associated with changes in the intestinal epithelial barrier and an increase in liver LPS hints at increased leakiness of the gut in response to these changes. Finally, this may contribute to increased inflammation as we have observed higher GFAP and IL-6 levels in the brain of mice. Acute zinc deficiency was linked to depression and a role of microbiota dysbiosis and inflammation suggested. Our results obtained from pregnant mice do not exclude that similar alterations may occur independent of pregnancy in response to low zinc status. Based on our results, as low availability of zinc

REFERENCES

- Aggett, P. J., and Harries, J. T. (1979). Current status of zinc in health and disease states. Arch. Dis. Child. 54, 909–917. doi: 10.1136/adc.54.12.909
- Aoki-Yoshida, A., Aoki, R., Moriya, N., Goto, T., Kubota, Y., Toyoda, A., et al. (2016). Omics studies of the murine intestinal ecosystem exposed to subchronic

during pregnancy influences both microbiota and inflammatory status, a link between maternal zinc deficiency and postpartum depression seems plausible.

### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Additional datasets generated for this study are included in the **Supplementary Material**, and all datasets are available on request.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

All animal experiments were performed in accordance with the guidelines and regulations for the welfare of experimental animals issued by the Federal Government of Germany and by the local ethics committee (Ulm University). The protocol used was approved by the Regierungspräsidium Tübingen, state of Baden-Württemberg, and the Ethics Committee of Ulm University (ID Number: 1257).

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AS carried out the analysis of mice and revised the manuscript. AG conceived the study, participated in its design, coordination, and data analysis, and drafted the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

### FUNDING

AG and AS were supported by the Else Kröner-Fresenius-Stiftung (214\_A251).

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Tobias M. Boeckers (Ulm University, Germany) for the contribution of antibodies and reagents. The authors would also like to acknowledge networking support by the COST Action TD1304.

### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnins. 2019.01295/full#supplementary-material

and mild social defeat stress. J. Proteome Res. 15, 3126–3138. doi: 10.1021/acs. jproteome.6b00262

Bangsgaard Bendtsen, K. M., Krych, L., Sorensen, D. B., Pang, W., Nielsen, D. S., Josefsen, K., et al. (2012). Gut microbiota composition is correlated to grid floor induced stress and behavior in the BALB/c mouse. *PLoS One* 7:e46231. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0046231

- Bao, B., Prasad, A. S., Beck, F. W. J., Fitzgerlad, J. T., Snell, D., Bao, G. W., et al. (2010). Zinc decreases C-reactive protein, lipid peroxidation, and inflammatory cytokines in elderly subjects: a potential implication of zinc as an atheroprotective agent. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 91, 1634–1641. doi: 10.3945/ajcn. 2009.28836
- Berry, D., Schwab, C., Milinovich, G., Reichert, J., Ben Mahfoudh, K., Decker, T., et al. (2012). Phylotype-level 16S rRNA analysis reveals new bacterial indicators of health state in acute murine colitis. *ISME J.* 6, 2091–2106. doi: 10.1038/ismej. 2012.39
- Bharwani, A., Mian, M. F., Foster, J. A., Surette, M. G., Bienenstock, J., and Forsythe, P. (2016). Structural & functional consequences of chronic psychosocial stress on the microbiome & host. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 63, 217–227. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2015.10.001
- Bondy, B. (2002). Pathophysiology of depression and mechanisms of treatment. *Dialog. Clin. Neurosci.* 4, 7–20.
- Brambilla, P., Bellani, M., Isola, M., Bergami, A., Marinelli, V., Dusi, N., et al. (2014). Increased M1/decreased M2 signature and signs of Th1/Th2 shift in chronic patients with bipolar disorder, but not in those with schizophrenia. *Transl. Psychiatr.* 4:e406. doi: 10.1038/tp.2014.46
- Chasapis, C. T., Spiliopoulou, C. A., Loutsidou, A. C., and Stefanidou, M. E. (2012). Zinc and human health: an update. Arch. Toxicol. 86, 521–534. doi: 10.1007/s00204-011-0775-1
- Chourbaji, S., Urani, A., Inta, I., Sanchis-Segura, C., Brandwein, C., Zink, M., et al. (2006). IL-6 knockout mice exhibit resistance to stress-induced development of depression-like behaviors. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 23, 587–594. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2006. 05.001
- Clavel, T., Charrier, C., Braune, A., Wenning, M., Blaut, M., and Haller, D. (2009). Isolation of bacteria from the ileal mucosa of TNFdeltaARE mice and description of *Enterorhabdus mucosicola* gen. nov., sp. nov. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* 59(Pt 7), 1805–1812. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.003087-0
- Cope, E. C., and Levenson, C. W. (2010). Role of zinc in the development and treatment of mood disorders. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* 13, 685–689. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e32833df61a
- Corniola, R. S., Tassabehji, N. M., Hare, J., Sharma, G., and Levenson, C. W. (2008). Zinc deficiency impairs neuronal precursor cell proliferation and induces apoptosis via p53-mediated mechanisms. *Brain Res.* 1237, 52–61. doi: 10.1016/ j.brainres.2008.08.040
- Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2017). Gut instincts: microbiota as a key regulator of brain development, ageing and neurodegeneration. *J. Physiol.* 595, 489–503. doi: 10.1113/JP273106
- Drago, A., Crisafulli, C., Calabro, M., and Serretti, A. (2015). Enrichment pathway analysis. The inflammatory genetic background in bipolar disorder. J. Affect. Disord. 179, 88–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.03.032
- Erta, M., Quintana, A., and Hidalgo, J. (2012). Interleukin-6, a major cytokine in the central nervous system. *Int. J. Biol. Sci.* 8, 1254–1266. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.4679
- Etebary, S., Nikseresht, S., Sadeghipour, H. R., and Zarrindast, M. R. (2010). Postpartum depression and role of serum trace elements. *Iran J. Psychiatry* 5, 40–46.
- Fasano, A. (2011). Zonulin and its regulation of intestinal barrier function: the biological door to inflammation, autoimmunity, and cancer. *Physiol. Rev.* 91, 151–175. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00003.2008
- Fasano, A. (2012). Zonulin, regulation of tight junctions, and autoimmune diseases. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1258, 25–33. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2012.06538.x
- Frank, D. N., St Amand, A. L., Feldman, R. A., Boedeker, E. C., Harpaz, N., and Pace, N. R. (2007). Molecular-phylogenetic characterization of microbial community imbalances in human inflammatory bowel diseases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 13780–13785. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0706625104
- Galley, J. D., Nelson, M. C., Yu, Z., Dowd, S. E., Walter, J., Kumar, P. S., et al. (2014). Exposure to a social stressor disrupts the community structure of the colonic mucosa-associated microbiota. *BMC Microbiol.* 14:189. doi: 10.1186/ 1471-2180-14-189
- Gardiner, B. J., Tai, A. Y., Kotsanas, D., Francis, M. J., Roberts, S. A., Ballard, S. A., et al. (2015). Clinical and microbiological characteristics of eggerthella lenta bacteremia. J. Clin. Microbiol. 53, 626–635. doi: 10.1128/JCM.02926-14
- Grabrucker, A. M. (2016). "Zinc in the developing brain," in Nutrition and the Developing Brain, eds V. H. Moran, and N. Lowe, (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press), 143–168. doi: 10.1201/9781315372402-8

- Grabrucker, S., Boeckers, T. M., and Grabrucker, A. M. (2016). Gender dependent evaluation of autism like behavior in mice exposed to prenatal zinc deficiency. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 10:37. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2016. 00037
- Grabrucker, S., Jannetti, L., Eckert, M., Gaub, S., Chhabra, R., Pfaender, S., et al. (2014). Zinc deficiency dysregulates the synaptic ProSAP/Shank scaffold and might contribute to autism spectrum disorders. *Brain* 137(Pt 1), 137–152. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt303
- Haapakoski, R., Mathieu, J., Ebmeier, K. P., Alenius, H., and Kivimäki, M. (2015). Cumulative meta-analysis of interleukins 6 and 1β, tumour necrosis factor α and C-reactive protein in patients with major depressive disorder. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 49, 206–215. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.06.001
- Hagmeyer, S., Haderspeck, J. C., and Grabrucker, A. M. (2014). Behavioral impairments in animal models for zinc deficiency. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 8:443. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00443
- Hodes, G. E., Ménard, C., and Russo, S. J. (2016). Integrating interleukin-6 into depression diagnosis and treatment. *Neurobiol. Stress* 4, 15–22. doi: 10.1016/j. ynstr.2016.03.003
- Horowitz, M. A., and Zunszain, P. A. (2015). Neuroimmune and neuroendocrine abnormalities in depression: two sides of the same coin. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1351, 68–79. doi: 10.1111/nyas.12781
- Hurley, L. S., Gowan, J., and Swenerton, H. (1971). Teratogenic effects of shortterm and transitory zinc deficiency in rats. *Teratology* 4, 199–204. doi: 10.1002/ tera.1420040211
- Kelly, J. R., Borre, Y., O' Brien, C., Patterson, E., El Aidy, S., Deane, J., et al. (2016). Transferring the blues: depression-associated gut microbiota induces neurobehavioural changes in the rat. J. Psychiatr. Res. 82, 109–118. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpsychires.2016.07.019
- King, J. C. (1990). Assessment of zinc status. J. Nutr. 120(Suppl. 11), 1474–1479. doi: 10.1093/jn/120.suppl-11.1474
- Lai, J., Moxey, A., Nowak, G., Vashum, K., Bailey, K., and McEvoy, M. (2012). The efficacy of zinc supplementation in depression: systematic review of randomised controlled trials. J. Affect. Disord. 136, e31–e39. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2011.06.022
- Lambert, K. G., Gerecke, K. M., Quadros, P. S., Doudera, E., Jasnow, A. M., and Kinsley, C. H. (2000). Activity-stress increases density of GFAPimmunoreactive astrocytes in the rat hippocampus. *Stress* 3, 275–284. doi: 10.3109/10253890009001133
- Lopez, C. A., and Skaar, E. P. (2018). The impact of dietary transition metals on host-bacterial interactions. *Cell Host Microb.* 23, 737–748. doi: 10.1016/j.chom. 2018.05.008
- Maes, M. (1995). Evidence for an immune response in major depression: a review and hypothesis. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 19, 11–38. doi: 10.1016/0278-5846(94)00101-m
- Maes, M., D'Haese, P. C., Scharpé, S., D'Hondt, P., Cosyns, P., and De Broe, M. E. (1994). Hypozincemia in depression. J. Affect. Disord. 31, 135–140. doi: 10.1016/0165-0327(94)90117-1
- Maes, M., Vandoolaeghe, E., Neels, H., Demedts, P., Wauters, A., Meltzer, H. Y., et al. (1997). Lower serum zinc in major depression is a sensitive marker of treatment resistance and of the immune/inflammatory response in that illness. *Biol. Psychiatry* 42, 349–358. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(96)00365-4
- Manichanh, C., Rigottier-Gois, L., Bonnaud, E., Gloux, K., Pelletier, E., Frangeul, L., et al. (2006). Reduced diversity of faecal microbiota in Crohn's disease revealed by a metagenomic approach. *Gut* 55, 205–211. doi: 10.1136/gut.2005.073817
- Mayneris-Perxachs, J., Bolick, D. T., Leng, J., Medlock, G. L., Kolling, G. L., Papin, J. A., et al. (2016). Protein- and zinc-deficient diets modulate the murine microbiome and metabolic phenotype. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 104, 1253–1262. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.131797
- McLoughlin, I. J., and Hodge, J. S. (1990). Zinc in depressive disorder. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 82, 451–453. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1990.tb03077.x
- Miller, A. H., Maletic, V., and Raison, C. L. (2009). Inflammation and its discontents: the role of cytokines in the pathophysiology of major depression. *Biol. Psychiatry* 65, 732–741. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.11.029
- Miller, A. H., and Raison, C. L. (2016). The role of inflammation in depression: from evolutionary imperative to modern treatment target. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 16, 22–34. doi: 10.1038/nri.2015.5
- Młyniec, K., Budziszewska, B., Reczyński, W., Doboszewska, U., Pilc, A., and Nowak, G. (2013a). Zinc deficiency alters responsiveness to antidepressant

drugs in mice. Pharmacol. Rep. 65, 579-592. doi: 10.1016/s1734-1140(13) 71035-1

- Młyniec, K., Budziszewska, B., Reczyński, W., Sowa-Kućma, M., and Nowak, G. (2013b). The role of the GPR39 receptor in zinc deficient-animal model of depression. *Behav. Brain Res.* 238, 30–35. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2012.10.020
- Młyniec, K., Davies, C. L., Budziszewska, B., Opoka, W., Reczyński, W., Sowa-Kućma, M., et al. (2012). Time course of zinc deprivation-induced alterations of mice behavior in the forced swim test. *Pharmacol Rep.* 64, 567–575. doi: 10.1016/s1734-1140(12)70852-6
- Młyniec, K., Gaweł, M., Librowski, T., Reczyński, W., Bystrowska, B., and Holst, B. (2015). Investigation of the GPR39 zinc receptor following inhibition of monoaminergic neurotransmission and potentialization of glutamatergic neurotransmission. *Brain Res. Bull.* 115, 23–29. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull. 2015.04.005
- Młyniec, K., and Nowak, G. (2012). Zinc deficiency induces behavioral alterations in the tail suspension test in mice. Effect of antidepressants. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 64, 249–255. doi: 10.1016/s1734-1140(12)70762-4
- Morgan, X. C., Tickle, T. L., Sokol, H., Gevers, D., Devaney, K. L., Ward, D. V., et al. (2012). Dysfunction of the intestinal microbiome in inflammatory bowel disease and treatment. *Genome Biol.* 13:R79. doi: 10.1186/gb-2012-13-9-r79
- Nowak, G. (2001). Does interaction between zinc and glutamate system play a significant role in the mechanism of antidepressant action? *Acta Pol. Pharm.* 58, 73–75.
- Nowak, G., Siwek, M., Dudek, D., Zieba, A., and Pilc, A. (2003). Effect of zinc supplementation on antidepressant therapy in unipolar depression: a preliminary placebo-controlled study. *Pol. J. Pharmacol.* 55, 1143–1147.
- Paoletti, P., Vergnano, A. M., Barbour, B., and Casado, M. (2009). Zinc at glutamatergic synapses. *Neuroscience* 158, 126–136. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroscience.2008.01.061
- Park, A. J., Collins, J., Blennerhassett, P. A., Ghia, J. E., Verdu, E. F., Bercik, P., et al. (2013). Altered colonic function and microbiota profile in a mouse model of chronic depression. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 25, 733–e575. doi: 10.1111/nmo. 12153
- Petrilli, M. A., Kranz, T. M., Kleinhaus, K., Joe, P., Getz, M., Johnson, P., et al. (2017). The emerging role for zinc in depression and psychosis. *Front. Pharmacol.* 8:414. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00414
- Pfaender, S., and Grabrucker, A. M. (2014). Characterization of biometal profiles in neurological disorders. *Metallomics* 6, 960–977. doi: 10.1039/c4mt00008k
- Piao, M., Cong, X., Lu, Y., Feng, C., and Ge, P. (2017). The role of zinc in mood disorders. *Neuropsychiatry* 7, 378–386.
- Prakash, A., Bharti, K., and Majeed, A. B. (2015). Zinc: indications in brain disorders. *Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol.* 29, 131–149. doi: 10.1111/fcp.12110
- Qin, J., Li, R., Raes, J., Arumugam, M., Burgdorf, K. S., Manichanh, C., et al. (2010). A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. *Nature* 464, 59–65. doi: 10.1038/nature08821
- Rafalo, A., Sowa-Kucma, M., Pochwat, B., Nowak, G., and Szewczyk, B. (2016). "Zinc Deficiency and depression," in *Nutritional Deficiency*, eds P. Erkekoglu, and B. Kocer-Gumusel, (London: InTechopen), 3–22.
- Ranjbar, E., Shams, J., Sabetkasaei, M., M-Shirazi, M., Rashidkhani, B., Mostafavi, A., et al. (2014). Effects of zinc supplementation on efficacy of antidepressant therapy, inflammatory cytokines, and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in patients with major depression. *Nutr. Neurosci.* 17, 65–71. doi: 10.1179/ 1476830513Y.000000066
- Reed, S., Knez, M., Uzan, A., Stangoulis, J. C. R., Glahn, R. P., Koren, O., et al. (2018). Alterations in the Gut (Gallus gallus) microbiota following the consumption of zinc biofortified wheat (Triticum aestivum)based diet. J. Agric. Food Chem. 66, 6291–6299. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc. 8b01481
- Reed, S., Neuman, H., Moscovich, S., Glahn, R. P., Koren, O., and Tako, E. (2015). Chronic zinc deficiency alters chick gut microbiota composition and function. *Nutrients* 7, 9768–9784. doi: 10.3390/nu7125497
- Salvanos, P., Sylven, S. M., Papathoma, E., Petridou, E. T., and Skalkidou, A. (2010). Maternal postpartum depression in association with autistic traits in the offspring. *Eur. Psychiatry* 25(Suppl. 1):466. doi: 10.1016/s0924-9338(10)70 461-2
- Sauer, A. K., Hagmeyer, S., and Grabrucker, A. M. (2016). "Zinc deficiency," in *Nutritional Deficiency*, eds P. Erkekoglu, and B. Kocer-Gumusel, (London: InTechopen), 23–46.

- Sauer, A. K., Pfaender, S., Hagmeyer, S., Tarana, L., Mattes, A. K., Briel, F., et al. (2017). Characterization of zinc amino acid complexes for zinc delivery in vitro using Caco-2 cells and enterocytes from hiPSC. *Biometals* 30, 643–661. doi: 10.1007/s10534-017-0033-y
- Sawada, T., and Yokoi, K. (2010). Effect of zinc supplementation on mood states in young women: a pilot study. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 64, 331–333. doi: 10.1038/ejcn. 2009.158
- Siwek, M., Dudek, D., Paul, I. A., Sowa-Kućma, M., Zieba, A., Popik, P., et al. (2009). Zinc supplementation augments efficacy of imipramine in treatment resistant patients: a double blind, placebo-controlled study. J. Affect. Disord. 118, 187–195. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2009.02.014
- Siwek, M., Dudek, D., Schlegel-Zawadzka, M., Morawska, A., Piekoszewski, W., Opoka, W., et al. (2010). Serum zinc level in depressed patients during zinc supplementation of imipramine treatment. J. Affect. Disord. 126, 447–452. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2010.04.024
- Siwek, M., Szewczyk, B., Dudek, D., Styczeń, K., Sowa-Kućma, M., Młyniec, K., et al. (2013). Zinc as a marker of affective disorders. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 65, 1512–1518. doi: 10.1016/s1734-1140(13)71512-3
- Smith, J. C. Jr., Daniel, E. G., McBean, L. D., Doft, F. S., and Halsted, J. A. (1972). Effect of microorganisms on zinc metabolism using germfree and conventional rats. J. Nutr. 102, 711–719. doi: 10.1093/jn/102.6.711
- Sokol, H., Pigneur, B., Watterlot, L., Lakhdari, O., Bermúdez-Humarán, L. G., Gratadoux, J. J., et al. (2008). *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* is an antiinflammatory commensal bacterium identified by gut microbiota analysis of Crohn disease patients. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 16731–16736. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0804812105
- Solati, Z., Jazayeri, S., Tehrani-Doost, M., Mahmoodianfard, S., and Gohari, M. R. (2015). Zinc monotherapy increases serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) levels and decreases depressive symptoms in overweight or obese subjects: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Nutr. Neurosci.* 18, 162–168. doi: 10.1179/1476830513Y.0000000105
- Stevens, B. R., Goel, R., Seungbum, K., Richards, E. M., Holbert, R. C., Pepine, C. J., et al. (2018). Increased human intestinal barrier permeability plasma biomarkers zonulin and FABP2 correlated with plasma LPS and altered gut microbiome in anxiety or depression. *Gut* 67, 1555–1557. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314759
- Sturm, S., Fortnagel, P., and Timmis, K. N. (1984). Immunoblotting procedure for the analysis of electrophoretically-fractionated bacterial lipopolysaccharide. *Arch. Microbiol.* 140, 198–201. doi: 10.1007/bf0045 4926
- Styczeń, K., Sowa-Kućma, M., Siwek, M., Dudek, D., Reczyński, W., Szewczyk, B., et al. (2017). The serum zinc concentration as a potential biological marker in patients with major depressive disorder. *Metab. Brain Dis.* 32, 97–103. doi: 10.1007/s11011-016-9888-9
- Swardfager, W., Herrmann, N., Mazereeuw, G., Goldberger, K., Harimoto, T., and Lanctôt, K. L. (2013). Zinc in depression: a meta-analysis. *Biol. Psychiatry* 74, 872–878. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.05.008
- Szabo, G., Bala, S., Petrasek, J., and Gattu, A. (2010). Gut-liver axis and sensing microbes. *Dig. Dis.* 28, 737–744. doi: 10.1159/000324281
- Tassabehji, N. M., Corniola, R. S., Alshingiti, A., and Levenson, C. W. (2008). Zinc deficiency induces depression-like symptoms in adult rats. *Physiol. Behav.* 95, 365–369. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2008.06.017
- Vela, G., Stark, P., Socha, M., Sauer, A. K., Hagmeyer, S., and Grabrucker, A. M. (2015). Zinc in gut-brain interaction in autism and neurological disorders. *Neural Plast.* 2015:972791. doi: 10.1155/2015/972791
- Watanabe, M., Tamano, H., Kikuchi, T., and Takeda, A. (2010). Susceptibility to stress in young rats after 2-week zinc deprivation. *Neurochem. Int.* 56, 410–416. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2009.11.014
- Whittle, N., Lubec, G., and Singewald, N. (2009). Zinc deficiency induces enhanced depression-like behaviour and altered limbic activation reversed by antidepressant treatment in mice. *Amino Acids* 36, 147–158. doi: 10.1007/ s00726-008-0195-6
- Winter, G., Hart, R. A., Charlesworth, R. P. G., and Sharpley, C. F. (2018). Gut microbiome and depression: what we know and what we need to know. *Rev. Neurosci.* 29, 629–643. doi: 10.1515/revneuro-2017-0072
- Wohleb, E. S., Franklin, T., Iwata, M., and Duman, R. S. (2016). Integrating neuroimmune systems in the neurobiology of depression. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 17, 497–511. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2016.69

- Wong, C. P., Rinaldi, N. A., and Ho, E. (2015). Zinc deficiency enhanced inflammatory response by increasing immune cell activation and inducing IL6 promoter demethylation. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 59, 991–999. doi: 10.1002/mnfr. 201400761
- Wood, R. J. (2000). Assessment of marginal zinc status in humans. J. Nutr. 130(5S Suppl.), 1350–1354. doi: 10.1093/jn/130.5. 1350S
- Zhang, S., Wu, M., Peng, C., Zhao, G., and Gu, R. (2017). GFAP expression in injured astrocytes in rats. *Exp. Ther. Med.* 14, 1905–1908. doi: 10.3892/etm. 2017.4760

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Sauer and Grabrucker. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Facilitation of Gastrointestinal (GI) Tract Microbiome-Derived Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) Entry Into Human Neurons by Amyloid Beta-42 (Aβ42) Peptide

#### Walter J. Lukiw<sup>1,2,3</sup>\*, Wenhong Li<sup>1,4</sup>, Taylor Bond<sup>1</sup> and Yuhai Zhao<sup>1,5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>LSU Neuroscience Center, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, New Orleans, LA, United States, <sup>2</sup>Department of Ophthalmology, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, New Orleans, LA, United States, <sup>3</sup>Department of Neurology, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, New Orleans, LA, United States, <sup>4</sup>Department of Pharmacology, School of Pharmacy, Jiangxi University of Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM), Nanchang, China, <sup>5</sup>Department of Anatomy and Cell Biology, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, New Orleans, LA, United States

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Elisa L. Hill-Yardin, RMIT University, Australia

#### Reviewed by:

Stuart Douglas Portbury, University of Melbourne, Australia Yuriy Pankratov, University of Warwick, United Kingdom

> \*Correspondence: Walter J. Lukiw wlukiw@lsuhsc.edu

Received: 29 September 2019 Accepted: 22 November 2019 Published: 06 December 2019

#### Citation:

Lukiw WJ, Li W, Bond T and Zhao Y (2019) Facilitation of Gastrointestinal (GI) Tract Microbiome-Derived Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) Entry Into Human Neurons by Amyloid Beta-42 (Aβ42) Peptide. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13:545. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00545 Human gastrointestinal (GI)-tract microbiome-derived lipopolysaccharide (LPS): (i) has been recently shown to target, accumulate within, and eventually encapsulate neuronal nuclei of the human central nervous system (CNS) in Alzheimer's disease (AD) brain; and (ii) this action appears to impede and restrict the outward flow of genetic information from neuronal nuclei. It has previously been shown that in LPS-encased neuronal nuclei in AD brain there is a specific disruption in the output and expression of two AD-relevant, neuron-specific markers encoding the cytoskeletal neurofilament light (NF-L) chain protein and the synaptic phosphoprotein synapsin-1 (SYN1) involved in the regulation of neurotransmitter release. The biophysical mechanisms involved in the facilitation of the targeting of LPS to neuronal cells and nuclei and eventual nuclear envelopment and functional disruption are not entirely clear. In this "Perspectives article" we discuss current advances, and consider future directions in this research area, and provide novel evidence in human neuronal-glial (HNG) cells in primary culture that the co-incubation of LPS with amyloid-beta 42 (AB42) peptide facilitates the association of LPS with neuronal cells. These findings: (i) support a novel pathogenic role for Aβ42 peptides in neurons via the formation of pores across the nuclear membrane and/or a significant biophysical disruption of the neuronal nuclear envelope; and (ii) advance the concept that the Aβ42 peptide-facilitated entry of LPS into brain neurons, accession of neuronal nuclei, and down-regulation of neuron-specific components such as NF-L and SYN1 may contribute significantly to neuropathological deficits as are characteristically observed in AD-affected brain.

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease (AD), brain microbiome, dysbiosis, gastrointestinal (GI) tract, lipopolysaccharide (LPS), neurofilament light (NF-L), synapsin-1 (SYN1), the thanato-microbiome (the post-mortem microbiome)

## **OVERVIEW**

The highest known density of microorganisms anywhere in the biosphere is in the human GI-tract microbiome at about  $\sim 10^{1\bar{1}}$  microorganisms per gram of GI-tract content (Angelucci et al., 2019; Castillo-Álvarez and Marzo-Sola, 2019; Fox et al., 2019). This vast number represents a remarkably complex and highly dynamic source of microbes; of the approximate  $\sim$ 1,800 different microbial phyla that make up the GI-tract microbiome, the overwhelming majority are facultative anaerobic bacteria with archaea, fungi, microbial eukaryotes, protozoa, viruses, and other microbes making up the remainder (Bhattacharjee and Lukiw, 2013; Fox et al., 2019; Tierney et al., 2019). One major species of bacteria in the human GI-tract microbiome, about ~100-fold more abundant than Escherichia coli in certain GI-tract regions is Bacteroides fragilis, an obligate, anaerobic, non-spore forming Gramnegative, rod-shaped enterotoxigenic bacterium. B. fragilis: (i) generates a remarkable array of highly neurotoxic exudates; and (ii) produces a particularly virulent, pro-inflammatory LPS glycolipid subtype (BF-LPS) that accumulates in Alzheimer's disease (AD) brain (Sears, 2009; Fathi and Wu, 2016; Lukiw, 2016a,b; Wexler and Goodman, 2017; Zhao et al., 2017a,b,c; Allen et al., 2019). Besides BF-LPS, B. fragilis-derived neurotoxins include small non-coding RNA (sncRNA), bacterial amyloids, endo-, exo-, and enterotoxins such as fragilysin, and truncated LPS molecules known as lipooligosaccharides (LOS). These neurotoxins have recently been shown to be capable of transversing normally restrictive gastrointestinal (GI) tract and blood-brain barriers (BBBs) in transgenic murine models of AD (Varatharaj and Galea, 2017; Sweeney et al., 2018; Tulkens et al., 2018; Barton et al., 2019; Erdö and Krajcsi, 2019; Panza et al., 2019; Sweeney and Lowary, 2019). Both the GI-tract and BBB may become weakened with aging or following surgery, disease or trauma (Sweeney et al., 2018; Sweeney and Lowary, 2019). For example, BF-LPS and the B. fragilis-derived enterotoxin fragilysin very effectively disrupt cell-cell adhesion, in part by E-cadherin cleavage and/or the action of LPS binding protein and Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), and subsequent LPS internalization, followed by translocation of neurotoxins into the systemic circulation, past the BBB and on into the parenchyma of the brain [Wu et al., 1998; Holton, 2008; Tsukamoto et al., 2018; Barton et al., 2019; Jeon et al., 2019; Lukiw, 2019 (submitted)].

### LPS ACCUMULATION IN AD BRAIN

Multiple, independent research laboratories have reported: (i) the association of LPS and microbial-derived amyloid with AD brain (Zhao and Lukiw, 2015; Zhao et al., 2015); (ii) the remarkable affinity of specific LPS isoforms with AD brain parenchyma (Lukiw, 2016a,b); (iii) that Gram-negative bacterial molecules associate with AD neuropathology (Zhan et al., 2016); (iv) that microbiome-derived *E. coli* LPS and *B. fragilis* LPS associate the hippocampal CA1 region of AD brain (Zhao et al., 2017a,b,c); (v) of LPS accumulation within neocortical neurons of the AD brain that impair transcriptional output (Zhao et al., 2017a,b,c); (vi) that there is a strong association of LPS with neuronal nuclei and the specific LPS-mediated impairment of expression of the neurofilament light (NF-L) chain gene expression (Lukiw et al., 2018); (vii) of LPS association with the amyloid plaques, neurons and oligodendrocytes in AD brain (Zhan et al., 2018); and (viii) a significantly reduced expression of the AD-relevant synaptic components such as synapsin-1 (SYN1) in LPS-treated human neuronal-glial (HNG) cells in primary culture (Zhao et al., 2019). Most recently, it has been shown that LPS has a very strong affinity for, and association with, the neuronal nuclear envelope of the HNG cells in primary culture. This is also observed in the superior temporal lobe neocortex (Brodmann area A22; Wernicke's area) and the hippocampal CA1 region of AD-affected brain (Lukiw, 2016a,b; Zhao et al., 2017a,b,c, 2019; Lukiw et al., 2018; Ticinesi et al., 2019; Figure 1). Interestingly in moderate-to-late-stage AD LPS totally encapsulates neuronal nuclei in the AD brain with the subsequent restriction in the output of genetic information from those neuronal nuclei (Lukiw et al., 2018; Zhao and Lukiw, 2018a,b; Zhao et al., 2019). Interestingly, gene expression profiling showed a long-lasting deficit in neuron- and synapticspecific gene expression and signaling in the hippocampus and neocortex of both transgenic murine models for AD and in patients with mild cognitive impairment or AD (Colangelo et al., 2002; Counts et al., 2014; Jaber et al., 2019; Parra-Damas and Saura, 2019).



FIGURE 1 | Human neuronal-glial (HNG) cells (transplantation grade) in primary co-culture were used to study the dynamics of amyloid-beta 42 (Aβ42) peptide-mediated entry of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) into neurons (Bhattacharjee and Lukiw, 2013; Zhan et al., 2018; Zhao and Lukiw, 2018a,b; Zhao et al., 2019). (A) HNG cells are a primary co-culture of neuronal [ $\beta$ -tubulin III ( $\beta$ TUBIII)-stained; red;  $\lambda_{max} = 690$  nm] and glial (GFAP-stained; green;  $\lambda_{max}$  = 520 nm) human brain cells; HNG cells are also stained for nuclei (DAPI-stained; blue;  $\lambda_{max}$  = 470 nm); cells shown are  ${\sim}2$  weeks in culture; HNG cells are about ~60% neurons (red) and about ~40% astroglial (green) at ~65% confluence; human primary neuronal and glial "support" cell co-cultures are utilized, because human neuronal cells do not culture well by themselves (Cui et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2017c); HNG cells were exposed to 50 nM LPS for 36 h in the presence or absence of 10 nM Aβ42 peptides; other LPS concentrations at similar times displayed analogous trends; yellow scale bar (lower right)  $\sim$ 50  $\mu$ m. (B) Affinity of LPS for the neuronal nuclear envelope (white arrows); LPS (red;  $\lambda_{max}$  = 690 nm);  $\beta$ -tubulin III ( $\beta$ TUBIII)-stained (green;  $\lambda_{max} = 520$  nm) and nuclei (blue;  $\lambda_{max} = 470$  nm) stained HNG cells; white arrows indicate punctate and perinuclear clustering of LPS and LPS affinity for the nuclear envelope as has been previously reported (Hill and Lukiw, 2015; Zhan et al., 2016, 2018; Yang and Chiu, 2017; Zhao et al., 2017a,b); yellow scale bar (lower right) = 20 µm.

## Aβ42 PEPTIDES AND LPS IN AD NEURONS

Recent evidence shows that LPS-type glycolipids not only have an unusually high affinity for neuronal nuclear membranes but also that amyloid- $\beta$  42 ( $A\beta$ 42) peptides significantly facilitate LPS access and translocation into human neuronal cells and across neuronal nuclear envelopes in HNG cells in primary co-culture (**Figures 2A–L**). There are several possible explanations for the facilitation of LPS entry into, and their association with, neuronal membranes and neuronal nuclei by  $A\beta$ 42 peptides or  $A\beta$ 42 oligomers and these include:

### Pore Formation by Aβ42 Peptides

Amyloid peptides (both Aβ40 and Aβ42) form a remarkable number of heterotypic structures and configurations under pathological conditions. These include: (i) the self-assembly and deposition of multiple types of fibrillar and globular structures and polymorphic assemblies both in solution and on membrane surfaces; and (ii) the formation of heterogeneous ionic pores spanning the lipid bilayer that is linked to the pathogenicity of these molecules. These later findings are supported by multiple independent reports regarding the capability of AB42 peptides [2 hydrophobic amino acid residues (isoleucine and alanine) longer (at the C-terminal) than AB40] to form up to 2.4nm diameter pores through lipid bilayer membranes (Lashuel et al., 2002; Connelly et al., 2012; Sciacca et al., 2012; Ullah et al., 2015; Di Scala et al., 2016; Jang et al., 2016; Davidson, 2019; Hicks et al., 2019; Nguyen et al., 2019; Sun et al., 2019; Österlund et al., 2019). Interestingly, the slightly longer and more hydrophobic AB42-based peptide assemblies in oligomeric preparations have been observed to form voltage-independent, non-selective ion channels in contrast to Aβ40 peptide-based oligomers, fibers, and monomers which do not generally support pore structure formation (Bode et al., 2017, 2019; Nguyen et al., 2019). Although LPS is intrinsically heterogeneous and over time tends to form aggregates of  $\sim$ 1–4 mDa or greater, smaller LOS or LPS monomers in the range of  $\sim$ 50 to  $\sim$ 100 kDa appear to have little difficulty in transversing ~2.4 nm diameter pores to reach their final destination within the nucleoplasm (Zimmer et al., 1988; Millipore Sigma; Lipopolysaccharides<sup>1</sup>).

# Membrane Disruption by Aβ42 Peptide Oligomers

As recently visualized by atomic force, transmission electron microscopy, mobility-mass spectrometry and liquid surface X-ray scattering there is a remarkable influence of A $\beta$  monomers, short fibrillar A $\beta$  oligomers, globular non-fibrillar A $\beta$  oligomers and full-length A $\beta$  fibrils on lipid bilayer membrane integrity and stability (Bode et al., 2019; Nguyen et al., 2019; Österlund et al., 2019; Vander Zanden et al., 2019). Abundant evidence indicates an A $\beta$  oligomeric fibril-induced reorganization of membrane lipid packing and the induction of membrane destabilization and lipid disorganization by globular non-fibrillar A $\beta$  oligomers (Di Lorenzo et al., 2019; Vander Zanden et al., 2019). Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and thioflavin-T fluorescence assay have revealed: (i) that LPS and/or LPS-binding protein (LBP) have strong disruptive effects on the structural and biophysical organization of A $\beta$  peptides and amyloidogenesis in Parkinson's disease (Montagne et al., 2017; Pretorius et al., 2018); and (ii) that LPS strongly induces NF-kB signaling, inflammatory responses, neuroinflammation, the generation of A $\beta$ 42 peptides and amyloidogenesis in transgenic murine models of AD (Gu et al., 2018; Jeon et al., 2019; Sheppard et al., 2019). Conversely, as evidenced by atomic force and electron microscopy imaging, short fibrillar A $\beta$ 42 oligomers appear to have a profound detergent-like, highly-localized, solubilizing effect on lipid membrane bilayers and this may predispose to hydrophobic interaction with LPS already present in the parenchyma of AD brain (Bode et al., 2019).

# Highly Specialized Features of Neuronal Nuclear Membranes

Used for highly regulated nucleocytoplasmic transport, the nuclear envelope of typical neuronal cells contain about ~10,000 nuclear pore complexes/transporters (significantly more than the  $\sim$ 3,000 nuclear pores of a typical eukaryotic cell), and each ~110 MDa nuclear pore complex (NPC) consists of about  $\sim$ 1,000 nucleoporin proteins (Cooper, 2000; Kabachinski and Schwartz, 2015; Davidson, 2019; Lin and Hoelz, 2019; Sun et al., 2019). The affinity of LPS for any NPC component or any nucleoporin protein is not well understood and is an understudied area of both the neurobiology, microbiology and neuropathology of the human central nervous system (CNS). The perinuclear accumulation of LPS and LPS-mediated envelopment of human neuronal nuclei (Zhao et al., 2017a,b,c), and the restriction of the outflow of neuronspecific information, such as those mRNAs encoding the neuronspecific neurofilament light (NF-L) chain protein and SYN1 (Zhao et al., 2019), underscore the novel pathogenic potential of LPS in supporting dysfunction in neuronal cytoarchitecture and the capacity for efficient inter-neuronal signaling by disrupting SYN1 availability and hence synaptic integrity. In addition, LPS strongly associates with amyloid plaques (Zhan et al., 2018) and perinuclear LPS, and encasement of neuronal nuclei by LPS may also contribute to the biophysical blockage of exit of mRNA through the NPC into the cytoplasm in AD brain (Zhao et al., 2019). Interestingly, using stable isotope labeling of amino acids in cell culture and quantitative proteomics, it has recently been shown that the interactome of the 695 amino acid beta-amyloid precursor protein *βAPP695*, which is the direct precursor to Aβ42 peptide, interacts strongly with the NPC and nucleoporin proteins in neuronal cells (Andrew et al., 2019). This suggests some novel roles for both \$\betaAPP695\$ and \$\beta\beta42\$ peptide in both NPC function and amyloid peptide processing and generation. The unique phospholipid composition of the inner nuclear neuronal membrane (that encases the genome) and the outer neuronal nuclear membrane that together form the nuclear envelope, their extremely high ratio of phospholipid to cholesterol, the biophysics of nuclear lipid membrane remodeling and lipid raft formation may predispose the neuronal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.sigmaaldrich.com/technical-documents/protocols/biology/ lipopoly-saccharides.html (last accessed November 5, 2019)



**FIGURE 2** | Increased affinity of LPS for neuronal nuclei in the presence of  $A\beta42$  peptide. Panels (**A**–**L**) show LPS-neuronal interactions in the presence or absence of  $A\beta42$  peptide; (**A**–**F**) in the absence of  $A\beta42$  peptide and (**G**–**L**) in the presence of  $A\beta42$  peptide. LPS preferentially associates with human neuronal nuclei both in Alzheimer's disease (AD) and in LPS-addition experiments (Zhao et al., 2017a,b,c; Zhao and Lukiw, 2018a,b). Panels (**A**,**D**) show LPS (red) affinity for a polar region of a single DAPI-stained neuronal nucleus (blue). Panels (**B**,**E**) show single neuronal nucleus stained with neuron-specific  $\beta$ -tubulin III (green). Panels (**C**,**F**) show merged stain indicating LPS affinity for the polar region involving a single DAPI-stained neuronal nucleus. Panels (**G**,**J**) show the presence of  $A\beta42$  significantly increases the affinity of LPS for single DAPI-stained neuronal nucleus. Panels (**H**,**K**) show single neuronal nuclei. The results suggest that LPS is stimulated to associate with DAPI-stained neuronal nuclei in the presence of the hydrophobic  $A\beta42$  peptide; neither  $A\beta40$  peptide or  $\beta$ -actin showed comparable "association" effects (Zhao et al., 2017a,b,c; Lukiw et al., 2018); yellow scale bar (lower right) = 50 µm.

nuclear envelope to the potential interaction between amyloid peptides and LPS, and with NPC nucleoporin proteins.

# Other Interactions Between LPS and Aβ42 Peptides

Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is a type of prokaryotic glycoconjugate-glycolipid comprised of three major domains: (i) an "O" antigen consisting of an "O polysaccharide"; (ii) a "core" polysaccharide domain (the innermost hydrophilic domain of the three regions of LPS); and (iii) a hydrophobic "lipid A" domain. The "core" polysaccharide domain contains an oligosaccharide covalently attached directly to the "lipid A" moiety and commonly contains sugars such as heptose, 3-deoxy-D-mannooctulosonic acid as well as non-carbohydrate components that include phosphate, amino acids linkages and ethanolamine components characteristic of each Gram-negative bacterial genus and species (Whitfield and Trent, 2014; Tulkens et al., 2018). Both the 50–100 kDa LPS monomer (especially the "lipid A" domain responsible for much of the toxicity of Gram-negative bacteria) and the 4.5 kDa A $\beta$ 42 peptide monomer are highly hydrophobic and this alone may favor their mutual interaction with the lipid bilayer of neuronal membranes (National Institutes of Health, PubChem, 2019). As mentioned earlier, A $\beta$ 42-based oligomers are highly disruptive toward lipid bilayer membranes, but whether the chaotropic actions of LPS and A $\beta$ 42 peptide are additive or synergistic is unknown as their specific interactions are currently not well understood.

# **UNANSWERED QUESTIONS**

While Aβ42 peptides clearly support LPS entry into neurons it is not clear why neuronal membranes are specifically targeted for these actions and/or why other cellular plasma membranes (lipid bilayers) are not preferred or involved to a lesser extent; perhaps this has something to do with the unique neuronal membrane proteolipid composition and/or the electrical activity of these cell types or other unique neuronal features including AB42 peptide-mediated pore formation (see above; Nguyen et al., 2019; Österlund et al., 2019). While LPS has been shown to completely envelope neuronal nuclei in the superior temporal lobe neocortex (Brodmann area A22) in both aging, and especially in AD brain, there is emerging evidence that the end result of this biophysical occlusion of nuclear pores is the restriction of outflow of genetic information, i.e., messenger RNA (mRNA) through these nuclear pores, however some other pathogenic mechanism may be involved (Clement et al., 2016; Lukiw et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2019; Cornelison et al., 2019). Very recently it has been demonstrated that there is an LPS-induced translocation of cytosolic NF-KB into the cell nucleus (Bagaev et al., 2019) and LPS-induced neuronal hypertrophy (Tellez-Merlo et al., 2019) but these potentially pathogenic and neuroinflammatory outcomes require further investigation. It would be very useful to know at what point an induced disruption along the gut-brain axis and LPS-signaling pathways might be beneficial in the clinical management of AD.

### A HUMAN BRAIN MICROBIOME?

There exists the intriguing and enigmatic possibility, as has been suggested for other major organ groups, that the human brain and/or CNS might have its own, as yet poorly characterized microbiome (Bhattacharjee and Lukiw, 2013; Hill et al., 2014a,b; Köhler et al., 2016; Emery et al., 2017; Zhao et al., 2017b,c; Roberts et al., 2018; Zhao and Lukiw, 2018a,b; Zhou and Bian, 2018; Javan et al., 2019; Mazmanian, 2019). Currently, it is understood that microbes can enter the brain and CNS through the BBB which becomes leaky via physical damage, disease and/or aging, and/or via nerves that innervate both the brain and the gut (Roberts et al., 2018; Javan et al., 2019). Very recent studies indicate the presence of bacteria in the human and mouse brain at the BBB under noninfectious or non-traumatic conditions. Microbes have been identified via morphological criteria and ultrastructural imaging analysis with high bacterial counts found in the human hippocampus and prefrontal cortex, but low bacterial counts in other brain anatomical regions such as the striatum (Roberts et al., 2018; Javan et al., 2019). Significantly increased bacterial populations have been observed in association with neurological deterioration in AD brain tissues compared with controls (Emery et al., 2017). Other supportive studies come from investigations involving the human thanatomicrobiome-the microbiome of death-that reflects the post-mortem microbial changes which vary by organ and as a function of time and temperature (Zhao et al., 2017a,b,c; Zhou and Bian, 2018; Javan et al., 2019). Further support for the idea that a microbiome may already be present in the brain arises when considering that microbes (or microbial-derived neurotoxins) in the GI tract would need to travel a significant distance to reach the brain compartments post-mortem vs. the extremely rapid proliferation of bacteria in the brain shortly after death. This might contribute locally to the presence of bacterial-derived neurotoxins such as LPS and other microbial-derived molecules in brain tissues (Hill et al., 2014a,b; Lukiw, 2016a,b; Zhan et al., 2016; Emery et al., 2017). Put another way, post-mortem microscopic examination of the post-mortem brain routinely detects bacteria far more rapidly than the bio-physiological capability of microbes to transit from the GI-tract across the systemic circulation into the brain or other CNS compartments (Roberts et al., 2018; Javan et al., 2019).

## **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

The remarkable affinity of the glycoconjugate LPS, the major component of the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria such as B. fragilis and E. coli, for the neuronal nuclear envelope in human brain cells and tissues was first described just  $\sim$ 2 years ago (Zhao et al., 2017a,b,c; Zhan et al., 2018). The mean abundance of GI-tract-sourced LPS can be increased by either an up-regulation in the biosynthesis of LPS itself or via an increase in the number of Gram-negative bacteria capable of generating and releasing LPS in part through the process of dysbiosis. Because both the *de novo* induction of LPS and bacterial division times of  $\sim$ 15-20 min are relatively rapid microbiologicalpathological events, it seems also that the production of LPS can be a rapidly undertaken and perhaps even exponential biological event (Raetz and Whitfield, 2002; Whitfield and Trent, 2014; Sweeney and Lowary, 2019). Interestingly, growth rates in the GI-tract microbiome for Gram-negative bacteria have been shown to be dependent on ingested dietary fiber, and the relative proportion of B. fragilis in the GI tract can for example decrease 2-3-fold after a fiber-laden meal while a highfat-cholesterol (HFC) meal has the opposite effect (Heinritz et al., 2016; Huang and Liu, 2019). Indeed, dietary modification by increasing both soluble and/or insoluble fiber intake has been shown to decrease the abundance of B. fragilis in the GI-tract microbiome on a time-scale of hours-to-days after the ingestion of the fiber-enriched meal itself (Simpson and Campbell, 2015; Chen et al., 2017; Dhillon et al., 2019; Huang and Liu, 2019; Parada Venegas et al., 2019). Dietary manipulation, probiotics and prebiotic supplementation and increased ingestion of fiber is one research area urgently requiring more study, because the management of diet could yield real and more effective therapies for both the treatment of neurodegeneration and malignancy (Rios-Covian et al., 2017; Poeker et al., 2018; Dhillon et al., 2019; Huang and Liu, 2019). It should be mentioned that under realistic physiological conditions the  $\sim$ 1,800 phyla of bacteria of the GI-tract microbiome are together most likely capable of generating an extremely complex neurotoxic cocktail of exudates, and at this point in time we

are analyzing just a very small number of GI-tract derived neurotoxins from a vast neurotoxic pool of huge abundance and bewildering biological complexity (Hicks et al., 2019; Tierney et al., 2019).

## SUMMARY

Over the last few years, the GI-tract microbiome-brain axis has emerged as a focus of increasing interest in the establishment of a neurophysiological and neurobiological basis for agerelated, developmental, neurodegenerative, neuroinflammatory and psychiatric disease. The microorganisms which constitute the human GI-tract microbiome have potential to secrete some of the most neurotoxic and inflammation-inducing substances known, including bacterial glycolipid lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from abundant, anaerobic, GI-tract resident Gram-negative bacteria (Whitfield and Trent, 2014; Batista et al., 2019; Patrick et al., 2019; Ticinesi et al., 2019). As a particularly abundant commensal, non-motile, non-spore forming obligatory anaerobic, Gram-negative bacillus of the human GI-tract microbiome, Bacteroides fragilis (B. fragilis), releases an intensely pro-inflammatory species of LPS (BF-LPS), amongst the most pro-inflammatory substances known, that in HNG cells in primary culture induces the pro-inflammatory transcription factor NF-kB (p50/p65) complex (Lukiw, 2016a,b; Zhao and Lukiw, 2018a,b; Batista et al., 2019; Sweeney and Lowary, 2019). LPS translocation into the nucleoplasm and access to neuronal nuclei are greatly facilitated in the presence of AB42 peptides (Figures 1, 2). LPS-triggered NF-kB (p50/p65) up-regulation is associated with: (i) the induction of pro-inflammatory, pathogenic microRNA-regulated gene expression programs in the AD brain; these microRNAs have multiple NF-kB (p50/p65) recognition features in their immediate promoters (Pogue and Lukiw, 2018); and (ii) multiple independent laboratories have provided evidence that GI-tract derived glycolipids such as LPS associated with the pro-inflammatory, cytoarchitectural and/or synaptic neuropathology of AD brain and transgenic murine models of AD (Bhattacharjee and Lukiw, 2013; Hill and Lukiw, 2015; Zhan et al., 2016, 2018; Lukiw et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2019). Many of these noxious biopolymers are potent enterotoxins which can neutralize cadherins and other cell-cell adhesion molecules, inducing leakage through the GI-tract epithelial barrier, which normally is largely impermeable, allowing neurotoxin access to the systemic circulation and subsequent translocation across the BBB (Leshchyns'ka and Sytnyk, 2016; Sweeney et al., 2018; Jeon et al., 2019; Sweeney and Lowary, 2019). Clinically, the detection of these GI-tract microbiome-derived neurotoxins in blood serum may be of prodromal, prognostic and/or diagnostic value as biomarkers for the onset and/or propagation of neurological disease or malignancy; or of forensic value in the determination of temporal aspects of the post-mortem interval (Li and Yu, 2017; Zhou and Bian, 2018).

Lastly, obligate anaerobic bacteria such as *Bacteroides fragilis* make up the largest proportion of Gram-negative microbes in the human GI-tract microbiome. In a recent study of 2,100 human donors, the most recent estimate is that all

together microbial constituents of this microbiome harbor at least 22.3 million non-redundant prokaryotic genes in contrast to the 26.6 thousand protein-encoding transcripts of the human genome (Venter et al., 2001; Tierney et al., 2019). Hence, GI-tract microbial genes outnumber host genes by about 840-to-1, which represents staggering genetic complexity (Fields et al., 1994; Venter et al., 2001; Tierney et al., 2019). With this comes a GI-tract microbial proteome of remarkable proportion and speciation that includes highly neurotoxic and pro-inflammatory exudates such as LPS (Hicks et al., 2019; Roy Sarkar and Banerjee, 2019). It is tempting to speculate that we are just scratching the surface of our understanding of the potential impact of these prokaryotic GI-tract microbiome-derived genes and their extruded neurotoxic molecules on our own host gene signaling and expression systems which are likely to have a tremendous impact and relevance to both human health and disease.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Louisiana State University (LSU) Ethics Committee, Louisiana State University, New Orleans, LA, USA.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

WLi, WLu, TB and YZ performed and analyzed all experiments. WLu wrote the article.

# FUNDING

The research on microRNAs, ethnobiology, botanical neurotoxins, pro-inflammatory and pathogenic signaling in the Lukiw laboratory involving the microbiome, the innateimmune response, amyloidogenesis, synaptogenesis, and neuroinflammation in AD, prion and in other human neurologicaland plant-viroid-based diseases was supported through an unrestricted grant to the LSU Eye Center from Research to Prevent Blindness (RPB); the Louisiana Biotechnology Research Network (LBRN) and National Institutes of Health (NIH) grants NEI EY006311, NIA AG18031, and NIA AG038834 (WLu). The content of this manuscript is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institute on Aging, the National Center for Research Resources, or the National Institutes of Health.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research review presented as a *"Frontiers Perspectives"* article was presented in part at the Vavilov Institute of General Genetics Autumn 2018 Seminar Series (Институт общей генетики имени Вавилова Осень 2018 Семинар серии) in Moscow, Russia, October 2018, at the Society for Neuroscience

(SFN) Annual Meeting, Chicago, IL, USA, November 2019. Sincere thanks are extended to Drs. L. Cong, F. Culicchia, C. Eicken, K. Navel, A.I. Pogue, W. Poon, E. Head, and the late Drs. J.M. Hill and P.N. Alexandrov for helpful discussions in this research area, for short postmortem interval (PMI) human brain and retinal tissues or extracts, for initial bioinformatics and data interpretation, and to A.I. Pogue and D. Guillot for expert technical assistance and medical artwork. We would like to further thank the following brain and tissue banks for access to

### REFERENCES

- Allen, J., Hao, S., Sears, C. L., and Timp, W. (2019). Epigenetic changes induced by *Bacteroides fragilis* toxin. *Infect Immun.* 6:e00447-18. doi: 10.1128/IAI. 00447-18
- Andrew, R. J., Fisher, K., Heesom, K. J., Kellett, K. A. B., and Hooper, N. M. (2019). Quantitative interaction proteomics reveals differences in the interactomes of amyloid precursor protein isoforms. *J. Neurochem.* 149, 399–412. doi: 10.1111/jnc.14666
- Angelucci, F., Cechova, K., Amlerova, J., and Hort, J. (2019). Antibiotics, gut microbiota, and Alzheimer's disease. J. Neuroinflammation 16:108. doi: 10.1186/s12974-019-1494-4
- Bagaev, A. V., Garaeva, A. Y., Lebedeva, E. S., Pichugin, A. V., Ataullakhanov, R. I., and Ataullakhanov, F. I. (2019). Elevated pre-activation basal level of nuclear NF-κB in native macrophages accelerates LPS-induced translocation of cytosolic NF-κB into the cell nucleus. *Sci. Rep.* 9:4563. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-36052-5
- Barton, S. M., Janve, V. A., McClure, R., Anderson, A., Matsubara, J. A., Gore, J. C., et al. (2019). Lipopolysaccharide induced opening of the blood brain barrier on aging 5XFAD mouse model. *J. Alzheimers Dis.* 67, 503–513. doi: 10.3233/jad-180755
- Batista, C. R. A., Gomes, G. F., Candelario-Jalil, E., Fiebich, B. L., and de Oliveira, A. C. P. (2019). Lipopolysaccharide-induced neuroinflammation as a bridge to understand neurodegeneration. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 20:E2293. doi: 10.3390/ijms20092293
- Bhattacharjee, S., and Lukiw, W. J. (2013). Alzheimer's disease and the microbiome. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 7:153. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2013.00153
- Bode, D. C., Baker, M. D., and Viles, J. H. (2017). Ion channel formation by amyloid-β42 oligomers but not amyloid-β40 in cellular membranes. J. Biol. Chem. 292, 1404–1413. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.762526
- Bode, D. C., Freeley, M., Nield, J., Palma, M., and Viles, J. H. (2019). Amyloidβ oligomers have a profound detergent-like effect on lipid membrane bilayers, imaged by atomic force and electron microscopy. J. Biol. Chem. 294, 7566–7572. doi: 10.1074/jbc.AC118.007195
- Castillo-Álvarez, F., and Marzo-Sola, M. E. (2019). Role of the gut microbiota in the development of various neurological diseases. *Neurologia* doi: 10.1016/j.nrl. 2019.03.017 [Epub ahead of print].
- Chen, T., Long, W., Zhang, C., Liu, S., Zhao, L., and Hamaker, B. R. (2017). Fiber-utilizing capacity varies in Prevotella- versus *Bacteroides*-dominated gut microbiota. *Sci. Rep.* 7:2594. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-02995-4
- Clement, C., Hill, J. M., Dua, P., Culicchia, F., and Lukiw, W. J. (2016). Analysis of RNA from Alzheimer's disease post-mortem brain tissues. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 53, 1322–1328. doi: 10.1007/s12035-015-9105-6
- Colangelo, V., Schurr, J., Ball, M. J., Pelaez, R. P., Bazan, N. G., and Lukiw, W. J. (2002). Gene expression profiling of 12633 genes in Alzheimer hippocampal CA1: transcription and neurotrophic factor down-regulation and up-regulation of apoptotic and pro-inflammatory signaling. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 70, 462–473. doi: 10.1002/jnr.10351
- Connelly, L., Jang, H., Arce, F. T., Capone, R., Kotler, S. A., Ramachandran, S., et al. (2012). Atomic force microscopy and MD simulations reveal pore-like structures of all-D-enantiomer of Alzheimer's β-amyloid peptide: relevance to the ion channel mechanism of AD pathology. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 116, 1728–1735. doi: 10.1021/jp2108126
- Cooper, G. M. (2000). The Nuclear Envelope and Traffic Between the Nucleus and Cytoplasm; The Cell: A Molecular Approach. 2nd Edn. Sunderland, MA:

high-quality post-mortem tissues and valuable analytical advice: the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS), Bethesda, MD, USA; the Oregon Health Sciences University, Portland OR, USA; the Southern Eye Bank, Metairie LA, USA; the University of California (UCI) MIND Institute, Irvine, CA, USA; and the many neuropathologists, physicians, and researchers in the US and Canada who have provided high quality, short PMI human brain tissue fractions for scientific analysis.

Sinauer Associates. Available online at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK9927. Accessed November 5, 2019.

- Cornelison, G. L., Levy, S. A., Jenson, T., and Frost, B. (2019). Tau-induced nuclear envelope invagination causes a toxic accumulation of mRNA in Drosophila. *Aging Cell* 18:e12847. doi: 10.1111/acel.12847
- Counts, S. E., Alldred, M. J., Che, S., Ginsberg, S. D., and Mufson, E. J. (2014). Synaptic gene dysregulation within hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons in mild cognitive impairment. *Neuropharmacology* 79, 172–179. doi: 10.1016/j. neuropharm.2013.10.018
- Cui, J. G., Li, Y. Y., Zhao, Y., Bhattacharjee, S., and Lukiw, W. J. (2010). Differential regulation of interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase-1 (IRAK-1) and IRAK-2 by microRNA-146a and NF-κB in stressed human astroglial cells and in Alzheimer disease. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 38951–38960. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110. 178848
- Davidson, M. W., and Florida State University. (2019). Nuclear Pores. Available online at: https://micro.magnet.fsu.edu/cells/nucleus/nuclearpores. html. Accessed November 5, 2019.
- Dhillon, J., Li, Z., and Ortiz, R. M. (2019). Almond snacking for 8 wk increases αdiversity of the gastrointestinal microbiome and decreases *Bacteroides fragilis* abundance compared with an isocaloric snack in college freshmen. *Curr. Dev. Nutr.* 3:nzz079. doi: 10.1093/cdn/nzz079
- Di Lorenzo, F., De Castro, C., Silipo, A., and Molinaro, A. (2019). Lipopolysaccharide structures of Gram-negative populations in the gut microbiota and effects on host interactions. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 43, 257–272. doi: 10.1093/femsre/fuz002
- Di Scala, C., Yahi, N., Boutemeur, S., Flores, A., Rodriguez, L., Chahinian, H., et al. (2016). Common molecular mechanism of amyloid pore formation by Alzheimer's β-amyloid peptide and α-synuclein. *Sci. Rep.* 6:28781. doi: 10.1038/srep28781
- Emery, D. C., Shoemark, D. K., Batstone, T. E., Waterfall, C. M., Coghill, J. A., Cerajewska, T. L., et al. (2017). 16S rRNA next generation sequencing analysis shows bacteria in Alzheimer's post-mortem brain. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 9:195. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017.00195
- Erdö, F., and Krajcsi, P. (2019). Age-related functional and expressional changes in efflux pathways at the blood-brain barrier. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 11:196. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2019.00196
- Fathi, P., and Wu, S. (2016). Isolation, detection, and characterization of enterotoxigenic *Bacteroides fragils* in clinical samples. *Open Microbiol. J.* 10, 57–63. doi: 10.2174/1874285801610010057
- Fields, C., Adams, M. D., White, O., and Venter, J. C. (1994). How many genes in the human genome? *Nat. Genet.* 7, 345–346. doi: 10.1038/ng0794-345
- Fox, M., Knorr, D. A., and Haptonstall, K. M. (2019). Alzheimer's disease and symbiotic microbiota: an evolutionary medicine perspective. *Ann. N Y Acad. Sci.* 1449, 3–24. doi: 10.1111/nyas.14129
- Gu, S. M., Lee, H. P., Ham, Y. W., Son, D. J., Kim, H. Y., Oh, K. W., et al. (2018). Piperlongumine improves lipopolysaccharide-induced amyloidogenesis by suppressing NF-kB pathway. *Neuromolecular Med.* 20, 312–327. doi: 10.1007/s12017-018-8495-9
- Heinritz, S. N., Weiss, E., Eklund, M., Aumiller, T., Heyer, C. M., Messner, S., et al. (2016). Impact of a high-fat or high-fiber diet on intestinal microbiota and metabolic markers in a pig model. *Nutrients* 8:E317. doi: 10.3390/nu8050317
- Hicks, M., Bartha, I., di Iulio, J., Venter, J. C., and Telenti, A. (2019). Functional characterization of 3D protein structures informed by human genetic diversity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 116, 8960–8965. doi: 10.1073/pnas.18208 13116

- Hill, J. M., Bhattacharjee, S., Pogue, A. I., and Lukiw, W. J. (2014a). The gastrointestinal tract microbiome and potential link to Alzheimer's disease. *Front. Neurol.* 5:43. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2014.00043
- Hill, J. M., Clement, C., Pogue, A. I., Bhattacharjee, S., Zhao, Y., and Lukiw, W. J. (2014b). Pathogenic microbes, the microbiome, and Alzheimer's disease (AD). *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 6:127. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014. 00127
- Hill, J. M., and Lukiw, W. J. (2015). Microbial-generated amyloids and Alzheimer's disease (AD). Front. Aging Neurosci. 7:9. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00009
- Holton, J. (2008). Enterotoxigenic Bacteroides fragilis. Curr. Infect. Dis. Rep. 10, 99–104. doi: 10.1007/s11908-008-0018-7
- Huang, P., and Liu, Y. (2019). A reasonable diet promotes balance of intestinal microbiota: prevention of precolorectal cancer. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2019;3405278. doi: 10.1155/2019/3405278
- Jaber, V. R., Zhao, Y., Sharfman, N. M., Li, W., and Lukiw, W. J. (2019). Addressing Alzheimer's disease (AD) neuropathology using anti-microRNA (AM) strategies. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 56, 8101–8108. doi: 10.1007/s12035-019-1632-0
- Jang, H., Arce, F. T., Lee, J., Gillman, A. L., Ramachandran, S., Kagan, B. L., et al. (2016). Computational methods for structural and functional studies of Alzheimer's amyloid ion channels. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1345, 251–268. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-2978-8\_16
- Javan, G. T., Finley, S. J., Tuomisto, S., Hal, L. A., Benbow, M. E., and Mills, D. (2019). An interdisciplinary review of the thanatomicrobiome in human decomposition. *Forensic Sci. Med. Pathol.* 15, 75–83. doi: 10.1007/s12024-018-0061-0
- Jeon, J. I., Ko, S. H., and Kim, J. M. (2019). Intestinal epithelial cells exposed to *Bacteroides fragilis* enterotoxin regulates NF-κB activation and inflammatory responses through β-catenin expression. *Infect. Immun.* 87:e00312-19. doi: 10.1128/iai.00312-19
- Kabachinski, G., and Schwartz, T. U. (2015). The nuclear pore complexstructure and function at a glance. J. Cell Sci. 128, 423–429. doi: 10.1242/jcs. 083246
- Köhler, C. A., Maes, M., Slyepchenko, A., Berk, M., Solmi, M., Lanctôt, K. L., et al. (2016). The gut-brain axis, including the microbiome, leaky gut and bacterial translocation: mechanisms and pathophysiological role in Alzheimer's disease. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 22, 6152–6166. doi: 10.2174/13816128226661609070 93807
- Lashuel, H. A., Hartley, D., Petre, B. M., Walz, T., and Lansbury, P. T. Jr. (2002). Neurodegenerative disease: amyloid pores from pathogenic mutations. *Nature* 418:291. doi: 10.1038/418291a
- Leshchyns'ka, I., and Sytnyk, V. (2016). Synaptic cell adhesion molecules in Alzheimer's disease. *Neural Plast.* 2016:6427537. doi: 10.1155/2016/64 27537
- Lin, D. H., and Hoelz, A. (2019). The structure of the nuclear pore complex (an update). Annu. Rev. Biochem. 88, 725–783. doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-062917-011901
- Li, D., and Yu, F. (2017). Peripheral inflammatory biomarkers and cognitive decline in older adults with and without Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review. J. Gerontol. Nurs. 43, 53–60. doi: 10.3928/00989134-20170519-01
- Lukiw, W. J. (2016a). Bacteroides fragilis lipopolysaccharide and inflammatory signaling in Alzheimer's disease. Front. Microbiol. 7:1544. doi: 10.3389/fmicb. 2016.01544
- Lukiw, W. J. (2016b). The microbiome, microbial-generated pro-inflammatory neurotoxins, and Alzheimer's disease. J. Sport Health Sci. 5, 393–396. doi: 10.1016/j.jshs.2016.08.008
- Lukiw, W. J., Cong, L., Jaber, V., and Zhao, Y. (2018). Microbiome-derived lipopolysaccharide (LPS) selectively inhibits neurofilament light chain (NF-L) Gene expression in human neuronal-glial (HNG) cells in primary culture. *Front. Neurosci.* 12:896. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00896
- Mazmanian, S. (2019). Bacteria and Brains. Available online at: https:// www.genengnews.com/insights/bacteria-and-brains-an-interview-withmicrobiome-expert-sarkis-mazmanian/. Accessed November 5 2019.
- Montagne, A., Zhao, Z., and Zlokovic, B. V. (2017). Alzheimer's disease: a matter of blood-brain barrier dysfunction? J. Exp. Med. 214, 3151–3169. doi: 10.1084/jem.20171406
- National Institutes of Health, US National Library of Medicine; National Center for Biotechnology Information; PubChem. (2019). Available online at:

https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/Human-beta-amyloid-peptide 1–42. Accessed November 5, 2019.

- Nguyen, P. H., Campanera, J. M., Ngo, S. T., Loquet, A., and Derreumaux, P. (2019). Tetrameric Aβ40 and Aβ42 β-barrel structures by extensive atomistic simulations. i. in a bilayer mimicking a neuronal membrane. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 123, 3643–3648. doi: 10.1021/acs.jpcb.9b01206
- Österlund, N., Moons, R., Ilag, L. L., Sobott, F., and Gräslund, A. (2019). Native ion mobility-mass spectrometry reveals the formation of β-barrel shaped amyloidβ hexamers in a membrane-mimicking environment. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 141, 10440–10450. doi: 10.1021/jacs.9b04596
- Panza, F., Lozupone, M., Solfrizzi, V., Watling, M., and Imbimbo, B. P. (2019). Time to test antibacterial therapy in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 142, 2905–2929. doi: 10.1093/brain/awz244
- Parada Venegas, D., De la Fuente, M. K., Landskron, G., González, M. J., Quera, R., Dijkstra, G., et al. (2019). Short chain fatty acids (SCFAs)-mediated gut epithelial and immune regulation and its relevance for inflammatory bowel diseases. *Front. Immunol.* 10:277. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019. 00277
- Parra-Damas, A., and Saura, C. A. (2019). Synapse-to-nucleus signaling in neurodegenerative and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Biol. Psychiatry* 86, 87–96. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2019.01.006
- Patrick, K. L., Bell, S. L., Weindel, C. G., and Watson, R. O. (2019). Exploring the "Multiple-hit Hypothesis" of neurodegenerative disease: bacterial infection comes up to bat. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 9:138. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019. 00138
- Poeker, S. A., Geirnaert, A., Berchtold, L., Greppi, A., Krych, L., Steinert, R. E., et al. (2018). Understanding the prebiotic potential of different dietary fibers using an *in vitro* continuous adult fermentation model. *Sci. Rep.* 8:4318. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-22438-y
- Pogue, A. I., and Lukiw, W. J. (2018). Up-regulated pro-inflammatory microRNAs (miRNAs) in Alzheimer's disease (AD) and age-related macular degeneration (AMD). *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 38, 1021–1031. doi: 10.1007/s10571-017-0572-3
- Pretorius, E., Page, M. J., Mbotwe, S., and Kell, D. B. (2018). Lipopolysaccharidebinding protein (LBP) can reverse the amyloid state of fibrin seen or induced in Parkinson's disease. *PLoS One* 13:e0192121. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0192121
- Raetz, C. R., and Whitfield, C. (2002). Lipopolysaccharide endotoxins. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 71, 635–700. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.71.110601. 135414
- Rios-Covian, D., Salazar, N., Gueimonde, M., and de Los Reyes-Gavilan, C. G. (2017). Shaping the metabolism of intestinal *Bacteroides* population through diet to improve human health. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:376. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017. 00376
- Roberts, R. C., Farmer, C. B., and Walker, C. K. (2018). "The human brain microbiome; there are bacteria in our brains! Session 594-Neuroimmunology: Regulating Systems," in *Poster at the 594.08/YY23 Neuroscience Meeting Planner*, San Diego, CA: Society for Neuroscience. Available online at: https://www.abstractsonline.com/pp8//4649/presentation/32057.
- Roy Sarkar, S., and Banerjee, S. (2019). Gut microbiota in neurodegenerative disorders. J. Neuroimmunol. 328, 98–104. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2019.01.004
- Sciacca, M. F., Kotler, S. A., Brender, J. R., Chen, J., Lee, D. K., and Ramamoorthy, A. (2012). Two-step mechanism of membrane disruption by Aβ through membrane fragmentation and pore formation. *Biophys. J.* 103, 702–710. doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2012.06.045
- Sears, C. L. (2009). Enterotoxigenic Bacteroides fragilis: a rogue among symbiotes. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 22, 349–369. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00053-08
- Sheppard, O., Coleman, M. P., and Durrant, C. S. (2019). Lipopolysaccharideinduced neuroinflammation induces presynaptic disruption through a direct action on brain tissue involving microglia-derived interleukin 1β. J. Neuroinflammation 16:106. doi: 10.1186/s12974-019-1490-8
- Simpson, H. L., and Campbell, B. J. (2015). Review article: dietary fibre-microbiota interactions. Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther. 42, 158–179. doi: 10.1111/apt.13248
- Sun, J., Shi, Y., and Yildirim, E. (2019). The nuclear pore complex in cell type-specific chromatin structure and gene regulation. *Trends Genet.* 35, 579–588. doi: 10.1016/j.tig.2019.05.006
- Sweeney, R. P., and Lowary, T. L. (2019). New insights into lipopolysaccharide assembly and export. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* 53, 37–43. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa. 2019.07.004

- Sweeney, M. D., Sagare, A. P., and Zlokovic, B. V. (2018). Blood-brain barrier breakdown in Alzheimer disease and other neurodegenerative disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 14, 133–150. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2017.188
- Tellez-Merlo, G., Morales-Medina, J. C., Camacho-Ábrego, I., Juárez-Díaz, I., Aguilar-Alonso, P., de la Cruz, F., et al. (2019). Prenatal immune challenge induces behavioral deficits, neuronal remodeling and increases brain nitric oxide and zinc levels in the male rat offspring. *Neuroscience* 406, 594–605. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2019.02.018
- Ticinesi, A., Tana, C., and Nouvenne, A. (2019). The intestinal microbiome and its relevance for functionality in older persons. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* 22, 4–12. doi: 10.1097/MCO.00000000000521
- Tierney, B. T., Yang, Z., Luber, J. M., Beaudin, M., Wibowo, M. C., Baek, C., et al. (2019). The landscape of genetic content in the gut and oral human microbiome. *Cell Host Microbe* 26, 283.e8–295.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2019. 07.008
- Tsukamoto, H., Takeuchi, S., Kubota, K., Kobayashi, Y., Kozakai, S., Ukai, I., et al. (2018). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-binding protein stimulates CD14-dependent Toll-like receptor 4 internalization and LPS-induced TBK1-IKK€-IRF3 axis activation. J. Biol. Chem. 293, 10186–10201. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M117. 796631
- Tulkens, J., Vergauwen, G., Van Deun, J., Geeurickx, E., Dhondt, B., Lippens, L., et al. (2018). Increased levels of systemic LPS-positive bacterial extracellular vesicles in patients with intestinal barrier dysfunction. *Gut* doi: 10.1158/1538-7445.sabcs18-1489 [Epub ahead of print].
- Ullah, G., Demuro, A., Parker, I., and Pearson, J. E. (2015). Analyzing and modeling the kinetics of amyloid β pores associated with Alzheimer's disease pathology. *PLoS One* 9:e0137357. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0137357
- Vander Zanden, C. M., Wampler, L., Bowers, I., Watkins, E. B., Majewski, J., and Chi, E. Y. (2019). Fibrillar and nonfibrillar amyloid β structures drive two modes of membrane-mediated toxicity. *Langmuir* doi: 10.1021/acs.langmuir. 9b02484 [Epub ahead of print].
- Varatharaj, A., and Galea, I. (2017). The blood-brain barrier in systemic inflammation. Brain Behav. Immun. 60, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2016.03.010
- Venter, J. C., Adams, M. D., Myers, E. W., Li, P. W., Mural, R. J., Sutton, G. G., et al. (2001). The sequence of the human genome. *Science* 291, 1304–1351. doi: 10.1126/science.1058040
- Wexler, A. G., and Goodman, A. L. (2017). An insider's perspective: Bacteroides as a window into the microbiome. Nat. Microbiol. 2:17026. doi: 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2017.26
- Whitfield, C., and Trent, M. S. (2014). Biosynthesis and export of bacterial lipopolysaccharides. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 83, 99–128. doi: 10.1146/annurevbiochem-060713-035600
- Wu, S., Lim, K. C., Huang, J., Saidi, R. F., and Sears, C. L. (1998). Bacteroides fragilis enterotoxin cleaves the zonula adherens protein, E-cadherin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 95, 14979–14984. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.25.14979
- Yang, N. J., and Chiu, I. M. (2017). Bacterial signaling to the nervous system through toxins and metabolites. J. Mol. Biol. 429, 587–605. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb. 2016.12.023
- Zhan, X., Stamova, B., Jin, L. W., DeCarli, C., Phinney, B., and Sharp, F. R. (2016). Gram-negative bacterial molecules associate with Alzheimer disease

pathology. *Neurology* 87, 2324–2332. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0000000000 03391

- Zhan, X., Stamova, B., and Sharp, F. R. (2018). Lipopolysaccharide associates with amyloid plaques, neurons and oligodendrocytes in Alzheimer's disease brain: a review. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 10:42. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2018.00042
- Zhao, Y., Cong, L., Jaber, V., and Lukiw, W. J. (2017a). Microbiome-derived lipopolysaccharide enriched in the perinuclear region of Alzheimer's disease brain. *Front. Immunol.* 8:1064. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01064
- Zhao, Y., Cong, L., and Lukiw, W. J. (2017b). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) accumulates in neocortical neurons of Alzheimer's disease (AD) brain and impairs transcription in human neuronal-glial primary co-cultures. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 9:407. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017.00407
- Zhao, Y., Jaber, V., and Lukiw, W. J. (2017c). Secretory products of the human GI tract microbiome and their potential impact on Alzheimer's disease (AD): detection of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in AD hippocampus. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 7:318. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00318
- Zhao, Y., Dua, P., and Lukiw, W. J. (2015). Microbial sources of amyloid and relevance to amyloidogenesis and Alzheimer's disease (AD). *J. Alzheimers Dis. Parkinsonism* 5:177. doi: 10.4172/2161-0460.1000177
- Zhao, Y., and Lukiw, W. J. (2015). Microbiome-generated amyloid and potential impact on amyloidogenesis in Alzheimer's disease (AD). J. Nat. Sci. 7:e138.
- Zhao, Y., and Lukiw, W. J. (2018a). Bacteroidetes neurotoxins and inflammatory neurodegeneration. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 55, 9100–9107. doi: 10.1007/s12035-018-1015-y
- Zhao, Y., and Lukiw, W. J. (2018b). Microbiome-mediated upregulation of microRNA-146a in sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *Front. Neurol.* 9:145. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00145
- Zhao, Y., Sharfman, N. M., Jaber, V. R., and Lukiw, W. J. (2019). Downregulation of essential synaptic components by GI-tract microbiome-derived lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in LPS-treated human neuronal-glial (HNG) cells in primary culture: relevance to Alzheimer's disease (AD). *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 13:314. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00314
- Zhou, W., and Bian, Y. (2018). Thanatomicrobiome composition profiling as a tool for forensic investigation. *Forensic Sci. Res.* 3, 105–110. doi: 10.1080/20961790. 2018.1466430
- Zimmer, F. J., Dreyer, C., and Hausen, P. (1988). The function of the nuclear envelope in nuclear protein accumulation. J. Cell Biol. 106, 1435–1444. doi: 10. 1083/jcb.106.5.1435

**Conflict of Interest**: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Lukiw, Li, Bond and Zhao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Antidepressive Mechanisms of Probiotics and Their Therapeutic Potential

Shin Jie Yong, Tommy Tong, Jactty Chew and Wei Ling Lim\*

Department of Biological Sciences, School of Science and Technology, Sunway University, Bandar Sunway, Malaysia

The accumulating knowledge of the host-microbiota interplay gives rise to the microbiota-gut-brain (MGB) axis. The MGB axis depicts the interkingdom communication between the gut microbiota and the brain. This communication process involves the endocrine, immune and neurotransmitters systems. Dysfunction of these systems, along with the presence of gut dysbiosis, have been detected among clinically depressed patients. This implicates the involvement of a maladaptive MGB axis in the pathophysiology of depression. Depression refers to symptoms that characterize major depressive disorder (MDD), a mood disorder with a disease burden that rivals that of heart diseases. The use of probiotics to treat depression has gained attention in recent years, as evidenced by increasing numbers of animal and human studies that have supported the antidepressive efficacy of probiotics. Physiological changes observed in these studies allow for the elucidation of probiotics antidepressive mechanisms, which ultimately aim to restore proper functioning of the MGB axis. However, the understanding of mechanisms does not yet complete the endeavor in applying probiotics to treat MDD. Other challenges remain which include the heterogeneous nature of both the gut microbiota composition and depressive symptoms in the clinical setting. Nevertheless, probiotics offer some advantages over standard pharmaceutical antidepressants, in terms of residual symptoms, side effects and stigma involved. This review outlines antidepressive mechanisms of probiotics based on the currently available literature and discusses therapeutic potentials of probiotics for depression.

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Elisa L. Hill-Yardin, RMIT University, Australia

#### Reviewed by:

Ben Nephew, Worcester Polytechnic Institute, United States Jolanta B. Zawilska, Medical University of Lodz, Poland

> \*Correspondence: Wei Ling Lim weilingl@sunway.edu.my

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuroendocrine Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 28 April 2019 Accepted: 02 December 2019 Published: 14 January 2020

#### Citation:

Yong SJ, Tong T, Chew J and Lim WL (2020) Antidepressive Mechanisms of Probiotics and Their Therapeutic Potential. Front. Neurosci. 13:1361. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2019.01361 Keywords: microbiota-gut-brain axis, gut microbiota, major depressive disorder, probiotics, inflammation

**Abbreviations:** 5-HIAA, 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid; 5-HT, 5-hydroxytryptamine (serotonin); 5-HTP, 5hydroxytryptamine; BBB, blood-brain barrier; BDNF, brain-derived neurotropic factor; CgA, salivary chromogranin A; CORT, corticosterone; CREB, cAMP response element binding protein; CRP, C-reactive protein; CUMS, chronic unpredictable mild stress; DA, dopamine; DC, dihydroxyphenylacetic acid; EIF2, eukaryotic initiation factor 2; GABA, gamma-aminobutyric acid; GLP-1, glucagon-like peptide-1; GPx, glutathione peroxidase; GR, glucocorticoid; H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, hydrogen peroxide; HPC, hippocampus; HVA, homovanillic acid; IBS, irritable bowel syndrome; IDO, indolamine 2,3dioxyhydrogenase; IFN, interferon; IgA, immunoglobin A; IL, interleukin; KA, kynurenic acid; KYN, kynurenine; LPS, lipopolysaccharides; MAOA, monoamine oxygenase A; MCP-1, monocyte chemotactic protein-1; MDD, major depressive disorder; MR, mineralocorticoid; MS, maternal separation model; NE, norepinephrine; PFC, prefrontal cortex; PGE2, prostaglandin E2; REM, rapid eye movement; SCFA, short-chain fatty acids; SNRI, serotonin-noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor; SOD, superoxide dismutase; SSRI, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; TLR, toll-like receptor; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor-α; Tph1, tryptophan hydroxylase 1; TRANCE, TNF-related activation-induced cytokine; TRP, tryptophan.

60

# INTRODUCTION

Approximately 10<sup>14</sup> microbes, also known as gut microbiota, reside in the human gastrointestinal tract. The majority of these microbes belong to the Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Actinobacteria and Proteobacteria phyla. The gut microbiota flourishes in a symbiotic alliance with the host and, as such, has eminent regulatory effects on the host physiology. The gut microbiota actively engages with the proper development and functioning of both the immune system and brain. This is mediated by the microbiota-gut-brain (MGB) axis that lays the foundation for the intricate communicative pathways between gut microbiota and the nervous, immune and endocrine systems. However, the diversity and richness of gut microbiota are susceptible to change based on the host's lifestyle. An adverse change induces a gut dysbiosis which disrupts the symbiosis maintained by the MGB axis. Indeed, a gut dysbiosis has been linked to various health conditions, such as obesity, IBS, schizophrenia, Parkinson's disease and MDD (Sherwin et al., 2016; Thursby and Juge, 2017; van de Guchte et al., 2018).

Major depressive disorder is currently the leading cause of disability worldwide and is expected to outrank heart diseases as the number one disease burden by 2030 (Reddy, 2010; Tucci and Moukaddam, 2017). According to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-5, MDD is diagnosed when a person experiences most of the following symptoms for at least 2 weeks: depressed mood, anhedonia, excessive guilt, suicidal ideation, changes in appetite and sleep, psychomotor retardation, poor concentration and fatigue. Among these criteria, either depressed mood or anhedonia (or both) must be present for a diagnosis of MDD (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). In this review, the term "depression" would be used to refer to symptoms that characterize MDD.

A causal relationship potentially exists between the gut microbiota and MDD. Germ-free (GF) rodents developed depressive-like behaviors following fecal microbiota transplantation from MDD patients, but not from healthy people (Kelly et al., 2016; Zheng et al., 2016). As compared to healthy individuals, MDD patients have a different gut microbiota profile. The decrease in Faecalibacterium, Bifidobacterium, Lactobacillus (Aizawa et al., 2016), and Dialister (Kelly et al., 2016), and increase in Clostridium, Streptococcus, Klebsiella, Oscillibacter, Allistipes (Naseribafrouei et al., 2014; Jiang et al., 2015; Lin et al., 2017; Rong et al., 2019), Eggerthella, Holdemania, Gelria, Turicibacter, Paraprevotella, and Anaerofilum (Kelly et al., 2016) genera have been found among MDD patients. This shift in the gut microbiota composition may contribute to a shift in the regulation of the host physiology (Luan et al., 2017). It is, thus, worthwhile to tackle MDD from the MGB axis standpoint, with an emphasis on the gut microbiota.

Probiotics are microbes (usually lactic acid bacteria such as Lactobacilli and Bifidobacteria) that benefit the host physiology upon ingestion. Probiotics are marketed in the form of capsules, powder or fermented products. The global market size of probiotics amount to billions and is increasing annually due to consumers' interest in optimizing their health with functional foods (Di Cerbo and Palmieri, 2015). Probiotics have been utilized to modulate the MGB axis in an attempt to treat diseases, including MDD. Meta-analyses and systematic reviews have already supported the efficacy of probiotics in reducing clinical depression and depressive-like symptoms in MDD patients and healthy individuals, respectively (Huang et al., 2016; Pirbaglou et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2016; McKean et al., 2017; Wallace and Miley, 2017).

To what extent are probiotics viable tools to treat MDD/depression? This review addresses this question by first outlining the workings of MGB axis and process by which this axis becomes maladaptive, leading to the development of depression. Antidepressive mechanisms of probiotics are further elucidated by drawing parallels between the physiological outcomes that accompanied the behavioral changes to the MGB axis from animal and human research. Lastly, in light of the heterogeneous nature of both the gut microbiota composition and depression subtypes in the clinical setting, challenges and potentials in translating probiotics for clinical use are discussed.

# THE MGB AXIS AND DEPRESSION

## Signaling Pathways of the MGB Axis: Neural and Humoral Routes

The first point of contact between the gut microbiota and host nervous system is likely via the enteric nervous system (ENS). The ENS has been described as "the second brain" due to its neuronal complexity on par with the brain and its ability to function as an independent, discrete unit to regulate gutrelated activities and the immune system (Furness, 2012; Breit et al., 2018). Without gut microbiota, the excitability of enteric neurons would likely be attenuated, based on data observed in GF mice (McVey Neufeld et al., 2013). Through the ENS, gut microbiota and the brain communicate bidirectionally through neural and humoral (systemic circulation) pathways (Luan et al., 2017). Parasympathetic vagus afferents carry neural information from internal organs, including the gut, to the brain (Breit et al., 2018). The vagus nerve also consists of motor neurons that innervate nearly all enteric neurons (Powley, 2000). This enables the brain to influence the activity of ENS to some extent, particularly the state of intestinal permeability and gut inflammation. Sympathetic spinal nerves also connect enteric neurons to the brain, albeit to a lesser extent than vagal nerves (Lomax et al., 2010; Breit et al., 2018). Additionally, the humoral route allows microbial metabolites to enter the systemic circulation and exert its effects elsewhere, including the brain. Likewise, the brain also sends chemical messengers, such as cytokines and glucocorticoids, via the humoral route to regulate the gut physiology (Luan et al., 2017).

## Signaling Mechanisms of the MGB Axis: Immune, Endocrine, and Neurotransmitter Systems

The gastrointestinal tract contains approximately 70% of the immune system (Vighi et al., 2008). Immune cells express TLRs

that respond to foreign antigens, such as LPS, as they penetrate the intestinal mucosal barrier. This promptly triggers production of inflammatory cytokines, mainly ILs, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  (Sherwin et al., 2016). These cytokines enter the brain through various pathways. The humoral pathway enables cytokines to enter circumventricular organs or permeable regions of the BBB or bind to carrier proteins that cross the BBB. The neural pathway allows gut cytokines to stimulate specific brain areas such as the brainstem, hypothalamus and limbic structures via vagus and spinal afferents. The cellular pathway allows cytokines to be transported into the brain by the action of monocytes or macrophages. These cytokines could also bind to receptors on astrocytes and microglia, and subsequently trigger cytokine production within the brain (Schiepers et al., 2005; Miller and Raison, 2016).

When proinflammatory signals reach the brain, the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, a sympatheticneuroendocrine system, is activated to restore homeostasis. In response to stress, the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus (PVN) synthesizes and releases corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) to stimulate the anterior pituitary gland to release adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) into the systemic circulation. ACTH stimulates the adrenal cortex to release glucocorticoids (cortisol in humans and corticosterone in rodents) which inhibit the release of CRF, establishing a negative feedback loop. Glucocorticoids are core effectors of the HPA axis that travel by the humoral route to exert its adaptive effects elsewhere; for instance, to reduce gut inflammation (Tsigos and Chrousos, 2002; Schiepers et al., 2005).

Furthermore, neurotransmitters in the brain serve indispensable roles in maintaining proper brain functions. Neurotransmitters such as GABA, glutamate (Glu), serotonin (5-HT), DA, NE, histamine and acetylcholine (ACh) are known to be synthesized by the gut microbiota (Oleskin et al., 2016). Notably, Lactobacillus, a prominent probiotic genus, produces multiple neurotransmitters in a species-dependent manner in vitro (Table 1). It should be noted that gut-derived neurotransmitters are functionally different from brain-derived neurotransmitters (Mittal et al., 2017). The bioavailability of precursors for these neurotransmitters is also regulated by the gut microbiota. For example, carbohydrate-fermenting microbes secrete butyrate (a SCFA) that stimulates 5-HT synthesis from intestinal enterochromaffin cells (ECs) (Reigstad et al., 2015; Yano et al., 2015; Lund et al., 2018). In contrast, Clostridia metabolites, such as 4-cresol and 4-hydroxyphenylacetate (4-HPA), inhibit dopamine- $\beta$ -hydroxylase (an enzyme that converts DA to NE in the brain) (Shaw, 2017). These microbial neuroactive molecules likely modulate local ENS signaling, which ultimately influence the MGB axis (Karl et al., 2018).

# Dysregulated MGB Axis in Depression: Chronic Stress Response Loop

Acute psychological stress increases the release of ACh from cholinergic nerves (Saunders et al., 1997; Kiliaan et al., 1998) and glucocorticoids from the HPA axis (Alonso et al., 2012; Zheng et al., 2013; Vanuytsel et al., 2014), both of which loosen tight junctions of the intestinal barrier (Figure 1). Other stressors such as poor diet, sleep deprivation, antibiotics, environmental pollutants and excessive exercise also increase the intestinal permeability (Karl et al., 2018). Additionally, exposure to stress stimulates sympathetic spinal nerves to release NE into the gut which expedites quorum sensing systems and iron uptake of bacteria, leading to increased virulence and growth of pathogenic bacteria (e.g., Escherichia coli, Salmonella, Campylobacter, etc.) (Lomax et al., 2010; Freestone, 2013). These factors facilitate penetration of bacteria and their toxins, such as LPS, through the weakened intestinal barrier. Administration of LPS increased proinflammatory cytokines and caused anxiety and depression in healthy males in a dose-dependent manner (Grigoleit et al., 2011). This phenomenon is only transient due to the adaptive response of the immune system and HPA axis. However, chronic stress prevents this homeostatic restoration and causes prolonged inflammation and HPA axis overactivity, both of which aggravate the disrupted intestinal barrier. During this process, chronic inflammation renders the immune system insensitive to inhibitory signals from glucocorticoids (de Punder and Pruimboom, 2015). Excess proinflammatory cytokines, in turn, disrupt the negative feedback inhibition of circulating glucocorticoids of the HPA axis (Schiepers et al., 2005; Miller et al., 2009). Indeed, MDD patients often show increased intestinal barrier permeability (Stevens et al., 2018; Calarge et al., 2019; Ohlsson et al., 2019) and elevated serum antibodies against LPS (Maes et al., 2008).

Excessive glucocorticoids hyperactivate monoamine oxidases (MAOs; enzymes that degrade 5-HT, NE, and DA) (Grunewald et al., 2012). An overactive HPA axis can also induce gut dysbiosis (Murakami et al., 2017) and impairment of brain neurotransmitter systems (Pacak et al., 1993; Smith et al., 1995; Lopez et al., 1998; Hewitt et al., 2009). Higher baseline levels of cortisol, an indicator of an overactive HPA axis, were detected in more than 70% of MDD patients (Vreeburg et al., 2009; Lok et al., 2012). Proinflammatory cytokines and glucocorticoids upregulate indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) and tryptophan-2,3-dioxygenase (TDO) enzymes, respectively (Schimke et al., 1965; Young, 1981). Both enzymes metabolize TRP into KYN and quinolinic acid, which reduce the bioavailability of TRP to cross the BBB, thereby lowering 5-HT synthesis (Reus et al., 2015). This is evidenced by low plasma TRP levels that were also correlated to a heightened proinflammatory state found in MDD patients (Maes et al., 1993, 1994). Furthermore, proinflammatory cytokines can decrease levels of DA, 5-HT and NE in the brain by upregulating their reuptake via presynaptic transporters and downregulating enzymatic cofactors required for their synthesis (Miller and Raison, 2016). Indeed, administration of cytokines consistently induced neurotransmitter imbalances in the brain and behavioral changes that are reminiscent of depression in animals and humans (Miller et al., 2009). Similarly, higher levels of proinflammatory cytokines were observed in depressed individuals as reported using meta-analyses of the data available in the literature (Howren et al., 2009; Dowlati et al., 2010).

A stress-induced inflamed gut adversely alters the relative abundances of preexisting bacteria in the gut (**Figure 1**). Acute psychological stress stimulated the release of inflammatory TABLE 1 | The neurotransmitters produced by probiotics and their regulatory functions.

Neurotransmitter	Regulatory functions	Probiotics	References
Gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA)	<ul> <li>Hippocampal neurogenesis</li> <li>HPA axis regulation</li> <li>Mood</li> </ul>	L. brevis L. rhamnosus L. reuteri L. paracasei L. plantarum L. bulgaricus L. helveticus L. casei	Komatsuzaki et al. (2005), Luscher et al. (2011), Stromeck et al. (2011), Barrett et al. (2012), Liao et al. (2013), Lin (2013), Oleskin et al. (2014), Yunes et al. (2016)
Serotonin (5-HT)	<ul> <li>Impulsivity</li> <li>Aggression</li> <li>Appetite</li> <li>Circadian rhythm</li> <li>Learning</li> <li>HPA axis regulation</li> <li>Mood</li> </ul>	L. plantarum L. helveticus	Özogul (2011), Özoğul et al. (2012), Oleskin et al. (2014), Carhart-Harris and Nutt (2017)
Dopamine (DA)	<ul> <li>Motivation</li> <li>Concentration</li> <li>Psychomotor speed</li> <li>Ability to experience pleasure</li> <li>Mood</li> </ul>	L. plantarum L. helveticus L. casei L. bulgaricus	Dunlop and Nemeroff (2007), Özogul (2011), Oleskin et al. (2014)
Norepinephrine (NE)	<ul> <li>Aggression</li> <li>Cognitive function</li> <li>Sleep</li> <li>Sympathetic activity</li> <li>HPA axis regulation</li> <li>Mood</li> </ul>	L. helveticus L. casei L. bulgaricus	Leonard (2001), Montgomery and Briley (2011), Oleskin et al. (2014)
Glutamate (Glu)	<ul><li>Gastrointestinal reflexes</li><li>Intestinal motility</li><li>HPA axis regulation</li><li>Mood</li></ul>	L. rhamnosus L. reuteri L. plantarum L. paracasei L. helveticus L. casei L. bulgaricus	Weingand-Ziadé et al. (2003), Zalán et al. (2009), Stromeck et al. (2011), Zareian et al. (2012), Julio-Pieper et al. (2013), Oleskin et al. (2014)
Histamine	<ul> <li>Motivation</li> <li>Learning</li> <li>Memory</li> <li>Appetite</li> <li>Sleep</li> <li>Sympathetic activity</li> <li>Mood</li> </ul>	L. plantarum L. reuteri	Kano et al. (2004), Özoğul et al. (2012), Thomas et al. (2012), Torrealba et al. (2012), Hemarajata et al. (2013)
Acetylcholine (ACh)	<ul> <li>Cognition</li> <li>Synaptic plasticity</li> <li>Analgesia</li> <li>Sleep</li> <li>HPA axis regulation</li> <li>Mood</li> </ul>	L. plantarum	Rowatt (1948), Girvin and Stevenson (1954), Pytka et al. (2016)

mediators that were correlated with the lowered abundance of *Coprococcus*, *Pseudobutyrivibrio*, *Dorea*, and *Lactobacillus* in mice. This, in turn, allowed the proliferation of *Clostridium* species in the gut (Bailey et al., 2011). The gut microbiota of chronic-stressed mice also deviated from the baseline, whereby an increase in proinflammatory bacteria, such as *Helicobacter* and *Streptococcus*, and a decrease in butyrateproducing bacteria, such as *Roseburia* and *Lachnospiraceae* species, were observed (Gao et al., 2018). Altered gut microbiota composition consequently exacerbates gut inflammation and further increases intestinal permeability and production of proinflammatory cytokines (van de Guchte et al., 2018). The precise mechanism underlying vulnerability of certain bacteria to inflammation remains poorly understood. It is hypothesized that inflammation disrupts  $\beta$ -oxidation of intestinal epithelial cells (IECs, both enterocytes and colonocytes) to increase oxygen content in the gut lumen. This promotes formate oxidation that favors the growth of facultative anaerobes, such as *E. coli*, that are pathogenic and inflammatory at the cost of obligate anaerobes, such as Bacteroides and Firmicutes (Hughes et al., 2017).

A dysregulated gut microbiota translates to a shift in the production of neuroactive metabolites and alters host neurotransmitter circuitry. This corresponds with disrupted levels of neurotransmitters in the brain of GF mice (Diaz Heijtz et al., 2011; Neufeld et al., 2011; Clarke et al., 2013; Pan et al., 2019). Altered neurotransmitter profile (e.g., GABA, Glu, 5-HT,



DA, and NE) has been associated with the pathophysiology of depression. Therefore, pharmaceutical antidepressants function to restore synaptic levels of neurotransmitters (Harald and Gordon, 2012). In addition, impaired neurotransmitter systems within the ENS may alter gut motor function. This has direct implications as gut motility is a determining factor in the size and diversity of gut microbiota (Quigley, 2011). Therefore, chronic stress sets up a vicious cycle of increased intestinal permeability, chronic inflammation, hyperactive HPA axis, altered gut microbiota profile and neurotransmitter imbalances forming a maladaptive MGB axis (Figure 1). Furthermore, MDD patients perceive stress as more threatening and challenging to cope with compared to healthy individuals (Farabaugh et al., 2004; Salomon et al., 2009). These negative emotions can increase their sensitivity to stressors, such as an elevated cortisol response (Mendonca-de-Souza et al., 2007). To restore this malfunctioned axis, probiotics have been demonstrated by meta-analyses and systematic reviews as a potential treatment for MDD/depression (Huang et al., 2016; Pirbaglou et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2016; McKean et al., 2017; Wallace and Milev, 2017). Potential antidepressive mechanisms of probiotics are elucidated in the following section.

### DELINEATING THE ANTIDEPRESSIVE MECHANISMS OF PROBIOTICS

Probiotics secrete a wide range of signaling molecules that operate via distinct pathways to exert their effects, be it antidepressive, immunomodulatory or modulation of neurotransmission (Luan et al., 2017). This review classifies probiotic-associated signaling molecules into four types: neurotransmitters, bacterial secreted proteins, butyrate and other bioactive molecules (**Figure 2**). Some probiotics can secrete signaling molecules of different types. In this regard, the mechanisms of individual probiotics will be presented in the order of pertinence and similarity to each other.

### Lactobacillus rhamnosus

Lactobacillus rhamnosus JB-1, the typical experimental strain of L. rhamnosus, was formerly referred to as Lactobacillus reuteri. Orally administered L. rhamnosus reduced depressivelike behaviors in normal, healthy mice (Bravo et al., 2011) and chronic-stressed mice (McVey Neufeld et al., 2018). Postpartum women (Slykerman et al., 2017) and obese individuals (Sanchez et al., 2017) that were supplemented with L. rhamnosus reported lower depressive thoughts compared to the control group. In vagotomized rats, behavioral and physiological benefits of L. rhamnosus were abolished (Bravo et al., 2011). This substantiates the vagus nerve as an essential conduit in the signaling pathway of L. rhamnosus. Introduction of L. rhamnosus into the gut lumen heightened the firing rate of vagus nerve and enteric neurons in mice (Perez-Burgos et al., 2013, 2014). These findings suggest that L. rhamnosus signals to the brain via the neural route, which may influence the central GABAergic system and HPA axis to manifest an antidepressive effect (Figure 2A). However, it is unclear whether neurotransmitters, cytokines or other molecules are involved in the neural signaling of L. rhamnosus.



FIGURE 2 | Signaling mechanisms underlying antidepressive effects of probiotics mediated through secretion of (A) Neurotransmitters: L. rhamnosus and L. casei secrete GABA that may signal central GABAergic system and HPA axis via the neural route. L. brevis secretes GABA that enhances sleep. L. helveticus secrete 5-HT that may signal the central 5-HT system via the neural route. L helveticus also secretes NE that may affect the central NE system. L. reuteri secretes histamine that decreases secretion of proinflammatory cytokines by IECs. This may reduce circulating inflammatory markers, such as LPS, IL-6 and corticosterone, and subsequently prevent the inflammation-induced decrease in hippocampal BDNF. (B) Butyrate: L. plantarum produces butyrate that strengthens intestinal barrier and diffuses through the circulation to regulate BDNF expression and reduce inflammation in the brain. The latter consequently regulates the HPA axis and its regulator, the DA system. C. butyricum produces butyrate that influences central 5-HT and BDNF systems and stimulates L cell to secrete GLP-1 into the bloodstream which increases expression of GLP-1 receptors. F. prausnitzii produces butyrate that strengthens the intestinal barrier. B. infantis and L. paracasei promote growth of butyrate-producing bacteria. Through butyrate, B. infantis upregulates Tph1 activity of EC which increases circulating 5-HT and strengthens intestinal barrier to lower IDO activity and increase circulating TRP, both of which affect the central 5-HT system and BDNF expression. Through butyrate, L. paracasei may influence the central 5-HT system and BDNF expression. (C) Bacterial secreted proteins: L. gasseri secretes gassericins that increase parasympathetic activity to facilitate sleep and improves gut microbiota composition. B. longum secretes serpins that alter neural activities in the brain via the neural route. L. paracasei secretes lactocepins that decrease proinflammatory chemokines in IECs. This lowers IDO activity which, in turn, affects the central 5-HT system and BDNF expression. (D) Other bioactive molecules: B. infantis secretes bioactive factors (likely polysaccharides) that decrease circulating IL-6 which affects the central NE system. L. reuteri secretes H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> that decreases IDO activity and circulating KYN, and dgk that inhibits the initiation of proinflammatory pathways. B. breve converts albiflorin into BZA which affects the Glu system via the humoral route. L. kefiranofaciens secretes exopolysaccharides that have immunomodulatory and antibacterial properties, which may potentially prevent HPA axis overactivity. 5-HT, 5-hydroxytryptamine or serotonin; BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; DA, dopamine; BZA, benzoic acids; dgk, diacylglycerol kinase; ECs, enterochromaffin cells; EPS, exopolysaccharide; GABA, gamma-Aminobutyric acid; GLP-1, glucagon-like peptide-1; Glu, glutamate or glutaminergic; H2O2, hydrogen peroxide; HPA, hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal; IECs, intestinal epithelial cells; IDO, indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase; IL-6, interleukin-6; KYN, kynurenine; NE, norepinephrine; LPS, lipopolysaccharides; Tph1, tryptophan hydroxylase 1; TRP, tryptophan.

# Microbial GABA, Central GABAergic System, and HPA Axis

Glutamine is a precursor to Glu while Glu is a precursor to GABA. Reduced levels of GABA and Glx (Glu + glutamine) have been consistently reported in cortical regions of MDD patients (Sanacora et al., 1999; Hasler et al., 2007; Bhagwagar et al., 2008; Moriguchi et al., 2018; Godlewska et al., 2019). A dysfunctional glutaminergic system, that is partly responsible by a decreased GABAergic tone, is also implicated in MDD (Murrough et al., 2017). *N*-acetyl aspartate (NAA) is regarded as a marker for neuronal vitality. In MDD patients, decreased NAA levels in the PFC and hippocampus have been detected (Gonul et al., 2006; Olvera et al., 2010; Lefebvre et al., 2017). These neurochemical (i.e., Glx, NAA, and GABA) levels in the PFC and hippocampus of mice increased when administered with *L. rhamnosus* (Janik et al., 2016), implicating its antidepressive potential.

Intake of L. rhamnosus altered the central mRNA expression of GABAA and GABAB receptors while reducing depressiveand anxiety-like behaviors in mice. These effects were also dependent on an intact vagus nerve (Bravo et al., 2011). With prebiotics, L. rhamnosus intake decreased hippocampal GABAAa2 mRNA expression in stressed mice (McVey Neufeld et al., 2017). L. rhamnosus produced GABA and Glu efficiently from microbial glutamate decarboxylase and glutaminase, respectively, in vitro (Stromeck et al., 2011; Liao et al., 2013; Lin, 2013). These biosynthetic machineries utilized by microbes to synthesize Glu and GABA are mutual in neurons (Mathews and Diamond, 2003), which support the interkingdom communication of microbial GABA (Lyte, 2011). It was demonstrated in vitro that gut microbial GABA can cross the intestinal barrier via H<sup>+</sup>/GABA symporter (Thwaites et al., 2000; Nielsen et al., 2012). The microbial GABA may subsequently interact with GABA receptors and transporters that are widely expressed on enteric neurons and vagus afferents (Hyland and Cryan, 2010).

Administration of *L. rhamnosus* reduced stress-induced plasma corticosterone levels in mice that averted depression (Bravo et al., 2011; McVey Neufeld et al., 2018). This could be due to the innervation of PVN neurons by GABAergic synapses that can be desensitized by acute stress (Hewitt et al., 2009). Inhibited GABA signals allow continuous release of CRF by PVN neurons, which ultimately leads to cortisol overproduction and HPA axis overactivity (Cullinan et al., 2008). Impairment of GABA receptors also inhibits hippocampal neurogenesis, which has been shown to activate the HPA axis and induce depression in mice (Earnheart et al., 2007; Schloesser et al., 2009). Such effects may be possibly prevented by the production of GABA by *L. rhamnosus*.

### Lactobacillus casei Strain Shirota

Individuals with low mood reported feeling happier after consuming milk containing *L. casei*, but not the placebo (Benton et al., 2007). Intake of mixed-species probiotics that included *L. casei* also reduced clinical depression and depressive-like symptoms in MDD patients (Akkasheh et al., 2016) and healthy individuals (Steenbergen et al., 2015; Mohammadi et al., 2016), respectively. Similar to *L. rhamnosus*, evidence suggests that *L. casei* may also regulate the HPA axis via the neural route (**Figure 2A**).

### Microbial GABA and HPA Axis

Intake of L. casei stimulated vagus afferents and decreased both the activity and quantity of CRF-expressing cells in PVN of rats (Takada et al., 2016). Intragastric injection of L. casei downregulated the activity of sympathetic efferents to adrenal glands and liver, and this effect ceased upon vagotomy (Tanida et al., 2014). In clinical trials, L. casei supplementation lowered salivary cortisol levels, feelings of stress and frequency of abdominal- and flu-related symptoms in stressed individuals (Kato-Kataoka et al., 2016; Takada et al., 2016). These studies imply that L. casei prevents HPA axis overactivity via the vagus nerve, which may consequently lower stress-related feelings and illnesses. L. casei produced GABA in vitro (Oleskin et al., 2014), indicating a possibility that it may share an antidepressive mechanism of L. rhamnosus. Stressed individuals that consumed L. casei showed improvements in mental health and gut microbiota composition, characterized by increased Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium populations (Rao et al., 2009; Kato-Kataoka et al., 2016). As most of the antidepressive probiotics belong to Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium genera, the potential antidepressive capacity of *L. casei* is highly supported.

### Lactobacillus brevis

Similar to *L. rhamnosus* and *L. casei, L. brevis* produces GABA via glutamate decarboxylase in substantial amounts (Yokoyama et al., 2002; Siragusa et al., 2007; Barrett et al., 2012; Ko et al., 2013; Yunes et al., 2016). This indicates that *L. brevis* may share a mutual mechanism of action with *L. rhamnosus* and *L. casei* (**Figure 2A**). Although *L. brevis* has been shown to influence neither the central GABAergic system nor the HPA axis, *L. brevis* appears to promote sleep.

### Microbial GABA and Sleep

Milk fermented with L. brevis had increased GABA content. This L. brevis-fermented milk demonstrated an antidepressive potency on par with fluoxetine, a SSRI, in depressed rats (Ko et al., 2013). Intriguingly, intake of L. brevis-produced GABA improved sleep duration in mice (Han et al., 2017). Another study also showed that dietary L. brevis enhanced sleep quality and voluntary physical activity in mice (Miyazaki et al., 2014). GABA is the main inhibitory neurotransmitter that is widely associated with sleep, and GABA receptors are frequent targets for pharmaceutical drugs, such as benzodiazepine, to treat insomnia (Gottesmann, 2002). GABA-enriched foods and GABA extract have also been shown to improve sleep quality in insomniacs (Byun et al., 2018) and healthy individuals (Yamatsu et al., 2015). Therefore, L. brevis has therapeutic value for insomnia, which reflects one of the diagnostic criteria for MDD (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

# Lactobacillus reuteri

Treatment of *L. reuteri* ameliorated depressive-like behaviors in chronic-stressed (Marin et al., 2017) and immobilization-stressed mice (Jang et al., 2019). The former study further elucidated the mechanism of *L. reuteri* which involves regulation of IDO, a rate-limiting enzyme of immune cells that catabolizes TRP to KYN (Reus et al., 2015). It is also well documented that *L. reuteri* exhibits anti-inflammatory activities (Thomas et al., 2012; Gao et al., 2015; Ganesh et al., 2018). It is, thus, conceivable that *L. reuteri* may also prevent activation of IDO by proinflammatory cytokines (Reus et al., 2015).

# Microbial Hydrogen Peroxide and Kynurenine Pathway

The etiology of depression is partly attributed to a dysregulated KYN/TRP pathway (Reus et al., 2015). An elevated ratio of plasma KYN/TRP often correlates positively with the depression severity in human (Maes et al., 2002; Gabbay et al., 2010; Baranyi et al., 2013; Zhou et al., 2019). It was demonstrated that L. reuteri intake improved behaviors of depressed mice by reversing the stress-induced (1) decrease in fecal H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> levels and Lactobacillus populations, and (2) increase in intestinal IDO1 expression and plasma KYN levels (Marin et al., 2017). KYN administration attenuated this antidepressive effect, which indicates that L. reuteri ameliorates depression by reducing plasma KYN levels. This study also showed that L. reuteri generated high amounts of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in vitro, and the author proposed that H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is the key metabolite in mediating antidepressive effect of L. reuteri (Marin et al., 2017). This is because H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> catalyzes peroxidasemediated reactions that inhibit IDO activity (Freewan et al., 2013). H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is transported by aquaporin-3 transporters that are expressed on IECs (Thiagarajah et al., 2017) and immune cells (Moon et al., 2004). These findings suggest that microbial H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> can potentially cross the intestinal barrier to suppress IDO activity in immune cells, which would lower circulating KYN levels (Figure 2D).

### Microbial Histamine, Diacylglycerol Kinase, and Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF) Expression

Lactobacillus reuteri possesses histidine decarboxylase that converts dietary L-histidine to histamine, which inhibits the production of TNF- $\alpha$  in vitro (Thomas et al., 2012; Hemarajata et al., 2013). The microbial histamine suppressed proinflammatory cytokine activities in IECs via the histamine-2 receptor signaling pathway in mice. This effect disappeared when the histidine decarboxylase gene of L. reuteri was inactivated by mutagenesis (Gao et al., 2015). Intriguingly, microbial histamine also activated histamine-1 receptors to initiate downstream proinflammatory pathways in mice (Ganesh et al., 2018). However, the substrate for this pathway, diacylglycerol, is metabolized to phosphatidic acid by diacylglycerol kinase produced by L. reuteri. Thus, L. reuteri secretes both histamine and diacylglycerol kinase that act on histamine receptors to produce an anti-inflammatory effect (Ganesh et al., 2018). Orally administered L. reuteri simultaneously alleviated colitis and behaviors indicative of anxiety and depression in stressed

mice. These effects were also accompanied by a decrease in colon inflammation and blood levels of LPS, interleukin-6 (IL-6) and corticosterone. In the same study, this reduction in peripheral inflammation prevented the infiltration of activated microglia into the hippocampus and increased hippocampal BDNF expression (Jang et al., 2019; **Figure 2A**). BDNF has been extensively studied for its vital role in neuronal function and its causal link to depression. Antidepressants such as SSRI and ketamine also increase hippocampal BDNF expression as part of their mechanism of action (Bjorkholm and Monteggia, 2016). Furthermore, this anti-inflammatory effect of *L. reuteri* may prevent IDO activation by proinflammatory cytokines (Reus et al., 2015).

## Lactobacillus plantarum

Lactobacillus plantarum supplementation decreased depressivelike symptoms in chronic-stressed mice (Liu Y.W. et al., 2016; Dhaliwal et al., 2018) and stressed adults with mild depression (Lew et al., 2018), though the latter study did not reach statistical significance. Following *L. plantarum* intake, reduction in plasma corticosterone levels and inflammation were seen in mice with reduced depressive-like behaviors (Liu Y.W. et al., 2016). Another study reported that mice fed with *L. plantarum* displayed an increase in cecum SCFAs levels (acetic and butyric), and a decrease in intestinal permeability and level of MAOs in the brain (Dhaliwal et al., 2018). These physiological changes can be unified into a mutual mechanism that *L. plantarum* likely mitigates systemic inflammation (**Figure 2B**).

### Butyrate, Intestinal Barrier, and BDNF Expression

Chronic-stressed mice fed with L. plantarum exhibited reduced depressive-like behaviors, coupled with an increase in butyrate and butyrate-producing bacteria, such as Lactobacillus, Bacteroidetes, and Roseburia (Dhaliwal et al., 2018). L. plantarum synthesizes butyrate via fatty acid synthase II-thioesterase, a glutamine-mediated butyrogenic pathway (Botta et al., 2017). Butyrate can enter IECs through cholesterol-rich microdomains and/or monocarboxylate transporter 1 protein (Suzuki et al., 2008; Goncalves et al., 2011; Nedjadi et al., 2014), and promote synthesis and assembly of tight junction proteins of IECs (Bordin et al., 2004; Ohata et al., 2005; Peng et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2012; Yan and Ajuwon, 2017). Butyrate also has anti-inflammatory properties; for instance, butyrate inhibited proinflammatory activities of IECs in vitro (Elce et al., 2017) and interacted with IECs to regulate host T cell responses (Lew et al., 2018; Xu et al., 2018). Butyrate may also diffuse into the systemic circulation to exert anti-inflammatory effects on various organs and tissues, including the brain (McNabney and Henagan, 2017; Matt et al., 2018). Indeed, butyrate has been shown to normalize behavior of depressed rodents through epigenetic regulations of hippocampal BDNF expression (Han et al., 2014; Wei et al., 2014; Sun et al., 2016). These outcomes are consistent with the finding that L. plantarum intake increased hippocampal BDNF expression and cecum butyrate levels in chronic stress-induced depressed mice (Dhaliwal et al., 2018).

### HPA Axis and Central DA System

Lactobacillus plantarum supplementation decreased MAOs levels in brain tissues of mice with reduced depression (Dhaliwal et al., 2018). This is in line with another finding that L. plantarum intake in mice increased levels of DA and its metabolites (HVA and 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid, DOPAC) in the PFC, along with reduced depressive-like behaviors (Liu Y.W. et al., 2016). However, another study showed that L. plantarum increased DA levels in the striatum of mice while alleviating anxiety-like behaviors (Liu W.H. et al., 2016). These studies suggest that L. plantarum likely affects the central DA system in a context-dependent manner. It was also proposed that L. plantarum increases DA levels in the PFC to prevent HPA axis overactivation (Liu Y.W. et al., 2016). DA neurons in the PFC and ventral tegmental area (VTA) form the mesocortical pathway which regulates reward-seeking behaviors (Pariyadath et al., 2016) and the HPA axis (Sullivan and Dufresne, 2006). Glucocorticoids from the HPA axis can also influence the DA system either directly or indirectly, via epigenetic control and MAOs inhibition, respectively (Feenstra et al., 1992; Grunewald et al., 2012; Butts and Phillips, 2013). Taken together, L. plantarum may regulate both the DA system and HPA axis by attenuating glucocorticoid-induced MAOs activity.

# *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* (Previously Known as *Fusobacterium prausnitzii*)

Recently, it was discovered that oral gavage of *F. prausnitzii* exerted antidepressive and anxiolytic effects in chronic-stressed mice (Hao et al., 2019). *F. prausnitzii*, as the sole species of *Faecalibacterium* genera (Duncan, 2002), represents around 5% of the total human gut microbiota (Hold et al., 2003). Low populations of *F. prausnitzii* correlated with the disease severity of those with MDD (Jiang et al., 2015) and bipolar depression (Evans et al., 2017). In a recent large cohort study, fecal levels of *F. prausnitzii* correlated negatively with depressed mood and positively with quality of life (Valles-Colomer et al., 2019). Therefore, *F. prausnitzii* seems to have pertinent contributions to mental health.

# Butyrate, Microbial Anti-inflammatory Molecules, and Peripheral Inflammation

Faecalibacterium prausnitzii produces butyrate in large quantities from fermenting glucose and fiber (Duncan, 2002; Hold et al., 2003). F. prausnitzii also secretes microbial anti-inflammatory molecules that suppress the proinflammatory nuclear factor (NF)-ĸB pathway in IECs (Sokol et al., 2008; Quevrain et al., 2016a,b). These immunomodulatory effects are consistent with neurochemical changes observed in F. prausnitzii-treated depressed mice, whereby cecum SCFAs and plasma IL-10 levels increased, while corticosterone and IL-6 levels decreased (Hao et al., 2019). Moreover, intragastric administration of F. prausnitzii decreased colonic cytokine levels and intestinal permeability in mice with colitis (Laval et al., 2015; Martin et al., 2015). Thus, butyrate produced by F. prausnitzii potentially strengthens the intestinal barrier (similar to L. plantarum; Figure 2B). However, whether local immunomodulatory effects of F. prausnitzii extend to the brain remains unknown.

Nevertheless, the ability of *F. prausnitzii* to attenuate gut inflammation is sufficient to reduce depressive- and anxiety-like behaviors in mice (Hao et al., 2019).

### Lactobacillus helveticus

Lactobacillus helveticus intake enabled the recovery of chronicand subchronic-stressed rodents from their state of depression (Liang et al., 2015; Maehata et al., 2019). Probiotic sticks containing L. helveticus, in addition to Bifidobacterium longum, reduced clinical depression and depressive-like symptoms in MDD patients (Kazemi et al., 2019) and healthy individuals (Messaoudi et al., 2011), respectively. Most of the animal and human studies also showed that L. helveticus intake enhanced memory and, sometimes, attention and learning (Ohland et al., 2013; Chung et al., 2014; Luo et al., 2014; Liang et al., 2015; Ohsawa et al., 2018). Cognitive impairments, such as poor memory and concentration, represent one major cluster of MDD symptoms (Sharpley and Bitsika, 2014). Evidence suggests that L. helveticus may modulate the central NE system and HPA axis to improve cognition, and the central 5-HT system and BDNF expression to reduce depression (Liang et al., 2015) (Figure 2A).

### Microbial NE, Central NE System, and HPA Axis

Supplementation of L. helveticus improved memory and cognitive performance in chronic-stressed rats, comparable to the SSRI citalopram-treated rats. This memory improvement correlated with increased plasma IL-10 and hippocampal NE levels, and reduced plasma corticosterone and ACTH levels (Liang et al., 2015). A previous study also showed that ingestion of L. helveticus enhanced memory and mitigated gut inflammation in neuroinflammation-induced rats (Luo et al., 2014). However, another study reported that memory improvement in *L. helveticus*-treated mice did not correlate with the state of gut inflammation (Ohland et al., 2013). Despite this discrepancy, it is well established that the hippocampal NE system and HPA axis both interact to regulate hippocampal glucose metabolism for memory consolidation (Osborne et al., 2015). This mechanism may be affected by microbial NE as L. helveticus produced NE in vitro in amounts that exceed the human bloodstream (Oleskin et al., 2014). It was also shown in vivo that gut bacteria are responsible for converting conjugated NE into its biologically active form (Asano et al., 2012). This neuroactive NE likely influences the MGB axis, but the exact mechanism remains unknown (Lyte, 2011).

### Microbial 5-HT and Central 5-HT-BDNF System

Liang et al. (2015) showed that elevated hippocampal 5-HT levels correlated with reduced depression severity in *L. helveticus*-fed rats. The same study also demonstrated that treatment with SSRI citalopram alleviated depression and increased hippocampal BDNF expression and 5-HT levels (Liang et al., 2015). Hence, the antidepressive mechanism appears similar between *L. helveticus* and citalopram. Cultures of *L. helveticus* produced 5-HT at concentrations close to that in the human bloodstream (Oleskin et al., 2014). As shown *in vivo*, the gut microbiota has an indispensable function in deconjugating glucuronide-conjugated 5-HT to generate their free, biologically active counterparts in

considerable amounts (Hata et al., 2017). It is hypothesized that gut luminal 5-HT may sensitize 5-HT 3A receptors of enteric neurons by stimulating the glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor of IECs (Hata et al., 2017). 5-HT3 receptors are also expressed on IECs (Hasler, 2009) and vagal afferents (Hillsley and Grundy, 1998). Therefore, it can be speculated that *L. helveticus* influences the central 5-HT circuitry via the neural route. This is supported by a recent study showing that *L. helveticus* intake increased expression of 5-HT 1A receptors in the nucleus accumbens while restoring behaviors of depressed mice (Maehata et al., 2019).

Chronic-stressed mice that ingested *L. helveticus* displayed an increase in hippocampal BDNF levels (Liang et al., 2015) and neurogenesis in the nucleus accumbens (Maehata et al., 2019). Nucleus accumbens is a brain region implicated in reward behavior. The central BDNF and 5-HT systems are synergistic, whereby 5-HT upregulates hippocampal BDNF-TrkB signaling to increase expression and synthesis of BDNF. The elevated BDNF, in turn, facilitates neurogenesis of 5-HT neurons (Martinowich and Lu, 2008; Bjorkholm and Monteggia, 2016). Therefore, *L. helveticus* likely increases hippocampal BDNF levels via modulation of 5-HT circuitry, in a similar manner to SSRIs (Liang et al., 2015).

### Lactobacillus paracasei

Dietary intervention of heat-killed *L. paracasei* prevented mood deterioration in times of stress in healthy individuals (Murata et al., 2018). In corticosterone-induced depressed mice, oral gavage of either live or heat-killed *L. paracasei* exhibited antidepressive efficacy equivalent to or better than fluoxetine. The same study also showed that live and heat-killed *L. paracasei* operated via different mechanisms. Live *L. paracasei* increased 5-HT levels whereas heat-killed *L. paracasei* increased DA levels in the brain (Wei et al., 2019). The signaling mechanism of *L. paracasei* appears independent of the HPA axis (Wei et al., 2019) or vagus afferents (Tanida and Nagai, 2011). The remaining evidence suggests that *L. paracasei* potentially functions via an immune-mediated humoral pathway.

# Lactocepin, Butyrate, and Central 5-HT-BDNF System

Lactobacillus paracasei secretes lactocepin, a PrtP-encoded serine protease, that selectively degrades proinflammatory chemokines in inflamed ileal tissue of mice (von Schillde et al., 2012). Lactocepin is most likely a heat-labile cell surface protein unique to L. paracasei (Hoermannsperger et al., 2009; von Schillde et al., 2012). Mice fed with live L. paracasei exhibited lower inflammatory markers in serum, such as increased IL-10 and glutathione peroxidase and decreased TNF-α and MCP-1 (Huang et al., 2018). Another study showed that oral gavage of live L. paracasei with its bacterial products prevented adverse effect of stress on intestinal permeability in rats (Eutamene et al., 2007). This can be linked to a suppressed IDO activity, resulting in higher TRP bioavailability for 5-HT synthesis in the brain (Reus et al., 2015). Following this, it was shown that live L. paracasei delivered via gavage increased 5-HT and 5-HIAA (the main metabolite of 5-HT) levels in the hippocampus and striatum of mice (Huang et al., 2018; Wei et al., 2019). As 5-HT facilitates

BDNF synthesis (Martinowich and Lu, 2008), the upregulated central 5-HT expression presumably explains the accompanying increase in hippocampal BDNF expression of mice alleviated of depression from *L. paracasei* intake (Wei et al., 2019). Therefore, *L. paracasei* may upregulate the central 5-HT-BDNF system (similar to *L. helveticus*; Figure 2C).

Treatment of live *L. paracasei* also increased fecal *Bifidobacterium* populations while normalizing behaviors of depressed mice (Wei et al., 2019). The gut microbiota profile, inflammatory markers and levels of acetate and butyrate were improved in IBS patients supplemented with live *L. paracasei* (Bertani et al., 2017; Cremon et al., 2018). Reduction in systemic inflammation, coupled with an improvement in hippocampal function, was also observed in obese rats fed with live *L. paracasei* (Chunchai et al., 2018). Thus, live *L. paracasei* may facilitate the colonization of butyrate-producing bacteria to reduce systemic inflammation (similar to *L. plantarum*) and increase 5-HT secretion from ECs (similar to *Bifidobacterium infantis*; Figure 2B).

### Bifidobacterium infantis

In naïve rats, intake of *B. infantis* was shown to alter depressionrelated biomarkers (Desbonnet et al., 2008). The same group later showed that chronic-stressed mice no longer displayed depressive-like behaviors after *B. infantis* intake (Desbonnet et al., 2010). In flood victims with IBS, *B. infantis* consumption did not affect their IBS symptoms but improved their mental health instead (Murata et al., 2018). *B. infantis* did not influence corticosterone levels in mice (Desbonnet et al., 2008, 2010), implying that the effect of *B. infantis* is likely to be independent of the HPA axis. Evidence suggests that *B. infantis* has immunomodulatory effects that regulate the central NE system (Desbonnet et al., 2010). A recent study also provided support for the antidepressive mechanism of *B. infantis* that involves the hippocampal 5-HT system (Tian et al., 2019).

### Bioactive Factors, IL-6, and Central NE System

*Bifidobacterium infantis* treatment manifested two physiological changes *in vivo*. First, *B. infantis* decreased plasma IL-6 levels in mice (Desbonnet et al., 2008, 2010) and patients with inflammatory conditions (Groeger et al., 2013). In depressed mice, the IL-6 release also correlated positively with the severity of depression (Desbonnet et al., 2010). Second, *B. infantis* increased NE levels in the murine brainstem (Desbonnet et al., 2010) containing the majority of NE neurons (Schwarz and Luo, 2015). Therefore, *B. infantis* likely regulates plasma IL-6 and central NE system to exert an antidepressive effect.

*Bifidobacterium infantis* secretes bioactive factors (probably polysaccharides) that enhance transepithelial resistance of IECs (Ewaschuk et al., 2008). Other studies involving rodents also showed that *B. infantis* treatment enhanced the intestinal barrier by strengthening the formation of tight junction proteins and anti-inflammatory activities of immune cells (Lomasney et al., 2014; Zuo et al., 2014; Javed et al., 2016). Indeed, bacterial DNA translocation from the gut lumen into the circulation was reduced in *B. infantis*-fed rodents (Osman et al., 2006; Gómez-Hurtado et al., 2012).

Bacterial DNA is a potent inducer of TLRs which facilitate the release of proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-6 (Gutierrez et al., 2016). Administration of IL-6 induced depression in mice, and this outcome was prevented by pharmaceutical blockage of NE neurons in the brainstem (Kurosawa et al., 2016). Hence, *B. infantis* potentially modulates the NE system via an immune-mediated humoral route to reduce depression (**Figure 2D**). This mechanism appears to be independent of the vagus nerve as oral gavage of *B. infantis* also decreased proinflammatory cytokine (including IL-6) levels in vagotomized mice with an inflamed colon (van der Kleij et al., 2008).

### Butyrate, TRP, and Central 5-HT-BDNF System

Treatment of B. infantis upregulated mRNA expression of Tph1 in RIN14B cells, a cell line that mimics ECs (Tian et al., 2019). Tph1 converts TRP to 5-hydroxytryptophan (5-HTP) and aromatic amino acid decarboxylase subsequently converts 5-HTP to 5-HT. B. infantis-fed mice displayed reduced depressivelike behaviors, along with an increase in TRP biosynthesis and hippocampal 5-HT and 5-HTP levels. In the same study, B. infantis increased cecum butyrate levels and the abundance of butyrate-producing Bifidobacterium. The elevated butyrate levels also correlated with increased hippocampal 5-HTP and PFC BDNF levels (Tian et al., 2019). This could be due to the ability of butyrate and other SCFAs to increase Tph1 activity of ECs, thereby promoting 5-HTP and 5-HT secretions (Reigstad et al., 2015; Yano et al., 2015; Lund et al., 2018). This is consequential as ECs contribute about 95% of the bodily 5-HT (El-Merahbi et al., 2015), and that mice with a gut microbiota had 2.8-fold higher plasma 5-HT levels than GF mice (Wikoff et al., 2009). The evidence for the ability of 5-HT to cross the BBB is conflicting (Brust et al., 2000; Wakayama et al., 2002; Nakatani et al., 2008; El-Merahbi et al., 2015). In contrast, 5-HTP readily crosses the BBB and can be converted into 5-HT. Therapeutic 5-HTP has also been shown to treat clinical depression with a potency equivalent to or better than SSRIs (Birdsall, 1998; Jangid et al., 2013; Jacobsen et al., 2016).

Furthermore, B. infantis intake increased plasma TRP levels in healthy rats (Desbonnet et al., 2008), but another study with chronic-stressed rats reported otherwise (Desbonnet et al., 2010). The author then suggested that B. infantis regulates TRP metabolism differently, depending on the rat strain (Desbonnet et al., 2010). Therapeutic TRP can improve symptoms of mood, sleep and cognitive disorders as TRP readily passes through BBB to regulate numerous brain functions, such as 5-HT synthesis (Richard et al., 2009). The elevated plasma TRP levels from B. infantis intake is most likely a result of reduced proinflammatory cytokines (Desbonnet et al., 2008, 2010), which reduces IDO activity and prevents overcatabolism of TRP (Reus et al., 2015). Thus, B. infantis may upregulate the hippocampal 5-HT system via modulation of peripheral 5-HTP, 5-HT and/or TRP levels. As 5-HT promotes BDNF synthesis (Martinowich and Lu, 2008), this presumably explains the concomitant increase in BDNF levels in PFC of rats ameliorated of depression with B. infantis treatment

(Tian et al., 2019). Taken together, *L. helveticus*, *L. paracasei* and *B. infantis* upregulate the central 5-HT-BDNF system as their mutual antidepressive mechanism, although via different pathways (**Figure 2B**).

### Clostridium butyricum

Treatment of *C. butyricum* improved depressive-like behaviors in chronic-stressed mice. These treated mice also showed upregulated central 5-HT, BDNF and GLP-1 receptors in the brain (Sun et al., 2018). Remarkably, the combination of *C. butyricum* with antidepressants reduced depression in about 70% of treatment-resistant MDD patients, of which 30% achieved remission (Miyaoka et al., 2018). These studies support the antidepressive efficacy of non-pathogenic *C. butyricum*. It should be noted that certain strains of *C. butyricum* are pathogenic which may cause botulism and necrotizing enterocolitis (Cassir et al., 2016).

### Butyrate, Central 5-HT-BDNF System, and GLP-1

Clostridium butyricum, as a resident of healthy gut microbiota, produces butyrate from carbohydrate fermentation (Araki et al., 2002; He et al., 2005; Liu J. et al., 2015). Treatment of C. butyricum increased central 5-HT levels and BDNF expression in mice with reduced depression (Sun et al., 2018). Another study also reported that C. butyricum intake upregulated neurogenesis-related pathways, such as BDNF, via butyrate production in mice (Liu J. et al., 2015). Additionally, intragastric inoculation of C. butyricum increased intestinal secretion of GLP-1 and the central expression of GLP-1 receptors in mice alleviated from depression (Sun et al., 2018). This effect may also be mediated by butyrate as SCFAs can bind to receptors expressed on intestinal L cells to stimulate GLP-1 secretion into the bloodstream (Tolhurst et al., 2012). GLP-1 is known for appetite and glucose control, but the activation of central GLP-1 receptors has been shown to regulate the central 5-HT system and reduce anxiety- and depressivelike behaviors in rats (Anderberg et al., 2016). Therefore, antidepressive mechanism of C. butyricum potentially involves a butyrate-mediated upregulation of central BDNF-5-HT system (similar to L. paracasei and B. infantis) and GLP-1 receptor expression (Figure 2B).

### Lactobacillus kefiranofaciens

Lactobacillus kefiranofaciens is isolated from kefir, a type of fermented milk. Oral gavage of *L. kefiranofaciens* improved behaviors of chronic-stressed, depressed mice. These treated mice also showed several physiological alterations. Levels of circulating TRP, splenic IL-10 and beneficial gut bacteria (e.g., Lachnospiraceae, Bifidobacteriaceae, and Akkermansia) increased, and KYN/TRP ratio, splenic IL-6 and IFN- $\gamma$  levels and Proteobacteria abundance decreased (Sun et al., 2019). What factors mediate such broad effects of *L. kefiranofaciens* on the TRP/KYN pathway, immune system, HPA axis and gut microbiota remain unclear, but exopolysaccharide is potentially a candidate (**Figure 2D**).

# Exopolysaccharide, Peripheral Inflammation, and Gut Microbiota

The only known metabolite of L. kefiranofaciens is an exopolysaccharide called kefiran (Maeda et al., 2004; Xing et al., 2017). The intake of kefiran modulated the gut mucosal immune system of mice (Vinderola et al., 2006), which could potentially account for changes in splenic cytokines seen in depressed mice (Sun et al., 2019). Kefiran was also shown to protect human enterocyte cell lines from adhesion and damage inflicted by toxins of pathogenic bacteria (Santos et al., 2003; Medrano et al., 2008). A further study discovered that L. kefiranofaciens produces a novel exopolysaccharide (not kefiran) that is bactericidal toward enteropathogens Listeria monocytogenes and Salmonella enteritidis (Jeong et al., 2017a). It may be possible that the antibacterial effects of this exopolysaccharide extend to other species in the gut microbiota. This supports the finding that L. kefiranofaciens supplementation ameliorated depressive-like behaviors in chronic-stressed mice by regulating gut microbiota content, which included the decreased abundance of Proteobacteria, a phylum that includes pathogens such as Salmonella (Sun et al., 2019). Other mice studies also supported the role of L. kefiranofaciens in modulating gut microbiota composition (Jeong et al., 2017b; Xing et al., 2018). Collectively, these changes in gut microbiota profile prevent gut dysbiosis that could lead to chronic inflammation, HPA axis overactivity and depression (Jeong et al., 2017b).

## Bifidobacterium breve

*Bifidobacterium breve* treatment improved symptoms of depression in innately anxious mice (Savignac et al., 2014), chronic-stressed mice (Tian et al., 2019) and schizophrenic patients with depression (Okubo et al., 2019). *B. breve* supplementation also improved mood and cognition in elderly people with mild cognitive impairment (Kobayashi et al., 2019). However, none of the accompanying physiological changes among these studies overlapped, making it difficult to identify an exact mechanism of *B. breve*. In spite of this, one study demonstrated that antidepressive mechanism of *B. breve* involves the generation of benzoic acid (Zhao et al., 2018; **Figure 2D**).

### Benzoic Acid and Central Glu System

Among the 18 bacterial strains isolated from gut microbiota, *B. breve* was the most efficient converter of albiflorin to benzoic acid via microbial carboxylesterase, at the rate of 75% as compared to *L. casei, Lactobacillus acidophilus* and *B. longum* at about 5%. The same study further showed that orally administered benzoic acid alleviated depression in mice (Zhao et al., 2018). Benzoic acid readily crosses the intestinal barrier and BBB to inhibit D-amino acid oxidase that catabolizes D-serine, a co-agonist of *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR, a type of Glu receptor) (Zhao et al., 2018). Both D-serine and NMDARs are therapeutic targets in neuropsychiatric disorders, such as depression, schizophrenia and cognitive impairment (Durrant and Heresco-Levy, 2014). Indeed, a dysfunctional Glu system is linked to the pathophysiology of depression (Pytka et al., 2016). In line with this, *B. breve* intake increased Glu synapses in chronic-stressed mice while treating its depressivelike behaviors (Tian et al., 2019).

# Bifidobacterium longum

*Bifidobacterium longum* treatment decreased depressive-like symptoms in innately anxious mice (Savignac et al., 2014) and IBS patients with mild to moderate depression and/or anxiety (Pinto-Sanchez et al., 2017). *B. longum* supplementation also presented anxiolytic efficacy in numerous human and animal studies (Bercik et al., 2010, 2011; Allen et al., 2016; Orikasa et al., 2016). However, *B. longum* did not affect the gut inflammatory state in animals and humans, indicating a lack of immunomodulatory function (Bercik et al., 2010, 2011; Pinto-Sanchez et al., 2017). Other physiological changes, such as BDNF expression and plasma KYN/TRP ratio, seen in *B. longum*-treated mice and humans were inconsistent (Bercik et al., 2010, 2011; Orikasa et al., 2016; Pinto-Sanchez et al., 2017). Collectively, these data suggest that brain neural activity and HPA axis are possible targets of *B. longum* signaling mechanisms (**Figure 2C**).

### Serpin, Central Neural Activity, and HPA Axis

Both in vitro and in vivo studies showed that B. longum weakened the excitability of murine myenteric neurons (Bercik et al., 2011; Khoshdel et al., 2013). Mice with inflamed intestines that were fed with B. longum demonstrated reduced anxiety-like behaviors, and this effect ceased upon vagotomy (Bercik et al., 2011). Intriguingly, B. longum intake also alleviated anxiety in coloninflamed mice that were vagotomized before treatment (Bercik et al., 2010). The author postulated that vagus afferents are an essential conduit when B. longum signals enterocytes, but not colonocytes (Bercik et al., 2011). The genome of B. longum encodes serpin, a serine protease inhibitor (Ivanov et al., 2006; Mkaouar et al., 2016). Serpin can inhibit the activation of enteric neurons by suppressing the secretion of elastase-like proteases from IECs (Ivanov et al., 2006; Buhner et al., 2018). These studies support the premise that B. longum interacts with the host via the neural pathway (similar to L. rhamnosus). Following this, the neural activity and HPA axis of the brain may be altered. Individuals consuming B. longum had increased neural activity in the PFC and decreased neural activity in the amygdala and fronto-limbic regions (Allen et al., 2016; Pinto-Sanchez et al., 2017). Anomalies in the anatomy and activity of the amygdala and PFC are also commonly observed among depressed patients (Liu W. et al., 2017). Furthermore, B. longum intake exerted simultaneous glucocorticoids-lowering and anxiolytic effects in humans and mice (Allen et al., 2016; Orikasa et al., 2016), suggesting that *B. longum* potentially modulates the HPA axis.

# Lactobacillus gasseri

Supplementation of *L. gasseri* improved mood (Sashihara et al., 2013) and depressive-like symptoms (Sawada et al., 2017) in stressed individuals. However, no studies have evaluated the effect of *L. gasseri* on clinically depressed individuals. Interestingly, *L. gasseri* is the only dietary probiotic which showed consistent sleep-enhancing effects in humans (Nishida et al., 2017a,b; Sawada et al., 2017). Irregular sleeping patterns are frequently associated with MDD (American Psychiatric Association, 2013;
Wallace and Milev, 2017), supporting the use of *L. gasseri* as a potential treatment for MDD-related sleep disturbances.

## Gassericins, Gut Microbiota, and Parasympathetic Activity in Sleep

Stressed individuals that were given probiotic-based milk containing either heat-killed or live L. paracasei showed alterations in the gut microbiota profile. Heat-killed L. gasseri decreased Bacteroides vulgatus and increased Dorea longicatena populations (Nishida et al., 2017a), whereas live L. gasseri decreased growth of inflammatory Enterobacteriaceae and Veillonella (Sawada et al., 2017). Both studies also showed that L. gasseri enhanced sleep quality of participants. Another study reported that heat-killed L. gasseri (in milk) increased the population of Clostridium cluster IV group and SCFAs levels in individuals with altered bowel movements (Sawada et al., 2016). Using a similar methodology, decreased Clostridium cluster IV and increased Bifidobacterium populations were found in another group of participants (Sugawara et al., 2016). Taken together, these results suggest that heat-killed L. gasseri does not have a specific microbial target, but rather modifies the preexisting gut microbiota that is unique to each individual. Nevertheless, these changes in the gut microbiota composition favor an anti-inflammatory state (Sawada et al., 2016; Sugawara et al., 2016; Nishida et al., 2017a). L. gasseri likely alters the gut microbiota profile through its unique, heat-resistant gassericins A and T with potent antibacterial properties against enteric pathogens (Pandey et al., 2013).

Heat-killed *L. gasseri* decreased expression of leukocytic stress-responsive microRNAs and salivary cortisol levels in stressed individuals (Nishida et al., 2017b). *L. gasseri* intake also prevented downregulation of EIF2-related genes in IBS patients (Nobutani et al., 2017). These studies suggest that *L. gasseri* confers protection against detrimental effects of stress. Moreover, heat-killed *L. gasseri* intake promoted parasympathetic nerve activity while improving sleep quality of stressed individuals (Nishida et al., 2017b). In healthy individuals, administration of either live or heat-killed *L. gasseri* increased their parasympathetic activity (Otomi et al., 2015; Sugawara et al., 2016). Therefore, *L. gasseri* may modify the gut microbiota profile in such a way that lowers gut inflammation and stress response, which may consequently promote parasympathetic activity to facilitate sleep (**Figure 2C**).

## CHALLENGES AND PERSPECTIVES FOR PROBIOTICS AS TREATMENT FOR DEPRESSION

The existence of different gut microbiota compositions, depression subtypes and probiotic formulations complicate treatment outcomes and necessitate an individualized approach when using probiotics to treat depression. Despite these challenges, probiotics confer some benefits over antidepressant drugs, and there are more promising candidate probiotics that can potentially treat depression.

# Heterogeneity of Gut Microbiota Composition

Several factors are known to influence the gut microbiota composition, such as diet, medications, genetics, age, geographical location and smoking (Thursby and Juge, 2017). Recently, approximately 1000 gut-derived putative bacterial species that do not belong to any existing genus were discovered in humans (Almeida et al., 2019). Such tremendous diversity complicates the understanding of how introduced probiotics affect the overall gut microbiota. One study showed that tolerability of individuals' gut microbiota toward the colonization of probiotics ranges from permissive to resistant (Zmora et al., 2018). This appears to depend on the baseline abundance of probiotic species in the host gut microbiota. For instance, those who were permissive toward the colonization of Lactobacillus had prior low levels of Lactobacillus populations before treatment (Zmora et al., 2018). Similarly, B. longum colonized the gut for a longer period in 30% of users who initially had low levels of B. longum (Maldonado-Gomez et al., 2016). Another study showed that the antidepressive effect of multispecies probiotics (MSP) only manifests when the administered MSP successfully colonized the gut of rats (Abildgaard et al., 2019). This is consistent with the observation that lower levels of two main probiotic genera, Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium, are commonly found in individuals with MDD (Aizawa et al., 2016).

Despite most studies supported the effectiveness of probiotic supplements in reducing depression, not all randomized controlled trials reported the same outcome (Table 2). For instance, L. rhamnosus did not affect scores of anxiety, depressions, sleep, cognition, inflammatory and stress responses among healthy adults (Kelly et al., 2017). L. rhamnosus also did not affect perceptions of wellbeing, anxiety and stress among healthy older adults (Ostlund-Lagerstrom et al., 2016). In healthy individuals, L. helveticus exhibited no antidepressive effect (Chung et al., 2014; Ohsawa et al., 2018). These results imply that probiotics are less efficacious among the healthy population, which agree with a meta-analysis that reported an insignificant effect of probiotics on mood, particularly in healthy individuals (Ng et al., 2018). Therefore, probiotics could be generally more effective in colonizing gut microbiota of depressed individuals that are different from healthy people (Jiang et al., 2015; Zheng et al., 2016). In some cases, probiotic colonization may be optional for their effects to manifest. For instance, heat-killed L. paracasei benefited the human and animal host, in terms of neurochemical and behavioral changes (Corpuz et al., 2018; Murata et al., 2018; Wei et al., 2019). Some probiotics, such as L. reuteri, L. paracasei, L. plantarum, L. gasseri, L. kefiranofaciens, B. breve, and B. infantis, promoted the colonization of other beneficial microbes that contributed to the reduction of depressive-like symptoms in animals (Marin et al., 2017; Dhaliwal et al., 2018; Jang et al., 2019; Sun et al., 2019; Tian et al., 2019; Wei et al., 2019).

## Heterogeneity of Depression

Major depressive disorder is characterized by depressed mood and/or anhedonia, in addition to excessive guilt, suicidal ideation,

TABLE 2 | Selected preclinical and clinical studies on the behavioral and physiological effects of single-species probiotics.

Probiotic species	Model	Behavioral changes	Physiological changes	References
Lactobacillus rhamnosus	Normal, healthy BALB/c male mice	↓ Anxiety ↓ Depression ↑ Memory No effect on locomotion	<ul> <li>↓ Stress-induced ↓ in plasma CORT levels</li> <li>↓ GABA<sub>Aa2</sub> mRNA expression in the PFC and amygdala</li> <li>↓ GABA<sub>B1b</sub> mRNA expression in the HPC, amygdala and locus coeruleus</li> <li>↑ GABA<sub>Aa2</sub> mRNA expression in the HPC</li> <li>↑ GABA<sub>B1b</sub> mRNA expression in cortical regions (cingulate and prelimbic)</li> </ul>	Bravo et al. (2011)
	BALB/c male mice subjected to MS	↓ Depression	↓ Stress-induced ↑ in plasma CORT levels ↑ Recovery toward basal corticosterone levels	McVey Neufeld et al. (2018)
	Healthy human males (aged 22–33, mean $pprox$ 23–25 years)	No effect on mood and anxiety	No changes in cortisol response to stress, plasma levels of IL10, IL1β, IL6, IL8 and TNF $\alpha$ , and whole blood levels of TLR-4	Kelly et al. (2017)
	Pregnant women (14–16 weeks gestation)	↓ Anxiety ↓ Depression	N/A	Slykerman et al. (2017)
	With prebiotics) Obese individuals (aged 18–55, mean $\approx$ 35–58 years)	↓ Depression ↓ Food cravings ↑ Satiety	N/A	Sanchez et al. (2017)
<i>Lactobacillus casei</i> strain Shirota	Healthy middle-age human adults (aged 48–79, mean $pprox$ 62 years)	↓ Depression in those with low mood	N/A	Benton et al. (2007
	Individuals with chronic fatigue syndrome (aged 18–65 years)	↓ Anxiety No effect on depression	↑ Fecal Lactobacillus and Bifidobacteria populations	Rao et al. (2009)
	Healthy students under stressful examination (aged < 40, mean $\approx$ 23 years)	↓ Stressful feelings No effect on anxiety	<ul> <li>↓ Salivary cortisol levels</li> <li>↓ Gastrointestinal symptoms</li> <li>↓ Fecal Bacteroidaceae populations</li> <li>↑ Diversity of the gut microbiota</li> <li>Prevented changes in expression of approx. 100 stress-responsive genes</li> </ul>	Kato-Kataoka et a (2016)
Lactobacillus brevis	Sprague–Dawley male depressed rats	↓ Depression	N/A	Ko et al. (2013)
	ICR male mice	↑ Sleep duration	N/A	Han et al. (2017)
	C3H-HeN male mice	↑ Sleep duration ↑ Wheel-running	N/A	Miyazaki et al. (2014)
Lactobacillus reuteri	C57BL/6J, C57BL/6N, and BALB/cJ male mice subjected to CUMS	↓ Depression	<ul> <li>↓ Stress-induced ↑ in intestinal IDO1 expression</li> <li>↓ Stress-induced ↑ in KYN levels</li> <li>↑ Stress-induced ↓ in fecal H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> levels</li> <li>↑ Stress-induced ↓ in <i>Lactobacillus</i> populations</li> </ul>	Marin et al. (2017)
	C57BL/6 male mice subjected to immobilization stress	↓ Anxiety ↓ Depression	<ul> <li>↓ Stress-induced ↑ in activated microglia infiltration into the HPC</li> <li>↓ Stress-induced ↑ in colon shortening, myeloperoxidase activity and IL-6 expression in the colon</li> <li>↓ Stress-induced ↑ in blood CORT, IL-6, and LPS levels</li> <li>↓ Stress-induced colitis</li> <li>↓ Stress-induced ↑ in Proteobacteria populations</li> <li>↑ Stress-induced ↓ in HPC BDNF expression</li> <li>↑ Stress-induced ↓ in Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, and Actinobacteria populations</li> </ul>	Jang et al. (2019)
Lactobacillus plantarum	MS vs. naïve male C57BL/6J mice	<ul> <li>↑ Locomotion</li> <li>In naïve mice:</li> <li>↓ Anxiety</li> <li>In MS mice:</li> <li>↓ Depression</li> <li>↓ Anhedonia</li> </ul>	↓ Stress-induced ↑ in CORT in MS mice ↑ DA, DOPAC, and HVA in the PFC of MS and naïve mice ↓ 5-HIAA and no change in 5-HT levels in the PFC of MS mice ↑ 5-HT levels in the PFC of naïve mice ↓ 5-HIAA levels in the PFC of naïve mice ↑ IL-10, ↓ IL-6 and no effect on TNF-α levels in the serum of MS mice	Liu Y.W. et al. (2016) (Continue

(Continued)

Probiotics for Treatment of Depression

Frontiers in Neu	
iroscience   ww	
w.frontiersin.org	

#### 15

TABLE 2   Cor	ntinued
---------------	---------

Probiotic species	Model	Behavioral changes	Physiological changes	References
	Germ-free C57BL/6JN male mice	↓ Anxiety ↑ Locomotion No effect on depression	$\uparrow$ 5-HT and DA levels in the striatum, but not the PFC or HPC No effects on serum GR levels	Liu W.H. et al. (2016)
	Swiss albino male mice subjected to CUMS or sleep-deprivation stress	↓ Anxiety ↓ Depression ↑ Memory ↑ Learning ↑ Locomotion	↓ Stress-induced ↑ in malonaldehyde, MAOs and nitrate levels in the brain ↓ Stress-induced ↑ in serum levels of TNF-α, CORT, and LPS ↑ Stress-induced ↓ in glutathione and HPC BDNF levels ↑ Abundance of <i>Lactobacillus</i> ↓ Stress-induced ↓ abundance of <i>Bacteroidetes</i> and <i>Roseburia</i> ↑ Fecal acetic and butyric acid levels Prevented stress-induced ↑ in permeability of BBB and intestinal barrier, and <i>Enterobacteriaceae</i> levels	Dhaliwal et al. (2018)
	MDD patients undergoing SSRI medications (mean age $\approx$ 39 years)	↑ Memory ↑ Attention ↑ Learning No effect on depression and stress	↓ Plasma KYN levels ↑ 3-hydroxykynurenine/KYN ratio No changes in plasma levels of TNF-α, IL-6, IL-1β, and cortisol	Rudzki et al. (2019)
	Stressed human adults with mild levels of depression (aged 18–60, mean $\approx$ 31 years)	↓ Anxiety ↓ Stress ↑ Memory ↑ Learning ↓ Depression (not stat. sig)	$\downarrow$ Plasma IFN- $\gamma$ and TNF- $\alpha$ levels $\downarrow$ Plasma IL-1 $\beta$ and cortisol levels (not stat. sig.)	Lew et al. (2018)
aecalibacterium prausnitzii	Sprague–Dawley male rats subjected to CUMS	↓ Anxiety ↓ Depression	↓ Stress-induced ↓ in plasma levels of CORT, CRP, and IL-6 ↑ SCFAs levels in the cecum ↑ Stress-induced ↓ in plasma IL-10 levels	Hao et al. (2019)
Lactobacillus helveticus	Sprague–Dawley male rats subjected to chronic restraint stress	↓ Anhedonia ↓ Anxiety ↑ Locomotion ↑ Memory	↓ Stress-induced ↑ in CORT and adrenocorticotropic hormone levels ↓ Stress-induced ↓ in plasma IL-10 levels ↑ Stress-induced ↓ in HPC BDNF expression ↑ Stress-induced ↓ in 5-HT and NE levels in the HPC No changes in stress-induced ↓ in plasma IFN-γ and TNF-α levels	Liang et al. (2015)
	Sprague–Dawley male rats with hyperammonemia-induced neuroinflammation	↓ Anxiety ↑ Memory ↑ Learning	↓ Stress-induced ↑ in KA/KYN ratio ↓ Stress-induced ↑ in PGE2 levels in the cerebellum and HPC ↓ Stress-induced ↑ in IL-1β levels in the cerebellum, HPC, and PFC ↓ 5-HT levels in the cerebellum and HPC ↑ Stress-induced ↓ in KYN/TRP ratio No effect in stress-induced ↑ in 5-HIAA levels in the HPC, cerebellum, and PFC	Luo et al. (2014)
	C57BL/6J male mice subjected to sub-chronic social defeat stress	↓ Anhedonia ↓ Anxiety	↑ Stress-induced ↓ in dopamine D3 and serotonin 1A receptors expression Restore stress-induced changes in gene expression in the nucleus accumbens No effects on serum CORT levels and gut microbiota composition	Maehata et al. (2019)
	Healthy elderly humans (aged 60–75, mean $\approx$ 65 years)	↑ Memory ↑ Attention ↑ Learning No effects on stress levels and depression	No effects on plasma levels of BDNF and whole blood viscosity	Chung et al. (2014)
	Healthy middle-aged humans (aged 50–70, mean $\approx$ 58 years)	↑ Memory ↑ Attention No effects on depression	N/A	Ohsawa et al. (2018)

#### TABLE 2 | Continued

Probiotic species	Model	Behavioral changes	Physiological changes	References
Lactobacillus paracasei	CORT-induced depressed male C57BL/6J mice (live or heat-killed <i>L. paracasei</i> )	↓ Depression ↓ Anhedonia ↓ Anxiety	<ul> <li>↑ Stress-induced ↓ abundance of <i>Bifidobacterium</i> (live)</li> <li>↑ Stress-induced ↓ in 5-HT levels in the HPC, PFC, and striatum (live)</li> <li>↑ Stress-induced ↓ DA levels in the HPC and PFC (heat-killed)</li> <li>↑ Stress-induced ↓ in BDNF levels and MR and GR receptors expression in the HPC No effect on serum CORT levels, both basal and in response to stress</li> </ul>	Wei et al. (2019)
	Senescence-accelerated female SAMP8 mice (heat-killed <i>L. paracasel</i> )	Prevented age-related cognitive decline	↓ 5-HT-degrading enzymes, particularly MAOA, levels in the HPC ↑ 5-HT levels in brain tissues and serum ↓ BDNF expression and CREB phosphorylation in the HPC No effect on the gene expression of 5-HT-synthesis-related enzyme	Corpuz et al. (2018
	Senescence-accelerated male and female SAMP8 mice (live <i>L. paracasel</i> )	Prevented age-related cognitive decline and anxiety	↓ Serum TNF-α and MCP-1 levels ↑ Levels of DA, DC, 5-HT and 5-HIAA levels in the striatum and HPC ↑ Levels of serum BDNF, IL-10, SOD, and GPx	Huang et al. (2018)
	Healthy females under examination stress (heat-killed <i>L. paracasei</i> ) (aged > 18, mean $\approx$ 21 years)	Prevented decline in mood and immunity	↓ Frequency of common cold in those susceptible No effect on salivary secretory IgA concentrations	Murata et al. (2018
Bifidobacterium infantis	Naïve Sprague–Dawley male rats	No effect on depression	↓ Plasma IFN-γ, TNF-α, IL-10, and IL-6 levels ↓ 5-HIAA levels in the frontal cortex ↓ DOPAC levels in the amygdaloid cortex ↓ NE levels in the HPC (not stat. sig.) ↑ Plasma TRP and KYN levels No effects in baseline CORT levels	Desbonnet et al. (2008)
	Sprague Dawley male rats subjected to MS	↓ Depression	↓ Stress-induced ↑ in plasma IL-6 and corticotrophin-releasing factor mRNA expression in the amygdala ↑ Stress-induced ↓ in NE levels in the brainstem No effects on plasma TRP/KYN ratio and baseline CORT concentrations	Desbonnet et al. (2010)
	Male adult C57BL/6J mice subjected to CUMS	↓ Depression ↓ Anhedonia ↓ Anxiety	<ul> <li>↓ Stress-induced ↑ Veillonellaceae and <i>Desulfovibrio</i> populations</li> <li>↑ 5-HT and 5-HTP levels in the HPC</li> <li>↑ Expression of Tph1 mRNA in RIN14B cells (<i>in vitro</i>)</li> <li>↑ BDNF levels in the PFC</li> <li>↑ Stress-induced ↓ in cecum butyrate levels</li> <li>↑ Alpha diversity of gut microbiota</li> <li>↑ Glutamatergic synapse</li> <li>↑ Phenylalanine/tyrosine/TRP biosynthesis</li> <li>No effect on spleen regulatory T cells</li> </ul>	Tian et al. (2019)
Clostridium butyricum	C57BL/6 male mice subjected to CUMS	↓ Depression No effect on locomotion	↑ Stress-induced ↓ in brain levels of 5-HT and BDNF ↑ Stress-induced ↓ in intestinal GLP-1 secretion and cerebral expression of GLP-1 receptor	Sun et al. (2018)
	(With SSRIs or SNRIs) Treatment-resistant MDD patients (mean age $\approx$ 42–44 years)	↓ Depression	N/A	Miyaoka et al. (2018)
Lactobacillus kefiranofaciens	Kunming male mice subjected to CUMS	↓ Depression ↓ Anhedonia	↓ Stress-induced ↑ in serum CORT levels and KYN/TRP ratio ↓ IL-6 and IFN-γ levels in the spleen ↓ Abundance of Proteobacteria ↑ Stress-induced ↓ serum TRP levels ↑ IL-10 levels in the spleen ↑ Abundance of anti-inflammatory Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Lachnospiraceae, Coriobacteriaceae, Bifidobacteriaceae, and Akkermansia	Sun et al. (2019)

75

Frontiers in Neuroscience | www.frontiersin.org

(Continued)

#### TABLE 2 | Continued

Probiotic species	Model	Behavioral changes	Physiological changes	References
Bifidobacterium breve	Innately anxious BALB/c male mice	↓ Depression ↓ Anxiety No effect on locomotion	No effect on CORT levels, both baseline and in response to stress	Savignac et al. (2014)
	Male adult C57BL/6J mice subjected to CUMS	↓ Depression ↓ Anhedonia ↓ Anxiety	<ul> <li>↓ Chronic stress-induced CORT release</li> <li>↓ Stress-induced ↑ Veillonellaceae populations</li> <li>↑ Expression of Tph1 mRNA in RIN14B cells (<i>in vitro</i>)</li> <li>↑ BDNF levels in the PFC</li> <li>↑ Stress-induced ↓ in alpha diversity of the gut microbiota</li> <li>↑ Glutamatergic synapse</li> <li>↑ Phenylalanine/tyrosine/TRP biosynthesis</li> <li>No effect on spleen regulatory T cells</li> </ul>	Tian et al. (2019)
	Schizophrenic individuals with anxiety and depression (aged > 20, mean $\approx$ 41–46)	↓ Depression ↓ Anxiety	↑ Relative abundance of Parabacteroides ↑ Serum IL-22 and TRANCE expression No effects on <i>Bifidobacterium</i> populations and serum levels of IL-6 and TNF-α	Okubo et al. (2019)
	Elderly humans with mild cognitive impairment (mean age $\approx$ 83 years)	↑ Mood ↑ Memory ↑ Attention ↑ Learning	N/A	Kobayashi et al. (2019)
Bifidobacterium Iongum	Innately anxious BALB/c male mice	↓ Depression ↓ Anxiety No effect on locomotion	No effect on CORT levels, both baseline and in response to stress	Savignac et al. (2014)
	Healthy human males (aged 18–40, mean $\approx$ 25 years).	↓ Stress ↓ Anxiety ↓ Memory ↓ Attention ↑ Learning	$\downarrow$ Salivary cortisol output and anxiety scores in response to stressor $\uparrow$ Neural activity of the PFC	Allen et al. (2016)
	IBS patients with mild to moderate depression and/or anxiety (median age = 40 and 46.5 years)	↓ Depression ↑ Life quality No effect on anxiety	↓ Responses to negative emotional stimuli in the amygdala and fronto–limbic regions ↓ Urine levels of methylamines and aromatic amino acids metabolites No effect on fecal microbiota profiles, serum inflammatory markers (CRP, TNF-α, IFN-γ, IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL12), BDNF, substance P and 5-HT levels	Pinto-Sanchez et al. (2017)
Lactobacillus gasseri	University male students with daily strenuous exercise (aged < 30, mean $\approx$ 20 years)	↑ Mood in depressed individuals	Prevent stress-induced $\downarrow$ in natural killer cell activity	Sashihara et al. (2013)
	Medical (cadaver dissection course) male students (aged 24)	↓ Depression ↓ Anxiety ↑ Sleep quality	↓ Salivary cortisol release ↓ Growth of inflammatory Enterobacteriaceae and <i>Veillonella</i> Prevented the downregulation of EIF2-related genes of peripheral leukocytes	Sawada et al. (2017)
	Medical (cadaver dissection course) students (heat killed <i>L. gasseri</i> ) (aged 18–34, mean $\approx$ 21 years)	In men: ↓ Sleep latency ↑ Sleep duration In women: ↓ Somatic symptoms	↓ Diarrhoea-like symptoms (in men) ↑ Fecal <i>Bacteroides vulgatus</i> levels ↓ Fecal <i>Dorea longicatena</i> levels No effect on salivary stress markers (cortisol, CgA, and alpha amylase levels)	Nishida et al. (2017a)
	Medical students in pre-examination (heat-killed <i>L. gasseri</i> ) (mean age $\approx$ 25 years)	↓ Sleep latency ↓ Sleep awakenings	<ul> <li>↑ Ratio of parasympathetic/sympathetic nerve activity</li> <li>↑ Stage N3 in the non-REM sleep period</li> <li>↓ Stress-induced ↑ in salivary cortisol levels</li> <li>↓ Stress-induced ↑ expression of stress-responsive microRNAs</li> </ul>	Nishida et al. (2017b)

changes in appetite and sleep, psychomotor retardation, poor concentration and fatigue (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). From these diagnostic criteria, approximately a thousand combinations of symptoms (Ostergaard et al., 2011) and 19 depression subtypes (Harald and Gordon, 2012; Sharpley and Bitsika, 2014) can be derived. These subtypes of depression are often grouped as a single term, namely depression, which should not be the case when evaluating therapeutic potential of probiotics.

Some associations can be drawn by matching behavioral benefits of probiotics to the characteristics of depression subtypes (Table 2). For instance, the sucrose preference test in rodents reflects the anhedonia subtype (Dedic et al., 2011). Probiotics that have been shown to improve the outcome of this test include L. helveticus (Liang et al., 2015), L. plantarum (Liu Y.W. et al., 2016), L. paracasei (Wei et al., 2019), L. kefiranofaciens (Sun et al., 2019), B. infantis (Tian et al., 2019), and B. breve (Tian et al., 2019). Among these probiotics, L. plantarum (Liu Y.W. et al., 2016) and L. paracasei (Wei et al., 2019) also modulated the central DA system, whereas B. infantis and B. breve upregulated tyrosine (precursor to DA) biosynthesis (Tian et al., 2019). An impaired DA system represents the hallmark pathophysiology of anhedonia (Dunlop and Nemeroff, 2007). This provides a proof of concept that these probiotics may be effective in treating anhedonia.

Somatic depression subtype is characterized by psychomotor agitation/retardation (i.e., locomotion), changes in weight/appetite, insomnia/hypersomnia and fatigue without physical exertion (Sharpley and Bitsika, 2014). Probiotics that improved locomotor activity of rodents include L. plantarum (Liu W.H. et al., 2016; Dhaliwal et al., 2018), L. helveticus (Liang et al., 2015) and L. brevis (Miyazaki et al., 2014). Intake of L. brevis increased sleep duration in healthy mice (Miyazaki et al., 2014; Han et al., 2017), and L. gasseri enhanced sleep quality in medical students with mild depression (Nishida et al., 2017a,b). L. rhamnosus supplementation modulated appetite-associated genes and attenuated appetite in zebrafish (Falcinelli et al., 2016, 2017). In combination with prebiotics, L. rhamnosus exerted antidepressive effect and appetite control in obese individuals (Sanchez et al., 2017). Hence, symptoms of somatic depression are rather distinct and may be improved differently with different probiotics.

Cognitive depression subtype is distinguished by poor concentration and memory function as well as indecisiveness (Sharpley and Bitsika, 2014). Behavioral assessments for memory function in mice include the Morris water maze, Barnes maze and other behavioral tests (Dedic et al., 2011). Administration of probiotics including *L. helveticus* (Ohland et al., 2013; Luo et al., 2014; Liang et al., 2015), *L. plantarum* (Dhaliwal et al., 2018), and *L. paracasei* (Corpuz et al., 2018; Huang et al., 2018) enabled animals to perform these memory test more effectively. Attention, memory and learning behaviors in humans are assessed by cognitive tests, such as the Stroop, verbal-learning and digit-symbol tests. Improvements in these tests have been shown with the intake of (1) *L. helveticus* (Chung et al., 2014; Ohsawa et al., 2018) and *B. longum* (Allen et al., 2016) in healthy adults; (2) *L. plantarum* in MDD patients (Rudzki et al., 2019) and stressed adults with mild depression (Lew et al., 2018); and (3) *B. breve* in elderly with mild cognitive impairment (Kobayashi et al., 2019). Thus, some probiotics appear to improve cognition regardless of depression.

Anxious depression subtype refers to major depression that comorbid with high levels of anxiety (Harald and Gordon, 2012). In mice, anxiety can be measured by behavioral tests, such as the elevated plus maze and open field tests (Dedic et al., 2011). In humans, anxiety is generally assessed with questionnaires. Probiotics that exhibit anxiolytic effect include L. rhamnosus (Bravo et al., 2011; Bharwani et al., 2017; McVey Neufeld et al., 2017; Slykerman et al., 2017), L. helveticus (Ohland et al., 2013; Luo et al., 2014; Liang et al., 2015), L. plantarum (Liu W.H. et al., 2016; Liu Y.W. et al., 2016; Dhaliwal et al., 2018; Lew et al., 2018), B. longum (Bercik et al., 2010, 2011; Savignac et al., 2014; Allen et al., 2016) and B. breve (Savignac et al., 2014; Okubo et al., 2019; Tian et al., 2019). Moreover, MSPs intake often decreased depression and anxiety simultaneously in randomized controlled trials (Mohammadi et al., 2016; Kouchaki et al., 2017; Jamilian et al., 2018; Raygan et al., 2018; Ostadmohammadi et al., 2019; Salami et al., 2019).

Conventional SSRIs that target the 5-HT system often fail to treat anhedonic patients and, in some cases, worsen their symptoms (Dunlop and Nemeroff, 2007). Antidepressant drugs (e.g., SSRI and SNRI) are also ineffective against other depression subtypes, namely the somatic (Tylee and Gandhi, 2005), cognitive (Shilyansky et al., 2016) and anxious depression (Ionescu et al., 2014). Therefore, certain probiotics may serve as an adjuvant or alternative treatment for MDD and its subtypes. A pilot study showed that MSP, together with a magnesium supplement, decreased depression in SSRI treatment-resistant patients (Bambling et al., 2017). A clinical trial also reported that the combination of *B. longum* and *L. helveticus* decreased depression in MDD patients with prior use of standard antidepressants (Kazemi et al., 2019).

# Single-Species and Multi-Species Probiotic

In studies that investigated behavioral effects of probiotics, about 60% of animal studies and 50% of human studies used single-species probiotics (SSPs) (Joseph and Law, 2019). Studies with SSPs promote a better understanding of the function and contribution of individual probiotic, which is difficult to measure in MSPs. However, MSPs may have higher potency in humans. In MDD patients, SSP (L. plantarum) did not reduce depression but improved cognition (Lew et al., 2018), whereas MSPs had repeatedly shown antidepressive efficacy (Akkasheh et al., 2016; Bambling et al., 2017; Ghorbani et al., 2018; Kazemi et al., 2019). MSPs often gave better therapeutic efficacy compared to that of SSPs in gut-related disorders and pathogen infections, which could be explained by an overall higher dosage (Chapman et al., 2011, 2012). Indeed, MSPs with a higher dosage improved symptoms of depression and anxiety in healthy individuals compared to that of a lower dosage (Tran et al., 2019). MSPs are also hypothesized to exhibit synergistic effects that would have an

expanded effect on the host physiology (Chapman et al., 2012). In contrast, SSPs are speculated to promote better colonization as it does not have to compete for nutrient or adhesion sites in the host (Chapman et al., 2011). This highlights the need for more studies to understand how probiotics in MSPs interact with each other and with existing gut microbiota, and which probiotic(s) is suitable in formulation of MSPs for antidepressive efficacy.

## Advantages of Probiotics as Antidepressive Treatment

Probiotics are generally safe for consumption, except for immune-compromised and critically sick individuals wherein probiotics may cause sepsis, pneumonia, endocarditis and allergies (Didari et al., 2014). Still, it has been viewed by some that more human trials are required to establish the dosage efficacy and long-term safety profile of probiotics (Kothari et al., 2018). For antidepressant drugs such as SSRIs, side effects occur in 40-60% of users which include sexual dysfunction, suicidality, emotional numbness and addiction (Read and Williams, 2018). A meta-analysis data showed that users of antidepressant drugs were associated with a 33% increased risk of mortality (Maslej et al., 2017). On the other hand, probiotics possess fewer side effects than antidepressant drugs. For instance, rats fed with L. brevis-fermented milk exhibited comparable antidepressive efficacy to fluoxetine-treated rats, but without side effects of fluoxetine (decreased appetite and weight loss) (Ko et al., 2013).

Antidepressant usage is also associated with stigma, such as being perceived as emotionally weak and dependent on drugs, which contributes to the disease severity and poor adherence to treatment (Castaldelli-Maia et al., 2011). In a survey study, 77% of depressed patients prefer to hide their use of antidepressant medication from others (Martinez et al., 2018). However, the prevalence of perceived stigma against antidepressants differs based on the population studied (Castaldelli-Maia et al., 2011). To this end, probiotics may help as an alternative treatment for depression, given that probiotics have not been associated with any perceived social stigma (Wallace and Milev, 2017).

## Candidate Probiotics With Potential Antidepressive Effect

*Bifidobacterium pseudocatenulatum* is known for its regulation of obesity-related changes in metabolism and the immune system (Cano et al., 2013; Moya-Perez et al., 2014, 2015; Sanchis-Chorda et al., 2018). *B. pseudocatenulatum* intake reversed diet-induced obesity, depression, high corticosterone and low hippocampal 5-HT levels in mice (Agusti et al., 2018). However, a high-fat diet model is meant to study the pathophysiology of obesity and type 2 diabetes (Winzell and Ahren, 2004; Wang and Liao, 2012). It is, thus, unclear if *B. pseudocatenulatum* would decrease depression in mice without obesity. Another study showed that anxiety-like behaviors diminished in chronic-stressed mice fed with *B. pseudocatenulatum*, but depressive-like behaviors were unevaluated (Moya-Perez et al., 2017). Therefore, further studies are required to determine whether *B. pseudocatenulatum* has an independent antidepressive effect.

*Bacillus coagulans* supplementation relieved symptoms of both IBS and depression in patients diagnosed with IBS and MDD. This clinical recovery is accompanied by a decrease in serum myeloperoxidase, an inflammatory marker (Majeed et al., 2018). However, patients might have experienced less depression as a result of reduced IBS symptoms. Interestingly, *B. coagulans* intake increased levels of circulating IL-10, fecal *F. prausnitzii* and SCFAs in older adults (Nyangale et al., 2014, 2015). As *F. prausnitzii* and butyrate are associated with antidepressive properties (Hao et al., 2019), *B. coagulans* may also indirectly reduce depression and improve gut health.

Bifidobacterium bifidum and L. acidophilus were often included in the formulation of MSPs to treat depressive symptoms in patients with MDD (Akkasheh et al., 2016; Bambling et al., 2017; Ghorbani et al., 2018) and other health conditions, such as polycystic ovarian syndrome, multiple sclerosis and IBS (Kouchaki et al., 2017; Ostadmohammadi et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2019). Surprisingly, B. bifidum and L. acidophilus have not been tested independently for its antidepressive effect. B. bifidum intake improved mood and reduced symptoms of abdominal pain, diarrhea and constipation in patients with gastrointestinal disorders (Urita et al., 2015). However, the mood elevation could be due to recovery of gastrointestinal symptoms rather than effect of probiotics solely. Both in vitro and in vivo models showed that L. acidophilus protects the intestinal barrier integrity by preventing pathogen adherence and release of proinflammatory cytokines (Chen et al., 2009; Justino et al., 2015; Alamdary et al., 2018; Lepine et al., 2018; Najarian et al., 2019). Taken together, B. bifidum and L. acidophilus potentially exhibit antidepressive effect and their direct influence on depression warrants further investigation.

Bacteroides fragilis has been proposed as a potential probiotic, although its pathogenicity needs to be taken into consideration. B. fragilis secretes polysaccharide A and expresses sphingolipids that benefit the host gut health and immune system (Troy and Kasper, 2010; Tan et al., 2019). Bacteroides genus is likely to be the largest GABA producer amongst human gut microbiota, with B. fragilis produces GABA at low pH. The same study also found that neural patterns of a typical MDD patient correlated with low fecal levels of Bacteroides (Strandwitz et al., 2019). Hence, antidepressive potential of B. pseudocatenulatum, B. coagulans, B. bifidum, L. acidophilus, and B. fragilis warrants further investigation. It is also worth noting that Bifidobacterium adolescentis's antidepressive capability may be a new probiotic candidate (Jang et al., 2019). Evidently, an increasing number of probiotics are being presented as a potential treatment for depression. This provides a wide repository of available probiotics, with different species combinations, that can be assessed for clinical efficacy against depression.

## CONCLUSION

The MGB axis enables the bidirectional communication between the gut microbiota and the brain. When this axis becomes

maladaptive, the host physiology is adversely affected which may lead to the development of depression. Probiotics have shown clinical efficacy in the treatment of depression by modulating the MGB axis. Yet, the complexity of gut microbiota and heterogeneity of depression presents a challenge to explain the underlying mechanisms that contribute to this clinical efficacy. Nonetheless, cumulative evidence suggests the therapeutic potential of probiotics for certain depression subtypes, with fewer side effects and less stigma compared to standard antidepressants.

Limitations of this review include: (1) inferences of probiotic mechanisms were derived from preclinical and *in vitro* data; (2) interactions of probiotics with other members of gut microbiota were unexplored, therefore the mechanisms of MSPs was unable to be explored; (3) strain-specific effects of bacterial species were neglected; (4) potential applications for probiotics for depression subtypes are hypothesized, however, clinical evidence is limited; (5) effect sizes of probiotics as antidepressants was not evaluated. Notwithstanding these caveats, this review adds further understanding to the potential antidepressive effects and therapeutic potentials of probiotics. Venema (2017) stated that it is imperative to grasp the underlying molecular mechanisms of

#### REFERENCES

- Abildgaard, A., Kern, T., Pedersen, O., Hansen, T., Wegener, G., and Lund, S. (2019). The antidepressant-like effect of probiotics and their faecal abundance may be modulated by the cohabiting gut microbiota in rats. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 29, 98–110. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2018.1 0.011
- Agusti, A., Moya-Perez, A., Campillo, I., Montserrat-de la Paz, S., Cerrudo, V., Perez-Villalba, A., et al. (2018). *Bifidobacterium pseudocatenulatum* CECT 7765 ameliorates neuroendocrine alterations associated with an exaggerated stress response and anhedonia in obese mice. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 55, 5337–5352. doi: 10.1007/s12035-017-0768-z
- Aizawa, E., Tsuji, H., Asahara, T., Takahashi, T., Teraishi, T., Yoshida, S., et al. (2016). Possible association of Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus in the gut microbiota of patients with major depressive disorder. J. Affect. Disord. 202, 254–257. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.05.038
- Akkasheh, G., Kashani-Poor, Z., Tajabadi-Ebrahimi, M., Jafari, P., Akbari, H., Taghizadeh, M., et al. (2016). Clinical and metabolic response to probiotic administration in patients with major depressive disorder: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Nutrition* 32, 315–320. doi: 10.1016/j. nut.2015.09.003
- Alamdary, S. Z., Bakhshi, B., and Soudi, S. (2018). The anti-apoptotic and antiinflammatory effect of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* on *Shigella sonnei* and *Vibrio cholerae* interaction with intestinal epithelial cells: a comparison between invasive and non-invasive bacteria. *PLoS One* 13:e0196941. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0196941
- Allen, A. P., Hutch, W., Borre, Y. E., Kennedy, P. J., Temko, A., Boylan, G., et al. (2016). *Bifidobacterium longum* 1714 as a translational psychobiotic: modulation of stress, electrophysiology and neurocognition in healthy volunteers. *Transl. Psychiatry* 6:e939. doi: 10.1038/tp.20 16.191
- Almeida, A., Mitchell, A. L., Boland, M., Forster, S. C., Gloor, G. B., Tarkowska, A., et al. (2019). A new genomic blueprint of the human gut microbiota. *Nature* 568, 499–504. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-0965-1
- Alonso, C., Guilarte, M., Vicario, M., Ramos, L., Rezzi, S., Martinez, C., et al. (2012). Acute experimental stress evokes a differential gender-determined increase in human intestinal macromolecular permeability. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 24, 740–746, e348–e349. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2012.01 928.x

the MGB axis, and which microbial populations are pertinent for this intervention, to advance the marketability of probiotics.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SY wrote and edited the manuscript. TT, JC, and WL conceptualized and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the intellectual input and critical revision of the manuscript.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the Sunway University Research Internal Grants (INT-2018-SST-DBS-05).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Tong Xen Leong and Bahaa Abdella for providing their initial input to the work.

- American Psychiatric Association, (2013). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, the Edition: DSM-5. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Anderberg, R. H., Richard, J. E., Hansson, C., Nissbrandt, H., Bergquist, F., and Skibicka, K. P. (2016). GLP-1 is both anxiogenic and antidepressant; divergent effects of acute and chronic GLP-1 on emotionality. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 65, 54–66. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2015.11.021
- Araki, Y., Andoh, A., Fujiyama, Y., Takizawa, J., Takizawa, W., and Bamba, T. (2002). Oral administration of a product derived from *Clostridium butyricum* in rats. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 9, 53–57.
- Asano, Y., Hiramoto, T., Nishino, R., Aiba, Y., Kimura, T., Yoshihara, K., et al. (2012). Critical role of gut microbiota in the production of biologically active, free catecholamines in the gut lumen of mice. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 303, G1288–G1295. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00341.2012
- Bailey, M. T., Dowd, S. E., Galley, J. D., Hufnagle, A. R., Allen, R. G., and Lyte, M. (2011). Exposure to a social stressor alters the structure of the intestinal microbiota: implications for stressor-induced immunomodulation. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 25, 397–407. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2010.10.023
- Bambling, M., Edwards, S. C., Hall, S., and Vitetta, L. (2017). A combination of probiotics and magnesium orotate attenuate depression in a small SSRI resistant cohort: an intestinal anti-inflammatory response is suggested. *Inflammopharmacology* 25, 271–274. doi: 10.1007/s10787-017-0311-x
- Baranyi, A., Meinitzer, A., Stepan, A., Putz-Bankuti, C., Breitenecker, R. J., Stauber, R., et al. (2013). A biopsychosocial model of interferon-alphainduced depression in patients with chronic hepatitis C infection. *Psychother. Psychosom.* 82, 332–340. doi: 10.1159/000348587
- Barrett, E., Ross, R. P., O'Toole, P. W., Fitzgerald, G. F., and Stanton, C. (2012). gamma-Aminobutyric acid production by culturable bacteria from the human intestine. J. Appl. Microbiol. 113, 411–417. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2012.05 344.x
- Benton, D., Williams, C., and Brown, A. (2007). Impact of consuming a milk drink containing a probiotic on mood and cognition. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 61, 355–361. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602546
- Bercik, P., Park, A. J., Sinclair, D., Khoshdel, A., Lu, J., Huang, X., et al. (2011). The anxiolytic effect of *Bifidobacterium longum* NCC3001 involves vagal pathways for gut-brain communication. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 23, 1132–1139. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2011.01796.x
- Bercik, P., Verdu, E. F., Foster, J. A., Macri, J., Potter, M., Huang, X., et al. (2010). Chronic gastrointestinal inflammation induces anxiety-like behavior

and alters central nervous system biochemistry in mice. *Gastroenterology* 139, 2102.e1–2112.e1. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.06.063

- Bertani, L., Gambaccini, D., Pancetti, A., Guglielmetti, S., Mastorci, F., Gemignani, A., et al. (2017). *Lactobacillus Casei* DG<sup>®</sup> in patients with irritable bowel syndrome: not only a change of the gut microbiota. A Pilot Study. *Gastroenterology* 152(Suppl. 1):S819. doi: 10.1016/s0016-5085(17) 32830-5
- Bhagwagar, Z., Wylezinska, M., Jezzard, P., Evans, J., Boorman, E., Matthews, P., et al. (2008). Low GABA concentrations in occipital cortex and anterior cingulate cortex in medication-free, recovered depressed patients. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 11, 255–260. doi: 10.1017/S146114570700 7924
- Bharwani, A., Mian, M. F., Surette, M. G., Bienenstock, J., and Forsythe, P. (2017). Oral treatment with *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* attenuates behavioural deficits and immune changes in chronic social stress. *BMC Med.* 15:7. doi: 10.1186/ s12916-016-0771-7
- Birdsall, T. C. (1998). 5-Hydroxytryptophan: a clinically-effective serotonin precursor. Altern. Med. Rev. 3, 271–280.
- Bjorkholm, C., and Monteggia, L. M. (2016). BDNF a key transducer of antidepressant effects. *Neuropharmacology* 102, 72–79. doi: 10.1016/j. neuropharm.2015.10.034
- Bordin, M., D'Atri, F., Guillemot, L., and Citi, S. (2004). Histone deacetylase inhibitors up-regulate the expression of tight junction proteins. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 2, 692–701.
- Botta, C., Acquadro, A., Greppi, A., Barchi, L., Bertolino, M., Cocolin, L., et al. (2017). Genomic assessment in *Lactobacillus plantarum* links the butyrogenic pathway with glutamine metabolism. *Sci. Rep.* 7:15975. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-16186-8
- Bravo, J. A., Forsythe, P., Chew, M. V., Escaravage, E., Savignac, H. M., Dinan, T. G., et al. (2011). Ingestion of Lactobacillus strain regulates emotional behavior and central GABA receptor expression in a mouse via the vagus nerve. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 16050–16055. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1102999108
- Breit, S., Kupferberg, A., Rogler, G., and Hasler, G. (2018). Vagus nerve as modulator of the brain-gut axis in psychiatric and inflammatory disorders. *Front. Psychiatry* 9:44. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00044
- Brust, P., Friedrich, A., Krizbai, I. A., Bergmann, R., Roux, F., Ganapathy, V., et al. (2000). Functional expression of the serotonin transporter in immortalized rat brain microvessel endothelial cells. *J. Neurochem.* 74, 1241–1248. doi: 10.1046/ j.1471-4159.2000.741241.x
- Buhner, S., Hahne, H., Hartwig, K., Li, Q., Vignali, S., Ostertag, D., et al. (2018). Protease signaling through protease activated receptor 1 mediate nerve activation by mucosal supernatants from irritable bowel syndrome but not from ulcerative colitis patients. *PLoS One* 13:e0193943. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0193943
- Butts, K. A., and Phillips, A. G. (2013). Glucocorticoid receptors in the prefrontal cortex regulate dopamine efflux to stress via descending glutamatergic feedback to the ventral tegmental area. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 16, 1799–1807. doi: 10.1017/S1461145713000187
- Byun, J. I., Shin, Y. Y., Chung, S. E., and Shin, W. C. (2018). Safety and efficacy of gamma-aminobutyric acid from fermented rice germ in patients with insomnia symptoms: a randomized, double-blind trial. *J. Clin. Neurol.* 14, 291–295. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2018.14.3.291
- Calarge, C. A., Devaraj, S., and Shulman, R. J. (2019). Gut permeability and depressive symptom severity in unmedicated adolescents. J. Affect. Disord. 246, 586–594. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.12.077
- Cano, P. G., Santacruz, A., Trejo, F. M., and Sanz, Y. (2013). Bifidobacterium CECT 7765 improves metabolic and immunological alterations associated with obesity in high-fat diet-fed mice. *Obesity* 21, 2310–2321. doi: 10.1002/oby.20330
- Carhart-Harris, R. L., and Nutt, D. J. (2017). Serotonin and brain function: a tale of two receptors. J. Psychopharmacol. 31, 1091–1120. doi: 10.1177/ 0269881117725915
- Cassir, N., Benamar, S., and La Scola, B. (2016). *Clostridium butyricum*: from beneficial to a new emerging pathogen. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* 22, 37–45. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2015.10.014
- Castaldelli-Maia, J. M., Scomparini, L. B., Andrade, A. G., Bhugra, D., de Toledo Ferraz Alves, T. C., and D'Elia, G. (2011). Perceptions of and attitudes toward antidepressants: stigma attached to their use-a review. *J. Nerv. Ment. Dis.* 199, 866–871. doi: 10.1097/NMD.0b013e3182388950

- Chapman, C. M., Gibson, G. R., and Rowland, I. (2011). Health benefits of probiotics: are mixtures more effective than single strains? *Eur. J. Nutr.* 50, 1–17. doi: 10.1007/s00394-010-0166-z
- Chapman, C. M., Gibson, G. R., and Rowland, I. (2012). In vitro evaluation of single- and multi-strain probiotics: inter-species inhibition between probiotic strains, and inhibition of pathogens. *Anaerobe* 18, 405–413. doi: 10.1016/j. anaerobe.2012.05.004
- Chen, C. C., Chiu, C. H., Lin, T. Y., Shi, H. N., and Walker, W. A. (2009). Effect of probiotics Lactobacillus acidophilus on *Citrobacter rodentium* colitis: the role of dendritic cells. *Pediatr. Res.* 65, 169–175. doi: 10.1203/PDR.0b013e31818d5a06
- Chunchai, T., Thunapong, W., Yasom, S., Wanchai, K., Eaimworawuthikul, S., Metzler, G., et al. (2018). Decreased microglial activation through gut-brain axis by prebiotics, probiotics, or synbiotics effectively restored cognitive function in obese-insulin resistant rats. *J. Neuroinflamm*. 15:11. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1055-2
- Chung, Y.-C., Jin, H.-M., Cui, Y., Kim, D. S., Jung, J. M., Park, J.-I., et al. (2014). Fermented milk of *Lactobacillus helveticus* IDCC3801 improves cognitive functioning during cognitive fatigue tests in healthy older adults. *J. Funct. Foods* 10, 465–474. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2014.07.007
- Clarke, G., Grenham, S., Scully, P., Fitzgerald, P., Moloney, R. D., Shanahan, F., et al. (2013). The microbiome-gut-brain axis during early life regulates the hippocampal serotonergic system in a sex-dependent manner. *Mol. Psychiatry* 18, 666–673. doi: 10.1038/mp.2012.77
- Corpuz, H. M., Ichikawa, S., Arimura, M., Mihara, T., Kumagai, T., Mitani, T., et al. (2018). Long-term diet supplementation with *Lactobacillus paracasei* K71 prevents age-related cognitive decline in senescence-accelerated mouse prone 8. *Nutrients* 10:E762. doi: 10.3390/nu10060762
- Cremon, C., Guglielmetti, S., Gargari, G., Taverniti, V., Castellazzi, A. M., Valsecchi, C., et al. (2018). Effect of *Lactobacillus paracasei* CNCM I-1572 on symptoms, gut microbiota, short chain fatty acids, and immune activation in patients with irritable bowel syndrome: a pilot randomized clinical trial. *United Eur. Gastroenterol. J.* 6, 604–613. doi: 10.1177/205064061773 6478
- Cullinan, W. E., Ziegler, D. R., and Herman, J. P. (2008). Functional role of local GABAergic influences on the HPA axis. *Brain Struct. Funct.* 213, 63–72. doi: 10.1007/s00429-008-0192-2
- de Punder, K., and Pruimboom, L. (2015). Stress induces endotoxemia and lowgrade inflammation by increasing barrier permeability. *Front. Immunol.* 6:223. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00223
- Dedic, N., Walser, S. M., and Deussing, J. M. (2011). "Mouse models of depression," in *Psychiatric Disorders - Trends and Developments*, ed. T. Uehara (London: InTech).
- Desbonnet, L., Garrett, L., Clarke, G., Bienenstock, J., and Dinan, T. G. (2008). The probiotic Bifidobacteria infantis: an assessment of potential antidepressant properties in the rat. J. Psychiatr. Res. 43, 164–174. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires. 2008.03.009
- Desbonnet, L., Garrett, L., Clarke, G., Kiely, B., Cryan, J. F., and Dinan, T. G. (2010). Effects of the probiotic Bifidobacterium infantis in the maternal separation model of depression. *Neuroscience* 170, 1179–1188. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience. 2010.08.005
- Dhaliwal, J., Singh, D. P., Singh, S., Pinnaka, A. K., Boparai, R. K., Bishnoi, M., et al. (2018). *Lactobacillus plantarum* MTCC 9510 supplementation protects from chronic unpredictable and sleep deprivation-induced behaviour, biochemical and selected gut microbial aberrations in mice. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 125, 257–269. doi: 10.1111/jam.13765
- Di Cerbo, A., and Palmieri, B. (2015). Review: the market of probiotics. *Pak. J. Pharm. Sci.* 28, 2199–2206.
- Diaz Heijtz, R., Wang, S., Anuar, F., Qian, Y., Bjorkholm, B., Samuelsson, A., et al. (2011). Normal gut microbiota modulates brain development and behavior. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 3047–3052. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1010529108
- Didari, T., Solki, S., Mozaffari, S., Nikfar, S., and Abdollahi, M. (2014). A systematic review of the safety of probiotics. *Expert Opin. Drug Saf.* 13, 227–239. doi: 10.1517/14740338.2014.872627
- Dowlati, Y., Herrmann, N., Swardfager, W., Liu, H., Sham, L., Reim, E. K., et al. (2010). A meta-analysis of cytokines in major depression. *Biol. Psychiatry* 67, 446–457. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.09.033
- Duncan, S. H. (2002). Growth requirements and fermentation products of *Fusobacterium prausnitzii*, and a proposal to reclassify it as *Faecalibacterium*

prausnitzii gen. nov., comb. nov. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 52, 2141–2146. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.02241-0

- Dunlop, B. W., and Nemeroff, C. B. (2007). The role of dopamine in the pathophysiology of depression. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 64, 327–337. doi: 10.1001/ archpsyc.64.3.327
- Durrant, A. R., and Heresco-Levy, U. (2014). D-Serine in neuropsychiatric disorders: new advances. Adv. Psychiatry 2014, 1–16. doi: 10.1155/2014/859735
- Earnheart, J. C., Schweizer, C., Crestani, F., Iwasato, T., Itohara, S., Mohler, H., et al. (2007). GABAergic control of adult hippocampal neurogenesis in relation to behavior indicative of trait anxiety and depression states. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 3845–3854. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3609-06.2007
- Elce, A., Amato, F., Zarrilli, F., Calignano, A., Troncone, R., Castaldo, G., et al. (2017). Butyrate modulating effects on pro-inflammatory pathways in human intestinal epithelial cells. *Benef. Microbes* 8, 841–847. doi: 10.3920/BM2016. 0197
- El-Merahbi, R., Loffler, M., Mayer, A., and Sumara, G. (2015). The roles of peripheral serotonin in metabolic homeostasis. *FEBS Lett.* 589, 1728–1734. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2015.05.054
- Eutamene, H., Lamine, F., Chabo, C., Theodorou, V., Rochat, F., Bergonzelli, G. E., et al. (2007). Synergy between *Lactobacillus paracasei* and its bacterial products to counteract stress-induced gut permeability and sensitivity increase in rats. *J. Nutr.* 137, 1901–1907. doi: 10.1093/jn/137.8.1901
- Evans, S. J., Bassis, C. M., Hein, R., Assari, S., Flowers, S. A., Kelly, M. B., et al. (2017). The gut microbiome composition associates with bipolar disorder and illness severity. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 87, 23–29. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.12.007
- Ewaschuk, J. B., Diaz, H., Meddings, L., Diederichs, B., Dmytrash, A., Backer, J., et al. (2008). Secreted bioactive factors from Bifidobacterium infantis enhance epithelial cell barrier function. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 295, G1025–G1034. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.90227.2008
- Falcinelli, S., Rodiles, A., Hatef, A., Picchietti, S., Cossignani, L., Merrifield, D. L., et al. (2017). Dietary lipid content reorganizes gut microbiota and probiotic *L. rhamnosus* attenuates obesity and enhances catabolic hormonal milieu in zebrafish. *Sci. Rep.* 7:5512. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-05147-w
- Falcinelli, S., Rodiles, A., Unniappan, S., Picchietti, S., Gioacchini, G., Merrifield, D. L., et al. (2016). Probiotic treatment reduces appetite and glucose level in the zebrafish model. *Sci. Rep.* 6:18061. doi: 10.1038/srep18061
- Farabaugh, A. H., Mischoulon, D., Fava, M., Green, C., Guyker, W., and Alpert, J. (2004). The potential relationship between levels of perceived stress and subtypes of major depressive disorder (MDD). Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 110, 465–470. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2004.00377.x
- Feenstra, M. G., Kalsbeek, A., and van Galen, H. (1992). Neonatal lesions of the ventral tegmental area affect monoaminergic responses to stress in the medial prefrontal cortex and other dopamine projection areas in adulthood. *Brain Res.* 596, 169–182. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(92)91545-p
- Freestone, P. (2013). Communication between bacteria and their hosts. *Scientifica* 2013, 361073. doi: 10.1155/2013/361073
- Freewan, M., Rees, M. D., Plaza, T. S., Glaros, E., Lim, Y. J., Wang, X. S., et al. (2013). Human indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase is a catalyst of physiological heme peroxidase reactions: implications for the inhibition of dioxygenase activity by hydrogen peroxide. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 1548–1567. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112. 410993
- Furness, J. B. (2012). The enteric nervous system and neurogastroenterology. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 9, 286–294. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2012.32
- Gabbay, V., Klein, R. G., Katz, Y., Mendoza, S., Guttman, L. E., Alonso, C. M., et al. (2010). The possible role of the kynurenine pathway in adolescent depression with melancholic features. *J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry* 51, 935–943. doi: 10.1111/ j.1469-7610.2010.02245.x
- Ganesh, B. P., Hall, A., Ayyaswamy, S., Nelson, J. W., Fultz, R., Major, A., et al. (2018). Diacylglycerol kinase synthesized by commensal *Lactobacillus reuteri* diminishes protein kinase C phosphorylation and histamine-mediated signaling in the mammalian intestinal epithelium. *Mucosal Immunol.* 11, 380– 393. doi: 10.1038/mi.2017.58
- Gao, C., Major, A., Rendon, D., Lugo, M., Jackson, V., Shi, Z., et al. (2015). Histamine H2 receptor-mediated suppression of intestinal inflammation by probiotic *Lactobacillus reuteri*. *mBio* 6:e01358-15. doi: 10.1128/mBio. 01358-15
- Gao, X., Cao, Q., Cheng, Y., Zhao, D., Wang, Z., Yang, H., et al. (2018). Chronic stress promotes colitis by disturbing the gut microbiota and triggering immune

system response. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 115, E2960-E2969. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1720696115

- Ghorbani, Z., Nazari, S., Etesam, F., Nourimajd, S., Ahmadpanah, M., and Razeghi Jahromi, S. (2018). The effect of synbiotic as an adjuvant therapy to fluoxetine in moderate depression: a randomized multicenter trial. *Arch. Neurosci.* 5:e60507. doi: 10.5812/archneurosci.60507
- Girvin, G. T., and Stevenson, J. W. (1954). Cell free choline acetylase from Lactobacillus plantarum. Can. J. Biochem. Physiol. 32, 131–146. doi: 10.1139/ y54-015
- Godlewska, B. R., Emir, U. E., Masaki, C., Bargiotas, T., and Cowen, P. J. (2019). Changes in brain Glx in depressed bipolar patients treated with lamotrigine: a proton MRS study. *J. Affect. Disord.* 246, 418–421. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.1 2.092
- Gómez-Hurtado, I., Zapater, P., Peiró, G., González-Navajas, J. M., Pérez-Mateo, M., Such, J., et al. (2012). Oral administration of B. infantis favors a reduction in mesenteric lymph node bacterial DNA translocation episodes in mice with carbon tetrachloride-induced cirrhosis. J. Hepatol. 56(Suppl. 2), S229. doi: 10. 1016/s0168-8278(12)60589-3
- Goncalves, P., Araujo, J. R., and Martel, F. (2011). Characterization of butyrate uptake by nontransformed intestinal epithelial cell lines. *J. Membr. Biol.* 240, 35–46. doi: 10.1007/s00232-011-9340-3
- Gonul, A. S., Kitis, O., Ozan, E., Akdeniz, F., Eker, C., Eker, O. D., et al. (2006). The effect of antidepressant treatment on N-acetyl aspartate levels of medial frontal cortex in drug-free depressed patients. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 30, 120–125. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2005.08.017
- Gottesmann, C. (2002). GABA mechanisms and sleep. *Neuroscience* 111, 231–239. doi: 10.1016/s0306-4522(02)00034-9
- Grigoleit, J. S., Kullmann, J. S., Wolf, O. T., Hammes, F., Wegner, A., Jablonowski, S., et al. (2011). Dose-dependent effects of endotoxin on neurobehavioral functions in humans. *PLoS One* 6:e28330. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028330
- Groeger, D., O'Mahony, L., Murphy, E. F., Bourke, J. F., Dinan, T. G., Kiely, B., et al. (2013). Bifidobacterium infantis 35624 modulates host inflammatory processes beyond the gut. *Gut Microbes* 4, 325–339. doi: 10.4161/gmic.25487
- Grunewald, M., Johnson, S., Lu, D., Wang, Z., Lomberk, G., Albert, P. R., et al. (2012). Mechanistic role for a novel glucocorticoid-KLF11 (TIEG2) protein pathway in stress-induced monoamine oxidase A expression. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 24195–24206. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.373936
- Gutierrez, A., Zapater, P., Juanola, O., Sempere, L., Garcia, M., Laveda, R., et al. (2016). Gut bacterial DNA translocation is an independent risk factor of flare at short term in patients With Crohn's disease. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 111, 529–540. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2016.8
- Han, A., Sung, Y. B., Chung, S. Y., and Kwon, M. S. (2014). Possible additional antidepressant-like mechanism of sodium butyrate: targeting the hippocampus. *Neuropharmacology* 81, 292–302. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2014.02.017
- Han, S. H., Hong, K. B., and Suh, H. J. (2017). Biotransformation of monosodium glutamate to gamma-aminobutyric acid by isolated strain Lactobacillus brevis L-32 for potentiation of pentobarbital-induced sleep in mice. *Food Biotechnol.* 31, 80–93. doi: 10.1080/08905436.2017.1301821
- Hao, Z., Wang, W., Guo, R., and Liu, H. (2019). Faecalibacterium prausnitzii (ATCC 27766) has preventive and therapeutic effects on chronic unpredictable mild stress-induced depression-like and anxiety-like behavior in rats. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 104, 132–142. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.0 2.025
- Harald, B., and Gordon, P. (2012). Meta-review of depressive subtyping models. J. Affect. Disord. 139, 126–140. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2011.07.015
- Hasler, G., van der Veen, J. W., Tumonis, T., Meyers, N., Shen, J., and Drevets, W. C. (2007). Reduced prefrontal glutamate/glutamine and gammaaminobutyric acid levels in major depression determined using proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 64, 193–200. doi: 10. 1001/archpsyc.64.2.193
- Hasler, W. L. (2009). Serotonin and the GI tract. Curr. Gastroenterol. Rep. 11, 383–391. doi: 10.1007/s11894-009-0058-7
- Hata, T., Asano, Y., Yoshihara, K., Kimura-Todani, T., Miyata, N., Zhang, X. T., et al. (2017). Regulation of gut luminal serotonin by commensal microbiota in mice. *PLoS One* 12:e0180745. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0180745
- He, G. Q., Kong, Q., Chen, Q. H., and Ruan, H. (2005). Batch and fed-batch production of butyric acid by clostridium butyricum ZJUCB. *J. Zhejiang Univ. Sci. B* 6, 1076–1080. doi: 10.1631/jzus.2005.B1076

- Hemarajata, P., Gao, C., Pflughoeft, K. J., Thomas, C. M., Saulnier, D. M., Spinler, J. K., et al. (2013). *Lactobacillus reuteri*-specific immunoregulatory gene rsiR modulates histamine production and immunomodulation by *Lactobacillus reuteri*. J. Bacteriol. 195, 5567–5576. doi: 10.1128/JB.00261-13
- Hewitt, S. A., Wamsteeker, J. I., Kurz, E. U., and Bains, J. S. (2009). Altered chloride homeostasis removes synaptic inhibitory constraint of the stress axis. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 438–443. doi: 10.1038/nn.2274
- Hillsley, K., and Grundy, D. (1998). Serotonin and cholecystokinin activate different populations of rat mesenteric vagal afferents. *Neurosci. Lett.* 255, 63–66. doi: 10.1016/s0304-3940(98)00690-9
- Hoermannsperger, G., Clavel, T., Hoffmann, M., Reiff, C., Kelly, D., Loh, G., et al. (2009). Post-translational inhibition of IP-10 secretion in IEC by probiotic bacteria: impact on chronic inflammation. *PLoS One* 4:e4365. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0004365
- Hold, G. L., Schwiertz, A., Aminov, R. I., Blaut, M., and Flint, H. J. (2003). Oligonucleotide probes that detect quantitatively significant groups of butyrateproducing bacteria in human feces. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 69, 4320–4324. doi: 10.1128/aem.69.7.4320-4324.2003
- Howren, M. B., Lamkin, D. M., and Suls, J. (2009). Associations of depression with C-reactive protein, IL-1, and IL-6: a meta-analysis. *Psychosom. Med.* 71, 171–186. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e3181907c1b
- Huang, R., Wang, K., and Hu, J. (2016). Effect of probiotics on depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Nutrients* 8:E483. doi: 10.3390/nu8080483
- Huang, S. Y., Chen, L. H., Wang, M. F., Hsu, C. C., Chan, C. H., Li, J. X., et al. (2018). *Lactobacillus paracasei* PS23 delays progression of age-related cognitive decline in senescence accelerated mouse prone 8 (SAMP8) mice. *Nutrients* 10:894. doi: 10.3390/nu10070894
- Hughes, E. R., Winter, M. G., Duerkop, B. A., Spiga, L., Furtado de Carvalho, T., Zhu, W., et al. (2017). Microbial respiration and formate oxidation as metabolic signatures of inflammation-associated dysbiosis. *Cell Host Microbe* 21, 208–219. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2017.01.005
- Hyland, N. P., and Cryan, J. F. (2010). A gut feeling about GABA: focus on GABA(B) receptors. *Front. Pharmacol.* 1:124. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2010.00124
- Ionescu, D. F., Niciu, M. J., Richards, E. M., and Zarate, C. A. Jr. (2014). Pharmacologic treatment of dimensional anxious depression: a review. *Prim Care Companion CNS Disord*. 16:CC.13r01621. doi: 10.4088/PCC.13r01621
- Ivanov, D., Emonet, C., Foata, F., Affolter, M., Delley, M., Fisseha, M., et al. (2006). A serpin from the gut bacterium *Bifidobacterium longum* inhibits eukaryotic elastase-like serine proteases. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 17246–17252. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M601678200
- Jacobsen, J. P., Rudder, M. L., Roberts, W., Royer, E. L., Robinson, T. J., Oh, A., et al. (2016). SSRI augmentation by 5-Hydroxytryptophan slow release: mouse pharmacodynamic proof of concept. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 41, 2324–2334. doi: 10.1038/npp.2016.35
- Jamilian, M., Mansury, S., Bahmani, F., Heidar, Z., Amirani, E., and Asemi, Z. (2018). The effects of probiotic and selenium co-supplementation on parameters of mental health, hormonal profiles, and biomarkers of inflammation and oxidative stress in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J. Ovarian Res. 11:80. doi: 10.1186/s13048-018-0457-1
- Jang, H. M., Lee, K. E., and Kim, D. H. (2019). The preventive and curative effects of *Lactobacillus reuteri* NK33 and Bifidobacterium adolescentis NK98 on immobilization stress-induced anxiety/depression and colitis in mice. *Nutrients* 11:E819. doi: 10.3390/nu11040819
- Jangid, P., Malik, P., Singh, P., Sharma, M., and Gulia, A. K. (2013). Comparative study of efficacy of l-5-hydroxytryptophan and fluoxetine in patients presenting with first depressive episode. *Asian J. Psychiatr.* 6, 29–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2012. 05.011
- Janik, R., Thomason, L. A. M., Stanisz, A. M., Forsythe, P., Bienenstock, J., and Stanisz, G. J. (2016). Magnetic resonance spectroscopy reveals oral *Lactobacillus* promotion of increases in brain GABA, N-acetyl aspartate and glutamate. *Neuroimage* 125, 988–995. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.1 1.018
- Javed, N. H., Alsahly, M. B., and Khubchandani, J. (2016). Oral feeding of probiotic bifidobacterium infantis: colonic morphological changes in rat model of TNBS-Induced Colitis. *Scientifica* 2016, 9572596. doi: 10.1155/2016/957 2596

- Jeong, D., Kim, D.-H., Kang, I.-B., Kim, H., Song, K.-Y., Kim, H.-S., et al. (2017a). Characterization and antibacterial activity of a novel exopolysaccharide produced by *Lactobacillus kefiranofaciens* DN1 isolated from kefir. *Food Control* 78, 436–442. doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2017.02.033
- Jeong, D., Kim, D. H., Kang, I. B., Kim, H., Song, K. Y., Kim, H. S., et al. (2017b). Modulation of gut microbiota and increase in fecal water content in mice induced by administration of *Lactobacillus kefiranofaciens* DN1. *Food Funct*. 8, 680–686. doi: 10.1039/c6fo01559j
- Jiang, H., Ling, Z., Zhang, Y., Mao, H., Ma, Z., Yin, Y., et al. (2015). Altered fecal microbiota composition in patients with major depressive disorder. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 48, 186–194. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.03.016
- Joseph, J. M., and Law, C. (2019). Cross-species examination of single- and multistrain probiotic treatment effects on neuropsychiatric outcomes. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 99, 160–197. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.11.010
- Julio-Pieper, M., O'Connor, R. M., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2013). Regulation of the brain-gut axis by group III metabotropic glutamate receptors. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 698, 19–30. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2012.10.027
- Justino, P. F., Melo, L. F., Nogueira, A. F., Morais, C. M., Mendes, W. O., Franco, A. X., et al. (2015). Regulatory role of Lactobacillus acidophilus on inflammation and gastric dysmotility in intestinal mucositis induced by 5fluorouracil in mice. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 75, 559–567. doi: 10.1007/ s00280-014-2663-x
- Kano, M., Fukudo, S., Tashiro, A., Utsumi, A., Tamura, D., Itoh, M., et al. (2004). Decreased histamine H1 receptor binding in the brain of depressed patients. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 20, 803–810. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03540.x
- Karl, J. P., Hatch, A. M., Arcidiacono, S. M., Pearce, S. C., Pantoja-Feliciano, I. G., Doherty, L. A., et al. (2018). Effects of psychological, environmental and physical stressors on the gut microbiota. *Front. Microbiol.* 9:2013. doi: 10.3389/ fmicb.2018.02013
- Kato-Kataoka, A., Nishida, K., Takada, M., Kawai, M., Kikuchi-Hayakawa, H., Suda, K., et al. (2016). Fermented milk containing lactobacillus casei strain shirota preserves the diversity of the gut microbiota and relieves abdominal dysfunction in healthy medical students exposed to academic stress. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 82, 3649–3658. doi: 10.1128/AEM.04134-15
- Kazemi, A., Noorbala, A. A., Azam, K., and Djafarian, K. (2019). Effect of prebiotic and probiotic supplementation on circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines and urinary cortisol levels in patients with major depressive disorder: a doubleblind, placebo-controlled randomized clinical trial. *J. Funct. Foods* 52, 596–602. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2018.11.041
- Kelly, J. R., Allen, A. P., Temko, A., Hutch, W., Kennedy, P. J., Farid, N., et al. (2017). Lost in translation? The potential psychobiotic *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* (JB-1) fails to modulate stress or cognitive performance in healthy male subjects. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 61, 50–59. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2016.11.018
- Kelly, J. R., Borre, Y., O' Brien, C., Patterson, E., El Aidy, S., Deane, J., et al. (2016). Transferring the blues: depression-associated gut microbiota induces neurobehavioural changes in the rat. J. Psychiatr. Res. 82, 109–118. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpsychires.2016.07.019
- Khoshdel, A., Verdu, E. F., Kunze, W., McLean, P., Bergonzelli, G., and Huizinga, J. D. (2013). *Bifidobacterium longum* NCC3001 inhibits AH neuron excitability. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 25, e478–e484. doi: 10.1111/nmo.12147
- Kiliaan, A. J., Saunders, P. R., Bijlsma, P. B., Berin, M. C., Taminiau, J. A., Groot, J. A., et al. (1998). Stress stimulates transepithelial macromolecular uptake in rat jejunum. *Am. J. Physiol.* 275(5 Pt 1), G1037–G1044. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.1998. 275.5.G1037
- Ko, C. Y., Lin, H.-T. V., and Tsai, G. J. (2013). Gamma-aminobutyric acid production in black soybean milk by *Lactobacillus brevis* FPA 3709 and the antidepressant effect of the fermented product on a forced swimming rat model. *Process Biochem.* 48, 559–568. doi: 10.1016/j.procbio.2013.02.021
- Kobayashi, Y., Kinoshita, T., Matsumoto, A., Yoshino, K., Saito, I., and Xiao, J. Z. (2019). *Bifidobacterium Breve* A1 supplementation improved cognitive decline in older adults with mild cognitive impairment: an open-label, single-arm study. *J. Prev. Alzheimers Dis.* 6, 70–75. doi: 10.14283/jpad.20 18.32
- Komatsuzaki, N., Shima, J., Kawamoto, S., Momose, H., and Kimura, T. (2005). Production of γ-aminobutyric acid (GABA) by *Lactobacillus paracasei* isolated from traditional fermented foods. *Food Microbiol.* 22, 497–504. doi: 10.1016/j. fm.2005.01.002

- Kothari, D., Patel, S., and Kim, S. K. (2018). Probiotic supplements might not be universally-effective and safe: a review. *Biomed. Pharmacother*. 111, 537–547. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2018.12.104
- Kouchaki, E., Tamtaji, O. R., Salami, M., Bahmani, F., Daneshvar Kakhaki, R., Akbari, E., et al. (2017). Clinical and metabolic response to probiotic supplementation in patients with multiple sclerosis: a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. *Clin. Nutr.* 36, 1245–1249. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu. 2016.08.015
- Kurosawa, N., Shimizu, K., and Seki, K. (2016). The development of depression-like behavior is consolidated by IL-6-induced activation of locus coeruleus neurons and IL-1beta-induced elevated leptin levels in mice. *Psychopharmacology* 233, 1725–1737. doi: 10.1007/s00213-015-4084-x
- Laval, L., Martin, R., Natividad, J. N., Chain, F., Miquel, S., Desclee de Maredsous, C., et al. (2015). *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* CNCM I-3690 and the commensal bacterium *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* A2-165 exhibit similar protective effects to induced barrier hyper-permeability in mice. *Gut Microbes* 6, 1–9. doi: 10. 4161/19490976.2014.990784
- Lefebvre, D., Langevin, L. M., Jaworska, N., Harris, A. D., Lebel, R. M., Jasaui, Y., et al. (2017). A pilot study of hippocampal N-acetyl-aspartate in youth with treatment resistant major depression. J. Affect. Disord. 207, 110–113. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.05.077
- Leonard, B. E. (2001). Stress, norepinephrine and depression. J. Psychiatry Neurosci. 26(Suppl.), S11–S16.
- Lepine, A. F. P., de Wit, N., Oosterink, E., Wichers, H., Mes, J., and de Vos, P. (2018). *Lactobacillus acidophilus* attenuates *Salmonella*-induced stress of epithelial cells by modulating tight-junction genes and cytokine responses. *Front. Microbiol.* 9:1439. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.01439
- Lew, L. C., Hor, Y. Y., Yusoff, N. A. A., Choi, S. B., Yusoff, M. S. B., Roslan, N. S., et al. (2018). Probiotic Lactobacillus plantarum P8 alleviated stress and anxiety while enhancing memory and cognition in stressed adults: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Clin. Nutr.* 38, 2053–2064. doi: 10. 1016/j.clnu.2018.09.010
- Liang, S., Wang, T., Hu, X., Luo, J., Li, W., Wu, X., et al. (2015). Administration of *Lactobacillus helveticus* NS8 improves behavioral, cognitive, and biochemical aberrations caused by chronic restraint stress. *Neuroscience* 310, 561–577. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.09.033
- Liao, W.-C., Wang, C.-Y., Shyu, Y.-T., Yu, R.-C., and Ho, K.-C. (2013). Influence of preprocessing methods and fermentation of adzuki beans on γ-aminobutyric acid (GABA) accumulation by lactic acid bacteria. *J. Funct. Foods* 5, 1108–1115. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2013.03.006
- Lin, P., Ding, B., Feng, C., Yin, S., Zhang, T., Qi, X., et al. (2017). Prevotella and Klebsiella proportions in fecal microbial communities are potential characteristic parameters for patients with major depressive disorder. J. Affect. Disord. 207, 300–304. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.09.051
- Lin, Q. (2013). Submerged fermentation of Lactobacillus rhamnosus YS9 for gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) production. *Braz. J. Microbiol.* 44, 183–187. doi: 10.1590/S1517-83822013000100028
- Liu, J., Sun, J., Wang, F., Yu, X., Ling, Z., Li, H., et al. (2015). Neuroprotective effects of *Clostridium butyricum* against vascular dementia in mice via metabolic butyrate. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2015:412946. doi: 10.1155/2015/41 2946
- Liu, W., Ge, T., Leng, Y., Pan, Z., Fan, J., Yang, W., et al. (2017). The role of neural plasticity in depression: from hippocampus to prefrontal cortex. *Neural Plast.* 2017:6871089. doi: 10.1155/2017/6871089
- Liu, W. H., Chuang, H. L., Huang, Y. T., Wu, C. C., Chou, G. T., Wang, S., et al. (2016). Alteration of behavior and monoamine levels attributable to *Lactobacillus plantarum* PS128 in germ-free mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 298(Pt B), 202–209. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2015.10.046
- Liu, Y. W., Liu, W. H., Wu, C. C., Juan, Y. C., Wu, Y. C., Tsai, H. P., et al. (2016). Psychotropic effects of *Lactobacillus plantarum* PS128 in early life-stressed and naive adult mice. *Brain Res.* 1631, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2015. 11.018
- Lok, A., Mocking, R. J., Ruhe, H. G., Visser, I., Koeter, M. W., Assies, J., et al. (2012). Longitudinal hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis trait and state effects in recurrent depression. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 37, 892–902. doi: 10.1016/j. psyneuen.2011.10.005
- Lomasney, K. W., Cryan, J. F., and Hyland, N. P. (2014). Converging effects of a Bifidobacterium and *Lactobacillus* probiotic strain on mouse intestinal

physiology. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 307, G241-G247. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00401.2013

- Lomax, A. E., Sharkey, K. A., and Furness, J. B. (2010). The participation of the sympathetic innervation of the gastrointestinal tract in disease states. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 22, 7–18. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2009.01 381.x
- Lopez, J. F., Chalmers, D. T., Little, K. Y., and Watson, S. J. (1998). A.E. Bennett Research Award. Regulation of serotonin1A, glucocorticoid, and mineralocorticoid receptor in rat and human hippocampus: implications for the neurobiology of depression. *Biol. Psychiatry* 43, 547–573. doi: 10.1016/s0006-3223(97)00484-8
- Luan, H., Wang, X., and Cai, Z. (2017). Mass spectrometry-based metabolomics: targeting the crosstalk between gut microbiota and brain in neurodegenerative disorders. *Mass Spectrom. Rev.* 38, 22–33. doi: 10.1002/mas.21553
- Lund, M. L., Egerod, K. L., Engelstoft, M. S., Dmytriyeva, O., Theodorsson, E., Patel, B. A., et al. (2018). Enterochromaffin 5-HT cells - A major target for GLP-1 and gut microbial metabolites. *Mol. Metab.* 11, 70–83. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2018. 03.004
- Luo, J., Wang, T., Liang, S., Hu, X., Li, W., and Jin, F. (2014). Ingestion of Lactobacillus strain reduces anxiety and improves cognitive function in the hyperammonemia rat. Sci. China Life Sci. 57, 327–335. doi: 10.1007/s11427-014-4615-4
- Luscher, B., Shen, Q., and Sahir, N. (2011). The GABAergic deficit hypothesis of major depressive disorder. *Mol. Psychiatry* 16, 383–406. doi: 10.1038/mp.20 10.12
- Lyte, M. (2011). Probiotics function mechanistically as delivery vehicles for neuroactive compounds: microbial endocrinology in the design and use of probiotics. *Bioessays* 33, 574–581. doi: 10.1002/bies.201100024
- Maeda, H., Zhu, X., Suzuki, S., Suzuki, K., and Kitamura, S. (2004). Structural characterization and biological activities of an exopolysaccharide kefiran produced by *Lactobacillus kefiranofaciens* WT-2B(T). *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 52, 5533–5538. doi: 10.1021/jf049617g
- Maehata, H., Kobayashi, Y., Mitsuyama, E., Kawase, T., Kuhara, T., Xiao, J. Z., et al. (2019). Heat-killed *Lactobacillus helveticus* strain MCC1848 confers resilience to anxiety or depression-like symptoms caused by subchronic social defeat stress in mice. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 83, 1239–1247. doi: 10.1080/ 09168451.2019.1591263
- Maes, M., Kubera, M., and Leunis, J. C. (2008). The gut-brain barrier in major depression: intestinal mucosal dysfunction with an increased translocation of LPS from gram negative enterobacteria (leaky gut) plays a role in the inflammatory pathophysiology of depression. *Neuro Endocrinol. Lett.* 29, 117– 124.
- Maes, M., Meltzer, H. Y., Scharpé, S., Bosmans, E., Suy, E., De Meester, I., et al. (1993). Relationships between lower plasma L-tryptophan levels and immuneinflammatory variables in depression. *Psychiatry Res.* 49, 151–165. doi: 10.1016/ 0165-1781(93)90102-M
- Maes, M., Scharpe, S., Meltzer, H. Y., Okayli, G., Bosmans, E., D'Hondt, P., et al. (1994). Increased neopterin and interferon-gamma secretion and lower availability of L-tryptophan in major depression: further evidence for an immune response. *Psychiatry Res.* 54, 143–160. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(94) 90003-5
- Maes, M., Verkerk, R., Bonaccorso, S., Ombelet, W., Bosmans, E., and Scharpe, S. (2002). Depressive and anxiety symptoms in the early puerperium are related to increased degradation of tryptophan into kynurenine, a phenomenon which is related to immune activation. *Life Sci.* 71, 1837–1848. doi: 10.1016/s0024-3205(02)01853-2
- Majeed, M., Nagabhushanam, K., Arumugam, S., Majeed, S., and Ali, F. (2018). Bacillus coagulans MTCC 5856 for the management of major depression with irritable bowel syndrome: a randomised, double-blind, placebo controlled, multi-centre, pilot clinical study. Food Nutr. Res. 62. doi: 10.29219/fnr.v62.1218
- Maldonado-Gomez, M. X., Martinez, I., Bottacini, F., O'Callaghan, A., Ventura, M., van Sinderen, D., et al. (2016). Stable engraftment of *Bifidobacterium longum* AH1206 in the human gut depends on individualized features of the resident microbiome. *Cell Host Microbe* 20, 515–526. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2016.0 9.001
- Marin, I. A., Goertz, J. E., Ren, T., Rich, S. S., Onengut-Gumuscu, S., Farber, E., et al. (2017). Microbiota alteration is associated with the development of stress-induced despair behavior. *Sci. Rep.* 7:43859. doi: 10.1038/srep43859

- Martin, R., Miquel, S., Chain, F., Natividad, J. M., Jury, J., Lu, J., et al. (2015). *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* prevents physiological damages in a chronic lowgrade inflammation murine model. *BMC Microbiol.* 15:67. doi: 10.1186/s12866-015-0400-1
- Martinez, L. R., Xu, S., and Hebl, M. (2018). Utilizing education and perspective taking to remediate the stigma of taking antidepressants. *Commun. Ment. Health J.* 54, 450–459. doi: 10.1007/s10597-017-0174-z
- Martinowich, K., and Lu, B. (2008). Interaction between BDNF and serotonin: role in mood disorders. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 33, 73–83. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp. 1301571
- Maslej, M. M., Bolker, B. M., Russell, M. J., Eaton, K., Durisko, Z., Hollon, S. D., et al. (2017). The mortality and myocardial effects of antidepressants are moderated by preexisting cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis. *Psychother. Psychosom.* 86, 268–282. doi: 10.1159/000477940
- Mathews, G. C., and Diamond, J. S. (2003). Neuronal glutamate uptake contributes to GABA synthesis and inhibitory synaptic strength. *J. Neurosci.* 23, 2040–2048. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.23-06-02040.2003
- Matt, S. M., Allen, J. M., Lawson, M. A., Mailing, L. J., Woods, J. A., and Johnson, R. W. (2018). Butyrate and dietary soluble fiber improve neuroinflammation associated with aging in mice. *Front. Immunol.* 9:1832. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2018.01832
- McKean, J., Naug, H., Nikbakht, E., Amiet, B., and Colson, N. (2017). Probiotics and subclinical psychological symptoms in healthy participants: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Altern. Complement. Med. 23, 249–258. doi: 10. 1089/acm.2016.0023
- McNabney, S. M., and Henagan, T. M. (2017). Short chain fatty acids in the colon and peripheral tissues: a focus on butyrate, colon cancer, obesity and insulin resistance. *Nutrients* 9:E1348. doi: 10.3390/nu9121348
- McVey Neufeld, K. A., Kay, S., and Bienenstock, J. (2018). Mouse Strain affects behavioral and neuroendocrine stress responses following administration of probiotic *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* JB-1 or traditional antidepressant fluoxetine. *Front. Neurosci.* 12:294. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00294
- McVey Neufeld, K. A., Mao, Y. K., Bienenstock, J., Foster, J. A., and Kunze, W. A. (2013). The microbiome is essential for normal gut intrinsic primary afferent neuron excitability in the mouse. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 25:183-e88. doi: 10.1111/nmo.12049
- McVey Neufeld, K. A., O'Mahony, S. M., Hoban, A. E., Waworuntu, R. V., Berg, B. M., Dinan, T. G., et al. (2017). Neurobehavioural effects of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG alone and in combination with prebiotics polydextrose and galactooligosaccharide in male rats exposed to early-life stress. *Nutr. Neurosci.* 22, 425–434. doi: 10.1080/1028415X.2017.1397875
- Medrano, M., Perez, P. F., and Abraham, A. G. (2008). Kefiran antagonizes cytopathic effects of *Bacillus cereus* extracellular factors. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 122, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2007.11.046
- Mendonca-de-Souza, A. C., Souza, G. G., Vieira, A., Fischer, N. L., Souza, W. F., Rumjanek, V. M., et al. (2007). Negative affect as a predisposing factor for cortisol release after an acute stress-the impact of unpleasant priming. *Stress* 10, 362–367. doi: 10.1080/10253890701379999
- Messaoudi, M., Lalonde, R., Violle, N., Javelot, H., Desor, D., Nejdi, A., et al. (2011). Assessment of psychotropic-like properties of a probiotic formulation (*Lactobacillus helveticus* R0052 and *Bifidobacterium longum* R0175) in rats and human subjects. *Br. J. Nutr.* 105, 755–764. doi: 10.1017/S000711451000 4319
- Miller, A. H., Maletic, V., and Raison, C. L. (2009). Inflammation and its discontents: the role of cytokines in the pathophysiology of major depression. *Biol. Psychiatry* 65, 732–741. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.11.029
- Miller, A. H., and Raison, C. L. (2016). The role of inflammation in depression: from evolutionary imperative to modern treatment target. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 16, 22–34. doi: 10.1038/nri.2015.5
- Mittal, R., Debs, L. H., Patel, A. P., Nguyen, D., Patel, K., O'Connor, G., et al. (2017). Neurotransmitters: the critical modulators regulating gut-brain axis. J. Cell Physiol. 232, 2359–2372. doi: 10.1002/jcp.25518
- Miyaoka, T., Kanayama, M., Wake, R., Hashioka, S., Hayashida, M., Nagahama, M., et al. (2018). *Clostridium butyricum* MIYAIRI 588 as adjunctive therapy for treatment-resistant major depressive disorder: a prospective open-label trial. *Clin. Neuropharmacol.* 41, 151–155. doi: 10.1097/WNF.00000000000299
- Miyazaki, K., Itoh, N., Yamamoto, S., Higo-Yamamoto, S., Nakakita, Y., Kaneda, H., et al. (2014). Dietary heat-killed *Lactobacillus brevis* SBC8803 promotes

voluntary wheel-running and affects sleep rhythms in mice. *Life Sci.* 111, 47–52. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2014.07.009

- Mkaouar, H., Akermi, N., Mariaule, V., Boudebbouze, S., Gaci, N., Szukala, F., et al. (2016). Siropins, novel serine protease inhibitors from gut microbiota acting on human proteases involved in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Microb. Cell Fact.* 15:201. doi: 10.1186/s12934-016-0596-2
- Mohammadi, A. A., Jazayeri, S., Khosravi-Darani, K., Solati, Z., Mohammadpour, N., Asemi, Z., et al. (2016). The effects of probiotics on mental health and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis: a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial in petrochemical workers. *Nutr. Neurosci.* 19, 387–395. doi: 10.1179/1476830515Y.000000023
- Montgomery, S., and Briley, M. (2011). Noradrenergic symptom cluster in depression. *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat.* 7(Suppl. 1), 1–2. doi: 10.2147/NDT. S19611
- Moon, C., Rousseau, R., Soria, J. C., Hoque, M. O., Lee, J., Jang, S. J., et al. (2004). Aquaporin expression in human lymphocytes and dendritic cells. *Am. J. Hematol.* 75, 128–133. doi: 10.1002/ajh.10476
- Moriguchi, S., Takamiya, A., Noda, Y., Horita, N., Wada, M., Tsugawa, S., et al. (2018). Glutamatergic neurometabolite levels in major depressive disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis of proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy studies. *Mol. Psychiatry* 24, 952–964. doi: 10.1038/s41380-018-0252-9
- Moya-Perez, A., Neef, A., and Sanz, Y. (2015). *Bifidobacterium pseudocatenulatum* CECT 7765 reduces obesity-associated inflammation by restoring the lymphocyte-macrophage balance and gut microbiota structure in high-fat dietfed mice. *PLoS One* 10:e0126976. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0126976
- Moya-Perez, A., Perez-Villalba, A., Benitez-Paez, A., Campillo, I., and Sanz, Y. (2017). Bifidobacterium CECT 7765 modulates early stress-induced immune, neuroendocrine and behavioral alterations in mice. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 65, 43–56. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2017.05.011
- Moya-Perez, A., Romo-Vaquero, M., Tomas-Barberan, F., Sanz, Y., and Garcia-Conesa, M. T. (2014). Hepatic molecular responses to *Bifidobacterium pseudocatenulatum* CECT 7765 in a mouse model of diet-induced obesity. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 24, 57–64. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2013.04.011
- Murakami, T., Kamada, K., Mizushima, K., Higashimura, Y., Katada, K., Uchiyama, K., et al. (2017). Changes in intestinal motility and gut microbiota composition in a rat stress model. *Digestion* 95, 55–60. doi: 10.1159/000452364
- Murata, M., Kondo, J., Iwabuchi, N., Takahashi, S., Yamauchi, K., Abe, F., et al. (2018). Effects of paraprobiotic *Lactobacillus paracasei* MCC1849 supplementation on symptoms of the common cold and mood states in healthy adults. *Benef. Microbes* 9, 855–864. doi: 10.3920/BM2017.0197
- Murrough, J. W., Abdallah, C. G., and Mathew, S. J. (2017). Targeting glutamate signalling in depression: progress and prospects. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 16, 472–486. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2017.16
- Najarian, A., Sharif, S., and Griffiths, M. W. (2019). Evaluation of protective effect of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* La-5 on toxicity and colonization of Clostridium difficile in human epithelial cells in vitro. *Anaerobe* 55, 142–151. doi: 10.1016/j. anaerobe.2018.12.004
- Nakatani, Y., Sato-Suzuki, I., Tsujino, N., Nakasato, A., Seki, Y., Fumoto, M., et al. (2008). Augmented brain 5-HT crosses the blood-brain barrier through the 5-HT transporter in rat. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 27, 2466–2472. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568. 2008.06201.x
- Naseribafrouei, A., Hestad, K., Avershina, E., Sekelja, M., Linlokken, A., Wilson, R., et al. (2014). Correlation between the human fecal microbiota and depression. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 26, 1155–1162. doi: 10.1111/nmo.12378
- Nedjadi, T., Moran, A. W., Al-Rammahi, M. A., and Shirazi-Beechey, S. P. (2014). Characterization of butyrate transport across the luminal membranes of equine large intestine. *Exp. Physiol.* 99, 1335–1347. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol. 2014.077982
- Neufeld, K. M., Kang, N., Bienenstock, J., and Foster, J. A. (2011). Reduced anxiety-like behavior and central neurochemical change in germ-free mice. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 23, 255–264, e119. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2010. 01620.x
- Ng, Q. X., Peters, C., Ho, C. Y. X., Lim, D. Y., and Yeo, W. S. (2018). A meta-analysis of the use of probiotics to alleviate depressive symptoms. *J. Affect. Disord.* 228, 13–19. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.11.063
- Nielsen, C. U., Carstensen, M., and Brodin, B. (2012). Carrier-mediated gammaaminobutyric acid transport across the basolateral membrane of human

intestinal Caco-2 cell monolayers. Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 81, 458–462. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpb.2012.03.007

- Nishida, K., Sawada, D., Kawai, T., Kuwano, Y., Fujiwara, S., and Rokutan, K. (2017a). Para-psychobiotic *Lactobacillus gasseri* CP2305 ameliorates stressrelated symptoms and sleep quality. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 123, 1561–1570. doi: 10.1111/jam.13594
- Nishida, K., Sawada, D., Kuwano, Y., Tanaka, H., Sugawara, T., Aoki, Y., et al. (2017b). Daily administration of paraprobiotic *Lactobacillus gasseri* CP2305 ameliorates chronic stress-associated symptoms in Japanese medical students. *J. Funct. Foods* 36, 112–121. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2017.06.031
- Nobutani, K., Sawada, D., Fujiwara, S., Kuwano, Y., Nishida, K., Nakayama, J., et al. (2017). The effects of administration of the *Lactobacillus gasseri* strain CP2305 on quality of life, clinical symptoms and changes in gene expression in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 122, 212–224. doi: 10.1111/jam.13329
- Nyangale, E. P., Farmer, S., Cash, H. A., Keller, D., Chernoff, D., and Gibson, G. R. (2015). *Bacillus coagulans* GBI-30, 6086 modulates *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* in older men and women. *J. Nutr.* 145, 1446–1452. doi: 10.3945/jn.114.19 9802
- Nyangale, E. P., Farmer, S., Keller, D., Chernoff, D., and Gibson, G. R. (2014). Effect of prebiotics on the fecal microbiota of elderly volunteers after dietary supplementation of Bacillus coagulans GBI-30, 6086. *Anaerobe* 30, 75–81. doi: 10.1016/j.anaerobe.2014.09.002
- Ohata, A., Usami, M., and Miyoshi, M. (2005). Short-chain fatty acids alter tight junction permeability in intestinal monolayer cells via lipoxygenase activation. *Nutrition* 21, 838–847. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2004.12.004
- Ohland, C. L., Kish, L., Bell, H., Thiesen, A., Hotte, N., Pankiv, E., et al. (2013). Effects of *Lactobacillus helveticus* on murine behavior are dependent on diet and genotype and correlate with alterations in the gut microbiome. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 38, 1738–1747. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.0 2.008
- Ohlsson, L., Gustafsson, A., Lavant, E., Suneson, K., Brundin, L., Westrin, A., et al. (2019). Leaky gut biomarkers in depression and suicidal behavior. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 139, 185–193. doi: 10.1111/acps.12978
- Ohsawa, K., Nakamura, F., Uchida, N., Mizuno, S., and Yokogoshi, H. (2018). Lactobacillus helveticus-fermented milk containing lactononadecapeptide (NIPPLTQTPVVVPPFLQPE) improves cognitive function in healthy middleaged adults: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Int. J. Food Sci. Nutr. 69, 369–376. doi: 10.1080/09637486.2017.1365824
- Okubo, R., Koga, M., Katsumata, N., Odamaki, T., Matsuyama, S., Oka, M., et al. (2019). Effect of bifidobacterium breve A-1 on anxiety and depressive symptoms in schizophrenia: a proof-of-concept study. J. Affect. Disord. 245, 377–385. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.11.011
- Oleskin, A., Zhilenkova, O., Shenderov, B., Amerhanova, A., Kudrin, V., and Klodt, P. (2014). Lactic-Acid bacteria supplement fermented dairy products with human behavior-modifying neuroactive compounds. *J. Pharm. Nutr. Sci.* 4, 199–206. doi: 10.6000/1927-5951.2014.04.03.5
- Oleskin, A. V., El'-Registan, G. I., and Shenderov, B. A. (2016). Role of neuromediators in the functioning of the human microbiota: "Business talks" among microorganisms and the microbiota-host dialogue. *Microbiology* 85, 1–22. doi: 10.1134/s0026261716010082
- Olvera, R. L., Caetano, S. C., Stanley, J. A., Chen, H. H., Nicoletti, M., Hatch, J. P., et al. (2010). Reduced medial prefrontal N-acetyl-aspartate levels in pediatric major depressive disorder: a multi-voxel in vivo(1)H spectroscopy study. *Psychiatry Res.* 184, 71–76. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2010.07.008
- Orikasa, S., Nabeshima, K., Iwabuchi, N., and Xiao, J. Z. (2016). Effect of repeated oral administration of *Bifidobacterium longum* BB536 on apomorphineinduced rearing behavior in mice. *Biosci. Microb. Food Health* 35, 141–145. doi: 10.12938/bmfh.2016-004
- Osborne, D. M., Pearson-Leary, J., and McNay, E. C. (2015). The neuroenergetics of stress hormones in the hippocampus and implications for memory. *Front. Neurosci.* 9:164. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00164
- Osman, N., Adawi, D., Molin, G., Ahrne, S., Berggren, A., and Jeppsson, B. (2006). Bifidobacterium infantis strains with and without a combination of oligofructose and inulin (OFI) attenuate inflammation in DSS-induced colitis in rats. *BMC Gastroenterol.* 6:31. doi: 10.1186/1471-230X-6-31
- Ostadmohammadi, V., Jamilian, M., Bahmani, F., and Asemi, Z. (2019). Vitamin D and probiotic co-supplementation affects mental health, hormonal,

inflammatory and oxidative stress parameters in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J. Ovarian Res. 12:5. doi: 10.1186/s13048-019-0480-x

- Ostergaard, S. D., Jensen, S. O., and Bech, P. (2011). The heterogeneity of the depressive syndrome: when numbers get serious. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 124, 495–496. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2011.01744.x
- Ostlund-Lagerstrom, L., Kihlgren, A., Repsilber, D., Bjorksten, B., Brummer, R. J., and Schoultz, I. (2016). Probiotic administration among free-living older adults: a double blinded, randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Nutr. J.* 15:80. doi: 10.1186/s12937-016-0198-1
- Otomi, K., Ymaguchi, T., Watanabe, S., Kobayashi, A., Kobayashi, H., and Hashiguchi, N. (2015). Effects of yogurt containing *Lactobacillus gasseri* OLL2716 on autonomic nerve activities and physiological functions. *Health* 07, 397–405. doi: 10.4236/health.2015.73045
- Özogul, F. (2011). Effects of specific lactic acid bacteria species on biogenic amine production by foodborne pathogen. *Int. J. Food Sci. Technol.* 46, 478–484. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2621.2010.02511.x
- Özoğul, F., Kuley, E., Özoğul, Y., and Özoul, I. (2012). The function of lactic acid bacteria on biogenic amines production by food-borne pathogens in arginine decarboxylase broth. *Food Sci. Technol. Res.* 18, 795–804. doi: 10.3136/fstr.1 8.795
- Pacak, K., Kvetnansky, R., Palkovits, M., Fukuhara, K., Yadid, G., Kopin, I. J., et al. (1993). Adrenalectomy augments in vivo release of norepinephrine in the paraventricular nucleus during immobilization stress. *Endocrinology* 133, 1404–1410. doi: 10.1210/endo.133.3.8396018
- Pan, J. X., Deng, F. L., Zeng, B. H., Zheng, P., Liang, W. W., Yin, B. M., et al. (2019). Absence of gut microbiota during early life affects anxiolytic behaviors and monoamine neurotransmitters system in the hippocampal of mice. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 400, 160–168. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2019.03.027
- Pandey, N., Malik, R. K., Kaushik, J. K., and Singroha, G. (2013). Gassericin A: a circular bacteriocin produced by lactic acid bacteria *Lactobacillus gasseri*. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 29, 1977–1987. doi: 10.1007/s11274-013-1368-3
- Pariyadath, V., Gowin, J. L., and Stein, E. A. (2016). Resting state functional connectivity analysis for addiction medicine: from individual loci to complex networks. *Prog. Brain Res.* 224, 155–173. doi: 10.1016/bs.pbr.2015.07.015
- Peng, L., Li, Z. R., Green, R. S., Holzman, I. R., and Lin, J. (2009). Butyrate enhances the intestinal barrier by facilitating tight junction assembly via activation of AMP-activated protein kinase in Caco-2 cell monolayers. J. Nutr. 139, 1619– 1625. doi: 10.3945/jn.109.104638
- Perez-Burgos, A., Mao, Y. K., Bienenstock, J., and Kunze, W. A. (2014). The gutbrain axis rewired: adding a functional vagal nicotinic "sensory synapse". *FASEB* J. 28, 3064–3074. doi: 10.1096/fj.13-245282
- Perez-Burgos, A., Wang, B., Mao, Y. K., Mistry, B., McVey Neufeld, K. A., Bienenstock, J., et al. (2013). Psychoactive bacteria *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* (JB-1) elicits rapid frequency facilitation in vagal afferents. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 304, G211–G220. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00128. 2012
- Pinto-Sanchez, M. I., Hall, G. B., Ghajar, K., Nardelli, A., Bolino, C., Lau, J. T., et al. (2017). Probiotic *Bifidobacterium longum* NCC3001 reduces depression scores and alters brain activity: a pilot study in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. *Gastroenterology* 153, 448.e8–459.e8. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.05.003
- Pirbaglou, M., Katz, J., de Souza, R. J., Stearns, J. C., Motamed, M., and Ritvo, P. (2016). Probiotic supplementation can positively affect anxiety and depressive symptoms: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Nutr. Res.* 36, 889–898. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2016.06.009
- Powley, T. L. (2000). Vagal input to the enteric nervous system. *Gut* 47(Suppl. 4), iv30-iv32.
- Pytka, K., Dziubina, A., Mlyniec, K., Dziedziczak, A., Zmudzka, E., Furgala, A., et al. (2016). The role of glutamatergic, GABA-ergic, and cholinergic receptors in depression and antidepressant-like effect. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 68, 443–450. doi: 10.1016/j.pharep.2015.10.006
- Quevrain, E., Maubert, M. A., Michon, C., Chain, F., Marquant, R., Tailhades, J., et al. (2016a). Identification of an anti-inflammatory protein from *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*, a commensal bacterium deficient in Crohn's disease. *Gut* 65, 415–425. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-307649
- Quevrain, E., Maubert, M. A., Sokol, H., Devreese, B., and Seksik, P. (2016b). The presence of the anti-inflammatory protein MAM, from *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*, in the intestinal ecosystem. *Gut* 65:882. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-311094

- Quigley, E. M. (2011). Microflora modulation of motility. J. Neurogastroenterol. Motil. 17, 140–147. doi: 10.5056/jnm.2011.17.2.140
- Rao, A. V., Bested, A. C., Beaulne, T. M., Katzman, M. A., Iorio, C., Berardi, J. M., et al. (2009). A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study of a probiotic in emotional symptoms of chronic fatigue syndrome. *Gut Pathog.* 1:6. doi: 10.1186/1757-4749-1-6
- Raygan, F., Ostadmohammadi, V., Bahmani, F., and Asemi, Z. (2018). The effects of vitamin D and probiotic co-supplementation on mental health parameters and metabolic status in type 2 diabetic patients with coronary heart disease: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 84(Pt A), 50–55. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp. 2018.02.007
- Read, J., and Williams, J. (2018). Adverse effects of antidepressants reported by a large international cohort: emotional blunting, suicidality, and withdrawal effects. *Curr. Drug Saf.* 13, 176–186. doi: 10.2174/1574886313666180605095130
- Reddy, M. S. (2010). Depression: the disorder and the burden. Indian J. Psychol. Med. 32, 1–2. doi: 10.4103/0253-7176.70510
- Reigstad, C. S., Salmonson, C. E., Rainey, J. F. III, Szurszewski, J. H., Linden, D. R., Sonnenburg, J. L., et al. (2015). Gut microbes promote colonic serotonin production through an effect of short-chain fatty acids on enterochromaffin cells. *FASEB J*. 29, 1395–1403. doi: 10.1096/fj.14-259598
- Reus, G. Z., Jansen, K., Titus, S., Carvalho, A. F., Gabbay, V., and Quevedo, J. (2015). Kynurenine pathway dysfunction in the pathophysiology and treatment of depression: evidences from animal and human studies. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 68, 316–328. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2015.05.007
- Richard, D. M., Dawes, M. A., Mathias, C. W., Acheson, A., Hill-Kapturczak, N., and Dougherty, D. M. (2009). L-tryptophan: basic metabolic functions, behavioral research and therapeutic indications. *Int. J. Tryptophan. Res.* 2, 45–60.
- Rong, H., Xie, X. H., Zhao, J., Lai, W. T., Wang, M. B., Xu, D., et al. (2019). Similarly in depression, nuances of gut microbiota: evidences from a shotgun metagenomics sequencing study on major depressive disorder versus bipolar disorder with current major depressive episode patients. J. Psychiatr. Res. 113, 90–99. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2019.03.017
- Rowatt, E. (1948). The relation of pantothenic acid to acetylcholine formation by a strain of *Lactobacillus plantarum*. *Microbiology* 2, 25–30. doi: 10.1099/ 00221287-2-1-25
- Rudzki, L., Ostrowska, L., Pawlak, D., Malus, A., Pawlak, K., Waszkiewicz, N., et al. (2019). Probiotic *Lactobacillus Plantarum* 299v decreases kynurenine concentration and improves cognitive functions in patients with major depression: a double-blind, randomized, placebo controlled study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 100, 213–222. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.10.010
- Salami, M., Kouchaki, E., Asemi, Z., and Tamtaji, O. R. (2019). How probiotic bacteria influence the motor and mental behaviors as well as immunological and oxidative biomarkers in multiple sclerosis? A double blind clinical trial. *J. Funct. Foods* 52, 8–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2018.10.023
- Salomon, K., Clift, A., Karlsdottir, M., and Rottenberg, J. (2009). Major depressive disorder is associated with attenuated cardiovascular reactivity and impaired recovery among those free of cardiovascular disease. *Health Psychol.* 28, 157– 165. doi: 10.1037/a0013001
- Sanacora, G., Mason, G. F., Rothman, D. L., Behar, K. L., Hyder, F., Petroff, O. A., et al. (1999). Reduced cortical gamma-aminobutyric acid levels in depressed patients determined by proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 56, 1043–1047.
- Sanchez, M., Darimont, C., Panahi, S., Drapeau, V., Marette, A., Taylor, V. H., et al. (2017). Effects of a diet-based weight-reducing program with probiotic supplementation on satiety efficiency, eating behaviour traits, and psychosocial behaviours in obese Individuals. *Nutrients* 9:E284. doi: 10.3390/nu903 0284
- Sanchis-Chorda, J., Del Pulgar, E. M. G., Carrasco-Luna, J., Benitez-Paez, A., Sanz, Y., and Codoner-Franch, P. (2018). *Bifidobacterium pseudocatenulatum* CECT 7765 supplementation improves inflammatory status in insulin-resistant obese children. *Eur. J. Nutr.* 58, 2789–2800. doi: 10.1007/s00394-018-1 828-5
- Santos, A., San Mauro, M., Sanchez, A., Torres, J. M., and Marquina, D. (2003). The antimicrobial properties of different strains of *Lactobacillus* spp. isolated from kefir. *Syst. Appl. Microbiol.* 26, 434–437. doi: 10.1078/07232020332249 7464

- Sashihara, T., Nagata, M., Mori, T., Ikegami, S., Gotoh, M., Okubo, K., et al. (2013). Effects of *Lactobacillus gasseri* OLL2809 and alpha-lactalbumin on universitystudent athletes: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 38, 1228–1235. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2012-0490
- Saunders, P. R., Hanssen, N. P., and Perdue, M. H. (1997). Cholinergic nerves mediate stress-induced intestinal transport abnormalities in Wistar-Kyoto rats. *Am. J. Physiol.* 273(2 Pt 1), G486–G490. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.1997.273.2.G486
- Savignac, H. M., Kiely, B., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2014). Bifidobacteria exert strain-specific effects on stress-related behavior and physiology in BALB/c mice. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 26, 1615–1627. doi: 10.1111/nmo.12427
- Sawada, D., Kawai, T., Nishida, K., Kuwano, Y., Fujiwara, S., and Rokutan, K. (2017). Daily intake of *Lactobacillus gasseri* CP2305 improves mental, physical, and sleep quality among Japanese medical students enrolled in a cadaver dissection course. J. Funct. Foods 31, 188–197. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2017.01.042
- Sawada, D., Sugawara, T., Ishida, Y., Aihara, K., Aoki, Y., Takehara, I., et al. (2016). Effect of continuous ingestion of a beverage prepared with *Lactobacillus gasseri* CP2305 inactivated by heat treatment on the regulation of intestinal function. *Food Res. Int.* 79, 33–39. doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2015.11.032
- Schiepers, O. J., Wichers, M. C., and Maes, M. (2005). Cytokines and major depression. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 29, 201–217. doi: 10. 1016/j.pnpbp.2004.11.003
- Schimke, R. T., Sweeney, E. W., and Berlin, C. M. (1965). The roles of synthesis and degradation in the control of rat liver tryptophan pyrrolase. J. Biol. Chem. 240, 322–331.
- Schloesser, R. J., Manji, H. K., and Martinowich, K. (2009). Suppression of adult neurogenesis leads to an increased hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis response. *Neuroreport* 20, 553–557. doi: 10.1097/WNR.0b013e3283293e59
- Schwarz, L. A., and Luo, L. (2015). Organization of the locus coeruleusnorepinephrine system. *Curr. Biol.* 25, R1051–R1056. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2015. 09.039
- Sharpley, C. F., and Bitsika, V. (2014). Validity, reliability and prevalence of four 'clinical content' subtypes of depression. *Behav. Brain Res.* 259, 9–15. doi: 10. 1016/j.bbr.2013.10.032
- Shaw, W. (2017). Elevated urinary glyphosate and clostridia metabolites with altered dopamine metabolism in triplets with autistic spectrum disorder or suspected seizure disorder: a case study. *Integr. Med.* 16, 50–57.
- Sherwin, E., Sandhu, K. V., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2016). May the force be with you: the light and dark sides of the microbiota-gut-brain axis in neuropsychiatry. CNS Drugs 30, 1019–1041. doi: 10.1007/s40263-016-0370-3
- Shilyansky, C., Williams, L. M., Gyurak, A., Harris, A., Usherwood, T., and Etkin, A. (2016). Effect of antidepressant treatment on cognitive impairments associated with depression: a randomised longitudinal study. *Lancet Psychiatry* 3, 425–435. doi: 10.1016/s2215-0366(16)00012-2
- Siragusa, S., De Angelis, M., Di Cagno, R., Rizzello, C. G., Coda, R., and Gobbetti, M. (2007). Synthesis of gamma-aminobutyric acid by lactic acid bacteria isolated from a variety of Italian cheeses. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 73, 7283– 7290. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01064-07
- Slykerman, R. F., Hood, F., Wickens, K., Thompson, J. M. D., Barthow, C., Murphy, R., et al. (2017). Effect of Lactobacillus rhamnosus HN001 in pregnancy on postpartum symptoms of depression and anxiety: a randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial. *EBioMedicine* 24, 159–165. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2017. 09.013
- Smith, M. A., Makino, S., Kvetnansky, R., and Post, R. M. (1995). Stress and glucocorticoids affect the expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and neurotrophin-3 mRNAs in the hippocampus. *J. Neurosci.* 15(3 Pt 1), 1768–1777. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.15-03-01768.1995
- Sokol, H., Pigneur, B., Watterlot, L., Lakhdari, O., Bermudez-Humaran, L. G., Gratadoux, J. J., et al. (2008). Faecalibacterium prausnitzii is an antiinflammatory commensal bacterium identified by gut microbiota analysis of Crohn disease patients. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 16731–16736. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0804812105
- Steenbergen, L., Sellaro, R., van Hemert, S., Bosch, J. A., and Colzato, L. S. (2015). A randomized controlled trial to test the effect of multispecies probiotics on cognitive reactivity to sad mood. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 48, 258–264. doi: 10. 1016/j.bbi.2015.04.003
- Stevens, B. R., Goel, R., Seungbum, K., Richards, E. M., Holbert, R. C., Pepine, C. J., et al. (2018). Increased human intestinal barrier permeability plasma biomarkers zonulin and FABP2 correlated with plasma LPS and altered gut

microbiome in anxiety or depression. *Gut* 67, 1555–1557. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314759

- Strandwitz, P., Kim, K. H., Terekhova, D., Liu, J. K., Sharma, A., Levering, J., et al. (2019). GABA-modulating bacteria of the human gut microbiota. *Nat. Microbiol.* 4, 396–403. doi: 10.1038/s41564-018-0307-3
- Stromeck, A., Hu, Y., Chen, L., and Ganzle, M. G. (2011). Proteolysis and bioconversion of cereal proteins to glutamate and gamma-Aminobutyrate (GABA) in Rye malt sourdoughs. J. Agric. Food Chem. 59, 1392–1399. doi: 10.1021/jf103546t
- Sugawara, T., Sawada, D., Ishida, Y., Aihara, K., Aoki, Y., Takehara, I., et al. (2016). Regulatory effect of paraprobiotic *Lactobacillus gasseri* CP2305 on gut environment and function. *Microb. Ecol. Health Dis.* 27:30259. doi: 10.3402/ mehd.v27.30259
- Sullivan, R. M., and Dufresne, M. M. (2006). Mesocortical dopamine and HPA axis regulation: role of laterality and early environment. *Brain Res.* 1076, 49–59. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2005.12.100
- Sun, J., Wang, F., Hong, G., Pang, M., Xu, H., Li, H., et al. (2016). Antidepressantlike effects of sodium butyrate and its possible mechanisms of action in mice exposed to chronic unpredictable mild stress. *Neurosci. Lett.* 618, 159–166. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.03.003
- Sun, J., Wang, F., Hu, X., Yang, C., Xu, H., Yao, Y., et al. (2018). Clostridium butyricum attenuates chronic unpredictable mild stress-induced depressive-like behavior in mice via the gut-brain axis. J. Agric. Food Chem. 66, 8415–8421. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.8b02462
- Sun, Y., Geng, W., Pan, Y., Wang, J., Xiao, P., and Wang, Y. (2019). Supplementation with *Lactobacillus kefiranofaciens* ZW3 from Tibetan Kefir improves depression-like behavior in stressed mice by modulating the gut microbiota. *Food Funct.* 10, 925–937. doi: 10.1039/c8fo02096e
- Suzuki, T., Yoshida, S., and Hara, H. (2008). Physiological concentrations of shortchain fatty acids immediately suppress colonic epithelial permeability. *Br. J. Nutr.* 100, 297–305. doi: 10.1017/S0007114508888733
- Takada, M., Nishida, K., Kataoka-Kato, A., Gondo, Y., Ishikawa, H., Suda, K., et al. (2016). Probiotic *Lactobacillus casei* strain Shirota relieves stressassociated symptoms by modulating the gut-brain interaction in human and animal models. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 28, 1027–1036. doi: 10.1111/nmo. 12804
- Tan, H., Zhai, Q., and Chen, W. (2019). Investigations of *Bacteroides* spp. towards next-generation probiotics. *Food Res. Int.* 116, 637–644. doi: 10.1016/j.foodres. 2018.08.088
- Tanida, M., Imanishi, K., Akashi, H., Kurata, Y., Chonan, O., Naito, E., et al. (2014). Injection of *Lactobacillus casei* strain Shirota affects autonomic nerve activities in a tissue-specific manner, and regulates glucose and lipid metabolism in rats. *J. Diabetes Investig*, 5, 153–161. doi: 10.1111/jdi.12141
- Tanida, M., and Nagai, K. (2011). Electrophysiological analysis of the mechanism of autonomic action by lactobacilli. *Biosci. Microflora* 30, 99–109. doi: 10.12938/ bifidus.30.99
- Thiagarajah, J. R., Chang, J., Goettel, J. A., Verkman, A. S., and Lencer, W. I. (2017). Aquaporin-3 mediates hydrogen peroxide-dependent responses to environmental stress in colonic epithelia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, 568–573. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1612921114
- Thomas, C. M., Hong, T., van Pijkeren, J. P., Hemarajata, P., Trinh, D. V., Hu, W., et al. (2012). Histamine derived from probiotic *Lactobacillus reuteri* suppresses TNF via modulation of PKA and ERK signaling. *PLoS One* 7:e31951. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031951
- Thursby, E., and Juge, N. (2017). Introduction to the human gut microbiota. *Biochem. J.* 474, 1823–1836. doi: 10.1042/BCJ20160510
- Thwaites, D. T., Basterfield, L., McCleave, P. M., Carter, S. M., and Simmons, N. L. (2000). Gamma-Aminobutyric acid (GABA) transport across human intestinal epithelial (Caco-2) cell monolayers. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 129, 457–464. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0703069
- Tian, P., Wang, G., Zhao, J., Zhang, H., and Chen, W. (2019). Bifidobacterium with the role of 5-hydroxytryptophan synthesis regulation alleviates the symptom of depression and related microbiota dysbiosis. *J. Nutr. Biochem.* 66, 43–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2019.01.007
- Tolhurst, G., Heffron, H., Lam, Y. S., Parker, H. E., Habib, A. M., Diakogiannaki, E., et al. (2012). Short-chain fatty acids stimulate glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion via the G-protein-coupled receptor FFAR2. *Diabetes* 61, 364–371. doi: 10.2337/ db11-1019

- Torrealba, F., Riveros, M. E., Contreras, M., and Valdes, J. L. (2012). Histamine and motivation. *Front. Syst. Neurosci.* 6:51. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2012.0 0051
- Tran, N., Zhebrak, M., Yacoub, C., Pelletier, J., and Hawley, D. (2019). The gutbrain relationship: investigating the effect of multispecies probiotics on anxiety in a randomized placebo-controlled trial of healthy young adults. *J. Affect. Disord.* 252, 271–277. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.04.043
- Troy, E. B., and Kasper, D. L. (2010). Beneficial effects of *Bacteroides* fragilis polysaccharides on the immune system. *Front. Biosci.* 15:25–34. doi: 10.2741/ 3603
- Tsigos, C., and Chrousos, G. P. (2002). Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, neuroendocrine factors and stress. J. Psychosom. Res. 53, 865–871. doi: 10.1016/ s0022-3999(02)00429-4
- Tucci, V., and Moukaddam, N. (2017). We are the hollow men: the worldwide epidemic of mental illness, psychiatric and behavioral emergencies, and its impact on patients and providers. *J. Emerg. Trauma Shock* 10, 4–6. doi: 10.4103/ 0974-2700.199517
- Tylee, A., and Gandhi, P. (2005). The importance of somatic symptoms in depression in primary care. *Prim Care Companion J. Clin. Psychiatry* 7, 167–176. doi: 10.4088/pcc.v07n0405
- Urita, Y., Goto, M., Watanabe, T., Matsuzaki, M., Gomi, A., Kano, M., et al. (2015). Continuous consumption of fermented milk containing *Bifidobacterium bifidum* YIT 10347 improves gastrointestinal and psychological symptoms in patients with functional gastrointestinal disorders. *Biosci. Microb. Food Health* 34, 37–44. doi: 10.12938/bmfh.2014-017
- Valles-Colomer, M., Falony, G., Darzi, Y., Tigchelaar, E. F., Wang, J., Tito, R. Y., et al. (2019). The neuroactive potential of the human gut microbiota in quality of life and depression. *Nat. Microbiol.* 4, 623–632. doi: 10.1038/s41564-018-0337-x
- van de Guchte, M., Blottiere, H. M., and Dore, J. (2018). Humans as holobionts: implications for prevention and therapy. *Microbiome* 6:81. doi: 10.1186/s40168-018-0466-8
- van der Kleij, H., O'Mahony, C., Shanahan, F., O'Mahony, L., and Bienenstock, J. (2008). Protective effects of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* [corrected] and Bifidobacterium infantis in murine models for colitis do not involve the vagus nerve. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 295, R1131–R1137. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.90434.2008
- Vanuytsel, T., van Wanrooy, S., Vanheel, H., Vanormelingen, C., Verschueren, S., Houben, E., et al. (2014). Psychological stress and corticotropinreleasing hormone increase intestinal permeability in humans by a mast cell-dependent mechanism. *Gut* 63, 1293–1299. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2013-30 5690
- Venema, K. (2017). Foreword Probiotics and prebiotics important dietary components for health. *Benef. Microbes* 8, 1–2. doi: 10.3920/BM2017. x001
- Vighi, G., Marcucci, F., Sensi, L., Di Cara, G., and Frati, F. (2008). Allergy and the gastrointestinal system. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 153(Suppl. 1), 3–6. doi: 10.1111/j. 1365-2249.2008.03713.x
- Vinderola, G., Perdigon, G., Duarte, J., Farnworth, E., and Matar, C. (2006). Effects of the oral administration of the exopolysaccharide produced by *Lactobacillus kefiranofaciens* on the gut mucosal immunity. *Cytokine* 36, 254–260. doi: 10. 1016/j.cyto.2007.01.003
- von Schillde, M. A., Hormannsperger, G., Weiher, M., Alpert, C. A., Hahne, H., Bauerl, C., et al. (2012). Lactocepin secreted by Lactobacillus exerts anti-inflammatory effects by selectively degrading proinflammatory chemokines. *Cell Host Microbe* 11, 387–396. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2012.0 2.006
- Vreeburg, S. A., Hoogendijk, W. J., van Pelt, J., Derijk, R. H., Verhagen, J. C., van Dyck, R., et al. (2009). Major depressive disorder and hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal axis activity: results from a large cohort study. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 66, 617–626. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.50
- Wakayama, K., Ohtsuki, S., Takanaga, H., Hosoya, K., and Terasaki, T. (2002). Localization of norepinephrine and serotonin transporter in mouse brain capillary endothelial cells. *Neurosci. Res.* 44, 173–180. doi: 10.1016/s0168-0102(02)00120-7
- Wallace, C. J. K., and Milev, R. (2017). The effects of probiotics on depressive symptoms in humans: a systematic review. Ann. Gen. Psychiatry 16:14. doi: 10.1186/s12991-017-0138-2

- Wang, C. Y., and Liao, J. K. (2012). A mouse model of diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 821, 421–433. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-430-8\_27
- Wang, H., Lee, I. S., Braun, C., and Enck, P. (2016). Effect of probiotics on central nervous system functions in animals and humans: a systematic review. *J. Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 22, 589–605. doi: 10.5056/jnm16018
- Wang, H. B., Wang, P. Y., Wang, X., Wan, Y. L., and Liu, Y. C. (2012). Butyrate enhances intestinal epithelial barrier function via up-regulation of tight junction protein Claudin-1 transcription. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 57, 3126–3135. doi: 10.1007/s10620-012-2259-4
- Wei, C. L., Wang, S., Yen, J. T., Cheng, Y. F., Liao, C. L., Hsu, C. C., et al. (2019). Antidepressant-like activities of live and heat-killed *Lactobacillus paracasei* PS23 in chronic corticosterone-treated mice and possible mechanisms. *Brain Res.* 1711, 202–213. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2019.01.025
- Wei, Y., Melas, P. A., Wegener, G., Mathe, A. A., and Lavebratt, C. (2014). Antidepressant-like effect of sodium butyrate is associated with an increase in TET1 and in 5-hydroxymethylation levels in the Bdnf gene. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 18:yu032. doi: 10.1093/ijnp/pyu032
- Weingand-Ziadé, A., Gerber-Décombaz, C., and Affolter, M. (2003). Functional characterization of a salt- and thermotolerant glutaminase from *Lactobacillus rhamnosus*. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* 32, 862–867. doi: 10.1016/s0141-0229(03) 00059-0
- Wikoff, W. R., Anfora, A. T., Liu, J., Schultz, P. G., Lesley, S. A., Peters, E. C., et al. (2009). Metabolomics analysis reveals large effects of gut microflora on mammalian blood metabolites. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 3698–3703. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0812874106
- Winzell, M. S., and Ahren, B. (2004). The high-fat diet-fed mouse: a model for studying mechanisms and treatment of impaired glucose tolerance and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 53(Suppl. 3), S215–S219.
- Xing, Z., Geng, W., Li, C., Sun, Y., and Wang, Y. (2017). Comparative genomics of Lactobacillus kefiranofaciens ZW3 and related members of *Lactobacillus*. spp reveal adaptations to dairy and gut environments. *Sci. Rep.* 7:12827. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-12916-0
- Xing, Z., Tang, W., Yang, Y., Geng, W., Rehman, R. U., and Wang, Y. (2018). Colonization and gut flora modulation of *Lactobacillus kefiranofaciens* ZW3 in the intestinal tract of mice. *Probiot. Antimicrob. Proteins* 10, 374–382. doi: 10.1007/s12602-017-9288-4
- Xu, L., Ma, C., Huang, X., Yang, W., Chen, L., Bilotta, A. J., et al. (2018). Microbiota metabolites short-chain fatty acid butyrate conditions intestinal epithelial cells to promote development of Treg cells and T cell IL-10 production. *J. Immunol.* 200(1 Suppl.), 53.16.
- Yamatsu, A., Yamashita, Y., Maru, I., Yang, J., Tatsuzaki, J., and Kim, M. (2015). The improvement of sleep by oral intake of GABA and Apocynum venetum leaf extract. J. Nutr. Sci. Vitaminol. 61, 182–187. doi: 10.3177/jnsv.61.182
- Yan, H., and Ajuwon, K. M. (2017). Butyrate modifies intestinal barrier function in IPEC-J2 cells through a selective upregulation of tight junction proteins and activation of the Akt signaling pathway. *PLoS One* 12:e0179586. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0179586
- Yano, J. M., Yu, K., Donaldson, G. P., Shastri, G. G., Ann, P., Ma, L., et al. (2015). Indigenous bacteria from the gut microbiota regulate host serotonin biosynthesis. *Cell* 161, 264–276. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.02.047
- Yokoyama, S., Hiramatsu, J., and Hayakawa, K. (2002). Production of gammaaminobutyric acid from alcohol distillery lees by *Lactobacillus brevis* IFO-12005. J. Biosci. Bioeng. 93, 95–97. doi: 10.1263/jbb.93.95

- Young, S. N. (1981). Mechanism of decline in rat brain 5-hydroxytryptamine after induction of liver tryptophan pyrrolase by hydrocortisone: roles of tryptophan catabolism and kynurenine synthesis. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 74, 695–700. doi: 10. 1111/j.1476-5381.1981.tb10480.x
- Yunes, R. A., Poluektova, E. U., Dyachkova, M. S., Klimina, K. M., Kovtun, A. S., Averina, O. V., et al. (2016). GABA production and structure of gadB/gadC genes in *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* strains from human microbiota. *Anaerobe* 42, 197–204. doi: 10.1016/j.anaerobe.2016.10.011
- Zalán, Z., Hudáček, J., Štětina, J., Chumchalová, J., and Halász, A. (2009). Production of organic acids by *Lactobacillus* strains in three different media. *Eur. Food Res. Technol.* 230, 395–404. doi: 10.1007/s00217-009-1179-9
- Zareian, M., Ebrahimpour, A., Bakar, F. A., Mohamed, A. K., Forghani, B., Ab-Kadir, M. S., et al. (2012). A glutamic acid-producing lactic acid bacteria isolated from Malaysian fermented foods. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 13, 5482–5497. doi: 10.3390/ ijms13055482
- Zhang, L., Liu, Y. X., Wang, Z., Wang, X. Q., Zhang, J. J., Jiang, R. H., et al. (2019). Clinical characteristic and fecal microbiota responses to probiotic or antidepressant in patients with diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome with depression comorbidity: a pilot study. *Chin. Med. J.* 132, 346–351. doi: 10.1097/CM9.000000000000071
- Zhao, Z. X., Fu, J., Ma, S. R., Peng, R., Yu, J. B., Cong, L., et al. (2018). Gut-brain axis metabolic pathway regulates antidepressant efficacy of albiflorin. *Theranostics* 8, 5945–5959. doi: 10.7150/thno.28068
- Zheng, G., Wu, S. P., Hu, Y., Smith, D. E., Wiley, J. W., and Hong, S. (2013). Corticosterone mediates stress-related increased intestinal permeability in a region-specific manner. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 25, e127–e139. doi: 10.1111/ nmo.12066
- Zheng, P., Zeng, B., Zhou, C., Liu, M., Fang, Z., Xu, X., et al. (2016). Gut microbiome remodeling induces depressive-like behaviors through a pathway mediated by the host's metabolism. *Mol. Psychiatry* 21, 786–796. doi: 10.1038/ mp.2016.44
- Zhou, Y., Zheng, W., Liu, W., Wang, C., Zhan, Y., Li, H., et al. (2019). Crosssectional relationship between kynurenine pathway metabolites and cognitive function in major depressive disorder. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 101, 72–79. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.11.001
- Zmora, N., Zilberman-Schapira, G., Suez, J., Mor, U., Dori-Bachash, M., Bashiardes, S., et al. (2018). Personalized gut mucosal colonization resistance to empiric probiotics Is associated with unique host and microbiome features. *Cell* 174, 1388.e21–1405.e21. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.08.041
- Zuo, L., Yuan, K. T., Yu, L., Meng, Q. H., Chung, P. C., and Yang, D. H. (2014). Bifidobacterium infantis attenuates colitis by regulating T cell subset responses. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 20, 18316–18329. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i48. 18316

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Yong, Tong, Chew and Lim. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Structural and Functional Characterization of the Gut Microbiota in Elderly Women With Migraine

#### Juanjuan Chen<sup>1,2†</sup>, Qi Wang<sup>2,3,4\*†</sup>, Anqi Wang<sup>5</sup> and Zhanglin Lin<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Biology and Biological Engineering, South China University of Technology, Guangzhou, China, <sup>2</sup> BGI-Shenzhen, Shenzhen, China, <sup>3</sup> BGI Education Center, University of Chinese Academy of Sciences, Shenzhen, China, <sup>4</sup> School of Future Technology, University of Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China, <sup>5</sup> Lanzhou University, Lanzhou, China

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Elisa L. Hill-Yardin, RMIT University, Australia

#### Reviewed by:

Jennifer Louise Wood, Swinburne University of Technology, Australia Steve Petrovski, La Trobe University, Australia

#### \*Correspondence:

Qi Wang wangqi1@genomics.cn Zhanglin Lin zhanglinlin@scut.edu.cn

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbiome in Health and Disease, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

Received: 09 June 2019 Accepted: 20 December 2019 Published: 29 January 2020

#### Citation:

Chen J, Wang Q, Wang A and Lin Z (2020) Structural and Functional Characterization of the Gut Microbiota in Elderly Women With Migraine. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 9:470. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00470 Migraine is a very common, multifactorial, and recurrent central nervous system disorder that causes throbbing headache, photophobia, phonophobia, nausea, and disability. Migraine occurs more often in females, and its complex physiopathology is not yet fully understood. An increasing number of gastrointestinal disorders have been linked to the occurrence of migraine suggesting that gut microbiota might play a pivotal role in migraine through the gut-brain axis. In the present work, we performed a metagenome-wide association study (MWAS) to determine the relationship between gut microbiota and migraine by analyzing 108 shotgun-sequenced fecal samples obtained from elderly women who suffer from migraine and matched healthy controls. Notably, the alpha diversity was significantly decreased in the migraine group at species, genus, and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) orthologous levels. Firmicutes, especially the "unfriendly" Clostridium spp., were significantly enriched in the migraine group. Conversely, the healthy controls held more beneficial microorganisms, such as Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, Bifidobacterium adolescentis, and Methanobrevibacter smithii. For functional modules, the migraine group was enriched in gut-brain modules (GBMs) including kynurenine degradation and y-aminobutyric acid (GABA) synthesis. However, the healthy controls held higher gut metabolic modules (GMMs) including glycolysis, homoacetogenesis, and GBMs including quinolinic acid degradation and S-adenosyl methionine (SAM) synthesis. The differences in gut microbiota composition and function between the migraine and healthy groups provided new information as well as novel therapeutic targets and strategies for migraine treatment, which could help to improve the early diagnosis of the disease, as well as the long-term prognosis and the life quality of patients suffering from migraine.

Keywords: migraine, gut microbiota, elderly women, metagenome-wide association study, structural characterization, functional modules

89

#### INTRODUCTION

Migraine can cause a severe unilateral throbbing headache or a pulsing sensation, which are typically accompanied by nausea, vomiting, and extreme sensitivity to light and sound, thereby adversely affecting daily activities (MacGregor, 2017). Constipation and mood changes also frequently occur together with migraine (Vacca, 2019). Migraines usually begin in adolescence or early adulthood, it is three times more common in women (17%) than in men (5-8%), and it accounts for over 90% of patients with recurrent headache (MacGregor, 2017). Multiple factors, including inheritance (Ulrich et al., 1999), hormones (Sacco et al., 2012), dietary habits (Nazari and Eghbali, 2012), mental stress (Lipton et al., 2014), and gastrointestinal disorders (Camara-Lemarroy et al., 2016), have been reported as triggers of migraine. For the prognosis, some patients remit, some experience recurrent episodes, and in others the condition evolves into a chronic and more refractory state.

Human gut microbiome, which is considered as the second genome and brain of human body (Li et al., 2014), is thought to be closely related to migraine (Gonzalez et al., 2016). The recent gut-brain axis theory (Carabotti et al., 2015) has proposed a bidirectional communication between the central and enteric nervous systems, linking the emotional and cognitive centers of the brain with the peripheral intestinal functions. Studies have found that irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) occurs in over half of migraine patients (Lau et al., 2014), and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) patients are 2.7 times more likely to have migraines (Dimitrova et al., 2013). The fact that both IBD and IBS are severe gut disorders associated with gut permeability and inflammation caused by gut microbes through the gutbrain axis (Aggarwal et al., 2012) suggests an important role of gut bacteria in migraine. In an uncontrolled observational study on 1,020 patients, researchers found that multispecies probiotic formulations can reduce the intensity and the frequency of migraine attacks (Straube et al., 2018). However, another randomized placebo-controlled study conducted on 63 patients showed that the use of multispecies probiotics, compared with placebo, does not significantly affect intestinal permeability or inflammation (de Roos et al., 2017). These paradoxical conclusions need further confirmation.

The diagnosis of a migraine is based on signs and symptoms (Bartleson and Cutrer, 2010), such as with or without aura, duration, unilateral, pulsating headache, inability to work, nausea and vomiting, photophobia, and phonophobia. Diagnostic uncertainty has been associated with diagnostic variation (physicians giving different diagnoses to the same patient), over-testing, suboptimal management, more hospitalizations and referrals, and increased health care expenditure. In contrast to traditional pharmacotherapy, which is marked by unavoidable and often dangerous side effects (e.g., analgesics might cause nervous disorders; Do et al., 2019), dietary intervention is thought to be a promising safe therapeutic strategy to prevent migraine through the regulation of gut microbes (Camara-Lemarroy et al., 2016). Both the ketogenic diet (Gross et al., 2019) and the traditional Chinese medicinal plant Gastrodia elata, which is also used as food in China (Hua et al., 2019), have been reported to regulate gut microbiota and to promote remission from migraine. The few publications available, which are based on probiotic treatment, however, are with different conclusions about the effects of probiotics on migraine in humans (de Roos et al., 2017; Straube et al., 2018).

In this work, we performed a metagenome-wide association study (MWAS) based on shotgun-sequenced fecal samples obtained from 108 elderly women consisting of 54 migraineurs and 54 healthy subjects in order to shed some light over the connections between gut microbiota composition and function and migraine. The study aimed at discovering differences in gut microbiota that could help to design strategies based on the modulation of the gut microecology that could improve the longterm prognosis of migraine and provide a guidance for early diagnosis and management of this recurrent disease.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Statement of Human Rights**

The data used in this study were obtained from a previous study (Xie et al., 2016) whose ethics statement was approved by the local ethics committee, and an informed consent was collected from each subject. All the procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee on human experimentation (BGI-Shenzhen, China, Ethics Approval No. BGI-IRB 14074).

#### Materials

The 108 stool samples, from 54 migraineurs and 54 matched 201 healthy controls, were shotgun sequenced during a former study (**Table S1**) (Xie et al., 2016). All the samples and clinical indexes were collected by Prof. Spector's group at King's College London. Subjects were excluded if they had a history of chronic serious infection, any current infection, and any type of malignant cancer; individuals who had received antibiotic treatment within 1 month before participating in this study were also excluded.

#### **Quality Control and Host Genome Filtering**

The raw reads that had 50% low-quality bases (quality  $\leq 20$ ) or more than five ambiguous bases were excluded. The remaining reads were mapped to the human genome (hg19) by SOAP v2.22 (-m 100 -x 600 -v 7 -p 6 -l 30 -r 1 -M 4 -c 0.95), and the matching reads were removed (Fang et al., 2018). The high-quality nonhuman reads were defined as clean reads.

#### Acquisition of Gene Abundance and Taxonomic Profiles From Metagenomic Samples

The clean reads were aligned against the latest 11.4 M human gut microbial gene catalog (Xie et al., 2016) through SOAP v2.22 (-m 100 -x 600 -v 7 -p 6 -l 30 -r 1 -M 4 -c 0.9) to generate the gene abundance profile. To obtain the taxonomic profiles, metaphlan2 (Truong et al., 2015) (-input\_type fastq -ignore\_viruses -nproc 6) was used to generate phyla, genera, and species profiles from the clean reads.

# Calculation of Gut Microbiome Functional Profiles

Putative amino acid sequences were translated from the gene catalog (Xie et al., 2016) and aligned against the proteins or domains in the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) databases (release 79.0, with animal and plant genes removed) using BLASTP (v2.26, default parameter, except -m 8 -e 1e-5 -F -a 6 -b 50). Each protein was assigned to a KEGG orthologous (KO) group on the basis of the highest scoring annotated hit(s) containing at least one segment pair scoring over 60 bits. The relative abundance profile of KOs was determined by summing the relative abundance of genes from each KO using the mapped reads per sample (Xie et al., 2016). The abundance of each gut metabolic module (GBM) (-a 2 -d GMM.v1.07.txt -s average) and gut neuroactive module (GBM) (default parameter) were calculated as shown in the former article (Vieira-Silva et al., 2016; Valles-Colomer et al., 2019).

### Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance of the Effect of Related Factors on Gut Microbiome

To evaluate the effects of the clinical and lifestyle factors on the microbiome, we performed the permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) of the gene abundance of the samples. The Bray–Curtis distance and 9,999 permutations in R (3.2.5, vegan package) were used.

## **Richness and Diversity Analysis**

Alpha diversity (within samples) at species, genus, and KO levels of the two groups was quantified by the Shannon index on the basis of the relative gene abundance profile.

## Differential Analysis of the Gut Microbiome Between the Two Groups

MWAS was used to investigate the differences in taxon composition between fecal microbiomes of healthy controls and migraineurs. To investigate the specific differences in the gut microbiome composition and function between the migraine group and the healthy controls, first, the top 15 species, the top 10 genera, and the top 5 phyla of each group were selected according to their average relative abundances, and each of the taxon was compared by Wilcoxon rank-sum test to compare their differences between two groups (p < 0.05). Second, the significantly different species, genera, phyla (Table S4), GMMs (Table S5), and GBMs (Table S6) between two groups were tested by Wilcoxon rank-sum test (p < 0.05). Third, the significantly changed species analyzed above were further analyzed by Spearman's rank correlation (p < 0.05) according to their relative abundances in all samples. Then the software Cytoscape 3.4.0 was used to visualize the co-occurrence network of these species.

## RESULTS

#### **Characterization of the Gut Microbiomes**

To investigate the characteristics of gut microbiome in migraine patients, a metagenomic shotgun-sequencing study

was performed on a total of 108 fecal samples from 54 individuals with migraine and 54 healthy controls with matched age and body mass index (BMI) (**Figure S1**). After removal of low-quality and human DNA reads, an average of 7.27 gigabase pairs per sample were aligned to a gut microbiome gene catalog comprising 11.4 million genes (Xie et al., 2016), achieving an average of 77.6  $\pm$  1.6% matched reads per sample (**Table S2**).

PERMANOVA revealed significant differences in the gut microbiome of the two groups (p = 0.0066,  $R^2 = 0.014$ , **Table S1b**). The alpha diversity was evidently decreased in the migraine group at both genus (p = 0.036, Wilcoxon rank-sum test, **Figure 1A**) and species (p = 0.048, Wilcoxon rank-sum test, **Figure 1B**) levels, whereas the species richness was not significantly different in the two groups at either level (genus, p =0.64; species, p = 1.0; Wilcoxon rank-sum test, **Figures S2A,B**). Similarly, the KO analysis showed an evident decrease of the alpha diversity in the migraine group (p = 0.045, Wilcoxon rank-sum test, **Figure S2C**), whereas the difference in species richness between the two groups was not significant (p = 0.085, Wilcoxon rank-sum test, **Figure S2D**). The data used in **Figure 1** and **Figure S1** are included in **Table S3**.

### Differences of the Gut Microbiome Between Two Groups

To investigate the differences in highly abundant bacteria in the gut of the two groups, we chose the top 15 species, top 10 genera, and top 5 phyla. Interestingly, the migraine group showed significantly higher levels of the phylum Firmicutes (p = 0.0023, **Figure S3**) and a reduction in the level of the beneficial genus *Faecalibacterium* (p = 0.0029, **Figure 1C**) relative to the control group. At the species level (**Figure 1D**), *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* (p = 0.0029), *Bifidobacterium adolescentis* (p = 0.041), and *Methanobrevibacter smithii* (p = 0.012) were significantly enriched in the healthy controls.

To further illustrate the differences between the two cohorts, 21 and 22 significantly enriched species (Figure 2, p < 0.05, false discovery rate [FDR] = 0.14, Table S4) were identified for the migraine group and the healthy controls, respectively. The species enriched in the migraine group were Blautia hydrogenotrophica, Clostridium asparagiforme, Clostridium clostridioforme, Clostridium bolteae, Clostridium citroniae, Clostridium hathewayi, Clostridium ramosum, Clostridium spiroforme, Clostridium symbiosum, Eggerthella lenta, Flavonifractor plautii, Lachnospiraceae bacterium, and Ruminococcus gnavus. B. hydrogenotrophica metabolizes H<sub>2</sub>/CO<sub>2</sub> to acetate and contributes to the breakdown of plant polysaccharides and proteins in the host (Bernalier et al., 1996). Except for C. bolteae, an autism-associated bacterium (Pequegnat et al., 2013), all the other Clostridium spp. enriched in the migraine group have been reported to be correlated with solid tissue inflammation (Elsayed and Zhang, 2004b), infection (Finegold et al., 2005), and bacteremia (Elsayed and Zhang, 2004a). E. lenta and F. plautii can cause bacteremia (Wong et al., 2014) and bloodstream infection (Berger et al., 2018), respectively. R. gnavus, which degrades mucin (Crost et al.,



FIGURE 1 | Reduced gut microbial diversity in migraineurs. Alpha-diversity (Shannon index) at the genus (A) and species (B) levels of the two cohorts (Tested by two-tailed Wilcoxon-rank sum test). The top 10 genera (C) and top 15 species (D) (mean relative abundance higher than 3.09 and 1.83%, respectively) in the migraine patients and the control individuals (two-tailed Wilcoxon-rank sum test, Tables S4B,C).



2016), is enriched in IBD patients (Hall et al., 2017) and can cause bacteremia (Hansen et al., 2013).

The species significantly enriched in the controls were Bacteroides clarus, Bacteroides intestinalis, Bacteroides salyersiae, Bacteroides stercoris, Butyrivibrio crossotus, Clostridium sp. L2\_50, Coprococcus catus, Eubacterium hallii, Eubacterium Odoribacter splanchnicus, Peptostreptococcaceae ramulus, noname unclassified, Prevotella copri, Ruminococcus callidus, Ruminococcus champanellensis, Ruminococcus obeum, and Sutterella wadsworthensis. In this list, at least one bacterium regarded as "unfriendly" can be found: O. splanchnicus, which has been isolated from the crevicular spaces of dogs with periodontitis (Hardham et al., 2008). However, many more species regarded as beneficial were found in the healthy subjects compared with the migraineurs. B. clarus is significantly decreased in colorectal cancer (Watanabe et al., 2010; Liang et al., 2017), and its enrichment in controls may be beneficial. S. wadsworthensis protects against IBD (Wexler et al., 1996); C. catus ferments fructose, lactate, and pyruvate to short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) (Holdeman and Moore, 1974); *E. hallii* contributes to the intestinal propionate formation (Engels et al., 2016) and improves insulin sensitivity (Udayappan et al., 2016); *E. ramulus* produces propionic acid and dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (Schneider and Blaut, 2000; Braune et al., 2001); *R. obeum* plays an important role in the recovery process from *Vibrio cholerae* infection (Lawson and Finegold, 2015). In addition, species involved in polysaccharide degradation were also enriched in the healthy controls. These were *B. intestinalis*, which degrades arabinoxylan for energy acquisition (Wang et al., 2016); *B. crossotus*, which metabolizes polysaccharides into simpler sugars (Kelly et al., 2010); and *R. callidus* and *R. champanellensis*, which degrade various plant hemicelluloses and cellulose (Chassard et al., 2012).

## Functional Alterations in the Gut Microbiome of Migraineurs

Significantly different GMMs and GBMs between two groups were analyzed (p < 0.05, Wilcoxon rank-sum test). Seven

significantly changed GMMs between two groups were observed (Figure 3A), and glutamate degradation II is the only GMM that is significantly higher in the migraine group. Serine degradation, homoacetogenesis, glycerol degradation, mannose degradation, glycolysis (preparatory phase), and pyruvate:ferredoxin oxidoreductase were the six GMMs found to be enriched in the healthy controls. Serine is a major energy and SCFAs contributor in the human body and can be degraded to pyruvate by Escherichia coli (Su et al., 1989). Homoacetogenesis produces acetate by consuming hydrogen (Ni et al., 2011). Higher *glycerol degradation* can reduce the *triglycerides synthesis* and phospholipids synthesis. Mannose, which has been reported to impair tumor growth and to enhance chemotherapy, can be degraded into fructose, which is then catabolized to lactate, a precursor of SCFAs (Gonzalez et al., 2018). Glycolysis (preparatory phase) consumes energy to convert glucose into two 3-carbon molecules (Kathagen et al., 2013). Pyruvate:ferredoxin oxidoreductase is a key enzyme in metabolism that catalyzes pyruvate to acetyl-CoA and CO<sub>2</sub> (Furdui and Ragsdale, 2000). Taken together, these results indicated that the gut microbiota of the healthy controls were more active in energy metabolism and SCFA synthesis, which might be beneficial in maintaining their health.

Five significantly changed GBMs between two groups were observed (Figure 3B). Glutamate degradation I, quinolinic acid degradation, and S-adenosyl methionine (SAM) synthesis were predominant in the control group, which meant that there was a decrease in the levels of glutamate and quinolinic acid while an increase in those of the SAM in the healthy controls. Glutamate is a neurotransmitter in the healthy brain. Quinolinic acid is an endogenous N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor agonist and possesses neuroactive activity (Heyes et al., 1992). SAM is a major methyl donor in the brain. Conversely, kynurenine degradation and  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) synthesis III were enriched in the migraine group. Kynurenine is a metabolite of tryptophan and can be degraded to quinolinic acid and kynurenic acid, an NMDA antagonist, and is thought to be involved in the pathophysiology and pathogenesis of schizophrenia. GABA is the chief inhibitory neurotransmitter in the developmentally mature mammalian central nervous system.

#### DISCUSSION

Migraine susceptibility is multifactorial with genetic, hormonal, and environmental factors. The physiopathology of migraine is complex and still not fully understood. Recent reports demonstrate an increased frequency of gastrointestinal disorders, such as *Helicobacter pylori* infection, IBS, gastroparesis, hepatobiliary disorders, celiac disease, and alterations in the microbiota have been linked to the occurrence of migraine (Camara-Lemarroy et al., 2016). However, several case–control studies based on probiotic treatment have different conclusions (de Roos et al., 2017; Straube et al., 2018). Up to now, the precise characteristics and changes of gut microbiome in migraine were not fully elucidated. In this study, we presented the first set of evidence obtained from human cohorts for a significant gut



microbiome dysbiosis from both compositional and functional aspects in migraine.

Significant differences in the gut microbiota composition were observed in our study. First, the migraine group showed a significantly lower alpha diversity at species, genus, and KO levels than did the healthy controls, which might be caused by a significant depletion in some highly abundant bacteria in migraine, such as Faecalibacterium, F. prausnitzii, B. adolescentis, and M. smithii. F. prausnitzii is a major producer of butyrate (Machiels et al., 2014), B. adolescentis exhibits strain-specific effects in the alleviation of constipation (Wang et al., 2017), and M. smithii, a predominant archaeon in the human gut, can affect the specificity and efficiency of dietary polysaccharides to influence host calorie harvest and adiposity (Samuel et al., 2007). Notably, Firmicutes, the main bacterial phylum in the gut, was significantly enriched in migraine. Second, some species thought to be detrimental to human health, especially *Clostridium* spp., were significantly enriched in migraineurs. Third, the controls held more beneficial microorganisms, such as B. adolescentis,

*F. prausnitzii*, and *Bacteroides intestinalis*, suggesting that the control subjects held a healthier gut microenvironment than did migraineurs. Notably, some "unfriendly" species, such as *Odoribacter splanchnicus* and *Prevotella copri*, were also elevated in controls, suggesting the likelihood of susceptibility to intestinal inflammation (Hardham et al., 2008) and arthritis (Scher et al., 2013) in the seemingly healthy control subjects.

From a functional point of view, significant changes in GMMs and GBMs between two groups were observed. Interestingly, the migraineurs had less GMMs and GBMs enriched than did the controls. The healthy controls held more modules related to substrates metabolism, glycolysis (preparatory phase), and SCFA production, whereas *glutamate degradation II* is the only significantly changed GMM enriched in migraine. These results suggested that migraineurs might suffer from metabolic dysfunctions and insufficient SCFA synthesis.

For GBMs, kynurenine degradation and GABA synthesis III were significantly higher in the migraine group. The higher kynurenine degradation module observed in the migraine group suggested the potential presence of elevated concentration of its catabolites, that is, the neuroexcitatory quinolinic acid and neuroinhibitory kynurenic acid, which can cause diseases in the nervous and immune systems (Heyes et al., 1992). The higher GABA synthesis observed in the migraine group indicated the potential presence of higher levels of GABA in the brain, which might be beneficial for health. Oral GABA administration was reported to relieve anxiety (Abdou et al., 2006), improve mood (Sakashita et al., 2019), and reduce symptoms of premenstrual syndrome (Rapkin and Akopians, 2012). In addition, GABA also supports the physiologic adjustment of pituitary gland function and controls growth hormone secretion from the pituitary gland (Acs et al., 1987), promotes muscle protein synthesis (Olarescu et al., 2000), stabilizes blood pressure (Ma et al., 2015), and relieves pain (Jasmin et al., 2004). On the contrary, the higher capability of glutamate degradation I was observed in the healthy group. Glutamate is the principal excitatory neurotransmitter in the healthy brain and provides energy for normal brain function, whose depletion is a common feature of many neuropsychiatric conditions such as schizophrenia (Zhou and Danbolt, 2014). In addition, higher quinolinic acid degradation was observed in the control group. Quinolinic acid is an NMDA antagonist, has a potent neurotoxic effect, and may be involved in many psychiatric disorders and neurodegenerative processes in the brain. These GBM changes reminded us that the healthy volunteers might also have a risk in getting mental disorders, although they have no significant signs. Higher synthesis of SAM in controls indicated higher levels of SAM, an antidepressant with few side effects (Young and Shalchi, 2005). The functional redundancy, which was reported by Kang et al. (2015), was also found in both migraine group and healthy controls in our study, which meant that the gut microbiome can self-regulate to relieve symptoms when their hosts suffered from migraine. In addition, changes in some unhealthy gut microbiome composition and function in the healthy group might also indicate that migraine may still happen in seemingly healthy people in the future.

In summary, our results revealed a significant decrease in species diversity and metabolic functions in the gut microbiota of migraine sufferers, which highlighted the importance of maintaining species diversity to improve the gut microecosystem stability. Additionally, the monitoring of harmful bacteria such as *Clostridium* spp. could be a new strategy for early diagnosis and timely prevention of migraine. In addition, proper probiotics could be supplemented to migraineurs to treat their intestinal dysbiosis or prevent them from gut disorders, which may reduce the occurrence of migraine attacks. Our findings revealed that gut microbiota can be a potential target for migraine management and offered not only novel promising treatment strategies but also an important functional basis for future research on this disease.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets analyzed in this study can be found in the European Bioinformatics Institute (EBI) with the accession ID ERP010708 or in the China National Genebank (CNGB) with a program ID CNPhis0000107.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Research Health Authority NRES Committee London - Westminster. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

QW and JC conceived and designed the study. QW and AW were in charge of data analysis and graphics presentation. JC wrote the paper. QW and ZL reviewed and revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved the manuscript.

## FUNDING

The TwinsUK resource was funded by the Wellcome Trust 105022/Z/14/Z and by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) BioResource Clinical Research Facility and Biomedical Research Center based at Guy's and St. Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London. Prof. Spector was a NIHR Senior Investigator.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Prof. Spector at King's College London for sample and clinical index collection.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcimb. 2019.00470/full#supplementary-material

#### Microbiota in Elderly Migraine Women

#### REFERENCES

- Abdou, A. M., Higashiguchi, S., Horie, K., Kim, M., Hatta, H., and Yokogoshi, H. (2006). Relaxation and immunity enhancement effects of gammaaminobutyric acid (GABA) administration in humans. *Biofactors* 26, 201–208. doi: 10.1002/biof.5520260305
- Acs, Z., Szabo, B., Kapocs, G., and Makara, G. B. (1987). gamma-Aminobutyric acid stimulates pituitary growth hormone secretion in the neonatal rat. A superfusion study. *Endocrinology* 120, 1790–1798. doi: 10.1210/endo-120-5-1790
- Aggarwal, M., Puri, V., and Puri, S. (2012). Serotonin and CGRP in migraine. *Ann. Neurosci.* 19, 88–94. doi: 10.5214/ans.0972.7531.12190210
- Bartleson, J. D., and Cutrer, F. M. (2010). Migraine update. Diagnosis and treatment. *Minn. Med.* 93, 36-41.
- Berger, F. K., Schwab, N., Glanemann, M., Bohle, R. M., Gartner, B., and Groesdonk, H. V. (2018). Flavonifractor (Eubacterium) plautii bloodstream infection following acute cholecystitis. *IDCases* 14:e00461. doi: 10.1016/j.idcr.2018.e00461
- Bernalier, A., Willems, A., Leclerc, M., Rochet, V., and Collins, M. D. (1996). Ruminococcus hydrogenotrophicus sp. nov., a new H2/CO2-utilizing acetogenic bacterium isolated from human feces. Arch. Microbiol. 166, 176–183. doi: 10.1007/s002030050373
- Braune, A., Gutschow, M., Engst, W., and Blaut, M. (2001). Degradation of quercetin and luteolin by *Eubacterium ramulus*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67, 5558–5567. doi: 10.1128/AEM.67.12.5558-5567.2001
- Camara-Lemarroy, C. R., Rodriguez-Gutierrez, R., Monreal-Robles, R., and Marfil-Rivera, A. (2016). Gastrointestinal disorders associated with migraine: a comprehensive review. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 22, 8149–8160. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i36.8149
- Carabotti, M., Scirocco, A., Maselli, M. A., and Severi, C. (2015). The gut-brain axis: interactions between enteric microbiota, central and enteric nervous systems. Ann. Gastroenterol. 28, 203–209.
- Chassard, C., Delmas, E., Robert, C., Lawson, P. A., and Bernalier-Donadille, A. (2012). *Ruminococcus champanellensis* sp. nov., a cellulose-degrading bacterium from human gut microbiota. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* 62, 138–143. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.027375-0
- Crost, E. H., Tailford, L. E., Monestier, M., Swarbreck, D., Henrissat, B., Crossman, L. C., et al. (2016). The mucin-degradation strategy of *Ruminococcus gnavus*: the importance of intramolecular trans-sialidases. *Gut Microbes* 7, 302–312. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2016.1186334
- de Roos, N. M., van Hemert, S., Rovers, J. M. P., Smits, M. G., and Witteman, B. J. M. (2017). The effects of a multispecies probiotic on migraine and markers of intestinal permeability-results of a randomized placebo-controlled study. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 71, 1455–1462. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2017.57
- Dimitrova, A. K., Ungaro, R. C., Lebwohl, B., Lewis, S. K., Tennyson, C. A., Green, M. W., et al. (2013). Prevalence of migraine in patients with celiac disease and inflammatory bowel disease. *Headache* 53, 344–355. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4610.2012.02260.x
- Do, T. P., Guo, S., and Ashina, M. (2019). Therapeutic novelties in migraine: new drugs, new hope? J. Headache Pain 20:37. doi: 10.1186/s10194-019-0974-3
- Elsayed, S., and Zhang, K. (2004a). Bacteremia caused by *Clostridium symbiosum*. J. Clin. Microbiol. 42, 4390–4392. doi: 10.1128/JCM.42.9.4390-4392.2004
- Elsayed, S., and Zhang, K. (2004b). Human infection caused by *Clostridium hathewayi. Emerg Infect. Dis.* 10, 1950–1952. doi: 10.3201/eid1011.040006
- Engels, C., Ruscheweyh, H. J., Beerenwinkel, N., Lacroix, C., and Schwab, C. (2016). The common gut microbe *Eubacterium hallii* also contributes to intestinal propionate formation. *Front. Microbiol.* 7:713. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00713
- Fang, C., Zhong, H., Lin, Y., Chen, B., Han, M., Ren, H., et al. (2018). Assessment of the cPAS-based BGISEQ-500 platform for metagenomic sequencing. *Gigascience* 7, 1–8. doi: 10.1093/gigascience/gix133
- Finegold, S. M., Song, Y., Liu, C., Hecht, D. W., Summanen, P., Kononen, E., et al. (2005). *Clostridium clostridioforme*: a mixture of three clinically important species. *Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* 24, 319–324. doi: 10.1007/s10096-005-1334-6
- Furdui, C., and Ragsdale, S. W. (2000). The role of pyruvate ferredoxin oxidoreductase in pyruvate synthesis during autotrophic growth by

the Wood-Ljungdahl pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 28494–28499. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M003291200

- Gonzalez, A., Hyde, E., Sangwan, N., Gilbert, J. A., Viirre, E., and Knight, R. (2016). Migraines are correlated with higher levels of nitrate-, nitrite-, and nitric oxide-reducing oral microbes in the American Gut Project Cohort. *mSystems* 1:e00105–00116. doi: 10.1128/mSystems.00105-16
- Gonzalez, P. S., O'Prey, J., Cardaci, S., Barthet, V. J. A., Sakamaki, J. I., Beaumatin, F., et al. (2018). Mannose impairs tumour growth and enhances chemotherapy. *Nature* 563, 719–723. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0729-3
- Gross, E. C., Klement, R. J., Schoenen, J., D'Agostino, D. P., and Fischer, D. (2019). Potential protective mechanisms of ketone bodies in migraine prevention. *Nutrients* 11:E811. doi: 10.3390/nu1104081
- Hall, A. B., Yassour, M., Sauk, J., Garner, A., Jiang, X., Arthur, T., et al. (2017). A novel *Ruminococcus gnavus* clade enriched in inflammatory bowel disease patients. *Genome Med.* 9:103. doi: 10.1186/s13073-017-0490-5
- Hansen, S. G., Skov, M. N., and Justesen, U. S. (2013). Two cases of *Ruminococcus gnavus* bacteremia associated with diverticulitis. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 51, 1334–1336. doi: 10.1128/JCM.03382-12
- Hardham, J. M., King, K. W., Dreier, K., Wong, J., Strietzel, C., Eversole, R. R., et al. (2008). Transfer of *Bacteroides splanchnicus* to *Odoribacter* gen. nov. as *Odoribacter splanchnicus* comb. nov., and description of *Odoribacter denticanis* sp. nov., isolated from the crevicular spaces of canine periodontitis patients. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* 58, 103–109. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.63458-0
- Heyes, M. P., Saito, K., Crowley, J. S., Davis, L. E., Demitrack, M. A., Der, M., et al. (1992). Quinolinic acid and kynurenine pathway metabolism in inflammatory and non-inflammatory neurological disease. *Brain* 115, 1249–1273. doi: 10.1093/brain/115.5.1249
- Holdeman, L. V., and Moore, W. E. C. (1974). New genus, coprococcus, twelve new species, and emended descriptions of four previously described species of bacteria from human feces. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* 24, 260–277. doi: 10.1099/00207713-24-2-260
- Hua, Z. Y., Li, H. M., Sun, J. H., Huo, H. R., Li, X. Q., Huang, L. Q., et al. (2019). [Effect of fresh *Gastrodia elata* on gut microbiota in mice]. *Zhongguo Zhong Yao Za Zhi* 44, 1004–1009. doi: 10.19540/j.cnki.cjcmm.2019.0018
- Jasmin, L., Wu, M. V., and Ohara, P. T. (2004). GABA puts a stop to pain. Curr. Drug Targets CNS Neurol. Disord. 3, 487–505. doi: 10.2174/1568007043336716
- Kang, S., Ma, W., Li, F. Y., Zhang, Q., Niu, J., Ding, Y., et al. (2015). Functional redundancy instead of species redundancy determines community stability in a typical steppe of inner mongolia. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0145605. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0145605
- Kathagen, A., Schulte, A., Balcke, G., Phillips, H. S., Martens, T., Matschke, J., et al. (2013). Hypoxia and oxygenation induce a metabolic switch between pentose phosphate pathway and glycolysis in glioma stem-like cells. *Acta Neuropathol.* 126, 763–780. doi: 10.1007/s00401-013-1173-y
- Kelly, W. J., Leahy, S. C., Altermann, E., Yeoman, C. J., Dunne, J. C., Kong, Z., et al. (2010). The glycobiome of the rumen bacterium *Butyrivibrio proteoclasticus* B316(T) highlights adaptation to a polysaccharide-rich environment. *PLoS ONE* 5:e11942. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011942
- Lau, C. I., Lin, C. C., Chen, W. H., Wang, H. C., and Kao, C. H. (2014). Association between migraine and irritable bowel syndrome: a population-based retrospective cohort study. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 21, 1198–1204. doi: 10.1111/ene.12468
- Lawson, P. A., and Finegold, S. M. (2015). Reclassification of Ruminococcus obeum as Blautia obeum comb. nov. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 65, 789–793. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.000015
- Li, J., Jia, H., Cai, X., Zhong, H., Feng, Q., Sunagawa, S., et al. (2014). An integrated catalog of reference genes in the human gut microbiome. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 32, 834–841. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2942
- Liang, Q., Chiu, J., Chen, Y., Huang, Y., Higashimori, A., Fang, J., et al. (2017). Fecal bacteria act as novel biomarkers for noninvasive diagnosis of colorectal cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 23, 2061–2070. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1599
- Lipton, R. B., Buse, D. C., Hall, C. B., Tennen, H., Defreitas, T. A., Borkowski, T. M., et al. (2014). Reduction in perceived stress as a migraine trigger: testing the "let-down headache" hypothesis. *Neurology* 82, 1395–1401. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0000000000332
- Ma, P., Li, T., Ji, F., Wang, H., and Pang, J. (2015). Effect of GABA on blood pressure and blood dynamics of anesthetic rats. *Int. J. Clin. Exp. Med.* 8, 14296–14302.

- MacGregor, E. A. (2017). Migraine. Ann. Intern. Med. 166, ITC49–ITC64. doi: 10.7326/AITC201704040
- Machiels, K., Joossens, M., Sabino, J., De Preter, V., Arijs, I., Eeckhaut, V., et al. (2014). A decrease of the butyrate-producing species *Roseburia hominis* and *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* defines dysbiosis in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gut* 63, 1275–1283. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2013-304833
- Nazari, F., and Eghbali, M. (2012). Migraine and its relationship with dietary habits in women. *Iran J. Nurs. Midwifery Res.* 17(2 Suppl 1), S65–S71.
- Ni, B. J., Liu, H., Nie, Y. Q., Zeng, R. J., Du, G. C., Chen, J., et al. (2011). Coupling glucose fermentation and homoacetogenesis for elevated acetate production: experimental and mathematical approaches. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 108, 345–353. doi: 10.1002/bit.22908
- Olarescu, N. C., Gunawardane, K., Hansen, T. K., Moller, N., and Jorgensen, J. O. L. (2000). "Normal physiology of growth hormone in adults," in *Endotext*, eds K. R. Feingold, B. Anawalt, A. Boyce, G. Chrousos, K. Dungan, A. Grossman, J. M. Hershman, G. Kaltsas, C. Koch, P. Kopp, M. Korbonits, R. McLachlan, J. E. Morley, M. New, L. Perreault, J. Purnell, R. Rebar, F. Singer, D.L. Trence, A. Vinik, and D. P. Wilson (South Dartmouth, MA).
- Pequegnat, B., Sagermann, M., Valliani, M., Toh, M., Chow, H., Allen-Vercoe, E., et al. (2013). A vaccine and diagnostic target for *Clostridium bolteae*, an autism-associated bacterium. *Vaccine* 31, 2787–2790. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.04.018
- Rapkin, A. J., and Akopians, A. L. (2012). Pathophysiology of premenstrual syndrome and premenstrual dysphoric disorder. *Menopause Int.* 18, 52–59. doi: 10.1258/mi.2012.012014
- Sacco, S., Ricci, S., Degan, D., and Carolei, A. (2012). Migraine in women: the role of hormones and their impact on vascular diseases. J Headache Pain 13, 177–189. doi: 10.1007/s10194-012-0424-y
- Sakashita, M., Nakamura, U., Horie, N., Yokoyama, Y., Kim, M., and Fujita, S. (2019). Oral supplementation using gamma-aminobutyric acid and whey protein improves whole body fat-free mass in men after resistance training. *J. Clin. Med. Res.* 11, 428–434. doi: 10.14740/jocmr3817
- Samuel, B. S., Hansen, E. E., Manchester, J. K., Coutinho, P. M., Henrissat, B., Fulton, R., et al. (2007). Genomic and metabolic adaptations of *Methanobrevibacter smithii* to the human gut. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 10643–10648. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0704189104
- Scher, J. U., Sczesnak, A., Longman, R. S., Segata, N., Ubeda, C., Bielski, C., et al. (2013). Expansion of intestinal *Prevotella copri* correlates with enhanced susceptibility to arthritis. *Elife* 2:e01202. doi: 10.7554/eLife.01202.028
- Schneider, H., and Blaut, M. (2000). Anaerobic degradation of flavonoids by Eubacterium ramulus. Arch. Microbiol. 173, 71–75. doi: 10.1007/s002030050010
- Straube, A., Muller, H., Stiegelbauer, V., and Frauwallner, A. (2018). [Migraine prophylaxis with a probiotic. Results of an uncontrolled observational study with 1,020 patients]. *MMW Fortschr Med.* 160(Suppl. 5), 16–21. doi: 10.1007/s15006-018-1052-5
- Su, H. S., Lang, B. F., and Newman, E. B. (1989). L-serine degradation in Escherichia coli K-12: cloning and sequencing of the sdaA gene. J. Bacteriol. 171, 5095–5102. doi: 10.1128/JB.171.9.5095-5102.1989
- Truong, D. T., Franzosa, E. A., Tickle, T. L., Scholz, M., Weingart, G., Pasolli, E., et al. (2015). MetaPhlAn2 for enhanced metagenomic taxonomic profiling. *Nat. Methods* 12, 902–903. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3589
- Udayappan, S., Manneras-Holm, L., Chaplin-Scott, A., Belzer, C., Herrema, H., Dallinga-Thie, G. M., et al. (2016). Oral treatment with *Eubacterium hallii* improves insulin sensitivity in db/db mice. *NPJ Biofilms Microbiomes* 2:16009. doi: 10.1038/npjbiofilms.2016.9

- Ulrich, V., Gervil, M., Kyvik, K. O., Olesen, J., and Russell, M. B. (1999). The inheritance of migraine with aura estimated by means of structural equation modelling. *J. Med. Genet.* 36, 225–227.
- Vacca, V. M. Jr. (2019). Migraine in adults: a head start. Nurs. Manage. 49, 22–29. doi: 10.1097/01.NURSE.0000554607.72406.6e
- Valles-Colomer, M., Falony, G., Darzi, Y., Tigchelaar, E. F., Wang, J., Tito, R. Y., et al. (2019). The neuroactive potential of the human gut microbiota in quality of life and depression. *Nat. Microbiol.* 4, 623–632. doi: 10.1038/s41564-018-0337-x
- Vieira-Silva, S., Falony, G., Darzi, Y., Lima-Mendez, G., Garcia Yunta, R., Okuda, S., et al. (2016). Species-function relationships shape ecological properties of the human gut microbiome. *Nat. Microbiol.* 1:16088. doi: 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.88
- Wang, K., Pereira, G. V., Cavalcante, J. J., Zhang, M., Mackie, R., and Cann, I. (2016). *Bacteroides intestinalis* DSM 17393, a member of the human colonic microbiome, upregulates multiple endoxylanases during growth on xylan. *Sci. Rep.* 6:34360. doi: 10.1038/srep34360
- Wang, L., Hu, L., Xu, Q., Yin, B., Fang, D., Wang, G., et al. (2017). *Bifidobacterium adolescentis* exerts strain-specific effects on constipation induced by loperamide in BALB/c mice. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18:318. doi: 10.3390/ijms18020318
- Watanabe, Y., Nagai, F., Morotomi, M., Sakon, H., and Tanaka, R. (2010). Bacteroides clarus sp. nov., Bacteroides fluxus sp. nov. and Bacteroides oleiciplenus sp. nov., isolated from human faeces. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 60, 1864–1869. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.015107-0
- Wexler, H. M., Reeves, D., Summanen, P. H., Molitoris, E., McTeague, M., Duncan, J., et al. (1996). Sutterella wadsworthensis gen. nov., sp. nov., bileresistant microaerophilic Campylobacter gracilis-like clinical isolates. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. 46, 252–258. doi: 10.1099/00207713-46-1-252
- Wong, D., Aoki, F., and Rubinstein, E. (2014). Bacteremia caused by Eggerthella lenta in an elderly man with a gastrointestinal malignancy: a case report. Can. J. Infect. Dis. Med. Microbiol. 25, e85–e86. doi: 10.1155/2014/802481
- Xie, H., Guo, R., Zhong, H., Feng, Q., Lan, Z., Qin, B., et al. (2016). Shotgun metagenomics of 250 adult twins reveals genetic and environmental impacts on the gut microbiome. *Cell Syst.* 3, 572–584 e573. doi: 10.1016/j.cels.2016. 10.004
- Young, S. N., and Shalchi, M. (2005). The effect of methionine and Sadenosylmethionine on S-adenosylmethionine levels in the rat brain. J. Psychiatry Neurosci. 30, 44–48.
- Zhou, Y., and Danbolt, N. C. (2014). Glutamate as a neurotransmitter in the healthy brain. J. Neural Transm. 121, 799–817. doi: 10.1007/s00702-014-1180-8

Conflict of Interest: JC and QW are/were employed by BGI-Shenzhen.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Chen, Wang, Wang and Lin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Gastrointestinal (GI) Tract Microbiome-Derived Neurotoxins—Potent Neuro-Inflammatory Signals From the GI Tract via the Systemic Circulation Into the Brain

#### Walter J. Lukiw 1,2,3\*

<sup>1</sup> LSU Neuroscience Center, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, New Orleans, LA, United States,
 <sup>2</sup> Department of Ophthalmology, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, New Orleans, LA, United States,
 <sup>3</sup> Department of Neurology, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, New Orleans, LA, United States

The microbiome of the human gastrointestinal (GI)-tract is a rich and dynamic source of microorganisms that together possess a staggering complexity and diversity. Collectively these microbes are capable of secreting what are amongst the most neurotoxic and pro-inflammatory biopolymers known. These include lipopolysaccharide (LPS), enterotoxins, microbial-derived amyloids and small non-coding RNA (sncRNA). One of the major microbial species in the human GI-tract microbiome, about ~100-fold more abundant than Escherichia coli, is Bacteroides fragilis, an anaerobic, rod-shaped Gramnegative bacterium that secretes: (i) a particularly potent, pro-inflammatory LPS glycolipid subtype (BF-LPS); and (ii) a hydrolytic, extracellular zinc metalloproteinase known as B. fragilis toxin (BFT) or fragilysin. Ongoing studies support multiple observations that BF-LPS and BFT (fragilysin) disrupt paracellular barriers by cleavage of intercellular proteins, such as E-cadherin, between epithelial cells, resulting in 'leaky' barriers. These defective barriers, which also become more penetrable with age, in turn permit entry of microbiome-derived neurotoxic biopolymers into the systemic circulation from which they can next transit the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and gain access into the brain. This short communication will highlight some recent advances in this extraordinary research area that links the pro-inflammatory exudates of the GI-tract microbiome with innate-immune disturbances and inflammatory signaling within the human central nervous system (CNS) with reference to Alzheimer's disease (AD) wherever possible.

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease (AD), *Bacteroides fragilis* and BFT (fragilysin), dysbiosis, lipopolysaccharide (LPS), microbiome and microbial genetics, neurofilament light (NF-L), neuroinflammation, synapsin-2 (SYN2)

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Ruth Ann Luna, Baylor College of Medicine, United States

#### Reviewed by:

J. Christopher Fenno, University of Michigan, United States Manja Boehm, University of Erlangen-Nuremberg, Germany Lloyd Kasper, Dartmouth College, United States

> \*Correspondence: Walter J. Lukiw wlukiw@lsuhsc.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbiome in Health and Disease, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

> Received: 20 August 2019 Accepted: 15 January 2020 Published: 12 February 2020

#### Citation:

Lukiw WJ (2020) Gastrointestinal (GI) Tract Microbiome-Derived Neurotoxins – Potent Neuro-Inflammatory Signals From the GI Tract via the Systemic Circulation Into the Brain. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 10:22. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2020.00022

## OVERVIEW-THE HUMAN GASTROINTESTINAL (GI) TRACT MICROBIOME-BACTEROIDETES

The gastrointestinal (GI)-tract microbiome, the largest reservoir of microbes in the human body, containing about  $10^{14}$  microbial cells, is a complex, dynamic and abundant source of bacteria, methanogenic archaea, fungi, microbial eukaryotes, protozoa, viruses, and other microorganisms. Together the GI-tract microbiome possesses a remarkable microbiological diversity and staggering genetic complexity of at least 1000 major bacterial species. In the most recent estimate analyses of the GI-tract metagenomes of ~2100 donors well over 22.3 million nonredundant prokaryotic genes were detected, and at least half of all the genes identified were unique to an individual (Tierney et al., 2019). When compared to the established human genome content of 26.6 thousand protein-encoding transcripts of the human genome sequencing project obtained about  $\sim 18$  years ago (Fields et al., 1994; Venter et al., 2001; Hicks et al., 2019) the number of microbial genes in the human GI-tract microbiome alone outnumbers human genes by about 837 to 1 (Tierney et al., 2019). Another interesting fact is that of the 52 major divisions of bacteria identified to date, only 2 phyla are known to predominate in the human GI-tract microbiomethe Gram-negative *Bacteroidetes* (representing about  $\sim$ 20–30% of all GI-tract resident bacteria) and the Gram-positive Firmicutes (representing  $\sim$ 70-80% of the total) with relatively minor contributions by Actinobacteria (~3%), Proteobacteria (~1%), Fusobacteria ( $\sim 0.1\%$ ) and Verrucomicrobia (0.1%). Collectively these microorganisms represent: (i) "the microbial core" of the human GI-tract microbiome (Sarkar and Banerjee, 2019; Ticinesi et al., 2019); (ii) an extremely active, dynamic, and changing ecosystem dependent on the host's age, diet, environment, ethnicity, and health and/or disease status (Sender et al., 2016; Zhao and Lukiw, 2018a,b; Rinninella et al., 2019); (iii) a rich source of commensal bacteria usually beneficial to human health because of their abilities to metabolize and/or biosynthesize complex sugars, polysaccharides, and dietary fiber into volatile short chain fatty acids (SCFAs; including acetate, propionate, butyrate, valerate and lactate and other nutrients). SCFAs (i) normally function in the development, maintenance, and homeostasis of the host immune, neuro-endrocrine and digestive systems; and (ii) play important regulatory roles in glucose homeostasis, lipid metabolism and anti-inflammatory signaling in endothelial cells of the lining of the GI-tract, sometimes known as the intestinal endothelium. Interestingly, there is recent evidence that SCFAs can signal through G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) at the cell surface, including GPCR41, GPCR43, and GPCR109a and these activate signaling cascades that control multiple immune functions. Recent transgenic mouse studies support a key role of these GPCRs in the regulation of intestinal inflammation (Sears, 2009; Fathi and Wu, 2016; Lukiw, 2016a,b; Castillo-Álvarez and Marzo-Sola, 2019; Fox et al., 2019; Parada Venegas et al., 2019).

Over 99% of the microbes in the human GI-tract are facultative and obligate anaerobic bacteria; the most abundant Gram-negative bacterial Phylum in the human GI-tract microbiome are the *Bacteroidetes*, with a major Genus-species being represented by the obligate Gram-negative anaerobe *Bacteroides fragilis*. In some intestinal tract regions *B. fragilis*: (i) are present at about ~100-fold the abundance of the *Proteobacteria Escherichia coli*; (ii) colonize the human GI-tract at densities up to  $8 \times 10^{10}$  CFU per cm<sup>3</sup>, the highest density of any microbial colonization known in nature (Sears, 2009; Fathi and Wu, 2016; Rios-Covian et al., 2017; Patrick et al., 2019; Rinninella et al., 2019); and (iii) reside and proliferate exclusively in the GI-tract of mammals, suggesting a strong adaptation to the pH, biophysical and microbial composition of the gut environment (Bhattacharjee and Lukiw, 2013; Wexler and Goodman, 2017; Poeker et al., 2018; Castillo-Álvarez and Marzo-Sola, 2019).

# GI-TRACT EXUDATES—BF-LPS AND FRAGILYSIN

In the human GI-tract there are 2 predominant strains of Bacteroides fragilis (B. fragilis) distinguished in part by their biosynthetic capabilities to synthesize and secrete a zinc-dependent metalloprotease toxin known as B. fragilis toxin (BFT) or fragilysin. Strains of Bacteroides that do not secrete BFT are called non-toxigenic B. fragilis while those that do secrete are called enterotoxigenic B. fragilis (ETBF; Allen et al., 2019). Relatively recently it has been established that enterotoxigenic strains of B. fragilis (ETBF) can rapidly proliferate in the mammalian GI-tract both in the absence of adequate dietary fiber and in the presence of high-fat cholesterol diets (Heinritz et al., 2016; Wexler and Goodman, 2017; Poeker et al., 2018; Zhao and Lukiw, 2018a,b). This proliferation enhances the intestinal abundance of B. fragilis and hence the potential of this Gram negative obligate anaerobe to secrete its formidable array of neurotoxic exudates. These primarily include: (i) the lipoglycan lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a particularly potent, pro-inflammatory LPS glycolipid subtype (BF-LPS); and (ii) the hydrolytic, extracellular zinc metalloproteinase known as ETBF-secreted Bacteroides fragilis toxin (BFT), also known as fragilysin. Recent characterization of BF-LPS and *fragilysin* have shown them to be amongst the most pro-inflammatory lipoglycans and enterotoxins known (Vines et al., 2000; Sears, 2009; Lukiw, 2016a,b; Zhao and Lukiw, 2018a,b; Batista et al., 2019; Sheppard et al., 2019). Both BF-LPS and *fragilysin* can leak through the normally protective mucosal barriers of the GI-tract intestinal endothelium to induce substantial inflammatory pathology both systemically and after BBB transit into vulnerable CNS compartments, including the neocortical parenchyma of the brain (Fathi and Wu, 2016; Lukiw, 2016a,b; Zhao and Lukiw, 2018a,b; Barton et al., 2019; Batista et al., 2019; Fox et al., 2019; Sheppard et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2019). Indeed, while Bacteroides fragilis is an anaerobic, Gram-negative, rod-shaped bacillus, and part of the normal microbiota of the human colon and is generally commensal, this microbe can cause a "smoldering" systemic infection if displaced into the bloodstream or surrounding tissue following disease, trauma or surgery (Hill et al., 2014a,b; Montagne et al., 2017; Tulkens et al., 2018; Erdo and Krajcsi, 2019; Fox et al., 2019; Patrick et al., 2019; Sarkar

and Banerjee, 2019; Sweeney et al., 2019). When the highly toxic exudates of enterotoxigenic strains of B. fragilis escape the microbial-dense environment of the human GI-tract they can produce substantial systemic inflammatory pathology with significant mortality and morbidity. B. fragilis proliferation is associated with, and causative for, bacteremia, brain and intraabdominal abscess, cellulitis, colitis, diabetic ulcer, diarrhea, necrotizing fasciitis, sepsis, peritonitis, septicemia, association with and the development of multiple pro-inflammatory bowel cancers, systemic infection and systemic inflammation, the development of neurological diseases involving inflammatory neurodegeneration, and those neurological disorders that display a significantly elevated incidence of atypical developmental programming against a background of aging (Leshchyns'ka and Sytnyk, 2016; Agrawal et al., 2017; Shivaji, 2017; Zhao et al., 2019). Very recently LPS-induced systemic inflammation has been associated with synaptic loss and cognitive decline in multiple human neurological disorders and in animal models, and a role for LPS-mediated microglial release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (such as IL-1β) based on both in vivo and primary culture studies in vitro (Sheppard et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2019).

#### GASTROINTESTINAL (GI)-TRACT AND BLOOD BRAIN BARRIER (BBB) DYSFUNCTION

Two anatomical gateways, including the gastrointestinal mucosa that includes the "GI-tract barrier" and the "blood-brain barrier (BBB)," each formed essentially by vascular epithelial and/or endothelial cells and epithelial-endothelial-derived basement membranes provide both a biophysical interface and a biological compartmentalization of the GI-tract microbiome, the systemic circulation, the brain parenchyma and distinct anatomical regions of the brain such as the neocortex (Figure 1). These barriers are a requisite for the essential maintenance of homeostasis and the physiological environment of each compartment; microorganisms of the GI-tract microbiome and their neurotoxins that are able to transit the single layer of epithelial cells have virtually unimpeded access into the systemic circulation (Varatharaj and Galea, 2017; Logsdon et al., 2018; Sweeney et al., 2019; Tulkens et al., 2018). Probably the most important structural components of these barriers are the multiple tight junctions between adjacent cells of vascular



FIGURE 1 | Highly schematicized depiction of the potential transfer of GI-tract microbiome-derived pro-inflammatory neurotoxins across the GI-tract barrier into the systemic circulation, followed by translocation across the BBB into the brain parenchyma (see Hill et al., 2014a,b; Hill and Lukiw, 2015; Zhao and Lukiw, 2018a; neocortical region shown; solid black arrows). Neurotoxins identified to date include Bacteroides fragilis lipopolysaccharide (BF-LPS) and enterotoxins such as the Bacteroides fragilis-derived toxin (BFT) also known as fragilysin. The contribution of other pro-inflammatory neurotoxins such as GI-tract-derived amyloids and bacterial sncRNAs are not well-understood and currently very little is known concerning their neurotoxicity and CNS-effects. BF-LPS, BFT (fragilysin), age, dietary toxins, traumatic brain injury (TBI) and vascular disease are known to effectively disrupt endothelial cell-based biophysical barriers in part through the cleavage, disruption and/or degeneration of cell-cell adhesion proteins (Wu et al., 1998; Clement et al., 2016; Zhao and Lukiw, 2018a,b; Sweeney et al., 2019). We speculate that all of these neurotoxins together have potential to constitute a highly neurotoxic pro-inflammatory GI-tract microbiome-derived cocktail greatly detrimental to the cytoarchitecture and signaling functions of neuronal and glial cells. Gram-negative bacterial-derived LPS and related neurotoxins have been recently observed within the systemic circulation and brain parenchyma (Zhan et al., 2016, 2018; Zhao et al., 2017a,c, 2019; Zhao and Lukiw, 2018a), within and around neurons, and in the later stages of AD completely encapsulating neuronal neocortical nuclei (Hill et al., 2014b,a; Hill and Lukiw, 2015; Zhao and Lukiw, 2018a,b; unpublished observations); this later action appears to impair the exit of neuron-specific transcripts such as the neurofilament-light (NF-L) chain and synapsin-2 (SYN2) messenger RNA (mRNA) from the neuronal nuclei; both NF-L and SYN2 mRNA abundance and expression are down-regulated in LPS-treated human neuronal-glial (HNG) cells in primary culture and in AD brain (Lukiw et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2019). Whether neurotoxins from the brain parenchyma of the neocortex can cross the BBB back into the systemic circulation (dashed black arrows with question mark) is currently not well-understood; if so, these species may be useful serum biomarkers for both the diagnosis and prognosis of AD and other types of inflammatory neurodegeneration; left panel = GI-tract microbiome magnification x ~3000 (source: http://www.lnjnbio.com; http://www.lnjnbio.com/nd.jsp?id=20; permission to reproduce granted; last accessed 26 November 2019); right panel = 6-layered structure of the human association neocortex; layers 3 and 5 are the pyramidal cell layers targeted by the AD process; other brain regions may also be affected; magnification x  $\sim$ 20 (source: adapted and redrawn from Martinez-Conde, 2018; last accessed 26 November 2019).

capillaries (Sweeney et al., 2018, 2019; Tulkens et al., 2018). For example, the blood-brain barrier of the CNS can selectively regulate its intracellular compartments and thereby isolate itself from rapid biochemical or biophysical changes that may occur in the systemic circulation.

The surface area of the human GI-tract barrier and the BBB is remarkably large; for example although the interior of the small intestine is only about  $\sim$ 3.5 cm in diameter and  $\sim$ 7 m in length (due in large part to a concentrically folded mucosa) it has a total absorptive surface area of  $\sim$ 32 m<sup>2</sup> (Helander and Fändriks, 2014; Sweeney et al., 2019). Similarly the surface area of the 600 km of the human brain's 5 um diameter microvessels, representing the majority of the BBB, corresponds to a total surface area of  $\sim 25 \text{ m}^2$  (Wong et al., 2013). Hence the maintenance of these large and formidable biophysical barriers is a very active and energy-intense biological process (Wong et al., 2013; Varatharaj and Galea, 2017; Barton et al., 2019; Erdo and Krajcsi, 2019; Sweeney et al., 2019). BF-LPS, BFT (fragilysin) and other GI-tract microbiome-derived exudates are remarkable in their capabilities: (i) of breaking down the intercellular junctions of these barriers via their disruptive actions on cadherins and other cell-cell adhesion molecules (Wu et al., 1998; Wong et al., 2013; Sweeney et al., 2018); (ii) of altering BBB integrity and permeability (Varatharaj and Galea, 2017; Tulkens et al., 2018; Sweeney et al., 2019); (iii) of changing BBB transport rates (Wong et al., 2013; Logsdon et al., 2018); (iv) of modulating neuroimmune signaling or the transport of immuneregulatory molecules (Erdo and Krajcsi, 2019); (v) of trafficking dietary neurotoxins and pathogens into the brain (Sweeney et al., 2019; Wong et al., 2013); and/or (vi) of inducing the release of inflammatory and neuro-immune substances from the barrier cells (Hill et al., 2014a,b; Köhler et al., 2016; Lukiw, 2016a,b; Montagne et al., 2017; Varatharaj and Galea, 2017; Tulkens et al., 2018; Sweeney et al., 2018, 2019; Erdo and Krajcsi, 2019; Fox et al., 2019; Patrick et al., 2019; Sarkar and Banerjee, 2019).

Indeed, the most recent research evidence continues to strengthen the idea that one major, and virtually unlimited, source of pro-inflammatory neurotoxic signals in inflammatory neurodegeneration such as those typified by the AD process may originate from internally derived noxious exudates such as those supplied via the diet and metabolized by the GI-tract microbiome (Sweeney et al., 2018, 2019; Erdo and Krajcsi, 2019). Because of aging, traumatic brain injury (TBI), cerebrovascular deficits (some of which may be genetic), neurovascular pathology or neuroinflammatory brain degeneration, neurotoxic molecules can "leak" into the systemic circulation, prompting some investigators to propose that progressive neurodegenerative diseases such as AD supplied via the reflect a malfunction of key biophysical barriers including those of the GI-tract and BBB, and that AD is in fact a "defective barrier" disease (Bhattacharjee and Lukiw, 2013; Montagne et al., 2017; Sweeney et al., 2018, 2019; Erdo and Krajcsi, 2019). The abundance of blood-borne bacterial components including LPS, for example, represents a variable component of the human blood serum that can elicit variable systemic pro-inflammatory and innate-immunemodulatory responses in the host, resulting in systemic-immune activation by pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), a process sometimes referred to as "microbial translocation" (Zhao et al., 2017a,b; Tulkens et al., 2018; Di Lorenzo et al., 2019; Logsdon et al., 2018; Patrick et al., 2019). Multiple recent reports further suggest that GI-tract dysbiosis and "leaky gut syndrome" constitute a vastly under-appreciated, under-studied and critical pathophysiological passageway for transport of GI-tract microbiome-derived neurotoxins across GI-tract and blood-brain biological barriers resulting in an age-related progression from systemic inflammation to neurovascular disease to CNS inflammation and degeneration that progressively contribute to critical aspects of neuropathology associated with age-related neurodegenerative disorders. These include neuropathological disorders such as AD, anxiety, autism spectrum disorder (ASD), depression, epilepsy, multiple sclerosis, Parkinson's disease (PD), prion disease, systemic inflammatory response syndrome, and other incapacitating and/or ultimately lethal neurological diseases of the human CNS (Hill et al., 2014a,b; Köhler et al., 2016; Li and Yu, 2017; Varatharaj and Galea, 2017; Zhao et al., 2017a,b, 2019; Griffiths and Mazmanian, 2018; Di Lorenzo et al., 2019; Fox et al., 2019; Patrick et al., 2019; Sarkar and Banerjee, 2019).

### BF-LPS AND THE INDUCTION OF THE PRO-INFLAMMATORY TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR NF-κB AND microRNA-146a

The extruded lipopolysaccharide shed from the human GI-tract microbiome-abundant Bacteroides fragilis (BF-LPS): (i) is one of the most pro-inflammatory and neurotoxic lipoglycans known (Sears, 2009; Fathi and Wu, 2016; Lukiw, 2016a,b; Allen et al., 2019); (ii) is linked to synaptic loss and cognitive decline in human patients and in animal models (Sheppard et al., 2019); and (iii) is recognized by the Toll receptors TLR2, TLR4, and/or CD14 microglial cell receptors, as are the proinflammatory and hydrophobic 42 amino acid amyloid-beta (Aβ42) peptides whose accumulation are a characteristic feature of AD brain (Sears, 2009; Zhao et al., 2015; Zhao and Lukiw, 2015; Lukiw, 2016a,b; Batista et al., 2019; Sheppard et al., 2019). Additional LPS-mediated pro-inflammatory actions, pathogenic mechanisms and neurodegeneration-promoting activities remain incompletely understood but remarkable progress is being made both in transgenic animal models and in human patient studies (Zhan et al., 2018; Zhao and Lukiw, 2018a,b; Barton et al., 2019; Sarkar and Banerjee, 2019; Sheppard et al., 2019; Wu et al., 2007). For example, LPS-induced synaptic loss and the impairment of cognition appear to be in part the result of a modified microglial activation, reactive oxidative species (ROS) or cytokine generation and oxidative stress damage, disruption of the intercellular adhesion proteins associated with the GI-tract or blood-brain barriers, the ROS mediated oxidation, atrophy, destruction and loss of synapse-related proteins, elevations in neuroinflammatory signaling or any combination of these events (Barton et al., 2019; Batista et al., 2019; Sheppard et al., 2019; Wu et al., 2007). One recently described BF-LPS mediated pathogenic and AD-relevant pathway is the robust activation of NF-κB (p50/p65) in human brain cells in primary culture and induction of a pro-inflammatory signaling pathway involving an NF-kB-regulated microRNA-146a, and the subsequent chronic and pathogenic over-stimulation of innate-immune and neuro-inflammatory pathways (Zhao and Lukiw, 2018b). These include deficits in the innate-immune system modulator complement factor H (CFH), decreases in the expression of the essential presynaptic neuronal phosphoprotein synapsin-2 (SYN2) and down-regulation of the neuron-specific neuroflament light chain (NF-L) cytoskeletal protein (Lukiw et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2019). These pathological signaling pathways appear to strongly contribute to synaptic disorganization and decline, neuronal atrophy and inflammation-mediated amyloidogenic neuropathology which are all characteristic attributes of the AD-affected brain.

## **UNANSWERED QUESTIONS**

The neurobiological signaling connections between the GI-tract microbiome and CNS disease remain incompletely understood. Eighteen years after the elucidation and characterization of the genes expressed in the human genome (Venter et al., 2001), the staggering genetic complexity of the human GI-tract and oral microbiomes have been analyzed with remarkable and unexpected results (Tierney et al., 2019). It is truly extraordinary that the potential contribution to human health and disease by the GI-tract microbiome with a total mass, complexity and diversity, and number of genes exceeding that of the liver could have been almost completely overlooked as recent as just  $\sim$ 10 years ago.

Several fundamental questions remain concerning nature of the microorganisms of the GI-tract microbiome, their compartmentalization within the GI-tract and their potential effects on the neuropathology, neurobiology, and the pathogenetics of inflammatory neurodegeneration and neuropsychiatric disease. It will be further interesting to discover: (i) the evolutionary history of the GI-tract microbiome and for example, why just 2 of 52 bacterial phyla were selected and evolved to be both dominant and symbiotic within the entire human metagenome; (ii) what patterns of microbial abundance, speciation, complexity, stoichiometry, dysbiosis and GI-tract-derived mixtures of neurotoxins are the most effective in promoting pathogenic inflammatory neuro-degeneration; (iii) if the incidence of blood-borne GI-tract-derived toxic elements in the systemic inflammation could be used as a pathological biomarker or be of prognostic value for AD and other progressive, age-related, neurodegenerative diseases; (iv) what would be the contribution of combinations of the microbial constituents including archaebacteria, fungi, protozoa, viruses, and other GI-tract resident microbes of the GI-tract microbiome to enhance neurological health; (v) the intriguing possibility that the composition of the GI-tract microbiome could be altered through diet, probiotics and/or prebiotics to optimize human neurological health; (vi) if the penetration of epithelial barriers by bacterial products occurs in the oral cavity in periodontal disease with similar systemic effects; (vii) the mechanism of the duality of GI-tract abundant Gram-negative anaerobic bacteria such as B. fragilis in behaving in both pro- and anti-inflammatory capacities, the role of capsular

polysaccharides and IL-10 secreting B and T cells in this transition, and how the role of B. fragilis can switch from an abundant beneficial microbe and commensal microorganism to a highly neurotoxic one (Ramakrishna et al., 2019); and (viii) perhaps most importantly, if medical researchers along with neurologists and dieticians could devise a strategy, perhaps through "personalized medicine," that promotes the lowering of noxious GI-tract microbes and their secretions that would optimize life-long GI-tract microbiome function and CNS health. This approach might minimize the risk of developing AD and other highly incapacitating human diseases as we age. Furthering our molecular-genetic and mechanistic understanding of how different secreted components of the GI-tract microbiome negatively affect the CNS may uncover potential and novel strategic approaches for the GI-tract microbiome-based modulation of neurological function, and the more effective clinical management of terminal, age-related neurological disorders.

## **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

The appreciation of a potential contribution from the GItract microbiome to human neurological health and devastating behavioral, amnestic and cognitive disorders such as AD is a relatively recent one (Bhattacharjee and Lukiw, 2013), and gathering recent evidence continues to strengthen this association (Johnson and Foster, 2018; Patrick et al., 2019; Sarkar and Banerjee, 2019; Sheppard et al., 2019; Strandwitz et al., 2019; Sweeney et al., 2019; Ticinesi et al., 2019; Tierney et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2019). Dietary manipulations of the GI-tract microbiome including diets enriched in biologically soluble and insoluble fiber, that seem to neutralize the potentially neurotoxic secretions from Gram-negative bacilli such as Bacteroides fragilis might provide a life-long resolution to defer the development of human neuro-inflammatory degenerative disease (Heinritz et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2017; Poeker et al., 2018). It is becoming increasingly established that the contribution of the GI-tract microbiome and GItract microbiome-derived neurotoxins to pathogenic signaling associated with inflammatory neurodegeneration is: (i) agerelated and progressive; (ii) contains multiple neurotoxic components with capability to breach biophysical barriers; (iii) constitute a virtually unlimited supply of BF-LPS, BFT (*fragilysin*) and other neurotoxins; and (iv) that the GI-tract microbiome comprises a "staggering" microbial genetic complexity, and the recent finding that at least half of all the genes identified are unique to each individual further underscores the interesting parallel in the heterogeneity between GI-tract microbiome composition and AD risk, onset and development (Patrick et al., 2019; Strandwitz et al., 2019; Ticinesi et al., 2019; Tierney et al., 2019). Of further recent interest is the potential involvement of the GI-tract microbiota-brain axis with the mental status of the host in that certain "psychotropic bacteria" and their secreted array of "psychobiotics" appear to influence the mental health of the host (Beck et al., 2019; Cheng et al., 2019; Kelly et al., 2019). Given that AD was originally referred to as a progressive and dementing "senile psychosis," efficacious manipulation of the GI-tract microbiome might not only attenuate inflammatory neurodegeneration, synaptic disorganization and cognitive decline but also optimize healthy neuroimmune, neuroendocrine, humoral and brain signaling pathways that also promote well-being, anti-depressive and anxiolytic behaviors in patients affected by the AD process.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

#### ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Louisiana State University Institutional Review Board—only post-mortem human tissues were used in these studies. The ethics committee waived the requirement of written informed consent for participation.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

WL distilled the results from all laboratory experiments at the LSU laboratories and performed literature searches of recent peer-reviewed publications in this research area, compiled all data, and wrote this manuscript.

#### FUNDING

Research on microRNAs, ethnobiology, botanical neurotoxins, pro-inflammatory and pathogenic signaling in the Lukiw

#### REFERENCES

- Agrawal, M., Ajazuddin Tripathi, D. K., Saraf, S., Saraf, S., Antimisiaris, S. G., et al. (2017). Recent advancements in liposomes targeting strategies to cross bloodbrain barrier (BBB) for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *J. Control Release* 260, 61–77. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2017.05.019
- Allen, J., Hao, S., Sears, C. L., and Timp, W. (2019). Epigenetic changes induced by *Bacteroides fragilis* toxin. *Infect. Immun.* 87:e00447-18. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00447-18
- Barton, S. M., Janve, V. A., McClure, R., Anderson, A., Matsubara, J. A., Gore, J. C., et al. (2019). Lipopolysaccharide induced opening of the blood brain barrier on aging 5XFAD mouse model. *J. Alzheimers Dis.* 67, 503–513. doi: 10.3233/JAD-180755
- Batista, C. R. A., Gomes, G. F., Candelario-Jalil, E., Fiebich, B. L., and de Oliveira, A. C. P. (2019). Lipopolysaccharide-induced neuroinflammation as a bridge to understand neurodegeneration. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 20:E2293. doi: 10.3390/ijms20092293
- Beck, B. R., Park, G. S., Jeong, D. Y., Lee, Y. H., Im, S., Song, W. H., et al. (2019). Multidisciplinary and comparative investigations of potential psychobiotic effects of Lactobacillus strains isolated from newborns and their impact on gut microbiota and ileal transcriptome in a healthy murine model. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* 9:269. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00269
- Bhattacharjee, S., and Lukiw, W. J. (2013). Alzheimer's disease and the microbiome. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 7:153. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2013.00153
- Castillo-Álvarez, F., Marzo-Sola, M. E. (2019). Role of the gut microbiota in the development of various neurological diseases. *Neurologia*. doi: 10.1016/j.nrl.2019.03.017. [Epub ahead of print].

laboratory involving the microbiome, the innate-immune response, amyloidogenesis, synaptogenesis, and neuroinflammation in AD, prion and in other human neurologicaland plant-viroid-based diseases was supported through an unrestricted grant to the LSU Eye Center from Research to Prevent Blindness (RPB); the Louisiana Biotechnology Research Network (LBRN) and NIH grants NEI EY006311, NIA AG18031, and NIA AG038834 (WL). The content of this manuscript was solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institute on Aging, the National Center for Research Resources, or the National Institutes of Health.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The research in this *Perspectives* article was presented in part at the Vavilov Institute of General Genetics Autumn 2018 Seminar Series (Институт общей генетики имени Вавилова Осень 2018 Семинар серии) in Moscow, Russia, October 2018, at the Society for Neuroscience (SFN) Annual Meeting, Chicago IL USA, November 2019. Sincere thanks are extended to Drs. L. Cong, F. Culicchia, C. Eicken, K. Navel, A. I. Pogue, W. Poon, E. Head, and the late Drs. J. M. Hill and P. N. Alexandrov for helpful discussions in this research area, for short postmortem interval (PMI) human brain and retinal tissues or extracts, for initial bioinformatics and data interpretation, and to A. I. Pogue and D. Guillot for expert technical assistance and medical artwork.

- Chen, T., Long, W., Zhang, C., Liu, S., Zhao, L., and Hamaker, B. R. (2017). Fiber-utilizing capacity varies in Prevotella- versus Bacteroides-dominated gut microbiota. Sci. Rep. 7:2594. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-02995-4
- Cheng, L. H., Liu, Y. W., Wu, C. C., Wang, S., and Tsai, Y. C. (2019). Psychobiotics in mental health, neurodegenerative and neurodevelopmental disorders. J. Food Drug Anal. 27, 632–648. doi: 10.1016/j.jfda.2019.01.002
- Clement, C., Hill, J. M., Dua, P., Culicchia, F., and Lukiw, W. J. (2016). Analysis of RNA from Alzheimer's disease post-mortem brain tissues. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 53, 1322–1328. doi: 10.1007/s12035-015-9105-6
- Di Lorenzo, F., De Castro, C., Silipo, A., and Molinaro, A. (2019). Lipopolysaccharide structures of Gram-negative populations in the gut microbiota and effects on host interactions. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 43, 257–272. doi: 10.1093/femsre/fuz002
- Erdo, F., and Krajcsi, P. (2019). Age-related functional and expressional changes in efflux pathways at the blood-brain barrier. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 11:196. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2019.00196
- Fathi, P., and Wu, S. (2016). Isolation, detection, and characterization of enterotoxigenic *Bacteroides fragilis* in clinical samples. *Open Microbiol. J.* 10, 57–63. doi: 10.2174/1874285801610010057
- Fields, C., Adams, M. D., White, O., and Venter, J. C. (1994). How many genes in the human genome? *Nat. Genet.* 7, 345–346.
- Fox, M., Knorr, D. A., and Haptonstall, K. M. (2019). Alzheimer's disease and symbiotic microbiota: an evolutionary medicine perspective. Ann. N Y. Acad. Sci. 1449, 3–24. doi: 10.1111/nyas.14129
- Griffiths, J. A., and Mazmanian, S. K. (2018). Emerging evidence linking the gut microbiome to neurologic disorders. *Genome Med.* 10:98. doi: 10.1186/s13073-018-0609-3

- Heinritz, S. N., Weiss, E., Eklund, M., Aumiller, T., Heyer, C. M., Messner, S., et al. (2016). Impact of a high-fat or high-fiber diet on intestinal microbiota and metabolic markers in a pig model. *Nutrients* 8:E317. doi: 10.3390/nu8050317
- Helander, H. F., and Fändriks, L. (2014). Surface area of the digestive tract - revisited. Scand. J. Gastroenterol. 49, 681–689. doi: 10.3109 /00365521.2014.898326
- Hicks, M., Bartha, I., di Iulio, J., Venter, J. C., and Telenti, A. (2019). Functional characterization of 3D protein structures informed by human genetic diversity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 116, 8960–8965. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1820813116
- Hill, J. M., Bhattacharjee, S., Pogue, A. I., and Lukiw, W. J. (2014b). The gastrointestinal tract microbiome and potential link to Alzheimer's disease. *Front. Neurol.* 5:43. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2014.00043
- Hill, J. M., Clement, C., Pogue, A. I., Bhattacharjee, S., Zhao, Y., and Lukiw, W. J. (2014a). Pathogenic microbes, the microbiome, and Alzheimer's disease (AD). *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 6:127. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00127
- Hill, J. M., and Lukiw, W. J. (2015). Microbial-generated amyloids and Alzheimer's disease (AD). Front. Aging Neurosci. 7:9. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00009
- Johnson, K. V.-A., and Foster, K. R. (2018). Why does the microbiome affect behaviour? Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 16, 647–655. doi: 10.1038/s41579-018-0014-3
- Kelly, J. R., Keane, V. O., Cryan, J. F., Clarke, G., and Dinan, T. G. (2019). Mood and microbes: gut to brain communication in depression. *Gastroenterol Clin. North Am.* 48, 389–405. doi: 10.1016/j.gtc.2019.04.006
- Köhler, C. A., Maes, M., Slyepchenko, A., Berk, M., Solmi, M., and Lanctôt, K. L., et al. (2016). The gut-brain axis, including the microbiome, leaky gut and bacterial translocation: mechanisms and pathophysiological role in Alzheimer's disease. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 22, 6152–6166. doi: 10.2174 /1381612822666160907093807
- Leshchyns'ka, I., and Sytnyk, V. (2016). Synaptic cell adhesion molecules in Alzheimer's disease. *Neural Plast.* 2016:6427537. doi: 10.1155/2016/6427537
- Li, D., and Yu, F. (2017). Peripheral inflammatory biomarkers and cognitive decline in older adults with and without Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review. J. Gerontol. Nurs. 2017, 1–7. doi: 10.3928/00989134-20170519-01
- Logsdon, A. F., Erickson, M. A., Rhea, E. M., Salameh, T. S., and Banks, W. A. (2018). Gut reactions: how the blood-brain barrier connects the microbiome and the brain. *Exp. Biol. Med.* 243, 159–165. doi: 10.1177/1535370217743766
- Lukiw, W. J. (2016a). Bacteroides fragilis lipopolysaccharide and inflammatory signaling in Alzheimer's disease. Front. Microbiol. 7:1544. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.01544
- Lukiw, W. J. (2016b). The microbiome, microbial-generated pro-inflammatory neurotoxins, and Alzheimer's disease. J. Sport Health Sci. 5, 393–396. doi: 10.1016/j.jshs.2016.08.008
- Lukiw, W. J., Cong, L., Jaber, V., and Zhao, Y. (2018). Microbiome-derived lipopolysaccharide (LPS) selectively inhibits neurofilament light chain (NF-L) gene expression in human neuronal-glial (HNG) cells in primary culture. *Front. Neurosci.* 12:896. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00896
- Martinez-Conde, S. (2018). Cajal Institute (CSIC), Madrid Santiago Ramón y Cajal, the Young Artist Who Grew Up to Invent Neuroscience. Scientific American.
- Montagne, A., Zhao, Z., and Zlokovic, B. V. (2017). Alzheimer's disease: a matter of blood-brain barrier dysfunction? J. Exp. Med. 214, 3151–3169. doi: 10.1084/jem.20171406
- Parada Venegas, D., De la Fuente, M. K., Landskron, G., González, M. J., Quera, R., Dijkstra, G., et al. (2019). Short chain fatty acids (SCFAs)-mediated gut epithelial and immune regulation and its relevance for inflammatory bowel diseases. *Front. Immunol.* 10:277. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00277
- Patrick, K. L., Bell, S. L., Weindel, C. G., and Watson, R. O. (2019). Exploring the "Multiple-hit Hypothesis" of neurodegenerative disease: bacterial infection comes up to bat. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* 9:138. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00138
- Poeker, S. A., Geirnaert, A., Berchtold, L., Greppi, A., Krych, L., Steinert, R. E., et al. (2018). Understanding the prebiotic potential of different dietary fibers using an *in vitro* continuous adult fermentation model. *Sci. Rep.* 8:4318. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-22438-y
- Ramakrishna, C., Kujawski, M., Chu, H., Li, L., Mazmanian, S. K., and Cantin, E. M. (2019). Bacteroides fragilis polysaccharide A induces IL-10 secreting B and T cells that prevent viral encephalitis. *Nat Commun.* 10:2153. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09884-6
- Rinninella, E., Raoul, P., Cintoni, M., Franceschi, F., Miggiano, G. A. D., Gasbarrini, A., et al. (2019). What is the healthy gut microbiota

composition? A changing ecosystem across age, environment, diet, and diseases. *Microorganisms*. 7:E14. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms70 10014

- Rios-Covian, D., Salazar, N., Gueimonde, M., and de Los Reyes-Gavilan, C. G. (2017). Shaping the metabolism of intestinal *Bacteroides* population through diet to improve human health. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:376. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00376
- Sarkar, R. S., and Banerjee, S. (2019). Gut microbiota in neurodegenerative disorders. J. Neuroimmunol. 328, 98–104. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2019.01.004
- Sears, C. L. (2009). Enterotoxigenic Bacteroides fragilis: a rogue among symbiotes. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 22, 349–369. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00053-08
- Sender, R., Fuchs, S., and Milo, R. (2016). Revised estimates for the number of human and bacteria cells in the body. *PLoS Biol.* 14:e1002533. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1002533
- Sheppard, O., Coleman, M. P., and Durrant, C. S. (2019). Lipopolysaccharideinduced neuroinflammation induces presynaptic disruption through a direct action on brain tissue involving microglia-derived interleukin 1 beta. J. Neuroinflam. 16:106. doi: 10.1186/s12974-019-1490-8
- Shivaji, S. (2017). We are not alone: a case for the human microbiome in extra intestinal diseases. *Gut Pathog* 9:13. doi: 10.1186/s13099-017-0163-3
- Strandwitz, P., Kim, K. H., Terekhova, D., Liu, J. K., Sharma, A., Levering, J., et al. (2019). GABA-modulating bacteria of the human gut microbiota. *Nat. Microbiol.* 4, 396–403. doi: 10.1038/s41564-018-0307-3
- Sweeney, M. D., Sagare, A. P., and Zlokovic, B. V. (2018). Blood-brain barrier breakdown in Alzheimer disease and other neurodegenerative disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 14, 133–150. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2017.188
- Sweeney, M. D., Zhao, Z., Montagne, A., Nelson, A. R., and Zlokovic, B. V. (2019). Blood-brain barrier: from physiology to disease and back. *Physiol. Rev.* 99, 21–78. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00050.2017
- Ticinesi, A., Tana, C., and Nouvenne, A. (2019). The intestinal microbiome and its relevance for functionality in older persons. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* 22, 4–12. doi: 10.1097/MCO.00000000000521
- Tierney, B. T., Yang, Z., Luber, J. M., Beaudin, M., Wibowo, M. C., et al., (2019). The landscape of genetic content in the gut and oral human microbiome. *Cell Host Microbe* 26, 283–295.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2019.07.008
- Tulkens, J., Vergauwen, G., Van Deun, J., Geeurickx, E., Dhondt, B., Lippens, L., et al. (2018). Increased levels of systemic LPS-positive bacterial extracellular vesicles in patients with intestinal barrier dysfunction. *Gut* 69, 191–193. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2018-317726
- Varatharaj, A., and Galea, I. (2017). The blood-brain barrier in systemic inflammation. Brain Behav. Immun. 60, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2016.03.010
- Venter, J. C., Adams, M. D., Myers, E. W., Li, P. W., Mural, R. J., Sutton, G. G., et al. (2001). The sequence of the human genome. *Science* 291, 1304–1351. doi: 10.1126/science.1058040
- Vines, R. R., Perdue, S. S., Moncrief, J. S., Sentz, D. R., Barroso, L. A., Wright, R. L., et al. (2000). Fragilysin, the enterotoxin from *Bacteroides fragilis*, enhances the serum antibody response to antigen co-administered by the intranasal route. *Vaccine* 19, 655–660. doi: 10.1016/S0264-410X(00)00254-1
- Wexler, A. G., and Goodman, A. L. (2017). An insider's perspective: Bacteroides as a window into the microbiome. Nat. Microbiol. 2:17026. doi: 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2017.26
- Wong, A. D., Ye, M., Levy, A. F., Rothstein, J. D., Bergles. D. E., and Searson, P. C. (2013). The blood-brain barrier: an engineering perspective. *Front. Neuroeng*. 6:7. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2013.00007
- Wu, S., Lim, K. C., Huang, J., Saidi, R. F., and Sears, C. L. (1998). Bacteroides fragilis enterotoxin cleaves the zonula adherens protein, E-cadherin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 95, 14979–14984. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.25.14979
- Wu, S., Rhee, K. J., Zhang, M., Franco, A., and Sears, C. L. (2007). Bacteroides fragilis toxin stimulates intestinal epithelial cell shedding and gammasecretase-dependent E-cadherin cleavage. J Cell Sci. 120(Pt 11), 1944–52. doi: 10.1242/jcs.03455
- Zhan, X., Stamova, B., Jin, L. W., DeCarli, C., Phinney, B., and Sharp, F. R. (2016). Gram-negative bacterial molecules associate with Alzheimer disease pathology. *Neurology* 87, 2324–2332. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000003391
- Zhan, X., Stamova, B., and Sharp, F. R. (2018). Lipopolysaccharide associates with amyloid plaques, neurons and oligodendrocytes in Alzheimer's disease brain: a review. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 10:42. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2018. 00042

- Zhao, Y., Cong, L., Jaber, V., and Lukiw, W. J. (2017c). Microbiome-derived lipopolysaccharide enriched in the perinuclear region of Alzheimer's disease brain. *Front. Immunol.* 8:1064. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017. 01064
- Zhao, Y., Cong, L., and Lukiw, W. J. (2017a). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) accumulates in neocortical neurons of Alzheimer's disease (AD) brain and impairs transcription in human neuronal-glial primary co-cultures. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 9:407. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017.00407
- Zhao, Y., Dua, P., Lukiw, W. J. (2015). Microbial sources of amyloid and relevance to amyloidogenesis and Alzheimer's disease (AD). J Alzheimers Dis Parkinsonism. 5:177.
- Zhao, Y., Jaber, V., and Lukiw, W. J. (2017b). Secretory products of the human GI tract microbiome and their potential impact on Alzheimer's disease (AD): detection of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in AD hippocampus. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* 7:318. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00318
- Zhao, Y., Lukiw, W. J. (2015). Microbiome-generated amyloid and potential impact on amyloidogenesis in Alzheimer's disease (AD). J. Nat. Sci. 1:e138.
- Zhao, Y., and Lukiw, W. J. (2018a). Bacteroidetes neurotoxins and inflammatory neurodegeneration. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 55, 9100–9107. doi: 10.1007/s12035-018-1015-y

- Zhao, Y., and Lukiw, W. J. (2018b). Microbiome-mediated upregulation of microRNA-146a in sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *Front. Neurol.* 9:145. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00145
- Zhao, Y., Sharfman, N. M., Jaber, V. R., and Lukiw, W. J. (2019). Downregulation of essential synaptic components by GI-tract microbiome-derived lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in LPS-treated human neuronal-glial (HNG) cells in primary culture: relevance to Alzheimer's disease (AD). *Front. Cell Neurosci.* 13:314. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00314

**Conflict of Interest:** The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Lukiw. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Case-Control Study of the Effects of Gut Microbiota Composition on Neurotransmitter Metabolic Pathways in Children With Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder

Lin Wan<sup>1†</sup>, Wen-Rong Ge<sup>2†</sup>, Shan Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Yu-Lin Sun<sup>1</sup>, Bin Wang<sup>1</sup> and Guang Yang<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> The First Medical Center of the Chinese PLA General Hospital, Beijing, China, <sup>2</sup> Beijing Friendship Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Andreas Martin Grabrucker, University of Limerick, Ireland

#### Reviewed by:

Kiran Veer Sandhu, University College Cork, Ireland Silvia Turroni, University of Bologna, Italy

\*Correspondence: Guang Yang yangg301@sina.com <sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuroendocrine Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 16 October 2019 Accepted: 31 January 2020 Published: 18 February 2020

#### Citation:

Wan L, Ge W-R, Zhang S, Sun Y-L, Wang B and Yang G (2020) Case-Control Study of the Effects of Gut Microbiota Composition on Neurotransmitter Metabolic Pathways in Children With Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. Front. Neurosci. 14:127. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2020.00127 **Background:** Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a neuropsychiatric condition that may be related to an imbalance of neural transmitters. The gut microbiota is the largest ecosystem in the human body, and the brain-gut axis theory proposes that the gut microbiome can affect brain function in multiple ways. The purpose of this study was to explore the gut microbiota in children with ADHD and assess the possible role of the gut microbiota in disease pathogenesis to open new avenues for ADHD treatment.

**Methods:** A case-control design was used. We enrolled 17 children aged 6–12 years with ADHD who were treated in the Pediatric Outpatient Department of the First Medical Center of the Chinese PLA General Hospital from January to June, 2019. Seventeen children aged 6–12 years were selected as the healthy control (HC) group. Fecal samples of cases and controls were analyzed by shotgun metagenomics sequencing. Alpha diversity and the differences in the relative abundances of bacteria were compared between the two groups. Functional annotations were performed for the microbiota genes and metabolic pathways were analyzed using the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG).

**Results:** There was no significant difference in the alpha diversity of gut microbiota between the ADHD and HC groups. Compared with HCs, *Faecalibacterium* and *Veillonellaceae* were significantly reduced in children with ADHD (P < 0.05), *Odoribacter* and *Enterococcus* were significantly increased [linear discriminant analysis (LDA) > 2]. At the species level, *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*, *Lachnospiraceae bacterium*, and *Ruminococcus gnavus* were significantly reduced in the ADHD group (P < 0.05), while *Bacteroides caccae*, *Odoribacter splanchnicus*, *Paraprevotella xylaniphila*, and *Veillonella parvula* were increased (P < 0.05). Metabolic pathway analysis revealed significant between-group differences in the metabolic pathways of neurotransmitters (e.g., serotonin and dopamine) (P < 0.05).

**Conclusion:** Composition differences of gut microbiota in subjects with ADHD may contribute to brain-gut axis alterations and affect neurotransmitter levels, which could contribute to ADHD symptoms.

Keywords: attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, child, gastrointestinal microbiome, shotgun metagenomics sequencing, neurotransmitter

## INTRODUCTION

Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is а neuropsychiatric disorder that occurs most frequently in school-age children and is characterized as inattention with or without excessive impulsivity and hyperactivity (Abramov et al., 2019). Previous studies have reported that ADHD pathogenesis may be associated with dysregulation of neurotransmitters such as dopamine, serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine, 5-HT), and norepinephrine (Magula et al., 2019; Stewart et al., 2019; Suzuki et al., 2019). Others have shown that the incidence of ADHD may have a certain degree of heritability, and genes related to dopamine, norepinephrine, and 5-HT transmission have been found to be abnormally expressed in children with ADHD (Banerjee and Nandagopal, 2015; Karmakar et al., 2017; Kim et al., 2018). Although various theories have been proposed, the pathogenetic mechanisms underlying ADHD have not been fully clarified, which limits the development of new treatments.

Gut microbiota alterations may be associated with neurological conditions including Alzheimer's disease, epilepsy, and autism (Fan et al., 2019; Rude et al., 2019). Many researchers have proposed the existence of bidirectional regulation of the brain-gut axis, which involves gut microbiota metabolites that affect neurotransmitter levels, thereby influencing brain function (Melli et al., 2016; Khalil et al., 2019; Lacorte et al., 2019). In addition, nervous system activity can also impact gut microbiota composition. This bidirectional regulation is accomplished via complex neuroendocrine pathways (Khalil et al., 2019). The gut microbiota can adjust these pathways by regulating the levels of neurotransmitters and inflammatory factors and affecting the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal axis (Bermúdez-Humarán et al., 2019). Therefore, abnormal intestinal flora composition may lead to abnormal neurotransmitter secretion, which may promote the development of neuropsychiatric diseases.

We conducted a case-control study to analyze differences in intestinal flora composition between children with ADHD and healthy control (HC) children, explore ADHD pathogenesis, and investigate potential new treatments for ADHD.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Study Subjects**

Seventeen children aged 6–12 (median 8 years) with ADHD were selected from the Pediatric Outpatient Department of the First Medical Center of the PLA General Hospital between January and June, 2019. The inclusion criteria were: (1) The

Kiddie Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia (K-SADS, Present and Lifetime Version scales) was used to diagnosis ADHD, and subjects met the diagnostic criteria for ADHD in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5) (Ng et al., 2019) based on the opinion of an experienced child psychiatrist (GY or LW); (2) no history of respiratory or digestive tract infection within 1 month; (3) no use of probiotics within 1 month; (4) no history of digestive diseases or other chronic diseases; (5) body mass index (BMI)  $< 20 \text{ kg/m}^2$  (because obesity could cause gut microbiota abnormalities) (Salah et al., 2019); and (6) no allergic diseases such as allergic rhinitis or asthma. Seventeen children from different families aged 6-12 years (median 8 years) were selected as the HC group in the same period. The inclusion criteria were the same except that there was no diagnosis of ADHD based on DSM-5 criteria by K-SADS. All of the participating children were born full-term with normal deliveries. Subjects were excluded if they were on a special diet (e.g., vegetarian). All parents of the participating children completed the Conners Parent Rating Scales (CPRS) to assess ADHD symptom severity and exclude subjects with depressive or anxiety symptoms. Participants maintained their regular dietary patterns for a week, and a food diary was recorded for participants from both groups during this period in order to exclude the potential influence of any changes in diet on the intestinal flora. Stool samples were collected at 8:00 am in the Pediatric Outpatient Department and stored in a sterile plastic cup at  $-80^{\circ}$ C prior to testing.

The study was approved by the PLA General Hospital Ethics Committee (no. 2018-278). All subjects' guardians were informed about the intentions of this study, and gave written informed consent was obtained in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

#### Sequencing and Analysis DNA Sequencing

A total of 34 stool samples were collected from 17 ADHD patients and 17 age-matched HCs. We applied shotgun metagenomic sequencing to the whole genome of the microorganisms for each specimen. Bead beating was performed to rupture the bacteria, DNA was extracted with HiPure Stool DNA kits (Angen Biotech Co., Ltd., Guangzhou, China), and Qubit 4.0 software (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, United States) was used for quality assessment. The library was prepared with a KAPA Hyper Prep Kit (KAPA Biosystems, Wilmington, MA, United States) and paired-end sequencing was performed on an Illumina NovaSeq platform (Illumina, San Diego, CA, United States) with a reading length of 150 bp (PE150).
# Species Abundance and Gene Function Annotations

All genome sequencing data were preprocessed by KneadData<sup>1</sup> to screen out low-quality short frame sequences and chimeric sequences among the structural primer sequences (Bolger et al., 2014). Bowtie2 (Langmead and Salzberg, 2012) was then used to align the reads with the human genome for host sequence contamination removal. This was carried out with human reference genome hg19)<sup>2</sup>.

HUMAnN2 (version v0.11.2) was used to analyze the species abundance, gene function, and metabolic pathways related to the processed sequencing data (Franzosa et al., 2018). HUMAnN2 first used MetaPhlAn2 (version 2.7.7, Li et al., 2014) to match the sequence with the established core genes to quickly locate the species included in the microbiota. Sequences were then compared with the pan-genome of the identified species and mapped to corresponding phylogenetic levels. The abundance of genes or gene families, and metabolic pathways were analyzed at different phylogenetic levels of interest.

To determine the gene functional annotations, we employed the Bowtie2 (version 2.3.4.3) to map the sequences after removing low-quality sequences and host sequences, to Integrated Gene Catalog databases and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG).On this basis, gene abundance and alpha diversity indexes were calculated, which involves using the Shannon, Chao1, and Simpson indexes to calculate the entropy values of gene abundance. Euclidean distance was also computed as the measurement of beta diversity, followed by principal component analysis (PCA) and permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA). PCA was performed using ade4 package and PERMANOVA was carried out using vegan package (R version 3.5.3)<sup>3</sup>.

#### **Bioinformatics Analysis**

Chi-square tests were performed by SPSS 21.0 to compare sex differences between the ADHD and HC groups, and independent-sample *t*-tests were used to compare age, BMI, and CPRS scores. Wilcoxon tests were used by SPSS 21.0 to assess differences in species abundance and gene function between the ADHD and HC groups. The LDA effect size (LEfSe) method was used to determine the most differentially abundant taxa at the genus and species levels between the two groups.

## RESULTS

# Comparison of Clinical Data Between the ADHD and HC Groups

A total of 17 ADHD children were included in this study, including 14 (82.3%) males and 3 (17.7%) females with a median age of 8 (25th and 75th percentiles: 7, 10) and a mean BMI of  $16.1 \pm 1.2 \text{ kg/m}^2$ . The 17 HCs included 13 (76.5%) males and 4 (23.5%) females with a median age of 8 (7, 9.5) and a mean

<sup>3</sup>https://www.r-project.org/

BMI of 15.9  $\pm$  1.1 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. There was no significant difference in the distributions of sex, age, or BMI between the two groups (*P* > 0.05). More children in the ADHD group (12, 70.5%) developed symptoms of constipation than in the HC group (2, 11.7%). The total CPRS scores were significantly different between the ADHD and HC groups (10.3  $\pm$  4.2 vs. 2.2  $\pm$  0.63, respectively; *P* < 0.05). There were no significant differences in the subscores for psychosomatic symptoms (0.56  $\pm$  0.34 vs. 0.53  $\pm$  0.41) or anxiety (0.42  $\pm$  0.32 vs. 0.51  $\pm$  0.35) (*P* > 0.05, **Table 1**).

### **Analysis of Intestinal Flora Diversity**

The Shannon (9.67  $\pm$  0.42 vs. 9.52  $\pm$  0.25), Chao1 (61.5  $\pm$  11.6 vs. 57.5  $\pm$  9.8), and Simpson (0.89  $\pm$  0.07 vs. 0.88  $\pm$  0.06) indexes were calculated to assess the alpha diversity of fecal microbiota in the ADHD and HC groups. There were no significant differences in index values between the two groups (**Figure 1A**). At the genus level and the species level, PERMANOVA could not discriminate the ADHD from the HC group due to significant individual variation (**Figures 1B,C**).

## Analyses of Fecal Bacterial Community Abundance

At the genus level, Wilcoxon tests showed that *Faecalibacterium* and *Veillonellaceae* were significantly reduced in the ADHD group, while *Odoribacter* was significantly higher (P < 0.05, **Figure 2A**). The LEfSe results also indicated that *Enterococcus* was significantly increased in the ADHD group (LDA > 2, **Figure 2B**).

At the species level, Wilcoxon tests showed that *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*, *Lachnospiraceae bacterium*, and *Ruminococcus gnavus* were significantly decreased in the ADHD group, while *Bacteroides caccae*, *Odoribacter splanchnicus*, *Paraprevotella xylaniphila*, and *Veillonella parvula* were significantly increased (P < 0.05, **Figure 2C**). The results of LEfSe showed that *Odoribacteraceae* and

	ADHD (n = 17)	HC ( <i>n</i> = 17)	Р
Sex, n (%)			0.671
Male	14 (82.3%)	13 (76.5%)	
Female	3 (15%)	4 (23.5%)	
Age, years; median (25th and 75th percentiles)	8 (7, 10)	8 (7, 9.5)	0.701
BMI, mean (SD)	16.1 (1.2)	15.9 (1.1)	0.652
Constipation, n(%)	12 (70.5%)	2 (11.7%)	< 0.05
ADHD symptom severity,	mean (SD)		
Total CPRS score	10.3 (4.2)	2.2 (0.63)	< 0.05
Conduct problems	3.1 (1.46)	0.16 (0.27)	< 0.05
Impulsive-hyperactivity	1.5 (0.59)	0.16 (0.22)	< 0.05
Hyperactivity	3.4 (0.65)	0.05 (0.21)	< 0.05
Learning problems	1.9 (0.57)	0.21 (0.34)	< 0.05
Psychosomatic	0.56 (0.34)	0.53 (0.41)	0.452
Anxiety	0.42 (0.32)	0.51 (0.35)	0.523

ADHD, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder; BMI, body mass index; CPRS, Conners Parent Rating Scales; HC, healthy control.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://bitbucket.org/biobakery/kneaddata

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>http://hgdownload.soe.ucsc.edu/goldenPath/hg19/bigZips/hg19.fa.gz$ 







*Enterococcaceae* were significantly increased in the ADHD group, while *Ruminococcaceae* was significantly decreased (LDA > 2, **Figure 2D**).

## **KEGG Analysis of Metabolism**

A total of 6294 KEGG Orthology (KO) terms were used to annotate the genes. Wilcoxon tests showed 91 KOs that were significantly different between the two groups (P < 0.01, **Figure 3**). These included terms related to the neurotransmitter dopamine; the genes encoding the catalytic subunit of protein phosphatase-1 (PP1), threonine synthase, and 6-pyruvoyl-5,6,7,8-tetrahydropterin were significantly upregulated in the ADHD group, while the gene encoding 4-hydroxy threonine-4-phosphate dehydrogenase was significantly downregulated (P < 0.05, **Figure 4**).

## DISCUSSION

The mammalian intestinal tract contains more than 100 trillion microorganisms; as the largest ecosystem in the body, it influences host physiological functions (Agus et al., 2018). The brain-gut axis theory proposes that there is a bidirectional regulatory mechanism between the intestinal flora and the brain. Children with ADHD may have abnormal neurotransmission, and the intestinal flora may regulate the level of neurotransmitters via complex neuroendocrine pathways (Richarte et al., 2018). A systematic review revealed two studies that assessed the correlation between ADHD and intestinal flora (Lacorte et al., 2019). Both employed 16S rRNA-sequencing technology and only analyzed the difference in gut microflora (Jiang et al., 2018; Prehn-Kristensen et al., 2018).



We also applied shotgun metagenomic sequencing to the whole genomes of microorganisms for each specimen, and KEGG was used to analyze the metabolic pathways and identify possible pathogenetic mechanisms.

Similar to earlier reports (Jiang et al., 2018; Prehn-Kristensen et al., 2018), we found obvious differences in the gut microbiota of the ADHD and HC groups. Contrary to one study (Prehn-Kristensen et al., 2018), we found the alpha diversity of intestinal flora was not significantly different between groups, but subjects with ADHD had significantly lower levels of Faecalibacterium. However, unlike a previous report (Jiang et al., 2018), we also found that the ADHD group had significant decreases in Veillonellaceae, while Enterococcus and Odoribacter were significantly increased. At the species level, F. prausnitzii, L. bacterium, and R. gnavus were significantly reduced in the ADHD group, while B. caccae, O. splanchnicus, P. xylaniphila, and V. parvula were significantly increased. Additionally, we found that children with ADHD were more prone to constipation; consistent with our finding, previous studies have reported that the imbalance of intestinal flora is closely related to the occurrence of constipation (Huang et al., 2018; Wen et al., 2018; Wang L. et al., 2019).

The pathogenesis of ADHD remains unclear. One research group reported that abnormal levels of neurotransmitters are involved in the disease process (Kovács et al., 2019). Based on this theory, central nervous system (CNS) stimulants such as methylphenidate hydrochloride are widely used as first-line treatments for ADHD. The mechanism may involve inhibition of presynaptic reuptake of noradrenaline and dopamine; higher synaptic levels of these neurotransmitters may help to control symptoms, but clinical treatment effects vary among patients (Wigal et al., 2017).

Previous studies have shown that the gut microbiota could affect the brain-gut axis and contribute to the pathogenesis

of neurological diseases including Parkinson's, epilepsy, autism spectrum disorders, and tic disorders (Zhao et al., 2017; Kovács et al., 2019; Rude et al., 2019). Early intestinal flora establishment can affect nervous system development, resulting in anxiety behaviors and other mental health problems after maturity, and treatment of pregnant female rats with lowdose antibiotics has been shown to lead to an imbalance of intestinal flora, with subsequent alterations in the behavior of offspring (Borre et al., 2014; Leclercq et al., 2017; Zhao et al., 2017). In another study where gut bacteria from patients with schizophrenia were transplanted into germ-free mice, the mice developed psychotic symptoms due to altered regulation of the glutamine-glutamate-gamma-aminobutyric acid pathway by the transplanted gut bacteria (Zheng et al., 2019). Similarly, transplantation of intestinal flora from patients with Parkinson's disease into a germ-free Parkinson's disease mouse model significantly increased motor symptoms of the mice, which were ameliorated by antibiotic treatment (Sampson et al., 2016).

According to the results of our experiment, we speculated that the abnormality of intestinal flora might be one of the bases of the onset of ADHD, combined with previous studies, we proposed the following conjecture about its mechanism of action. In this study, children with ADHD exhibited a reduction of Faecalibacterium. This has been observed in both animal and human studies and has been implicated in various allergic diseases such as asthma, eczema, and allergic rhinitis (Penders et al., 2007; Arrieta et al., 2015; Melli et al., 2016). In clinical practice, atopic children have a 30-50% increased risk of ADHD (Schans et al., 2017). We therefore speculate that the reduction of this bacterial genus may generate allergies via the brain-gut axis by affecting neurotransmitter release and inducing the pathogenesis of ADHD. One study reported that ADHD was more likely to be induced by diets high in fat, protein, and sugar, which also decrease Faecalibacterium



levels (Howard et al., 2011). *Faecalibacterium* may exert antiinflammatory effects, and the abnormal levels may lead to higher expression of inflammatory factors (Qiu et al., 2013; Quévrain et al., 2016). Notably, children with ADHD have significantly higher levels of inflammatory cytokines than normal children (Mitchell and Goldstein, 2014). Inflammatory cytokines can cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and affect nervous system development and brain function (Wong et al., 2016). We therefore hypothesized that *Faecalibacterium* dysregulation may cause changes in inflammatory cytokine levels and participate in ADHD pathogenesis.

We also found that the proportion of Enterococcus was significantly increased in the ADHD group, and Enterococcus has been reported to be closely related to neurotransmitter release. One study demonstrated that Enterococcus abundance is significantly increased in mice lacking the 5-HT transporter (Singhal et al., 2019); deficiency of this transporter can lead to decreased 5-HT levels, which is related to ADHD onset (Wang et al., 2018). Interestingly, a study showed Enterococcus could lead to excessive intestinal conversion of levodopa (the first-line treatment for Parkinson's disease) into dopamine, however, peripheral dopamine cannot penetrate the BBB to enter the CNS, thus reducing the effectiveness of levodopa (Maini Rekdal et al., 2019). Furthermore, the abnormal increase in Enterococcus could also cause excessive activation of tyrosine decarboxylase, which increases the decarboxylation of tyrosine and phenylalanine in the gastrointestinal tract, leading to decreased levels in the CNS and subsequent low levels of levodopa (the drug precursor of dopamine) (Maini Rekdal et al., 2019). Both of these pathways can affect the concentration of dopamine in the CNS, which may aggravate Parkinson's symptoms (Maini Rekdal et al., 2019). Previous studies have shown that ADHD onset is related to decreased CNS levels of dopamine (Roncero and Álvarez, 2014; Ledonne and Mercuri, 2017). As above, we speculate that the observed increase in Enterococcus may lower intracranial dopamine and contribute to the development of ADHD. In addition, our observation of a higher proportion of Odoribacter in subjects with ADHD is similar to the results of a previous study that found higher Odoribacter levels in individuals with pediatric acute-onset neuropsychiatric syndrome (PAN) and pediatric autoimmune neuropsychiatric disorders associated with streptococcal infections (PANDAS) (Quagliariello et al., 2018). Additionally, Phylogenetic Investigation of Communities by Reconstruction of Unobserved States (PICRUSt) analysis of this study showed that the dopamine metabolic pathway was significantly reduced in PAN and PANDAS (Quagliariello et al., 2018). Odoribacter may cause abnormalities in dopamine metabolism that contribute to ADHD. Previous studies (Quagliariello et al., 2018; Maini Rekdal et al., 2019) found that abnormal Enterococcus and Odoribacter levels were associated with dysregulated neurotransmitter production. Abnormal levels of these bacteria were also found in our study, suggesting a role in the development of ADHD.

Finally, we performed KEGG analysis to determine the gene functional annotations and abnormalities in metabolic pathways, to verify the speculation of the role of gut microbiota in the pathogenesis of ADHD. Reduced dopamine levels in the CNS may contribute to ADHD pathogenesis. We identified differences in the dopaminergic synaptic pathways between the ADHD and HC groups; the gene encoding PP1 catalytic subunit was significantly upregulated, which was considered to increase synaptic sodium ion flux. Dopamine receptors are transmembrane sodium/chloride-dependent transporters that belong to the family of transporters of norepinephrine, 5-HT, and dopamine, and are referred to as neurotransmitter: sodium symporters (NSS) (Navratna and Gouaux, 2019).

Prolonged sodium-related signal transduction results in the excessive activation of NSS. Metabolic pathway alterations may cause abnormal neurotransmitter transport and reduce their concentrations in the CNS, which could contribute to ADHD. Numerous studies have reported that vitamin B6 plays a key role in nervous system development and neurotransmitter production. A randomized controlled trial of 216 children with ADHD and 216 healthy children found lower vitamin B6 levels in children with ADHD (Wang L.J. et al., 2019). In line with this finding, KEGG analysis indicated abnormalities in the metabolic pathway of vitamin B6 in the ADHD group. The genes encoding 4-hydroxy threonine-4-phosphate dehydrogenase and threonine synthase were significantly downregulated and upregulated, respectively, which could lead to abnormal levels of pyridoxal 5'-phosphate, which is an important coenzyme of aromatic amino acid decarboxylase (AADC) (Montioli et al., 2019). AADC is a key enzyme of dopamine metabolism that converts levodopa into dopamine in the CNS (Baek et al., 2018). A decrease in its activity could lead to the reduction of dopamine concentrations, which could contribute to ADHD onset. In the folate metabolic pathway, a significant upregulation of the gene encoding 6-pyruvoyl-5,6,7,8-tetrahydropterin could promote the generation of tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4). However, tryptophan hydroxylase is a rate-limiting enzyme that catalyzes 5-HT synthesis, with oxygen and BH4 as substrates (Opladen et al., 2016; Scotton et al., 2019). Upregulation of the gene encoding 6-pyruvoyl-5,6,7,8-tetrahydropterin may lead to the conversion of excessive tryptophan into 5-HT in the intestinal tract, and 5-HT has difficulty crossing the BBB, resulting in decreased CNS 5-HT concentrations, which may contribute to ADHD.

There are several limitations to this study. First, our sample size was relatively small. Second, we did not perform transplantation of intestinal flora to confirm that gut microbiota composition affects ADHD symptoms.

## CONCLUSION

In summary, our results demonstrate that gut microbiota alterations occur in children with ADHD, which may contribute to abnormal metabolism of neurotransmitters. We cautiously speculated that the abnormal intestinal flora might be one of contributing factors of ADHD, the underlying mechanism may be related to changes in microbial functions that affect the

## REFERENCES

- Abramov, D. M., Cunha, C. Q., Galhanone, P. R., Alvin, R. J., de Oliveira, A. M., and Lazarev, V. V. (2019). Neurophysiological and behavioral correlates of alertness impairment and compensatory processes in ADHD evidenced by the attention network test. *PLoS One* 14:e0219472. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0219472
- Agus, A., Planchais, J., and Sokol, H. (2018). Gut microbiota regulation of tryptophan metabolism in health and disease. *Cell Host Microbe* 23, 716–724. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2018.05.003
- Arrieta, M. C., Stiemsma, L. T., Dimitriu, P. A., Thorson, L., Russell, S., Yurist-Doutsch, S., et al. (2015). Early infancy microbial and metabolic alterations

function of the neuroendocrine system, leading to reduced levels of 5-HT and dopamine in the CNS, and ultimately to ADHD. Further studies should be carried out to investigate the CNS levels of dopamine and 5-HT, and animal studies are needed for functional verification.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the PLA General Hospital Ethics Committee. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

LW and W-RG contributed equally to the manuscript. LW and GY contributed to the study conception and design. W-RG, SZ, Y-LS, BW, and LW organized the database. W-RG, Y-LS, SZ, LW, and GY performed the statistical analysis. W-RG, LW, and GY wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors wrote sections of the manuscript, contributed to the manuscript revision, and read and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was funded by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (reference number 81671279) and National Key Research and Development Project (2018YFC1002500).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the medical staff at the First Medical Center of the PLA General Hospital for their assistance. We would also like to thank Aegicare (Shenzhen) Technology Co., Ltd., for providing strong technical support for this study.

affect risk of childhood asthma. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 7:307ra152. doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.aab2271

- Baek, J. S., Tee, J. K., Pang, Y. Y., Tan, E. Y., Lim, K. L., Ho, H. K., et al. (2018). Improved bioavailability of levodopa using floatable spray-coated microcapsules for the management of Parkinson's disease. *Neuromolecular Med.* 20, 262–270. doi: 10.1007/s12017-018-8491-0
- Banerjee, E., and Nandagopal, K. (2015). Does serotonin deficit mediate susceptibility to ADHD? *Neurochem. Int.* 82, 52–68. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2015. 02.001
- Bermúdez-Humarán, L. G., Salinas, E., Ortiz, G. G., Ramirez-Jirano, L. J., Morales, J. A., and Bitzer-Quintero, O. K. (2019). From probiotics to psychobiotics:

live beneficial bacteria which act on the brain-gut axis. *Nutrients* 11:E890. doi: 10.3390/nu11040890

- Bolger, A. M., Lohse, M., and Usadel, B. (2014). Trimmomatic: a flexible trimmer for Illumina sequence data. *Bioinformatics* 30, 2114–2120. doi: 10. 1093/bioinformatics/btu170
- Borre, Y. E., O'Keeffe, G. W., Clarke, G., Stanton, C., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2014). Microbiota and neurodevelopmental windows: implications for brain disorders. *Trends Mol. Med.* 20, 509–518. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2014.05.002
- Fan, Y., Wang, H., Liu, X., Zhang, J., and Liu, G. (2019). Crosstalk between the ketogenic diet and epilepsy: from the perspective of gut microbiota. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2019:8373060. doi: 10.1155/2019/8373060
- Franzosa, E. A., McIver, L. J., Rahnavard, G., Thompson, L. R., Schirmer, M., Weingart, G., et al. (2018). Species-level functional profiling of metagenomes and metatranscriptomes. *Nat. Methods* 15, 962–968. doi: 10.1038/s41592-018-0176-y
- Howard, A. L., Robinson, M., Smith, G. J., Ambrosini, G. L., Piek, J. P., and Oddy, W. H. (2011). ADHD is associated with a "Western" dietary pattern in adolescents. J. Atten. Disord. 15, 403–411. doi: 10.1177/1087054710365990
- Huang, L., Zhu, Q., Qu, X., and Qin, H. (2018). Microbial treatment in chronic constipation. Sci. China Life Sci. 61, 744–752. doi: 10.1007/s11427-017-9220-7
- Jiang, H. Y., Zhou, Y. Y., Zhou, G. L., Li, Y. C., Yuan, J., Li, X. H., et al. (2018). Gut microbiota profiles in treatment-naïve children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Behav. Brain Res.* 347, 408–413. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2018. 03.036
- Karmakar, A., Goswami, R., Saha, T., Maitra, S., Roychowdhury, A., Panda, C. K., et al. (2017). Pilot study indicate role of preferentially transmitted monoamine oxidase gene variants in behavioral problems of male ADHD probands. *BMC Med. Genet.* 18:109. doi: 10.1186/s12881-017-0469-5
- Khalil, M., Zhang, Z., and Engel, M. A. (2019). Neuro-immune networks in gastrointestinal disorders. *Visc. Med.* 35, 52–60. doi: 10.1159/000496838
- Kim, J. I., Yoo, J. H., Kim, D., Jeong, B., and Kim, B. N. (2018). The effects of GRIN2B and DRD4 gene variants on local functional connectivity in attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Brain Imaging Behav.* 12, 247–257. doi: 10.1007/ s11682-017-9690-2
- Kovács, Z., D'Agostino, D. P., Diamond, D., Kindy, M. S., Rogers, C., and Ari, C. (2019). Therapeutic potential of exogenous ketone supplement induced ketosis in the treatment of psychiatric disorders: review of current literature. *Front. Psychiatry* 10:363. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00363
- Lacorte, E., Gervasi, G., Bacigalupo, I., Vanacore, N., Raucci, U., and Parisi, P. (2019). A systematic review of the microbiome in children with neurodevelopmental disorders. *Front. Neurol.* 10:727. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019. 00727
- Langmead, B., and Salzberg, S. L. (2012). Fast gapped-read alignment with bowtie 2. *Nat. Methods* 9, 357–359. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.1923
- Leclercq, S., Mian, F. M., Stanisz, A. M., Bindels, L. B., Cambier, E., Ben-Amram, H., et al. (2017). Low-dose penicillin in early life induces long-term changes in murine gut microbiota, brain cytokines and behavior. *Nat. Commun.* 8:15062. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15062
- Ledonne, A., and Mercuri, N. B. (2017). Current concepts on the physiopathological relevance of dopaminergic receptors. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 11:27. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2017.00027
- Li, J., Jia, H., Cai, X., Zhong, H., Feng, Q., Sunagawa, S., et al. (2014). An integrated catalog of reference genes in the human gut microbiome. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 32, 834–841. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2942
- Magula, L., Moxley, K., and Lachman, A. (2019). Iron deficiency in South African children and adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. J. Child Adolesc. Ment. Health 31, 85–92. doi: 10.2989/17280583.2019.1637345
- Maini Rekdal, V., Bess, E. N., Bisanz, J. E., Turnbaugh, P. J., and Balskus, E. P. (2019). Discovery and inhibition of an interspecies gut bacterial pathway for Levodopa metabolism. *Science* 364:eaau6323. doi: 10.1126/science.aau6323
- Melli, L. C., do Carmo-Rodrigues, M. S., Araújo-Filho, H. B., Solé, D., and de Morais, M. B. (2016). Intestinal microbiota and allergic diseases: a systematic review. *Allergol. Immunopathol.* 44, 177–188. doi: 10.1016/j.aller.2015.01.013
- Mitchell, R. H., and Goldstein, B. I. (2014). Inflammation in children and adolescents with neuropsychiatric disorders: a systematic review. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 53, 274–296. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2013.11.013
- Montioli, R., Battini, R., Paiardini, A., Tolve, M., Bertoldi, M., Carducci, C., et al. (2019). A novel compound heterozygous genotype associated with aromatic

amino acid decarboxylase deficiency: clinical aspects and biochemical studies. *Mol. Genet. Metab.* 127, 132–137. doi: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2019.05.004

- Navratna, V., and Gouaux, E. (2019). Insights into the mechanism and pharmacology of neurotransmitter sodium symporters. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 54, 161–170. doi: 10.1016/j.sbi.2019.03.011
- Ng, R., Heinrich, K., and Hodges, E. (2019). Associations between ADHD subtype symptomatology and social functioning in children with ADHD, autism spectrum disorder, and comorbid diagnosis: utility of diagnostic tools in treatment considerations. *J. Atten. Disord.* doi: 10.1177/1087054719855680 [Epub ahead of print].
- Opladen, T., Cortès-Saladelafont, E., Mastrangelo, M., Horvath, G., Pons, R., Lopez-Laso, E., et al. (2016). The international working group on neurotransmitter related disorders (iNTD): a worldwide research project focused on primary and secondary neurotransmitter disorders. *Mol. Genet. Metab. Rep.* 9, 61–66. doi: 10.1016/j.ymgmr.2016.09.006
- Penders, J., Stobberingh, E. E., van den Brandt, P. A., and Thijs, C. (2007). The role of the intestinal microbiota in the development of atopic disorders. *Allergy* 62, 1223–1236. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2007.01462.x
- Prehn-Kristensen, A., Zimmermann, A., Tittmann, L., Lieb, W., Schreiber, S., Baving, L., et al. (2018). Reduced microbiome alpha diversity in young patients with ADHD. *PLoS One* 13:e0200728. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0200728
- Qiu, X., Zhang, M., Yang, X., Hong, N., and Yu, C. (2013). Faecalibacterium prausnitzii upregulates regulatory T cells and anti-inflammatory cytokines in treating TNBS-induced colitis. J. Crohns Colitis 7, e558–e568. doi: 10.1016/j. crohns.2013.04.002
- Quagliariello, A., Del Chierico, F., Russo, A., Reddel, S., Conte, G., Lopetuso, L. R., et al. (2018). Gut microbiota profiling and gut-brain crosstalk in children affected by pediatric acute-onset neuropsychiatric syndrome and pediatric autoimmune neuropsychiatric disorders associated with streptococcal infections. *Front. Microbiol.* 9:675. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.00675
- Quévrain, E., Maubert, M. A., Michon, C., Chain, F., Marquant, R., Tailhades, J., et al. (2016). Identification of an anti-inflammatory protein from *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*, a commensal bacterium deficient in Crohn's disease. *Gut* 65, 415–425. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-307649
- Richarte, V., Rosales, K., Corrales, M., Bellina, M., Fadeuilhe, C., Calvo, E., et al. (2018). [The gut-brain axis in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: the role of the microbiota]. *Rev. Neurol.* 66, S109–S114.
- Roncero, C., and Álvarez, F. J. (2014). The use of lisdexamfetamine dimesylate for the treatment of ADHD and other psychiatric disorders. *Expert Rev. Neurother*. 14, 849–865. doi: 10.1586/14737175.2014.932691
- Rude, K. M., Pusceddu, M. M., Keogh, C. E., Sladek, J. A., Rabasa, G., Miller, E. N., et al. (2019). Developmental exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in the maternal diet causes host-microbe defects in weanling offspring mice. *Environ. Pollut.* 253, 708–721. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2019.07.066
- Salah, M., Azab, M., Ramadan, A., and Hanora, A. (2019). New insights on obesity and diabetes from gut microbiome alterations in Egyptian adults. OMICS 23, 477–485. doi: 10.1089/omi.2019.0063
- Sampson, T. R., Debelius, J. W., Thron, T., Janssen, S., Shastri, G. G., Ilhan, Z. E., et al. (2016). Gut microbiota regulate motor deficits and neuroinflammation in a model of Parkinson's disease. *Cell* 167, 1469–1480.e12. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016. 11.018
- Schans, J. V., Çiçek, R., de Vries, T. W., Hak, E., and Hoekstra, P. J. (2017). Association of atopic diseases and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a systematic review and meta-analyses. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 74(Pt A), 139–148. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.01.011
- Scotton, W. J., Hill, L. J., Williams, A. C., and Barnes, N. M. (2019). Serotonin syndrome: pathophysiology, clinical features, management, and potential future directions. *Int. J. Tryptophan Res.* 12:1178646919873925. doi: 10.1177/ 1178646919873925
- Singhal, M., Turturice, B. A., Manzella, C. R., Ranjan, R., Metwally, A. A., Theorell, J., et al. (2019). Serotonin transporter deficiency is associated with dysbiosis and changes in metabolic function of the mouse intestinal microbiome. *Sci. Rep.* 9:2138. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-38489-8
- Stewart, A., Davis, G. L., Gresch, P. J., Katamish, R. M., Peart, R., Rabil, M. J., et al. (2019). Serotonin transporter inhibition and 5-HT2C receptor activation drive loss of cocaine-induced locomotor activation in DAT Val559 mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 44, 994–1006. doi: 10.1038/s41386-018-0301-8

- Suzuki, C., Ikeda, Y., Tateno, A., Okubo, Y., Fukayama, H., and Suzuki, H. (2019). Acute atomoxetine selectively modulates encoding of reward value in ventral medial prefrontal cortex. *J. Nippon Med. Sch.* 86, 98–107. doi: 10.1272/jnms. JNMS.2019\_86-205
- Wang, L., Chen, C., Cui, S., Lee, Y. K., Wang, G., Zhao, J., et al. (2019). Adhesive *Bifidobacterium* induced changes in cecal microbiome alleviated constipation in mice. *Front. Microbiol.* 10:1721. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.01721
- Wang, L. J., Yu, Y. H., Fu, M. L., Yeh, W. T., Hsu, J. L., Yang, Y. H., et al. (2018). Attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder is associated with allergic symptoms and low levels of hemoglobin and serotonin. *Sci. Rep.* 8:10229. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-018-28702-5
- Wang, L. J., Yu, Y. H., Fu, M. L., Yeh, W. T., Hsu, J. L., Yang, Y. H., et al. (2019). Dietary profiles, nutritional biochemistry status, and attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder: path analysis for a case-control study. J. Clin. Med. 8:E709. doi: 10.3390/jcm8050709
- Wen, W., Zhang, H., Shen, J., Wei, L., and Shen, S. (2018). Fecal microbiota transplantation for patients with irritable bowel syndrome: a meta-analysis protocol. *Medicine* 97:e12661. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000012661
- Wigal, S. B., Childress, A., Berry, S. A., Belden, H., Walters, F., Chappell, P., et al. (2017). Efficacy and safety of a chewable methylphenidate extended-release tablet in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J. Child Adolesc. Psychopharmacol. 27, 690–699. doi: 10.1089/cap.2016.0177

- Wong, M. L., Inserra, A., Lewis, M. D., Mastronardi, C. A., Leong, L., Choo, J., et al. (2016). Inflammasome signaling affects anxiety- and depressivelike behavior and gut microbiome composition. *Mol. Psychiatry* 21, 797–805. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.46
- Zhao, H., Shi, Y., Luo, X., Peng, L., Yang, Y., and Zou, L. (2017). The effect of fecal microbiota transplantation on a child with Tourette syndrome. *Case Rep. Med.* 2017:6165239. doi: 10.1155/2017/6165239
- Zheng, P., Zeng, B., Liu, M., Chen, J., Pan, J., Han, Y., et al. (2019). The gut microbiome from patients with schizophrenia modulates the glutamateglutamine-GABA cycle and schizophrenia-relevant behaviors in mice. *Sci. Adv.* 5:eaau8317. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aau8317

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Wan, Ge, Zhang, Sun, Wang and Yang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## The Links Between the Gut Microbiome, Aging, Modern Lifestyle and Alzheimer's Disease

Sholpan Askarova<sup>\*</sup>, Bauyrzhan Umbayev, Abdul-Razak Masoud, Aiym Kaiyrlykyzy, Yuliya Safarova, Andrey Tsoy, Farkhad Olzhayev and Almagul Kushugulova

National Laboratory Astana, Center for Life Sciences, Nazarbayev University, Nur-Sultan, Kazakhstan

Gut microbiome is a community of microorganisms in the gastrointestinal tract. These bacteria have a tremendous impact on the human physiology in healthy individuals and during an illness. Intestinal microbiome can influence one's health either directly by secreting biologically active substances such as vitamins, essential amino acids, lipids et cetera or indirectly by modulating metabolic processes and the immune system. In recent years considerable information has been accumulated on the relationship between gut microbiome and brain functions. Moreover, significant quantitative and qualitative changes of gut microbiome have been reported in patients with Alzheimer's disease. On the other hand, gut microbiome is highly sensitive to negative external lifestyle aspects, such as diet, sleep deprivation, circadian rhythm disturbance, chronic noise, and sedentary behavior, which are also considered as important risk factors for the development of sporadic Alzheimer's disease. In this regard, this review is focused on analyzing the links between gut microbiome, modern lifestyle, aging, and Alzheimer's disease.

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease, gut microbiome, aging, lifestyle, circadian rhythm

## INTRODUCTION

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disease characterized by memory loss, dramatic changes in character and behavior and an impossibility to carry out normal daily activities in the latter stages of the disease. AD incidence increases with age and is shown to affect  $\sim 10\%$  of people aged 65-75 and 32% of the elderly aged 80 and above (Alzheimer's Association, 2013; Prince et al., 2016). According to the World Health Organization (WHO) incidence of AD is worsening every year, thus it is postulated that there could be a threefold increase in the number of AD patients by 2050. Today it is believed that the pathophysiology of AD is driven by accumulation of different forms of amyloid beta peptide (Aß) in the brain leading to neuro-inflammation, oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, dysregulation of enzyme systems, and neuronal death. Yet, triggering mechanisms of A $\beta$  deposition in the brain are still being investigated. To date, <5%of all AD cases have clear genetic evidence of increased production of A $\beta$ . Mutations in three genes serve to transmit AD via autosomal-dominant inheritance: the presenilin gene (PS1) on chromosome 14, the presenilin 2 gene (PS2) on chromosome 1, and the amyloid precursor protein gene (APP) on chromosome 21. This form of AD is referred to as a familial Alzheimer's disease (FAD) and is characterized by earlier onset of the symptoms (EOAD, <65 years). However, most cases of AD have a late-onset of the symptoms ( $\geq$ 65 years) and an unclear genetic background

OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Ashley Edwin Franks, La Trobe University, Australia

#### Reviewed by:

Xingmin Sun, University of South Florida, United States Xiaoming Bian, University of Georgia, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Sholpan Askarova shaskarova@nu.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbiome in Health and Disease, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

> Received: 13 August 2019 Accepted: 27 February 2020 Published: 18 March 2020

#### Citation:

Askarova S, Umbayev B, Masoud A-R, Kaiyrlykyzy A, Safarova Y, Tsoy A, Olzhayev F and Kushugulova A (2020) The Links Between the Gut Microbiome, Aging, Modern Lifestyle and Alzheimer's Disease.

Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 10:104. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2020.00104 (Panegyres and Chen, 2013, 2014). This type of dementia is called sporadic late-onset AD (LOAD), and it is generally believed that the development of this pathology in the elderly is as a result of an interplay between genetic background and various factors including lifestyle, stress levels, chronic diseases (cardiovascular diseases, obesity, diabetes mellitus), and environment (Prince et al., 2014; Wainaina et al., 2014).

One of the important factors that is influencing human health and attracting increasing attention of scientists during the last two decades is gut microbiome. There are  $\sim$ 1,000 species and 7,000 strains of bacteria that inhabit the human intestine (1,013-1,014 microorganisms in total), among which the most common are bacteria attributed to Firmicutes (51%) and Bacteroidetes (48%) (The Human Microbiome Project et al., 2012). Firmicutes include both gram-positive and gram-negative species such as those belonging to the genus Lactobacillus (grampositive), Eubacterium (gram-positive), Clostridium (grampositive). Bacteroidetes comprise of gram-negative bacteria of the genus Bacteroides and Prevotella. The remaining 1% of bacteria belong to other divisions such as Proteobacteria (gramnegative, genus Escherichia in particular), Actinobacteria (grampositive, genus Bifidobacterium in particular), Fusobacteria (gram-negative), Spirochaetes (gram-negative), Verrucomicrobia (gram-negative), and Lentispherae (gram-negative) (Westfall et al., 2017). Until recently, intestinal microbiome was considered to be involved in processes that take place exclusively in the intestine, such as fermentation of carbohydrates, synthesis of vitamins (in particular vitamin B and K), and xenobiotic metabolism as well as acting as a barrier to pathological bacteria. However, over the last 15 years, the functions of the intestinal microbiome have been revised owing to the establishment of a direct link between density and species composition of the intestinal microbiome and a number of pathological conditions including diabetes, obesity, and cardiovascular diseases. These diseases, in turn, are the established risk factors for the development of sporadic AD, and there is data indicating that gut microbiome influences brain functions (Westfall et al., 2017; Zhu et al., 2017; Kowalski and Mulak, 2019). Moreover, recent studies have revealed the significant differences in quantity and quality of gut microbiome in AD patients compared to mentally healthy individuals of the same age (Vogt et al., 2017; Larroya-García et al., 2018; Zhuang et al., 2018).

On the other hand, negative lifestyle aspects, among people living in our modern societies, are also considered important risk factors for the development of LOAD (van Praag, 2018). The most striking result of the epidemiological study above is that radical increases in Alzheimer's disease in Japan and substantial increase in developing countries are associated with changes in national diets (Grant, 2013). Furthermore, there are many undesirable lifestyle factors in the modern society that may contribute to AD development. These factors include unhealthy diet, lack of sleep, circadian rhythm disturbance, chronic noise, sedentary behavior etc., and, in turn, gut microbiome is highly sensitive to these factors. From this point of view, studying the links between modern lifestyle, gut microbiome and Alzheimer's disease is an important task that requires special attention. Understanding the interplays between the human microbiome and the brain, as well as the factors influencing these relations may contribute to a deeper understanding of AD etiology and may serve as a basis for the development of prophylactic measures to prevent or slow down the progression of the disease.

# BRAIN-GUT-MICROBIOTA AXIS AND ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

In the past 10 years, considerable information has been accumulated on the action of microbiome on the central nervous system (CNS) and "brain-gut-microbiota axis" conception was proposed (Kowalski and Mulak, 2019). The CNS regulates the permeability, secretion, motility, and immunity of the digestive tract by exerting its effect on the enteric nervous system, muscle tissue and the mucous layer of the intestine through the efferent autonomic nervous pathways (Carabotti et al., 2015). In turn, the intestinal microbiome is able to influence brain functions through afferent signaling pathways and through the secretion of biologically active substances (Burokas et al., 2015; Petra et al., 2015). There is a number of published data showing the effects of intestinal dysbiosis, caused by changes in diet, the use of antibiotics, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs as well as the presence of pathogenic microorganisms, on cognitive functions of the brain (Gareau, 2014; Jiang et al., 2017).

For example, acute stress and infection caused by conditional pathogenic bacteria Citrobacter rodentium have been shown to lead to memory disorders in C57BL/6 mice (Gareau et al., 2011). In sterile Swiss-Webster mice, bred in conditions precluding postnatal existence of bacteria in the intestine, a deficit of spatial and working memory was observed independent of infection and stress. This was accompanied by reduced neurotrophic brain factor (brain-derived neurotrophic factor, BDNF) expression (Gareau et al., 2011). BDNF is one of the key neurotrophins that play an important role in synaptic plasticity, and there is evidence of reduced BDNF levels in the brain and serum of patients with Alzheimer's disease (Michalski et al., 2015). On the contrary, studies conducted by Neufeld et al. revealed increased levels of BNDF in the central amygdale of sterile mice, reduced expression of mRNA encoding the serotonin receptor (5HT1A) and the NR2B subunit of the NMDA receptor (ionotropic glutamate receptor, selectively binding N-methyl-D-aspartate) in the dentate fascia of the hippocampus (Neufeld et al., 2011).

Wang et al. have demonstrated that in rats, intestinal dysbiosis caused by the usage of ampicillin for 1 month lowered the NMDA receptor and mineralocorticoid levels in the amygdala, increased the aggressiveness of the animals and caused impaired spatial memory while the presence of the *Lactobacillus fermentumNS9* strain in the intestinal microbiome normalized these parameters (Wang et al., 2015). Another study by Liang et al. showed that probiotic *Lactobacillus helveticusNS8* significantly improved cognitive impairment caused by chronic stress in Sprague-Dawley rats bred under sterile conditions (Liang et al., 2015). *L. helveticus* NS8 also reduced plasma levels of corticosterone and adrenocorticotropic hormone and increased the content of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10, restored the level of serotonin and norepinifrine, and increased expression of BDNF in the

hippocampus (Liang et al., 2015). Similar data were obtained by Luo et al. (2014) and Ohsawa et al. (2015). In addition, the probiotic *Bifidobacterium Longum 1714* improved cognitive function in male BALB/c mice (Savignac et al., 2015).

Studies of stool samples obtained from transgenic mice expressing the human APP gene and PS1 (CONVR-APPPS1, an animal model of Alzheimer's disease), showed significant differences in the composition of the intestinal microbiome of these animals compared to wildtype mice (Harach et al., 2017). In 8-month-old CONVR-APPPS1 mice there was a significant decrease in the number of Firmicutes, Verrucomicrobia, Proteobacteria, and Actinobacteria, and an increase in the content of bacteria belonging to the Bacteroidetes and Tenericutes compared to wild type mice of similar age. In addition, there was a significant decrease in AB deposits in the brain of CONVR-APPPS1 mice bred under sterile conditions compared to animals of the same genotype bred under standard conditions. Microbiota obtained from the intestines of CONVR-APPPS1 mice bred under normal conditions when introduced into intestines of mice bred under sterile conditions led to an increase in pathological A $\beta$  deposits in the central nervous system, while fecal transplantation from wild-type mice did not lead to a significant increase in A $\beta$  levels in the brain.

Studies carried out on laboratory animals are confirmed by clinical data obtained in the study of the intestinal microbiome of the elderly. The association of brain amyloidosis with proinflammatory intestinal bacterial taxa and peripheral markers of inflammation in people of old age suffering from cognitive disorders was shown (Cattaneo et al., 2016). The results of this study demonstrated that, in dementia patients with amyloidosis, an increased level of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the blood (IL-6, CXCL2, NLRP3, and IL-1β) was accompanied by a reduced content of E. rectale and an increased content of Escherichia/Shigella in stool samples. A positive correlation was also demonstrated between pro-inflammatory cytokines and the number of pro-inflammatory intestinal bacteria belonging to the Escherichia/Shigella taxon in stool samples, while a negative correlation was found between pro-inflammatory cytokines and the number of anti-inflammatory intestinal bacteria belonging to the E. rectale taxon.

A study of the composition of the intestinal microbiome in patients at the Alzheimer's Disease Research Center (Wisconsin Alzheimer's disease Research Center, USA) revealed significant differences in the composition of the intestinal microbiome in patients with AD and healthy people at the phylum and species levels (Vogt et al., 2017). These studies demonstrated a decrease in the number of bacteria in the Firmicutes and Actinobacteria phyla (in particular, bacteria of the genus Bifidobacterium), and an increase in the number of bacteria belonging to the Bacteroidetes and Proteobacteria phyla in the intestinal microbiome of AD patients. In general, quantitative differences were found between 13 genera of bacteria in AD patients and healthy study participants. In addition, a differential correlation was shown between the levels of individual bacterial genera in the intestine and cerebrospinal markers of AD, such as A $\beta$ 42/A $\beta$ 40, p-tau, as well as the A $\beta$ /p-tau ratio (Vogt et al., 2017). Studies conducted at Chongqing Medical University (China) also revealed significant differences in the composition of bacteria present in the bowels of patients with AD in taxonomic groups such as *Bacteroides, Actinobacteria, Ruminococcus, Lachnospiraceae,* and *Selenomonadales* (Zhuang et al., 2018). However, qualitative changes in the intestinal microbiome in Chinese patients differed somewhat from those in the United States. Zhuang et al. showed a decrease in the number of bacteria belonging to the phylum *Bacteroidetes,* while the number of bacteria in the phylum *Firmicutes* remained unchanged compared with healthy controls. These differences may be related to a number of factors, including comorbidities, ethnicity, lifestyle, and dietary preferences (Tasnim et al., 2017).

Irrespective of bacterial taxa, the functional composition of the gut microbiota may also be important (Lozupone et al., 2012). In this regards, Liu et al. conducted function analysis of microbiome in AD patients, patients with amnestic mild cognitive impairment (aMCI) and healthy controls (HC) based on Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) functional pathway (Liu et al., 2019a). They identified 5 altered functional orthologs in AD patients using level 3 KEGG pathways. For instance, in AD there were enriched orthologs related to bacterial secretion system (membrane transport) and lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis (glycan biosynthesis and metabolism) compared to HC or aMCI subjects. In contrast, the orthologs related to N-Glycan biosynthesis and phenylalanine, tyrosine and tryptophan biosynthesis, and histidine metabolism in amino acid metabolism were reduced in AD patients, but enhanced in aMCI patients when compared to HC.

The results of these studies demonstrate that the changes in the taxonomic and functional composition of the intestinal flora are able to influence brain functions. Published data also provide an evidence of the effect of intestinal microbiome on the development of amyloid pathology and indicate the possible role of intestinal microbiome as one of the factors of AD pathogenesis. In turn, gut microbiome is a dynamic modifiable system highly sensitive to lifestyle and aging. Thus, in the subsequent chapters we discuss the modern lifestyle factors and aging-related gut microbiome influence and their relations to AD pathology.

## **GUT MICROBIOME AND AGING**

Since advanced age is a major risk factor for AD, age-related physiological changes, including changes in the microbiome, may play a certain role in the development of dementia. In this regard, a number of studies have shown that the composition of the gut microbiome undergoes significant changes with age (Salazar et al., 2017; Nagpal et al., 2018). It was shown that general age-related changes in the composition of the intestinal microflora include an increase in the number of facultative anaerobes, changes in species dominance, while, at the same time, there is stability in the total number of anaerobes (Mariat et al., 2009; Satokari et al., 2010). Hopkins and co-authors observed that the levels of *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus* were lower in the group of elderly people compared to those of young individuals (Hopkins and Macfarlane, 2002). While the adult organism contains 4–5 species of the genus *Bifidobacterium*,

only one of the dominant species of this genus is found in old age: Bifidobacterium adolescentis, or phenotypically close Bifidobacterium angulatum and Bifidobacterium longum (Gavini et al., 2001; Hopkins and Macfarlane, 2002). One of the possible explanations for the reduced number of species and quantitative composition of *Bifidobacteria* in the elderly people is the decrease in their adhesion to the intestinal wall due to changes in the chemical composition and structure of the colon mucous membrane, causing restricted functionality and immunological reactivity in the intestine as well as increased susceptibility to gastrointestinal infections (He et al., 2001). In turn, the bacteria Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus are actively involved in the production of aminobutyric acid (y-Aminobutyric acid, GABA) (Junges et al., 2018; Strandwitz, 2018). GABA is the most important inhibitory mediator of the central nervous system of humans and other mammals involved in neurotransmitter and metabolic processes in the brain. It has been proven that the level of aminobutyric acid in the intestine correlates with its level in the CNS. Decrease in the number of Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus leads to brain dysfunction associated with synaptogenesis disorders, depression, and cognitive impairment (Strandwitz, 2018).

Many authors have noted that Bacteroides species diversity changes with age (Bartosch et al., 2004; Layton et al., 2006). In studies conducted by a group of scientists under the leadership of Tongeren, Bacteroides/Prevotella, Eubacteriumrectale/Clostridium coccoides, and Ruminococcus prevailed in the microbiota of people aged between 70 and 100 years (van Tongeren et al., 2005). The growth of proteolytic bacteria, such as Fusobacteria, Propionibacteria, and Clostridia, was shown in the intestinal microbiota of elderly people leading to the development of putrefactive processes, especially in patients with post antibiotic therapy. This is confirmed by data on the increase of proteolytic activity (Hopkins and Macfarlane, 2002; Woodmansey et al., 2004). Also, an increased number of pro-inflammatory enterobacteria, streptococci, staphylococci, and yeast cells were found which may be associated with an elevated level of serum antibodies to commensal (normal) intestinal microflora, such as Escherichia coli and Enterococcus faecalis.

## UNHEALTHY NUTRITION LINKED TO ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE AND GUT MICROBIOME

So-called "Western diet" (WD), which is characterized by high intake of saturated fats and added sugars (Weisburger, 1997), is one of the symbols of the modern lifestyle and it is an established risk factor for AD development (Grant, 1999, 2016; Noble et al., 2017). For example, it has been demonstrated that AD rates increased from 1% in 1985 to 7% in 2008 in Japan, and this increase is associated with nutritional transition from the traditional Japanese diet to a Western diet (Dodge et al., 2012). In fact, preclinical experiments have confirmed that high fat diet (HFD) may change the gut microbiota and contribute to development of dementia (Studzinski et al., 2009; Nam et al., 2017; Sah et al., 2017; Sanguinetti et al., 2018). These studies demonstrated that HFD promoted cognitive impairment by inducing oxidative stress and deteriorative neuronal apoptosis via inactivation of Nrf2 signaling pathway (Studzinski et al., 2009; Nam et al., 2017; Sah et al., 2017; Sanguinetti et al., 2018). Nam and coauthors showed that HFD significantly increased amyloid deposition and reduced cognition of 12-months old APP23 mice (Nam et al., 2017). In this study, RNA-seq results showed that genes related to immune response, such as Trem2 and Tyrobp in HFD mice were upregulated, but expression of the genes related to neuron projections and synaptic transmission was decreased. The authors demonstrated that levels of 24 lipid sub-species in the brain were significantly modulated by HFD.

In turn, recent study of microbiome-metabolome signatures in 3xTg-AD mice genetically predisposed to AD and fed a normal or fatty diet have demonstrated that high-fat feeding and genetic predisposition to neurodegenerative disease share common abnormalities in the gut microbiome (Sanguinetti et al., 2018). The authors showed that HFD changed bacterial composition in both colon and caecum, and also lead to reduced abundance of the microorganisms compared to normal diet-fed animals (ND). In this study, HFD mice had elevated abundances of Firmicutes than Bacteroidetes at phylum levels, Rikenellaceae, Lachnospiraceae, Enterococcaceaeand S24.7 at family level, as well as elevated amount of fecal ribose. High level of Clostridium and Staphylococcus were also found in the caecum. Study of serum and fecal metabolites revealed a deficiency in unsaturated fatty acids and choline, and an excess in ketone bodies, lactate, amino acids, TMA, and TMAO in 3xTg-AD mice fed a fatty diet. These metabolic changes were associated with high abundance of Enterococcaceae, Staphylococcus, Roseburia, Coprobacillus, and Dorea, and a low level of Bifidobacterium, which in turn are related to cognitive impairment and cerebral hypometabolism.

## SEDENTARY BEHAVIOR LINKED TO ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE AND GUT MICROBIOME

Sedentary lifestyle is becoming a significant public health issue in many countries despite being linked to a number of chronic health conditions (Owen et al., 2010). Accumulating evidence indicates that sedentary behavior can be a risk factor for cognitive decline (Wheeler et al., 2017), while physical exercise may be an effective strategy for preventing dementia (Fenesi et al., 2016). It has been shown that the mechanisms underlying the neuroprotective influence of physical activity on Alzheimer's disease are: the production of antioxidant enzymes and growth factors and decrease in ROS and neuroinflammation, the concentration of A $\beta$  plaques and tau protein in the brain (Chen et al., 2016b).

There is also data indicating that exercise can influence gut microbiome (Fernandez et al., 2018), and this effect is especially prominent in obese people and sedentary women (Allen et al., 2017; Bressa et al., 2017). In addition, recent data has demonstrated that physical exercise and probiotics are able to reduce the levels of Aß in the brain and slow down progression of AD symptoms in transgenic APP/PS1TG mice (Abraham et al., 2019). The authors demonstrated that physical training was capable of increasing abundance of butyrate-producing bacteria i.e., *Butyrivibrioproteoclasticus* and *Marvinbryantiaformatexigens*, and reducing pro-inflammatory bacteria, such as Clostridium, *Eubacterium*, and *Roseburia*. Moreover, exercise decreased the levels of  $H_2O_2$  generating bacteria *L. johnsonii*. It has been suggested that butyrate is a key regulator of inflammatory processes that induces mucin production and reduces the penetration of LPS from intestine into the bloodstream. The authors also concluded that physical activity or proper nutrition alone has a weak effect on dementia, whereas together their effects become significant.

## SLEEP DEPRIVATION LINKED TO ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE AND INTESTINAL MICROBIOME

Insufficient sleep is another important public health issue of the twenty-first century (Chattu et al., 2018), and it has been suggested that disrupted sleep may promote the development of Alzheimer's disease (Ju et al., 2013a,b; Shokri-Kojori et al., 2018). For example, animal studies have demonstrated that acute sleep deprivation significantly increases AB levels in brain interstitial fluid (Kang et al., 2009), and, in contrast, natural, and anesthetic sleep increases the interstitial space and subsequently enhances convective exchange of cerebrospinal fluid with interstitial fluid resulting in increased rate of A $\beta$  clearance (Xie et al., 2013). Clinical studies have also shown that healthy individuals have morning decrease in Aβ42 in cerebrospinal fluid, but 24 h of total sleep deprivation undoes this decrease (Ooms et al., 2014). Similarly, it has been found that slow wave sleep disruption correlates with an increase in Aβ40 level in cerebrospinal fluid (Ju et al., 2017) and that one night of sleep deprivation induces A $\beta$ accumulation in the brains of healthy individuals (Shokri-Kojori et al., 2018).

It is of our interest that chronic sleep disruption impacts gut microbiome. A study in animals has revealed that chronic sleep fragmentation alters taxonomic profiles of fecal microbiota and induces systemic and adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance (Poroyko et al., 2016). Similarly, randomized within-subject crossover study conducted by Benedict et al. demonstrated that partial sleep deprivation (PSD) in normalweight young individuals affects the human gut microbiota. In particular, PSD increased Firmicutes:Bacteroidetes ratio with a higher abundance of the families Coriobacteriaceae and Erysipelotrichaceae, and lower abundance of Tenericutes (Benedict et al., 2016). Contrary to this, Zhang at al. reported that major microbial populations were not altered in sleeprestricted rats and healthy human subjects (Zhang et al., 2017). The authors concluded that the microbiome is largely resistant to changes during sleep restriction and that sleep disruption and microbial dysbiosis are independent health risk factors (Zhang et al., 2017). However, in another research, better sleep quality in healthy older adults was associated with better neuropsychological test performance and higher abundance of microbial phyla *Verrucomicrobia* and *Lentisphaerae* in the stool samples (Anderson et al., 2017). Collectively, these studies suggest that a lack of sleep combined with obesity, diabetes and high-fat diet can be a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease and is associated with changes in the gut microbiome.

## CIRCADIAN RHYTHMS, INTESTINAL MICROBIOME AND ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

A phenomena known as "social jetlag," or the mismatch between social and biological clocks, is common in the modern society and causes circadian rhythm disruption (CRD) (Farhud and Aryan, 2018). One of the causes of CRD is light pollution, which is a typical hallmark of the big cities (Chepesiuk, 2009). It is a matter of fact that sleep deprivation and CRD is one of the common and earliest signs of AD, and there is increasing evidence that CRD might be a contributing factor in AD pathogenesis (Wu et al., 2003; Musiek, 2015; Musiek and Holtzman, 2016; Phan and Malkani, 2019). In support of this notion, there is a study demonstrating that AB production is regulated by circadian rhythms with peak concentrations of Aß occurring during wakefulness (Kang et al., 2009), which is in agreement with the data discussed in the previous chapter. A recent study has shown that targeted deletion of the core clock gene Bmal1 in APPPS1-21 transgenic mice resulted in disruption of daily hippocampal interstitial fluid Aß oscillations, increased expression of Apoe and promoted amyloid plaque accumulation (Kress et al., 2018). In addition, it has been demonstrated that the level of melatonin, one of the important regulators of circadian system, is reduced in AD patients (Wu et al., 2003). There is data indicating that melatonin and the circadian rhythms regulate the intestinal microbial flora (Zhu et al., 2018; Parkar et al., 2019), and that circadian rhythm disruption by abnormal light-dark (LD) cycles results in the dysfunction of the intestinal barrier and increases the number Ruminococcus torques but reduces that of Lactobacillus johnsonii (Deaver et al., 2018). In addition, circadian disruption affects functional gene composition of gut microbiome leading to downregulation of the genes involved in promoting host beneficial immune responses and upregulation of the genes involved in the synthesis and transportation of lipopolysaccharides (LPS) (Deaver et al., 2018), which is similar to the changes of the functional composition of the gut microbiome in AD patients (Liu et al., 2019a).

## CHRONIC NOISE STRESS, INTESTINAL MICROBIOME AND ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

A large number of sources of noise pollution has appeared in the human environment since the onset of post-industrial era (Passchier-Vermeer and Passchier, 2000), thus making chronic noise another hallmark of the modern lifestyle (Seidman and Standring, 2010). Epidemiological and experimental studies showed that chronic noise has been associated with

cardiovascular diseases, hearing impairment, changes in the immune system and birth defects (Passchier-Vermeer and Passchier, 2000; Ising and Kruppa, 2004). Recently, an etiological association between chronic noise exposure and Alzheimer disease was proposed (Cui and Li, 2013). In 2018, a retrospective cohort study conducted by Carey and coauthors demonstrated positive association between residential levels of noise and air pollution across London and incidence of dementia (Carey et al., 2018). A number of animal studies have shown that chronic noise induces tau pathology in the hippocampus and the prefrontal cortex (Manikandan et al., 2006; Cui et al., 2009, 2012a,b). Also, there is published data demonstrating upregulated expression of amyloid precursor protein (APP) and its cleavage enzymes,  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ -secretases upon chronic noise exposure (Cui et al., 2015), and the involvement of the corticotropin-releasing factor system in noise-induced alteration in Aß production (Gai et al., 2017). Furthermore, Cui and et al. reported that cognitive impairment and Aß accumulation in exposed-to-chronic-noise young SAMP8 mice was associated with the dysregulation of intestinal microbiota (Cui et al., 2018). The authors also found downregulation of endothelial tight junction proteins both in the intestine and brain and upregulation of serum neurotransmitter and inflammatory mediator levels in the mice. Further analysis of gut microbiota has revealed increased abundance of Firmicutes and reduced quantity of Bacteroidetes on the phylum level, whereas Candidatus Jettenia, Denitratisoma, and SM1A02 levels were increased in noise exposed SAMP8 mice (the genus level) (Cui et al., 2018). Taken together, the studies suggest that chronic noise affects gut microbiome and can be one of the AD triggers.

## POSSIBLE MECHANISMS UNDERLYING THE EFFECT OF GUT MICROBIOME ON THE PATHOGENESIS OF ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

Reducing the number and species diversity of many beneficial anaerobes such as *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus*, as well as a shift in the diversity of the intestinal microbiota toward conditional pathogenic and pathogenic microorganisms, results in changes in local intestinal chemical and immunological parameters and induces the translocation of the gut bacteria into focal lymphoid tissue (Nagpal et al., 2018). These factors contribute to an increase in permeability of the intestinal and blood-brain barriers and the penetration of pathological microflora and their metabolites into the brain (Tran and Greenwood-Van Meerveld, 2013; Elahy et al., 2015).

On the other hand, intestinal bacteria are able to excrete functional amyloid peptides and lipopolysaccharides (LPS) in large quantities. Amyloid peptide in bacteria contributes to various physiological processes on the surface of bacterial cells, such as biofilm formation, adhesion, interaction with other bacterial and eukaryotic cells, etc. Its structure and biophysical properties are similar to human pathological amyloid (Evans et al., 2018). For example, pro-inflammatory conditional pathogenic bacteria of the intestine such as *Escherichia coli*, Baccilus subtilis, Salmonella tyrhimurium, and Salmonella enterica are able to secrete large amounts of the bacterial amyloid peptide curli (Hufnagel et al., 2013; Schwartz and Boles, 2013). The *curli* peptide, like A $\beta$ , forms a secondary structure of  $\beta$ folded sheets and stains with thioflavin and Congo red (dves used to stain the brain's amyloid plaques). It was shown that the main structural subunit of the curli peptide, the precursor of amyloid gA (gA amyloid precursor), has in its structure sections similar to Aβ42, and that sections can be recognized by the human TLR2 receptor (tall-like receptor 2) (Rapsinski et al., 2015). Interaction of TLR2 with *curli* peptide or human AB42 leads to the activation of bone marrow macrophages and their production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6 and IL-1ß (Rapsinski et al., 2015). In a similar study, microbial amyloid was shown to be able to activate T-lymphocytes and induce the production of pro-inflammatory interleukins IL-17A and IL-22(Nishimori et al., 2012). These cytokines are able to penetrate the blood-brain barrier and cause the production of reactive oxygen species, activation of the TLR2/1 and NF&B signaling pathways in microglia and astrocytes, which is directly related to neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration (Perriard et al., 2015; Sun et al., 2015; Zhan et al., 2018). Besides Chen et al. demonstrated that oral contamination of old rats (previously subjected to antibiotic treatment) with wild E. coli strain, capable of producing the functional curli peptide, led to an increase in brain tissue microgliosis and astrogliosis and increased expression of TLR2, IL6, and TNF (Chen et al., 2016a).

In addition to the amyloid peptide, many intestinal bacteria secrete LPS. LPS are the main components of the outer cell wall of gram-negative bacteria and, in the case of penetration from the intestinal cavity into the bloodstream, can cause neuro-inflammatory reactions. Published data indicates that the LPS level in the blood plasma of patients suffering from sporadic lateral sclerosis and AD is three times higher than the physiological age norm (Zhang et al., 2009). Post-mortem studies revealed that the level of LPS in the neocortex and hippocampus in patients with AD was two to three times (and in some cases 26 times) higher than in older people of the same age who did not suffer from cognitive disorders (Zhao et al., 2017). Studies on laboratory animals showed that intraventricular administration of LPS for 4 weeks can cause chronic neuroinflammation, nerve cell death of II and III layers of the entorhinal cortex and impairment of the longterm synaptic plasticity of the neurons of the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus, which is one of the characteristic signs of damage to the temporal lobes of cerebral hemispheres inAD (Hauss-Wegrzyniak et al., 2002).

There is also evidence that LPS secreted by bacteria *Bacteroidesfragilis* can activate the pro-inflammatory transcription factor NF&B involved in the pathogenesis of AD in human primary microglial cells (Zhao and Lukiw, 2018). NF&B induces transcription of pro-inflammatory miRNAs, such as miRNA-9, miRNA-34a, miRNA-125b, miRNA-146a, and miRNA-155, activating neuro-inflammatory mediators and inhibiting phagocytosis (Zhao and Lukiw, 2018). For example, micro-RNA-34a has been shown



to inhibit TREM2 expression (the triggering receptor expressed on microglia/myeloid cells-2), thereby disrupting the phagocytic ability of microglia and increasing Aβ42 accumulation (Bhattacharjee et al., 2016). In support of this concept, the intraperitoneal administration of LPS to mice line C57BL/6J led to an increase in Aβ42 level in the brain and induced cognitive deficits (Kahn et al., 2012). In vitro, endotoxins secreted by Escherichia coli strains (E. coli) accelerated AB aggregation and fibril formation (Asti and Gioglio, 2014). Jaeger and colleagues showed that intraperitoneal administration of LPS disrupts AB transport through the blood-brain barrier, increasing its influx and decreasing efflux (Jaeger et al., 2009). It was also shown that intraventricular infusion of LPS in combination with ascorbic acid increased the immunoreactivity of intra-neuronal beta-amyloid (Hauss-Wegrzyniak and Wenk, 2002).

Thus, the composition of gut microbiome changes significantly with aging: the diversity of beneficial bacteria, such as *Lactobacillus and Bifidobacteria*, decreases, and, in a contrast, a number of "unhealthy" pro-inflammatory bacteria, such as *Propionibacteria*, *Fusobacteria*, *Shigella*, and *Clostridia* increases. Furthermore, unhealthy modern lifestyle factors including high fat diet, sedentary behavior, lack of sleep, circadian rhythm disturbance and chronic noise alter the composition of gut microbiome in the same way, thus, exacerbating negative impact of aging. In turn, lack of probiotic strains affects synthesis and secretion of the neurotrophic factors, such as BDNF, NMDA receptor and GABA, while pro-inflammatory gut microbiota taxa are capable of secreting bacterial amyloid and lipopolysaccharides, which are considered to be neurotoxic. Since elderly people experience impaired barrier functions of the intestinal wall and the blood-brain barrier, these endotoxins are able to penetrate from the intestinal cavity into the bloodstream, and further into the brain tissue, and have a direct and/or systemic negative effect on the structure and functions of the CNS and promote the development of neuro-inflammation and neurodegeneration (**Figure 1**).

# ORAL MICROBIOME AND ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

There is new scientific evidence published recently that aside the gut microbiome, oral microflora is also able to influence brain functions (Orr et al., 2020). Numerous studies have shown that periodontal disease is associated with neurodegeneration and cognitive decline (Kamer et al., 2008; Cerajewska et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2019). Chang and coauthors reported that chronic periodontitis of 10 years duration was associated with a 1.707-fold increase in the risk of developing AD (Chen et al., 2017). A nationwide, retrospective, matched-cohort study in Taiwan showed that patients with chronic periodontitis and gingivitis have a higher risk of developing dementia compared to those with healthy gums (Tzeng et al., 2016). Moreover, recent accumulating evidence has demonstrated a causal relationship between oral microbiome and AD (Paganini-Hill et al., 2012; Harding et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2019b; Panza et al., 2019; Olsen and Singhrao, 2020). For example, P. gingivalis, the most common periodontal bacteria causing periodontal disease, was capable of inducing accumulation of amyloidbeta plaques and neurofibrillary tangles following experimental oral infection in mice (Dominy et al., 2019). In turn, serum antibodies for P. gingivalis have been found to be elevated in AD patients (Kamer et al., 2009), and protein-degrading enzyme gingipain produced by P. gingivalis, was found in the brain of Alzheimer's patients (Singhrao and Olsen, 2019). Dominy et al. have demonstrated that oral administration of small-molecule inhibitors of gingipain block gingipain-induced neurodegeneration, decreased P. gingivalis load in the mouse brain and the host Aβ42 response *to P. gingivalis* brain infection (Dominy et al., 2019). It was also found that chronic systemic *P. gingivalis* infection causes Aβ accumulation in inflammatory monocytes/macrophages via the activation of CatB/NF-KB signaling (Kunkle et al., 2019).

In addition, there is data indicating the significant differences in quantity and quality of oral microbiome in AD patients compared to mentally healthy individuals of the same age. For example, Liu et al. have demonstrated lower richness and diversity of salivary microbiome in patients with Alzheimer's disease compared to healthy controls (Liu et al., 2019b). The authors reported a relatively high level of *Moraxella*, *Leptotrichia*, and *Sphaerochaeta* and significantly decreased number of *Rothia* in the saliva of AD patients (Liu et al., 2019b). However, these authors emphasize the limitations of the study due to the absence of many periodontal bacteria in saliva which exist within the subgingival niche or dental plaques (Filoche et al., 2009). Therefore, a comprehensive picture of the full composition of oral microbiome in patients with AD requires further research.

## REFERENCES

- Abraham, D., Feher, J., Scuderi, G. L., Szabo, D., Dobolyi, A., Cservenak, M., et al. (2019). Exercise and probiotics attenuate the development of Alzheimer's disease in transgenic mice: role of microbiome. *Exp. Gerontol.* 115, 122–131. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2018.12.005
- Allen, J., Mailing, L., Niemiro, G., Moore, R., D., Cook, M., White, B. A., et al. (2017). Exercise alters gut microbiota composition and function in lean and obese humans. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 50, 747–757. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000001495
- Alzheimer's Association (2013). 2013 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimer's Dement.* 9, 208–245. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2013.02.003
- Anderson, J. R., Carroll, I., Azcarate-Peril, M. A., Rochette, A. D., Heinberg, L. J., Peat, C., et al. (2017). A preliminary examination of gut microbiota, sleep, and cognitive flexibility in healthy older adults. *Sleep Med.* 38, 104–107. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2017.07.018
- Asti, A., and Gioglio, L. (2014). Can a bacterial endotoxin be a key factor in the kinetics of amyloid fibril formation? J. Alzheimers Dis. 39, 169–179. doi: 10.3233/JAD-131394

## CONCLUSION

Recent studies strongly suggest that gut and oral microbiome is capable of modulating the neurochemical and neuro-metabolic signaling pathways of the brain through the formation of a two-way communication axis involving the endocrine and immune systems, and contribute to the development of neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. In turn, there is a strong correlation that exists between AD and modern lifestyle factors. It is a fact that unhealthy diet, lack of sleep, circadian rhythm disturbance, chronic noise, and sedentary behavior are linked to neurodegeneration. By focusing on the mechanism for interaction between lifestyle factors and AD, we can evaluate the contribution of changing modern society to the increase in prevalence of AD. However, tackling this issue is impossible without understanding its intertwined relationship with other aspects, and gut microbiome is crucial for this interaction. From this point of view, the study of the composition of the intestinal microbiome in patients with AD and healthy aging people is of considerable interest. This could unearth novel associations between intestinal microbiome, lifestyle, and dementia, and help to develop practical recommendations for the prevention and treatment of this severe pathology.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SA conceptualized the structure, wrote the first draft, and edited the final version of the manuscript. BU co-wrote the first draft. A-RM, AKa, YS, AT, FO, and AKu made substantial contribution to the content. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by a Ministry of Education and Science of the Republic of Kazakhstan (program targeted funding BR05236508, research grant funding AP05133266) and Nazarbayev University (PURE ID: 16482715).

- Bartosch, S., Fite, A., Macfarlane, G. T., and McMurdo, M. E. T. (2004). Characterization of bacterial communities in feces from healthy elderly volunteers and hospitalized elderly patients by using real-time pcr and effects of antibiotic treatment on the fecal microbiota. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 70, 3575–3581. doi: 10.1128/AEM.70.6.3575-358 1.2004
- Benedict, C., Vogel, H., Jonas, W., Woting, A., Blaut, M., Schürmann, A., et al. (2016). Gut microbiota and glucometabolic alterations in response to recurrent partial sleep deprivation in normal-weight young individuals. *Mol. Metabol.* 5, 1175–1186. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2016.10.003
- Bhattacharjee, S., Zhao, Y., Dua, P., Rogaev, E. I., and Lukiw, W. J. (2016). microRNA-34a-mediated down-regulation of the microglial-enriched triggering receptor and phagocytosis-sensor trem2 in age-related macular degeneration. *PLoS ONE* 11:e0150211. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 50211
- Bressa, C., Bailén-Andrino, M., Pérez-Santiago, J., González-Soltero, R., Pérez, M., Montalvo-Lominchar, M. G., et al. (2017). Differences in gut microbiota profile between women with active lifestyle and sedentary women. *PLoS ONE* 12:e0171352. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0171352

- Burokas, A., Moloney, R. D., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2015). Microbiota regulation of the Mammalian gut-brain axis. Adv. Appl. Microbiol. 91, 1–62. doi: 10.1016/bs.aambs.2015.02.001
- Carabotti, M., Scirocco, A., Maselli, M. A., and Severi, C. (2015). The gut-brain axis: interactions between enteric microbiota, central and enteric nervous systems. Ann. Gastroenterol. 28, 203–209.
- Carey, I. M., Anderson, H. R., Atkinson, R. W., Beevers, S. D., Cook, D. G., Strachan, D. P., et al. (2018). Are noise and air pollution related to the incidence of dementia? A cohort study in London, England. *BMJ Open* 8:e022404. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-022404
- Cattaneo, A., Cattane, N., Galluzzi, S., Provasi, S., Lopizzo, N., Festari, C., et al. (2016). Association of brain amyloidosis with pro-inflammatory gut bacterial taxa and peripheral inflammation markers in cognitively impaired elderly. *Neurobiol. Aging* 49, 60–68. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016.08.019.
- Cerajewska, T. L., Davies, M., and West, N. X. (2016). Periodontitis: a potential risk factor for Alzheimer's disease. *BDJ Team* 3:16062. doi: 10.1038/bdjteam.2016.62
- Chattu, V. K., Sakhamuri, S. M., Kumar, R., Spence, D. W., BaHammam, A. S., and Pandi-Perumal, S. R. (2018). Insufficient sleep syndrome: is it time to classify it as a major noncommunicable disease? *Sleep. Sci.* 11, 56–64. doi: 10.5935/1984-0063.20180013
- Chen, C.-K., Wu, Y.-T., and Chang, Y.-C. (2017). Association between chronic periodontitis and the risk of Alzheimer's disease: a retrospective, population-based, matched-cohort study. *Alzheimer's Res. Ther.* 9:56. doi: 10.1186/s13195-017-0282-6
- Chen, S. G., Stribinskis, V., Rane, M. J., Demuth, D. R., Gozal, E., Roberts, A. M., et al. (2016a). Exposure to the functional bacterial amyloid protein curli enhances alpha-synuclein aggregation in aged fischer 344 rats and caenorhabditis elegans. *Sci. Rep.* 6:34477. doi: 10.1038/srep34477
- Chen, W.-W., Zhang, X., and Huang, W.-J. (2016b). Role of physical exercise in Alzheimer's disease. *Biomed. Rep.* 4, 403–407. doi: 10.3892/br.2016.607
- Chepesiuk, R. (2009). Missing the dark: health effects of light pollution. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 117, A20–A27. doi: 10.1289/ehp.117-a20
- Cui, B., and Li, K. (2013). Chronic noise exposure and Alzheimer disease: is there an etiological association? *Med. Hypotheses* 81, 623–626. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2013.07.017
- Cui, B., Li, K., Gai, Z., She, X., Zhang, N., Xu, C., et al. (2015). Chronic noise exposure acts cumulatively to exacerbate Alzheimer's disease-like amyloid-β pathology and neuroinflammation in the rat hippocampus. *Sci. Rep.* 5:12943. doi: 10.1038/srep12943
- Cui, B., Su, D., Li, W., She, X., Zhang, M., Wang, R., et al. (2018). Effects of chronic noise exposure on the microbiome-gut-brain axis in senescence-accelerated prone mice: implications for Alzheimer's disease. *J. Neuroinflamm.* 15:190. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1223-4
- Cui, B., Wu, M., and She, X. (2009). Effects of chronic noise exposure on spatial learning and memory of rats in relation to neurotransmitters and nmdar2b alteration in the hippocampus. J. Occup. Health 51, 152–158. doi: 10.1539/joh.L8084
- Cui, B., Wu, M., She, X., and Liu, H. (2012a). Impulse noise exposure in rats causes cognitive deficits and changes in hippocampal neurotransmitter signaling and tau phosphorylation. *Brain Res.* 1427, 35–43. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2011.08.035
- Cui, B., Zhu, L., She, X., Wu, M., Ma, Q., Wang, T., et al. (2012b). Chronic noise exposure causes persistence of tau hyperphosphorylation and formation of NFT tau in the rat hippocampus and prefrontal cortex. *Exp. Neurol.* 238, 122–129. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2012.08.028
- Deaver, J. A., Eum, S. Y., and Toborek, M. (2018). Circadian disruption changes gut microbiome taxa and functional gene composition. *Front. Microbiol.* 9:737 doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.00737
- Dodge, H. H., Buracchio, T. J., Fisher, G. G., Kiyohara, Y., Meguro, K., Tanizaki, Y., et al. (2012). Trends in the prevalence of dementia in Japan. *Int. J. Alzheimer's Dis.* 2012:956354 doi: 10.1155/2012/956354
- Dominy, S. S., Lynch, C., Ermini, F., Benedyk, M., Marczyk, A., Konradi, A., et al. (2019). *Porphyromonas gingivalis* in Alzheimer's disease brains: evidence for disease causation and treatment with small-molecule inhibitors. *Sci. Adv.* 5:eaau3333. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aau3333
- Elahy, M., Jackaman, C., Mamo, J. C. L., Lam, V., Dhaliwal, S. S., Giles, C., et al. (2015). Blood-brain barrier dysfunction developed during normal aging is

associated with inflammation and loss of tight junctions but not with leukocyte recruitment. *Immun. Ageing* 12:2. doi: 10.1186/s12979-015-0029-9

- Evans, M. L., Gichana, E., Zhou, Y., and Chapman, M. R. (2018). Bacterial amyloids. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1779, 267–288. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7816-8\_17
- Farhud, D., and Aryan, Z. (2018). Circadian rhythm, lifestyle and health: a narrative review. Iran. J. Public Health 47, 1068–1076.
- Fenesi, B., Fang, H., Kovacevic, A., Oremus, M., Raina, P., and Heisz, J. (2016). Physical exercise moderates the relationship of Apolipoprotein E (APOE) genotype and dementia risk: a population-based study. *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* 56, 297–303. doi: 10.3233/JAD-160424
- Fernandez, D. M., Clemente, J. C., and Giannarelli, C. (2018). Physical activity, immune system, and the microbiome in cardiovascular *disease*. *Front. Physiol.* 9:763. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00763
- Filoche, S., Wong, L., and Sissons, C. (2009). Oral biofilms: emerging concepts in microbial ecology. J. Dent. Res. 89, 8–18. doi: 10.1177/0022034509351812
- Gai, Z., Su, D., Wang, Y., Li, W., Cui, B., Li, K., et al. (2017). Effects of chronic noise on the corticotropin-releasing factor system in the rat hippocampus: relevance to Alzheimer's disease-like tau hyperphosphorylation. *Environ. Health Prev. Med.* 22, 79–79. doi: 10.1186/s12199-017-0686-8
- Gareau, M. G. (2014). Microbiota-gut-brain axis and cognitive function. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 817, 357–371. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-0897-4\_16
- Gareau, M. G., Wine, E., Rodrigues, D. M., Cho, J. H., Whary, M. T., Philpott, D. J., et al. (2011). Bacterial infection causes stress-induced memory dysfunction in mice. *Gut* 60, 307–317. doi: 10.1136/gut.2009.202515
- Gavini, F., Cayuela, C., Antoine, J.-M., Lecoq, C., Lefebvre, B., and Membré, J.-M. (2001). Differences in the distribution of bifidobacterial and enterobacterial species in human faecal microflora of three different (children, adults, elderly) age groups. *Microb. Ecol. Health Dis.* 13, 40–45. doi: 10.1080/089106001750071690
- Grant, W. (1999). Dietary links to Alzheimer's disease: 1999 update. J. Alzheimers Dis. 1, 197–201. doi: 10.3233/JAD-1999-14-501
- Grant, W. (2013). Trends in diet and Alzheimer's disease during the nutrition transition in japan and developing countries. J. Alzheimers Dis. 38, 611–620. doi: 10.3233/JAD-130719
- Grant, W. (2016). Using multicountry ecological and observational studies to determine dietary risk factors for Alzheimer's disease. J. Am. Coll. Nutr. 35, 476–489. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2016.1161566
- Harach, T., Marungruang, N., Duthilleul, N., Cheatham, V., Mc Coy, K. D., Frisoni, G., et al. (2017). Reduction of abeta amyloid pathology in APPPS1 transgenic mice in the absence of gut microbiota. *Sci. Rep.* 7:41802. doi: 10.1038/srep41802
- Harding, A., Gonder, U., Robinson, S. J., Crean, S., and Singhrao, S. K. (2017). Exploring the association between Alzheimer's disease, oral health, microbial endocrinology and nutrition. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 9:398. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017.00398
- Hauss-Wegrzyniak, B., Lynch, M. A., Vraniak, P. D., and Wenk, G. L. (2002). Chronic brain inflammation results in cell loss in the entorhinal cortex and impaired LTP in perforant path-granule cell synapses. *Exp. Neurol.* 176, 336–341. doi: 10.1006/exnr.2002.7966
- Hauss-Wegrzyniak, B., and Wenk, G. L. (2002). Beta-amyloid deposition in the brains of rats chronically infused with thiorphan or lipopolysaccharide: the role of ascorbic acid in the vehicle. *Neurosci. Lett.* 322, 75–78. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(02)00087-3
- He, F., Ouwehand, A. C., Isolauri, E., Hosoda, M., Benno, Y., and Salminen, S. (2001). Differences in composition and mucosal adhesion of bifidobacteria isolated from healthy adults and healthy seniors. *Curr. Microbiol.* 43, 351–354. doi: 10.1007/s002840010315
- Hopkins, M. J., and Macfarlane, G. T. (2002). Changes in predominant bacterial populations in human faeces with age and with Clostridium difficile infection. *J. Med. Microbiol.* 51, 448–454. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-51-5-448
- Hufnagel, D. A., Tukel, C., and Chapman, M. R. (2013). Disease to dirt: the biology of microbial amyloids. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003740. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003740
- Ising, H., and Kruppa, B. (2004). Health effects caused by noise: evidence in the literature from the past 25 years. Noise Health 6, 5–13.
- Jaeger, L. B., Dohgu, S., Sultana, R., Lynch, J. L., Owen, J. B., Erickson, M. A., et al. (2009). Lipopolysaccharide alters the blood-brain barrier transport of amyloid

beta protein: a mechanism for inflammation in the progression of Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 23, 507–517. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2009.01.017

- Jiang, C., Li, G., Huang, P., Liu, Z., and Zhao, B. (2017). The gut microbiota and Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 58, 1–15. doi: 10.3233/JAD-161141
- Ju, Y.-E. S., Lucey, B. P., and Holtzman, D. M. (2013a). Sleep and Alzheimer disease pathology—a bidirectional relationship. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 10, 115–119. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2013.269
- Ju, Y.-E. S., Ooms, S. J., Sutphen, C., Macauley, S. L., Zangrilli, M. A., Jerome, G., et al. (2017). Slow wave sleep disruption increases cerebrospinal fluid amyloid-β levels. *Brain* 140, 2104–2111. doi: 10.1093/brain/awx148
- Ju, Y. S., McLeland, J. S., Toedebusch, C. D., Xiong, C., Fogan, A. M., (2013b). Sleep quality and preclinical Alzheimer disease. *JAMA Neurol.* 70, 587–593. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.2334
- Junges, V. M., Closs, V. E., Nogueira, G. M., and Gottlieb, M. G. V. (2018). Crosstalk between gut microbiota and the central nervous system: a focus for Alzheimer's disease. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 15, 1179–1190. doi: 10.2174/1567205015666180904155908
- Kahn, M. S., Kranjac, D., Alonzo, C. A., Haase, J. H., Cedillos, R. O., McLinden, K. A., et al. (2012). Prolonged elevation in hippocampal Abeta and cognitive deficits following repeated endotoxin exposure in the mouse. *Behav. Brain Res.* 229, 176–184. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2012.01.010
- Kamer, A. R., Craig, R. G., Dasanayake, A. P., Brys, M., Glodzik-Sobanska, L., and de Leon, M. J. (2008). Inflammation and Alzheimer's disease: possible role of periodontal diseases. *Alzheimer's Dement.* 4, 242–250. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2007.08.004
- Kamer, A. R., Craig, R. G., Pirraglia, E., Dasanayake, A. P., Norman, R. G., Boylan, R. J., et al. (2009). TNF-alpha and antibodies to periodontal bacteria discriminate between Alzheimer's disease patients and normal subjects. J. Neuroimmunol. 216, 92–97. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2009.08.013
- Kang, J.-E., Lim, M. M., Bateman, R. J., Lee, J. J., Smyth, L. P., Cirrito, J. R., et al. (2009). Amyloid-beta dynamics are regulated by orexin and the sleep-wake cycle. *Science* 326, 1005–1007. doi: 10.1126/science.1180962
- Kowalski, K., and Mulak, A. (2019). Brain-gut-microbiota axis in Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurogastroenterol. Motil. 25, 48–60. doi: 10.5056/jnm18087
- Kress, G. J., Liao, F., Dimitry, J., Cedeno, M. R., FitzGerald, G. A., Holtzman, D. M., et al. (2018). Regulation of amyloid-β dynamics and pathology by the circadian clock. J. Exp. Med. 215, 1059–1068. doi: 10.1084/jem.20172347
- Kunkle, B. W., Grenier-Boley, B., Sims, R., Bis, J. C., Damotte, V., Naj, A. C., et al. (2019). Genetic meta-analysis of diagnosed Alzheimer's disease identifies new risk loci and implicates Aβ, tau, immunity and lipid processing. *Nat. Genet.* 51, 414–430. doi: 10.1038/s41588-019-0358-2
- Larroya-García, A., Navas-Carrillo, D., and Orenes-Piñero, E. (2018). Impact of gut microbiota on neurological diseases: diet composition and novel treatments. *Crit. Rev. Food. Sci. Nutr.* 59, 3102–3116. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2018.1484340
- Layton, A., McKay, L., Williams, D., Garrett, V., Gentry, R., and Sayler, G. (2006). Development of bacteroides 16S rRNA gene TaqMan-based real-time PCR assays for estimation of total, human, and bovine fecal pollution in water. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 72, 4214–4224. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01036-05
- Liang, S., Wang, T., Hu, X., Luo, J., Li, W., Wu, X., et al. (2015). Administration of Lactobacillus helveticus NS8 improves behavioral, cognitive, and biochemical aberrations caused by chronic restraint stress. Neuroscience 310, 561–577. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.09.033
- Liu, P., Wu, L., Peng, G., Han, Y., Tang, R., Ge, J., et al. (2019a). Altered microbiomes distinguish Alzheimer's disease from amnestic mild cognitive impairment and health in a Chinese cohort. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 80, 633–643. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2019.05.008
- Liu, X.-X., Jiao, B., Liao, X.-X., Guo, L.-N., Yuan, Z.-H., Wang, X., et al. (2019b). Analysis of Salivary Microbiome in Patients with Alzheimer's Disease. J. Alzheimers Dis. 72, 1–8. doi: 10.3233/JAD-190587
- Lozupone, C. A., Stombaugh, J. I., Gordon, J. I., Jansson, J. K., and Knight, R. (2012). Diversity, stability and resilience of the human gut microbiota. *Nature* 489, 220–230. doi: 10.1038/nature11550
- Luo, J., Wang, T., Liang, S., Hu, X., Li, W., and Jin, F. (2014). Ingestion of Lactobacillus strain reduces anxiety and improves cognitive function in the hyperammonemia rat. *Sci. China Life Sci.* 57, 327–335. doi: 10.1007/s11427-014-4615-4
- Manikandan, S., Padma, M. K., Srikumar, R., Jeya Parthasarathy, N., Muthuvel, A., and Devi, R. S. (2006). Effects of chronic noise stress on spatial memory

of rats in relation to neuronal dendritic alteration and free radical-imbalance in hippocampus and medial prefrontal cortex. *Neurosci. Lett.* 399, 17–22. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2006.01.037

- Mariat, D., Firmesse, O., Levenez, F., Guimaraes, V., Sokol, H., Dore, J., et al. (2009). The firmicutes/bacteroidetes ratio of the human microbiota changes with age. *BMC Microbiol.* 9:123. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-9-123
- Michalski, B., Corrada, M. M., Kawas, C. H., and Fahnestock, M. (2015). Brainderived neurotrophic factor and TrkB expression in the "oldest-old," the 90+ study: correlation with cognitive status and levels of soluble amyloid-beta. *Neurobiol. Aging* 36, 3130–3139. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2015.08.022
- Musiek, E. S. (2015). Circadian clock disruption in neurodegenerative diseases: cause and effect? Front. Pharmacol. 6:29. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2015.00029
- Musiek, E. S., and Holtzman, D. M. (2016). Mechanisms linking circadian clocks, sleep, and neurodegeneration. *Science* 354, 1004–1008. doi: 10.1126/science.aah4968
- Nagpal, R., Mainali, R., Ahmadi, S., Wang, S., Singh, R., Kavanagh, K., et al. (2018). Gut microbiome and aging: physiological and mechanistic insights. *Nutr. Healthy Aging* 4, 267–285. doi: 10.3233/NHA-170030
- Nam, K. N., Mounier, A., Wolfe, C. M., Fitz, N. F., Carter, A. Y., Castranio, E. L., et al. (2017). Effect of high fat diet on phenotype, brain transcriptome and lipidome in Alzheimer's model mice. *Sci. Rep.* 7:4307. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-04412-2
- Neufeld, K. M., Kang, N., Bienenstock, J., and Foster, J. A. (2011). Reduced anxietylike behavior and central neurochemical change in germ-free mice. *Neurogastr. Motil.* 23, 255–264.e119. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2010.01620.x
- Nishimori, J. H., Newman, T. N., Oppong, G. O., Rapsinski, G. J., Yen, J.-H., Biesecker, S. G., et al. (2012). Microbial amyloids induce interleukin 17A (IL-17A) and IL-22 responses via toll-like receptor 2 activation in the intestinal mucosa. *Infect. Immun.* 80, 4398–4408. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00911-12
- Noble, E. E., Hsu, T. M., and Kanoski, S. E. (2017). Gut to brain dysbiosis: mechanisms linking western diet consumption, the microbiome, and cognitive impairment. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 11:9. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2017.00009
- Ohsawa, K., Uchida, N., Ohki, K., Nakamura, Y., and Yokogoshi, H. (2015). Lactobacillus helveticus-fermented milk improves learning and memory in mice. Nutr. Neurosci. 18, 232–240. doi: 10.1179/1476830514Y.0000000122
- Olsen, I., and Singhrao, S. K. (2020). Is there a link between genetic defects in the complement cascade and Porphyromonas gingivalis in Alzheimer's disease? J. Oral Microbiol. 12:1676486. doi: 10.1080/20002297.2019.16 76486
- Ooms, S., Overeem, S., Besse, K., Rikkert, M., Verbeek, M., and Claassen, J. R. (2014). Effect of 1 night of total sleep deprivation on cerebrospinal fluid βamyloid 42 in healthy middle-aged men: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Neurol. 71, 971–977. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.1173
- Orr, M. E., Reveles, K. R., Yeh, C. K., Young, E. H., and Han, X. L. (2020). Can oral health and oral-derived biospecimens predict progression of dementia? *Oral Dis.* 26, 249–258. doi: 10.1111/odi.13201.
- Owen, N., Sparling, P. B., Healy, G. N., Dunstan, D. W., and Matthews, C. E. (2010). Sedentary behavior: emerging evidence for a new health risk. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 85, 1138–1141. doi: 10.4065/mcp.2010.0444
- Paganini-Hill, A., White, S. C., and Atchison, K. A. (2012). Dentition, dental health habits, and dementia: the leisure world cohort study. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 60, 1556–1563. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2012.04064.x
- Panegyres, P. K., and Chen, H. Y. (2013). Differences between early and late onset Alzheimer's disease. Am. J. Neurodegener. Dis. 2, 300–306.
- Panegyres, P. K., and Chen, H. Y. (2014). Early-onset Alzheimer's disease: a global cross-sectional analysis. *Eur. J. Neurol.* doi: 10.1111/ene.12453
- Panza, F., Lozupone, M., Solfrizzi, V., Watling, M., and Imbimbo, B. (2019). Time to test antibacterial therapy in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain* 142, 2905–2929. doi: 10.1093/brain/awz244
- Parkar, S. G., Kalsbeek, A., and Cheeseman, J. F. (2019). Potential role for the gut microbiota in modulating host circadian rhythms and metabolic health. *Microorganisms* 7:41. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms7020041
- Passchier-Vermeer, W., and Passchier, W. F. (2000). Noise exposure and public health. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 108(Suppl. 1), 123–131. doi: 10.1289/ehp.00108s1123
- Perriard, G., Mathias, A., Enz, L., Canales, M., Schluep, M., Gentner, M., et al. (2015). Interleukin-22 is increased in multiple sclerosis patients and targets astrocytes. J. Neuroinflamm. 12:119. doi: 10.1186/s12974-015-0335-3

- Petra, A. I., Panagiotidou, S., Hatziagelaki, E., Stewart, J. M., Conti, P., and Theoharides, T. C. (2015). Gut-microbiota-brain axis and its effect on neuropsychiatric disorders with suspected immune dysregulation. *Clin. Ther.* 37, 984–995. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2015.04.002
- Phan, T., and Malkani, R. (2019). Sleep and circadian rhythm disruption and stress intersect in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Stress* 10:100133. doi: 10.1016/j.ynstr.2018.10.001
- Poroyko, V. A., Carreras, A., Khalyfa, A., Khalyfa, A. A., Leone, V., Peris, E., et al. (2016). Chronic sleep disruption alters gut microbiota, induces systemic and adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance in mice. *Sci. Rep.* 6:35405. doi: 10.1038/srep35405
- Prince, M., Albanece, E., Guerchet, M. P., and Prina, M. (2014). World Alzheimer Report 2014. Dementia and Risk Reduction. London: Alzheimer's Disease International. Available online at: http://www.alz.co.uk/research/ WorldAlzheimerReport2014.pdf (accessed).
- Prince, M., Ali, G.-C., Guerchet, M., Prina, M., Albanese, E., and Wu, Y.-T. (2016). Recent global trends in the prevalence and incidence of dementia, and survival with dementia. *Alzheimers Res Ther.* 8:23. doi: 10.1186/s13195-016-0188-8
- Rapsinski, G. J., Wynosky-Dolfi, M. A., Oppong, G. O., Tursi, S. A., Wilson, R. P., Brodsky, I. E., et al. (2015). Toll-like receptor 2 and NLRP3 cooperate to recognize a functional bacterial amyloid, curli. *Infect. Immun.* 83, 693–701. doi: 10.1128/IAI.02370-14
- Sah, S. K., Lee, C., Jang, J.-H., and Park, G. H. (2017). Effect of high-fat diet on cognitive impairment in triple-transgenic mice model of Alzheimer's disease. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 493, 731–736. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.08.122
- Salazar, N., Valdes-Varela, L., Gonzalez, S., Gueimonde, M., and de Los Reyes-Gavilan, C. G. (2017). Nutrition and the gut microbiome in the elderly. *Gut Microbes* 8, 82–97. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2016.1256525
- Sanguinetti, E., Collado, M. C., Marrachelli, V. G., Monleon, D., Selma-Royo, M., Pardo-Tendero, M. M., et al. (2018). Microbiome-metabolome signatures in mice genetically prone to develop dementia, fed a normal or fatty diet. *Sci. Rep.* 8:4907. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-23261-1
- Satokari, R., Rantanen, R., Pitka, L., and Salminen, S. (2010). "Probiotics and prebiotics in the elderly individuals," in *Handbook of Prebiotics and Probiotics Incredients – Health Benefits and Food Applications*, eds S. Cho and E. Finocchiaro (Boca Raton: Taylor and Francis CRC Press), 341–353.
- Savignac, H. M., Tramullas, M., Kiely, B., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2015). Bifidobacteria modulate cognitive processes in an anxious mouse strain. *Behav. Brain Res.* 287, 59–72. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2015.02.044
- Schwartz, K., and Boles, B. R. (2013). Microbial amyloids-functions and interactions within the host. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 16, 93–99. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2012.12.001
- Seidman, M. D., and Standring, R. T. (2010). Noise and quality of life. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 7, 3730–3738. doi: 10.3390/ijerph7103730
- Shokri-Kojori, E., Wang, G.-J., Wiers, C. E., Demiral, S. B., Guo, M., Kim, S. W., et al. (2018). β-Amyloid accumulation in the human brain after one night of sleep deprivation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, 4483–4488. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1721694115
- Singhrao, S. K., and Olsen, I. (2019). Assessing the role of porphyromonas gingivalis in periodontitis to determine a causative relationship with Alzheimer's disease. J. Oral Microbiol. 11:1563405. doi: 10.1080/20002297.2018.1563405
- Strandwitz, P. (2018). Neurotransmitter modulation by the gut microbiota. *Brain Res.* 1693, 128–133. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2018.03.015
- Studzinski, C. M., Li, F., Bruce-Keller, A. J., Fernandez-Kim, S. O., Zhang, L., Weidner, A. M., et al. (2009). Effects of short-term Western diet on cerebral oxidative stress and diabetes related factors in APP × PS1 knock-in mice. J. Neurochem. 108, 860–866. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.0 5798.x
- Sun, J., Zhang, S., Zhang, X., Zhang, X., Dong, H., and Qian, Y. (2015). IL-17A is implicated in lipopolysaccharide-induced neuroinflammation and cognitive impairment in aged rats via microglial activation. *J. Neuroinflamm.* 12:165. doi: 10.1186/s12974-015-0394-5
- Tasnim, N., Abulizi, N., Pither, J., Hart, M., and Gibson, D. L. (2017). Linking the gut microbial ecosystem with the environment: does gut health depend on where we live? *Front. Microbiol.* 8:1935. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017. 01935

- The Human Microbiome Project, C., Huttenhower, C., Gevers, D., Knight, R., Abubucker, S., Badger, J. H., et al. (2012). Structure, function and diversity of the healthy human microbiome. *Nature* 486:207. doi: 10.1038/nature 11234
- Tran, L., and Greenwood-Van Meerveld, B. (2013). Age-associated remodeling of the intestinal epithelial barrier. J. Gerontol. Series A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 68, 1045–1056. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glt106
- Tzeng, N. S., Chung, C. H., Yeh, C. B., Huang, R. Y., Yuh, D. Y., Huang, S. Y., et al. (2016). Are chronic periodontitis and gingivitis associated with dementia? A nationwide, retrospective, matched-cohort study in Taiwan. *Neuroepidemiology* 47, 82–93. doi: 10.1159/000449166
- van Praag, H. (2018). Lifestyle factors and Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Plast.* 4, 1–2. doi: 10.3233/BPL-120418
- van Tongeren, S. P., Slaets, J. P., Harmsen, H. J., and Welling, G. W. (2005). Fecal microbiota composition and frailty. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 71, 6438–6442. doi: 10.1128/AEM.71.10.6438-6442.2005
- Vogt, N. M., Kerby, R. L., Dill-McFarland, K. A., Harding, S. J., Merluzzi, A. P., Johnson, S. C., et al. (2017). Gut microbiome alterations in Alzheimer's disease. *Sci. Rep.* 7:13537. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-13601-y
- Wainaina, M. N., Chen, Z., and Zhong, C. (2014). Environmental factors in the development and progression of late-onset Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci. Bull.* 30, 253–270. doi: 10.1007/s12264-013-1425-9
- Wang, R. P.-H., Ho, Y.-S., Leung, W. K., Goto, T., and Chang, R. C.-C. (2019). Systemic inflammation linking chronic periodontitis to cognitive decline. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 81, 63–73. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2019. 07.002
- Wang, T., Hu, X., Liang, S., Li, W., Wu, X., Wang, L., et al. (2015). Lactobacillus fermentum NS9 restores the antibiotic induced physiological and psychological abnormalities in rats. *Benef. Microbes* 6, 707–717. doi: 10.3920/BM2014.0177
- Weisburger, J. H. (1997). Dietary fat and risk of chronic disease: insights from experimental studies mechanistic. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 97(7 Suppl.), S16–S23. doi: 10.1016/S0002-8223(97)00725-6
- Westfall, S., Lomis, N., Kahouli, I., Yuan Dia, S., Singh, S., and Prakash, S. (2017). Microbiome, probiotics and neurodegenerative diseases: deciphering the gut brain axis. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 74, 3769–3787 doi: 10.1007/s00018-017-2550-9
- Wheeler, M. J., Dempsey, P. C., Grace, M. S., Ellis, K. A., Gardiner, P. A., Green, D. J., et al. (2017). Sedentary behavior as a risk factor for cognitive decline? A focus on the influence of glycemic control in brain health. Alzheimers Dement 3, 291–300. doi: 10.1016/j.trci.2017.04.001
- Woodmansey, E. J., McMurdo, M. E., Macfarlane, G. T., and Macfarlane, S. (2004). Comparison of compositions and metabolic activities of fecal microbiotas in young adults and in antibiotic-treated and nonantibiotic-treated elderly subjects. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 70, 6113–6122. doi: 10.1128/AEM.70.10.6113-6122.2004
- Wu, Y.-H., Feenstra, M. G. P., Zhou, J.-N., Liu, R.-Y., Toranõ, J. S., Van Kan, H. J. M., et al. (2003). Molecular changes underlying reduced pineal melatonin levels in Alzheimer disease: alterations in preclinical and clinical stages. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 88, 5898–5906. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-030833
- Xie, L., Kang, H., Xu, Q., Chen, M. J., Liao, Y., Thiyagarajan, M., et al. (2013). Sleep drives metabolite clearance from the adult brain. *Science* 342, 373–377. doi: 10.1126/science.1241224
- Zhan, X., Stamova, B., and Sharp, F. R. (2018). Lipopolysaccharide associates with amyloid plaques, neurons and oligodendrocytes in Alzheimer's disease brain: a review. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 10:42. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2018. 00042
- Zhang, R., Miller, R. G., Gascon, R., Champion, S., Katz, J., Lancero, M., et al. (2009). Circulating endotoxin and systemic immune activation in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (sALS). *J. Neuroimmunol.* 206, 121–124. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2008.09.017
- Zhang, S. L., Bai, L., Goel, N., Bailey, A., Jang, C. J., Bushman, F. D., et al. (2017). Human and rat gut microbiome composition is maintained following sleep restriction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, E1564–E1571. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1620673114
- Zhao, Y., Jaber, V., and Lukiw, W. J. (2017). Secretory products of the human gi tract microbiome and their potential impact on Alzheimer's disease (ad): detection of lipopolysaccharide (lps) in ad hippocampus. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 7:318. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00318

- Zhao, Y., and Lukiw, W. J. (2018). Bacteroidetes neurotoxins and inflammatory neurodegeneration. *Mol. Neurobiol.* doi: 10.1007/s12035-018-1015-y
- Zhu, D., Ma, Y., Ding, S., Jiang, H., and Fang, J. (2018). Effects of melatonin on intestinal microbiota and oxidative stress in colitis mice. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2018:2607679. doi: 10.1155/2018/2607679
- Zhu, X., Han, Y., Du, J., Liu, R., Jin, K., and Yi, W. (2017). Microbiotagut-brain axis and the central nervous system. *Oncotarget* 8, 53829–53838. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17754
- Zhuang, Z.-Q., Shen, L.-L., Li, W.-W., Fu, X., Zeng, F., Gui, L., et al. (2018). Gut microbiome is altered in patients with Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers Dis. 63, 1337–1346. doi: 10.3233/JAD-180176.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Askarova, Umbayev, Masoud, Kaiyrlykyzy, Safarova, Tsoy, Olzhayev and Kushugulova. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Altered Caecal Neuroimmune Interactions in the Neuroligin-3<sup>R451C</sup> Mouse Model of Autism

Samiha Sayed Sharna<sup>1</sup>, Gayathri K. Balasuriya<sup>1</sup>, Suzanne Hosie<sup>1</sup>, Jess Nithianantharajah<sup>2</sup>, Ashley E. Franks<sup>3</sup> and Elisa L. Hill-Yardin<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Health and Biomedical Sciences, RMIT University, Bundoora, VIC, Australia, <sup>2</sup>Florey Institute of Neurosciences and Mental Health, Parkville, VIC, Australia, <sup>3</sup>School of Life Sciences, La Trobe University, Bundoora, VIC, Australia

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Tommaso Pizzorusso, University of Florence, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Jaewon Ko, Daegu Gyeongbuk Institute of Science and Technology (DGIST), South Korea Paola Tognini, University of Pisa, Italy

> \*Correspondence: Elisa L. Hill-Yardin elisa.hill@rmit.edu.au

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cellular Neuropathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience

> Received: 14 December 2019 Accepted: 20 March 2020 Published: 09 April 2020

#### Citation:

Shama SS, Balasuriya GK, Hosie S, Nithianantharajah J, Franks AE and Hill-Yardin EL (2020) Altered Caecal Neuroimmune Interactions in the Neuroligin-3<sup>R451C</sup> Mouse Model of Autism. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 14:85. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2020.00085 The intrinsic nervous system of the gut interacts with the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) via bidirectional neuroimmune interactions. The caecum is an understudied region of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract that houses a large supply of microbes and is involved in generating immune responses. The caecal patch is a lymphoid aggregate located within the caecum that regulates microbial content and immune responses. People with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD; autism) experience serious GI dysfunction, including inflammatory disorders, more frequently than the general population. Autism is a highly prevalent neurodevelopmental disorder defined by the presence of repetitive behavior or restricted interests, language impairment, and social deficits. Mutations in genes encoding synaptic adhesion proteins such as the R451C missense mutation in neuroligin-3 (NL3) are associated with autism and impair synaptic transmission. We previously reported that NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice, a well-established model of autism, have altered enteric neurons and GI dysfunction; however, whether the autism-associated R451C mutation alters the caecal enteric nervous system and immune function is unknown. We assessed for gross anatomical changes in the caecum and quantified the proportions of caecal submucosal and myenteric neurons in wild-type and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice using immunofluorescence. In the caecal patch, we assessed total cellular density as well as the density and morphology of Iba-1 labeled macrophages to identify whether the R451C mutation affects neuro-immune interactions. NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice have significantly reduced caecal weight compared to wild-type mice, irrespective of background strain. Caecal weight is also reduced in mice lacking Neuroligin-3. NL3<sup>R451C</sup> caecal ganglia contain more neurons overall and increased numbers of Nitric Oxide (NO) producing neurons (labeled by Nitric Oxide Synthase; NOS) per ganglion in both the submucosal and myenteric plexus. Overall caecal patch cell density was unchanged however NL3R451C mice have an increased density of Iba-1 labeled enteric macrophages. Macrophages in NL3<sup>R451C</sup> were smaller and more spherical in morphology. Here, we identify changes in both the nervous system and immune system caused by an autism-associated mutation in NIgn3 encoding the postsynaptic cell adhesion protein, Neuroligin-3. These findings provide further insights into the potential modulation of neural and immune pathways.

Keywords: caecum, mice, autism, neuroimmune, gut-associated lymphoid tissue

## INTRODUCTION

Emerging evidence suggests that altered communication between the nervous system and inflammatory pathways is associated with multiple diseases including autism. Both altered inflammatory activity (Wei et al., 2011) and a maternal history of autoimmune diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis and celiac disease, is associated with an increased risk of autism (Atladóttir et al., 2010). The gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) plays a crucial role in mucosal immunity and microbial populations. Caecal patches are lymphoid aggregates located at the blind end of the caecum and contain various immune cells such as macrophages and dendritic cells.

The precise role of the caecum is unclear, but it has been suggested that the appendix in humans houses a "reserve population" of commensal microbes (Randal Bollinger et al., 2007). The caecal patch contributes to gut homeostasis and is a major site for the generation of IgA-secreting cells that subsequently migrate to the large intestine (Masahata et al., 2014). Secretory IgA plays an important role in regulating the activities and compositions of commensal bacteria populations in animal models (Fagarasan et al., 2002; Suzuki et al., 2004; Peterson et al., 2007; Strugnell and Wijburg, 2010). However, whether caecal innervation and immune function are altered in preclinical models of neural disorders is unknown.

Autism is a neurodevelopmental disorder affecting 1 in 59 children (Loomes et al., 2017; Baio et al., 2018). In many autism patients, core features (impairments in social interaction, communication, and repetitive and/or restrictive behaviors) are present along with immunological dysfunction (Marchezan et al., 2018) and gastrointestinal (GI) disorders (Valicenti-McDermott et al., 2006; Buie et al., 2010; Coury et al., 2012). Individuals with autism are four times more likely to experience frequent GI symptoms including alternating diarrhea and constipation, and abdominal pain compared to children with typical development (McElhanon et al., 2014). Interestingly, Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is present at significantly higher rates in people with autism than the general public (Kohane et al., 2012). Autism-associated GI dysfunction includes increased GI permeability along with altered motility (Horvath and Perman, 2002; Parracho et al., 2005; Kohane et al., 2012; Neuhaus et al., 2018). Mice expressing the Neuroligin-3 R451C mutation exhibit autism-relevant behaviors including impaired social interaction (Tabuchi et al., 2007; Etherton et al., 2011), a heightened aggression phenotype (Burrows et al., 2015; Hosie et al., 2019), impaired communication (Chadman et al., 2008) and increased repetitive behaviors (Rothwell et al., 2014). Furthermore, the robust aggression phenotype in these mice is rescued by a clinically relevant antipsychotic, risperidone (Burrows et al., 2015), highlighting that this model is useful for preclinical studies. These mice also show altered GI motility, in line with the notion that alterations in the nervous system may also affect the ENS to result in GI dysfunction (Gershon and Ratcliffe, 2004; Hosie et al., 2019).

Most research to date in animal models of autism has focused on replicating the core traits of ASD, in addition to using invasive techniques to highlight changes in neural network activity in the brain (Tabuchi et al., 2007; Halladay et al., 2009; Lonetti et al., 2010; Etherton et al., 2011; Patterson, 2011; Schmeisser et al., 2012; Varghese et al., 2017; Hosie et al., 2018). Using these approaches, it is well established that many gene mutations identified in autism patients affect neuronal function. Here we assessed whether the autism-associated R451C mutation in Neuroligin-3 affects gross caecal morphology, enteric neuronal populations or immune cells within the caecal patch.

## METHODOLOGY

## Animals

Adult male NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice (8-14 weeks old) and wild type (WT) littermate controls from two different colonies were used in this study. Neuroligin 3 knockout mice (NL $3^{-/-}$ ; 12 weeks old) were also examined. NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mutant mice (B6;129-Nlgn3<sup>tm1Sud</sup>/J) were originally obtained from Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbour, MI, USA) and maintained on a mixed background (mbNL3<sup>R451C</sup>) strain at the Biomedical Sciences Animal Facility, The University of Melbourne (Hosie et al., 2019). These mice were then backcrossed onto a C57BL/6 background for more than 10 generations (i.e., B6NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice) and maintained at the animal facility at RMIT University, Bundoora, Australia. In contrast,  $NL3^{-/-}$  mice (Radyushkin et al., 2009; Leembruggen et al., 2019) were bred on a C57BL/6NCrl background at the Florey Institute of Neurosciences and Mental Health. All NL3R451C mice were culled by cervical dislocation following RMIT University and The University of Melbourne animal ethics guidelines (AEC# 1727, AEC# 1513519). NL3<sup>-/-</sup> mice were cervically dislocated and fresh tissue was collected for other applications (AEC# 14095). All data from mutant mice were compared with matched WT littermate controls from the respective cohorts to remove environmental and additional genetic factors (i.e., data from mbNL3<sup>R451C</sup> animals were compared with mbWT mice; B6NL3<sup>R451C</sup> vs. B6WT mice and C57BL/6NCrl NL3<sup>-/-</sup> mice vs. C57BL/6NCrl WT littermates).

All mice from each cohort were housed in mixed genotype groups of up to six per cage to minimize the impact of environmental factors. This study was carried out following the Basel Declaration and all experiments conducted at RMIT University were approved by the RMIT University Animal Ethics Committee and experiments conducted at The University of Melbourne were approved by The University of Melbourne Animal Ethics Committee.

## **Caecal Collection**

The caecum was collected and weighed from B6NL3<sup>R451C</sup>, mbNL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice and NL3<sup>-/-</sup>mice. The caecum from each mouse was opened and pinned with the mucosa facing upwards and submerged in 0.1 M PBS on a petri dish lined with sylgard (Sylgard Silicone Elastomer, Krayden Inc., Denver, CO, USA), enabling visualization of the lymphoid patch (i.e., the caecal patch). Images of caecal tissue with a measuring scale were captured and caecal area measured using ImageJ software (ImageJ 1.52a, NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA).

## Wholemount Tissue Preparation

Caecal myenteric and submucosal plexus neurons were revealed by microdissection using fine forceps and dissecting spring scissors. The submucosal plexus was revealed by removing the mucosal layer and carefully exposing neurons adjacent to the circular muscle within the caecal tissue. To obtain the myenteric plexus, the circular muscle was then peeled away from the remaining caecal tissue. A small area of tissue (approximately  $0.5 \text{ cm}^2$ ) containing myenteric and submucosal plexuses was transferred into a small Petri dish, submerged in 0.1 M PBS for labeling by immunofluorescence.

## Wholemount Immunofluorescence for Neuronal Populations

Immunofluorescence staining was performed on wholemount caecal tissue samples to assess for potential differences in neuronal cell numbers between NL3R451C and WT mice. Wholemount samples of myenteric and submucosal plexus were incubated at room temperature (RT) for 30 min in 0.01% Triton (to permeabilize the tissue for improved access by primary and secondary antibodies) with 10% CAS-block (Invitrogen Australia, Mt-Waverley, Australia; to reduce non-specific binding of antibodies). Then, tissues were incubated with 30 µl primary antisera; human anti-Hu (1:5,000, a pan-neuronal marker; a gift from Dr. V. Lennon, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA) and sheep anti-neuronal Nitric Oxide Synthase (NOS; 1:400; Abcam, Eugene, OR, USA) and kept at 4°C overnight in a sealed container. After incubation, caecal tissues were washed with 0.1 M PBS (three washes of 10 min duration). Secondary antisera (30 µl) were applied to the samples and left for 2.5 h at RT on a shaker incubator (Digital Shaking Incubator OM11, Ratek, Australia). Caecal tissues were mounted using fluorescence mounting medium (DAKO Australia Private Limited; Botany, NSW, Australia).

## **Imaging of Caecal Neuronal Populations**

Images of caecal tissue containing the submucosal, myenteric plexus were analyzed using ImageJ (ImageJ 1.52a, NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA) and Imaris software (Imaris 64X 9.1.0; Bitplane AG, UK). 10 myenteric ganglia and 10 submucosal ganglia were selected from each wholemount caecal tissue sample  $(n = 5 \text{ NL3}^{\text{R451C}} \text{ and } n = 5 \text{ WT samples})$ . From each ganglion, the number of Hu and NOS stained cells were counted.

## **Caecal Patch Tissue Collection**

Caecal tissues including caecal patch samples were fixed in 4% formaldehyde solution at 4°C overnight. The next day, tissue samples were washed three times (10 min per wash) with filtered 0.1 M PBS. The caecal patch was excised from the caecal tissue using spring scissors. Caecal patch samples were subsequently placed into a 30% sucrose solution in distilled water overnight at 4°C for cryoprotection. Caecal patches were placed in a cryomold (Tissue-Tek Cryomold, Sakura, Finetek, USA) filled with optimal cutting temperature compound (Tissue-Tek, OCT compound, Sakura, Finetek, USA). Cryomolds containing caecal patch samples were then snap frozen using liquid nitrogen and tissue blocks stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C. Frozen caecal

patch samples were sectioned at 6-micron thickness using a cryostat (Leica CM1950 Clinical Cryostat, Leica Biosystems Nussloch GmbH, Germany) and collected on positively charged slides (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA Menzel-Glaser, Superfrost<sup>R</sup> plus, New Hampshire, USA and stained for Haematoxylin & Eosin (H&E) to assess for overall cell density.

## **Caecal Patch Image Analysis**

Images were obtained using an Olympus slide scanner microscope (VS120-S5; Olympus Australia Private Limited; Melbourne, VIC, Australia) and the cell density within the caecal patch was analyzed using ImageJ software (ImageJ v1.52a, NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA). The entire area of each caecal patch was selected to calculate the area of the caecal patch and cell numbers within that area. The total number of cells was then divided by the area of interest to calculate the number of cells per 100  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>.

## **Caecal Patch Immunofluorescence**

Immunofluorescence was also performed on cross-sections of caecal patch tissue samples to assess for altered density and morphology of macrophages. To observe a subpopulation of immune cells within the caecal patch, immunofluorescence for the immune cell marker Iba-1 (1:3,000, Abcam, USA) was conducted. The sections were incubated for 30 min with 0.1% triton and 10% CAS-block at RT. Thirty microliters of primary antibody was subsequently applied to each section and kept at 4°C overnight in a moisture sealed container. After incubation, caecal patch sections were washed with 0.1 M PBS (3  $\times$  10 min washes). Secondary antiserum was applied to the samples and left for 2.5 h at RT on a shaker incubator. Caecal sections were mounted using fluorescence mounting medium (DAKO Australia Private Limited; Botany, Australia) containing DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole) and stored at 4°C overnight. Tissue samples were imaged using a confocal electron microscope (Nikon Confocal Microscope: A1; Version 4.10). A Z-series of images of caecal patch sections (30 µm thickness) were captured and saved in the ND2 file format. Imaris software (Imaris 64X 9.1.0; Bitplane AG, UK) was used for 3D cellular reconstruction of Iba-1 labeled macrophages.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Potential statistical differences between groups were identified using Student's *t*-tests.

## RESULTS

Mouse body weight, caecal weight, and caecal tissue area were assessed to determine if anatomical changes occur in the presence of the autism-associated R451C mutation in mice. To address whether the R451C mutation and the *Nlgn3* gene itself plays a broader role in caecal weight, ceacae from NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice bred on two different background strains were weighed, and caecal weights from mice lacking Nlgn3 compared to WT littermates were also compared.

The average body weight of WT (n = 39) and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> (n = 34) mice was similar (26.38  $\pm$  0.4 g and 26.46  $\pm$  0.4 g, WT



**FIGURE 1** | Bodyweight, caecal weight, and caecal tissue area. (A) Pure C57BL/6 background wild type (WT) and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice (red) show similar body weights. WT (n = 39) and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> (n = 34) mice; p = 0.88. (B) Caecal weight is reduced in NL3<sup>R451C</sup> C57BL/6 background mice; WT (n = 38) and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> (n = 36) mice. (C) Similar caecal tissue area for WT (n = 15) and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> (n = 16) mice. (D) In mixed background mice (orange), no differences in body weight were found. WT (n = 16) and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> (n = 21) mice; p = 0.30. (E) Caecal weight is also reduced in NL3<sup>R451C</sup> (orange) mixed background mice. WT (n = 14) and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> (n = 21) mice). (F) Body weight is unchanged in a large cohort of WT (n = 70) and NL3<sup>-/-</sup> (n = 71) mice; p = 0.95. (G) Reduced caecal weight in NL3<sup>-/-</sup> (green) mice. WT (n = 8) mice. Student's *t*-test \*p < 0.05; \*\*\*p < 0.001. Each symbol indicates an individual mouse. Mixed background mice were bred on a mixed Sv129/C57BL/6 genetic background; KO: NL3<sup>-/-</sup> mice (bred on C57BL/6NCrl mice).

and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> respectively; p = 0.88; Figure 1A). To determine if the reduction in NL3<sup>R451C</sup> caecal weight was due to a reduction in the size of the caecum itself, total caecal tissue area was measured. No difference between the caecal area of WT (n = 15) and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> (n = 16) mice was observed (7.99  $\pm$  0.36 and 7.75  $\pm$  0.5 cm<sup>2</sup>, respectively; *p* = 0.51; **Figure 1B**). To determine if the R451C mutation affects caecal structure in mice, the fresh caecal weight from 38 WT and 36 NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice was recorded. NL3<sup>R451C</sup> caecae were significantly lighter than WT  $(0.65 \pm 0.02 \text{ g and } 0.54 \pm 0.01 \text{ g}, \text{WT and } \text{NL3}^{\text{R451C}}$  respectively; p = 0.0001; Figure 1C). A role for the *Nlgn3* gene in influencing caecal weight is supported by similar observations in NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice bred on a mixed background strain and in Nlgn3<sup>-/-</sup>  $(NL3^{-/-})$  mice in which the Nlgn3 gene is deleted. In mice expressing the R451C mutation bred on a mixed background (mb) strain, the average body weight was similar (28.11  $\pm$  1.01 g and 27.1  $\pm$  0.9 g, WT and mbNL3<sup>R451C</sup> n = 16 and n = 21, respectively; *p* = 0.30; Figure 1D). Caecal weight was also reduced in mb strain mutant littermates (0.69  $\pm$  0.11 g, 0.49  $\pm$  0.28 g; WT (n = 14) and mbNL3<sup>R451C</sup> (n = 21), respectively; p < 0.0001; Figure 1E). Bodyweight is unchanged in a large cohort of WT (n = 70) and NL3<sup>-/-</sup> (n = 71) mice aged 10–12 weeks; p = 0.95; Figure 1F. Similar to data from both the C57BL/6 and mb strains of NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice, KO (NL3<sup>-/-</sup>) mice also revealed a reduction in caecal weight ( $1.16 \pm 0.5$  g and  $0.61 \pm 0.53$  g; WT and NL3<sup>-/-</sup>, respectively, n = 8 in each group; p = 0.02; Figure 1G). These findings suggest a role for the Nlgn3 gene in regulating caecal weight in mice.

To investigate whether the NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mutation alters neural populations in the caecal submucosal and myenteric plexus. immunofluorescence for the pan-neuronal marker Hu and NOS (which labels approximately 20-40% of myenteric neurons capable of synthesizing NO (Sang and Young, 1996), the major inhibitory enteric neurotransmitter of the ENS) was conducted. Wholemount preparations of WT (Figures 2A-C) and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> (Figures 2D-F) submucosal plexus were labeled with Hu and NOS to quantify neuronal subpopulations. The total number of neurons (i.e., labeled by Hu) per submucosal ganglion was increased in NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice (5  $\pm$  0.2 and 6  $\pm$  0.2 neurons, WT and NL3<sup>R451C</sup>, respectively, n = 5 in each group; p = 0.04; Figure 2G). Similarly, NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice showed increased numbers of NOS immunoreactive neurons per ganglion (2  $\pm$  0.2 and  $3 \pm 0.2$  cells; WT and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> respectively, n = 5 in each group; p = 0.003; Figure 2H). In submucosal neurons, there was also an increased percentage of NOS neurons per ganglion in WT and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice (43  $\pm$  3% and 55  $\pm$  3%; WT and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> respectively; p = 0.02; Figure 2I).

Wholemount preparations of WT (**Figures 3A–C**) and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> (**Figures 3D–F**) myenteric plexus were labeled with Hu and NOS. Similar to findings in the submucosal plexus, more myenteric neurons (labeled for Hu) were seen in NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice (11 ± 0.3 and 15 ± 1 neurons/ganglion, WT and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> respectively, n = 5 in each group; p = 0.002; **Figure 3G**). The number of NOS stained caecal myenteric neurons per ganglion was also increased in NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice (5 ± 0.3 and 9 ± 0.2 neurons/ganglion, WT and NL3<sup>R451C</sup>, respectively,



n = 5 in each group; p < 0.0001; **Figure 3H**). The percentage of NOS stained neurons per myenteric ganglion was also increased in NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice (41 ± 1.3% and 58 ± 2.0%; WT and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> respectively; p = 0.0001; **Figure 3I**). These data show that the R451C mutation results in increased numbers of caecal submucosal and myenteric neurons in mice.

Student's t-test. \*P < 0.05; \*\*P < 0.01.

To assess whether the R451C mutation alters the GALT structure, we measured total cell density in H&E stained crosssections of the caecal patch of WT (**Figures 4A,B**) and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> (**Figures 4C,D**) mice. Caecal patch cellular density was similar in both genotypes (1276 ± 48 and 1428 ± 22 cells/100  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>, WT and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice respectively; *n* = 8 in each group; *p* = 0.28; **Figure 4E**).

In healthy intestinal mucosa, mononuclear phagocytes comprising both macrophages and dendritic cells are the most abundant leukocyte population and play an important role in maintaining homeostasis (Kühl et al., 2015). However, little is known about the morphology and role of macrophages associated with GALT in the intestine (den Haan and Martinez-Pomares, 2013) such as the caecal patch. Caecal patch samples were labeled with the pan-nuclear marker, DAPI, and a pan-macrophage antiserum targeting the ionized calcium-binding adaptor molecule 1 (Iba-1) to determine whether the R451C mutation affects these immune cells in WT (**Figures 5A–D**) and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> (**Figures 5E–H**) within the caecal patch. NL3<sup>R451C</sup> caecal patch tissue had a higher density of Iba-1 stained cells ( $14 \pm 0.7$  cells/100  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>, n = 5) compared to WT mice ( $10.5 \pm 1$  cells/100  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>, n = 4; p = 0.02; **Figure 5I**). The volume of Iba-1 stained cells in WT was larger than in NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice (928.5  $\pm$  97  $\mu$ m<sup>3</sup> and 559.7  $\pm$  58  $\mu$ m<sup>3</sup>; WT (n = 4) and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> (n = 5), respectively; p = 0.01; **Figure 5J**). Iba-1 stained cells in NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice showed increased sphericity ( $0.6 \pm 0.04$  and  $0.7 \pm 0.02$  arbitrary units; WT (n = 4) and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> (n = 5) respectively; p = 0.007; **Figure 5K**). These results suggest that the autism-associated R451C mutation in *Nlgn3* alters macrophage density and morphology within the caecal GALT.

### DISCUSSION

The nervous system and the immune system are in constant bidirectional communication (reviewed in Margolis et al., 2016). Altered immune responses and gut dysfunction commonly occur in individuals genetically susceptible to autism (Coury et al., 2012). Altered neuronal communication in autism (Betancur et al., 2009; Grabrucker et al., 2011; Huguet et al., 2016), likely contributes to changes in the peripheral nervous system, and therefore GI function (Hosie et al., 2019; Leembruggen et al., 2019).

A main finding from this study is the clear reduction of caecal weight in mice expressing the Neuroligin-3 R451C mutation. Importantly, in addition to our findings on a pure C57BL/6 genetic background, caecal weight was also reduced in mice bred on a mixed background in a different animal facility. These findings, therefore, confirm a persistent effect of the gene mutation and rule out genetic susceptibility due to background strain or environment. Furthermore, mice lacking Neuroligin-3 expression (NL3<sup>-/-</sup> mice) that were bred in a third animal facility, and therefore experienced a different environment to the two NL3<sup>R451C</sup> strains, also had reduced caecal weight. Together, these findings suggest that the Nlgn gene plays a role in caecal neuroimmune physiology and that the reduction in weight is unlikely solely due to diet, microbial populations, and other environmental factors. A reduction in caecal weight has also been reported in a mouse model of obesity. For example, obese mice fed a high-fat diet (diet-induced obese mice) had caecal weights approximately 50% reduced compared to controls, and this reduction was restored by antibiotic treatment (Soto et al., 2018). Since obesity is associated with increased inflammation, our observations in NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice might also indicate elevated inflammatory cytokine levels, which remain to be assessed.

The reduced caecal weight in NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice may indicate changes in caecal mucus thickness. The hydrophilic mucus layer that coats the GI tract plays an important role in innate host defense (Mowat, 2003). Changes in the mucus thickness could contribute to an altered immune response in the host organism (Liévin-Le Moal and Servin, 2006; McGuckin et al., 2009). Accordingly, altered mucus thickness along the GI tract



**FIGURE 3** | Caecal myenteric neuronal numbers and proportions. WT caecal submucosal plexus ganglia labeled for (**A**) Hu (green), (**B**) NOS (red) and (**C**) merge. NL3<sup>R451C</sup> caecal submucosal plexus ganglia labeled for (**D**) Hu (green) (**E**) NOS (red), (**F**) merge. Scale bar = 20  $\mu$ m. (**G**) The number of Hu<sup>+</sup> neurons/ganglion. (**H**) The number of NOS immunoreactive neurons/ganglion. (**I**) The percentage of NOS neurons/ganglion; *n* = 5 in each group. Each symbol indicates an individual mouse. Bars in boxplots indicate the means and range of the data. White arrows indicate neurons immunoreactive to both Hu and NOS. Student's *t*-test \*\*p < 0.01; \*\*p < 0.001.



**FIGURE 4** | Caecal patch cell density. Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) stained transverse sections of caecal patches from WT (**A**,**B**) and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> (**C**,**D**) mice. (**E**) There was no difference in overall caecal patch cell density in WT (n = 8) and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice (n = 8). Each symbol indicates an individual mouse. Bars in boxplots indicate the mean and range of the data.



Iba-1 labeled cell morphology. NL3<sup>R451C</sup> caecal patch tissue labeled for (E) DAPI (F) lba-1, (G) merge, (H) 3-D reconstruction of lba-1 labeled cell morphology. (I) Density of lba-1 stained cells in WT and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> caecal patch tissue. (J) Volume of lba-1 stained cells in WT and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> caecal patch tissue. (K) Sphericity of lba-1 stained cells in WT and NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice. Each symbol indicates an individual mouse (n = 4 WT and n = 5 NL3<sup>R451C</sup>). Bars in boxplots indicate the mean and range of the data. Student's *t*-test \*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01. Scale bars = 20  $\mu$ m.

may contribute to GI dysfunction which is commonly observed in children with autism. Based on studies in preclinical models of other disorders, aberrant mucus production may be present alongside other phenotypic traits. For example, caecal tissue sampled from a mouse model of stroke (72 h after brain injury) showed decreased numbers of mucus-producing goblet cells compared to sham-treated mice (Houlden et al., 2016). Reductions in goblet cell number and size were also reported in mice during the development of ulcerative colitis (Van der Sluis et al., 2006; Johansson et al., 2008). Although potential changes in caecal weight were not correlated with these observations, a thinning of the adherent mucus layer and reduced total mucus volume within the caecum may contribute to the significant reduction in caecal weight in NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mutant mouse strains identified here.

The enteric nervous system (ENS) regulates GI motility and secretion, as well as nutrient uptake and gut immune and inflammatory processes (Goyal and Hirano, 1996). The two main cell populations of the ENS are neurons and enteric glial cells (EGCs; Jessen, 2004). Many studies have identified enteric neuron pathologies in the context of inflammatory disease (Marlow and Blennerhassett, 2006; Boyer et al., 2007; Winston et al., 2013; Talapka et al., 2014; Rahman et al., 2015; Li et al., 2016), but how alterations in the ENS might affect inflammatory pathways remains largely unknown. Nevertheless, altered neuronal activity has previously been implicated in altering immune function, where reports investigating NO levels in human colonic and rectal mucosal biopsies in active ulcerative and Crohn's disease showed elevated expression of Nitric oxide synthase (NOS; Rachmilewitz et al., 1995; Ljung et al., 2006).

Changes in enteric neuronal numbers are reported in animal models demonstrating GI dysfunction (Schneider et al., 2001; de Fontgalland et al., 2014; Hosie et al., 2019). Our findings that both submucosal and myenteric neuronal numbers are increased in NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice caecal tissue indicate that the R451C mutation likely alters neuronal populations during development. These results are in agreement with our previous report showing increased jejunal neuronal numbers in adult NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice bred on a mixed genetic background (Hosie et al., 2019). In addition to a potential developmental effect, these findings suggest that the

NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mutation may influence caecal function. Specifically, we speculate that the R451C mutation could alter the rhythmic caecal "churning" of waste that occurs post digestion and before expulsion *via* the colon, however, this hypothesis remains to be investigated. The contractile activity of the GI tract is neurally regulated so given that the R451C mutation is expressed in the gut in these models (Hosie et al., 2019), it would indeed be of interest to assess whether NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice show altered caecal motility.

In addition to characterizing changes in enteric neuronal populations in NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice, we investigated the effects of the autism-associated R451C mutation on macrophages in caecal tissue using the pan-macrophage marker, Iba-1. NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice showed increased numbers of Iba1 stained cells in caecal patch tissue compared to WT mice. Also, the volume of Iba-1 immunoreactive cells was decreased and are more spherical in NL3<sup>R451C</sup> mutant mice compared to WT littermates. These findings could indicate that macrophages within NL3<sup>R451C</sup> caecal patch tissue are present in a more reactive state compared to WT mice, with potential implications for immune pathways in this model. Similar observations were reported in disease conditions such as IBD, where both the number and morphology of intestinal macrophages are altered (Mowat and Bain, 2011; Bain and Mowat, 2014). Moreover, macrophages are integral to the pathogenesis of Crohn's disease (Smith et al., 2011).

In summary, to further assess the impact of the neuroligin-3 R451C mutation on both the enteric nervous system and the immune responses within the caecum, experiments should investigate changes in mucus properties, potential alterations in the mucus-producing goblet cells of the epithelium, inflammatory pathways, and caecal function; including permeability and motility, in this model. Each of these areas of investigation will yield valuable findings about the fundamental role of the caecum in mice as well as the pathophysiology resulting from this mutation.

## CONCLUSION

This is the first study to assess the impact of the Neuroligin-3 R451C mutation on caecal structure at both an anatomical and cellular level in mice. The observation that the Neuroligin-3 gene plays a role in regulating caecal weight across multiple genetic backgrounds and environments identifies a new role for the *Nlgn3* gene in mice. This work also highlights the

## REFERENCES

- Atladóttir, H. O., Thorsen, P., Østergaard, L., Schendel, D. E., Lemcke, S., Abdallah, M., et al. (2010). Maternal infection requiring hospitalization during pregnancy and autism spectrum disorders. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 40, 1423–1430. doi: 10.1007/s10803-010-1006-y
- Bain, C. C., and Mowat, A. M. (2014). Macrophages in intestinal homeostasis and inflammation. *Immunol. Rev.* 260, 102–117. doi: 10.1111/imr.12192
- Baio, J., Wiggins, L., Christensen, D. L., Maenner, M. J., Daniels, J., Warren, Z., et al. (2018). Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years—autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 sites, united states, 2014. MMWR Surveill. Summ. 67, 1–23. doi: 10.15585/mmwr. ss6706a1

caecum as a region of interest within the GI tract that may play a central role in modulating neuro-immune interactions. In the context of neurodevelopmental disorders, our findings that an autism-associated mutation that affects nervous system function also impacts GALT have implications for identifying novel interactions between the enteric nervous system, microbes located within the gut lumen, immune pathways and potential therapeutic targets for GI dysfunction.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The animal study was reviewed and approved by RMIT University and The University of Melbourne animal ethics committees (AEC# 1727, AEC#1513519).

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

GB, SH, AF, and EH-Y conceptualized, supervised and designed the research. SS, EH-Y, GB, and JN harvested the tissue and SS and GB undertook the research. SS, SH, and EH-Y drafted the initial version of the manuscript. All authors read and contributed to the final manuscript.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the Australian Research Council Future Fellowship (FT160100126) to EH-Y and National Health and Medical Research Council Project Grant (APP1083334) and Australian Research Council Future Fellowship (FT140101327) to JN. EH-Y also received an RMIT Vice Chancellor's Senior Research Fellowship, which supported GB and SH. The Hu antibody was a gift from Dr. V. Lennon, Mayo Clinic, USA.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We gratefully acknowledge the assistance of Mrs. Mitra Mohsenipour throughout the project and Dr. Fatima Ramalhosa in the measurement of caecal weight in a subset of mbNL3<sup>R451C</sup> mice.

- Betancur, C., Sakurai, T., and Buxbaum, J. D. (2009). The emerging role of synaptic cell-adhesion pathways in the pathogenesis of autism spectrum disorders. *Trends Neurosci.* 32, 402–412. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2009.04.003
- Boyer, L., Sidpra, D., Jevon, G., Buchan, A. M., and Jacobson, K. (2007). Differential responses of VIPergic and nitrergic neurons in paediatric patients with Crohn's disease. *Auton. Neurosci.* 134, 106–114. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu. 2007.03.001
- Buie, T., Campbell, D. B., Fuchs, G. J., Furuta, G. T., Levy, J., Vandewater, J., et al. (2010). Evaluation, diagnosis, and treatment of gastrointestinal disorders in individuals with ASDs: a consensus report. *Pediatrics* 125, S1–S18. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-1878C
- Burrows, E. L., Laskaris, L., Koyama, L., Churilov, L., Bornstein, J. C., Hill-Yardin, E. L., et al. (2015). A neuroligin-3 mutation implicated in autism causes

abnormal aggression and increases repetitive behavior in mice. Mol. Autism 6:62. doi: 10.1186/s13229-015-0055-7

- Chadman, K. K., Gong, S., Scattoni, M. L., Boltuck, S. E., Gandhy, S. U., Heintz, N., et al. (2008). Minimal aberrant behavioral phenotypes of neuroligin-3 R451C knockin mice. *Autism Res.* 1, 147–158. doi: 10.1002/aur.22
- Coury, D. L., Ashwood, P., Fasano, A., Fuchs, G., Geraghty, M., Kaul, A., et al. (2012). Gastrointestinal conditions in children with autism spectrum disorder: developing a research agenda. *Pediatrics* 130, S160–S168. doi: 10.1542/peds. 2012-0900N
- de Fontgalland, D., Brookes, S. J., Gibbins, I., Sia, T. C., and Wattchow, D. A. (2014). The neurochemical changes in the innervation of human colonic mesenteric and submucosal blood vessels in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 26, 731–744. doi: 10.1111/nmo.12327
- den Haan, J. M., and Martinez-Pomares, L. (2013). Macrophage heterogeneity in lymphoid tissues. Semin. Immunopathol. 35, 541–552. doi: 10.1007/s00281-013-0378-4
- Etherton, M., Földy, C., Sharma, M., Tabuchi, K., Liu, X., Shamloo, M., et al. (2011). Autism-linked neuroligin-3 R451C mutation differentially alters hippocampal and cortical synaptic function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 108, 13764–13769. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1111093108
- Fagarasan, S., Muramatsu, M., Suzuki, K., Nagaoka, H., Hiai, H., and Honjo, T. (2002). Critical roles of activation-induced cytidine deaminase in the homeostasis of gut flora. *Science* 298, 1424–1427. doi: 10.1126/science.1077336
- Gershon, M. D., and Ratcliffe, E. M. (2004). Developmental biology of the enteric nervous system: pathogenesis of Hirschsprung's disease and other congenital dysmotilities. *Semin. Pediatr. Surg.* 13, 224–235. doi: 10.1053/j.sempedsurg. 2004.10.019
- Goyal, R. K., and Hirano, I. (1996). The enteric nervous system. N. Engl. J. Med. 334, 1106–1115. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199604253341707
- Grabrucker, A. M., Schmeisser, M. J., Schoen, M., and Boeckers, T. M. (2011). Postsynaptic ProSAP/Shank scaffolds in the cross-hair of synaptopathies. *Trends Cell Biol.* 21, 594–603. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2011.07.003
- Halladay, A. K., Amaral, D., Aschner, M., Bolivar, V. J., Bowman, A., DiCicco-Bloom, E., et al. (2009). Animal models of autism spectrum disorders: information for neurotoxicologists. *Neurotoxicology* 30, 811–821. doi: 10.1016/j.neuro.2009.07.002
- Horvath, K., and Perman, J. A. (2002). Autism and gastrointestinal symptoms. Curr. Gastroenterol. Rep. 4, 251–258. doi: 10.1007/s11894-002-0071-6
- Hosie, S., Ellis, M., Swaminathan, M., Ramalhosa, F., Seger, G. O., Balasuriya, G. K., et al. (2019). Gastrointestinal dysfunction in patients and mice expressing the autism-associated R451C mutation in neuroligin-3. *Autism Res.* 12, 1043–1056. doi: 10.1002/aur.2127
- Hosie, S., Malone, D. T., Liu, S., Glass, M., Adlard, P. A., Hannan, A. J., et al. (2018). Altered amygdala excitation and cb1 receptor modulation of aggressive behavior in the neuroligin-3(R451C) mouse model of autism. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 12:234. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2018.00234
- Houlden, A., Goldrick, M., Brough, D., Vizi, E. S., Lénárt, N., Martinecz, B., et al. (2016). Brain injury induces specific changes in the caecal microbiota of mice *via* altered autonomic activity and mucoprotein production. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 57, 10–20. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2016.04.003
- Huguet, G., Benabou, M., and Bourgeron, T. (2016). "The genetics of autism spectrum disorders," in *A Time for Metabolism and Hormones*, eds P. Sassone-Corsi and Y. Christen (Cham, CH: Springer Copyright), 101–129.
- Jessen, K. R. (2004). Glial cells. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 36, 1861–1867. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2004.02.023
- Johansson, M. E., Phillipson, M., Petersson, J., Velcich, A., Holm, L., and Hansson, G. C. (2008). The inner of the two Muc2 mucin-dependent mucus layers in colon is devoid of bacteria. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 105, 15064–15069. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0803124105
- Kohane, I. S., McMurry, A., Weber, G., MacFadden, D., Rappaport, L., Kunkel, L., et al. (2012). The co-morbidity burden of children and young adults with autism spectrum disorders. *PLoS One* 7:e33224. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0033224
- Kühl, A. A., Erben, U., Kredel, L. I., and Siegmund, B. (2015). Diversity of intestinal macrophages in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Front. Immunol.* 6:613. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00613
- Leembruggen, A. J., Balasuriya, G. K., Zhang, J., Schokman, S., Swiderski, K., Bornstein, J. C., et al. (2019). Colonic dilation and altered ex vivo

gastrointestinal motility in the neuroligin-3 knockout mouse. *Autism Res.* doi: 10.1002/aur.2109 [Epub ahead of print].

- Li, S., Fei, G., Fang, X., Yang, X., Sun, X., Qian, J., et al. (2016). Changes in enteric neurons of small intestine in a rat model of irritable bowel syndrome with diarrhea. *J. Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 22, 310–320. doi: 10.5056/ jnm15082
- Liévin-Le Moal, V., and Servin, A. L. (2006). The front line of enteric host defense against unwelcome intrusion of harmful microorganisms: mucins, antimicrobial peptides, and microbiota. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 19, 315–337. doi: 10.1128/cmr.19.2.315-337.2006
- Ljung, T., Lundberg, S., Varsanyi, M., Johansson, C., Schmidt, P. T., Herulf, M., et al. (2006). Rectal nitric oxide as biomarker in the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease: responders versus nonresponders. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 12, 3386–3392. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v12.i21.3386
- Lonetti, G., Angelucci, A., Morando, L., Boggio, E. M., Giustetto, M., and Pizzorusso, T. (2010). Early environmental enrichment moderates the behavioral and synaptic phenotype of MeCP2 null mice. *Biol. Psychiatry* 67, 657–665. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.12.022
- Loomes, R., Hull, L., and Mandy, W. P. L. (2017). What is the male-to-female ratio in autism spectrum disorder? A systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 56, 466–474. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2017.03.013
- Marchezan, J., Winkler dos Santos, E. G. A., Deckmann, I., and Riesgo, R. S. (2018). Immunological dysfunction in autism spectrum disorder: a potential target for therapy. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 25, 300–319. doi: 10.1159/000492225
- Margolis, K. G., Gershon, M. D., and Bogunovic, M. (2016). Cellular organization of neuroimmune interactions in the gastrointestinal tract. *Trends Immunol.* 37, 487–501. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2016.05.003
- Marlow, S. L., and Blennerhassett, M. G. (2006). Deficient innervation characterizes intestinal strictures in a rat model of colitis. *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* 80, 54–66. doi: 10.1016/j.yexmp.2005.04.006
- Masahata, K., Umemoto, E., Kayama, H., Kotani, M., Nakamura, S., Kurakawa, T., et al. (2014). Generation of colonic IgA-secreting cells in the caecal patch. *Nat. Commun.* 5:3704. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4704
- McElhanon, B. O., McCracken, C., Karpen, S., and Sharp, W. G. (2014). Gastrointestinal symptoms in autism spectrum disorder: a meta-analysis. *Pediatrics* 133, 872–883. doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-3995
- McGuckin, M. A., Eri, R., Simms, L. A., Florin, T. H., and Radford-Smith, G. (2009). Intestinal barrier dysfunction in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 15, 100–113. doi: 10.1002/ibd.20539
- Mowat, A. M. (2003). Anatomical basis of tolerance and immunity to intestinal antigens. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 3, 331–341. doi: 10.1038/nri1057
- Mowat, A. M., and Bain, C. C. (2011). Mucosal macrophages in intestinal homeostasis and inflammation. J. Innate Immun. 3, 550–564. doi: 10.1159/000329099
- Neuhaus, E., Bernier, R. A., Tham, S. W., and Webb, S. J. (2018). Gastrointestinal and psychiatric symptoms among children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder. *Front. Psychiatry* 9:515. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00515
- Parracho, H. M., Bingham, M. O., Gibson, G. R., and McCartney, A. L. (2005). Differences between the gut microflora of children with autistic spectrum disorders and that of healthy children. J. Med. Microbiol. 54, 987–991. doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.46101-0
- Patterson, P. H. (2011). Modeling autistic features in animals. Pediatr. Res. 69, 34R-40R. doi: 10.1203/pdr.0b013e318212b80f
- Peterson, D. A., McNulty, N. P., Guruge, J. L., and Gordon, J. I. (2007). IgA response to symbiotic bacteria as a mediator of gut homeostasis. *Cell Host Microbe* 2, 328–339. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2007.09.013
- Rachmilewitz, D., Stamler, J. S., Bachwich, D., Karmeli, F., Ackerman, Z., and Podolsky, D. K. (1995). Enhanced colonic nitric oxide generation and nitric oxide synthase activity in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. *Gut* 36, 718–723. doi: 10.1136/gut.36.5.718
- Radyushkin, K., Hammerschmidt, K., Boretius, S., Varoqueaux, F., El-Kordi, A., Ronnenberg, A., et al. (2009). Neuroligin-3-deficient mice: model of a monogenic heritable form of autism with an olfactory deficit. *Genes Brain Behav.* 8, 416–425. doi: 10.1111/j.1601-183x.2009.00487.x
- Rahman, A. A., Robinson, A. M., Jovanovska, V., Eri, R., and Nurgali, K. (2015). Alterations in the distal colon innervation in Winnie mouse model of spontaneous chronic colitis. *Cell Tissue Res.* 362, 497–512. doi: 10.1007/s00441-015-2251-3

- Randal Bollinger, R., Barbas, A. S., Bush, E. L., Lin, S. S. and Parker, W.. (2007). Biofilms in the large bowel suggest an apparent function of the human vermiform appendix. *J. Theor. Biol.* 249, 826–831. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2007.08.032
- Rothwell, P. E., Fuccillo, M. V., Maxeiner, S., Hayton, S. J., Gokce, O., Lim, B. K., et al. (2014). Autism-associated neuroligin-3 mutations commonly impair striatal circuits to boost repetitive behaviors. *Cell* 158, 198–212. doi: 10.1016/j. cell.2014.04.045
- Sang, Q., and Young, H. M. (1996). Chemical coding of neurons in the myenteric plexus and external muscle of the small and large intestine of the mouse. *Cell Tissue Res.* 284, 39–53. doi: 10.1007/s004410050565
- Schmeisser, M. J., Ey, E., Wegener, S., Bockmann, J., Stempel, A. V., Kuebler, A., et al. (2012). Autistic-like behaviours and hyperactivity in mice lacking ProSAP1/Shank2. *Nature* 486, 255–260. doi: 10.1038/nature11015
- Schneider, J., Jehle, E. C., Starlinger, M. J., Neunlist, M., Michel, K., Hoppe, S., et al. (2001). Neurotransmitter coding of enteric neurones in the submucous plexus is changed in non-inflamed rectum of patients with Crohn's disease. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 13, 255–264. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2982.2001. 00265.x
- Smith, P. D., Smythies, L. E., Shen, R., Greenwell-Wild, T., Gliozzi, M., and Wahl, S. M. (2011). Intestinal macrophages and response to microbial encroachment. *Mucosal Immunol.* 4, 31–42. doi: 10.1038/mi.2010.66
- Soto, M., Herzog, C., Pacheco, J. A., Fujisaka, S., Bullock, K., Clish, C. B., et al. (2018). Gut microbiota modulate neurobehavior through changes in brain insulin sensitivity and metabolism. *Mol. Psychiatry* 23, 2287–2301. doi: 10.1038/s41380-018-0086-5
- Strugnell, R. A., and Wijburg, O. L. C. (2010). The role of secretory antibodies in infection immunity. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 8, 656–667. doi: 10.1038/ nrmicro2384
- Suzuki, K., Meek, B., Doi, Y., Muramatsu, M., Chiba, T., Honjo, T., et al. (2004). Aberrant expansion of segmented filamentous bacteria in IgA-deficient gut. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 101, 1981–1986. doi: 10.1073/pnas.03073 17101
- Tabuchi, K., Blundell, J., Etherton, M. R., Hammer, R. E., Liu, X., Powell, C. M., et al. (2007). A neuroligin-3 mutation implicated in autism increases inhibitory synaptic transmission in mice. *Science* 318, 71–76. doi: 10.1126/science. 1146221

- Talapka, P., Nagy, L. I., Pál, A., Poles, M. Z., Berkó, A., Bagyánszki, M., et al. (2014). Alleviated mucosal and neuronal damage in a rat model of Crohn's disease. World J. Gastroenterol. 20, 16690–16697. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i44. 16690
- Valicenti-McDermott, M., McVicar, K., Rapin, I., Wershil, B. K., Cohen, H., and Shinnar, S. (2006). Frequency of gastrointestinal symptoms in children with autistic spectrum disorders and association with family history of autoimmune disease. J. Dev. Behav. Pediatr. 27, S128–S136. doi: 10.1097/00004703-200604002-00011
- Van der Sluis, M., De Koning, B. A., De Bruijn, A. C., Velcich, A., Meijerink, J. P., Van Goudoever, J. B., et al. (2006). Muc2-deficient mice spontaneously develop colitis, indicating that MUC2 is critical for colonic protection. *Gastroenterology* 131, 117–129. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.04.020
- Varghese, M., Keshav, N., Jacot-Descombes, S., Warda, T., Wicinski, B., Dickstein, D. L., et al. (2017). Autism spectrum disorder: neuropathology and animal models. *Acta Neuropathol*. 134, 537–566. doi: 10.1007/s00401-017-1736-4
- Wei, H., Zou, H., Sheikh, A. M., Malik, M., Dobkin, C., Brown, W. T., et al. (2011). IL-6 is increased in the cerebellum of autistic brain and alters neural cell adhesion, migration and synaptic formation. *J. Neuroinflammation* 8:52. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-8-52
- Winston, J. H., Li, Q., and Sarna, S. K. (2013). Paradoxical regulation of ChAT and nNOS expression in animal models of Crohn's colitis and ulcerative colitis. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 305, G295–302. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi. 00052.2013

**Conflict of Interest**: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Sharna, Balasuriya, Hosie, Nithianantharajah, Franks and Hill-Yardin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## **Overview of Brain-to-Gut Axis Exposed to Chronic CNS Bacterial Infection(s) and a Predictive Urinary Metabolic Profile of a Brain Infected by Mycobacterium tuberculosis**

<sup>1</sup> Human Metabolomics, Faculty of Natural and Agricultural Sciences, North-West University, Potchefstroom, South Africa,

Simon Isaiah<sup>1</sup>, Du Toit Loots<sup>1</sup>, Regan Solomons<sup>2</sup>, Martijn van der Kuip<sup>3</sup>, A. Marceline Tutu Van Furth<sup>3</sup> and Shayne Mason<sup>1\*†</sup>

Center, Emma Children's Hospital, Amsterdam, Netherlands

#### OPEN ACCESS <sup>2</sup> Department of Pediatrics and Child Health, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Stellenbosch University, Tygerberg, South Africa, <sup>3</sup> Pediatric Infectious Diseases and Immunology, Amsterdam University Medical Center, Academic Medical

#### Edited by:

Andreas Martin Grabrucker, University of Limerick, Ireland

#### Reviewed by:

Tatiana Barichello, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States Michelle Ann Erickson, University of Washington, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Shayne Mason nmr.nwu@gmail.com

<sup>†</sup>ORCID: Shayne Mason orcid.org/0000-0002-2945-5768

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuroendocrine Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 25 November 2019 Accepted: 16 March 2020 Published: 21 April 2020

#### Citation:

Isaiah S, Loots DT, Solomons R, van der Kuip M, Tutu Van Furth AM and Mason S (2020) Overview of Brain-to-Gut Axis Exposed to Chronic CNS Bacterial Infection(s) and a Predictive Urinary Metabolic Profile of a Brain Infected by Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Front. Neurosci. 14:296. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2020.00296 A new paradigm in neuroscience has recently emerged - the brain-gut axis (BGA). The contemporary focus in this paradigm has been gut  $\rightarrow$  brain ("bottom-up"), in which the gut-microbiome, and its perturbations, affects one's psychological state-of-mind and behavior, and is pivotal in neurodegenerative disorders. The emerging brain  $\rightarrow$  gut ("top-down") concept, the subject of this review, proposes that dysfunctional brain health can alter the gut-microbiome. Feedback of this alternative bidirectional highway subsequently aggravates the neurological pathology. This paradigm shift, however, focuses upon non-communicable neurological diseases (progressive neuroinflammation). What of infectious diseases, in which pathogenic bacteria penetrate the blood-brain barrier and interact with the brain, and what is this effect on the BGA in bacterial infection(s) that cause chronic neuroinflammation? Persistent immune activity in the CNS due to chronic neuroinflammation can lead to irreversible neurodegeneration and neuronal death. The properties of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), such as immunological markers, are used to diagnose brain disorders. But what of metabolic markers for such purposes? If a BGA exists, then chronic CNS bacterial infection(s) should theoretically be reflected in the urine. The premise here is that chronic CNS bacterial infection(s) will affect the gut-microbiome and that perturbed metabolism in both the CNS and gut will release metabolites into the blood that are filtered (kidneys) and excreted in the urine. Here we assess the literature on the effects of chronic neuroinflammatory diseases on the gut-microbiome caused by bacterial infection(s) of the CNS, in the context of information attained via metabolomics-based studies of urine. Furthermore, we take a severe chronic neuroinflammatory infectious disease - tuberculous meningitis (TBM), caused by Mycobacterium tuberculosis, and examine three previously validated CSF immunological biomarkers - vascular endothelial growth factor, interferon-gamma and myeloperoxidase - in terms of the expected changes in normal brain metabolism. We then model the downstream metabolic

effects expected, predicting pivotal altered metabolic pathways that would be reflected in the urinary profiles of TBM subjects. Our cascading metabolic model should be adjustable to account for other types of CNS bacterial infection(s) associated with chronic neuroinflammation, typically prevalent, and difficult to distinguish from TBM, in the resource-constrained settings of poor communities.

Keywords: gut-brain axis, tuberculous meningitis, immunological biomarker, metabolism, urinary profiling, chronic neuroinflammation, bacterial infectious diseases

## INTRODUCTION

A new paradigm in neuroscience has emerged in recent years - the brain-gut axis (BGA) - involving bidirectional communication between the brain and gut. This implicates a variety of pathways, including the enteric nervous system (ENS), central nervous system (CNS), gastrointestinal tract (GIT), endocrine system/GI hormones, and immune response, all integrated to orchestrate the bidirectional feedback loop of the BGA. As averred by Hippocrates, the Greek physician acknowledged by many as the father of modern medicine, "All disease starts in the gut." The gut-microbiome is made up of innumerable microbes, which function in a mutualistic relationship with the human host (Collins et al., 2012; Zhu et al., 2017). Currently, scientific evidence supports the notion that homeostatic imbalance is initiated in the gut-microbiome, mediated by several microbe-derived molecules, in the gutbrain ("bottom-up") direction of communication (Foster and Neufeld, 2013; Martin et al., 2018). Stable gut microbiota are essential for normal gut physiology and contribute to appropriate signaling along the BGA (Forsythe et al., 2010; Cryan and Dinan, 2012; Schroeder and Bäckhed, 2016). Over the past decade, however, neuroscience research on the BGA has focused on how perturbations in the gut-microbiome affect the brain in a feedback loop, centered on the premise of "you are what you eat" and "gut feelings" (Moos et al., 2016; Sherwin et al., 2016; Zmora et al., 2019). Considering the bottomup motif, particularly its perturbations in the gut-microbiome, can have a clear and direct effect on the host's psychological state-of-mind (depression, anxiety, bipolar disorder), behavior (autism) and also in the pathogenesis and/or progression of various neurodegenerative diseases (Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, and multiple sclerosis). These disorders associated with the bottom-up direction of communication have been succinctly and meticulously detailed in many topical research reviews (Mayer et al., 2014; Konturek et al., 2015; Powell et al., 2017; Zhu et al., 2017; Martin et al., 2018; Ambrosini et al., 2019). Perturbations of the BGA associated with non-communicable neurological diseases - to what degree, the precise mechanism involved, and their appropriate therapy - are not yet well understood. Many studies on the role of microbiota in the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative/psychiatric diseases exist, however, and their main findings are summarized in Table 1.

The focus of this review is on the brain-gut ("topdown") direction of the BGA. In particular, perturbations of brain metabolism induced by invading bacteria and, as a consequence, gut dysbiosis. Within the contemporary paradigm of a perturbed BGA, most of the relevant research centers on noncommunicable neurological diseases, synonymous with a slow, gradual progression of neuroinflammation. However, the link between the brain-gut concept and CNS bacterial infection(s) is less prevalent in the literature, and hence the focus of this review. The most recent and comprehensive review of the BGA was by Cryan et al. (2019). However, only a very small section, amounting to half a page, discusses infections and the brain, even though bacterial penetration of the blood-brain barrier (BBB), and subsequent infection, leads to a cascade of events within the brain, modulating a feedback effect on the host gut-microbiome (Dando et al., 2014; Bauer et al., 2016; Martin et al., 2018). Bacterial infection(s) of the CNS induce an inflammatory response via glia mediators, pivotal to establishing communication between the host's immune system and the brain (DiSabato et al., 2016) and, ultimately, generating sustained feedback on the BGA (Geyer et al., 2019).

As a proof of a novel concept for the BGA, we use three previously validated immunological CSF markers of tuberculous meningitis (TBM) – vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), interferon-gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ), and myeloperoxidase (MPO) – to model/predict the metabolic changes, and are the basis for postulating a metabolic cascade, expected within the brain of a TBM patient. It is well known that important diagnostic and prognostic information related to alterations in metabolic cascades and disruption of homeostasis can be characterized through metabolite profiling of urine (An and Gao, 2015; Emwas et al., 2015). Hence, logic dictates that if the BGA exists then the impact of chronic CNS bacterial infection(s) (such as TBM) should be reflected in the host's urine.

## **BRAIN-GUT CONCEPT**

According to the brain-gut ("top-down") concept, the brain can alter the community structure and function of the gut-microbiome in a bidirectional interaction feedback loop, characterized by continuous communication between the CNS and the GIT (Zhu et al., 2017; Karol and Agata, 2019). The GIT is a highly complex organ involved in multiple dynamic physiological processes, while interacting with the gutmicrobiome – an extensive and diverse community of bacteria (Parker et al., 2018). The brain nerves (e.g., vagus nerve), which control unconscious tasks, run from the brainstem to the gut, maintaining the physical bidirectional communication between the CNS and intestinal wall. The brain-to-gut signaling pathway affects host-bacteria interactions in the GIT by influencing TABLE 1 | Main findings from studies describing the role of microbiota in the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative/psychiatric diseases.

Disorders	Main findings	References
Neurodegenerativ	e	
Parkinson's disease (PD)	(i) Gut microbiota influence the activity of enteric neurons, affecting cellular $\alpha$ -synuclein ( $\alpha$ -syn) secretion, characterized by the accumulation and aggregation of $\alpha$ -syn in the substantia nigra (SN).	Braak et al., 2003
	(ii) Gastrointestinal dysfunction is present in $\sim$ 80% of PD patients.	Mulak and Bonaz, 2015
	(iii) $\alpha$ -Synucleinopathy is suggested to be an early indicator of PD pathology.	Nair et al., 2018
	(iv) The vagal nerve, which serves as channel for $\alpha$ -syn from the ENS to the CNS, is crucial for the communication between gut microbiota and the brain.	Ulusoy et al., 2013; Scheperjans et al., 2015; Fitzgerald et al., 2019
	(v) Pathological hallmarks of PD are a loss of dopaminergic neurons in the SN and the presence of cytoplasmic eosinophilic inclusions termed Lewy bodies (LBs).	Lebouvier et al., 2009
	(vi) Immunolabeling with $\alpha$ -syn antibodies have become the reference standard in the assessment of LBs and Lewy neurites in both the CNS and peripheral nervous system. Hence, $\alpha$ -synucleinopathy affects all levels of the BGA.	Lebouvier et al., 2009
Alzheimer's disease (AD)	(i) AD is characterized by a deposition of amyloid beta $(A\beta)$ followed by the formation of plaques, characterized by a progressive decline in cognitive function.	Wang et al., 2014; Jouanne et al., 2017
	(ii) Gut microbiota produce amyloids which aid bacterial cell binding, and form part of the biofilm protecting these from destruction by host immune factors.	Friedland and Chapman, 2017
	(iii) Bacterial amyloid proteins exposure to the host, from the gut, may be detrimental since they prime of the host's immune system against endogenous production of neuronal amyloids in the brain.	Kowalski and Mulak, 2019
	(iv) Bacterial lipopolysaccharides are increased in the neocortex and the hippocampus in AD.	Zhao et al., 2017
	(v) Calprotectin is indicative of inflammation and has be detected in elevated amounts in the CSF, brain and fecal matter of AD patients.	Kowalski and Mulak, 2019
Multiple sclerosis (MS)	(i) MS is a demyelinating disease, clinically associated with autoimmune disease. Progressive degradation of the integrity of the epithelia that comprise cellular barriers essential to maintaining the integrity of both intestine and CNS, have been associated in MS patients suffering from autoimmunity, resulting in paralysis and other related symptoms of MS.	Ochoa-Repáraz and Kasper, 2014; Dendrou et al., 2015; Ochoa-Repáraz et al., 2018
	(ii) Clinical signs of MS are relapse of sensory, motor and cerebellar complications; while an acute disease stage is a characteristic feature of the relapsing-remitting MS (the latter of which are often diagnosed with neuronal dysfunction).	Johnston and Joy, 2001; D'Amico et al., 2016; Connick et al., 2018
	(iii) Secondary-progressive MS develops and transcends into progressive neurological impairment. (iv) Dysbiosis affects the immunological responses of the host to the microbiota, as described in an experiment where germ-free mice with an immune dysfunction, were characterized by an imbalance between pro- and anti-inflammatory immune cells in the gut, where after colonization of the gut with commensal microbes restored immune function.	D'Amico et al., 2016 Mazmanian et al., 2005; Kirby and Ochoa-Repáraz, 2018; Ochoa-Repáraz et al., 2018
Neuropsychiatric Autism spectrum disorders (ASD)	(i) Distributes in abildram with ACD has been about to contribute to both gentrointesting and CNC	Wang at al. 0011. Cantagahi
	(i) Dysbiosis in children with ASD has been show to contribute to both gastrointestinal and CNS abnormalities.	Wang et al., 2011; Santocchi et al., 2016
	(ii) Short-chain fatty acid producing bacteria, and their metabolites, especially propionic acid, has been indicated to adversely affect the CNS and contribute to autism behavior by modulating the BGA.	De Angelis et al., 2015
	(iii) Behavioral abnormalities are accompanied by imaging abnormalities in the sensory and emotion regulation regions of the brain.	Green et al., 2013
	(iv) Abnormally elevated levels of lipopolysaccharides have also been associated with the pathogenesis of autism.	Fattorusso et al., 2019
	(v) 40% of ASD patients complain of GI symptoms; abnormalities such as chronic diarrhea, constipation, vomiting, feeding problems, reflux and abdominal pain, as well as anxiety.	Mayer et al., 2014; Fattorusso et al., 2019
	(vi) Patients with ASD also have high fecal and urinary levels of bacterially derived p-cresol, and further exposure to p-cresol has been shown to contribute to the severity of behavioral symptoms and cognitive impairment in ASD.	Altieri et al., 2011; Persico and Napolioni, 2013; Gabriele et al. 2014
	(vii) Optimized remedies that are practiced include rehabilitation, educational therapy and psycho-pharmacological approaches.	Fattorusso et al., 2019
Depression, anxiety, and major	(i) Pre-clinical studies of depression, anxiety and MDD indicate that the altered brain function associated with these, can partly be attributed to disturbances in the gut microbiota composition.	Bercik et al., 2011; Park et al., 2013; Jiang et al., 2015; Kelly et al., 2016
depressive disorder (MDD)	(ii) Studies have shown that the microbiome has the capacity to influence on emotional behavior, and is associated with various parameters relating to depression pathogenesis and severity.	Bercik et al., 2011; Clemente et al., 2012; Cryan and Dinan, 2012
	(iii) Hippurate, dimethylamine and dimethylglycine, all by-products of gut microbiota, have been detected in abnormal concentrations in MDD patients which further substantiates the aforementioned observations.	Zheng et al., 2013, 2016
	(iv) Increased severity in depression and anxiety have been noted following bacterial infection in patients.	Naseribafrouei et al., 2014

the enteric microbiota indirectly via an altered intestinal permeability, or directly via signaling molecules released into the gut lumen from immune and enterochromaffin cells, thereby increasing motor, sensory and secretory modalities of the GIT (Rhee et al., 2009; Grenham et al., 2011; Eisenstein, 2016). Those signaling systems that allow the brain, in this crosstalk communication, to influence gut-microbiome functions in the GIT, are: (1) the endocrine-immune system, (2) the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, (3) the sympathetic and parasympathetic arms of the autonomic nervous system (ANS), and (4) enteric nervous system (ENS) (Rhee et al., 2009; Grenham et al., 2011; Cong et al., 2015). These signaling systems are interlinked systematically to form a complex reflex network, with afferent and efferent fibers (O'Mahony et al., 2011). Hence, activation of any of these signaling systems, either alone or in combination, might influence the composition and functionality of enteric microbiota (Rhee et al., 2009). For instance, under conditions of chronic stress the brain recruits these same mechanisms, by activation of the HPA axis in the brain, to regulate cortisol secretion. Cortisol in turn affects various immune cells (including cytokine secretion) locally in the gut, subsequently inducing changes to microbiota composition, and increasing the gastrointestinal permeability (de Punder and Pruimboom, 2015; Kelly et al., 2015; Farzi et al., 2018). Hence, an exceedingly complex array of signaling systems, all interlinked, lies between the brain and gut in the "top-down" concept (Aziz and Thompson, 1998; Collins and Bercik, 2009; O'Mahony et al., 2009; Forsythe et al., 2014; Khlevner et al., 2018; Weltens et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2018).

The CNS is well shielded by the BBB, the major site of blood-CNS exchange. The barrier comprises microvascular endothelial cells, astrocytes and pericytes, and is tasked with the regulated passage of molecules into and out of the brain (Abbott et al., 2010; Sochocka et al., 2017b). Neurotropic bacteria are capable of evading host defenses, gaining access to the CNS (Dando et al., 2014), with >95% of brain abscesses caused by bacterial infection(s) (Sonneville et al., 2017). Furthermore, the brain may become particularly susceptible to bacterial infection(s), if the BBB is chronically compromised by an initial infection (Mendes et al., 1980; Cantiera et al., 2019). Various brain cells - microglia (resident macrophages), endothelial, ependymal, neuronal and glial (astrocytes and oligodendrocytes) - convey innate immune molecules that prompt the recruitment of leukocytes into the infected CNS compartments, in order to combat invading neurotropic bacteria (Klein et al., 2017). This process results in a series of initial neuroinflammatory events within the brain, as well as phagocytosis of the infecting bacteria, in an attempt to control disease progression. Neuroinflammation in the CNS is mediated by the production of cytokines and chemokines, that are pivotal in the coordinated communication between the immune system and the brain (DiSabato et al., 2016). The host's inflammatory reaction in the CNS is initiated by the recognition of the invading pathogens, which in turn leads to the local production of mediators by the glial cells comprising microglia and astrocytes (Grandgirard et al., 2013). Thus, acute inflammatory feedback is triggered by rapid and early activation of mediators released by activated glial cells in the CNS due

to the infectious agent. However, when the presence of an infectious agent persists, a chronic state of inflammation within the brain results (Sochocka et al., 2017a) and the activated glial cells are altered beyond "normal" proportions, which results in progressive neurodegeneration (Kempuraj et al., 2017; Sochocka et al., 2017a). Pattern recognition receptor (Newton and Dixit, 2012; Suresh and Mosser, 2013) activation initiates the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, in order to modulate the immune response, leading to pleocytosis of white blood cells (Janowski and Newland, 2017). This in turn triggers an increased BBB permeability and the influx of leukocytes from the blood into the CNS at the site(s) of infection (Waisman et al., 2015; Kempuraj et al., 2017). Although this is the mechanism by which the brain attempts to restore homeostasis and protect itself against the invading pathogen (More et al., 2013), the chronic production of immune cells induces neurodegeneration. Since activated microglia have both neuroprotective and neurotoxic functions (Kim, 2003; Nimmerjahn et al., 2005; Dando et al., 2014; Liechti et al., 2015; Doran et al., 2016), various toxic molecules released by the microglia during the immune response may also inflict neuronal injury.

## BACTERIAL INFECTIONS OF THE CNS AND THEIR EFFECT ON THE BRAIN-GUT AXIS

Most bacterial CNS infections present acutely, including subacute and chronic forms. Common acute bacterial CNS infections involve Streptococcus agalactiae, Gram-negative bacilli including Escherichia coli, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Listeria monocytogenes, Neisseria meningitidis, and Streptococcus pneumoniae (Durand et al., 1993; Grav, 1997; Grandgirard et al., 2013; Zhou, 2019), while subacute and chronic bacterial CNS infections, besides Mycobacterium tuberculosis, involve Borrelia burgdorferi, Leptospira interrogans, Treponema pallidum, Mycobacterium leprae. Microbial pathogens can gain entry into CNS by penetrating the BBB or via the olfactory (Kristensson, 2011). The nasopharynx is the usual portal of entry for major meningeal pathogens. Pathogens penetrate the olfactory epithelium, and could potentially cross epithelial barriers into the subarachnoid space; compromising the epithelial tissue by exposure to bacterial virulence factors, directly infecting the olfactory sensory neurons (Dando et al., 2014; Rey et al., 2018). Meningeal invasion subsequently follows via penetration of the cellular barriers of the CNS. The putative cascade of events caused by bacterial infection(s) of the brain that alter permeability of the gut discussed in detail below, ultimately leads to dysbiosis.

(1) Within the cascade, the first step of bacterial invasion involves transitioning across the compromised BBB into the subarachnoid space. Pathogens can cause disruption of the BBB, which enables their passage into the brain. The various host defenses are usually inadequate to control the infection. Leukocytes traverse the BBB and patrol the brain parenchyma under normal conditions. During inflammation, as result of infection, the BBB junctions (adherens and tight) that regulate the flux of ions, polar molecules, and macromolecules from the systemic circulation can be compromised, thus traffic is greatly increased at these junctions. Bacteria may cross the BBB by transcellular penetration after bacterial adhesion to endothelial cells or via infected leukocytes. Pinocytosis, increased by leukocytes combating bacteria that might have invaded following disruption of tight junctions or via the "Trojan horse" mechanism - phagocytes infected with the pathogen transverse the BBB (Kim, 2003; Pulzova et al., 2009). Leukocytes, activated by inflammatory molecules released during infection, cross the BBB by a multistep process that involves attachment to, and invasion through, the post-capillary venule wall and the surrounding endothelial and parenchymal basement membranes which differ in their laminin composition and permeability (Owens et al., 2008; Kristensson, 2011; Dando et al., 2014). During infection of the CNS various acute pathological events may occur which further compromise the CNS. The brain parenchyma is populated by resident immune cells, the microglia, which are highly specialized tissue macrophages.

- (2) Microglia cells, the primary immune effector cells in the brain, continuously survey the brain parenchyma and respond to very subtle alterations in their microenvironment and in the brain's structural integrity (Nimmerjahn et al., 2005). Microglia are highly motile immune effector cells in the brain that respond to neuronal infection and damage. The role of microglia in a healthy brain, along with immediate reaction to brain damage, is paramount in response to the prevention of any kind of major brain damage. Microglia are considered essential for communication in the intrinsic immune system of the CNS, as well for intercellular crosstalk between astrocytes and neurons (Kreutzberg, 1996; Stollg and Jander, 1999; Streit, 2002; Streit et al., 2004; Akiyoshi et al., 2018). Microglia maintain CNS health via mediators involved in the function of neurogenesis, modeling of synapses, excitotoxicity prevention and regulation of neuroinflammation. Short-chain fatty acids derived from the gut-microbiome play a pivotal role in the function and maturation of microglia. Hence, microglia are crucial mediators in the interaction between the CNS and the gut microbiota (Wang et al., 2018; Abdel-Hag et al., 2019).
- (3) Bacterial cell wall material, enzymes, and toxins cause direct injury to neurons and indirect damage by increasing vascular permeability that causes edema and further injury. Microglial cells respond to bacterial pathogens and neuronal injury by the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), nitrous oxide, and peroxynitrite. Immune response also contribute to neurotoxicity via release of proteases and excitatory amino acids. Several signaling molecules, such as catecholamines, serotonin, dynorphin and cytokines, used by the host for neuronal and neuroendocrine signaling, are also likely to be secreted into the gut lumen (Rhee et al., 2009).

- (4) Bacterial pathogens may target neurons and glial cells, inducing inflammation and exerting direct cytopathic effect due to the release of their products. Thereafter, brain cell apoptosis begins to occur. For example, Pneumolysin and hydrogen peroxide (H2O2) are direct triggers of Streptococcus pneumoniae. H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> rapidly diffuses through eukaryotic cell membranes to damage intracellular targets thus increasing intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>, damaging mitochondria, and causing the release and translocation of mitochondrial apoptosis-inducing factor. Increased intracellular ROS and Ca<sup>2+</sup> precedes morphologic changes that lead to brain cell apoptosis (Mitchell and Andrew, 1997; Lipton and Nicotera, 1998; Braun et al., 2002; Janowski and Newland, 2017). Brain cell apoptosis leads to neuronal injury in the form of brain manifestations, such as: basal ganglia and thalami communication that become obstructive, cranial nerve dysfunction, minor focal neurological signs, infiltrates of inflammatory cells, exudation of protein-rich fluid, and edema (Gray, 1997; Hussein and Shafran, 2000; Van de Beek et al., 2004; Østergaard et al., 2005; Al Khorasani and Banajeh, 2006; Hähnel and Bendszus, 2009; Abdulrab et al., 2010).
- (5) Pathogenic bacteria that causes meningitis exhibit antiphagocytic capsular polysaccharide ability which enables survival within the blood. Hence, changes in the gut involves hematogenous dissemination of bacteria, initiating meningitis via mucosal adhesion of the organism and subsequent systemic invasion (Seib et al., 2009; Harvey et al., 2011; Dando et al., 2014). The intestinal immune system is tasked to maintain homeostasis within the gut-microbiome via the processes of minimizing direct contact between intestinal bacteria and the epithelial cell surface (stratification), and confining penetrant bacteria to intestinal sites and limiting their exposure to the systemic immune compartment (compartmentalization) (Hooper et al., 2012; Macpherson and McCoy, 2013). Mucosal surfaces represent the major interface and constitute the point of entry of most infectious pathogens, and are in contact with potentially injurious antigens (Janeway et al., 2001; Kaetzel, 2005).
- (6) Stratification of intestinal bacteria on the luminal side of the epithelial barrier also depend on secreted immunoglobulin A (IgA). IgA specific for intestinal bacteria is produced with the help of intestinal dendritic cells that sample the small numbers of bacteria penetrating the overlying epithelium. Some meningeal pathogens produce proteases that cleave to human immunoglobulin subclasses (e.g., IgA1), allowing adherence of bacterial strains to mucosal surfaces and crossing the mucosal barrier (Lorenzen et al., 1999; Hooper et al., 2012; Brooks and Mias, 2018). IgA1 proteases separate the pathogenrecognition (Fab) and host signaling (Fc) components of the antibody, thereby severing communication with host defense cells. This also leaves pathogens coated with cleaved Fab fragments and camouflaged from the immune system. IgA1 proteases disable this important defense immune molecule allowing for direct escape of the

invading pathogen from host immunity (Woof and Russell, 2011; Marshall et al., 2017). This communication/crosstalk involving the gut microbiota from the CNS encompasses several channels along various neural, enteric and immune systems. Sensory and motor fibers from the vagus nerve connect the gut and the brainstem, and serve as a conduit for neural signals involving the microglia. Increased CNS inflammation signals vagal efferent nerves to relay information about the immune status of the brain to the gut and the gut microbes. In the same manner, vagal afferents transduce and relay information from the GIT to the CNS, signaling microglia via increased production of various pro-inflammatory cytokines that modulate neuroinflammation (Goehler et al., 1999, 2005; Borovikova et al., 2000; Forsythe et al., 2014; Abdel-Haq et al., 2019).

## URINE REFLECTS DYSBIOSIS WITHIN BACTERIAL CNS INFECTION(S)

The CNS can communicate with the gut via signaling molecules carried by the CSF and blood, which in turn may alter gut composition and physiology. Evidence for this communication between the gut and the brain includes the following: (1) it is well known that toxins or abnormal metabolites that enter the bloodstream are ultimately removed from the blood, in an attempt to maintain a state of cellular homeostasis, and excreted via the urine (Li, 2015; Wu and Gao, 2015); (2) biomarkers for various neurological diseases are detected using body fluids including CSF, blood and urine (An and Gao, 2015). The CSF transfers waste products to the blood, which is filtered by the kidneys, whereby blood-borne waste products accumulate in the urine and are then excreted (Wu and Gao, 2015). It is also well known that various perturbations or other physiological changes in the human body - such as an altered microbiome, for instance - may change what is considered a normal urinary metabolome fingerprint into a new diseasespecific fingerprint (Want et al., 2010; Emwas et al., 2015; Wu and Gao, 2015). There exists well-described examples in the literature of metabolites found in urine that are associated with microbial metabolism or microbial-host co-metabolism and found to change in response to diseases where gut dysbiosis is the predominant perturbation (Holmes et al., 2011; Vernocchi et al., 2016; Dumas et al., 2017; Malatji et al., 2019). Furthermore, urine is considered the preferred sample matrix for the detection of certain metabolites, which are otherwise difficult to detect from a blood sample due to their low concentrations. Moreover, urine collection is considered relatively non-invasive (Bouatra et al., 2013; Li, 2015). For these reasons, the metabolomics of urine has been successfully exploited for new biomarker discovery in various diseases, including neuropsychiatric disorders, such as schizophrenia, major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, and autism spectrum disorder (Yap et al., 2010; Cai et al., 2012; Zheng et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2014), and various neurodegenerative diseases, such as PD, AD, and MS (Luan et al., 2014). Based on the premise that the urine contains the accumulation of all end-product metabolites of the body, logic dictates that chronic

bacterial infection(s) of the CNS should, in principle, result in persistent feedback on the gut via the BGA, communicated via the CSF and blood, leading to dysbiosis and an altered urinary metabolome.

In research on infectious diseases, urinary profiling has received much attention, in particular regarding pulmonary tuberculosis (TB) - a disease caused by Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb) - about which several studies have been conducted using urine for the detection of clinically relevant biomarkers (Banday et al., 2011; Bonkat, 2012; Das et al., 2015; Luies and Loots, 2016; Luies et al., 2017; Preez et al., 2017; Isa et al., 2018). The detection of lipoarabinomannan (LAM), for instance, a Mycobacterium-specific liposaccharide from the Mtb cell wall, is an example of the basis of a well-studied commercial ELISA assay that shows promise for its diagnostic use in urine with a reported sensitivity of 74% and specificity of 86.9% in a study performed on 148 confirmed TB patients (Tessema et al., 2001); a sensitivity of 80.3% and specificity of 99% in a study conducted on 132 confirmed TB patients (Boehme et al., 2005); and a sensitivity of 44% and specificity of 89% in a study conducted on 195 TB-positive patients in a high-HIV prevalence setting (Mutetwa et al., 2009). Within TBM cases (see Box 1), the direct LAM-ELISA assay of CSF has similarly shown a sensitivity of 64% and specificity of 86.9% in a study including 50 TBM cases in a high-HIV-prevalence setting (Patel et al., 2009); and a sensitivity of 43% and specificity of 91% for definite TBM cases in a study performed on CSF collected from the 4th ventricle, post-mortem (Cox et al., 2015). However, Bahr et al. (2015) determined that this LAM-based TB antigen test yielded negative results for all the CSF samples (~100) analyzed in their study, of whom 18 had a confirmed diagnosis of TBM. In a short communication the following year, Bahr et al. (2016) voiced their concern about the reliability of the LAM assay for

TBM, a severe infectious disease caused by Mtb, is a chronic form of bacterial meningitis (BM), resulting in chronic neuroinflammation often associated with irreversible neurological damage/dysfunction. TBM develops in severity in progressive stages (TBM stages I, II and III), and a uniform case definition (definite, probable and possible TBM) for diagnosis has been standardized (Marais et al., 2010). TBM is the most common form of CNS-tuberculosis (TB) (Van Well et al., 2009) and is considered severe due to its high associated prevalence of mortality and morbidity (Rohlwink et al., 2019). Transmitted via infectious aerosols into the lung, Mtb may enter the circulatory system, traverse the BBB and then enter the brain meninges (Rock et al., 2008; Nicholas et al., 2012). Microglia, the resident macrophages of the brain, are the cells preferentially infected by the Mtb bacilli (Rock et al., 2005). The Rich foci (Rich and McCordock, 1933), lesions that form in the meninges, eventually rupture, spilling the Mtb microbes, cytokines and chemokines into the subarachnoid space, resulting in infection and extensive inflammation of the meninges (Dastur et al., 1995; Donald et al., 2005; Rock et al., 2008). The pathogenesis of TBM is dynamic and Mtb bacteria exhibit a resilience that allows them to survive hostile environments, which results in a persistent neuroinflammatory response if not treated correctly and swiftly (de Carvalho et al., 2010; Beste et al., 2011, 2013; Warner, 2015). Despite all efforts toward improved solutions to curbing TB since the discovery of Mtb as the causative agent in 1882, there is still a very limited understanding of Mtb infection within the host, especially so for TBM, and hence the need for new biomarkers better describing this.

**BOX 1** | Tuberculous meningitis (TBM).

use on CSF for diagnosis of TBM, and also discussed the study by Cox et al. (2015). Ultimately, the LAM-ELISA, like many other TB diagnostic tests, is not sufficient as a stand-alone assay for a definitive diagnosis of TB.

Of particular interest, as it pertains to our review, is that bacterial antigen-specific assays perform particularly poorly when used for diagnosing bacterial CNS infection from urine collected from patients, even in documented septicemia cases (Barnes et al., 1998). Barnes et al. postulated that the reason for this is that these complex polysaccharide antigens break down before excretion in urine. Using the well-tested LAM-ELISA assay, Blok et al. (2014) analyzed urine collected from 21 TBM cases and obtained a sensitivity of only 4.8% and specificity of 93.1%, and hence concluded that urinary LAM detection offers little value for the diagnosis of TBM. Although LAM is detectable in the urine of TB cases and the CSF of TBM patients, it is almost undetectable in urine collected from patients with TBM. A postulated reason for this inconsistency is the inability of LAM to transgress the BBB. This hypothesis can likely be extended to complex bacterial antigens in general, as supported by the results of Barnes et al. (1998). We therefore conclude from these Mtb-antigen-specific assay studies that the diagnosis of bacterial infection(s) of the CNS, based on the detection of bacterial antigens in urine, is not a viable option.

For this reason, we believe that the detection of the catabolic components (metabolites) of complex signaling pathways is a better option for the accurate and sensitive differential diagnosis of bacterial CNS infection(s), using urine collected from patients. Mason et al. (2016) provided proof-of-concept by using an untargeted gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) metabolomics approach to analyze the urine of 12 confirmed TBM cases, 19 non-TBM cases (sick controls proven negative for both TB and meningitis) and 29 controls. This explorative study identified urinary metabolite markers that showed two important changes in the TBM cases: (1) a dysfunctional host metabolism, and (2) indicators of an altered host-microbe response in TBM (Mason et al., 2016). The indicators of dysfunctional host metabolism included: lipolysis and ketosis (elevated 2-hydroxybutyric acid, 3-hydroxybutyric acid, 2methyl-3-hydroxybutyric acid, and acetoacetic acid); perturbed energy metabolism (elevated branched-chain amino acid derivatives, citric acid cycle intermediates and vanillylmandelic acid); liver damage (from the presence of 4-hydroxyphenyllactic acid and 4-hydroxyphenylacetic acid, and highly elevated 4-hydroxyphenylpyruvic acid). Of greater importance to this review was the discovery of those markers serving as indicators of an altered host-microbe response in TBM, as is discussed in greater detail below.

First, Mtb-induced changes to tryptophan metabolism was evident, due to the presence of elevated urinary concentrations of indole-3-acetic acid, 5-hydroxyindole acetic acid, tryptophan, kynurenic acid and quinolinic acid, accompanied by significantly elevated levels of N-acetylanthranilic acid (the N-acetylated product of anthranilic acid; Paul and Ratledge, 1970, 1971, 1973), the latter of which is a novel microbial metabolite indicative of gut microbiota involved in the perturbed host's tryptophan metabolism (Mason et al., 2016). Using a similar but more sensitive metabolomics analytical platform (GC × GC–TOFMS), Luies and Loots (2016) independently compared urine collected from 46 confirmed TB adults to 30 TB-negative healthy controls, and identified similar urinary markers indicative of the same alterations for the host's tryptophan metabolism. They attributed these to the result of an inflammatory response due to releases of cytokines, specifically IFN- $\gamma$ . Hence, an inflammatory response induced by Mtb-infection, whether in the lungs or brain, results in the release of IFN- $\gamma$ , which stimulates the upregulation of tryptophan catabolism (Yoshida et al., 1981; Taylor and Feng, 1991; Blumenthal et al., 2012; Hashioka et al., 2017; Lu et al., 2017). The presence of increased urinary tryptophan catabolites therefore contributes to a differential diagnosis of Mtb-based infection, but they do not serve as uniquely distinctive biomarkers.

Second, Mtb-host related metabolites were identified. In particular, significantly elevated concentrations of methylcitric acid were speculated to be likely to have originated from the well-characterized methylcitrate cycle of Mtb (Muñoz-Elías et al., 2006; Savvi et al., 2008). Interestingly, a positive correlation between urinary quinolinic acid and methylcitric acid concentrations was observed by Mason et al. (2016) in all the TBM patients' urine samples collected both before and after Mtbspecific treatment commenced. Hence, the roles of quinolinic acid and methylcitric acid in the host are intertwined during Mtb infection, and its treatment.

Lastly, urinary metabolite markers associated with alterations to the gut-microbiome were identified as a major consequence of perturbed metabolism associated with TBM. Of the significant urinary metabolites, those that are linked to gut microbiota were identified as uracil, hippuric acid, 4-hydroxyhippuric acid, phenylacetylglutamine and 4-cresol (Mason et al., 2016). Luies and Loots (2016) also identified elevated urinary concentrations of oxalic acid and rhamnulose, as evidence for an altered gut-microbiome in pulmonary TB. In a follow-up study by Luies et al. (2017), the failure of treatment of TB via standard anti-TB combination therapy was characterized by an imbalanced gut-microbiome, with the two largest predictors for a poor treatment outcome being two altered micobiome urinary markers [3,5 dihydroxybenzoic acid and 3-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)propionic acid]. Additionally, another independent GC-MS metabolomics longitudinal treatment study conducted on TB patient urine (Das et al., 2015) showed a treatment-dependent trend of a deregulated tyrosine-phenylalanine axis, also associated with an abnormal microbiome. Considering these urinary TB metabolomics studies, although not yet fully understood, strong evidence exists for the association of TB disease and an altered microbiome, detectable via altered metabolite markers present in urine collected from TB patients.

Independent urinary metabolomics studies on pulmonary TB, therefore, although not related to the CNS but still involving an infectious disease distinguished by chronic inflammatory response(s), support the findings of Mason et al. (2016) in characterizing chronic neuroinflammation from TBM through urinary profiling. Herein lies the strength of untargeted metabolomics studies – the complementary evidence of three
independent, open-minded analyses of metabolomics data obtained from urine on a similar analytical platform with a common, general hypothesis of the importance of the gut microbiota. For the remainder of this review, we focus on TBM and take a validated 3-marker CSF immunological signature of TBM and discuss it in conjunction with previously identified, altered urinary metabolomics markers of TBM.

## VALIDATED 3-MARKER CSF IMMUNOLOGICAL SIGNATURE OF TBM

Bacteriological confirmation of TBM from CSF is not always possible, especially in children, so that diagnosis is mostly based on a combination of clinical findings, CSF analysis and radiological results (Marais et al., 2010). Since various biomarkerbased tests of the host have shown promise in extrapulmonary pleural-TB diagnostics, it has been thought that these same tests could also be used to diagnose TBM (Chegou et al., 2008). Recent technology has allowed for the screening for many such biomarkers, using as little as 3  $\mu$ L of CSF via Luminex multiplex cytokine-beaded arrays. With clinical application, host biomarkers could potentially be added to the current TBM diagnostic armamentarium, in order to provide an earlier and more efficient diagnosis.

A preliminary 3-marker CSF biosignature, comprising VEGF, IL-13 and cathelicidin LL-37 (cut-off values 42.92, 37.26, and 3221.01 pg/mL, respectively), correctly diagnosed childhood TBM with a sensitivity and specificity of 52 and 95%, respectively (Visser et al., 2015). The same 3-marker CSF biosignature, tested on a different cohort of 23 children, however, revealed lower sensitivity (30.4%), yet a similar specificity (91.7%), with different cut-off values. In this same cohort of 23 children with TBM and 24 controls, VEGF, IFN-y, and MPO provided good accuracy with an AUC of 0.97, up to 91.3% sensitivity and up to 100% specificity, with cut-off values of >9.4, >99.5, and >25,823 pg/mL, respectively (Manyelo et al., 2019). Hence, VEGF, IFN- $\gamma$ , and MPO in combinaton was validated by Manyelo et al. (2019) as a 3-marker CSF immunological signature of TBM. The background behind these three markers is now described, in order to provide insights into how they led to our predictive metabolic model.

### VASCULAR ENDOTHELIAL GROWTH FACTOR (VEGF)

VEGF, a 46 kDa glycosylated homodimeric cytokine protein, is expressed intracellularly in several cell types, including microglia (Cohen et al., 1996). It is a potent growth factor inducer of vascular endothelial cell proliferation, vascular permeability (Soker et al., 1997) and angiogenesis (Connolly, 1991; Yancopoulos et al., 2000). Endothelial changes associated with VEGF include: (1) separation of intercellular tight junction, (2) increased vesicle transport, and (3) formation of vesico-vacuolar organelles, all of which results in increased macromolecular transport over the endothelial barrier (Feng et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2001). Classically associated with chronic inflammatory diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis (Fava et al., 1994), VEGF is also associated with the increased permeability, and subsequent dysfunction, of the BBB (Dobrogowska et al., 1998; Proescholdt et al., 1999; Harrigan et al., 2002) and in the pathogenesis of brain edema related to ischemia, trauma, vasculitis and tumors (Van Bruggen et al., 1999; Viac et al., 1999). VEGF exhibits direct neuroprotective effects during *in vitro* ischemia (Jin et al., 2000). Another study showed that topical application of VEGF on the cerebral cortex induces a reduction of infarct size in a rat model of transient cerebral ischemia (Hayashi et al., 1998).

In 2001, Van der Flier et al. showed no detectable CSF VEGF concentrations in patients with viral meningitis (VM), whereas 30% (11/37) of those patients with bacterial meningitis (BM) displayed detectably elevated concentrations of CSF VEGF (ranging from <25 to 633 pg/mL). Furthermore, elevated VEGF has been associated with an upregulation of MMP-9 (Wang and Keiser, 1998) - see Box 2 - which additionally contributes to BBB disruption in BM (Paul et al., 1998). Van der Flier et al. (2001) also indicated the VEGF index in BM (calculated as [VEGF<sub>CSF</sub>/VEGF<sub>plasma</sub>]/[albumin<sub>CSF</sub>/albumin<sub>plasma</sub>]) to be 6.2 [0.6-42], which indicates that CSF VEGF is a result of intrathecal production. This increase in CSF VEGF could be associated with: (1) a change in mental status, (2) seizures, (3) an elevated CSF WBC count (with neutrophils being the main source of VEGF), (4) elevated CSF protein and higher CSF:serum albumin ratios (marker of BBB breakdown), (5) severe BBB disruption, and, eventually, (6) death.

Within TBM, VEGF is localized in the microvessels and perivascular cells (Matsuyama et al., 2001). Tumor necrosis-alpha (TNF-a), associated with pathogenesis of TBM (Tsenova et al., 1999), is a known inducer of VEGF (Ryuto et al., 1996). In a follow-up investigation conducted by Van der Flier et al. (2004), the prevalence of elevated CSF VEGF concentrations in TBM patients was 58% (15/26) (at 98  $\pm$  31 pg/mL) with a calculated VEGF index of 486  $\pm$  976, the latter once again indicative of

**BOX 2 | Matrix metalloproteinases (**Kolb et al., 1998; Leib et al., 2000; Shapiro et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2004).

MMPs are a large family of zinc-dependent proteolytic enzymes. Their main function involves remodeling of the connective tissues by degrading extracellular matrix molecules and are regulated by tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases. These many compounds are subdivided according to their main substrates:

- Gelatinases: MMP-2, MMP-9.
- Collagenases: MMP-1, MMP-8, MMP-13.
- Stromelysins: MMP-3, MMP-10, MMP-11.

MMP-2 and MMP-9 digest type IV collagen and are subsequently implicated in the breakdown of the BBB via dissolution of the basement membrane underlying the endothelial cells. MMP-2 and MMP-9 production is strongly correlated with the development of neurological sequelae and induced by pro-inflammatory cytokines (IFN- $\gamma$ ) and other mediators (such as MPO). The amount of MMP present in CSF varies, depending on the severity of inflammation. MMP-2 and MMP-9 are detected in elevated amounts in the CSF of meningitis cases (TBM, VM and BM), with MMP-9 correlating strongly with the number of neutrophils in VM.

	твм	BM	VM
CSF VEGF	142.8 pg/mL $[28.1-225.7]^a$ 144.4 $\pm$ 75.1 pg/mL <sup>d</sup> 106 $\pm$ 50 pg/mL $[44.9-336]^e$	14.5 pg/mL [8.7–86.5] <sup>a</sup> 47 ± 9 pg/mL [<10–174] <sup>b</sup> 37.5 pg/mL [<20–160] <sup>c</sup> 80.1 ± 49.5 pg/mL <sup>d</sup>	27.9 pg/mL [7.9–48.7] <sup>a</sup> 27.6 ± 26.3 pg/mL <sup>d</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Visser et al. (2015). <sup>b</sup>Van der Flier et al. (2005). <sup>c</sup>Coenjaerts et al. (2004). <sup>d</sup>Matsuyama et al. (2001). <sup>e</sup>Husain et al. (2008).

intrathecal production. Van der Flier et al. furthermore associated the elevated concentrations of CSF VEGF in TBM with: (1) significantly greater mononuclear cell counts; (2) elevated CSF protein and higher CSF:serum albumin ratios; (3) not being significantly correlated with the elevated ICP, decreased CSF glucose nor with cerebral infarct on a CT scan; and (4) the inhibition explained the clinical effect of adjuvant corticosteroid therapy. In 2008, Hussain et al. similarly indicated significantly increased CSF VEGF levels (106  $\pm$  50 pg/mL [44.9-336 pg/mL]) in TBM, accompanied by a strongly positive correlation between microvessel density and VEGF expression. Additionally, the investigation revealed that in excised tuberculomas: (1) VEGF expression was highest in regions of the granulomatous reaction; (2) no VEGF was present in the areas of caseous necrosis; (3) areas of caseation were devoid of angiogenesis; and (4) inflammatory mononuclear cells were positive for VEGF antigen (these included epitheloid cells, histiocytes and macrophages). Furthermore, immunohistochemical staining of excised tuberculoma demonstrated an elevated expression of VEGF in the granulomatous areas, with positivity in inflammatory mononuclear cells, Langhan's giant cells, as well as reactive astrocytes and fibrocytes.

Matsuyama et al. (2001) and Visser et al. (2015) both indicated CSF VEGF to be significantly increased in TBM compared with other types of meningitis (**Table 2**). Among the TBM cases, CSF VEGF was additionally significantly higher in those patients with hydrocephalus (196.3  $\pm$  60.2 pg/mL vs. 119.8  $\pm$  69.6 pg/mL) and there was a significant correlation with increased CSF protein and CSF total cell counts (Matsuyama et al., 2001). Visser et al. (2015) associated elevated CSF VEGF with raised hydrocephalus and CSF protein (>1 g/L), along with basal meningeal enhancement and hyperdensity in the basal cisterns on non-contrast CT scans. Lastly, Matsuyama et al. (2001) indicated that CSF VEGF localizes to microvessels and perivascular cells in TBM.

### **MYELOPEROXIDASE**

Myeloperoxidase (MPO), a heme enzyme (EC 1.11.1.7) and pro-inflammatory mediator present in the primary granules of polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs), participates in oxygendependent microbiocidal activity of PMNs and triggers oxidative stress during acute and chronic inflammatory processes, resulting in the production of ROS. MPO can be measured in CSF as an index of inflammation (Liechti et al., 2014) and leukocyte influx (Grandgirard et al., 2012). In a review by Ray and Katyal (2016), MPO was clearly associated with the etiology of neurodegenerative disorders.

MPO is synthesized in reaction to infection (Pohanka, 2013), resulting in elevated ROS. The occurrence of oxidative stress in meningitis patients is well-described in the literature (Koedel and Pfister, 1999; Ray et al., 2000; Tsukahara et al., 2000; Christen et al., 2001; Kastenbauer et al., 2002; Klein et al., 2006; Hamed et al., 2009; Loro, 2009; Koedel et al., 2010; Mirić et al., 2010; Barichello et al., 2011). Furthermore, significant increases in MPO activity have been shown in BM-induced rats (Giridharan et al., 2017), particularly within the hippocampus and frontal cortex (Barichello et al., 2011, 2014). In a study of 59 pediatric BM cases, Mirić et al. (2010) showed no significant correlation between MPO and neutrophil count in CSF; however, CSF MPO activity did correlate with various lipid peroxidation products. Additionally, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> levels in CSF were associated with elevated BBB permeability, CSF albumin concentrations, and serum H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> concentrations. Lastly, it is important to note that MPO reacts with cell matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs - see Box 2), or their tissue inhibitors, and this is thought to contribute to the BBB dysfunction seen in such cases.

Borelli et al. (1999) proved that purified MPO, in the presence of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, exerts a consistent killing effect on Mtb, and that the MPO activity is both time and dose dependent; it also requires chloride ions for efficacy. This MPO-H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-Cl<sub>2</sub> system produces hypochlorous acid (HOCl) via activated leukocytes (Klebanoff, 2005), which in turn serves as a strong, non-radical oxidant of a wide range of biological compounds, although it is more selective than hydroxyl radicals (Hampton et al., 1998), with the following characteristics: (1) it has a preferred substrate selectivity toward thiols and thioethers, (2) an ability to convert amines to chloramines, (3) promotes chlorination of phenols and unsaturated bonds, (4) oxidizes iron centers, (5) crosslinks proteins, and (6) is membrane permeable. HOCl has also been characterized as covalently modifying lipids and/or proteins, resulting in local tissue damage and amplification of the inflammatory cascade. Furthermore, HOCl, in the presence of nitrite (NO<sup>2-</sup>) formed by stimulated PMNs, forms 3chlorotyrosine (3Cl-Tyr), and to a lesser degree, 3-nitrotyrosine (3NO<sub>2</sub>-Tyr) and N-chlorotaurine (Eiserich et al., 1998). The 3Cl-Tyr is considered a specific marker of MPO-catalyzed oxidation (Hazen and Heinecke, 1997), with GC-MS being the preferred method for quantifying it (Hazen et al., 1997; Winterbourn and Kettle, 2000). Other biomarkers of MPOderived HOCl include: chlorohydrins, protein carbonyls, anti-HOP (hypochlorous acid-oxidized protein), antibodies, 5chlorocytosine, and glutathione sulfonamide. Each with their advantages and disadvantages is described by Winterbourn and Kettle (2000). Based on the analyses of CSF collected from 79 confirmed pediatric BM cases, Rugemalira et al. (2019) indicated that elevated ratios of 3Cl-Tyr:para-tyrosine serves as a marker for MPO activation in CSF in pediatric BM cases, and potentially also for grading the severity of neuroinflammation. Furthermore, Rugemalira et al. (2019)

also proved that 3NO<sub>2</sub>-Tyr can be used as a biomarker for peroxynitrite formation and is associated with an unfavorable outcome of BM. In a study of 59 children with confirmed BM (Mirić et al., 2010), CSF MPO activity, although relatively low, was significantly increased at baseline compared to controls (n = 23), increasing even further by day 5 of treatment. It was concluded that MPO may be involved in the oxidative stress associated with BM, as well as potentially contributing to BBB disruption. Marais et al. (2016) indicated a significant increase in neutrophil-dependent inflammatory response biomarkers, including MPO, in adult TBM and HIV co-infection patients with paradoxical immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome. Lastly, Üllen et al. (2013) indicated that BBB dysfunction associated with neuroinflammation caused by MPO can be partially reversed by using para-aminobenzoic acid (PABA) hydrazide, first shown by Forghani et al. (2012) to effectively treat multiple sclerosis in mice. PABA (or vitamin Bx) is non-essential for humans, but exhibits anti-fibrotic properties. Fibrosis in the brain occurs via the proliferation or hypertrophy of glial cells, such as microglia - microgliosis, during neurotrauma caused by infection. Subsequently, PABA may later be considered for its use as a possible adjunctive therapeutic agent in TBM, since the inhibition of MPO has been posited to be a valuable therapeutic approach to reduce oxidative-stress-mediated damage in neurodegenerative diseases (Green et al., 2004).

### **INTERFERON-**<sub>γ</sub>

Interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ) is predominantly produced by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and functions by activating microglia, thereby stimulating lymphocyte Th1 differentiation (Farrar and Schreiber, 1993) and antimicrobial activity of the microglia (Mastroianni et al., 1997), after infection. A plethora of literature studies report the performance of IFN-y release assays (IGRAs) for diagnosing TB under different conditions. These studies are comprehensively covered by systematic reviews and meta-analyses and include applications to diagnosing: (1) latent Mtb infection (53 studies: Diel et al., 2011); (2) latent Mtb infection in rheumatic patients (11 studies: Ruan et al., 2016); (3) latent TB in patients with autoimmune diseases under immunosuppressive therapy (17 studies: Wong et al., 2016); (4) active TB (27 studies: Sester et al., 2011); (5) active TB among HIV-seropositive individuals (11 studies: Huo and Peng, 2016); (6) active TB in immunocompetent children (15 studies: Laurenti et al., 2016), immunodiagnosis of TB (75 studies: Pai et al., 2004); (7) active and latent TB in HIV-positive populations (32 studies; Overton et al., 2018); and (8) extra-pulmonary TB (22 studies: Zhou et al., 2015). Similarly, several studies (Table 3) using IGRAs have also been performed using CSF as a possible sample matrix for diagnosing TBM, with the two main commercially used IGRAs tested being T-SPOT.TB and QuantiFERON-TB. IGRAs function by measuring the release of IFN- $\gamma$  from T cells, after in vitro stimulation with Mtb antigens, such as early secreted antigenic target 6 (ESAT-6) and culture filtrate protein 10 (CFP-10); they are influenced by (1) the antigenic load, (2) host

responsiveness to antigens, and (3) host-pathogen interactions (Lu et al., 2017).

Consolidating from the literature, the CSF studies on IGRAs as a diagnostic tool for TBM (**Table 3**), a weighted average of the diagnostic performance of IGRAs (pooled from 326 TBM cases) was calculated to give an overall average sensitivity and specificity of 65 and 87%, respectively – insufficient for application as a stand-alone diagnostic tool. On similar data, a meta-analysis of 6 studies from the literature, all using IGRAs conducted on CSF, showed a pooled (156 cases) sensitivity of 77% (69–84%) and specificity of 88% (74–95%) for TBM diagnostic applications (Yu et al., 2016). Furthermore, IGRAs require 3–7 mL of CSF, a volume often unobtainable, especially from children and infants. Moreover, the measure of sensitivity and specificity is dependent upon a pre-defined cut-off point which is currently not yet standardized.

The use of IGRAs for the differential diagnosis of meningitis has, however, yielded a practical outcome. Chonmaitree and Baron (1991) analyzed CSF from 16 VM and 41 BM cases and determined that elevated concentrations of IFN-y were present in 75 and 24% of these patient groups, respectively. A review of the literature (1964–1991) by Chonmaitree and Baron (1991) revealed a similar trend, showing elevated concentrations of IFN-y in 68% (133/196) of all VM patients (based on 11 studies), whereas in patients with BM, only 28% (59/189) showed elevated IFN- $\gamma$  in the pooled population (8 studies used). Hence, patients with VM exhibit higher IFN-y levels than those with BM. Based upon quantified data in 50 patients with VM, using a radioimmunoassay, Minamishima et al. (1991) determined CSF IFN-  $\gamma$  to be on average 9.8  $\pm$  7.5 UI/mL. Minamishima et al. additionally suggested that IFN- $\gamma$  produced in the inflamed intrathecal space may be associated with the pathogenesis of the disease, and associated the elevated CSF IFN- $\gamma$  levels with (1) CSF protein concentrations, (2) total cell counts, and (3) number of febrile episodes. San Juan et al. (2006), also using a radioimmunoassay on CSF collected from patients, calculated a mean IFN- $\gamma$  for definite (n = 12) and probable (n = 8) TBM patients to be 28.7  $\pm$  8.2 and 10.6  $\pm$  2.8 UI/L, respectively. However, Ohga et al. (1994) showed only 3 out of the 13 BM patients investigated, and Kornelisse et al. (1997) only 20 of 35 BM patients investigated, to have CSF IFN-y elevated to concentrations above the detection limit of 10 pg/mL. In an analysis of 30 TBM patients, Lu et al. (2016) determined, via ELISA, a mean CSF IFN-y value for patients with TBM to be  $350.97 \pm 372.94$  pg/mL. Lu et al. also determined that in 10 of these TBM patients the average CSF IFN- $\gamma$  levels were 500.48 pg/mL before treatment and 103.62 pg/mL following 4 weeks of treatment, indicating that while IFN- $\gamma$  decreased significantly (5-fold), it still remained elevated compared to the norm, after 4 weeks of treatment (that is, inflammation in the brain persisted). Mansour et al. (2005) reported a highly elevated mean concentration of CSF IFN- $\gamma$  (794  $\pm$  530 pg/mL) in 39 patients with TBM (all of whom were HIV negative) prior to receiving medication, which was correlated with markers of neuroinflamation in these individuals. Mansour et al. (2005) also showed that the CSF IFN- $\gamma$  remained elevated for many weeks after treatment was begun in patients

References	IGRA	TBM cases (n)	Sensitivity % (range)	Specificity % (range)
Pan et al. (2017)	T-SPOT.TB	53	61 (40–92)	97 (75–100)
Lu et al. (2017)	T-SPOT.TB	61	62 (49–74)	73 (62–82)
Qin et al. (2015)	T-SPOT.TB	12	92 (62–100)	93 (76–99)
Park et al. (2012)	T-SPOT.TB	25	72 (51–88)	79 (66–89)
Kim et al. (2010)	T-SPOT.TB	31	71 (51–86)	89 (72–98)
Patel et al. (2010)	T-SPOT.TB	38	58 (41–74)	94 (83–99)
Thomas et al. (2008)	T-SPOT.TB	10	90 (56–100)	100 (59–100)
Caliman-Sturdza et al. (2015)	QuantiFERON-TB	63	84	98
Vidhate et al. (2011)	QuantiFERON-TB	36	13 (2–40)	63 (35–85)
Weighted average diagnostic performance of IGRAs		329	65	87

TABLE 3 | Performance of IGRAs on CSF from TBM cases as a stand-alone diagnostic tool.

with TBM, whereas in those cases diagnosed with VM and BM the CSF IFN- $\gamma$  returned to undetectable concentrations within a couple of days post-treatment. Considering all of the above, patients with VM and TBM exhibit a similar increase in CSF IFN- $\gamma$  levels, both far greater than in patients with BM. This suggests that CSF IFN- $\gamma$  could potentially be used as a differential diagnostic marker for the exclusion of BM. Furthermore, CSF IFN- $\gamma$  levels in TBM cases remain elevated for weeks following treatment, differentiating TBM from VM. However, as described previously, in order to acquire a definitive TBM diagnosis additional measures of CSF parameters are needed.

In summary, the overall trend across all CSF VEGF studies is a significantly higher concentration of VEGF in TBM patients than in other cases of meningitis. Of further note, Van der Flier et al. (2004) reports significantly increased CSF VEGF (178  $\pm$  52 pg/mL) in TBM patients with nausea and vomiting, indicating that elevated CSF VEGF has a potential direct impact on the BGA, leading to a perturbed gut. CSF IFN- $\gamma$  levels show a similar increase in TBM and VM but less so in BM. Hence, CSF IFN- $\gamma$ levels could potentially be used for the exclusion of the diagnosis of BM. The HOCl produced by the MPO-H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-Cl<sub>2</sub> system yields similar oxidative markers in both TBM and BM.

The addition of VEGF and MPO with IFN- $\gamma$ , as part of a 3marker immunological biosignature of TBM in CSF (Manyelo et al., 2019), has yielded a diagnostic measure with an AUC of 0.97, and a sensitivity and specificity of up to 91.3% and up to 100%, respectively. Hence, this 3-marker biosignature yields excellent results for diagnosis of TBM from a CSF sample. But, what of the urinary metabolomics profile? If these three immunological markers are present in the CSF of a TBM patient, then a downstream metabolic effect, based upon the BGA, should be reflected in the urine. This concept is explored in our proposed predictive metabolic model that follows.

### PROPOSED PREDICTIVE METABOLIC MODEL OF TBM IN THE BRAIN BASED UPON IFN- $\gamma$ , MPO AND VEGF

Given the background of IFN- $\gamma$ , MPO, and VEGF described above, and the associated metabolic pathways of these signaling

compounds, we propose a predictive metabolic model for TBM in the brain based upon previously published biochemistry fundamentals. This model, illustrated in **Figure 1**, shows the interaction of the overlapping metabolic cascades initiated by TBM, and its associated 3-marker CSF immunological signature.

Our predictive metabolic model shows how increased levels of VEGF result in a persistent metabolic burst caused by the induction of angiogenesis (Stapor et al., 2014; Treps et al., 2016), whereby glycolysis, and the release of glycogen from astrocyte stores to fuel glycolysis, is increased significantly. Secondary pathways that are subsequently upregulated include: (1) the pentose phosphate pathway, that contributes to an elevated synthesis of glutathione (Ben-Yoseph et al., 1996), elevated xylulose-5-phosphate (also via phosphoenolpyruvate in the glycolysis pathway) to fuel tryptophan catabolism (Stephanopoulos and Simpson, 1997; Simpson et al., 1999; Maria et al., 2018), and elevated purine and pyrimidine synthesis (Zimmer, 1988, 1996); (2) the hexosamine pathway, which contributes to increased O- and N-protein glycosylation, imperative for the host's immune response since glycosylation controls cell migration, host defense, and antigenicity (Varki, 1993); (3) increased  $\beta$ -oxidation providing substrate in the form of diacylglycerol from downstream catabolism of dihydroxyacetone phosphate and activation of protein kinase C from VEGF (Takahashi et al., 1999; Harhaj et al., 2006), ultimately yielding increased acetyl-CoA; and (4) the boosted mitochondrial citric acid (TCA) cycle, due to the increased acetyl-CoA. The elevated TCA intermediate  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate ( $\alpha$ -KG), previously indicated to be a urinary marker of TBM (Mason et al., 2016), contributes to glutamate synthesis and downstream glutathione (GSH) production, the latter being a needed antioxidant, synthesized in response to the elevated MPO.

Increased levels of IFN- $\gamma$ , stimulated by Mtb-induced antigens (Blumenthal et al., 2012; Lu et al., 2017), specifically upregulate indoleamine dioxygenase (Yoshida et al., 1981; Taylor and Feng, 1991; Hashioka et al., 2017), the initial enzyme in the tryptophan catabolic pathway. A massive burst in tryptophan catabolism results in astrocyte-based kynurenic acid and microglia-based quinolinic acid synthesis – also previously identified urinary markers of TBM (Mason et al., 2016). Several enzymes within the tryptophan metabolic pathway require pyridoxal-5phosphate (P-5-P), an active form of vitamin B<sub>6</sub>, as a cofactor.



 $\alpha$ -NG,  $\alpha$ -Retoglutarate, Glu, glutarinate, Glin, glutarinine, GSH, glutatinone (reduced), F-5-F, pyroxidar-5-phosphate (vitarini  $D_6$ ).

Deficiency of P-5-P diverts tryptophan metabolism from production of NAD to the excessive formation of xanthurenic acid (Oxenkrug, 2013), and subsequently apoptosis. One of the mechanisms of insulin resistance is inflammation-induced upregulation of tryptophan metabolism in combination with P-5-P-deficiency-induced diversion of tryptophan metabolism leading to formation of xanthurenic acid and other kynurenine derivatives that affect insulin activity (Oxenkrug, 2013). It has been shown that reduced insulin levels may lead to uncontrolled glucose metabolism - previously described in individuals with diabetes (American Diabetes Association, 2013), pulmonary TB (Preez et al., 2017) and, recently, in runners after a marathon (Stander et al., 2018), all of which are associated with a severe inflammatory response. As depicted in our model, uncontrolled glucose metabolism can result in glucose being oxidized via glucose oxidase to produce gluconolactone, in addition to hydrogen peroxide, previously reported to occur in both diabetes and pulmonary TB (Preez et al., 2017). The gluconolactone subsequently becomes siphoned into the pentose phosphate pathway via hydrolysis to form gluconic acid and phosphorylation with ATP to produce 6-phosphogluconate lactone (Dickens and Glock, 1951;

Rohatgi et al., 2014). The consequential elevated  $H_2O_2$ , and its interaction with raised MPO, leads to the activation of various oxidative stress pathways (Hampton et al., 1998; Podrez et al., 2000; Klebanoff, 2005), as depicted in **Figure 1**, and described above. The two final urinary markers of elevated MPO and of HOCl, via the MPO- $H_2O_2$ - $Cl_2$  system, are predicted to be glutathione sulfonamide and 3-chlorotyrosine (Winterbourn and Kettle, 2000).

Furthermore, the burst from both the glycolysis (via pyruvate) and tryptophan catabolism (via hydration of kynurenine to form alanine; Kotake and Nakayama, 1941) pathways yields increasingly elevated levels of extracellular lactate. This lactate pool is essential in the lately proposed astrocyte-microglia lactate shuttle (AMLS, Mason et al., 2015), since lactate plays a dual role of being a preferred source of energy in the brain during TBM as well as also being neuroprotective (Mason, 2017), diverting lactate away from neurons (thereby deactivating neurons to protect them) toward activated microglia in an attempt to eradicate the immediate insult/infection. This increase in lactate in TBM is predicted to be present in elevated amounts in the urine of TBM patients.

The predictive metabolic model presented here, although speculative, is based upon three validated immunological markers of TBM. The subsequent activated metabolic pathways in the brain are based upon biochemistry fundamentals and supported by the literature, as discussed. The end-product metabolites that act as metabolic markers of TBM are expected to cross the BBB and travel in the blood circulation and interact with the gut. The principal limitation of our model is that, in its current form, it can predict only the endproduct metabolites from the TBM-infected brain, with the assumption that no other systemic co-infection is present. The complex interactions with the gut microbiota are poorly understood and require further research. However, based upon previous urinary metabolomics studies reported in this review, experimental evidence is emerging that points toward an altered gut metabolism. Hence, changes in gut metabolism became the fourth component of our proposed urinary metabolic profile of a TBM patient. The specifics of the complex relationship between host and gut-microbiome and the details of the altered metabolic profile of the gut under pathophysiological states remain a hot topic.

## CONCLUSION

The significance of this review is that it takes a newly established paradigm within the neurosciences – the BGA – and critically examines the literature from a relatively unexplored niche perspective – chronic neuroinflammation caused by CNS bacterial infection(s) of the brain, using TBM as an example. We posit that if the BGA exists then chronic neuroinflammation within the brain caused by pathogenic bacteria (Mtb) will influence the gut microbiota, and the ideal biofluid to analyze this, reflecting the associated systemic changes, is urine. We support our postulate with data from published studies on urinary metabolomics, as follows.

First, the strength of untargeted urinary metabolomics is clearly demonstrated in the literature. A previous untargeted urinary metabolomics study conducted on TBM cases, by Mason et al. (2016), yielded data that, when analyzed in a non-biased, holisitic manner, resulted in a putative urinary metabolic signature characterizing TBM that was interpreted in a hypothesis-generating perspective. Independently, using similar analytical platforms in metabolomics, Das et al. (2015) and Luies and Loots (2016) examined urinary metabolomics profiles of pulmonary TB patients, and came to similar conclusions – the most significant of which, in the context of this review, were that infection by Mtb results in an altered gut-microbiome and this is substantiated by altered microbiome markers in the urine of these patients.

Second, we take an independent, and initially unrelated, study that closely examined the immunological profile of TBM, in which three specific immunological markers in the CSF associated with neuroinflammation – VEGF, IFN-y, and MPO – were validated as diagnostic markers of TBM. We explored the background behind this 3-marker CSF immunological signature of TBM, in the context of its influence on the gut-microbiome and the subsequently altered urinary metabolome, using previously discovered urinary metabolites in TBM patients as proof (such as  $\alpha$ -KG, and the tryptophan catabolites 3-hydroxykynurenic acid and quinolinic acid) (Mason et al., 2016). By extension, we also predict other metabolic pathways that would be expected to be changed within our model.

Third, we combined the sciences of immunology and metabolomics to create a novel integrated predictive metabolic model of TBM in the brain. By integrating relevant information from systems biology, our predictive cascading metabolic model should be adjustable to account for other types of bacterial infection(s) of the CNS that cause chronic neuroinflammation, such as neurosyphilis, bacterial brain abscesses and Lyme disease, as well as chronic non-bacterial CNS infections that are common in resource-constrained settings of poor communities, and sometimes difficult to distinguish from TBM, such as cerebral malaria and cryptococcal meningitis. Being so identified, based upon the literature, patients with VM and TBM exhibit a similar increase in CSF IFN- $\gamma$  levels, both far greater than in patients with BM. Hence, a predictive metabolic model of cerebral malaria and cryptococcal meningitis would likely exclude CSFbased IFN-y and its subsequent downstream cascading metabolic influence - that is, no downstream tryptophan metabolic catabolites. What remains to be done is to identify the unique immunological markers associated with these other bacterial infection(s) of the CNS and predict and confirm their associated downstream metabolic markers that should be reflected in urine, which could be used diagnostically or to characterize these diseases better.

In short, analysis of urinary metabolic profiles offers a wealth of metabolic information that can be traced back to an altered gut-microbiome, and to an inherently changed BGA, induced by chronic neuroinflammation from bacterial infection(s) of the CNS. This metabolic information from urine holds within it the potential to contribute to improved and early differential diagnosis of bacterial infection(s) in the CNS – a quicker and less invasive method of diagnosis than currently available. The review presented here provides support that, by taking existing validated immunological markers of infectious diseases in conjunction with metabolomics data and biochemistry fundamentals, it is possible to predict downstream metabolic products, most likely detectable via urinary metabolic profiling methods.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SM conceptualized the manuscript. SI, SM, and DL planned the outline of the manuscript. SI wrote the manuscript. SM and DL supervised SI in the writing of the manuscript by providing critical feedback. RS provided clinical input and critically read the manuscript. All co-authors read and approved the final draft for submission.

### REFERENCES

- Abbott, N. J., Patabendige, A. A., Dolman, D. E., Yusof, S. R., and Begley, D. J. (2010). Structure and function of the blood-brain barrier. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 37, 13–25.
- Abdel-Haq, R., Schlachetzki, J. C. M., Glass, C. K., and Mazmanian, S. K. (2019). Microbiome-microglia connections via the gut-brain axis. J. Exp. Med. 216, 41–59. doi: 10.1084/jem.20180794
- Abdulrab, A., Algobaty, F., Salem, A. K., and Mohammed, Y. A. K. (2010). Acute bacterial meningitis in adults: a hospital based study in Yemen. *Jpn. J. Infect. Dis.* 63, 128–131.
- Akiyoshi, R., Wake, H., Kato, D., Horiuchi, H., Ono, R., Ikegami, A., et al. (2018). Microglia enhance synapse activity to promote local network synchronization. *Eneuro* 5 ENEURO.88–ENEURO.18.
- Al Khorasani, A., and Banajeh, S. (2006). Bacterial profile and clinical outcome of childhood meningitis in rural Yemen: a 2-year hospital-based study. J. Infect. 53, 228–234. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2005.12.004
- Altieri, L., Neri, C., Sacco, R., Curatolo, P., Benvenuto, A., Muratori, F., et al. (2011). Urinary p-cresol is elevated in small children with severe autism spectrum disorder. J. Biomark. 16, 252–260. doi: 10.3109/1354750x.2010.548010
- Ambrosini, Y. M., Borcherding, D. C., Kanthasamy, A., Kim, H. J., Willette, A. A., Jergens, A. E., et al. (2019). The gut-brain-axis in neurodegenerative diseases and relevance of the canine model: a review. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 11:130.
- American Diabetes Association (2013). Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care* 36(Suppl. 1), S67–S74.
- An, M., and Gao, Y. (2015). Urinary biomarkers of brain diseases. *Genom. Proteom. Bioinf.* 13, 345–354. doi: 10.1016/j.gpb.2015.08.005
- Aziz, Q., and Thompson, D. G. (1998). Brain-gut axis in health and disease. Gastroenterology 114, 559–578. doi: 10.1016/s0016-5085(98)70540-2
- Bahr, N. C., Tugume, L., and Boulware, D. R. (2016). A word of caution in considering the use of the lipoarabinomannan lateral flow assay on cerebrospinal fluid for detection of tuberculous meningitis. J. Clin. Microbiol. 54, 241–242. doi: 10.1128/jcm.02753-15
- Bahr, N. C., Tugume, L., Rajasingham, R., Kiggundu, R., Williams, D. A., Morawski, B., et al. (2015). Improved diagnostic sensitivity for tuberculous meningitis with Xpert(<sup>®</sup>) MTB/RIF of centrifuged CSF. *Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis.* 19, 1209–1215. doi: 10.5588/ijtld.15.0253
- Banday, K. M., Pasikanti, K. K., Chan, E. C. Y., Singla, R., Rao, K. V. S., Chauhan, V. S., et al. (2011). Use of urine volatile organic compounds to discriminate tuberculosis patients from healthy subjects. *Anal. Chem.* 83, 5526–5534. doi: 10.1021/ac200265g
- Barichello, T., Lemos, J. C., Generoso, J. S., Cipriano, A. L., Milioli, G. L., Marcelino, D. M., et al. (2011). Oxidative stress, cytokine/chemokine and disruption of blood-brain barrier in neonate rats after meningitis by Streptococcus agalactiae. *Neurochem. Res.* 36, 1922–1930. doi: 10.1007/s11064-011-0514-2
- Barichello, T., Simões, L. R., Generoso, J. S., Sangiogo, G., Danielski, L. G., Florentino, D., et al. (2014). Erythropoietin prevents cognitive impairment and oxidative parameters in Wistar rats subjected to pneumococcal meningitis. *Transl. Res.* 163, 503–513. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2013.12.008
- Barnes, R. A., Jenkins, P., and Coakley, W. T. (1998). Preliminary clinical evaluation of meningococcal disease and bacterial meningitis by ultrasonic enhancement. *Arch. Dis. Child.* 78, 58–60. doi: 10.1136/adc.78.1.58
- Bauer, K. C., Huus, K. E., and Finlay, B. B. (2016). Microbes and the mind: emerging hallmarks of the gut microbiota-brain axis. *Cell. Microbiol.* 18, 632–644. doi: 10.1111/cmi.12585
- Ben-Yoseph, O., Boxer, P. A., and Ross, B. D. (1996). Assessment of the role of the glutathione and pentose phosphate pathways in the protection of primary cerebrocortical cultures from oxidative stress. *J. Neurochem.* 66, 2329–2337. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1996.66062329.x
- Bercik, P., Denou, E., Collins, J., Jackson, W., Lu, J., Jury, J., et al. (2011). The intestinal microbiota affect central levels of brain-derived neurotropic factor and behavior in mice. *Gastroenterology* 141, 599–609.
- Beste, D. J., Bonde, B., Hawkins, N., Ward, J. L., Beale, M. H., Noack, S., et al. (2011). 13C metabolic flux analysis identifies an unusual route for pyruvate dissimilation in mycobacteria which requires isocitrate lyase and carbon dioxide fixation. *PLoS Pathog.* 7:e1002091. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002091
- Beste, D. J., Nöh, K., Niedenführ, S., Mendum, T. A., Hawkins, N. D., Ward, J. L., et al. (2013). 13C-flux spectral analysis of host-pathogen metabolism reveals

a mixed diet for intracellular Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J. Chem. Biol. 20, 1012–1021. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2013.06.012

- Blok, N., Visser, D. H., Solomons, R., Van Elsland, S. L., den Hertog, A. L., and van Furth, A. M. (2014). Lipoarabinomannan enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for early diagnosis of childhood tuberculous meningitis. *Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis.* 18, 205–210. doi: 10.5588/ijtld.13.0526
- Blumenthal, A., Nagalingam, G., Huch, J. H., Walker, L., Guillemin, G. J., Smythe, G. A., et al. (2012). M. *tuberculosis* induces potent activation of IDO-1, but this is not essential for the immunological control of infection. *PLoS ONE* 7:e37314. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0037314
- Boehme, C., Molokova, E., Minja, F., Geis, S., Loscher, T., Maboko, L., et al. (2005).
   Detection of mycobacterial lipoarabinomannan with an antigen-capture ELISA in unprocessed urine of Tanzanian patients with suspected tuberculosis. *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.* 99, 893–900. doi: 10.1016/j.trstmh.2005.04.014
- Bonkat, G. (2012). Detection of Mycobateria in Urine Using Isothermal Microcalorimetry: Implication for Urogenital tuberculosis and Other Mycobacterial Infection. Doctoral dissertation., Stellenbosch University, Stellenbosch.
- Borelli, V., Banfi, E., Perrotta, M. G., and Zabucchi, G. (1999). Myeloperoxidase exerts microbicidal activity against Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Infect. Immun.* 67, 4149–4152. doi: 10.1128/iai.67.8.4149-4152.1999
- Borovikova, L. V., Ivanova, S., Zhang, M., Yang, H., Botchkina, G. I., Watkins, L. R., et al. (2000). Vagus nerve stimulation attenuates the systemic inflammatory response to endotoxin. *Nature* 405, 458–462. doi: 10.1038/35013070
- Bouatra, S., Aziat, F., Mandal, R., Guo, A. C., Wilson, M. R., Knox, C., et al. (2013). The human urine metabolome. *PLoS ONE* 8:e73076. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0073076
- Braak, H., Del Tredici, K., Rüb, U., De Vos, R. A., Steur, E. N. J., and Braak, E. (2003). Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 24, 197–211. doi: 10.1016/s0197-4580(02)00065-9
- Braun, J. S., Sublett, J. E., Freyer, D., Mitchell, T. J., Cleveland, J. L., Tuomanen, E. I., et al. (2002). Pneumococcal pneumolysin and H2O2 mediate brain cell apoptosis during meningitis. *J. Clin. Investig.* 109, 19–27. doi: 10.1172/jci12035
- Brooks, L. R., and Mias, G. I. (2018). *Streptococcus pneumoniae*'s virulence and host immunity: aging, diagnostics, and prevention. *Front. Immunol.* 9:1366.
- Cai, H. L., Li, H. D., Yan, X. Z., Sun, B., Zhang, Q., Yan, M., et al. (2012). Metabolomic analysis of biochemical changes in the plasma and urine of first-episode neuroleptic-naive schizophrenia patients after treatment with risperidone. J. Proteome Res. 11, 4338–4350. doi: 10.1021/pr300459d
- Caliman-Sturdza, O. A., Mihalache, D., and Luca, C. M. (2015). Performance of an interferon-gamma release assay in the diagnosis of tuberculous meningitis in children. *Rev. Rom. Med. Lab.* 23, 199–212.
- Cantiera, M., Tattevin, P., and Sonneville, R. (2019). Brain abscess in immunocompetent adult patients. *Rev. Neurol.* 175, 469–474. doi: 10.1016/j. neurol.2019.07.002
- Chegou, N. N., Walzl, G., Bolliger, C. T., Diacon, A. H., and Van Den Heuvel, M. M. (2008). Evaluation of adapted whole-blood interferon-γ release assays for the diagnosis of pleural tuberculosis. *Respiration* 76, 131–138. doi: 10.1159/ 000128575
- Chen, J. J., Liu, Z., Fan, S. H., Yang, D. Y., Zheng, P., Shao, W. H., et al. (2014). Combined application of NMR-and GC-MS-based metabonomics yields a superior urinary biomarker panel for bipolar disorder. *Sci. Rep.* 4, 1–6.
- Chonmaitree, T., and Baron, S. (1991). Bacteria and viruses induce production of interferon in the cerebrospinal fluid of children with acute meningitis: a study of 57 cases and review. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 13, 1061–1065. doi: 10.1093/clinids/13. 6.1061
- Christen, S., Schaper, M., Lykkesfeldt, J., Siegenthaler, C., Bifrare, Y. D., Baniè, S., et al. (2001). Oxidative stress in brain during experimental bacterial meningitis: differential effects of α-phenyl-tert-butyl nitrone and N-acetylcysteine treatment. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 31, 754–762. doi: 10.1016/ s0891-5849(01)00642-6
- Clemente, J. C., Ursell, L. K., Parfrey, L. W., and Knight, R. (2012). The impact of the gut microbiota on human health: an integrative view. *Cell* 148, 1258–1270. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.01.035
- Coenjaerts, F. E., Flier, M. V. D., Mwinzi, P. N., Brouwer, A. E., Scharringa, J., Chaka, W. S., et al. (2004). Intrathecal production and secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor during cryptococcal meningitis. *J. Infect. Dis.* 190, 1310–1317. doi: 10.1086/423849

- Cohen, T., Nahari, D., Cerem, L. W., Neufeld, G., and Levi, B. Z. (1996). Interleukin 6 induces the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271, 736–741. doi: 10.1074/jbc.271.2.736
- Collins, S. M., and Bercik, P. (2009). The relationship between intestinal microbiota and the central nervous system in normal gastrointestinal function and disease. *Gastroenterology* 136, 2003–2014. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.01.075
- Collins, S. M., Surette, M., and Bercik, P. (2012). The interplay between the intestinal microbiota and the brain. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 10, 735–742. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2876
- Cong, X., Henderson, W. A., Graf, J., and McGrath, J. M. (2015). Early life experience and gut microbiome: the brain-gut-microbiota signaling system. *Adv. Neonatal Care* 15:314. doi: 10.1097/anc.000000000000191
- Connick, P., De Angelis, F., Parker, R. A., Plantone, D., Doshi, A., John, N., et al. (2018). Multiple sclerosis-secondary progressive multi-arm randomisation trial (MS-SMART): a multiarm phase IIb randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled clinical trial comparing the efficacy of three neuroprotective drugs in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *BMJ Open* 8:e021944. doi: 10.1136/ bmjopen-2018-021944
- Connolly, D. T. (1991). Vascular permeability factor: a unique regulator of blood vessel function. J. Cell. Biochem. 47, 219–223. doi: 10.1002/jcb.240470306
- Cox, J. A., Lukande, R. L., Kalungi, S., Van Marck, E., Lammens, M., Van de Vijver, K., et al. (2015). Accuracy of lipoarabinomannan and Xpert MTB/RIF testing in cerebrospinal fluid to diagnose tuberculous meningitis in an autopsy cohort of HIV-infected adults. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 53, 2667–2673. doi: 10.1128/jcm. 00624-15
- Cryan, J. F., and Dinan, T. G. (2012). Mind-altering microorganisms: the impact of the gut microbiota on brain and behaviour. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 13, 701–712. doi: 10.1038/nrn3346
- Cryan, J. F., O'Riordan, K. J., Cowan, C. S., Sandhu, K. V., Bastiaanssen, T. F., Boehme, M., et al. (2019). The microbiota-gut-brain axis. *Physiol. Rev.* 99, 1877–2013.
- D'Amico, E., Patti, F., Zanghi, A., and Zappia, M. (2016). A personalized approach in progressive multiple sclerosis: the current status of disease modifying therapies (DMTs) and future perspectives. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 17:1725. doi: 10.3390/ ijms17101725
- Dando, S. J., Mackay-Sim, A., Norton, R., Currie, B. J., John, J. A. S., Ekberg, J. A., et al. (2014). Pathogens penetrating the central nervous system: infection pathways and the cellular and molecular mechanisms of invasion. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 27, 691–726. doi: 10.1128/cmr.00118-13
- Das, M. K., Bishwal, S. C., Das, A., Dabral, D., Badireddy, V. K., Pandit, B., et al. (2015). Deregulated tyrosine-phenylalanine metabolism in pulmonary tuberculosis patients. *J. Proteome Res.* 14, 1947–1956. doi: 10.1021/acs. jproteome.5b00016
- Dastur, D. K., Manghani, D. K., and Udani, P. M. (1995). Pathology and pathogenetic mechanisms in neurotuberculosis. *Radiol. Clin. North Am.* 33, 733–752.
- De Angelis, M., Francavilla, R., Piccolo, M., De Giacomo, A., and Gobbetti, M. (2015). Autism spectrum disorders and intestinal microbiota. *Gut Microbes* 6, 207–213. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2015.1035855
- de Carvalho, L. P. S., Fischer, S. M., Marrero, J., Nathan, C., Ehrt, S., and Rhee, K. Y. (2010). Metabolomics of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* reveals compartmentalized co-catabolism of carbon substrates. *J. Chem. Biol.* 17, 1122– 1131. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2010.08.009
- de Punder, K., and Pruimboom, L. (2015). Stress induces endotoxemia and lowgrade inflammation by increasing barrier permeability. *Front. Immunol.* 6:223.
- Dendrou, C. A., Fugger, L., and Friese, M. A. (2015). Immunopathology of multiple sclerosis. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 15, 545–558.
- Dickens, F., and Glock, G. E. (1951). Direct oxidation of glucose-6-phosphate, 6-phosphogluconate and pentose-5-phosphates by enzymes of animal origin. *Biochem. J.* 50, 81–95. doi: 10.1042/bj0500081
- Diel, R., Goletti, D., Ferrara, G., Bothamley, G., Cirillo, D., Kampmann, B., et al. (2011). Interferon-γ release assays for the diagnosis of latent Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur. Respr. J.* 37, 88–99.
- DiSabato, D. J., Quan, N., and Godbout, J. P. (2016). Neuroinflammation: the devil is in the details. *J. Neurochem.* 139, 136–153. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13607
- Dobrogowska, D. H., Lossinsky, A. S., Tarnawski, M., and Vorbrodt, A. W. (1998). Increased blood-brain barrier permeability and endothelial abnormalities induced by vascular endothelial growth factor. J. Neurocytol. 27, 163–173.

- Donald, P. R., Schaaf, H. S., and Schoeman, J. F. (2005). Tuberculous meningitis and miliary tuberculosis: the Rich focus revisited. J. Infect. 50, 193–195. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2004.02.010
- Doran, K. S., Fulde, M., Gratz, N., Kim, B. J., Nau, R., Prasadarao, N., et al. (2016). Host-pathogen interactions in bacterial meningitis. *Acta Neuropathol.* 131, 185–209.
- Dumas, M. E., Rothwell, A. R., Hoyles, L., Aranias, T., Chilloux, J., Calderari, S., et al. (2017). Microbial-host co-metabolites are prodromal markers predicting phenotypic heterogeneity in behavior, obesity, and impaired glucose tolerance. *Cell Rep.* 20, 136–148. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.06.039
- Durand, M. L., Calderwood, S. B., Weber, D. J., Miller, S. I., Southwick, F. S., Caviness, V. S. Jr., et al. (1993). Acute bacterial meningitis in adults-a review of 493 episodes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 328:21–28. doi: 10.1056/nejm19930107328 0104
- Eisenstein, M. (2016). Microbiome: bacterial broadband. Nature 533:S104.
- Eiserich, J. P., Hristova, M., Cross, C. E., Jones, A. D., Freeman, B. A., Halliwell, B., et al. (1998). Formation of nitric oxide-derived inflammatory oxidants by myeloperoxidase in neutrophils. *Nature* 391:393. doi: 10.1038/34923
- Emwas, A. H., Luchinat, C., Turano, P., Tenori, L., Roy, R., Salek, R. M., et al. (2015). Standardizing the experimental conditions for using urine in NMRbased metabolomic studies with a particular focus on diagnostic studies: a review. *Metabolomics* 11, 872–894. doi: 10.1007/s11306-014-0746-7
- Farrar, M. A., and Schreiber, R. D. (1993). The molecular cell biology of interferongamma and its receptor. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 11, 571–611. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.iy.11.040193.003035
- Farzi, A., Fröhlich, E. E., and Holzer, P. (2018). Gut microbiota and the neuroendocrine system. *Neurotherapeutics* 15, 5–22. doi: 10.1007/s13311-017-0600-5
- Fattorusso, A., Di Genova, L., Dell'Isola, G. B., Mencaroni, E., and Esposito, S. (2019). Autism spectrum disorders and the gut microbiota. *Nutrients* 11:521. doi: 10.3390/nu11030521
- Fava, R. A., Olsen, N. J., Spencer-Green, G., Yeo, K. T., Yeo, T. K., Berse, B., et al. (1994). Vascular permeability factor/endothelial growth factor (VPF/VEGF): accumulation and expression in human synovial fluids and rheumatoid synovial tissue. J. Exp. Med. 180, 341–346. doi: 10.1084/jem.180.1.341
- Feng, D., Nagy, J. A., Hipp, J., Dvorak, H. F., and Dvorak, A. M. (1996). Vesiculo-vacuolar organelles and the regulation of venule permeability to macromolecules by vascular permeability factor, histamine, and serotonin. *J. Exp. Med.* 183, 1981–1986. doi: 10.1084/jem.183.5.1981
- Fitzgerald, E., Murphy, S., and Martinson, H. A. (2019). Alpha-synuclein pathology and the role of the microbiota in Parkinson's disease. *Front. Neurosci.* 13:369.
- Forghani, R., Wojtkiewicz, G. R., Zhang, Y., Seeburg, D., Bautz, B. R., Pulli, B., et al. (2012). Demyelinating diseases: myeloperoxidase as an imaging biomarker and therapeutic target. *Radiology* 263, 451–460. doi: 10.1148/radiol.12111593
- Forsythe, P., Bienenstock, J., and Kunze, W. A. (2014). "Vagal pathways for microbiome-brain-gut axis communication," in *Microbial Endocrinology: The Microbiota-Gut-Brain Axis in Health and Disease*, eds M. Lyte and J. F. Cryan (Berlin: Springer), 115–133. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-0897-4\_5
- Forsythe, P., Sudo, N., Dinan, T., Taylor, V. H., and Bienenstock, J. (2010). Mood and gut feelings. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 24, 9–16.
- Foster, J. A., and Neufeld, K. A. M. (2013). Gut-brain axis: how the microbiome influences anxiety and depression. *Trends Neurosci.* 36, 305–312. doi: 10.1016/ j.tins.2013.01.005
- Friedland, R. P., and Chapman, M. R. (2017). The role of microbial amyloid in neurodegeneration. *PLoS Pathog.* 13:e1006654. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat. 1006654
- Gabriele, S., Sacco, R., Cerullo, S., Neri, C., Urbani, A., Tripi, G., et al. (2014). Urinary p-cresol is elevated in young French children with autism spectrum disorder: a replication study. *Biomarkers* 19, 463–470. doi: 10.3109/1354750x. 2014.936911
- Geyer, S., Jacobs, M., and Hsu, N. J. (2019). Immunity against bacterial infection of the central nervous system: an astrocyte perspective. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 12:57.
- Giridharan, V. V., Simões, L. R., Dagostin, V. S., Generoso, J. S., Rezin, G. T., Florentino, D., et al. (2017). Temporal changes of oxidative stress markers in *Escherichia coli* K1-induced experimental meningitis in a neonatal rat model. *Neurosci. Lett.* 653, 288–295. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2017.06.002
- Goehler, L. E., Gaykema, R. P. A., Nguyen, K. T., Lee, J. E., Tilders, F. J. H., Maier, S. F., et al. (1999). Interleukin-1β in immune cells of the abdominal vagus nerve:

a link between the immune and nervous systems? J. Neurosci. 19, 2799–2806. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.19-07-02799.1999

- Goehler, L. E., Gaykema, R. P. A., Opitz, N., Reddaway, R., Badr, N., and Lyte, M. (2005). Activation in vagal afferents and central autonomic pathways: early responses to intestinal infection with *Campylobacter jejuni. Brain Behav. Immun.* 19, 334–344. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2004.09.002
- Grandgirard, D., Burri, M., Agyeman, P., and Leib, S. L. (2012). Adjunctive daptomycin attenuates brain damage and hearing loss more efficiently than rifampin in infant rat pneumococcal meningitis. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*. 56, 4289–4295. doi: 10.1128/aac.00674-12
- Grandgirard, D., Gäumann, R., Coulibaly, B., Dangy, J. P., Sie, A., Junghanss, T., et al. (2013). The causative pathogen determines the inflammatory profile in cerebrospinal fluid and outcome in patients with bacterial meningitis. *Mediat. Inflamm.* 2013:312476.

Gray, F. (1997). Bacterial infections. Brain Pathol. 7, 629-647.

- Green, P. S., Mendez, A. J., Jacob, J. S., Crowley, J. R., Growdon, W., Hyman, B. T., et al. (2004). Neuronal expression of myeloperoxidase is increased in Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurochem. 90, 724–733.
- Green, S. A., Rudie, J. D., Colich, N. L., Wood, J. J., Shirinyan, D., Hernandez, L., et al. (2013). Overreactive brain responses to sensory stimuli in youth with autism spectrum disorders. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 52, 1158–1172. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2013.08.004
- Grenham, S., Clarke, G., Cryan, J. F., and Dinan, T. G. (2011). Brain-gut-microbe communication in health and disease. *Front. Physiol.* 2:94.
- Hähnel, S., and Bendszus, M. (2009). *Inflammatory Diseases of the Brain*. Berlin: Springer.
- Hamed, S. A., Hamed, E. A., and Zakary, M. M. (2009). Oxidative stress and S-100B protein in children with bacterial meningitis. *BMC Neurol.* 9:51.
- Hampton, M. B., Kettle, A. J., and Winterbourn, C. C. (1998). Inside the neutrophil phagosome: oxidants, myeloperoxidase, and bacterial killing. *Blood* 92, 3007– 3017. doi: 10.1182/blood.v92.9.3007.421k47\_3007\_3017
- Harhaj, N. S., Felinski, E. A., Wolpert, E. B., Sundstrom, J. M., Gardner, T. W., and Antonetti, D. A. (2006). VEGF activation of protein kinase C stimulates occludin phosphorylation and contributes to endothelial permeability. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* 47, 5106–5115.
- Harrigan, M. R., Ennis, S. R., Masada, T., and Keep, R. F. (2002). Intraventricular infusion of vascular endothelial growth factor promotes cerebral angiogenesis with minimal brain edema. *Neurosurgery* 50, 589–598. doi: 10.1227/00006123-200203000-00030
- Harvey, R. M., Ogunniyi, A. D., Chen, A. Y., and Paton, J. C. (2011). Pneumolysin with low hemolytic activity confers an early growth advantage to Streptococcus pneumoniae in the blood. *Infect. Immun.* 79, 4122–4130. doi: 10.1128/iai. 05418-11
- Hashioka, S., Suzuki, H., Nakajima, D., Miyaoka, T., Wake, R., Hayashida, M., et al. (2017). Metabolomics analysis implies noninvolvement of the kynurenine pathway neurotoxins in the interferon-gamma-induced neurotoxicity of adult human astrocytes. *Neuropsychiatry* 7, 156–163.
- Hayashi, T., Abe, K., and Itoyama, Y. (1998). Reduction of ischemic damage by application of vascular endothelial growth factor in rat brain after transient ischemia. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 18, 887–895. doi: 10.1097/00004647-199808000-00009
- Hazen, S. L., Crowley, J. R., Mueller, D. M., and Heinecke, J. W. (1997). Mass spectrometric quantification of 3-chlorotyrosine in human tissues with attomole sensitivity: a sensitive and specific marker for myeloperoxidasecatalyzed chlorination at sites of inflammation. *Free Rad. Biol. Med.* 23, 909–916. doi: 10.1016/s0891-5849(97)00084-1
- Hazen, S. L., and Heinecke, J. W. (1997). 3-Chlorotyrosine, a specific marker of myeloperoxidase-catalyzed oxidation, is markedly elevated in low density lipoprotein isolated from human atherosclerotic intima. J. Clin. Invest. 99, 2075–2081. doi: 10.1172/jci119379
- Holmes, E., Li, J. V., Athanasiou, T., Ashrafian, H., and Nicholson, J. K. (2011). Understanding the role of gut microbiome-host metabolic signal disruption in health and disease. *Trends Microbiol.* 19, 349–359. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2011. 05.006
- Hooper, L. V., Littman, D. R., and Macpherson, A. J. (2012). Interactions between the microbiota and the immune system. *Science* 336, 1268–1273. doi: 10.1126/ science.1223490

- Huo, Z. Y., and Peng, L. (2016). Accuracy of the interferon-γ release assay for the diagnosis of active tuberculosis among HIV-seropositive individuals: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Infect. Dis.* 16:350.
- Husain, N., Awasthi, S., Haris, M., Gupta, R. K., and Husain, M. (2008). Vascular endothelial growth factor as a marker of disease activity in neurotuberculosis. *J. Infect.* 56, 114–119. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2007.11.004
- Hussein, A. S., and Shafran, S. D. (2000). Acute bacterial meningitis in adults. a 12-year review. Medicine 79, 360–368. doi: 10.1097/00005792-200011000-00002
- Isa, F., Collins, S., Lee, M. H., Decome, D., Dorvil, N., Joseph, P., et al. (2018). Mass spectrometric identification of urinary biomarkers of pulmonary tuberculosis. *EBioMedicine* 31, 157–165. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.04.014
- Janeway, C. A., Travers, P., Walport, M., and Shlomchik, M. J. (2001). *Immunobiology: The Immune System in Health and Disease*, 5th Edn. New York, NY: Garland Science.
- Janowski, A., and Newland, J. (2017). Of the Phrensy: an update on the epidemiology and pathogenesis of bacterial meningitis in the pediatric population. *F1000Research* 6, 1–11. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.8533.1
- Jiang, H., Ling, Z., Zhang, Y., Mao, H., Ma, Z., Yin, Y., et al. (2015). Altered fecal microbiota composition in patients with major depressive disorder. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 48, 186–194. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.03.016
- Jin, K. L., Mao, X. O., and Greenberg, D. A. (2000). Vascular endothelial growth factor: direct neuroprotective effect in in vitro ischemia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 97, 10242–10247. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.18.10242
- Johnston, R. B. Jr., and Joy, J. E. (2001). Multiple Sclerosis: Current Status and Strategies for the Future. Washington, D.C: National Academies Press.
- Jouanne, M., Rault, S., and Voisin-Chiret, A. S. (2017). Tau protein aggregation in Alzheimer's disease: an attractive target for the development of novel therapeutic agents. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 139, 153–167. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech. 2017.07.070
- Kaetzel, C. S. (2005). The polymeric immunoglobulin receptor: bridging innate and adaptive immune responses at mucosal surfaces. *Immunol. Rev.* 206, 83–99. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2005.00278.x
- Karol, K., and Agata, M. (2019). Brain-gut-microbiota axis in Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurogastroenterol. Motil. 25, 48–60.
- Kastenbauer, S., Koedel, U., Becker, B. F., and Pfister, H. W. (2002). Oxidative stress in bacterial meningitis in humans. *J. Neurol.* 58, 186–191. doi: 10.1212/wnl.58. 2.186
- Kelly, J. R., Clarke, G., Cryan, J. F., and Dinan, T. G. (2016). Brain-gut-microbiota axis: challenges for translation in psychiatry. *Ann. Epidemiol.* 26, 366–372. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2016.02.008
- Kelly, J. R., Kennedy, P. J., Cryan, J. F., Dinan, T. G., Clarke, G., and Hyland, N. P. (2015). Breaking down the barriers: the gut microbiome, intestinal permeability and stress-related psychiatric disorders. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 9:392.
- Kempuraj, D., Thangavel, R., Selvakumar, G. P., Zaheer, S., Ahmed, M. E., Raikwar, S. P., et al. (2017). Brain and peripheral atypical inflammatory mediators potentiate neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 11:216.
- Khlevner, J., Park, Y., and Margolis, K. G. (2018). Brain-gut axis: clinical implications. *Gastroenterol. Clin.* 47, 727–739.
- Kim, K. S. (2003). Pathogenesis of bacterial meningitis: from bacteraemia to neuronal injury. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 4, 376–385. doi: 10.1038/nrn1103
- Kim, S. H., Cho, O. H., Park, S. J., Lee, E. M., Kim, M. N., Lee, S. O., et al. (2010). Rapid diagnosis of tuberculous meningitis by T Cell—based assays on peripheral blood and cerebrospinal fluid mononuclear cells. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 50, 1349–1358. doi: 10.1086/652142
- Kirby, T. O., and Ochoa-Repáraz, J. (2018). The gut-microbiome in multiple sclerosis: a potential therapeutic avenue. *Med. Sci.* 6:69. doi: 10.3390/ medsci6030069
- Klebanoff, S. J. (2005). Myeloperoxidase: friend and foe. J. Leukoc. Biol. 77, 598–625. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1204697
- Klein, M., Koedel, U., and Pfister, H. W. (2006). Oxidative stress in pneumococcal meningitis: a future target for adjunctive therapy? *Prog. Neurobiol.* 80, 269–280. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2006.11.008
- Klein, R. S., Garber, C., and Howard, N. (2017). Infectious immunity in the central nervous system and brain function. *Nat. Immunol.* 18, 132–141. doi: 10.1038/ ni.3656

- Koedel, U., Klein, M., and Pfister, H. W. (2010). New understandings on the pathophysiology of bacterial meningitis. *Curr. Opin. Infect. Dis.* 23, 217–223. doi: 10.1097/qco.0b013e328337f49e
- Koedel, U., and Pfister, H. W. (1999). Oxidative stress in bacterial meningitis. *Brain Path.* 9, 57–67. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.1999.tb00211.x
- Kolb, S. A., Lahrtz, F., Paul, R., Leppert, D., Nadal, D., Pfister, H. W., et al. (1998). Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases in viral meningitis: upregulation of MMP-9 and TIMP-1 in cerebrospinal fluid. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 84, 143–150. doi: 10.1016/s0165-5728(97)00247-6
- Konturek, P. C., Haziri, D., Brzozowski, T., Hess, T., Heyman, S., Kwiecien, S., et al. (2015). Emerging role of fecal microbiota therapy in the treatment of gastrointestinal and extra-gastrointestinal diseases. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 66, 483–491.
- Kornelisse, R. F., Hack, C. E., Savelkoul, H. F., Van Der Pouw, Kraan, T. C., Hop, W. C., et al. (1997). Intrathecal production of interleukin-12 and gamma interferon in patients with bacterial meningitis. *Infect. Immun.* 65, 877–881. doi: 10.1128/iai.65.3.877-881.1997
- Kotake, Y., and Nakayama, T. (1941). Studies on the intermediary metabolism of tryptophan. Z. Physiol. Chem. 270, 41–96.
- Kowalski, K., and Mulak, A. (2019). Brain-gut-microbiota axis in alzheimer's disease. J Neurogastroenterol. Motil. 25, 48–60.
- Kreutzberg, G. W. (1996). Microglia: a sensor for pathological events in the CNS. *Trends Neurosci.* 19, 312–318. doi: 10.1016/0166-2236(96)10049-7
- Kristensson, K. (2011). Microbes' roadmap to neurons. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 12, 345–357. doi: 10.1038/nrn3029
- Laurenti, P., Raponi, M., De Waure, C., Marino, M., Ricciardi, W., and Damiani, G. (2016). Performance of interferon-γ release assays in the diagnosis of confirmed active tuberculosis in immunocompetent children: a new systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Infect. Dis.* 16:131.
- Lebouvier, T., Chaumette, T., Paillusson, S., Duyckaerts, C., Bruley, des Varannes, S., et al. (2009). The second brain and Parkinson's disease. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 30, 735–741.
- Lee, S. R., Tsuji, K., Lee, S. R., and Lo, E. H. (2004). Role of matrix metalloproteinases in delayed neuronal damage after transient global cerebral ischemia. J. Neurosci. 24, 671–678. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.4243-03.2004
- Leib, S. L., Leppert, D., Clements, J., and Täuber, M. G. (2000). Matrix metalloproteinases contribute to brain damage in experimental pneumococcal meningitis. *Infect. Immun.* 68, 615–620. doi: 10.1128/iai.68.2.615-620.2000
- Li, M. (2015). "Urine reflection of changes in blood," in Urine Proteomics in Kidney Disease Biomarker Discovery ed. Y. Gao (Dordrecht: Springer), 13–19. doi: 10.1007/978-94-017-9523-4\_2
- Liechti, F. D., Grandgirard, D., and Leib, S. L. (2015). Bacterial meningitis: insights into pathogenesis and evaluation of new treatment options: a perspective from experimental studies. *Future Microbiol.* 10, 1195–1213. doi: 10.2217/fmb.15.43
- Liechti, F. D., Grandgirard, D., Leppert, D., and Leib, S. L. (2014). Matrix metalloproteinase inhibition lowers mortality and brain injury in experimental pneumococcal meningitis. *Infect. Immun.* 82, 1710–1718. doi: 10.1128/iai. 00073-14
- Lipton, S. A., and Nicotera, P. (1998). Calcium, free radicals and excitotoxins in neuronal apoptosis. *Cell Calcium* 23, 165–171. doi: 10.1016/s0143-4160(98) 90115-4
- Lorenzen, D. R., Düx, F., Wölk, U., Tsirpouchtsidis, A., Haas, G., and Meyer, T. F. (1999). Immunoglobulin A1 protease, an exoenzyme of pathogenic neisseriae, is a potent inducer of proinflammatory cytokines. *J. Exp. Med.* 190, 1049–1058. doi: 10.1084/jem.190.8.1049
- Loro, V. L. (2009). Oxidative stress in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with aseptic and bacterial meningitis. *Neurochem. Res.* 34, 1255–1260. doi: 10.1007/s11064-008-9903-6
- Lu, D., Chen, C., Yu, S., and Chen, S. (2016). Diagnosis of tuberculous meningitis using a combination of peripheral blood T-SPOT. TB and cerebrospinal fluid interferon-γ detection methods. *Lab. Med.* 47, 6–12. doi: 10.1093/labmed/ lmv010
- Lu, T., Lin, X., Shu, Y., Tian, Q., Wang, Y., Lu, Z., et al. (2017). Positive interferon-gamma release assay results are correlated with paradoxical reaction in tuberculous meningitis. *Int. J. Clin. Exp. Med.* 10, 13669–13677.
- Luan, H., Liu, L. F., Meng, N., Tang, Z., Chua, K. K., Chen, L. L., et al. (2014). LC-MS-based urinary metabolite signatures in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *J. Proteome Res.* 14, 467–478. doi: 10.1021/pr500807t

- Luies, L., and Loots, D. T. (2016). Tuberculosis metabolomics reveals adaptations of man and microbe in order to outcompete and survive. *Metabolomics* 12:40.
- Luies, L., Mienie, J., Motshwane, C., Ronacher, K., Walzl, G., and Loots, D. T. (2017). Urinary metabolite markers characterizing tuberculosis treatment failure. *Metabolomics* 13:124.
- Macpherson, A. J., and McCoy, K. D. (2013). Stratification and compartmentalisation of immunoglobulin responses to commensal intestinal microbes. *Semin. Immunol.* 25, 358–363. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2013.09.004
- Malatji, B. G., Mason, S., Mienie, L. J., Wevers, R. A., Meyer, H., van Reenen, M., et al. (2019). The GC–MS metabolomics signature in patients with fibromyalgia syndrome directs to dysbiosis as an aspect contributing factor of FMS pathophysiology. *Metabolomics* 15:54.
- Mansour, A. M., Frenck, R. W., Darville, T., Nakhla, I. A., Wierzba, T. F., Sultan, Y., et al. (2005). Relationship between intracranial granulomas and cerebrospinal fluid levels of gamma interferon and interleukin-10 in patients with tuberculous meningitis. *Clin. Diagn. Lab. Immunol.* 12, 363–365. doi: 10.1128/cdli.12.2.363-365.2005
- Manyelo, C. M., Solomons, R. S., Snyders, C. I., Manngo, P. M., Mutavhatsindi, H., Kriel, B., et al. (2019). Application of cerebrospinal fluid host protein biosignatures in the diagnosis of tuberculous meningitis in children from a high burden setting. *Mediat. Inflamm.* 2019:7582948.
- Marais, S., Lai, R. P., Wilkinson, K. A., Meintjes, G., O'Garra, A., and Wilkinson, R. J. (2016). Inflammasome activation underlying central nervous system deterioration in HIV-associated tuberculosis. J. Infect. Dis. 215, 677–686.
- Marais, S., Thwaites, G., Schoeman, J. F., Török, M. E., Misra, U. K., Prasad, K., et al. (2010). Tuberculous meningitis: a uniform case definition for use in clinical research. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 10, 803–812. doi: 10.1016/s1473-3099(10)70138-9
- Maria, G., Gijiu, C. L., Maria, C., and Tociu, C. (2018). Interference of the oscillating glycolysis with the oscillating tryptophan synthesis in the *E. coli* cells. *Comput. Chem. Eng.* 108, 395–407. doi: 10.1016/j.compchemeng.2017.10.003
- Marshall, N. C., Finlay, B. B., and Overall, C. M. (2017). Sharpening host defenses during infection: proteases cut to the chase. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 16(4 Suppl. 1), S161–S171.
- Martin, C. R., Osadchiy, V., Kalani, A., and Mayer, E. A. (2018). The brain-gutmicrobiome axis. Cell. Mol. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 6, 133–148.
- Mason, S. (2017). Lactate shuttles in neuroenergetics—homeostasis, allostasis and beyond. Front. Neurosci. 11:43.
- Mason, S., van Furth, A. M., Mienie, L. J., Engelke, U. F., Wevers, R. A., Solomons, R., et al. (2015). A hypothetical astrocyte-microglia lactate shuttle derived from a 1H NMR metabolomics analysis of cerebrospinal fluid from a cohort of South African children with tuberculous meningitis. *Metabolomics* 11, 822–837. doi: 10.1007/s11306-014-0741-z
- Mason, S., van Furth, A. M. T., Solomons, R., Wevers, R. A., van Reenen, M., and Reinecke, C. J. (2016). A putative urinary biosignature for diagnosis and followup of tuberculous meningitis in children: outcome of a metabolomics study disclosing host-pathogen responses. *Metabolomics* 12:110.
- Mastroianni, C. M., Paoletti, F., Lichtner, M., D'Agostino, C., Vullo, V., and Delia, S. (1997). Cerebrospinal fluid cytokines in patients with tuberculous meningitis. *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 84, 171–176. doi: 10.1006/clin.1997.4367
- Matsuyama, W., Hashiguchi, T., Umehara, F., Matsuura, E., Kawabata, M., Arimura, K., et al. (2001). Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in tuberculous meningitis. J. Neurol. Sci. 186, 75–79.
- Mayer, E. A., Knight, R., Mazmanian, S. K., Cryan, J. F., and Tillisch, K. (2014). Gut microbes and the brain: paradigm shift in neuroscience. J. Neurosci. 34, 15490–15496. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.3299-14.2014
- Mazmanian, S. K., Liu, C. H., Tzianabos, A. O., and Kasper, D. L. (2005). An immunomodulatory molecule of symbiotic bacteria directs maturation of the host immune system. *Cell* 122, 107–118. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.05.007
- Mendes, M., Moore, P., Wheeler, C. B., Winn, H. R., and Rodeheaver, G. (1980). Susceptibility of brain and skin to bacterial challenge. J. Neurosurg. 52, 772–775. doi: 10.3171/jns.1980.52.6.0772
- Minamishima, I., Ohga, S., Ishii, E., Miyazaki, C., Hamada, K., Akazawa, K., et al. (1991). Aseptic meningitis in children: correlation between fever and interferon-gamma level. *Eur. J. Pediatr.* 150, 722–725. doi: 10.1007/bf01958764
- Mirić, D., Katanic, R., Kisic, B., Zoric, L., Mirić, B., Mitic, R., et al. (2010). Oxidative stress and myeloperoxidase activity during bacterial meningitis: effects of febrile episodes and the BBB permeability. *Clin. Biochem.* 43, 246–252. doi: 10.1016/j. clinbiochem.2009.09.023

- Mitchell, T. J., and Andrew, P. W. (1997). Biological properties of pneumolysin. *Microb. Drug Resist.* 3, 19–26. doi: 10.1089/mdr.1997.3.19
- Moos, W. H., Faller, D. V., Harpp, D. N., Kanara, I., Pernokas, J., Powers, W. R., et al. (2016). Microbiota and neurological disorders: a gut feeling. *BioResearch Open Access* 5, 137–145. doi: 10.1089/biores.2016.0010
- More, S. V., Kumar, H., Kim, I. S., Song, S. Y., and Choi, D. K. (2013). Cellular and molecular mediators of neuroinflammation in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *Mediat. Inflamm.* 2013:952375.
- Mulak, A., and Bonaz, B. (2015). Brain-gut-microbiota axis in Parkinson's disease. World J. Gastroenterol. 21, 10609.
- Muñoz-Elías, E. J., Upton, A. M., Cherian, J., and McKinney, J. D. (2006). Role of the methylcitrate cycle in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* metabolism, intracellular growth, and virulence. *Mol. Microbiol.* 60, 1109–1122. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05155.x
- Mutetwa, R., Boehme, C., Dimairo, M., Bandason, T., Munyati, S. S., Mangwanya, D., et al. (2009). Diagnostic accuracy of commercial urinary lipoarabinomannan detection in African tuberculosis suspects and patients. *Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis.* 13, 1253–1259.
- Nair, A. T., Ramachandran, V., Joghee, N. M., Antony, S., and Ramalingam, G. (2018). Gut microbiota dysfunction as reliable non-invasive early diagnostic biomarkers in the pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease: a critical review. *J. Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 24, 30. doi: 10.5056/jnm17105
- Naseribafrouei, A., Hestad, K., Avershina, E., Sekelja, M., Linløkken, A., Wilson, R., et al. (2014). Correlation between the human fecal microbiota and depression. J Neurogastroenterol. Motil. 26, 1155–1162. doi: 10.1111/nmo.12378
- Newton, K., and Dixit, V. M. (2012). Signaling in innate immunity and inflammation. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 4:a006049.
- Nicholas, A. B., Bishai, W. R., and Jain, S. K. (2012). Role of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* pknD in the pathogenesis of central nervous system tuberculosis. *BMC Microbiol*. 12:7. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-12-7
- Nimmerjahn, A., Kirchhoff, F., and Helmchen, F. (2005). Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma in vivo. *Science* 308, 1314–1318. doi: 10.1126/science.1110647
- Ochoa-Repáraz, J., and Kasper, L. H. (2014). Gut microbiome and the risk factors in central nervous system autoimmunity. *FEBS Lett.* 588, 4214–4222. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2014.09.024
- Ochoa-Repáraz, J., Kirby, T. O., and Kasper, L. H. (2018). The gut-microbiome and multiple sclerosis. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 8:a029017.
- Ohga, S., Aoki, T., Okada, K., Akeda, H., Fujioka, K., Ohshima, A., et al. (1994). Cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of interleukin-1 beta, tumour necrosis factor-alpha, and interferon gamma in bacterial meningitis. *Arch. Dis. Child.* 70, 123–125. doi: 10.1136/adc.70.2.123
- O'Mahony, S. M., Hyland, N. P., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2011). Maternal separation as a model of brain-gut axis dysfunction. *Psychopharmacology* 214, 71–88. doi: 10.1007/s00213-010-2010-9
- O'Mahony, S. M., Marchesi, J. R., Scully, P., Codling, C., Ceolho, A. M., Quigley, E. M., et al. (2009). Early life stress alters behavior, immunity, and microbiota in rats: implications for irritable bowel syndrome and psychiatric illnesses. *Biol. Psychiatry* 65, 263–267. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.06.026
- Østergaard, C., Konradsen, H. B., and Samuelsson, S. (2005). Clinical presentation and prognostic factors of Streptococcus pneumoniae meningitis according to the focus of infection. *BMC Infect. Dis.* 5:93.
- Overton, K., Varma, R., and Post, J. J. (2018). Comparison of interferon-γ release assays and the tuberculin skin test for diagnosis of tuberculosis in human immunodeficiency virus: a systematic review. *Tuberc. Resp. Dis.* 81, 59–72.
- Owens, T., Bechmann, I., and Engelhardt, B. (2008). Perivascular spaces and the two steps to neuroinflammation. J. Neuropath. Exp. Neur. 67, 1113–1121. doi: 10.1097/nen.0b013e31818f9ca8
- Oxenkrug, G. (2013). Insulin resistance and dysregulation of tryptophankynurenine and kynurenine-nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide metabolic pathways. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 48, 294–301. doi: 10.1007/s12035-013-8497-4
- Pai, M., Riley, L. W., and Colford, J. M. Jr. (2004). Interferon-γ assays in the immunodiagnosis of tuberculosis: a systematic review. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 4, 761–776. doi: 10.1016/s1473-3099(04)01206-x
- Pan, L., Liu, F., Zhang, J., Yang, X., Zheng, S., Li, J., et al. (2017). Interferongamma release assay performance of cerebrospinal fluid and peripheral blood in tuberculous meningitis in China. *BioMed. Res. Int.* 2017, 8198505.

- Park, A. J., Collins, J., Blennerhassett, P. A., Ghia, J. E., Verdu, E. F., Bercik, P., et al. (2013). Altered colonic function and microbiota profile in a mouse model of chronic depression. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 25, 733–e575. doi: 10.1111/nmo.12153
- Park, K. H., Cho, O. H., Lee, E. M., Lee, S. O., Choi, S. H., Kim, Y. S., et al. (2012). T-cell-based assays on cerebrospinal fluid and PBMCs for rapid diagnosis of TB meningitis in non-HIV patients. *Eur. Resp. J.* 39, 768–770. doi: 10.1183/ 09031936.00098111
- Parker, A., Lawson, M. A. E., Vaux, L., and Pin, C. (2018). Host-microbe interaction in the gastrointestinal tract. *Environ. Microbiol.* 20, 2337–2353. doi: 10.1111/ 1462-2920.13926
- Patel, V. B., Bhigjee, A. I., Paruk, H. F., Singh, R., Meldau, R., Connolly, C., et al. (2009). Utility of a novel lipoarabinomannan assay for the diagnosis of tuberculous meningitis in a resource-poor high-HIV prevalence setting. *Cerebrospinal Fluid Res.* 6:13. doi: 10.1186/1743-8454-6-13
- Patel, V. B., Singh, R., Connolly, C., Coovadia, Y., Peer, A. K., Parag, P., et al. (2010). Cerebrospinal T-cell responses aid in the diagnosis of tuberculous meningitis in a human immunodeficiency virus–and tuberculosis-endemic population. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 182, 569–577. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200912-19310c
- Paul, R., Lorenzl, S., Koedel, U., Sporer, B., Vogel, U., Frosch, M., et al. (1998). Matrix metalloproteinases contribute to the blood—brain barrier disruption during bacterial meningitis. *Ann. Neurol.* 44, 592–600. doi: 10.1002/ana. 410440404
- Paul, R. C., and Ratledge, C. (1970). Biosynthesis of N-acetylanthranilic acid by aromatic auxotrophs of Aerobacter aerogenes and *Escherichia coli. Biochem. J.* 119, 36.
- Paul, R. C., and Ratledge, C. (1971). N-acetylanthranilic acid biosynthesis in Aerobacteraerogenes and *Escherichia coli*. BBA-Gen. Subjects 230, 451–461. doi: 10.1016/0304-4165(71)90173-5
- Paul, R. C., and Ratledge, C. (1973). Further studies on anthranilate N-acetyltransferase and the metabolism of N-acetylanthranilic acid in Aerobacter aerogenes. BBA-Gen. Subjects 320, 9–15. doi: 10.1016/0304-4165(73)90160-8
- Persico, A. M., and Napolioni, V. (2013). Urinary p-cresol in autism spectrum disorder. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 36, 82–90. doi: 10.1016/j.ntt.2012.09.002
- Podrez, E. A., Abu-Soud, H. M., and Hazen, S. L. (2000). Myeloperoxidasegenerated oxidants and atherosclerosis. *Free Rad. Biol. Med.* 28, 1717–1725. doi: 10.1016/s0891-5849(00)00229-x
- Pohanka, M. (2013). Role of oxidative stress in infectious diseases. a review. Folia Microbiol. 58, 503–513. doi: 10.1007/s12223-013-0239-5
- Powell, N., Walker, M. M., and Talley, N. J. (2017). The mucosal immune system: master regulator of bidirectional gut-brain communications. *Nat. Rev. Gastro. Hepat.* 14:143. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2016.191
- Preez, I. D., Luies, L., and Loots, D. T. (2017). Metabolomics biomarkers for tuberculosis diagnostics: current status and future objectives. *Biomark. Med.* 11, 179–194. doi: 10.2217/bmm-2016-0287
- Proescholdt, M. A., Heiss, J. D., Walbridge, S., Mühlhauser, J., Capogrossi, M. C., Oldfield, E. H., et al. (1999). Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) modulates vascular permeability and inflammation in rat brain. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 58, 613–627. doi: 10.1097/00005072-199906000-00006
- Pulzova, L., Bhide, M. R., and Andrej, K. (2009). Pathogen translocation across the blood-brain barrier. *FEMS Immunol. Med. Mic.* 57, 203–213. doi: 10.1111/j. 1574-695x.2009.00594.x
- Qin, L., Zhang, L., Zhang, Y., Shi, X., Zhang, Y., and Liu, X. (2015). Diagnostic value of T-cell interferon-γ release assays on cerebrospinal fluid for tuberculous meningitis. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0141814. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0141814
- Ray, G., Aneja, S., Jain, M., and Batra, S. (2000). Evaluation of free radical status in CSF in childhood meningitis. Ann. Trop. Paediatr. 20, 115–120. doi: 10.1080/ 02724936.2000.11748119
- Ray, R. S., and Katyal, A. (2016). Myeloperoxidase: bridging the gap in neurodegeneration. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 68, 611–620. doi: 10.1016/j. neubiorev.2016.06.031
- Rey, N. L., Wesson, D. W., and Brundin, P. (2018). The olfactory bulb as the entry site for prion-like propagation in neurodegenerative diseases. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 109, 226–248. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2016.12.013
- Rhee, S. H., Pothoulakis, C., and Mayer, E. A. (2009). Principles and clinical implications of the brain-gut-enteric microbiota axis. *Nat. Rev. Gastro. Hepat.* 6:306. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2009.35

- Rich, A. R., and McCordock, H. A. (1933). The pathogenesis of tuberculous meningitis. *Bull. John Hopkins Hosp.* 52, 5–38.
- Rock, R. B., Hu, S., Gekker, G., Sheng, W. S., May, B., Kapur, V., et al. (2005). *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-induced cytokine and chemokine expression by human microglia and astrocytes: effects of dexamethasone. J. Infect. Dis. 192, 2054–2058. doi: 10.1086/498165
- Rock, R. B., Olin, M., Baker, C. A., Molitor, T. W., and Peterson, P. K. (2008). Central nervous system tuberculosis: pathogenesis and clinical aspects. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 21, 243–261. doi: 10.1128/cmr.00042-07
- Rohatgi, N., Nielsen, T. K., Bjørn, S. P., Axelsson, I., Paglia, G., Voldborg, B. G., et al. (2014). Biochemical characterization of human gluconokinase and the proposed metabolic impact of gluconic acid as determined by constraint based metabolic network analysis. *PLoS ONE* 9:e98760. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0098760
- Rohlwink, U. K., Figaji, A., Wilkinson, K. A., Horswell, S., Sesay, A. K., Deffur, A., et al. (2019). Tuberculous meningitis in children is characterized by compartmentalized immune responses and neural excitotoxicity. *Nature Com.* 10, 1–8. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-11783-9
- Ruan, Q., Zhang, S., Ai, J., Shao, L., and Zhang, W. (2016). Screening of latent tuberculosis infection by interferon-γ release assays in rheumatic patients: a systemic review and meta-analysis. *Clin. Rheumatol.* 35, 417–425. doi: 10.1007/ s10067-014-2817-6
- Rugemalira, E., Roine, I., Kuligowski, J., Sánchez-Illana, Á, Piñeiro-Ramos, J. D., Andersson, S., et al. (2019). Protein oxidation biomarkers and myeloperoxidase activation in cerebrospinal fluid in childhood bacterial meningitis. *Antioxidants* 8:441. doi: 10.3390/antiox8100441
- Ryuto, M., Ono, M., Izumi, H., Yoshida, S., Weich, H. A., Kohno, K., et al. (1996). Induction of vascular endothelial growth factor by tumor necrosis factor α in human glioma cells possible roles of SP-1. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271, 28220–28228. doi: 10.1074/jbc.271.45.28220
- San Juan, R., Sánchez-Suárez, C., Rebollo, M. J., Folgueira, D., Palenque, E., Ortuño, B., et al. (2006). Interferon γ quantification in cerebrospinal fluid compared with PCR for the diagnosis of tuberculous meningitis. *J. Neurol.* 253, 1323–1330. doi: 10.1007/s00415-006-0215-y
- Santocchi, E., Guiducci, L., Fulceri, F., Billeci, L., Buzzigoli, E., Apicella, F., et al. (2016). Gut to brain interaction in autism spectrum disorders: a randomized controlled trial on the role of probiotics on clinical, biochemical and neurophysiological parameters. *BMC Psychiatry* 16:183.
- Savvi, S., Warner, D. F., Kana, B. D., McKinney, J. D., Mizrahi, V., and Dawes, S. S. (2008). Functional characterization of a Vitamin B12-dependent methylmalonyl pathway in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: implications for propionate metabolism during growth on fatty acids. *J. Bacteriol.* 190, 3886– 3895. doi: 10.1128/jb.01767-07
- Scheperjans, F., Aho, V., Pereira, P. A., Koskinen, K., Paulin, L., Pekkonen, E., et al. (2015). Gut microbiota are related to Parkinson's disease and clinical phenotype. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 350–358.
- Schroeder, B. O., and Bäckhed, F. (2016). Signals from the gut microbiota to distant organs in physiology and disease. *Nat. Med.* 22:1079. doi: 10.1038/nm. 4185
- Seib, K. L., Serruto, D., Delany, I., Adu-Bobie, J., Veggi, D., Aricò, B., et al. (2009). Factor H-binding protein is important for meningococcal survival in human whole blood and serum and in the presence of the antimicrobial peptide LL-37. *Infect. Immun.* 77, 292–299. doi: 10.1128/iai.01071-08
- Sester, M., Sotgiu, G., Lange, C., Giehl, C., Girardi, E., Migliori, G. B., et al. (2011). Interferon-γ release assays for the diagnosis of active tuberculosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur. Resp. J.* 37, 100–111.
- Shapiro, S., Miller, A., Lahat, N., Sobel, E., and Lerner, A. (2003). Expression of matrix metalloproteinases, sICAM-1 and IL-8 in CSF from children with meningitis. J. Neurol. Sci. 206, 43–48. doi: 10.1016/s0022-510x(02)00317-9
- Sherwin, E., Rea, K., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2016). A gut (microbiome) feeling about the brain. *Curr. Opin. Gastroenterol.* 32, 96–102. doi: 10.1097/ mog.00000000000244
- Simpson, T. W., Follstad, B. D., and Stephanopoulos, G. (1999). Analysis of the pathway structure of metabolic networks. J. Biotechnol. 71, 207–223. doi: 10. 1016/s0168-1656(99)00023-1
- Sochocka, M., Diniz, B. S., and Leszek, J. (2017a). Inflammatory response in the CNS: friend or foe? *Mol. Neurobiol.* 54, 8071–8089. doi: 10.1007/s12035-016-0297-1

- Sochocka, M., Zwolinska, K., and Leszek, J. (2017b). The infectious etiology of Alzheimer's disease. *Curr. Neuropharmacol.* 15, 996–1009.
- Soker, S., Gollamudi-Payne, S., Fidder, H., Charmahelli, H., and Klagsbrun, M. (1997). Inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-induced endothelial cell proliferation by a peptide corresponding to the exon 7-encoded domain of VEGF165. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 31582–31588. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.50. 31582
- Sonneville, R., Ruimy, R., Benzonana, N., Riffaud, L., Carsin, A., Tadié, J. M., et al. (2017). An update on bacterial brain abscess in immunocompetent patients. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* 23, 614–620. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2017.05.004
- Stander, Z., Luies, L., Mienie, L. J., Keane, K. M., Howatson, G., Clifford, T., et al. (2018). The altered human serum metabolome induced by a marathon. *Metabolomics* 14:150.
- Stapor, P., Wang, X., Goveia, J., Moens, S., and Carmeliet, P. (2014). Angiogenesis revisited-role and therapeutic potential of targeting endothelial metabolism. *J. Cell. Sci.* 127, 4331–4341. doi: 10.1242/jcs.153908
- Stephanopoulos, G., and Simpson, T. W. (1997). Flux amplification in complex metabolic networks. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* 52, 2607–2627. doi: 10.1016/s0009-2509(97)00077-8
- Stollg, G., and Jander, S. (1999). The role of microglia and macrophages in the pathophysiology of the CNS. Prog. Neurobiol. 58, 233–247. doi: 10.1016/s0301-0082(98)00083-5
- Streit, W. J. (2002). Microglia as neuroprotective, immunocompetent cells of the CNS. Glia 40, 133–139. doi: 10.1002/glia.10154
- Streit, W. J., Mrak, R. E., and Griffin, W. S. T. (2004). Microglia and neuroinflammation: a pathological perspective. J. Neuroinflamm. 1:14.
- Suresh, R., and Mosser, D. M. (2013). Pattern recognition receptors in innate immunity, host defense, and immunopathology. *Adv. Physiol. Educ.* 37, 284– 291. doi: 10.1152/advan.00058.2013
- Takahashi, T., Ueno, H., and Shibuya, M. (1999). VEGF activates protein kinase C-dependent, but Ras-independent Raf-MEK-MAP kinase pathway for DNA synthesis in primary endothelial cells. *Oncogene* 18, 2221. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc. 1202527
- Taylor, M. W., and Feng, G. S. (1991). Relationship between interferon-gamma, indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase, and tryptophan catabolism. *FASEB*. 5, 2516– 2522. doi: 10.1096/fasebj.5.11.1907934
- Tessema, T. A., Hamasur, B., Bjune, G., Svenson, S., and Bjorvatn, B. (2001). Diagnostic evaluation of urinary lipoarabinomannan at an Ethiopian tuberculosis centre. *Scand. J. Infect. Dis.* 33, 279–284. doi: 10.1080/ 003655401300077306
- Thomas, M. M., Hinks, T. S. C., Raghuraman, S., Ramalingam, N., Ernst, M., Nau, R., et al. (2008). Rapid diagnosis of Mycobacterium tuberculosis meningitis by enumeration of cerebrospinal fluid antigen-specific T-cells. *Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis.* 12, 651–657.
- Treps, L., Conradi, L. C., Harjes, U., and Carmeliet, P. (2016). Manipulating angiogenesis by targeting endothelial metabolism: hitting the engine rather than the drivers—a new perspective? *Pharmacol. Rev.* 68, 872–887. doi: 10.1124/pr. 116.012492
- Tsenova, L., Bergtold, A., Freedman, V. H., Young, R. A., and Kaplan, G. (1999). Tumor necrosis factor α is a determinant of pathogenesis and disease progression in mycobacterial infection in the central nervous system. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 5657–5662. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.10.5657
- Tsukahara, H., Haruta, T., Ono, N., Kobata, R., Fukumoto, Y., Hiraoka, M., et al. (2000). Oxidative stress in childhood meningitis: measurement of 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine concentration in cerebrospinal fluid. *Redox Rep.* 5, 295–298. doi: 10.1179/135100000101535834
- Üllen, A., Singewald, E., Konya, V., Fauler, G., Reicher, H., Nusshold, C., et al. (2013). Myeloperoxidase-derived oxidants induce blood-brain barrier dysfunction in vitro and in vivo. *PLoS ONE* 8:e64034. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0064034
- Ulusoy, A., Rusconi, R., Pérez-Revuelta, B. I., Musgrove, R. E., Helwig, M., Winzen-Reichert, B., et al. (2013). Caudo-rostral brain spreading of  $\alpha$ -synuclein through vagal connections. *EMBO Mol. Med.* 5, 1119–1127. doi: 10.1002/emmm.201302475
- Van Bruggen, N., Thibodeaux, H., Palmer, J. T., Lee, W. P., Fu, L., Cairns, B., et al. (1999). VEGF antagonism reduces edema formation and tissue damage after ischemia/reperfusion injury in the mouse brain. *J. Clin. Invest.* 104, 1613–1620. doi: 10.1172/jci8218

- Van de Beek, D., De Gans, J., Spanjaard, L., Weisfelt, M., Reitsma, J. B., and Vermeulen, M. (2004). Clinical features and prognostic factors in adults with bacterial meningitis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 351, 1849–1859. doi: 10.1056/ nejmoa040845
- Van der Flier, M., Coenjaerts, F. E., Mwinzi, P. N., Rijkers, E., Ruyken, M., Scharringa, J., et al. (2005). Antibody neutralization of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) fails to attenuate vascular permeability and brain edema in experimental pneumococcal meningitis. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 160, 170–177. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2004.11.013
- Van der Flier, M., Hoppenreijs, S., van Rensburg, A. J., Ruyken, M., Kolk, A. H., Springer, P., et al. (2004). Vascular endothelial growth factor and blood-brain barrier disruption in tuberculous meningitis. *Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J.* 23, 608–613. doi: 10.1097/01.inf.0000131634.57368.45
- Van der Flier, M., Stockhammer, G., Vonk, G. J., Nikkels, P. G., van Diemen-Steenvoorde, R. A., van der Vlist, G. J., et al. (2001). Vascular endothelial growth factor in bacterial meningitis: detection in cerebrospinal fluid and localization in postmortem brain. J. Infect. Dis. 183, 149–153. doi: 10.1086/317643
- Van Well, G. T., Paes, B. F., Terwee, C. B., Springer, P., Roord, J. J., Donald, P. R., et al. (2009). Twenty years of pediatric tuberculous meningitis: a retrospective cohort study in the western cape of South Africa. *Pediatrics* 123, e1–e8. doi: 10.1542/peds.2008-1353
- Varki, A. (1993). Biological roles of oligosaccharides: all of the theories are correct. *Glycobiology* 3, 97–130. doi: 10.1093/glycob/3.2.97
- Vernocchi, P., Del Chierico, F., and Putignani, L. (2016). Gut microbiota profiling: metabolomics based approach to unravel compounds affecting human health. *Front. Microbiol.* 7:1144.
- Viac, J., Pernet, I., Schmitt, D., and Claudy, A. (1999). Overexpression of circulating vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in leukocytoclastic vasculitis. *Arch. Dermatol. Res.* 291, 622–623. doi: 10.1007/s004030050464
- Vidhate, M. R., Singh, M. K., Garg, R. K., Verma, R., Shukla, R., Goel, M. M., et al. (2011). Diagnostic and prognostic value of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex specific interferon gamma release assay in patients with tuberculous meningitis. *J. Infect.* 62, 400–403. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2011.03.009
- Visser, D. H., Solomons, R. S., Ronacher, K., Van Well, G. T., Heymans, M. W., Walzl, G., et al. (2015). Host immune response to tuberculous meningitis. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 60, 177–187. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciu781
- Waisman, A., Liblau, R. S., and Becher, B. (2015). Innate and adaptive immune responses in the CNS. *Lancet Neurol.* 14, 945–955. doi: 10.1016/s1474-4422(15) 00141-6
- Wang, C., Klechikov, A. G., Gharibyan, A. L., Wärmländer, S. K., Jarvet, J., Zhao, L., et al. (2014). The role of pro-inflammatory S100A9 in Alzheimer's disease amyloid-neuroinflammatory cascade. *Acta Neuropathol.* 127, 507–522. doi: 10.1007/s00401-013-1208-4
- Wang, H., and Keiser, J. A. (1998). Vascular endothelial growth factor upregulates the expression of matrix metalloproteinases in vascular smooth muscle cells: role of flt-1. *Circ. Res.* 83, 832–840. doi: 10.1161/01.res.83.8.832
- Wang, L. W., Tancredi, D. J., and Thomas, D. W. (2011). The prevalence of gastrointestinal problems in children across the United States with autism spectrum disorders from families with multiple affected members. *J. Dev. Behav. Pediatr.* 32, 351–360. doi: 10.1097/dbp.0b013e31821bd06a
- Wang, W., Dentler, W. L., and Borchardt, R. T. (2001). VEGF increases BMEC monolayer permeability by affecting occludin expression and tight junction assembly. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 280, H434–H440.
- Wang, Y., Wang, Z., Wang, Y., Li, F., Jia, J., Song, X., et al. (2018). The gut-microglia connection: implications for central nervous system diseases. *Front. Immunol.* 9:2325.
- Want, E. J., Wilson, I. D., Gika, H., Theodoridis, G., Plumb, R. S., Shockcor, J., et al. (2010). Global metabolic profiling procedures for urine using UPLC–MS. *Nat. Protoc.* 5:1005. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2010.50
- Warner, D. F. (2015). Mycobacterium tuberculosis metabolism. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 5:a021121.
- Weltens, N., Iven, J., Van Oudenhove, L., and Kano, M. (2018). The gut-brain axis in health neuroscience: implications for functional gastrointestinal disorders and appetite regulation. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1428, 129–150. doi: 10.1111/nyas. 13969
- Winterbourn, C. C., and Kettle, A. J. (2000). Biomarkers of myeloperoxidasederived hypochlorous acid. Free Rad. Biol. Med. 29, 403–409. doi: 10.1016/ s0891-5849(00)00204-5

- Wong, S. H., Gao, Q., Tsoi, K. K., Wu, W. K., Tam, L. S., Lee, N., et al. (2016). Effect of immunosuppressive therapy on interferon  $\gamma$  release assay for latent tuberculosis screening in patients with autoimmune diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Thorax* 71, 64–72. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-207811
- Woof, J. M., and Russell, M. W. (2011). Structure and function relationships in IgA. *Mucosal Immunol.* 4, 590–597. doi: 10.1038/mi.2011.39
- Wu, J., and Gao, Y. (2015). Physiological conditions can be reflected in human urine proteome and metabolome. *Expert Rev. Proteom.* 12, 623–636. doi: 10. 1586/14789450.2015.1094380
- Yancopoulos, G. D., Davis, S., Gale, N. W., Rudge, J. S., Wiegand, S. J., and Holash, J. (2000). Vascular-specific growth factors and blood vessel formation. *Nature* 407:242. doi: 10.1038/35025215
- Yap, I. K., Angley, M., Veselkov, K. A., Holmes, E., Lindon, J. C., and Nicholson, J. K. (2010). Urinary metabolic phenotyping differentiates children with autism from their unaffected siblings and age-matched controls. *J. Proteome Res.* 9, 2996–3004. doi: 10.1021/pr901188e
- Yoshida, R., Imanishi, J., Oku, T., Kishida, T., and Hayaishi, O. (1981). Induction of pulmonary indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase by interferon. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 78, 129–132.
- Yu, J., Wang, Z. J., Chen, L. H., and Li, H. H. (2016). Diagnostic accuracy of interferon-gamma release assays for tuberculous meningitis: a meta-analysis. *Int. J. Tuberc. Lung Dis.* 20, 494–499. doi: 10.5588/ijtld.15.0600
- Zhao, L., Xiong, Q., Stary, C. M., Mahgoub, O. K., Ye, Y., Gu, L., et al. (2018). Bidirectional gut-brain-microbiota axis as a potential link between inflammatory bowel disease and ischemic stroke. J. Neuroinflamm. 15, 1–11.
- Zhao, Y., Jaber, V., and Lukiw, W. J. (2017). Secretory products of the human GI tract microbiome and their potential impact on Alzheimer's disease (AD): detection of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in AD hippocampus. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 7:318.
- Zheng, P., Wang, Y., Chen, L., Yang, D., Meng, H., Zhou, D., et al. (2013). Identification and validation of urinary metabolite biomarkers for major depressive disorder. *Mol. Cell. Proteom. J.* 12, 207–214. doi: 10.1074/mcp.m112. 021816
- Zheng, P., Zeng, B., Zhou, C., Liu, M., Fang, Z., Xu, X., et al. (2016). Gut microbiome remodeling induces depressive-like behaviors through a pathway mediated by the host's metabolism. *Mol. Psychiatry* 21, 786–796. doi: 10.1038/ mp.2016.44
- Zhou, F. (2019). "Inflammatory diseases of the meninges," in *Imaging of CNS Infections and Neuroimmunology*, eds B. Gao, H. Li, and M. Law (Berlin: Springer), 193–199. doi: 10.1007/978-981-13-6904-9\_18
- Zhou, X. X., Liu, Y. L., Zhai, K., Shi, H. Z., and Tong, Z. H. (2015). Body fluid interferon-γ release assay for diagnosis of extrapulmonary tuberculosis in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sci. Rep.* 5:15284.
- Zhu, X., Han, Y., Du, J., Liu, R., Jin, K., and Yi, W. (2017). Microbiota-gut-brain axis and the central nervous system. *Oncotarget* 8:53829.
- Zimmer, H. G. (1988). "Acceleration of adenine nucleotide biosynthesis after ischemic insult," in *Myocardial Energy Metabolism*, ed. J. W. de Jong (Dordrecht: Springer), 105–114. doi: 10.1007/978-94-009-13 19-6\_10
- Zimmer, H. G. (1996). Regulation of and intervention into the oxidative pentose phosphate pathway and adenine nucleotide metabolism in the heart. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 160, 101–109. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4613-1279-6\_14
- Zmora, N., Suez, J., and Elinav, E. (2019). You are what you eat: diet, health and the gut microbiota. *Nat. Rev. Gastro. Hepat.* 16, 35–56. doi: 10.1038/s41575-018-0061-2

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Isaiah, Loots, Solomons, van der Kuip, Tutu Van Furth and Mason. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## The Role of the Gastrointestinal Mucus System in Intestinal Homeostasis: Implications for Neurological Disorders

Madushani Herath<sup>1</sup>, Suzanne Hosie<sup>2</sup>, Joel C. Bornstein<sup>1†</sup>, Ashley E. Franks<sup>3†</sup> and Elisa L. Hill-Yardin<sup>1,2\*†</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Physiology, University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, <sup>2</sup> School of Health and Biomedical Sciences, RMIT University, Bundoora, VIC, Australia, <sup>3</sup> School of Life Sciences, La Trobe University, Bundoora, VIC, Australia

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Frederic Antonio Carvalho, INSERM U1107 Douleur et Biophysique Neurosensorielle (Neuro-Dol), France

### Reviewed by:

Kristina Endres, Johannes Gutenberg University Mainz, Germany Jean-Paul Motta, INSERM U1220 Institut de Recherche en Santé Digestive, France Yosuke Kurashima, Chiba University, Japan

> \*Correspondence: Elisa L. Hill-Yardin elisa.hill@rmit.edu.au

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbiome in Health and Disease, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

> Received: 19 December 2019 Accepted: 29 April 2020 Published: 28 May 2020

### Citation:

Herath M, Hosie S, Bornstein JC, Franks AE and Hill-Yardin EL (2020) The Role of the Gastrointestinal Mucus System in Intestinal Homeostasis: Implications for Neurological Disorders. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 10:248. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2020.00248 Mucus is integral to gut health and its properties may be affected in neurological disease. Mucus comprises a hydrated network of polymers including glycosylated mucin proteins. We propose that factors that influence the nervous system may also affect the volume, viscosity, porosity of mucus composition and subsequently, gastrointestinal (GI) microbial populations. The gut has its own intrinsic neuronal network, the enteric nervous system, which extends the length of the GI tract and innervates the mucosal epithelium. The ENS regulates gut function including mucus secretion and renewal. Both dysbiosis and gut dysfunction are commonly reported in several neurological disorders such as Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease as well in patients with neurodevelopmental disorders including autism. Since some microbes use mucus as a prominent energy source, changes in mucus properties could alter, and even exacerbate, dysbiosis-related gut symptoms in neurological disorders. This review summarizes existing knowledge of the structure and function of the mucus of the GI tract and highlights areas to be addressed in future research to better understand how intestinal homeostasis is impacted in neurological disorders.

Keywords: mucus, MUC-2, goblet cells, intestine, microbes, neurological disorders

## PROPERTIES OF THE GASTROINTESTINAL MUCUS LAYER

The mucus layer is the first line of defense against infiltration of microorganisms, digestive enzymes and acids, digested food particles, microbial by-products, and food-associated toxins. This layer coats the interior surface of the GI tract, lubricates luminal contents and acts as a physical barrier to bacteria and other antigenic substances present in the lumen. The moist, nutrient-rich mucus layer adjacent to the epithelial barrier of the GI tract is also essential in the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis and contains a thriving biofilm including beneficial and pathogenic microbial populations.

Emerging evidence demonstrates changes in the gut-brain axis in neurological disease involving the enteric nervous system located within the wall of the GI tract. Interestingly, mucus production is regulated by molecular pathways involved in developmental processes and nervous system activity. Multiple neurological disorders present with gastrointestinal dysfunction and microbial dysbiosis but whether alterations in mucus structure and function are driving these changes is unknown. Therefore, we propose that alterations in enteric nervous system function and mucus production may occur in neurological disease and contribute to GI symptoms and dysbiosis.

### **Regional Mucus Variations**

Although mucus located throughout the gut contains the same biological components, mucus properties vary with regional differences in function along the gastrointestinal tract (Ermund et al., 2013, **Figure 1**).

### Small Intestine

The majority of nutrient uptake from digested food occurs in the small intestine and therefore there is a single, discontinuous and more penetrable mucus layer in this region (Johansson et al., 2011). The discontinuity of the small intestinal mucus layer is important not only for the absorptive function of this region but also for the release of digestive enzymes localized in the brush border membrane of epithelial cells. Experiments assessing passage of fluorescent beads across small intestinal mucosal samples showed that small intestinal mucus in mice is penetrable by beads equivalent to the size of bacteria (i.e., 0.5–2  $\mu^3$ ) and hence contains pores as large as 2  $\mu^2$  (Ermund et al., 2013). These large mucus pores ensure efficient nutrient absorption by the host epithelium.

The bacterial content of the mucosal barrier in the small intestine is also regulated by a cocktail of antibacterial mediators such as defensins, lysozymes, and other peptides released by Paneth cells (Peterson et al., 2007). Together, these mediators repel bacteria by generating an antibacterial gradient toward the lumen (Johansson and Hansson, 2011; Vaishnava et al., 2011). Specific mediators include the abundant Regenerating islet-derived 3 (REG3) peptides, IgA, Toll-like receptor 5 (TLR5 regulates levels of anti-flagellin antibody in the gut) (Cullender et al., 2013) and phospholipase A2-IIA (Meyer-Hoffert et al., 2008; Bevins and Salzman, 2011). Overall, antibacterial peptides kill bacteria via a range of mechanisms including by the formation of aggregates, recognition, and binding to bacterial cell wall peptidoglycans, and permeabilization of bacterial cell membranes (Chairatana and Nolan, 2017). This serves to neutralize invasion by foreign particles and maintain epithelial crypts. This antimicrobial defense mechanism is critical in the small intestine due to the discontinuous and penetrable nature of the mucus in this region and is reflected by a higher density of Paneth cells and corresponding peptides (Ouellette, 2010).

### Colon

The organization of the mucus layer varies along the length of the colon. In the distal colon, there are two layers of mucus, however, whether these layers adhere to the epithelium or the colonic content is under debate. In the proximal colon, the presence of two mucus layers has been queried based on histological studies in animal models.

Johansson and colleagues reported that the mouse distal colon contains two continuous mucus layers; an inner mucus layer that is  $\sim$ 50 µm thick and anchored to the mucus-producing goblet cells of the epithelial membrane, and an outer mucus layer that is loosely adherent and harbors bacteria (Johansson et al., 2008). These researchers also reported that the thickness





of the outer mucus layer is determined by the composition of the mucus-inhabiting bacteria. Interestingly, this group reported that the inner mucus layer of the proximal colon is also penetrable to bacteria (Ermund et al., 2013). In contrast, Kamphuis and colleagues reported that the two distal colonic mucus layers adhere to the fecal pellet rather than the intestinal epithelium in rodents and that the organization of the colonic mucus layers is dependent on the presence of fecal content (Kamphuis et al., 2017). Specifically, this study utilized fluorescence in situ hybridization and histological techniques in longitudinal sections to demonstrate that the fecal pellet is covered by a sterile mucus layer of variable thickness that is not attached to the epithelium. They also showed that within the proximal part of the proximal colon, which contains colon content prior to formation of a fecal pellet, the mucus layer is loosely organized and the bacteria in this region are in contact with the epithelial surface (Kamphuis et al., 2017).

The dissimilarities in the mucus layers of the colon reported may be due to methodological variations including the orientation of tissue sectioning and mucus staining techniques. Overall, multiple studies examining mucus properties carried out in both mice (Macfarlane et al., 2011; Motta et al., 2015; Welch et al., 2017) and humans (Swidsinski et al., 2007a) describe two mucus layers in the colon that include a firm mucus layer adjacent to the epithelium that is devoid of bacteria.

Commensal bacteria secrete mucinases and proteinases that continuously degrade the outer mucus layer contributing to its highly disorganized nature (Donaldson et al., 2016). Similarly, a role for bacteria in mucus thickness has been demonstrated in germ free mice which have a thinner inner colonic mucus layer. Simply adding components of the bacterial cell wall (e.g., lipopolysaccharide; LPS) is sufficient to increase mucus thickness in this model, highlighting a role for bacteria in regulating the structure of the outer mucus layer (Petersson et al., 2011). The continual release of mucus contributes to a dynamic process whereby the inner mucus layer is gradually converted to the irregular and less adherent outer mucus layer. This process involves Meprin  $\beta$ , an endogenous protease which aids mucus detachment (Wichert et al., 2017) and also bacteria penetration by increasing pore size in the outer mucus layer (Schutte et al., 2014).

### **Intestinal Mucus Composition**

Mucus is primarily composed of branched glycoproteins (including mucins) that interact with the external environment and via their hydrophilic nature, influence mucus viscosity (Bergstrom and Xia, 2013). There are more than 20 subtypes of mucin identified in humans and their distribution varies throughout the GI tract. For example, the salivary glands produce MUC5B and MUC7 to lubricate food (Bobek et al., 1993; Nielsen et al., 1996; Khan et al., 1998; Thornton et al., 1999) and the mucus layer in the stomach contains MUC5AC (Ho et al., 1995; Atuma et al., 2001; Nordman et al., 2002). Although MUC5AC is not typically expressed in the large intestine, it has been detected in the distal colon along with MUC-2 during inflammation associated with ulcerative colitis and adenocarcinoma in patients (Forgue-Lafitte et al., 2007). It is well-established that the major glycoprotein within the intestinal mucus layer is mucin-2 (MUC-2 protein).

There are three major structural domains within the MUC2 protein; the N-terminal domain, a central large PTS (proline, threonine, and serine) domain and the Cterminal domain. Following translation, full-length MUC2 protein cores form dimers via disulfide bridges near their Cterminus within the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) of goblet cells. Within the Golgi apparatus, MUC2 proteins undergo O-linked glycosylation. In this process glycans such as xylose, mannose, Nacetylglucosamine, and N-acetylgalactosamine (O-GalNAc) are covalently attached to the hydroxyl group (-OH) of threonine and serine residues of the PTS domain (Godl et al., 2002). Glycans account for 80% of the total mass of the MUC2 protein and extend perpendicularly from the protein core giving the molecule a "bottle brush-like" appearance (Figure 2). O-Glycans can be modified via formation of linkages with sulfate, sialic acid, and fucose. These modifications play an important role in influencing interactions between the host microbial populations with mucus (Arike and Hansson, 2016).

A complex polymerization process occurs within the trans-Golgi network by which MUC2 protein dimers interact firstly as trimers and then are tightly bundled into MUC2 secretory granules (Godl et al., 2002; Ambort et al., 2012). High  $Ca^{2+}$ ion concentration alongside low pH enables mucus packing by masking negatively charged glycans on the MUC2 protein. During this process, concatenated ring structures are formed (Grubb and Gabriel, 1997; Choi et al., 2001; Ambort et al., 2012; Gustafsson et al., 2012b; Schutte et al., 2014).

Although the main component of mucus in the small intestine and the colon is mucin-2, a rich variety of other proteins largely originating from shredded epithelial cell debris that becomes trapped in the mucus are also present within the mucus biofilm, including IgG Fc-binding protein (FCGBP), Calcium activated chloride channel 1 (ClCA1), Zymogen granule membrane protein 16 (ZG16), Anterior gradient 2 (AGR2), and immunoglobulins (Johansson et al., 2008).

### Mucus Expansion

After mucus secretion, the MUC2 protein complex expands dramatically to form a net-like structure (Ambort et al., 2012). Mucin expansion occurs due to increased pH and decreased Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels driven by cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator (CFTR) channels. CFTR-mediated secretion of HCO3<sup>-</sup> reduces Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels which weakens the ring structure of the mucin complex and allows the densely packed MUC2 mucin to expand into large flat sheets (Ambort et al., 2012). The newly secreted mucus sheets are laid down on the epithelium by interacting with previously secreted mucus and subsequently attaching to the epithelium (Johansson and Hansson, 2016) (Figure 2). In the colon, expansion of the outer mucus layer is also triggered by bacteria that release glycosidases that sequentially cleave individual monosaccharides from mucin glycans (Johansson and Hansson, 2016) to further relax the tight-knit structure of mucin glycans (Johansson et al., 2008).



transcription factor (Spdef), Wht/Notch signaling and neuronal activity. Mature goblet cells have a characteristic goblet shape. The apical region is distended by the presence of mucin granules, giving the cell the characteristic cup shape with other cellular organelles condensed in the basal "stem-like" region. Muc-2 protein comprises multiple O-glycans arranged in a "bottle brush" like formation. SMP, submucosal plexus; CM, circular muscle; MP, myenteric plexus; LM, longitudinal muscle; EC cell, enteroendocrine cells.

### Mucus Secreting Goblet Cells

The intestinal epithelium consists of absorptive and secretory cell lineages including enterocytes, enteroendocrine cells (EECs), Paneth cells, and goblet cells. Goblet cells are specialized cells equipped with specific biological machinery for the secretion of mucus and are present throughout the entire length of the intestine (**Figure 2**). These cells, as their name suggests, are easily identifiable in histologically stained cross sections of the intestine due to their characteristic "goblet-like" shape. Intestinal epithelial cells, including goblet cells, arise from multipotential stem cells residing at the base of the intestinal crypts and subsequently migrate from the crypts to the top of the villus prior to eventually being shed into the lumen (Cheng and Leblond, 1974). In mice, this migratory process occurs over 2–3 days (Specian and Oliver, 1991). Differentiation of goblet cells is directly controlled by

the transcription factor SAM pointed domain-containing ETS transcription factor (Spdef) (Noah et al., 2010) and also via a network of transcriptional factors regulated by the Notch and Wnt signaling pathways known to influence developmental and inflammation pathways (van Es et al., 2005; Clarke, 2006; Fre et al., 2009; Gersemann et al., 2009; Gregorieff et al., 2009; Kwon et al., 2011; Heuberger et al., 2014; Tian et al., 2015). Furthermore, enteric neural activity has been shown to influence the maturation and production of stem cells in the GI tract (Lundgren et al., 2011) which, in turn, suggests a role for the ENS in goblet cell proliferation and differentiation.

Goblet cell morphology changes dramatically during the cellular lifespan (Specian and Oliver, 1991). Immature goblet cells are larger and pyramidal in shape with cellular organelles dispersed throughout the cell and interspersed with mucus

granules in the apical cellular region. As these goblet cells migrate toward the colonic epithelial surface, they reduce in volume as a result of shedding cytoplasmic content and organelles. During this phase of volume reduction, goblet cells reduce contact with the basal laminar surface adjacent to the epithelium and simultaneously increase contact with the luminal surface of the GI tract. The goblet cells then rapidly produce and store mucus granules, resulting in the distention of the apical cellular region to produce the typical "cup" shape. The nucleus and other cellular organelles of the goblet cells are concentrated in narrowed stem-like subcellular regions located at the base of the cells (Specian and Oliver, 1991). These processes could be altered in neurological disorders. For example in Alzheimer's disease, the metalloprotease Meprin  $\beta$ , which cleaves amyloid precursor protein (Schönherr et al., 2016; Becker-Pauly and Pietrzik, 2017) also regulates mucus detachment from goblet cells in the small intestine (Wichert et al., 2017).

### **Mucus Interactions With Microbes**

Microbial populations are spatially organized along the length of the intestine as well as from the luminal to mucosal axis (Palestrant et al., 2004). Mucus viscosity increases toward the distal region of the GI tract. This viscosity gradient along the length of the GI tract reportedly determines the spatial distribution of intestinal microbiota (Swidsinski et al., 2007b). The composition of bacteria adjacent to the mucosa is different to the bacterial populations that reside within the luminal content (Swidsinski et al., 2005). This mucosal to luminal bacterial distribution is likely driven by variations in oxygen levels and nutrient availability (Yasuda et al., 2015).

The mucus layer serves as a carbon and energy source, predominantly in the form of glycans, for mucus residing bacteria. As an adaptation to residing in a glycan-rich environment, these bacteria produce mucus-degrading enzymes such as glycosidase, sulphatase, and sialidases (Table 1) that cleave the mucus network to enhance the utilization of mucus as an energy source. A range of mucus-degrading bacteria present within the mucus, includes Akkermansia muciniphila (Derrien et al., 2004), Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron (Xu et al., 2003), Bifidobacterium bifidium (He et al., 2001), Bacteroides fragilis (Macfarlane and Gibson, 1991), and Ruminoccous gnavus (Png et al., 2010). These bacterial species cleave mucus O-glycans to produce monosaccharides (Berry et al., 2013) which can be further utilized by other mucus-residing bacteria including Lachnospiraceae (Nava et al., 2011), Clostridium cluster XIV (van den Abbeele et al., 2013), Enterobacteriaceae (Ashida et al., 2008), and Clostridium difficile (Ng et al., 2013). Further adaptation of bacteria has been identified in Lactobacillus (Etzold et al., 2014) and Bacteroides (Sicard et al., 2017) where the presence of multi-repeat cell-surface adhesins enable retention of the bacteria within the mucus layer. The syntrophic, symbiotic, and mutualistic interactions of the microbes in the mucus layer create the environment which drives microbial community selection and defines physical properties of the mucus layer.

Some mucus residing bacteria form mucosal biofilms, complex microbial communities embedded in a polymeric

TABLE 1   Predominant mucus-degrading bacteria and secreted diges	tive
enzymes.	

Bacteria	Mucus degrading enzyme	References		
Bacteria	Mucus degrading enzyme	References		
Akkermansia muciniphila	Glycosidase	Png et al., 2010; var Passel et al., 2011		
Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron	$\begin{array}{l} \text{Sulfatase, neuraminidase,} \\ \alpha\text{-fucosidase, }\beta\text{-galactosidase} \\ \alpha\text{-} \text{N-acetylgalactosaminidase} \\ \beta\text{-} \text{N-acetylglucosaminidase} \end{array}$	Xu et al., 2003		
Rumminococcus gnavus	α-galactosidases	Png et al., 2010		
Rumminococcus torques	$\alpha$ -N-acetylgalactosaminidase	Png et al., 2010		
Bacteroides fragilis	Neuraminidase, sulfatase, protease, α- N-acetylgalactosaminidase, β-galactosidase, β -N-acetylglucosaminidase, α-fucosidases	Macfarlane and Gibson, 1991		
Bacteroides vulgatus	Neuraminidase, α and β-galactosidases, α-fucosidase β-N-acetylglucosaminidase, α and β -N-acetylgalactosaminidase	Onderdonk et al., 1983; McCarthy et al., 1988		
Adherent invasive Escherichia coli	Vat protease	Gibold et al., 2016		
Giardia duodenalis	Cysteine protease	Amat et al., 2017		
Entamoeba histolytica	Cysteine protease	Lidell et al., 2006		

matrix. Techniques including fluorescent *in situ* hybridization and electron microscopic studies reported the presence of bacterial biofilms in the healthy colon of mice, humans and rats (Palestrant et al., 2004; Swidsinski et al., 2005; Bollinger et al., 2007; Macfarlane et al., 2011; Motta et al., 2015). Altered levels of biofilm associated bacteria such as *Bacteroides fragilis*, Enterobacteriaceae family were reported in Crohn's disease and inflammatory bowel disease (Masseret et al., 2001; Macfarlane and Dillon, 2007; DuPont and DuPont, 2011; Srivastava et al., 2017).

Therefore, the mucus associated bacterial biofilm also could play a role in these disorders. Alterations in these complex community structures could result in abnormal mucus invasion, epithelial adherence, and spatial distribution of bacterial species.

### THE ENTERIC NERVOUS SYSTEM (ENS)

The digestive tract is innervated by the enteric nervous system (ENS), an intrinsic neuronal network that regulates GI functions (Furness et al., 2013) in addition to extrinsic innervation from the parasympathetic and sympathetic components of the autonomic nervous system (reviewed in Uesaka et al., 2016). Neuronal control of intestinal function is largely regulated by two ganglionated plexuses; the myenteric and submucosal plexus. The myenteric plexus predominantly regulates GI motility while the submucosal plexus regulates the secretion of water and electrolytes primarily via the neurotransmitters acetylcholine (ACh) and vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP).

### The ENS Influences Mucus Secretion

Mucus secretion is influenced by nervous system activity and occurs via two processes; (i) vesicle secretion and (ii) compound exocytosis. During vesicle secretion, mucussecreting goblet cells release mucus content by fusion of the mucus granule membrane with the overlying plasma membrane (Lang et al., 2004). This process is regulated by vesicle exocytotic components like syntaxin, Munc 18, vesicleassociated membrane proteins (VAMP) and synaptosomal nerveassociated proteins (SNAP) proteins (Cosen-Binker et al., 2008). During compound exocytosis, all mucus granules are fused together and empty the mucus as a single unit. As yet, the molecular pathways regulating compound exocytosis have not been defined.

VIP and ACh are the two main secretagogues responsible for neurally-evoked mucosal secretion (Specian and Neutra, 1980; Neutra et al., 1984; Lelievre et al., 2007; Gustafsson et al., 2012a; Ermund et al., 2013). ACh induces mucus secretion by activating M3 muscarinic receptors located on goblet cells within the epithelium in both the small intestine and in the colon (Specian and Neutra, 1980; Neutra et al., 1984; Gustafsson et al., 2012b; Ermund et al., 2013). Exocytosis of mucuscontaining granules is regulated by intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+-</sup> mobilizing agents (including acetylcholine; Birchenough et al., 2015). The activation of M3 muscarinic receptors mobilizes Ca<sup>2+</sup> from intracellular stores to induce mucus secretion (Ambort et al., 2012).

Mucus release is differentially regulated in a region-specific manner in the GI tract. ACh specifically targets both crypt and villus-associated goblet cells in the small intestine (Birchenough et al., 2015). In contrast, in the colon, goblet cells located in crypts are responsive to ACh, but equivalent cells at the epithelial surface do not respond to ACh or the cholinergic agonist, carbachol (Gustafsson et al., 2012b). Release of the neuropeptide VIP enhances mucus secretion (Lelievre et al., 2007) via modulating CFTR-dependent secretions (Alcolado et al., 2014). Furthermore, VIP deficiency in mice results in reduced goblet cell number and reduced *muc-2* gene expression levels (Wu et al., 2015). A recent study displayed that mucosal VIP-containing neurons are in close proximity with ileal goblet cells and VPAC receptor antagonist alter the goblet cell numbers in the ileum (Schwerdtfeger and Tobet, 2020).

### **Gut Motility and Mucus Movement**

In addition to its prominent action in regulating GI motility and peristalsis, the myenteric plexus plays a key role in mucus renewal. GI motility regulates mucus levels by propelling mucus to the distal GI tract. Myenteric neurons coordinate cyclic motility patterns known as migrating motor complexes (MMCs) that contribute to the "housekeeping" functions of the intestine by flushing undigested materials, mucus, and bacteria along the small intestine. Altered ENS regulation of motility can therefore also perturb mucus renewal. Interestingly, patients with irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) report lower MMC frequencies and show bacterial overgrowth in the small intestine (Pimentel et al., 2002) implicating alterations in the mucus environment.

## ANIMAL MODELS OF MUCUS IMPAIRMENT

Preclinical models have demonstrated that abnormalities in GI structure and function are associated with altered mucus production. For example, colonic mucus layer thickness is decreased alongside progressive inflammation in a mouse model of colitis (Petersson et al., 2011). In the absence of an inner mucus layer, bacteria can penetrate deep into the epithelial crypts and interact with the colonic epithelium (Johansson et al., 2008) which can exacerbate disease. Furthermore, multiple studies report that alterations in mucus layer, often associated with sparsely filled goblet cells and an increased susceptibility to colitis (An et al., 2007; Park et al., 2009; Stone et al., 2009; Fu et al., 2011; Tsuru et al., 2013; Bergstrom et al., 2014).

### Muc-2 Knockout Mice

Mice lacking the mucus protein MUC2 ( $MUC2^{-/-}$  mice) lack an inner colonic mucus layer despite the presence of goblet cells and other mucus layer components. Interestingly, Rahman and colleagues showed changes in colonic innervation in mice expressing a point mutation in *Muc-2* (Rahman et al., 2015) highlighting interactions between mucus production and innervation of the GI tract. Knockout mice also exhibit altered intestinal cell maturation, migration, and abnormal intestinal crypt morphology (Velcich et al., 2002). These mice develop adenomas and rectal tumors as well as increased infiltration of neutrophils and lymphocytes, loose stools, diarrhea with blood, rectal prolapses, and fail to thrive (Velcich et al., 2002). In the longer term, these mice also show increased susceptibility to developing colon cancer (Velcich et al., 2002; van der Sluis et al., 2006).

### **Cystic Fibrosis**

Patients with cystic fibrosis are commonly diagnosed with concomitant GI abnormalities including meconium ileus and distal intestinal obstruction syndrome (Colombo et al., 2011) due to an increase in secreted mucus volume, mucus dehydration, and increased viscosity that contributes to blockage of the small intestine. Both mucus buildup and reduced mucus movement occur in these patients due to dysregulated mucus secretion. Cystic fibrosis is caused by mutations in the gene encoding the Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane conductance Regulator (CFTR) channel important for mucus hydration. These mutations cause defective chloride ion transport out of epithelial cells and dehydration of mucus overlying the epithelium. In patients, mucus remains tightly attached to the small intestinal epithelium and peristaltic movements fail to propel the mucus forward within the GI tract. In keeping with these changes, an increased bacterial load has been observed in cystic fibrosis patients (O'Brien et al., 1993), likely due to the elevated volume and viscosity of mucus that provides an ideal environment for commensal microbes.

Mouse models expressing CFTR mutations also display severe intestinal dysfunction and a mucus layer that is firmly attached to the mucosal epithelium (Grubb and Gabriel, 1997; Seidler et al., 2009; Frizzell and Hanrahan, 2012). Since a prominent role of mucus is to trap and transport bacteria to the distal regions of the gastrointestinal tract via peristalsis, animal models provide an excellent experimental tool to investigate the effects of mucus perturbation on microbial dysbiosis.

## **Hirschsprungs Disease**

Extreme effects of neuronal loss on goblet cell function and on mucus layer properties have been observed in Hirschsprung disease, a life-threatening developmental disorder where the distal colon lacks enteric neurons due to the failure of neural crest cells to completely migrate during gastrointestinal development. Patients with Hirschsprung disease have a reduced mucin turnover rate, a decreased goblet cell population and reduced expression of *Spdef* and *Krueppel like factor 4* which drive goblet cell differentiation and maturation (Aslam et al., 1997a,b; Nakamura et al., 2018). These findings highlight the importance of the ENS in the development and function of mucus-producing goblet cells in the clinical setting.

Mouse models of Hirschprung Disease additionally provide evidence for neural-mucus interactions. For example, endothelin receptor B knockout mice (Ednrb<sup>-/-</sup> mice) along with mice expressing a mutation in the RET gene that encodes the receptor for the glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) are well-characterized models which have been examined for alterations in mucus and goblet cell structure. Mice lacking endothelin receptor B, known for its role in angiogenesis and neurogenesis, show colonic aganglionosis resembling the clinical presentation. Ednrb $^{-/-}$  mice showed an increase in both goblet cell numbers and size as well as increased expression of Spdef and Math 1 transcription factors in the distal colon (Thiagarajah et al., 2014). In addition, the absence of Ednrb in mice alters mucus structure as evidenced by reduced permeability to 200 nm nanoparticles in vitro (Thiagarajah et al., 2014; Yildiz et al., 2015). Furthermore, significant differences in the commensal microbiome were also present in this model (Ward et al., 2012).

The absence of GDNF signaling in mice similarly results in a severely underdeveloped ENS. Furthermore, these mice have altered mucus composition and mucus retention (Porokuokka et al., 2019). Overall, these clinical and animal model data illustrate involvement of the nervous system in the regulation of goblet cell differentiation and maturation as well as influencing mucus properties.

# NEUROLOGICAL DISORDERS AND MUCUS DYSFUNCTION

Patients with neurological disorders frequently present with coexistent bowel diseases but whether this is due to nervous system changes *per se* or additional downstream effects such as dysbiosis, immune dysregulation and/or altered mucus production is uncertain. Gut disorders are often associated with, and precede, the core diagnostic symptoms of autism, Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, and Multiple Sclerosis (Pfeiffer, 2003; Buie et al., 2010; Preziosi et al., 2013; Coggrave et al., 2014). Severe gastrointestinal dysfunction can be

debilitating, exacerbate core symptoms of neurological disease, and decrease quality of life. Thus, clarifying the role of the nervous system in mucus production and maintenance could improve understanding of the pathophysiology of neurological disease. Furthermore, modulating mucus properties to optimize probiotics and microbial engineering could provide additional "psychobiotic" therapeutic options for these disorders.

A major function of the intestinal mucus layer is to form a barrier between the intestinal epithelium and the luminal content to protect the intestine from pathogenic invasion. A number of biological pathways influence mucus production and volume: (i) stem cell proliferation and subsequent maturation of goblet cells is influenced by the SPDEF transcription factor and the Wnt/notch signaling pathways, as well as neural activity; (ii) multiple neurotransmission pathways directly activate mucus release from goblet cells, including via muscarinic receptors; (iii) motility driven by the enteric nervous system can also affect mucus release; and (v) microbes are integral in maintaining mucus homeostasis (**Figure 3**).

### **Developmental Pathways**

Key developmental pathways implicated in neurological disease are involved in goblet cell maturation, mucus production and release. For example, the Spdef and Wnt/Notch signaling pathways, known to be crucial for neuronal development in the brain, also influence stem cell maturation in the GI tract. As Spdef regulates the terminal differentiation of goblet cells and Paneth cells (Noah et al., 2010) alterations in these pathways would influence goblet cell turnover and numbers (Lo et al., 2017), therefore modulating mucus properties. The Wnt-beta catenin pathway is also associated with neurological disease (Sani et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2012, 2014; Ferrari et al., 2014; Huang et al., 2015; Hoseth et al., 2018). This pathway stimulates the synaptic expression and localization of neuroligin-3, a synaptic adhesion protein associated with autism spectrum disorder (Medina et al., 2018). Wnt signaling pathways are also implicated in Parkinson's Disease via interactions with PARK genes (Berwick and Harvey, 2012). Although potential changes in goblet cell number and morphology or mucus properties have not been studied in animal models of autism or several other models of neurological disorders, we predict that Wnt-mediated pathways are altered in the gastrointestinal tract and affect mucus properties, thereby contributing to patient GI symptoms.

## **Protein Misfolding**

Due to the high levels of protein produced, mucus production processes within goblet cells are susceptible to protein misfolding, retention in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), and ER stress. Protein misfolding is known to trigger the unfolded protein response (UPR), which is associated with chronic inflammation and autoimmune changes in neurodegenerative diseases such as PD, Alzheimer's disease, and multiple sclerosis (Mhaille et al., 2008; Matus et al., 2011). Accordingly, protein misfolding could result in altered production and apoptosis of goblet cells, therefore affecting mucus properties.



### **Vesicle-Associated Proteins**

Biological pathways required for neurotransmission and mucus release share molecular components. Multiple neurological disorders are associated with gene mutations that impair neuronal communication via synapses, therefore mutations in the brain potentially affect mucus properties in the gastrointestinal tract. Examples of mucus release components that overlap with synaptic neurotransmitter systems include syntaxin, Munc 18, VAMP, and SNAP proteins. These vesicleassociated proteins are commonly expressed at neuronal synaptic membranes and have been identified as being mutated in neurological disorders (syntaxin; ASD, SNAP; ADHD, Munc 18; epilepsy/ASD (Guerini et al., 2011; Durdiaková et al., 2014; Hamada et al., 2017). Changes in the function of these proteins will not only contribute to brain disorders but may also disrupt vesicular secretion of mucus. Further investigation of mucus TABLE 2 | Altered mucosal microbiome in patients with neurological disease.

Neurological disorder	Gastrointestinal dysfunction	Altered mucosal microbiome ( $\downarrow$	nce) References	
Autism spectrum disorder	Constipation, diarrhea, functional abdominal pain,	↓ Akkermansia muciniphila ↓ Bifidobacteria species		Wang et al., 2011
	food allergies, bloating	<ul> <li>↑ Mucosa-associated Clostridiales</li> <li>Ruminococcaceae)</li> <li>↓ Dorea, Blautia, Sutterella</li> </ul>	(Lachnospiraceae and	Luna et al., 2017
		↑ Burkholderia ↓ Neisseria		Kushak et al., 2017
		↑ Sutterella		Williams et al., 2012
		<ul> <li>↓ Bacteroidetes</li> <li>↑ Firmicutes (↑ Ruminococcaceae</li> <li>↑ Lachnospiraceae)</li> </ul>		Williams et al., 2011
Parkinson's disease	Constipation	↓ Faecalibacterium ( <i>Blautia</i> , Coproc <i>Roseburia</i> ) ↑ Pro-inflammatory Proteobacteria genus <i>Ralstonia</i>		Keshavarzian et al., 2015
		<ul> <li>Dorea,</li> <li>Bacteroides,</li> <li>Prevotella,</li> <li>Faecalibacterium,</li> <li>Bacteroides massiliensis, ↓ Bacteroides coprocola,</li> <li>Stoquefichus</li> <li>Blautia glucerasea,</li> <li>Dorea longicatena, ↓ Bacteroides dorei,</li> <li>Bacteroides plebeus,</li> <li>Prevotella copri,</li> <li>Coprococcus eutactus,</li> <li>Ruminococcus callidus</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>↑ Christensenella,</li> <li>↑ Catabacter,</li> <li>↑ Lactobacillus,</li> <li>↑ Oscillospira,</li> <li>↑ Bifidobacterium,</li> <li>↑ Christensenella minuta,</li> <li>↑ Catabacter hongkongensis,</li> <li>↑ Lactobacillus mucosae,</li> <li>↑ Ruminococcus bromii,</li> <li>↑ Papillibacter cinnamivorans</li> </ul>	Petrov et al., 2017
		↓ Prevotellaceae		Scheperjans et al., 2015
Alzheimer's disease	Constipation, incontinence	↑ Akkermansia muciniphila ↑ Akkermansia muciniphila ↑ Prevotella denticola		Heintz-Buschart et al., 2018 Zhuang et al., 2018
		<ul> <li>↓ Firmicutes and Bifidobacterium</li> <li>↑ Bacteroidetes</li> </ul>		Vogt et al., 2017
		<ul> <li>↑ Escherichia/Shigella (pro-inflamm</li> <li>↓ E. rectale (anti-inflammatory)</li> </ul>	hatory)	Cattaneo et al., 2017
Aultiple sclerosis	Constipation, diarrhea	↑ Methanobrevibacter ↑ Akkermansia muciniphila ↓ Butyricimonas		Jangi et al., 2016
		↑ Akkermansia muciniphila,		Berer et al., 2017
		↓ Faecalibacterium		Cantarel et al., 2015
		↑ Akkermansia muciniphila, ↑ Acinetobacter calcoaceticus ↓ Parabacteroides distasonis		Cekanaviciute et al., 2017

Arrows indicate an increase or decrease in abundance of bacteria.

properties is therefore warranted in these models and in patients with neurological disorders that potentially express mutations in these and related synaptic genes.

### **Mucosa-Associated Microbial Dysbiosis**

In neurological disease, changes in mucus properties could additionally alter commensal microbial populations. Dysbiosis has been reported for the mucus-residing microbiome in patients with various neurological disorders including autism, Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, and multiple sclerosis (**Table 2**). Because dysbiosis can alter gut barrier function (i.e., via altering mucus thickness), this could contribute to disease progression. Microbial populations influence mucus hydration by releasing enzymes that modify mucus structural networks. Microbes release enzymes that degrade mucus, and this enzymatic cleavage of mucin complexes expands and hydrates the mucus 3dimensional structure. For example, increased release of mucindegrading enzymes due to an overgrowth of mucus-residing bacteria (such as *Akkermansia muciniphila*) increases mucus thickness and strengthens the protective mucosal barrier (Ottman et al., 2017). An additional effect of increasing mucus thickness may be reduced nutrient absorption. Such an increase could be beneficial (i.e., in the case of obesity) but detrimental in neurodegenerative diseases such as multiple sclerosis and Parkinson's Disease (Cani, 2018).

### Autism

Autism spectrum disorder is a neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by impaired social interactions and restrictive and repetitive behavior. In 2018, 1 in 59 children are diagnosed with autism in the United Status. GI dysfunction is a major comorbidity for autism patients (Kohane et al., 2012; Chaidez et al., 2014; McElhanon et al., 2014) and includes symptoms such as abdominal pain, diarrhea, constipation, and bloating. Altered levels of mucosa-associated bacterial species are reported in autism patients with GI dysfunction with Akkermansia muciniphila Dorea, Blautia, Sutterella Neisseria having decreased abundance, while mucosaassociated Clostridiales (Lachnospiraceae and Ruminococcaceae), Burkholderia, Ruminococcaceae, Lachnospiraceae, and Sutterella have increased abundance (Wang et al., 2011; Williams et al., 2011, 2012; Kushak et al., 2017; Luna et al., 2017).

### Parkinson's Disease

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most common neurodegenerative disease observed in people over 60 years of age (de Lau and Breteler, 2006). In addition, PD is increasingly correlated with GI disorders prior to the onset of characteristic motor symptoms such as tremor and coordination of complex movement. Although the pathophysiology of PD remains unclear, the accumulation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein appears to cause neuronal death (Kirik et al., 2002; Braak et al., 2003). Parkinson's patients with colonic inflammation also showed  $\alpha$ -synuclein deposits in their colon (Holmqvist et al., 2014). The mucosal biopsy samples of PD patients showed increased abundance of *Akkermansia muciniphila*, and Ralstonia, and a decrease in abundance of Faecalibacterium (Blautia, Coprococcus, Roseburia) and Prevotella (Keshavarzian et al., 2015; Scheperjans et al., 2015; Petrov et al., 2017; Heintz-Buschart et al., 2018).

### Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer's disease is an increasingly prevalent neurodegenerative disease characterized by progressive cognitive decline and also reported to have comorbid GI dysfunction. Patients with Alzheimer's disease who also had symptoms indicative of IBS showed dysbiosis involving increased abundance of mucolytic bacteria including *Akkermansia muciniphila* and *Prevotella denticola* (Zhuang et al., 2018).

### REFERENCES

Alcolado, N. G., Conrad, D. J., Poroca, D., Li, M., Alshafie, W., Chappe, F. G., et al. (2014). Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator dysfunction in VIP knockout mice. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 307, C195– C207. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00293.2013 Similarly stool samples of Alzheimer patients examined for targeted bacteria showed an increase in the abundance of *Escherichia/Shigella* (pro-inflammatory taxa) and a decrease in abundance of *E. rectale* (anti-inflammatory taxa) (Cattaneo et al., 2017). Microbial dysbiosis in Alzheimer's disease has been implicated in increasing gut permeability, which may influence systemic inflammation and impairment of the blood brain barrier (Vogt et al., 2017; Kowalski and Mulak, 2019).

### **Multiple Sclerosis**

Multiple sclerosis involves an aberrant immune system that causes inflammation and results in demyelination in the central nervous system. Multiple studies in patients with multiple sclerosis have found increased abundance of mucosal bacteria including *Akkermansia muciniphila*, *Methanobrevibacter*, and *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus* and decreased abundance of *Butyricimonas*, Faecalibacterium, and *Parabacteroides distasonis* (Cantarel et al., 2015; Jangi et al., 2016; Berer et al., 2017; Cekanaviciute et al., 2017). Such alterations in the mucosal microbiome potentially favor the growth of pathogenic bacteria that alter the composition of the mucus layer and therefore may exacerbate core symptoms of these disorders (Camara-Lemarroy et al., 2018; Buscarinu et al., 2019)

### CONCLUSION

In summary, multiple pathways relevant to mucus homeostasis may be impacted by nervous system impairments in neurological disease. Furthermore, altered mucus properties could contribute to the widespread observations of microbial dysbiosis in autism, Parkinson's Disease, Alzheimer's Disease, and multiple sclerosis, and potentially exacerbate core symptoms. Overall, this review highlights that mucus properties could be impaired in neurological disease and provides new avenues for clinically relevant research into GI dysfunction in these disorders.

### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the design and drafting of the final manuscript.

### FUNDING

MH received a Melbourne University PhD Stipend. This work was supported by an Australian Research Council Future Fellowship (FT160100126) and an RMIT Vice Chancellor's Senior Research Fellowship to EH-Y, which supported SH. JB received an NHMRC project grant (APP1158952).

Amat, C. B., Motta, J. P., Fekete, E., Moreau, F., Chadee, K., and Buret, A. G. (2017). Cysteine protease–dependent mucous disruptions and differential mucin gene expression in Giardia duodenalis infection. *Am. J. Pathol.* 187, 2486–2498. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2017.07.009

Ambort, D., Johansson, M. E., Gustafsson, J. K., Nilsson, H. E., Ermund, A., Johansson, B. R., et al. (2012). Calcium and pH-dependent packing and

release of the gel-forming MUC2 mucin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 109, 5645–5650. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1120269109

- An, G., Wei, B., Xia, B., McDaniel, J. M., Ju, T., Cummings, R. D., et al. (2007). Increased susceptibility to colitis and colorectal tumors in mice lacking core 3-derived O-glycans. J. Exp. Med. 204, 1417–1429. doi: 10.1084/jem.20061929
- Arike, L., and Hansson, G. C. (2016). The densely O-glycosylated MUC2 mucin protects the intestine and provides food for the commensal bacteria. J. Mol. Biol. 428, 3221–3229. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2016.02.010
- Ashida, H., Maki, R., Ozawa, H., Tani, Y., Kiyohara, M., Fujita, M., et al. (2008). Characterization of two different endo-alpha-N-acetylgalactosaminidases from probiotic and pathogenic enterobacteria, *Bifidobacterium longum* and *Clostridium perfringens*. *Glycobiology* 18, 727–734. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwn053
- Aslam, A., Spicer, R. D., and Corfield, A. P. (1997a). Biochemical analysis of colonic mucin glycoproteins in children with hirschsprung disease show disease specific alterations. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 25:8S. doi: 10.1042/bst025008s
- Aslam, A., Spicer, R. D., and Corfield, A. P. (1997b). Children with Hirschsprung's disease have an abnormal colonic mucus defensive barrier independent of the bowel innervation status. *J. Pediatr. Surg.* 32, 1206–1210. doi: 10.1016/s0022-3468(97)90683-7
- Atuma, C., Strugala, V., Allen, A., and Holm, L. (2001). The adherent gastrointestinal mucus gel layer: thickness and physical state *in* vivo. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 280, G922–G929. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.2001.280.5.G922
- Becker-Pauly, C., and Pietrzik, C. U. (2017). The metalloprotease meprin  $\beta$  is an alternative  $\beta$ -secretase of APP. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 9:159. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2016.00159
- Berer, K., Gerdes, L. A., Cekanaviciute, E., Jia, X., Xiao, L., Xia, Z., et al. (2017). Gut microbiota from multiple sclerosis patients enables spontaneous autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, 10719–10724. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1711233114
- Bergstrom, J. H., Berg, K. A., Rodriguez-Pineiro, A. M., Stecher, B., Johansson, M. E., and Hansson, G. C. (2014). AGR2, an endoplasmic reticulum protein, is secreted into the gastrointestinal mucus. *PLoS ONE* 9:e104186. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0104186
- Bergstrom, K. S., and Xia, L. (2013). Mucin-type O-glycans and their roles in intestinal homeostasis. *Glycobiology* 23, 1026–1037. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwt045
- Berry, D., Stecher, B., Schintlmeister, A., Reichert, J., Brugiroux, S., Wild, B., et al. (2013). Host-compound foraging by intestinal microbiota revealed by single-cell stable isotope probing. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 4720–4725. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1219247110
- Berwick, D. C., and Harvey, K. (2012). The importance of Wnt signalling for neurodegeneration in Parkinson's disease. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 40, 1123–1128. doi: 10.1042/BST20120122
- Bevins, C. L., and Salzman, N. H. (2011). Paneth cells, antimicrobial peptides and maintenance of intestinal homeostasis. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 9, 356–368. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2546
- Birchenough, G. M., Johansson, M. E., Gustafsson, J. K., Bergström, J. H., and Hansson, G. C. (2015). New developments in goblet cell mucus secretion and function. *Mucosal. Immunol.* 8, 712–719. doi: 10.1038/mi.2015.32
- Bobek, L. A., Tsai, H., Biesbrock, A. R., and Levine, M. J. (1993). Molecular cloning, sequence, and specificity of expression of the gene encoding the low molecular weight human salivary mucin (MUC7). J. Biol. Chem. 268, 20563–20569.
- Bollinger, R. R., Barbas, A. S., Bush, E. L., Lin, S. S., and Parker, W. (2007). Biofilms in the normal human large bowel: fact rather than fiction. *Gut* 56, 1481–1482.
- Braak, H., Del Tredici, K., Rüb, U., De Vos, R. A., Steur, E. N. J., and Braak, E. (2003). Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 24, 197–211. doi: 10.1016/S0197-4580(02)00065-9
- Buie, T., Campbell, D. B., Fuchs, G. J. 3rd, Furuta, G. T., Levy, J., Vandewater, J., et al. (2010). Evaluation, diagnosis, and treatment of gastrointestinal disorders in individuals with ASDs: a consensus report. *Pediatrics* 125(Suppl. 1), S1– S18. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-1878C
- Buscarinu, M. C., Fornasiero, A., Romano, S., Ferraldeschi, M., Mechelli, R., Reniè, R., et al. (2019). The contribution of gut barrier changes to multiple sclerosis pathophysiology. *Front. Immunol.* 10:1916. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01916
- Camara-Lemarroy, C. R., Metz, L., Meddings, J. B., Sharkey, K. A., and Wee Yong, V. (2018). The intestinal barrier in multiple sclerosis: implications for pathophysiology and therapeutics. *Brain* 141, 1900–1916. doi: 10.1093/brain/awy131
- Cani, P. D. (2018). Human gut microbiome: hopes, threats and promises. *Gut* 67, 1716–1725. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2018-316723

- Cantarel, B. L., Waubant, E., Chehoud, C., Kuczynski, J., DeSantis, T. Z., Warrington, J., et al. (2015). Gut microbiota in multiple sclerosis: possible influence of immunomodulators. *J. Investig. Med.* 63, 729–734. doi: 10.1097/JIM.000000000000192
- Cattaneo, A., Cattane, N., Galluzzi, S., Provasi, S., Lopizzo, N., Festari, C., et al. (2017). Association of brain amyloidosis with pro-inflammatory gut bacterial taxa and peripheral inflammation markers in cognitively impaired elderly. *Neurobiol. Aging* 49, 60–68. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016.08.019
- Cekanaviciute, E., Yoo, B. B., Runia, T. F., Debelius, J. W., Singh, S., Nelson, C. A., et al. (2017). Gut bacteria from multiple sclerosis patients modulate human T cells and exacerbate symptoms in mouse models. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, 10713–10718. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1711235114
- Chaidez, V., Hansen, R. L., and Hertz-Picciotto, I. (2014). Gastrointestinal problems in children with autism, developmental delays or typical development. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 44, 1117–1127. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-1973-x
- Chairatana, P., and Nolan, E. M. (2017). Defensins, lectins, mucins, and secretory immunoglobulin A: microbe-binding biomolecules that contribute to mucosal immunity in the human gut. *Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 52, 45–56. doi: 10.1080/10409238.2016.1243654
- Cheng, H., and Leblond, C. P. (1974). Origin, differentiation and renewal of the four main epithelial cell types in the mouse small intestine V. unitarian theory of the origin of the four epithelial cell types. Am. J. Anat. 141, 537–561.
- Choi, J. Y., Muallem, D., Kiselyov, K., Lee, M. G., Thomas, P. J., and Muallem, S. (2001). Aberrant CFTR-dependent HCO-3 transport in mutations associated with cystic fibrosis. *Nature* 410, 94–97. doi: 10.1038/35065099
- Clarke, A. R. (2006). Wnt signalling in the mouse intestine. Oncogene 25, 7512-7521. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210065
- Coggrave, M., Norton, C., and Cody, J. D. (2014). Management of faecal incontinence and constipation in adults with central neurological diseases. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 19:CD002115. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD002115.pub5
- Colombo, C., Ellemunter, H., Houwen, R., Munck, A., Taylor, C., Wilschanski, M., et al. (2011). Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of distal intestinal obstruction syndrome in cystic fibrosis patients. *J. Cyst. Fibros.* 10(Suppl. 2), S24–S28. doi: 10.1016/S1569-1993(11)60005-2
- Cosen-Binker, L. I., Morris, G. P., Vanner, S., and Gaisano, H. Y. (2008). Munc18/SNARE proteins' regulation of exocytosis in guinea pig duodenal Brunner's gland acini. World J. Gastroenterol. 14:2314. doi: 10.3748/wjg.14.2314
- Cullender, T. C., Chassaing, B., Janzon, A., Kumar, K., Muller, C. E., Werner, J. J., et al. (2013). Innate and adaptive immunity interact to quench microbiome flagellar motility in the gut. *Cell Host Microbe* 14, 571–581. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.10.009
- de Lau, L. M., and Breteler, M. M. (2006). Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. Lancet Neurol. 5, 525-535. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(06)70471-9
- Derrien, M., Vaughan, E. E., Plugge, C. M., and de Vos, W. M. (2004). Akkermansia muciniphila gen. nov., sp. nov., a human intestinal mucin-degrading bacterium. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 54(Pt 5), 1469–1476. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.02873-0
- Donaldson, G. P., Lee, S. M., and Mazmanian, S. K. (2016). Gut biogeography of the bacterial microbiota. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 14:20. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro3552
- DuPont, A. W., and DuPont, H. L. (2011). The intestinal microbiota and chronic disorders of the gut. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 8:523. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2011.133
- Durdiaková, J., Warrier, V., Banerjee-Basu, S., Baron-Cohen, S., and Chakrabarti, B. (2014). STX1A and Asperger syndrome: a replication study. *Mol. Autism.* 5:14. doi: 10.1186/2040-2392-5-14
- Ermund, A., Gustafsson, J. K., Hansson, G. C., and Keita, A. V. (2013). Mucus properties and goblet cell quantification in mouse, rat and human ileal Peyer's patches. *PLoS ONE* 8:e83688. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0083688
- Etzold, S., Kober, O. I., MacKenzie, D. A., Tailford, L. E., Gunning, A. P., Walshaw, J., et al. (2014). Structural basis for adaptation of lactobacilli to gastrointestinal mucus. *Environ. Microbiol.* 16, 888–903. doi: 10.1111/1462-2920.12377
- Ferrari, D. V., E-Avila, M., Medina, M. A., Pérez-Palma, E., Bustos, B. I., Alarcon, M. A. (2014). Wnt/β-catenin signaling in Alzheimer's disease. CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets 13, 745–754. doi: 10.2174/1871527312666131223 113900
- Forgue-Lafitte, M. E., Fabiani, B., Levy, P. P., Maurin, N., Fléjou, J. F., and Bara, J. (2007). Abnormal expression of M1/MUC5AC mucin in distal colon of patients with diverticulitis, ulcerative colitis and cancer. *Int. J. Cancer* 121, 1543–1549. doi: 10.1002/ijc.22865

- Fre, S., Pallavi, S. K., Huyghe, M., Laé, M., Janssen, K. P., Robine, S., et al. (2009). Notch and Wnt signals cooperatively control cell proliferation and tumorigenesis in the intestine. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 6309–6314. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0900427106
- Frizzell, R. A., and Hanrahan, J. W. (2012). Physiology of epithelial chloride and fluid secretion. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 2:a009563. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a009563
- Fu, J., Wei, B., Wen, T., Johansson, M. E., Liu, X., Bradford, E., et al. (2011). Loss of intestinal core 1-derived O-glycans causes spontaneous colitis in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* 121, 1657–1666. doi: 10.1172/jci45538
- Furness, J. B., Rivera, L. R., Cho, H. J., Bravo, D. M., and Callaghan, B. (2013). The gut as a sensory organ. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 10, 729–740. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2013.180
- Gersemann, M., Becker, S., Kubler, I., Koslowski, M., Wang, G., Herrlinger, K. R., et al. (2009). Differences in goblet cell differentiation between Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. *Differentiation* 77, 84–94. doi: 10.1016/j.diff.2008.0 9.008
- Gibold, L., Garenaux, E., Dalmasso, G., Gallucci, C., Cia, D., Mottet-Auselo, B., et al. (2016). The Vat-AIEC protease promotes crossing of the intestinal mucus layer by Crohn's disease-associated *Escherichia coli. Cell. Microbiol.* 18, 617–631. doi: 10.1111/cmi.12539
- Godl, K., Johansson, M. E., Lidell, M. E., Morgelin, M., Karlsson, H., Olson, F. J., et al. (2002). The N terminus of the MUC2 mucin forms trimers that are held together within a trypsin-resistant core fragment. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 47248–47256. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M208483200
- Gregorieff, A., Stange, D. E., Kujala, P., Begthel, H., van den Born, M., Korving, J., et al. (2009). The ets-domain transcription factor Spdef promotes maturation of goblet and paneth cells in the intestinal epithelium. *Gastroenterology* 137, 1333–1345.e1–3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009. 06.044
- Grubb, B. R., and Gabriel, S. E. (1997). Intestinal physiology and pathology in gene-targeted mouse models of cystic fibrosis. Am. J. Physiol. 273, G258–266. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.1997.273.2.G258
- Guerini, F. R., Bolognesi, E., Chiappedi, M., Manca, S., Ghezzo, A., Agliardi, C., et al. (2011). SNAP-25 single nucleotide polymorphisms are associated with hyperactivity in autism spectrum disorders. *Pharmacol. Res.* 64, 283–288. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2011.03.015
- Gustafsson, J. K., Ermund, A., Ambort, D., Johansson, M. E., Nilsson, H. E., Thorell, K., et al. (2012a). Bicarbonate and functional CFTR channel are required for proper mucin secretion and link cystic fibrosis with its mucus phenotype. J. Exp. Med. 209, 1263–1272. doi: 10.1084/jem.20120562
- Gustafsson, J. K., Ermund, A., Johansson, M. E., Schutte, A., Hansson, G. C., and Sjovall, H. (2012b). An *ex vivo* method for studying mucus formation, properties, and thickness in human colonic biopsies and mouse small and large intestinal explants. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 302, G430– G438. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00405.2011
- Hamada, N., Iwamoto, I., Tabata, H., and Nagata, K. I. (2017). MUNC18–1 gene abnormalities are involved in neurodevelopmental disorders through defective cortical architecture during brain development. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 5:92. doi: 10.1186/s40478-017-0498-5
- He, F., Ouwehan, A. C., Hashimoto, H., Isolauri, E., Benno, Y., and Salminen, S. (2001). Adhesion of *Bifidobacterium* spp. to human intestinal mucus. *Microbiol. Immunol.* 45, 259–262. doi: 10.1111/j.1348-0421.2001.tb02615.x
- Heintz-Buschart, A., Pandey, U., Wicke, T., Sixel-Doring, F., Janzen, A., Sittig-Wiegand, E., et al. (2018). The nasal and gut microbiome in Parkinson's disease and idiopathic rapid eye movement sleep behavior disorder. *Mov. Disord.* 33, 88–98. doi: 10.1002/mds.27105
- Heuberger, J., Kosel, F., Qi, J., Grossmann, K. S., Rajewsky, K., and Birchmeier, W. (2014). Shp2/MAPK signaling controls goblet/paneth cell fate decisions in the intestine. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 3472–3477. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1309342111
- Ho, S. B., Roberton, A. M., Shekels, L. L., Lyftogt, C. T., Niehans, G. A., and Toribara, N. W. (1995). Expression cloning of gastric mucin complementary DNA and localization of mucin gene expression. *Gastroenterology* 109, 735–747.
- Holmqvist, S., Chutna, O., Bousset, L., Aldrin-Kirk, P., Li, W., Björklund, T., et al. (2014). Direct evidence of Parkinson pathology spread from the gastrointestinal tract to the brain in rats. *Acta Neuropathol.* 128, 805–820. doi: 10.1007/s00401-014-1343-6

- Hoseth, E. Z., Krull, F., Dieset, I., Mørch, R. H., Sigrun, H., Gardsjord, E. S., et al. (2018). Exploring the Wnt signaling pathway in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Transl. Psychiatry* 8:55. doi: 10.1038/s41398-018-0102-1
- Huang, C., Fu, X. H., Zhou, D., and Li, J. M. (2015). The role of Wnt/βcatenin signaling pathway in disrupted hippocampal neurogenesis of temporal lobe epilepsy: a potential therapeutic target? *Neurochem. Res.* 40, 1319–1332. doi: 10.1007/s11064-015-1614-1
- Jangi, S., Gandhi, R., Cox, L. M., Li, N., von Glehn, F., Yan, R., et al. (2016). Alterations of the human gut microbiome in multiple sclerosis. *Nat. Commun.* 7:12015. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12015
- Johansson, M. E., and Hansson, G. C. (2016). Immunological aspects of intestinal mucus and mucins. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 16, 639–649. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.88
- Johansson, M. E., Larsson, J. M., and Hansson, G. C. (2011). The two mucus layers of colon are organized by the MUC2 mucin, whereas the outer layer is a legislator of host-microbial interactions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108(Suppl. 1), 4659–4665. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1006451107
- Johansson, M. E., Phillipson, M., Petersson, J., Velcich, A., Holm, L., and Hansson, G. C. (2008). The inner of the two Muc2 mucin-dependent mucus layers in colon is devoid of bacteria. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 15064–15069. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0803124105
- Johansson, M. E. V., and Hansson, C. (2011). Keeping bacteria at a distance. *Science* 334, 182–183. doi: 10.1126/science.1213909
- Kamphuis, J. B., Mercier-Bonin, M., Eutamene, H., and Theodorou, V. (2017). Mucus organisation is shaped by colonic content; a new view. *Sci. Rep.* 7:8527. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-08938-3
- Keshavarzian, A., Green, S. J., Engen, P. A., Voigt, R. M., Naqib, A., Forsyth, C. B., et al. (2015). Colonic bacterial composition in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 1351–1360. doi: 10.1002/mds.26307
- Khan, S. H., Aguirre, A., and Bobek, L. A. (1998). *In-situ* hybridization localized MUC7 mucin gene expression to the mucous acinar cells of human and MUC7-transgenic mouse salivary glands. *Glycoconj. J.* 15, 1125–1132.
- Kirik, D., Rosenblad, C., Burger, C., Lundberg, C., Johansen, T. E., Muzyczka, N., et al. (2002). Parkinson-like neurodegeneration induced by targeted overexpression of α-synuclein in the nigrostriatal system. J. Neurosci. 22, 2780–2791. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-07-02780.2002
- Kohane, I. S., McMurry, A., Weber, G., MacFadden, D., Rappaport, L., Kunkel, L., et al. (2012). The co-morbidity burden of children and young adults with autism spectrum disorders. *PLoS ONE* 7:e33224. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0033224
- Kowalski, K., and Mulak, A. (2019). Brain-gut-microbiota axis in alzheimer's disease. J. Neurogastroenterol. Motil. 25:48. doi: 10.5056/jnm18087
- Kushak, R. I., Winter, H. S., Buie, T. M., Cox, S. B., Phillips, C. D., and Ward, N. L. (2017). Analysis of the duodenal microbiome in autistic individuals: association with carbohydrate digestion. *J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr.* 64, e110–e116. doi: 10.1097/MPG.00000000001458
- Kwon, C., Cheng, P., King, I. N., Andersen, P., Shenje, L., Nigam, V., et al. (2011). Notch post-translationally regulates beta-catenin protein in stem and progenitor cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 13, 1244–1251. doi: 10.1038/ncb2313
- Lang, T., Alexandersson, M., Hansson, G. C., and Samuelsson, T. (2004). Bioinformatic identification of polymerizing and transmembrane mucins in the puffer fish Fugu rubripes. *Glycobiology* 14, 521–527. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwh066
- Lelievre, V., Favrais, G., Abad, C., Adle-Biassette, H., Lu, Y., Germano, P. M., et al. (2007). Gastrointestinal dysfunction in mice with a targeted mutation in the gene encoding vasoactive intestinal polypeptide: a model for the study of intestinal ileus and Hirschsprung's disease. *Peptides* 28, 1688–1699. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2007.05.006
- Lidell, M. E., Moncada, D. M., Chadee, K., and Hansson, G. C. (2006). Entamoeba histolytica cysteine proteases cleave the MUC2 mucin in its C-terminal domain and dissolve the protective colonic mucus gel. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 9298–9303. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0600623103
- Lo, Y. H., Noah, T. K., Chen, M. S., Zou, W., Borras, E., Vilar, E., et al. (2017). SPDEF induces quiescence of colorectal cancer cells by changing the transcriptional targets of  $\beta$ -catenin. *Gastroenterology* 153, 205–218. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.03.048
- Luna, R. A., Oezguen, N., Balderas, M., Venkatachalam, A., Runge, J. K., Versalovic, J., et al. (2017). Distinct microbiome-neuroimmune signatures correlate with functional abdominal pain in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Cell Mol. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 3, 218–230. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2016.11.008

- Lundgren, O., Jodal, M., Jansson, M., Ryberg, A. T., and Svensson, L. (2011). Intestinal epithelial stem/progenitor cells are controlled by mucosal afferent nerves. *PLoS ONE* 6:e16295. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016295
- Macfarlane, G. T., and Gibson, G. R. (1991). Formation of glycoprotein degrading enzymes by Bacteroides fragilis. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 61, 289–293. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.1991.tb04363.x
- Macfarlane, S., Bahrami, B., and Macfarlane, G. T. (2011). "Mucosal biofilm communities in the human intestinal tract," in *Advances in Applied Microbiology*, eds A. I. Laskin, S. Sariaslani, and G. M. Gadd (San Diego, CA: Academic Press), 111–143.
- Macfarlane, S., and Dillon, J. F. (2007). Microbial biofilms in the human gastrointestinal tract. J. Appl. Microbiol. 102, 1187–1196. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2007.03287.x
- Masseret, E., Boudeau, J., Colombel, J. F., Neut, C., Desreumaux, P., Joly, B., et al. (2001). Genetically related Escherichia colistrains associated with Crohn's disease. *Gut* 48, 320–325. doi: 10.1136/gut.48.3.320
- Matus, S., Glimcher, L. H., and Hetz, C. (2011). Protein folding stress in neurodegenerative diseases: a glimpse into the ER. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 23, 239–252. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2011.01.003
- McCarthy, R. E., Pajeau, M., and Salyers, A. A. (1988). Role of starch as a substrate for *Bacteroides vulgatus* growing in the human colon. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 54, 1911–1916.
- McElhanon, B. O., McCracken, C., Karpen, S., and Sharp, W. G. (2014). Gastrointestinal symptoms in autism spectrum disorder: a meta-analysis. *Pediatrics* 133, 872–883. doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-3995
- Medina, M. A., Andrade, V. M., Caracci, M. O., E Avila, M., Verdugo, D. A., Vargas, M. F., et al. (2018) Wnt,/β-,catenin signaling stimulates the expression and synaptic clustering of the autism-associated neuroligin 3 gene. *Transl. Psychiatry* 8:45. doi: 10.1038/s41398-018-0093-y
- Meyer-Hoffert, U., Hornef, M. W., Henriques-Normark, B., Axelsson, L. G., Midtvedt, T., Putsep, K., et al. (2008). Secreted enteric antimicrobial activity localises to the mucus surface layer. *Gut* 57, 764–771. doi: 10.1136/gut.2007.141481
- Mhaille, A. N., McQuaid, S., Windebank, A., Cunnea, P., McMahon, J., Samali A., et al. (2008). Increased expression of endoplasmic reticulum stress-related signaling pathway molecules in multiple sclerosis lesions. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 67, 200–211. doi: 10.1097/NEN.0b013e318165b239
- Motta, J. P., Flannigan, K. L., Agbor, T. A., Beatty, J. K., Blackler, R. W., Workentine, M. L., et al. (2015). Hydrogen sulfide protects from colitis and restores intestinal microbiota biofilm and mucus production. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 21, 1006–1017. doi: 10.1097/MIB.0000000000 000345
- Nakamura, H., Tomuschat, C., Coyle, D., O'Donnel, A. M., Lim, T., and Puri, P. (2018). Altered goblet cell function in Hirschsprung's disease. *Pediatr. Surg. Int.* 34, 121–128. doi: 10.1007/s00383-017-4178-0
- Nava, G. M., Friedrichsen, H. J., and Stappenbeck, T. S. (2011). Spatial organization of intestinal microbiota in the mouse ascending colon. *ISME J.* 5, 627–638. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2010.161
- Neutra, M. R., Phillips, T. L., and Phillips, T. E. (1984). Regulation of intestinal goblet cells in situ, in mucosal explants and in the isolated epithelium. *Ciba Found. Symp.* 109, 20–39.
- Ng, K. M., Ferreyra, J. A., Higginbottom, S. K., Lynch, J. B., Kashyap, P. C., Gopinath, S., et al. (2013). Microbiota-liberated host sugars facilitate post-antibiotic expansion of enteric pathogens. *Nature* 502, 96–99. doi: 10.1038/nature12503
- Nielsen, P. A., Mandel, U., Therkildsen, M. H., and Clausen, H. (1996). Differential expression of human high-molecular-weight salivary mucin (MG1) and lowmolecular-weight salivary mucin (MG2). J. Dent. Res. 75, 1820–1826.
- Noah, T. K., Kazanjian, A., Whitsett, J., and Shroyer, N. F. (2010). SAM pointed domain ETS factor (SPDEF) regulates terminal differentiation and maturation of intestinal goblet cells. *Exp. Cell Res.* 316, 452–465. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2009.09.020
- Nordman, H., Davies, J. R., Lindell, G., De Bolos, C., Real, F., and Carlstedt, I. (2002). Gastric MUC5AC and MUC6 are large oligomeric mucins that differ in size, glycosylation and tissue distribution. *Biochem. J.* 364, 191–200. doi: 10.1042/bj3640191
- O'Brien, S., Mulcahy, H., Fenlon, H., O'Broin, A., Casey, M., Burke, A., et al. (1993). Intestinal bile acid malabsorption in cystic fibrosis. *Gut* 34, 1137–1141.

- Onderdonk, A. B., Cisneros, R. L., and Bronson, R. T. (1983). Enhancement of experimental ulcerative colitis by immunization with *Bacteroides vulgatus*. *Infect. Immun.* 42, 783–788.
- Ottman, N., Geerlings, S. Y., Aalvink, S., de Vos, W. M., and Belzer, C. (2017). Action and function of Akkermansia muciniphila in microbiome ecology, health and disease. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Gastroenterol. 31, 637–642. doi: 10.1016/j.bpg.2017.10.001
- Ouellette, A. J. (2010). Paneth cells and innate mucosal immunity. *Curr. Opin. Gastroenterol.* 26, 547–553. doi: 10.1097/MOG.0b013e32833dccde
- Palestrant, D., Holzknecht, Z. E., Collins, B. H., Parker, W., Miller, S. E., and Bollinger, R. R. (2004). Microbial biofilms in the gut: visualization by electron microscopy and by acridine orange staining. *Ultrastruct. Pathol.* 28, 23–27. doi: 10.1080/usp.28.1.23.27
- Park, S. W., Zhen, G., Verhaeghe, C., Nakagami, Y., Nguyenvu, L. T., Barczak, A. J., et al. (2009). The protein disulfide isomerase AGR2 is essential for production of intestinal mucus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 6950–6955. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0808722106
- Peterson, D. A., McNulty, N. P., Guruge, J. L., and Gordon, J. I. (2007). IgA response to symbiotic bacteria as a mediator of gut homeostasis. *Cell Host Microbe* 2, 328–339. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2007.09.013
- Petersson, J., Schreiber, O., Hansson, G. C., Gendler, S. J., Velcich, A., Lundberg, J. O., et al. (2011). Importance and regulation of the colonic mucus barrier in a mouse model of colitis. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 300, G327–333. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00422.2010
- Petrov, V. A., Saltykova, I. V., Zhukova, I. A., Alifirova, V. M., Zhukova, N. G., Dorofeeva, Y. B., et al. (2017). Analysis of gut microbiota in patients with parkinson's disease. *Bull. Exp. Biol. Med.* 162, 734–737. doi: 10.1007/s10517-017-3700-7
- Pfeiffer, R. F. (2003). Gastrointestinal dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. Lancet Neurol. 2, 107–116. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(03)00307-7
- Pimentel, M., Soffer, E. E., Chow, E. J., Kong, Y., and Lin, H. C. (2002). Lower frequency of MMC is found in IBS subjects with abnormal lactulose breath test, suggesting bacterial overgrowth. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 47, 2639–2643. doi: 10.1023/A:1021039032413
- Png, C. W., Linden, S. K., Gilshenan, K. S., Zoetendal, E. G., McSweeney, C. S., Sly, L. I., et al. (2010). Mucolytic bacteria with increased prevalence in IBD mucosa augment in vitro utilization of mucin by other bacteria. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 105, 2420–2428. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2010.281
- Porokuokka, L. L., Virtanen, H. T., Linden, J., Sidorova, Y., Danilova, T., Lindahl, M., et al. (2019). Gfra1 underexpression causes Hirschsprung's disease and associated enterocolitis in mice. *Cell Mol. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 7, 655–678. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2018.12.007
- Preziosi, G., Raptis, D. A., Raeburn, A., Thiruppathy, K., Panicker, J., and Emmanuel, A. (2013). Gut dysfunction in patients with multiple sclerosis and the role of spinal cord involvement in the disease. *Eur. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 25, 1044–1050. doi: 10.1097/MEG.0b013e328361eaf8
- Rahman, A. A., Robinson, A. M., Jovanovska, V., Eri, R., and Nurgali, K. (2015). Alterations in the distal colon innervation in Winnie mouse model of spontaneous chronic colitis. *Cell Tissue Res.* 362, 497–512. doi: 10.1007/s00441-015-2251-3
- Sani, G., Napoletano, F., Maria Forte, A., Kotzalidis, G. D., Panaccione, I., Porfiri, M., et al. (2012). The wnt pathway in mood disorders. *Curr. Neuropharmacol.* 10, 239–253. doi: 10.2174/157015912803217279
- Scheperjans, F., Aho, V., Pereira, P. A., Koskinen, K., Paulin, L., Pekkonen, E., et al. (2015). Gut microbiota are related to Parkinson's disease and clinical phenotype. *Mov. Disord.* 30, 350–358. doi: 10.1002/mds.26069
- Schönherr, C., Bien, J., Isbert, S., Wichert, R., Prox, J., Altmeppen, H., et al. (2016). Generation of aggregation prone N-terminally truncated amyloid  $\beta$  peptides by meprin  $\beta$  depends on the sequence specificity at the cleavage site. *Mol. Neurodegener.* 11:19. doi: 10.1186/s13024-016-0084-5
- Schutte, A., Ermund, A., Becker-Pauly, C., Johansson, M. E., Rodriguez-Pineiro, A. M., Backhed, F., et al. (2014). Microbial-induced meprin beta cleavage in MUC2 mucin and a functional CFTR channel are required to release anchored small intestinal mucus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 12396–12401. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1407597111
- Schwerdtfeger, L. A., and Tobet, S. A. (2020). Vasoactive intestinal peptide regulates ileal goblet cell production in mice. *Physiol. Rep.* 8:e14363. doi: 10.14814/phy2.14363

- Seidler, U., Singh, A., Chen, M., Cinar, A., Bachmann, O., Zheng, W., et al. (2009). Knockout mouse models for intestinal electrolyte transporters and regulatory PDZ adaptors: new insights into cystic fibrosis, secretory diarrhoea and fructose-induced hypertension. *Exp. Physiol.* 94, 175–179. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2008.043018
- Sicard, J. F., Le Bihan, G., Vogeleer, P., Jacques, M., and Harel, J. (2017). Interactions of intestinal bacteria with components of the intestinal mucus. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 7:387. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00387
- Specian, R. D., and Neutra, M. R. (1980). Mechanism of rapid mucus secretion in goblet cells stimulated by acetylcholine. J. Cell Biol. 85, 626–640. doi: 10.1083/jcb.85.3.626
- Specian, R. D., and Oliver, M. G. (1991). Functional biology of intestinal goblet cells. Am. J. Physiol. 260(2 Pt 1), C183–C193. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.1991.260.2.C183
- Srivastava, A., Gupta, J., Kumar, S., and Kumar, A. (2017). Gut biofilm forming bacteria in inflammatory bowel disease. *Microb. Pathog.* 112, 5–14. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2017.09.041
- Stone, E. L., Ismail, M. N., Lee, S. H., Luu, Y., Ramirez, K., Haslam, S. M., et al. (2009). Glycosyltransferase function in core 2-type protein O glycosylation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 29, 3770–3782. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00204-09
- Swidsinski, A., Loening-Baucke, V., Lochs, H., and Hale, L. P. (2005). Spatial organization of bacterial flora in normal and inflamed intestine: a fluorescence *in situ* hybridization study in mice. *World J. Gastroentero*. 11:1131. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v11.i8.1131
- Swidsinski, A., Loening-Baucke, V., Theissig, F., Engelhardt, H., Bengmark, S., Koch, S., et al. (2007a). Comparative study of the intestinal mucus barrier in normal and inflamed colon. *Gut* 56, 343–350. doi: 10.1136/gut.2006.098160
- Swidsinski, A., Sydora, B. C., Doerffel, Y., Loening-Baucke, V., Vaneechoutte, M., Lupicki, M., et al. (2007b). Viscosity gradient within the mucus layer determines the mucosal barrier function and the spatial organization of the intestinal microbiota. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 13, 963–970. doi: 10.1002/ibd.20163
- Thiagarajah, J. R., Yildiz, H., Carlson, T., Thomas, A. R., Steiger, C., Pieretti, A., et al. (2014). Altered goblet cell differentiation and surface mucus properties in Hirschsprung disease. *PLoS ONE* 9:e99944. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0099944
- Thornton, D. J., Khan, N., Mehrotra, R., Howard, M., Sheehan, J. K., Veerman, E., et al. (1999). Salivary mucin MG1 is comprised almost entirely of different glycosylated forms of the MUC5B gene product. *Glycobiology* 9, 293–302. doi: 10.1093/glycob/9.3.293
- Tian, H., Biehs, B., Chiu, C., Siebel, C. W., Wu, Y., Costa, M., et al. (2015). Opposing activities of Notch and Wnt signaling regulate intestinal stem cells and gut homeostasis. *Cell Rep.* 11, 33–42. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.03.007
- Tsuru, A., Fujimoto, N., Takahashi, S., Saito, M., Nakamura, D., Iwano, M., et al. (2013). Negative feedback by IRE1beta optimizes mucin production in goblet cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 2864–2869. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1212484110
- Uesaka, T., Young, H. M., Pachnis, V., and Enomoto, H. (2016). Development of the intrinsic and extrinsic innervation of the gut. *Dev. Biol.* 417, 158–167. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2016.04.016
- Vaishnava, S., Yamamoto, M., Severson, K. M., Ruhn, K. A., Yu, X., Koren, O., et al. (2011). The antibacterial lectin RegIIIgamma promotes the spatial segregation of microbiota and host in the intestine. *Science* 334, 255–258. doi: 10.1126/science.1209791
- van den Abbeele, P., Belzer, C., Goossens, M., Kleerebezem, M., De Vos, W. M., Thas, O., et al. (2013). Butyrate-producing Clostridium cluster XIVa species specifically colonize mucins in an in vitro gut model. *ISME J.* 7, 949–961. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2012.158
- van der Sluis, M., De Koning, B. A., De Bruijn, A. C., Velcich, A., Meijerink, J. P., Van Goudoever, J. B., et al. (2006). Muc2-deficient mice spontaneously develop colitis, indicating that MUC2 is critical for colonic protection. *Gastroenterology* 131, 117–129. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.04.020
- van Es, J. H., van Gijn, M. E., Riccio, O., van den Born, M., Vooijs, M., Begthel, H., et al. (2005). Notch/gamma-secretase inhibition turns proliferative cells in intestinal crypts and adenomas into goblet cells. *Nature* 435, 959–963. doi: 10.1038/nature03659
- van Passel, M. W., Kant, R., Zoetendal, E. G., Plugge, C. M., Derrien, M., Malfatti, S. A., et al. (2011). The genome of *Akkermansia muciniphila*, a dedicated intestinal mucin degrader, and its use in exploring intestinal metagenomes. *PLoS ONE* 6:e16876. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016876

- Velcich, A., Yang, W., Heyer, J., Fragale, A., Nicholas, C., Viani, S., et al. (2002). Colorectal cancer in mice genetically deficient in the mucin Muc2. *Science* 295, 1726–1729. doi: 10.1126/science.1069094
- Vogt, N. M., Kerby, R. L., Dill-McFarland, K. A., Harding, S. J., Merluzzi, A. P., Johnson, S. C., et al. (2017). Gut microbiome alterations in Alzheimer's disease. *Sci. Rep.* 7:13537. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-13601-y
- Wang, L., Christophersen, C. T., Sorich, M. J., Gerber, J. P., Angley, M. T., and Conlon, M. A. (2011). Low relative abundances of the mucolytic bacterium *Akkermansia muciniphila* and Bifidobacterium spp. in feces of children with autism. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 77, 6718–6721. doi: 10.1128/AEM.05212-11
- Ward, N. L., Pieretti, A., Dowd, S. E., Cox, S. B., and Goldstein, A. M. (2012). Intestinal aganglionosis is associated with early and sustained disruption of the colonic microbiome. *J. Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 24, 874–e400. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2012.01937.x
- Welch, J. L. M., Hasegawa, Y., McNulty, N. P., Gordon, J. I., and Borisy, G. G. (2017). Spatial organization of a model 15-member human gut microbiota established in gnotobiotic mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, E9105–E9114. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1711596114
- Wichert, R., Ermund, A., Schmidt, S., Schweinlin, M., Ksiazek, M., Arnold, P., et al. (2017). Mucus detachment by host metalloprotease meprin  $\beta$  requires shedding of its inactive pro-form, which is abrogated by the pathogenic protease RgpB. *Cell Rep.* 21, 2090–2103. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.1 0.087
- Williams, B. L., Hornig, M., Buie, T., Bauman, M. L., Cho Paik, M., Wick, I., et al. (2011). Impaired carbohydrate digestion and transport and mucosal dysbiosis in the intestines of children with autism and gastrointestinal disturbances. *PLoS ONE* 6:e24585. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0024585
- Williams, B. L., Hornig, M., Parekh, T., and Lipkin, W. I. (2012). Application of novel PCR-based methods for detection, quantitation, and phylogenetic characterization of Sutterella species in intestinal biopsy samples from children with autism and gastrointestinal disturbances. *MBio* 3:e00261– e00311. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00261-11
- Wu, X., Conlin, V. S., Morampudi, V., Ryz, N. R., Nasser, Y., Bhinder, G., et al. (2015). Vasoactive intestinal polypeptide promotes intestinal barrier homeostasis and protection against colitis in mice. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0125225. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0125225
- Xu, J., Bjursell, M. K., Himrod, J., Deng, S., Carmichael, L. K., Chiang, H. C., et al. (2003). A genomic view of the human-bacteroides thetaiotaomicron symbiosis. *Science* 299, 2074–2076. doi: 10.1126/science.1080029
- Yasuda, K., Oh, K., Ren, B., Tickle, T. L., Franzosa, E. A., Wachtman, L. M., et al. (2015). Biogeography of the intestinal mucosal and lumenal microbiome in the rhesus macaque. *Cell Host Microbe* 17, 385–391. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2015.01.015
- Yildiz, H. M., Carlson, T. L., Goldstein, A. M., and Carrier, R. L. (2015). Mucus barriers to microparticles and microbes are altered in hirschsprung's disease. *Macromol. Biosci.* 15, 712–718. doi: 10.1002/mabi.201400473
- Zhang, Y., Yuan, X., Wang, Z., and Li, R. (2014). The canonical Wnt signaling pathway in autism. CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets 13, 765–770. doi: 10.2174/1871527312666131223114149
- Zhang, Y., Sun, Y., Wang, F., Wang, Z., Peng, Y., and Li, R. (2012). Downregulating the canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway attenuates the susceptibility to autism-like phenotypes by decreasing oxidative stress. *Neurochem. Res.* 37, 1409–1419. doi: 10.1007/s11064-012-0724-2
- Zhuang, Z. Q., Shen, L. L., Li, W. W., Fu, X., Zeng, F., Gui, L., et al. (2018). Gut microbiota is altered in patients with alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 63, 1337–1346. doi: 10.3233/JAD-180176

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Herath, Hosie, Bornstein, Franks and Hill-Yardin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Long-Term Exposure to Ceftriaxone Sodium Induces Alteration of Gut Microbiota Accompanied by Abnormal Behaviors in Mice

Zhongyi Zhao<sup>1†</sup>, Baoning Wang<sup>2</sup>, Liyuan Mu<sup>3</sup>, Hongren Wang<sup>2</sup>, Jingjing Luo<sup>3</sup>, Yuan Yang<sup>2</sup>, Hui Yang<sup>2</sup>, Mingyuan Li<sup>2,4</sup>, Linlin Zhou<sup>2\*</sup> and Chuanmin Tao<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Laboratory Medicine, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China, <sup>2</sup> Department of Microbiology, West China School of Basic Medical Sciences & Forensic Medicine, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China, <sup>3</sup> Department of Laboratory Medicine, West China Second University Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China, <sup>4</sup> State Key Laboratory of Oral Diseases, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Andreas Martin Grabrucker, University of Limerick, Ireland

### Reviewed by:

Kiran Veer Sandhu, University College Cork, Ireland Ali-Akbar Salari, Salari Institute of Cognitive and Behavioral Disorders (SICBD), Iran

### \*Correspondence:

Linlin Zhou zhoulinlin@scu.edu.cn Chuanmin Tao taocm@scu.edu.cn

<sup>†</sup>Lead author

### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbiome in Health and Disease, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

> Received: 24 December 2019 Accepted: 04 May 2020 Published: 24 June 2020

### Citation:

Zhao Z, Wang B, Mu L, Wang H, Luo J, Yang Y, Yang H, Li M, Zhou L and Tao C (2020) Long-Term Exposure to Ceftriaxone Sodium Induces Alteration of Gut Microbiota Accompanied by Abnormal Behaviors in Mice. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 10:258. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2020.00258 **Background:** Growing evidence points out that a disturbance of gut microbiota may also disturb the gut–brain communication. However, it is not clear to what extent the alteration of microbiota composition can modulate brain function, affecting host behaviors. Here, we investigated the effects of gut microbiota depletion on emotional behaviors.

**Methods:** Mice in the experimental group were orally administered ceftriaxone sodium solution (250 mg/ml, 0.2 ml/d) for 11 weeks. The open-field test and tail-suspension test were employed for the neurobehavioral assessment of the mice. Fecal samples were collected for 16s rDNA sequencing. The serum levels of cytokines and corticosterone were quantified using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays. The immunohistochemistry method was used for the detection of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and c-Fos protein.

**Results:** The gut microbiota for antibiotic-treated mice showed lower richness and diversity compared with normal controls. This effect was accompanied by increased anxiety-like, depression-like, and aggressive behaviors. We found these changes to be possibly associated with a dysregulation of the immune system, abnormal activity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, and an alteration of neurochemistry.

**Conclusions:** The findings demonstrate the indispensable role of microbiota in the gut–brain communication and suggest that the absence of conventional gut microbiota could affect the nervous system, influencing brain function.

Keywords: gut microbiota, emotional behaviors, ceftriaxone sodium, anxiety, depression, aggressive behavior

## INTRODUCTION

Gut microbiota, known as a reservoir of bacteria, not only plays an essential role in host digestion and energy metabolism but shapes host immunity (Aleshukina, 2012; Antonopoulos and Chang, 2016; Thursby and Juge, 2017). Recently, evidence of its influence extends well-beyond the gut, many studies have begun to report that the gut microbiota may be associated with the development and progression of diseases affecting multiple organ systems such as liver, lung, and brain (Felix et al., 2018; Lee and Jayaraman, 2019; Yuan et al., 2019). Researchers believe that there is a potential connection between the gut and the central nervous system (CNS). Additional studies have defined this connection as a bi-directional communication covering multiple connections, such as immune response, the vagus nerve, and humoral components (Mayer et al., 2015). Recent evidence has unlocked a novel pivotal member, gut microbiota, which plays an important role in this communication. As a result, this concept, now known as the microbiota-gut-brain (MGB) axis, has been prompted and subsequently implicated in multiple disorders, such as digestive, neurological, and psychiatric diseases (Scriven et al., 2018; Iannone et al., 2019).

Antibiotics are one of the most commonly prescribed drugs worldwide. There has been an increasing concern that variations in the microbiota induced by antibiotics may have detrimental consequences for health (Kim et al., 2017). A growing body of evidence confirms the role of specific microbial compositions in the modulation of brain functions as well as host behaviors. To be specific, a complete absence of gut microbiota resulted in alteration of blood-brain barrier (BBB) permeability and brain neurochemistry with decreased social behaviors in mice (Braniste et al., 2014).

While the whole brain is vulnerable to external stimuli, two regions that influence stress responsivity and behavior have been considered as the most likely targets for gut microbiota (Luczynski et al., 2016). The first region is the amygdala, which seems to be involved in many forms of negative emotionality, including anxiety (Davis et al., 1994; Janak and Tye, 2015). After receiving input from disgust stimuli, the amygdala projects to the regions or sub-regions regulating anxious and defensive behaviors (Kovács, 2008). Usually, the activation of the amygdala is measured by c-Fos expression (Kovács, 2008). The second region, the hippocampus, is well-known as for emotion regulation. In this study, germ-free (GF) mice exhibited more anxiety-like behaviors, which were accompanied by higher brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) levels in the dentate region of the hippocampus (Sudo et al., 2004; Neufeld et al., 2011). Here, we explored the contribution of gut microbiota to the CNS via depleting bacteria with ceftriaxone sodium, a broad spectrum antibiotic.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Study Design**

Male BALB/c mice (6–8 weeks; Institute of Laboratory Animals of Sichuan Academy of Medical Sciences, Sichuan, China) were maintained (ten mice per cage) under a specific-pathogen-free (SPF) condition at 22–26°C, 40–60% humidity, and 12-h light-dark cycle. The mice were given 1 week to acclimate. All mice

were fed with adequate food and clean water. At the end of adaptive phase, all mice (initial weight  $23.55 \pm 1.49$  g) were randomly divided into two groups (n = 20 for each group) and given either sterile saline solution (the control group was defined as the CT group, 0.2 ml/d) or ceftriaxone sodium solution (Qilu Pharmaceutical, Shandong, China) (the antibiotic group was defined as the AB group, 250 mg/ml, 0.2 ml/d) intragastrically once a day for 11 consecutive weeks (details about drug dosages is included in **Supplementary Materials**). Mice were housed by group (10 mice per cage) from the first day of gavage to avoid interference between different groups. A battery of behavioral tests was administrated weekly, with 1 h of rest between each test.

Eleven weeks after ceftriaxone treatment, the mice in the AB group exhibited a remarkable difference in behavioral parameters. On the second day after the last behavioral experiment was performed, the mice were administered the final gavage exposure, and 1 h later, fresh blood and stool was sampled. The mice were inspected daily for changes in appearance and body weight. All experiments followed the guidelines of the Chinese Council on Animal Care and were approved by the Animal Care Advisory Committee of Sichuan University, Sichuan, China. The experimental design was shown in **Figure 1**.

## **Behavioral Tests**

Two behavioral tests were carried out under following sequence (from 8 a.m. to 5 p.m.): open-field test (OFT)  $\rightarrow$  tail-suspension test (TST). The OFT, which involves a low stress level, preceded the TST, which involves a high stress level (Di et al., 2017). Prior to each behavioral test, mice were habituated for at least 1 h to the testing room (Champagne-Jorgensen et al., 2020). The lighting condition was set at 15 lux for all behavioral tests (Dere et al., 2004).

### The Open-Field Test

The equipment of the OFT was composed of a square arena  $100 \times 100$  cm with 40 cm walls. The floor was subdivided into a center and periphery compartment with 25 squares. Mice were placed alternatively in the open field for at least 30 min and allowed to explore undisturbedly before the first test (Champagne-Jorgensen et al., 2020). In the formal test, mice were placed singly in the center of the open field and allowed to freely explore for 5 min. Relevant parameters (the total distance, the total time in the periphery, and center of the open field) were recorded by a video monitor. At the end of the test, mice were sent back to their home cages, and the test box was cleaned with 70% ethyl alcohol and air dried. The OFT has been proven to be efficient in detecting anxiety and selecting anxiolytic drugs (Kraeuter et al., 2019).

### The Tail-Suspension Test

Mice were suspended in an upside-down position by the tail, so that they could not escape or touch nearby surfaces. The rationale for the test is that mice are under enormous stress, and, if they don't have the desire to live, they will develop a motionless posture quickly and maintain it for a longer period. The total duration of quiescence and activity during 5 min was scored, respectively (Młyniec and Nowak, 2012).

Abbreviations: MGB, microbiota-gut-brain; SPF, specific-pathogen-free; OFT, open-field test; TST, tail-suspension test; OTUs, operational taxonomic units; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; IL, interleukin; HPA, hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal; CNS, central nervous system; BBB, blood-brain barrier; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; GF, germ-free.

### **Gut Microbiota Analysis**

A TIANamp Bacteria DNA Kit (TIANGEN, China) was used to extract fecal DNA. Then, the extraction was eluted using

elution buffer and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until PCR amplification detection by LC-Bio (Hangzhou, China). The V3-V4 region of the prokaryotic 16S rRNA gene was amplified with primers



FIGURE 1 | Study design. After seven days of adaptation, the antibiotic (AB) group was given ceftriaxone and the control (CT) group was given saline by gavage once a day. The open-field test (OFT) and tail-suspension test (TST) were given to mice once a week. After 11 weeks of oral gavage, significant behavioral differences were noted between the groups. On the second day after the last behavioral experiment was performed, mice were administered the final gavage exposure, and 1 h later, fresh blood and stool was sampled.







338F (5'-ACTCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAG-3') and 806R (5'-GGACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT-3') (Fadrosh et al., 2014). The detailed operation was performed as described previously (Li et al., 2019).

## Serum Cytokine Assay

Cytokines secretion is usually induced in an inflammation or infection. Except for their effects on immunity, cytokines can also affect brain function and modulate host behaviors (Köhler et al., 2018). Research has suggested that serum IL-6 and IL-10 levels are putative biomarkers for several mood disorders (Wiener et al., 2019). Here, fresh blood was collected in sterile tubes, coagulated at room temperature, and centrifuged at 1000  $\times$  g for 10 min after the last ceftriaxone sodium treatment. The serum was stored at  $-70^{\circ}$ C for later analysis. IL-6 and IL-10 were quantified by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (Neobioscience, Shenzhen Xinbosheng Biotechnology Co., Ltd, China). The detection limit of the assay was about 1 pg ml<sup>-1</sup>. According to the manufacturer's protocol, the assay was performed in triplicate.

### Serum Corticosterone Assay

Corticosterone is the end product of the hypothalamus-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis in rodents. Rising corticosterone levels suggest increases in HPA axis activity (Hiroshi et al., 2006). Serum corticosterone was measured by ELISA (Cusabio,Wuhan Huamei Biotechnology Co., Ltd, China). The detection limit of the assay was about 1 ng ml<sup>-1</sup>. The assay was performed in triplicate according to the manufacturer's protocol.

### Immunohistochemistry

The immunohistochemistry was used to assess expression of brain-derived neurotropic factor (BDNF) in the hippocampus



and c-Fos in the amygdala. The whole process consisted of brain collection, sectioning, and immunolabeling. The details referred to previous literatures (Gareau et al., 2011).

Each maker was quantified by staining intensity and extent. We scored the staining intensity as follows: negative, weak, moderate, and strong (on a scale of zero to four). The staining extent was divided into five grades according to the percentage of positive cells in the region: negative, 0–25, 26–50, 51–75, and 76–100% (on a scale of zero to four) (Liu et al., 2011).

Semi-quantification of BDNF was calculated by multiplying the intensity score and fraction score in the CA1, CA3, and DG (dentate gyrus) regions of the hippocampus (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan, BX53). Similarly, semi-quantification of c-Fos was performed by calculating the intensity score and fraction score in the CeC, CeL, and CeM regions of the amygdala. The immunohistochemical analysis was performed blind.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Data were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation or median (IQR) and analyzed by one-way ANOVA or Wilcoxon rank sum test in SPSS 22.0 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). *P*-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

## RESULTS

# The Effect of Ceftriaxone Treatment on Body Weight

Mice in the AB group gained less weight than the CT group, with this difference increasing progressively over time. After gavage for 7 weeks, the weight of the AB group was significantly lower than that of the CT group (p < 0.05) (**Figure 2**).

## The Effect of Ceftriaxone Treatment on Mice Behaviors

## Mice Treated With Ceftriaxone Sodium Exhibited Anxiety-Like Behaviors

OFT is usually performed to assess locomotor activity and exploratory behavior (Kraeuter et al., 2019). The former was represented by the total distance traveled throughout the 5 min, and no differences were observed between the two groups. Previous studies suggest mice prefer staying close to the walls and travel more in the periphery field can be described as showing signs of anxiety (Crawley, 1985). Comparatively, mice with lower anxiety tend to spend more time in the central field. In this study, the AB group spent less time in the center as compared to the CT group (p < 0.001) after gavage for 11 weeks. Meanwhile, the AB group reduced movement in the center (p < 0.001) (Figures 3, 4A). For details of the 11-week behavioral data analysis, see Supplementary Figure 1.

### Mice Treated With Ceftriaxone Sodium Exhibited Depression-Like Behaviors

TST was often used for evaluating the ability to cope with a stressful situation (Kraeuter et al., 2019). Decreased duration of activity is considered a sign of depressive behavior (Castagne et al., 2011). In the test, the AB group showed decreased activity

during the 5 min and stopped escaping earlier than the CT group (p < 0.05) after gavage for 11 weeks (**Figure 4B**).

### Mice Treated With Ceftriaxone Sodium Exhibited High Aggressive Behavior

Eight weeks after ceftriaxone administration, visible injuries were observed in the AB group, suggesting that aggressive behaviors had occurred. Four mice from the AB group were excluded from the experiment 10 weeks later due to serious injuries influencing mobility. In contrast, the CT group did not get injured throughout the experiment.

## The Effect of Ceftriaxone Treatment on Gut Microbiota Composition

16S rDNA sequencing was used to identify alterations in gut microbiota after gavage for 11 weeks. Ceftriaxone administration induced a significant change in gut microbiota diversity. For the Venn diagram (**Figure 5**), the number of shared and unique OTUs indicate a similarity and difference of gut microbiota between groups, respectively (Ren et al., 2018). Based on this, there were 587 OTUs specific to the AB group and 1,570 specific to the CT group, accounting for 19.38 and 39.13% of the total OTU richness, respectively. All samples shared 2,442 OTUs at 97% similarity. The alpha diversity analysis revealed that the AB group had lower species diversity, richness, and evenness than that of the CT group by plotting Chao1, Shannon, Simpson, and Observed\_species curves (**Figure 6**). A strong antibiotic effect was observed in beta diversity analysis. The PCA plot showed an appreciable separation between the two groups, indicating they had low similarity in gut microbiota composition. Likewise, the PCoA plot and MDS plot indicated the microbiota of AB group clustered separately from CT group (**Figure 7**).

According to abundance analysis, the dominant phyla in AB and CT groups were *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes*, while the relative abundance of *Firmicutes* was lower in the AB group than that in CT group. Significant abundance differences were observed in the following phyla: *Proteobacteria* increased while five phyla decreased (*Firmicutes*, *Actinobacteria*, *Candidatus Saccharibacteria*, *Deferribacteres*, and *Candidatus\_Melainabacteria*) in the AB group (**Figure 8A**, **Table 1**). At the genus level, ceftriaxone increased the





proportion of *Proteobacteria*, *Porphyromonadaceae\_unclassified*, *Escherichia*, and *Parabacteroides*, while *Lactobacillus*, *Acetatifactor*, *Bacteroidetes\_unclassified*, *Barnesiella*, *Helicobacter*, *Prevotella*, *Alistipes*, and *Bacteroidales\_unclassified* declined (**Figure 8B**, **Table 2**). Ten phyla and 21 genera were clustered by heatmaps, which demonstrated the relative abundance of species in different samples. In the CT group, the samples got closer to each other, indicating a higher similarity among them (**Figure 9**).

# The Effect of Ceftriaxone Treatment on Serum Cytokines and Corticosterone

Ceftriaxone induced increased IL-6 and IL-10 in the AB group (IL-6:  $51.82 \pm 9.99$  pg/ml and  $43.21 \pm 10.18$  pg/ml for AB and CT, respectively) (IL-10: 274.81  $\pm$  95.59 pg/ml and 173.12  $\pm$  55.31 pg/ml for AB and CT, respectively) (**Figures 10A,B**). In addition, serum corticosterone was significantly higher in the AB group than in the CT group (10.16  $\pm$  4.97 ng/ml and 5.39  $\pm$  4.03 ng/ml for AB and CT, respectively) (**Figure 10C**).

## The Effect of Ceftriaxone Treatment on Hippocampal Cell Proliferation and Neural Activity

A slight decrease of BDNF in the CA1, CA3, and DG regions of the hippocampus was observed in the AB group compared to the CT group (**Figure 11**, **Table 3**). Meanwhile, c-Fos expression increased in the amygdala of the AB group without a statistically significant difference (**Figure 12**, **Table 3**).

## DISCUSSION

The gut, a vulnerable but vital organ, is affected by different factors easily. Antibiotics are one of the common causes leading to gut disturbance, especially given the broad spectrum of antibiotics. Consistently, little is known about adverse effects of these antibiotics on health except for drug resistance. But, recently, medications with antibiotic have been reported to enhance the risk of allergies, inflammatory bowel diseases, obesity, and even mental diseases (Harris and Baffy, 2017;



**TABLE 1** | Relative abundance of gut microbiota at the phylum level.

Phylum	AB (%)	CT (%)	P-value	
Candidatus_Saccharibacteria	0.00	0.27	0.006**	
Actinobacteria	0.34	0.81	0.006**	
Deferribacteres	0.00	0.15	0.008**	
Bacteria_unclassified	1.17	2.62	0.005**	
Candidatus_Melainabacteria	0.00	0.01	0.024*	
Proteobacteria	4.89	4.13	0.034*	
Firmicutes	36.51	46.12	0.047*	
Bacteroidetes	56.97	45.58	0.064	
Cyanobacteria	0.01	0.09	0.097	
Tenericutes	0.11	0.23	0.379	

AB, antibiotic group (n = 14); CT, control group (n = 18). \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01.

Torres-Fuentes et al., 2017; Guo J. et al., 2019; Slykerman et al., 2019). Also, some investigators suggest that abnormal gut microbiota or some intestinal infections may be responsible for a series of metabolism or immunity-related diseases (Wang and Wang, 2016). The impact of intestinal dysbacteriosis induced by antibiotics on brain functions and behaviors piques interest and is yet to be elucidated. Therefore, this study was designed to determine whether long-term ceftriaxone exposure altered gut microbiota and thus affected host behaviors.

Ceftriaxone administration caused significant weight loss in the study. This is consistent with the previous finding that the weight gain of mice was delayed significantly following the ceftriaxone treatment (Miao et al., 2020). However, it was contradictory with previous findings that antibiotics result in weight gain in the animal production system (Angelakis, 2017). The disparate findings imply that the growth of animals may be impacted by the dosage, intervention time and, above all, types and properties of antibiotics.

Ceftriaxone could result in a significant gut microbiota dysbiosis by killing most of the normal flora and providing the living space for other potential pathogens (Cheng et al., 2019). The gut microbiota of mice was altered greatly in quantity and quality by the oral administration of ceftriaxone in this study. Similar to the result, other studies confirmed that oral ceftriaxone

TABLE 2 | Relative abundance of gut microbiota at the genus level.

Genus	AB (%)	CT (%)	P-value
Porphyromonadaceae_unclassified	49.13	23.43	0.000***
Lachnospiraceae_unclassified	20.49	24.57	0.335
Bacteroides	4.32	7.07	0.082
Lactobacillus	1.86	9.23	0.028*
Ruminococcaceae_unclassified	4.21	3.45	0.408
Bacteroidales_unclassified	1.31	4.89	0.000***
Bacteria_unclassified	1.17	2.62	0.007**
Clostridiales_unclassified	1.80	2.03	0.673
Prevotella	0.10	3.14	0.010*
Escherichia	4.16	0.00	0.038*
Bacteroidetes_unclassified	0.32	2.65	0.000***
Clostridium XIVa	1.21	1.47	0.571
Helicobacter	0.24	1.93	0.029*
Oscillibacter	1.31	0.84	0.125
Alloprevotella	0.43	1.10	0.074
Acetatifactor	0.44	1.07	0.033*
Barnesiella	0.30	1.11	0.002**
Alistipes	0.00	1.00	0.000***
Parabacteroides	0.95	0.15	0.004**
Clostridium IV	0.40	0.40	0.953

AB, antibiotic group (n = 14); CT, control group (n = 18). \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001.

significantly decreased the quantity of fecal microbiota (Cheng et al., 2017, 2019; Guo et al., 2017; Miao et al., 2020). At the phylum level, the microbiota diversity of the AB group decreased, *Proteobacteria* became a dominant phylum, and the abundance of *Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Actinobacteria*, and *Deferribacteres* decreased. This result is supported by studies that ceftriaxone could characteristically decrease the alpha-diversity of the fecal microbiota accompanied with more *Proteobacteria* and less *Bacteroidetes* (Cheng et al., 2017, 2019; Miao et al., 2020). In some dysbiosis and related diseases, an increased *Proteobacteria* is perceived as a diagnostic characteristic since it is closely related to colon epithelial oxygenation as well as the disruption of the



**FIGURE 9** | Heat maps of gut microbiota (A) at the phylum level and (B) the genus level. Red and blue colors indicate high and low values of the percent of reads classified at that rank. AB, antibiotic group (n = 14); CT, control group (n = 18).



gut anaerobic environment (Zhu et al., 2013; Shin et al., 2015; Miao et al., 2020). Firmicutes has become a controversial strain as some studies identified an increase in Firmicutes after ceftriaxone treatment, but others have demonstrated a declined Firmicutes in the ceftriaxone group (Cheng et al., 2017, 2019; Miao et al., 2020). Evidence from clinics has suggested that patients with depression often have decreased Firmicutes (Huang et al., 2018). Experimental findings further revealed that decreased Firmicutes led to a reduction in short-chain fatty acids, which are an important physiological basis for low-level inflammation during depression (Huang et al., 2018). Bacteroidetes, as an important microbe for short-chain fatty acids, almost disappeared from the feces of the mice during exposure to ceftriaxone (Miao et al., 2020). Significant alteration of fecal microbiota was also observed at the genus level: Porphyromonadaceae, Escherichia, and Parabacteroides dominated the gut microbiota of the

AB group mice, while Lactobacillus, Clostridiales, Acetatifactor, Bacteroidetes, Barnesiella, Helicobacter, Prevotella, Bacteroidales, and Alistipes were lowered. In line with this, some researchers have proposed that decreased Barnesiella after ceftriaxone gavage is a common and sensitive gut microbiota of the BALB/c mice and can be used as an indicator for assessing the balance of the gut microbiota (Zhao et al., 2013). Bacteroidetes is closely associated with digestion and interacts with the host's immune system, affecting the growth of other bacteria (Karlsson et al., 2011). In addition, an increase in Escherichia prevalence after oral antibiotic treatment has been reported for vancomycin and imipenem (Stokes, 1949), amoxicillin, bismuth (Dawes and Foster, 1956), and metronidazole (Paege and Gibbs, 1961). It is difficult to discern whether an increase in Escherichia could be beneficial or harmful as Escherichia is both a commensal and pathogenic inhabitant of a host's gastrointestinal tract. But



**FIGURE 11** | Immunohistochemical results of BDNF in the hippocampus of mice ( $\times$  400). AB, antibiotic group (n = 14); CT, control group (n = 18). CA1, field CA1 of hippocampus; CA3, field CA3 of hippocampus; DG, dentate gyrus.

Group	n	BDNF		c-Fos			
		CA1	CA3	DG	CeM	CeL	CeC
AB	14	1 (1.00–3.25)	3 (2.00–6.75)	3 (1.75–4.00)	6 (3.00–7.50)	6 (3.00–7.50)	2 (0.50–5.00)
CT	18	2 (1.00-4.00)	4 (2.25–8.25)	3 (2.00-4.00)	0 (0.00-4.50)	0 (0.00-4.50)	1 (0.00–9.00)
P-value		0.350	0.586	0.884	0.076	0.076	0.892

TABLE 3 | Expression of BDNF in the hippocampus and expression of c-Fos in the amygdala.

AB, antibiotic group; CT, control group; CA1, field CA1 of hippocampus; CA3, field CA3 of hippocampus; DG, dentate gyrus; CeM, central amygdaloid nucleus, medial division; CeL, central amygdaloid nucleus, lateral division; CeC, central amygdaloid nucleus, capsular part.

most of the time, *Escherichia* is considered a potential proinflammatory bacteria (Liu et al., 2019). Of particularly note, increased *Porphyromonadaceae* associates with mental deficits and cognitive disorders as well as anxiety-like behaviors in mice (Scott et al., 2017). *Lactobacillus* is known as a protective species against long-lasting metabolic disturbances and prevents gut dysbiosis, but was suppressed by ceftriaxone (Robles-Vera et al., 2018). Researchers also discovered that elevated *Parabacteroide* relates to the etiology of depression (Cheung et al., 2019). These results indicate, once again, that different bacteria may be involved in different functions or biological pathways.

Alterations in gut microbiota were accompanied by behavioral changes in the mice, including anxiety-like, depression-like, and aggressive behaviors. These behavioral changes cannot necessarily be a result of the direct toxic effect of ceftriaxone on the brain, since ceftriaxone is a non-absorbable antibiotic and usually given by injection. Previous studies have demonstrated the complex interaction between gut microbiota and the CNS; this is what is known as the MGB axis (Wang and Wang, 2016). Animal experiments support that absence or change in gut microbiota affects the HPA axis answering to stress, anxiety, and relevant behavior (Koopman and El Aidy, 2017; Lach et al.,

2018; Chen et al., 2019). In addition, the rodents infected with intestinal pathogens showed anxiety-like behaviors, which can be partly explained by the activation of vagal afferents (Klarer et al., 2014). In one study of GF BALB/c with a high-anxiety level and NIH Swiss mice with a high exploratory ability, when the two groups exchanged each other's microbiota, the donor behavioral characteristics could be reproduced in recipients (Crumeyrolle-Arias et al., 2014). On the other hand, clinical trials suggest treatment with probiotics could control the stress response and improve anxiety symptoms by restoring the gut microbiota (Liu et al., 2015). Our further work will test whether probiotics could improve the abnormal behaviors. At present, two major types of probiotics are commonly used: Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus (Logan and Katzman, 2005; Rao et al., 2009; Silk et al., 2009). According to Wang et al., Lactobacillus fermentum strain NS9 administration not only normalized the composition of gut microbiota but reduced the anxiety-like behavior induced by ampicillin (Wang et al., 2015). Furthermore, the antidepressant effect of Bifidobacterium infantis has also been identified in the rat separation model of depression (Desbonnet et al., 2010).

Immune dysregulation was demonstrated by high levels of serum cytokines. This is supported by the evidence that



inflammatory factors associate with a profile of behavioral changes (Capuron and Miller, 2011; Salim et al., 2012; Felger and Lotrich, 2013). Vagal sensory neurons express receptors for cytokines, so the inflammatory factors could directly activate the vagal afferents (Reardon et al., 2018). One study proposes that anxiety is related to inflammation; for example, mice infected with Schistosoma mansoni showed a reduction in behaviors such as exploration and grooming (Sulaiman et al., 1989). In addition, abnormal emotions, such as anxiety and neophobia, could happen following bacterial infection or as a response to bacterial products (Capuron and Miller, 2011). Anxiety levels increased when humans were exposed to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (Grigoleit et al., 2011). Of the numerous cytokines, IL-6 is perceived as an atypical proinflammatory cytokine, having been demonstrated to show elevated levels in depressed animals and patients (Jiang et al., 2020; Lamers et al., 2020). In a study, IL-6 knockout mice became resistant to the development of depression-like symptoms (Monje et al., 2011). The underlying mechanisms involve in two pathways, the HPA axis and neurotransmitter metabolism, both of which are affected by increased IL-6 in depression (Ting et al., 2020). Furthermore, anxious patients also had higher serum levels of IL-6 than common people (Tang et al., 2018; Zou et al., 2020). In addition to impact on HPA axis activity, IL-6 could cross the blood-brain barrier, as they affect the uptake and release of mood-relevant neurotransmitters, including dopamine, 5-HT, noradrenaline, and gamma-aminobutyric acid (Zalcman et al., 1994; Clement et al., 1997; Anisman et al., 2008; Miller, 2009). IL-10, a prototypical anti-inflammatory cytokine, was closely related to depression (Li et al., 2020). Lower IL-10 has been observed in depression, while IL-10 was elevated after antidepressant treatment (Dai et al., 2020; Lee et al., 2020). In contrast, studies have reported higher IL-10 in depressive patients and

decreased IL-10 after treatment for depression (Köhler et al., 2018; Himmerich et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2019; Brunoni et al., 2020). One explanation for increased IL-10 is that it is an anti-inflammatory response to correct an inflammatory activation caused by higher levels of proinflammatory cytokines (Bhattacharya and Drevets, 2017). In this way, higher IL-10 levels, as observed in our study, may be associated with the development of abnormal patterns. On the other hand, previous studies found a high dose of IL-10 may induce anxiety in the OFT (Harvey et al., 2006), two other behavioral tests for anxiety detection (Munshi et al., 2019). Taken together with these experiment evidences, the abnormal pattern of mice may be a direct result of increased inflammatory mediators.

Elevated corticosterone, one marker of HPA axis activation, was observed in the mice of the AB group (Borrow et al., 2019). Several studies indicate that the disturbance of gut bacteria affects the HPA axis. Specifically, adrenocorticotrophin and corticosterone levels for GF mice were higher than of mice bearing conventional microbiota (Crumeyrolle-Arias et al., 2014). Besides, the hyperactivity of the HPA response in GF mice could be partially reversed by gut microbiota transplantation (Huo et al., 2017). Probiotics, such as *Bifidobacterium* species, have been demonstrated to be efficient in restoring HPA axis function (Moya-Pérez et al., 2017).

The BDNF level showed a decreasing trend in the hippocampus of the AB group. According to the previous study, BDNF can maintain and promote development, differentiation and regeneration of neurons as well as affect learning and memory (Bercik et al., 2011). The hippocampus provides the brain with a spatiotemporal framework within which various sensory, emotional, and cognitive components are integrated (Yang and Wang, 2017). Literature has reported that hippocampus degeneration with diminished BDNF leads

to a decline in cognition (Deltheil et al., 2008). Recently, gut microbiota is thought to directly affect BDNF expression. The GF mice showed a decreased BDNF in the cortex and hippocampus (Bercik et al., 2011). This coincides with the thesis that reduction of BDNF after gut dysbiosis possibly leads to impairment of cognitive function (Frohlich et al., 2016). Contrary to the findings, some studies observed an increased BDNF in the amygdala and hippocampus when gut microbiota imbalance induced a decline in spatial memory (Desbonnet et al., 2015). In addition, Bifidobaterium adolescentis shows a promising anxiolytic and antidepressant property as it up-regulated BDNF expression by restoring the balance of gut microbiota (Guo Y. et al., 2019). A slight increase of c-Fos was observed in the amygdala of the AB group. C-Fos serves as a component of transcription factor AP-1 and biomarker of neuronal activation, playing a major role in processing emotion and motivation (Baulmann et al., 2000; Roberts et al., 2019). Abnormal activation of c-Fos in the brain may be related to gut disorders; for example, as compared to uninfected mice, a significantly increased c-Fos was observed in mice infected with Campylobacter jejuni (Goehler et al., 2008). Meanwhile, a study indicated c-Fos activation following immune activation; this finding was in accord with our findings that cytokines increased with increasing c-Fos (Lyte et al., 2006).

## CONCLUSION

In general, we found that mice exposed to 11 weeks of ceftriaxone sodium treatment had a lower diversity and abundance of gut microbiota and showed more behavioral changes as compared to mice that were given normal saline. Dysregulation of the nerve-endocrine-immunological network may be a potential mechanism underlying abnormal behaviors induced by impaired gut microbiota. The study revealed the unknown side effects of antibiotics to a certain extent. Follow-up studies rebalancing the gut dysbacteriosis are required to further confirm the relationship between gut microbiota and brain function.

### REFERENCES

- Aleshukina, A. V. (2012). Pathogenesis of intestinal dysbacteriosis. Zh. Mikrobiol. Epidemiol. Immunobiol. 3, 74–8.
- Angelakis, E. (2017). Weight gain by gut microbiota manipulation in productive animals. *Microb. Pathog.* 106, 162–170. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2016.11.002
- Anisman, H., Merali, Z., and Hayley, S. (2008). Neurotransmitter, peptide and cytokine processes in relation to depressive disorder: comorbidity between depression and neurodegenerative disorders. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 85, 1–74. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2008.01.004
- Antonopoulos, D. A., and Chang, E. B. (2016). Transplanting a microbial organ: the good, the bad, and the unknown. *mBio* 7, e00572–16. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00572-16
- Baulmann, J., Spitznagel, H., Herdegen, T., Unger, T., and Culman, J. (2000). Tachykinin receptor inhibition and c-Fos expression in the rat brain following formalin-induced pain. *Neuroscience* 95, 813–820. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4522(99)00478-9
- Bercik, P., Denou, E., Collins, J., Jackson, W., Lu, J., Jury, J., et al. (2011). The intestinal microbiota affect central levels of brain-derived neurotropic

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study can be found in the NCBI, SRA accession: PRJNA592623.

### ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Animal Care Advisory Committee of Sichuan University.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

ZZ and HY put forward the hypothesis, and BW, CT, LZ, and ML guided and supervised the experimental investigation and practices. LM, HW, and JL were responsible for data collection and analysis. YY provided pathologic diagnosis. ZZ was the main executer and involved in the entire research process, from proposal, planning and execution to implementation and composition. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank MY Li and YJ Zhou for their support and help during the study.

### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcimb. 2020.00258/full#supplementary-material

**Supplementary Figure 1** | Behavioral data analysis for eleven weeks. (A) Data from the open field test and (B) tail suspension test. AB: antibiotic group (n = 20), CT: control group (n = 20). Four mice of AB group were kicked out at the tenth week of gavage due to serious injuries influencing mobility.

factor and behavior in mice. *Gastroenterology* 141, 599–609, 601–609. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.04.052

- Bhattacharya, A., and Drevets, W. C. (2017). Role of neuro-immunological factors in the pathophysiology of mood disorders: implications for novel therapeutics for treatment resistant depression. *Curr. Top. Behav. Neurosci.* 31, 339–356. doi: 10.1007/7854\_2016\_43
- Borrow, A. P., Heck, A. L., Miller, A. M., Sheng, J. A., Stover, S. A., Daniels, R. M., et al. (2019). Chronic variable stress alters hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal axis function in the female mouse. *Physiol. Behav.* 209:112613. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2019.112613
- Braniste, V., Al-Asmakh, M., Kowal, C., Anuar, F., Abbaspour, A., Toth, M., et al. (2014). The gut microbiota influences blood-brain barrier permeability in mice. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 6, 158r–263r. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3009759
- Brunoni, A. R., Supasitthumrong, T., Teixeira, A. L., Vieira, E. L., Gattaz, W. F., Benseñor, I. M., et al. (2020). Differences in the immune-inflammatory profiles of unipolar and bipolar depression. J. Affect. Disord. 262, 8–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.10.037
- Capuron, L., and Miller, A. H. (2011). Immune system to brain signaling: neuropsychopharmacological implications. *Pharmacol.*

*Therapeut.* 130, 226–238. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2011. 01.014

- Castagne, V., Moser, P., Roux, S., and Porsolt, R. D. (2011). Rodent models of depression: forced swim and tail suspension behavioral despair tests in rats and mice. *Curr. Protoc. Neurosci.* Chapter 8, Unit 8.10A. doi: 10.1002/0471142301.ns0810as55
- Champagne-Jorgensen, K., Mian, M. F., Kay, S., Hanani, H., Ziv, O., McVey Neufeld, K., et al. (2020). Prenatal low-dose penicillin results in long-term sexspecific changes to murine behaviour, immune regulation, and gut microbiota. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 84, 154–163. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2019.11.020
- Chen, Y. H., Bai, J., Wu, D., Yu, S. F., Qiang, X. L., Bai, H., et al. (2019). Association between fecal microbiota and generalized anxiety disorder: severity and early treatment response. J. Affect. Disord. 259, 56–66. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.08.014
- Cheng, R., Guo, J., Pu, F., Wan, C., Shi, L., Li, H., et al. (2019). Loading ceftriaxone, vancomycin, and *Bifidobacteria bifidum* TMC3115 to neonatal mice could differently and consequently affect intestinal microbiota and immunity in adulthood. *Sci. Rep.* 9, 3215–3254. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-35737-1
- Cheng, R. Y., Li, M., Li, S. S., He, M., Yu, X. H., Shi, L., et al. (2017). Vancomycin and ceftriaxone can damage intestinal microbiota and affect the development of the intestinal tract and immune system to different degrees in neonatal mice. *Pathog. Dis.* 75. doi: 10.1093/femspd/ftx104
- Cheung, S. G., Goldenthal, A. R., Uhlemann, A. C., Mann, J. J., Miller, J. M., Sublette, M. E. (2019). Systematic review of gut microbiota and major depression. *Front. Psychiatry* 10:34. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00034
- Clement, H., Buschmann, J., Rex, S., Grote, C., Opper, C., Gemsa, D., et al. (1997). Effects of interferon- $\gamma$ , interleukin-1  $\beta$ , and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  on the serotonin metabolism in the nucleus raphe dorsalis of the rat. *J. Neural Transm.* 104, 981–991. doi: 10.1007/B. F.01273312
- Crawley, J. N. (1985). Exploratory behavior models of anxiety in mice. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 9, 37–44. doi: 10.1016/0149-7634(85)90030-2
- Crumeyrolle-Arias, M., Jaglin, M., Bruneau, A., Vancassel, S., Cardona, A., Dauge, V., et al. (2014). Absence of the gut microbiota enhances anxiety-like behavior and neuroendocrine response to acute stress in rats. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 42, 207–217. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.01.014
- Dai, J., Pan, J. Y., Liao, N., Shi, J., Zeng, Q., Huang, L., et al. (2020). Influence of miR-155 on behaviors of depression mice through regulating Wnt/betacatenin signaling pathway. *Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci.* 24, 1398–1407. doi: 10.26355/eurrev\_202002\_20197
- Davis, M., Rainnie, D., and Cassell, M. (1994). Neurotransmission in the rat amygdala related to fear and anxiety. *Trends Neurosci.* 17, 208–214. doi: 10.1016/0166-2236(94)90106-6
- Dawes, E. A., and Foster, S. M. (1956). The formation of ethanol in *Escherichia coli*. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 22, 253–265. doi: 10.1016/0006-3002(56)90148-2
- Deltheil, T., Guiard, B. P., Cerdan, J., David, D. J., Tanaka, K. F., Repérant, C., et al. (2008). Behavioral and serotonergic consequences of decreasing or increasing hippocampus brain-derived neurotrophic factor protein levels in mice. *Neuropharmacology* 55, 1006–1014. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.08.001
- Dere, E., De Souza-Silva, M. A., Spieler, R. E., Lin, J. S., Ohtsu, H., Haas, H. L., et al. (2004). Changes in motoric, exploratory and emotional behaviours and neuronal acetylcholine content and 5-HT turnover in histidine decarboxylase-KO mice. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 20, 1051–1058. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03546.x
- Desbonnet, L., Clarke, G., Traplin, A., O., Sullivan, O., Crispie, F., Moloney, R. D., et al. (2015). Gut microbiota depletion from early adolescence in mice: implications for brain and behaviour. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 48, 165–173. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.04.004
- Desbonnet, L., Garrett, L., Clarke, G., Kiely, B., Cryan, J. F., and Dinan, T. G. (2010). Effects of the probiotic *Bifidobacterium* infantis in the maternal separation model of depression. *Neuroscience* 170, 1179–1188. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.08.005
- Di, T., Zhang, S., Hong, J., Zhang, T., and Chen, L. (2017). Hyperactivity of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis due to dysfunction of the hypothalamic glucocorticoid receptor in sigma-1 receptor knockout mice. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 10:287. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2017.00287
- Fadrosh, D. W., Ma, B., Gajer, P., Sengamalay, N., Ott, S., Brotman, R. M., et al. (2014). An improved dual-indexing approach for multiplexed 16S rRNA gene sequencing on the Illumina MiSeq platform. *Microbiome* 2:6. doi: 10.1186/2049-2618-2-6

- Felger, J. C., and Lotrich, F. E. (2013). Inflammatory cytokines in depression: neurobiological mechanisms and therapeutic implications. *Neuroscience* 246, 199–229. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.04.060
- Felix, K. M., Jaimez, I. A., Nguyen, T. V., Ma, H., Raslan, W. A., Klinger, C. N., et al. (2018). Gut microbiota contributes to resistance against pneumococcal pneumonia in immunodeficient rag-/- mice. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* 8:118. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2018.00118
- Frohlich, E. E., Farzi, A., Mayerhofer, R., Reichmann, F., Jacan, A., Wagner, B., et al. (2016). Cognitive impairment by antibiotic-induced gut dysbiosis: analysis of gut microbiota-brain communication. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 56, 140–155. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2016.02.020
- Gareau, M. G., Wine, E., Rodrigues, D. M., Cho, J. H., Whary, M. T., Philpott, D. J., et al. (2011). Bacterial infection causes stress-induced memory dysfunction in mice. *Gut* 60, 307–317. doi: 10.1136/gut.2009.202515
- Goehler, L. E., Park, S. M., Opitz, N., Lyte, M., and Gaykema, R. P. A. (2008). Campylobacter jejuni infection increases anxiety-like behavior in the holeboard: possible anatomical substrates for viscerosensory modulation of exploratory behavior. *Brain Behav. Immun* 22, 354–366. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2007.08.009
- Grigoleit, J. S., Kullmann, J. S., Wolf, O. T., Hammes, F., Wegner, A., Jablonowski, S., et al. (2011). Dose-dependent effects of endotoxin on neurobehavioral functions in humans. *PLoS ONE* 6:e28330. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028330
- Guo, J., Lv, Q., Ariff, A., Zhang, X., Peacock, C. S., Song, Y., et al. (2019). Western oropharyngeal and gut microbial profiles are associated with allergic conditions in Chinese immigrant children. *World Allergy Organ J.* 12:100051. doi: 10.1016/j.waojou.2019.100051
- Guo, Y., Xie, J., Deng, K., Li, X., Yuan, Y., Xuan, Q., et al. (2019). Prophylactic effects of *Bifidobacterium adolescentis* on anxiety and depressionlike phenotypes after chronic stress: a role of the gut microbiota-inflammation axis. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 13:126. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2019.00126
- Guo, Y., Yang, X., Qi, Y., Wen, S., Liu, Y., Tang, S., et al. (2017). Long-term use of ceftriaxone sodium induced changes in gut microbiota and immune system. *Sci. Rep.* 7:43035. doi: 10.1038/srep43035
- Harris, L. A., and Baffy, N. (2017). Modulation of the gut microbiota: a focus on treatments for irritable bowel syndrome. *Postgrad. Med.* 129, 872–888. doi: 10.1080/00325481.2017.1383819
- Harvey, D., Smith, R., English, K., Mahon, B., and Commins, S. (2006). Interleukin-10 (IL-10) but not Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) produces increased motor activity and abnormal exploratory patterns while impairing spatial learning in Balb/c mice. *Physiol. Behav.* 87, 842–847. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2006. 03.002
- Himmerich, H., Patsalos, O., Lichtblau, N., Ibrahim, M., and Dalton, B. (2019). Cytokine research in depression: principles, challenges, and open questions. *Front. Psychiatry* 10:30. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00030
- Hiroshi, K., Itsuro, I., Toshimi, O., Mahito, K., Yumiko, I., Shin, N., et al. (2006). Assessment of the dexamethasone/CRH test as a state-dependent marker for hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis abnormalities in major depressive episode: a multicenter study. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 31, 212–220. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1300868
- Huang, Y., Shi, X., Li, Z., Shen, Y., Shi, X., Wang, L., et al. (2018). Possible association of firmicutes in the gut microbiota of patients with major depressive disorder. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*. 14, 3329–3337. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S188340
- Huo, R., Zeng, B., Zeng, L., Cheng, K., Li, B., Luo, Y., et al. (2017). Microbiota modulate anxiety-like behavior and endocrine abnormalities in hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 7:489. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00489
- Iannone, L. F., Preda, A., Blottiere, H. M., Clarke, G., Albani, D., Belcastro, V., et al. (2019). Microbiota-gut brain axis involvement in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Expert Rev. Neurother*, 19, 1037–1050. doi: 10.1080/14737175.2019.1638763
- Janak, P. H., and Tye, K. M. (2015). From circuits to behaviour in the amygdala. *Nature* 517, 284–292. doi: 10.1038/nature14188
- Jiang, N., Lv, J., Wang, H., Huang, H., Wang, Q., Lu, C., et al. (2020). Ginsenoside Rg1 ameliorates chronic social defeat stress-induced depressivelike behaviors and hippocampal neuroinflammation. *Life Sci.* 252:117669. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2020.117669
- Karlsson, F. H., Ussery, D. W., Nielsen, J., and Nookaew, I. (2011). A closer look at bacteroides: phylogenetic relationship and genomic implications of a life in the human gut. *Microb. Ecol.* 61, 473–485. doi: 10.1007/s00248-010-9796-1

- Kim, S., Covington, A., and Pamer, E. G. (2017). The intestinal microbiota: antibiotics, colonization resistance, and enteric pathogens. *Immunol. Rev.* 279, 90–105. doi: 10.1111/imr.12563
- Klarer, M., Arnold, M., Gunther, L., Winter, C., Langhans, W., and Meyer, U. (2014). Gut vagal afferents differentially modulate innate anxiety and learned fear. J. Neurosci. 34, 7067–7076. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0252-14.2014
- Köhler, C. A., Freitas, T. H., Stubbs, B., Maes, M., Solmi, M., Veronese, N., et al. (2018). Peripheral alterations in cytokine and chemokine levels after antidepressant drug treatment for major depressive disorder: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 55, 4195–4206. doi: 10.1007/s12035-017-0632-1
- Koopman, M., and El Aidy, S. (2017). Depressed gut? The microbiota-dietinflammation trialogue in depression. *Curr. Opin. Psychiatr.* 30, 369–377. doi: 10.1097/YCO.00000000000350
- Kovács, K. J. (2008). Measurement of immediate-early gene activation- c-fos and beyond. J. Neuroendocrinol. 20, 665–672. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2008.01734.x
- Kraeuter, A. K., Guest, P. C., and Sarnyai, Z. (2019). The open field test for measuring locomotor activity and anxiety-like behavior. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1916, 99–103. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-8994-2\_9
- Lach, G., Schellekens, H., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2018). Anxiety, depression, and the microbiome: a role for gut peptides. *Neurotherapeutics* 15, 36–59. doi: 10.1007/s13311-017-0585-0
- Lamers, F., Milaneschi, Y., Vinkers, C. H., Schoevers, R. A., Giltay, E. J., and Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2020). Depression profilers and immuno-metabolic dysregulation: longitudinal results from the NESDA study. *Brain Behav. Immun.* doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.04.002
- Lee, H., Song, M., Lee, J., Kim, J., and Lee, M. (2020). Prospective study on cytokine levels in medication-naïve adolescents with first-episode major depressive disorder. J. Affect. Disord. 266, 57–62. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.01.125
- Lee, K., and Jayaraman, A. (2019). Interactions between gut microbiota and nonalcoholic liver disease: the role of microbiota-derived metabolites. *Pharmacol. Res.* 142:314. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2019.02.013
- Li, K., Yan, L., Zhang, Y., Yang, Z., Zhang, C., Li, Y., et al. (2020). Seahorse treatment improves depression-like behavior in mice exposed to CUMS through reducing inflammation/oxidants and restoring neurotransmitter and neurotrophin function. J. Ethnopharmacol. 250:112487. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2019.112487
- Li, S., Li, J., Mao, G., Wu, T., Lin, D., Hu, Y., et al. (2019). Fucosylated chondroitin sulfate from Isostichopus badionotus alleviates metabolic syndromes and gut microbiota dysbiosis induced by high-fat and high-fructose diet. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* 124, 377–388. doi: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.11.167
- Liu, D., Huang, Y., Chen, B., Zeng, J., Guo, N., Zhang, S., et al. (2011). Activation of mammalian target of rapamycin pathway confers adverse outcome in nonsmall cell lung carcinoma. *Cancer* 117, 3763–3773. doi: 10.1002/cncr.25959
- Liu, Q., Li, F., Zhuang, Y., Xu, J., Wang, J., Mao, X., et al. (2019). Alteration in gut microbiota associated with hepatitis B and nonhepatitis virus related hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gut Pathog.* 11, 1–13. doi: 10.1186/s13099-018-0281-6
- Liu, X., Cao, S., and Zhang, X. (2015). Modulation of gut microbiota-brain axis by probiotics, prebiotics, and diet. J. Agr. Food Chem. 63, 7885–7895. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.5b02404
- Logan, A. C., and Katzman, M. (2005). Major depressive disorder: probiotics may be an adjuvant therapy. *Med. Hypotheses* 64, 533–538. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2004.08.019
- Luczynski, P., Whelan, S. O., O'Sullivan, C., Clarke, G., Shanahan, F., Dinan, T. G., et al. (2016). Adult microbiota-deficient mice have distinct dendritic morphological changes: differential effects in the amygdala and hippocampus. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 44, 2654–2666. doi: 10.1111/ejn.13291
- Lyte, M., Li, W., Opitz, N., Gaykema, R. P. A., and Goehler, L. E. (2006). Induction of anxiety-like behavior in mice during the initial stages of infection with the agent of murine colonic hyperplasia *Citrobacter rodentium*. *Physiol. Behav.* 89, 350–357. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2006.06.019
- Mayer, E. A., Tillisch, K., and Gupta, A. (2015). Gut/brain axis and the microbiota. *J. Clin. Invest.* 125, 926–938. doi: 10.1172/JCI76304
- Miao, Z., Cheng, R., Zhang, Y., Liang, H., Jiang, F., and Shen, X., et al. (2020). Antibiotics can cause weight loss by impairing gut microbiota in mice and

the potent benefits of *Lactobacilli. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 84, 411-420. doi: 10.1080/09168451.2019.1676696

- Miller, A. H. (2009). Mechanisms of cytokine-induced behavioral changes: psychoneuroimmunology at the translational interface. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 23, 149–158. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2008.08.006
- Młyniec, K., and Nowak, G. (2012). Zinc deficiency induces behavioral alterations in the tail suspension test in mice. Effect of antidepressants. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 64, 249–255. doi: 10.1016/S1734-1140(12)70762-4
- Monje, F. J., Cabatic, M., Divisch, I., Kim, E. J., Herkner, K. R., and Binder, B. R., et al. (2011). Constant darkness induces IL-6-dependent depression-like behavior through the NF- κB signaling pathway. J. Neurosci. 31, 9075–9083. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1537-11.2011
- Moya-Pérez, A., Perez-Villalba, A., Benítez-Páez, A., Campillo, I., and Sanz, Y. (2017). Bifidobacterium CECT 7765 modulates early stress-induced immune, neuroendocrine and behavioral alterations in mice. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 65, 43–56. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2017.05.011
- Munshi, S., Parrilli, V., and Rosenkranz, J. A. (2019). Peripheral anti-inflammatory cytokine Interleukin-10 treatment mitigates interleukin-1β induced anxiety and sickness behaviors in adult male rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 372:112024. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2019.112024
- Neufeld, K. M., Kang, N., Bienenstock, J., and Foster, J. A. (2011). Reduced anxiety-like behavior and central neurochemical change in germ-free mice. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 23, 119–255. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2010.01620.x
- Paege, L. M., and Gibbs, M. (1961). Anaerobic dissimilation of glucose-c14 by Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol. 81, 107–110. doi: 10.1128/JB.81.1.107-110.1961
- Rao, A. V., Bested, A. C., Beaulne, T. M., Katzman, M. A., Iorio, C., Berardi, J. M., et al. (2009). A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study of a probiotic in emotional symptoms of chronic fatigue syndrome. *Gut Pathog.* 1:6. doi: 10.1186/1757-4749-1-6
- Reardon, C., Murray, K., and Lomax, A. E. (2018). Neuroimmune communication in health and disease. *Physiol. Rev.* 98, 2287–2316. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00035.2017
- Ren, D., Gong, S., Shu, J., Zhu, J., Liu, H., and Chen, P. (2018). Effects of mixed lactic acid bacteria on intestinal microbiota of mice infected with *Staphylococcus aureus. BMC Microbiol.* 18:109. doi: 10.1186/s12866-018-1245-1
- Roberts, A. J., Khom, S., Bajo, M., Vlkolinsky, R., Polis, I., Cates-Gatto, C., et al. (2019). Increased IL-6 expression in astrocytes is associated with emotionality, alterations in central amygdala GABAergic transmission, and excitability during alcohol withdrawal. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 82, 188–202. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2019.08.185
- Robles-Vera, I., Toral, M., de la Visitacion, N., Sanchez, M., Romero, M., Olivares, M., et al. (2018). The probiotic *Lactobacillus fermentum* prevents dysbiosis and vascular oxidative stress in rats with hypertension induced by chronic nitric oxide blockade. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 62:e1800298. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201800298
- Salim, S., Chugh, G., and Asghar, M. (2012). Inflammation in anxiety. *Adv. Protein Chem. Struct. Biol.* 88, 1–25. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-398314-5.00001-5
- Scott, K. A., Ida, M., Peterson, V. L., Prenderville, J. A., Moloney, G. M., Izumo, T., et al. (2017). Revisiting metchnikoff: age-related alterations in microbiota-gut-brain axis in the mouse. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 65, 20–32. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2017.02.004
- Scriven, M., Dinan, T., Cryan, J., and Wall, M. (2018). Neuropsychiatric disorders: influence of gut microbe to brain signalling. *Diseases* 6:78. doi: 10.3390/diseases6030078
- Shin, N., Whon, T. W., and Bae, J. (2015). Proteobacteria: microbial signature of dysbiosis in gut microbiota. *Trends Biotechnol.* 33, 496–503. doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2015.06.011
- Silk, D. B. A., Davis, A., Vulevic, J., Tzortzis, G., and Gibson, G. R. (2009). Clinical trial: the effects of a trans-galactooligosaccharide prebiotic on faecal microbiota and symptoms in irritable bowel syndrome. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 29, 508–518. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2008.03911.x
- Slykerman, R. F., Coomarasamy, C., Wickens, K., Thompson, J., Stanley, T. V., Barthow, C., et al. (2019). Exposure to antibiotics in the first 24 months of life and neurocognitive outcomes at 11 years of age. *Psychopharmacology* 236, 1573–1582. doi: 10.1007/s00213-019-05216-0
- Stokes, J. L. (1949). Fermentation of glucose by suspensions of Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol. 57, 147–158. doi: 10.1128/JB.57.2.147-158.1949

- Sudo, N., Chida, Y., Aiba, Y., Sonoda, J., Oyama, N., Yu, X. N., et al. (2004). Postnatal microbial colonization programs the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal system for stress response in mice. J. Physiol. 558, 263–275. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2004.063388
- Sulaiman, M. I., Amin, A. M., and Mikhail, E. G. (1989). Effect of schistosomiasis mansoni on open-field exploratory behavior in mice. J. Egypt. Soc. Parasitol. 19, 369–379.
- Tang, Z., Ye, G., Chen, X., Pan, M., Fu, J., Fu, T., et al. (2018). Peripheral proinflammatory cytokines in Chinese patients with generalised anxiety disorder. J. Affect. Disord. 225, 593–598. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.08.082
- Thursby, E., and Juge, N. (2017). Introduction to the human gut microbiota. *Biochem. J.* 474, 1823–1836. doi: 10.1042/BCJ20160510
- Ting, E. Y., Yang, A. C., and Tsai, S. (2020). Role of interleukin-6 in depressive disorder. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 21:2194. doi: 10.3390/ijms210 62194
- Torres-Fuentes, C., Schellekens, H., Dinan, T. G., and Cryan, J. F. (2017). The microbiota-gut-brain axis in obesity. *Lancet Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 2, 747–756. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(17)30147-4
- Wang, H., and Wang, Y. (2016). Gut Microbiota-brain Axis. Chinese Med. J. Peking 129, 2373–2380. doi: 10.4103/0366-6999.190667
- Wang, L., Wang, R., Liu, L., Qiao, D., Baldwin, D. S., and Hou, R. (2019). Effects of SSRIs on peripheral inflammatory markers in patients with major depressive disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 79, 24–38. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2019.02.021
- Wang, T., Hu, X., Liang, S., Li, W., and Jin, F. (2015). Lactobacillus fermentum NS9 restores the antibiotic induced physiological and psychological abnormalities in rats. Benef. Microbes 6, 707–717. doi: 10.3920/BM2014. 0177
- Wiener, C. D., Moreira, F. P., Portela, L. V., Strogulski, N. R., Lara, D. R., Da Silva, R. A., et al. (2019). Interleukin-6 and Interleukin-10 in mood disorders: a population-based study. *Psychiatry Res.* 273, 685–689. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2019.01.100

- Yang, Y., and Wang, J. (2017). From structure to behavior in basolateral amygdala-hippocampus circuits. *Front. Neural Circuit.* 11:86. doi: 10.3389/fncir.2017.00086
- Yuan, X., Kang, Y., Zhuo, C., Huang, X., and Song, X. (2019). The gut microbiota promotes the pathogenesis of schizophrenia via multiple pathways. *Biochem. Bioph. Res. Commun.* 512, 373–380. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2019.02.152
- Zalcman, S., Green-Johnson, J. M., Murray, L., Nance, D. M., Dyck, D., Anisman, H., et al. (1994). Cytokine-specific central monoamine alterations induced by interleukin-1,-2 and-6. *Brain Res.* 643, 40-49. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(94)90006-X
- Zhao, Y., Wu, J., Li, J. V., Zhou, N. Y., Tang, H., and Wang, Y. (2013). Gut microbiota composition modifies fecal metabolic profiles in mice. J. Proteome Res. 12, 2987–2999. doi: 10.1021/pr400263n
- Zhu, L., Baker, S. S., Gill, C., Liu, W., Alkhouri, R., Baker, R. D., et al. (2013). Characterization of gut microbiomes in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) patients: a connection between endogenous alcohol and NASH. *Hepatology* 57, 601–609. doi: 10.1002/hep.26093
- Zou, Z., Zhou, B., Huang, Y., Wang, J., Min, W., and Li, T. (2020). Differences in cytokines between patients with generalised anxiety disorder and panic disorder. J. Psychosom. Res. 133:109975. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2020.109975

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Zhao, Wang, Mu, Wang, Luo, Yang, Yang, Li, Zhou and Tao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





EXTENSIVE PROMOTION Marketing and promotion of impactful research LOOP RESEARCH NETWORK Our network increases your article's readership



Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne | Switzerland

Visit us: www.frontiersin.org Contact us: frontiersin.org/about/contact

P

**FOLLOW US** @frontiersin IMPACT METRICS Advanced article metrics track visibility across digital media